
BOROUGH OF TAMWORTH 

 
 

 

CABINET 
 
 

7 March 2012 
 
 
A Meeting of the CABINET will be held on Wednesday, 14th March, 2012, 6.00 pm 
in Committee Room 1 Marmion House, Lichfield Street, Tamworth 
 

 
A G E N D A 

 
NON CONFIDENTIAL 

 
 
1 Apologies for Absence  

2 Corporate Update  

 Title: Health Reform 
 
 Presenter: Rob Barnes 
 

3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 1 - 4) 

4 Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of Members’ interests (personal and/or 
personal and prejudicial) in any matters which are to be considered at this 
meeting. 

 
When Members are declaring a personal interest or personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of which they have dispensation, they should 
specify the nature of such interest.  Members should leave the room if they 
have a personal and prejudicial interest in respect of which they do not 
have a dispensation.   

 
 

5 Matters Referred to the Cabinet in Accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules (Pages 5 - 6) 

 (Update from the Chair of Corporate Scrutiny following the meetings of 08.02.12 
and 01.03.12) 
 

6 Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme - Virement of Budgets 
(Pages 7 - 12) 

N0N-CONFIDENTIAL



 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for the Quality of Life) 
 

7 High Rise Fire Safety (Pages 13 - 214) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for the Quality of Life) 
 

8 Housing Revenue Account Business Plan (Pages 215 - 256) 

 (The Report of the Portfolio Holder for the Quality of Life) 
 

9 Development of the Council's Approach to Private Sector Housing (Pages 
257 - 260) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for the Quality of Life) 
 

10 Think Local 4 Business: proposal to incorporate into a company limited by 
shares and for the Council to become a Founder Shareholder (Pages 261 - 
298) 

 (The Report of the Portfolio Holder for Economic Development and Enterprise) 
 

Restricted 
  

NOT FOR PUBLICATION because the report could involve the disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 1,  3 and 9 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) 
 

11 Review of Shop Mobility Service (Pages 299 - 304) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Corporate Services & Assets) 
 

 
Yours faithfully 

 
 
 
 
 
Chief Executive 
 
 
People who have a disability and who would like to attend the meeting should contact 
Democratic Services on 01827 709264 or e-mail committees@tamworth.gov.uk  
preferably 24 hours prior to the meeting.  We can then endeavour to ensure that any 
particular requirements you may have are catered for. 
 
 
 
 
To Councillors: D Cook, R Pritchard, S Claymore, J Garner, M Greatorex and M Oates 



 

 

1  
 

 
 
 
 
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 

CABINET 

HELD ON 22nd FEBRUARY 2012 

 
 

 
PRESENT: Councillor D Cook (Chair), Councillors R Pritchard, S Claymore, 

J Garner, M Greatorex and M Oates 

 
The following officers were present: Anthony E Goodwin (Chief Executive), John 
Wheatley (Deputy Chief Executive and Corporate Director (Resources)), Anica 
Goodwin (Assistant Chief Executive), Stefan Garner (Deputy Director (Finance 
Exchequer and Revenues)) and Jane Hackett (Solicitor to the Council and 
Monitoring Officer) 
 
 
 

126 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
None 
 

127 CORPORATE UPDATE  

 
The Assistant Chief Executive gave a presentation on Agile Working. 
 

128 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on1 February 2012 were approved and signed 
as a correct record. 
 
(Moved by Councillor R Pritchard and seconded by Councillor J Garner) 
 

129 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
There were no Declarations of Interest. 
 

130 MATTERS REFERRED TO THE CABINET IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULES  

 
None 
 

131 CORPORATE VISION, PRIORITIES PLAN, BUDGET & MEDIUM TERM 

FINANCIAL STRATEGY INCLUDING TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



Cabinet 22 February 2012 

 

 

2 
 

STATEMENT, MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION POLICY STATEMENT AND 

ANNUAL INVESTMENT STATEMENT 2012/13  

 
The Report of the Leader of the Council seeking approval of the Single Corporate 
Vision & Strategic Priorities for 2012/13, the recommended package of budget 
proposals and to comply with the requirements of the Council’s Treasury 
Management Policy was considered. 
 
RESOLVED:  That all 24 recommendations as contained in the report be 

approved. 
 

(Moved by Councillor D Cook and seconded by Councillor R Pritchard) 
 
 

132 QUARTER THREE PERFORMANCE REPORT 2011/12  

 
The Report of the Leader of the Council seeking to provide Cabinet with a 
performance and financial health-check was considered. 
 
RESOLVED: That the contents of the report be endorsed. 

 
(Moved by Councillor D Cook and seconded by Councillor R Prtchard) 
 
 

133 COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP PLAN 2012-2015  

 
The Report of the Portfolio Holder for Community Safety seeking endorsement 
from Cabinet for the Community Safety Plan 2012-2015 was considered. 
 
RESOLVED: That the draft Community Safety Partnership Plan 2012-2015 

be approved. 
 

(Moved by Councillor M Greatorex and seconded by Councillor M Oates) 
 
 
EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
 

RESOLVED: That members of the press and public be now excluded 
from the meeting during consideration of the following item 
on the grounds that the business involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 
1, 3 and 9, Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



Cabinet 22 February 2012 

 

 

3 
 

134 LOCALISM ACT PAY POLICY  

 
The Report of the Leader of the Council detailing Tamworth Borough Council’s 
Pay Policy Statement so that statutory guidance as set out in S38 of the Localism 
Act 2011 is adhered to was considered. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the recommendations as contained in the report be 

approved. 
 

(Moved by Councillor D Cook and seconded by Councillor R Pritchard) 
 
 

  

 Leader  
 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 
 

14 March 2012  
 

Report of the Chair of Corporate Scrutiny 
 

Recommendations to Cabinet  
 

 That : 
(1) Cabinet be asked to increase the budget allocation to 

Arts and Small Grants to bring them in line with Sports 
Grants over time. Small Grants to be increased by 
£1300pa and Arts Grants be increased by £700pa 
over 10 years (total £2000pa over 10 years), and 
 

(2) Cabinet be asked to add a condition to the Sports 
Grants terms and conditions to ask Talented 
Individuals to contribute in the future if they turn 
professional by either repaying their grant or giving 
their time to help future talented individuals, 

  
(3) Cabinet be asked to actively support the establishment 

of a Local Education Board and gain a place upon it as 
a Representative,  

  
(4) Cabinet be asked to look at the quotation process for 

Conservation Grants and how they can maximise local 
content in locally funded procurement, and; 
 

(5) Cabinet to be asked to look at introducing lasting 
visual signage, so that Tamworth Borough Council can 
demonstrate its contribution to the local community 
through its Conservation Grants scheme. 

 

Agenda Item 5

Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 

 
DATE OF COMMITTEE 

14
th
 March 2012 

 
 

REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR QUALITY OF LIFE 

 
 
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT CAPITAL PROGRAMME – VIREMENT OF BUDGETS 

AND OUTTURN FORECAST 

 

 
 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
 
 
PURPOSE 
This report sets out the outturn forecast for the housing capital programmes and seeks 
approval for virements within the budget to address various areas of under and over spends 
resulting from changes in the programme to meet demands.  
The report also identifies an overall overspend across the whole capital programme, caused 
in the main by having to undertake essential works with a higher than anticipated asbestos 
removal costs predominately due to changes in legislation in year. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
It is recommended that: 
Members note the anticipated housing capital programme outturn. 
Members approve the following virements:- 
 
Increase bathroom budget budget by £29,380 
Reduce Electrical Budget by £105,980 
Increase Kitchen Budget by £154,130 
Reduce Roofing Budget by £6,690 
Reduce Structural Budget by £27,000 
Reduce Lift Installation Budget by £22,120 
Reduce External Works Budget by £3,900 
Increase Disabled Adaptations Budget by £72,580 
Increase Insulation Budget by £3,630 
 
Members note the anticipated overspend of £94,030 across the whole budget. 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The housing capital programme is set at the start of each financial year with the purpose of 
ensuring that all council housing properties are maintained to the governments decent 
homes standard. 
 
During the course of the year additional items will be identified via routine and responsive 
repairs work as irreparable and therefore requiring improvement which can have  an impact 
on the overall programme. 
 
In addition to the basic works there is a requirement under Health & Safety law and the 
Management of Asbestos Regulations to remove asbestos from properties where 
refurbishment work is being carried out. Late in the 2011/12 financial year the removal of 
floor tiles containing asbestos came under the licensed removal regulation further increasing 
the overall cost of asbestos removal. 

Agenda Item 6

Page 7



 
Asbestos removal and electrical improvement works are seen as a direct overhead and 
enabler for the other work types (Kitchen/Bathroom/Disabled Adaptations). In 2011/12 the 
£100,000 budget allocated to asbestos removal was distributed across the various work 
types in recognition of it’s status as an overhead. The actual expenditure on asbestos 
removal was £330,657. 
 
In an effort to complete the programme by the end of February 2012 and ensure that all 
properties that would otherwise fail to meet the Decent Homes Standard were improved the 
programme was accelerated by the contractor. After commencing works on a number of 
properties it was identified that the costs of completing the final batch of properties would 
exceed the overall budget allocation. Unfortunately as works on site had already commenced 
it was not possible to suspend works without leaving tenants without facilities and as such 
works had to progress to completion, this combined with the additional costs associated with 
asbestos removal has resulted in an overspend across the capital programme of £94,030 
(2%.of the overall programme).  
 
Efforts have been made to identify as many savings as possible within the remainder of the 
programme whilst still maintaining the Decent Homes Standard but given that the impact of 
the accelerated programme only presented itself in the final month of the project it was not 
possible to identify sufficient savings. 
 
The savings identified will have no impact on achieving the Decent Homes Standards, 
Electrical works are a direct overhead to the other programmes and so all works have been 
completed within the completed kitchen and bathroom programmes. The final account for the 
lift installation at Glenfield is less than initially anticipated as there was no requirement to use 
the contingency. The structural budget is spent on an ad-hoc basis in response to 
maintenance enquiries, as the current contractor has now withdrawn from site no further 
structural works will be issued until the new contracts commence in April 2012. 
 
 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
The final account shows an overspend across the programme as a whole of £94,030 (2%), 
as a result of the overspend will have impact on the minimum capital balance of £500k but 
this will be reversed in the 2012 / 13 Capital Programme . 
 
 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 
The report identifies the proposed final account for all projects; all works with the exception of 
gas installations are now complete and it is not anticipated that this final account sum will 
change. 
 
 
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
None 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION   
 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR 
Paul Weston – Head of Asset Management 
 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 
 
APPENDICES 

Page 8



Capital Report detailing anticipated outturn. 
 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



 

CABINET 
 

14th March 2012 
 

Report of the Quality of Life Portfolio Holder 
 

High-Rise Fire Safety – Landlord Services 
 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
Not applicable 
 
PURPOSE 
 

• To set out the Council’s response to latest guidance commissioned by the DCLG 
ensuring fire safety in high-rise and flatted accommodation, attached at annex one. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Cabinet are recommended to:- 
 

• Support the actions taken so far to ensure the continued fire safety for residents of the 
high- rise and other flatted accommodation as set out in the action plan at annex two. 

• Note that un-planned expenditure of approximately £135k has been met from existing 
HRA repairs budgets.  The financial fore-cast at this stage is still predicting an under 
spend on the repairs budget.  

• Approve the use of contingency (up to a maximum of £100K) to meet this unplanned 
expenditure should there be a risk of an overspend as the final accounts are prepared, 
and full and final invoices are received at year end for the required works. 

 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
Together with the Fire Service, a work shop was held to assess the impact of the guidance.  
This coupled with a series of small fires in the basements at the high rise flats, resulted in the 
following work being recommended to mitigate and deter fire risks.  The Fire Officer instructed 
that the basement areas in all blocks were shut until these works were completed.   
 
BREAKDOWN OF COST PER MAJOR ELEMENT (repair / upgrade) 

Description of Works Estimated Cost 

Basement compartmentation / doors £26,657.86 

External louver grills to basement ventilation £24,422.48 

Additional ventilation grills to stairs £5,913.60 

Intumescent grills to bathroom and kitchens £32,563.20 

Smoke detector system £21,000.00 

TOTAL £110,557.06 

 
The above works have ensured that the:- 
 

• Basements in all blocks can be opened and access can be fully monitored to avoid 
unauthorised entry 

• To ensure that the basement areas comply with the latest good practice guidance 

• To ensure that the ventilation on the stairs and in the kitchens and bathrooms is fit for 
purpose and mitigates the risk of fires spreading more quickly than they otherwise would. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 13



 

 
 
COST PER BLOCK (repair / upgrade) 

Description of Works Estimated Cost 

Strode House £19,711.99 

Weymouth House  £20,793.26 

Harcourt House £12,820.86 

Stanhope House £12,820.86 

Peel House £22,366.09 

Townsend House £22,044.00 

TOTAL £110,557.06 

  
COST PER BLOCK (fob access / upgrade) 

Description of Works Estimated Cost 

Strode House £5,000.00 

Weymouth House £4,000.00 

Harcourt House £4,000.00 

Stanhope House £4,000.00 

Peel House £4,000.00 

Townsend House £4,000.00 

TOTAL £25,000.00 

 
Total estimated cost of works is £110,557.06 plus £25,000.00  
Total £135,557.06 
 
It is anticipated that the costs estimated will be fully realised.  These costs have been met from 
existing budgets.  There has been no reduction in the repairs service as a result of these works 
as efficiencies have been achieved elsewhere. Members will know that the repairs budget is 
£4.4million and the year to date spend at the end of January 2012 was £3.6million, given the 
level of budget this is indicative of the robust and comprehensive financial management and 
budget monitoring in strict adherence of financial regulations. 
 
As at period 10 the financial fore-cast on the repairs budget showed an under-spend of £16K.  
However, on the basis that this work does represent un-planned expenditure, and the full and 
final costs of works can not be assessed until year end,  Cabinet are recommended to allow 
contingency to be used, up to a maximum of £100K, if necessary and at the discretion of the 
Director of Resources.   
 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATION 
 
A requirement of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 is to have a fire risk 
assessment in place.  The council fully complies with this and this risk assessment has been 
updated to reflect the latest guidance and the fire officer’s recommendations. 
 
Cabinet will be aware of the high profile press coverage of fires in flatted accommodation in the 
London Borough of Southwark in 2009.  The Guidance is in part, in response to this and helps 
organisations assess risk and develop best practice to respond to fire hazards.  Tamworth has 
responded quickly to this guidance and feels that the approach taken is proportionate to the 
risks faced. 
 
Failure to provide adequate fire safety measures is an offence if the failure places one or more 
persons at risk of death and/or serious injury.  There are 358 properties in the 6 high rise blocks 

Page 14



 

with over 500 residents, the majority of which are over 55years old and 10% assessed as 
vulnerable. 
 

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 

 

The investment in the high rise is part of the Council’s commitment as a landlord to maintaining 
sustainable and balanced communities.  Complying with fire safety is the key to ensuring the 
safety of residents is maximised in the event of a fire. 
 

SUMMARY GUIDANCE 

 
The Fire Guidance is attached at Annex one. 
 
The guidance in this document has been subject to an extensive consultation exercise. 
The final content has received input from representative groups from the housing sector 
As well as the Department for Communities and Local Government and the Chief Fire 
Officers’ Association. 
 
This document is a guide to ensuring adequate fire safety in purpose-built blocks of 
flats, regardless of age. Practical advice is offered on how to assess the risk from fire 
and how to manage fire safety in such buildings. The document also includes case 
studies based on the commonly found issues in blocks of flats, with suggested fire 
safety solutions. 
 
This guide does not introduce new standards or regulations, but builds on existing good 
practice and guidance currently in place. The Council already meets is statutory obligations in 
relation to the Fire Safety Order (2005) and Housing Act 2004 in relation to the Housing Health 
and Safety Rating system. 
 
This document does not set prescriptive standards. Its aim is to provide guidance 
and recommendations for use when assessing the adequacy of existing fire safety 
provisions in purpose-built blocks of flats.  Each of the separate sections have been discussed 
with the fire officer and captured in the risk assessment and action plan going forward. 
 

PARTNERSHIP WORKING & ACTION PLANNING 

 
Following the workshop in September 2011, key actions were identified and captured in the 
action log shown at annex two. 
 
This is being developed in to a detailed SMART action plan and will be monitored via the 
Landlord Health & Safety Group, of which the Fire Service and Corporate Health & Safety 
Colleagues are a part. 
 
The above action plan will be audited by an external assessor and further recommendations 
made to Cabinet as necessary during the course of 2012/13. 
 
The Tenant Consultative Group have been consulted and informed of the ongoing work at the 
High Rise.  There has been some inevitable disruption to residents whilst basements have been 
closed to facilitate the works.  This has been managed by holding an open meeting, updating of 
patch councillors, as well as delivering weekly fact sheets to keep residents updated.  All the 
basements are now open, although there is still controlled access whilst the final works are 
completed to the fob and door entry system.  This has been unavoidable given the scale of the 
work. 

Page 15



 

 
REPORT AUTHOR 

 

Please contact Rob Barnes or Tina Mustafa on ext.467 for further information 

Page 16



Fire safety in purpose-built 
!"#$%&'#(')*+&

E
n

v
iro

n
m

e
n

t, h
o

u
s
in

g
,  

p
la

n
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 w

a
s
te

Page 17



2          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

Foreword

Flats have been used to house people since Victorian times. From the early tenements for 

)5$%,..#%).%6'+&".+%01.23&%(.#%)5$%'(4-$+)7%)5$&$%0-"18"+9&%:$#$%.()$+%&$$+%'&%"++.;')";$%

solutions to the country’s housing needs.

However, it was the post war demand for affordable housing that, in the 1940s and 50s, 

&,-##$8%.+%)5$%0-"18"+9%.(%5"95/8$+&")*7%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&<%=+%)5$%>?@A&7%"+%

particular, high-rise blocks began to dominate the skyline of towns and cities across the 

2.-+)#*<%B'25%4')%#$,#$&$+)$8%'%&$1(/2.+)'"+$87%8.6$&)"2%8:$11"+97%)5$%01.23%:5$#$%")%:'&%

located having all the necessary facilities and amenities each household needed to live 

independently of others.

C";$+%)5')%6.&)%D#$&%.22-#%"+%8.6$&)"2%8:$11"+9&7%")%:'&%#$2.9+"&$8%)5')%'%01.23%.(%4')&%E%

'&%'%0-"18"+9%2.+)'"+"+9%6'+*%&-25%8:$11"+9&%E%5'8%)5$%,.)$+)"'1%(.#%'%5"95$#%#"&3%).%,$.,1$%

&5.-18%D#$%0#$'3%.-)<%F22.#8"+91*7%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%&)'+8'#8&%)5')%:$#$%8$;$1.,$8%).%'88#$&&%

this risk sought to afford the same level of safety found in houses to those living in blocks of 

4')&<

These standards have been embodied in Building Regulations, which, now as then, ensure 

)5')%'8$G-')$%D#$%&'($)*%,#.;"&".+&%'#$%"+2.#,.#')$8%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&%:5$+%)5$*%'#$%

constructed.

H5$%I$9-1').#*%I$(.#6%J!"#$%K'($)*L%M#8$#%NAAO%J)5$%!KML%2'6$%"+).%(.#2$%"+%M2).0$#%NAA@<%

=)%0#.-95)%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&%:")5"+%)5$%&2.,$%.(%6'"+&)#$'6%D#$%&'($)*%

1$9"&1')".+%(.#%)5$%D#&)%)"6$<

Guidance on the FSO and its requirements has been issued in a series of guides. Blocks of 

4')&%'#$%"+21-8$87%'6.+9%6'+*%.)5$#%)*,$&%.(%#$&"8$+)"'1%,#$6"&$&7%"+%)5$%PQ%C.;$#+6$+)%

guide ‘Fire safety risk assessment: sleeping accommodation’ published by the Department 

for Communities and Local Government (DCLG).

P.:$;$#7%',,1"2')".+%.(%)5$%!KM%).%01.23&%.(%4')&%5'&%,#.;$8%,#.01$6')"2R%")%5'&%1$8%).%:"8$1*%

;'#*"+9%.-)2.6$&<%=+%&.6$%0-"18"+9&7%&"9+"D2'+)%:.#3%).%-,9#'8$%D#$%&'($)*%&)'+8'#8&%:")5"+%

)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%5'&%0$$+%-+8$#)'3$+%).%&')"&(*%)5"&%1$9"&1')".+<%=+%.)5$#&7%+.+$%5'&%0$$+%

considered necessary. 

There has also been confusion over the scope of this legislation: how it relates to those who 

1";$%"+%)5$%4')&7%'+87%"+8$$87%).%:5')%$S)$+)7%"(%'+*7%)5"&%1$9"&1')".+%2'+%#$G-"#$%"6,#.;$6$+)&%

0$*.+8%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#<%H5$&$%'#$%T-&)%):.%.(%)5$%G-$&)".+&%)5')%)'S%)5.&$%&$$3"+9%).%

apply and enforce it. 

Page 18



3          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

Enforcing authorities are often unfamiliar with the particular issues that can be found 

"+%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&<%=+%'88")".+%6'+*%.(%)5.&$%+.:%9";"+9%'8;"2$%).%1'+81.#8&%'+8%

6'+'9"+9%'9$+)&%'1&.%5';$%1"6")$8%$S,$#"$+2$%.(%)5$&$%"&&-$&<%M(%,'#)"2-1'#%2.+2$#+%"&%)5$%

#$&-1)"+9%;'#"')".+%"+%)5$%D+8"+9&%.(%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&%2'##"$8%.-)%0*%)5"#8%,'#)"$&%.+%0$5'1(%

.(%1'+81.#8&%'+8%.)5$#&%#$&,.+&"01$%(.#%D#$%&'($)*%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&<%

This guide is intended to meet the needs of housing providers and enforcing authorities for 

9-"8'+2$%)'"1.#$8%).%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&<%H5$&$%0-"18"+9&%'#$%.+1*%'%&6'11%,'#)%.(%)5$%

scope of other guidance documents. This document is intended to assist responsible persons 

).%2.6,1*%:")5%)5$%!KM%'+8%)5$%P.-&"+9%F2)%NAAU<%F22.#8"+91*7%")%"&%$S,$2)$8%)5')%$+(.#2"+9%

authorities will have regard to this guide. 

Page 19



4          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

Acknowledgments 9

Introduction 11

1. Responsibility for this guide 11

2. Purpose 11

3. Scope of this guidance 12

U<% =+)$+8$8%#$'8$#&5",% >V

5. Relationship to other guidance 14

@<% W'*.-)%.(%)5$%9-"8$% >U

X<% F,,$+8"2$&% >X

8. Glossary 17

9. Bibliography 17

,*-+'./'0*(1'*&'2#3&1&4'56-1&'67')*+&'*78'+916-'6:;*$+ 18

10. Fires in domestic dwellings 19

>><% I$1')";$%#"&3%"+%4')&% >?

>N<% =&%Y&)'*%,-)Z%&'($[% NA

>V<% P"95/#"&$%$G-'1&%5"95/#"&3[% NA

>U<% !'2).#&%"+4-$+2"+9%)5$%1"3$1"5..8%.(%'%D#$% N>

,*-+'</'56-1'&*(1+='>'9#?'!"#$%&'#(')*+&'86((1-'(-#:'#+91-'-1&6817$1& 22

>O<% =+)#.8-2)".+% NV

>@<% Q$'+&%.(%$&2',$% NV

>X<% \.6,'#)6$+)')".+% N@

Contents

Page 20



5          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

18. Evacuation strategy 27

19. ‘Stay put’ policy 27

20. Fire detection and alarm systems 28

N><% M)5$#%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&% VA

NN<% !"#$/D95)"+9% VA

23. Benchmark standards 31

NU<% ]$;$1.,6$+)&%"+%D#$%&'($)*%)$25+.1.9*%'+8%,#'2)"2$% VN

,*-+'@/'A91'"*?'B#C1-767B'D-1'&*(1+='67'!"#$%&'#(')*+& 34

25. Relevant legislation 35

N@<% ^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&% VO

NX<% P.-&"+9%F2)%NAAU% V@

28. Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety Order) 2005 37

29. Overlap of legislation 39

Part D: Fire risk assessment 41

VA<% =+)#.8-2)".+% UN

V><% I$G-"#$6$+)%(.#%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)% UN

VN<% _5')%"&%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)[% UN

VV<% \.66.+%6"&2.+2$,)".+&%'0.-)%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&% UN

VU<% K2.,$%.(%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)% UU

VO<% H*,$&%.(%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)% UU

V@<% H5$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%,#.2$&&% U@

37. The action plan 47

V`<% _5.%&5.-18%2'##*%.-)%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)[% U`

V?<% \.6,$)$+2$%.(%,#.($&&".+'1%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&.#&% U`

Page 21



6          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

UA<% I$;"$:%.(%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&% U?

,*-+'E/'F*7*B67B'D-1'-6&%'>';-1C17+67B'D-1& 51

U><% =+)#.8-2)".+% ON

42. Smoking 52

UV<% F#&.+% OV

44. Housekeeping 55

UO<% I$2*21"+9% @>

U@<% B1$2)#"2'1%5'a'#8&% @N

UX<% P$')"+9%'+8%;$+)"1')".+%&*&)$6&%'+8%$G-",6$+)% @U

U`<% W"95)+"+9% @O

U?<% M)5$#%2'-&$&% @O

,*-+'5/'F*7*B67B'D-1'-6&%'>'D-1';-#+1$+6#7% @@

OA<% =+)#.8-2)".+% @`

O><% W"6")')".+&%.(%)5"&%9-"8'+2$% @`

ON<% Q$)5.8.1.9*%(.#%-&"+9%0$+256'#3&% @`

OV<% H5"#8/,'#)*%2$#)"D2')".+% X>

54. Compartmentation 71

OO<% Q$'+&%.(%$&2',$% XO

O@<% Q$'+&%.(%$&2',$%:")5"+%)5$%4')% XO

57. Escape routes within the common parts 84

O`<% B&2',$%(#.6%4')&%:")5%"+)$#+'1%2.##"8.#%.#%1.00*%',,#.'25% `U

O?<% B&2',$%(#.6%4')&%:")5%$S)$#+'1%0'12.+*%.#%8$23%'22$&&%',,#.'25% ?A

@A<% BS)$#+'1%&)'"#:'*&% ?>

@><% B&2',$%#.-)$&%.;$#%#..(&% ?>

Page 22



7          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

@N<% ^1.23&%.(%4')&%)5')%8.%+.)%6$$)%)5$%2-##$+)%8$&"9+%0$+256'#3&%(.#%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$% ?U

@V<% !"#$%&'($)*%&"9+&% >A>

@U<% W"95)"+9%.+%$&2',$%#.-)$&% >AN

@O<% I$(-&$%'+8%25-)$%#..6&% >AN

@@<% !"#$%8$)$2)".+%'+8%'1'#6%&*&)$6&% >AV

@X<% !"#$%$S)"+9-"&5"+9%',,1"'+2$&% >AU

@`<% K$2-#")*%1.23&%'+8%'22$&&%&*&)$6&% >AO

@?<% !1')&%"+%6"S$8/-&$%0-"18"+9&% >A@

70. Sheltered housing 107

X><% !"#$/D95)"+9%('2"1")"$&% >>A

XN<% BS)$#+'1%D#$/&,#$'8% >>>

,*-+'G/'F*7*B67B'D-1'-6&%'>'#7B#67B'$#7+-#" 112

XV<% =+)#.8-2)".+% >>V

XU<% I$&,.+&"0"1")*%(.#%D#$%&'($)*%"+%)5$%0-"18"+9% >>U

XO<% F22$&&%).%2.6,$)$+)%'8;"2$%.+%D#$%&'($)*%1$9"&1')".+% >>U

X@<% \..#8"+')".+%:")5%.)5$#%.22-,"$#&% >>O

77. Engaging with residents 115

X`<% =+&)#-2)".+7%)#'"+"+9%'+8%"+(.#6')".+%(.#%+.+/#$&"8$+)&% >>X

79. Preparing for emergencies 118

`A<% \.+)#.11"+9%5'a'#8.-&%'2)";")"$&% >N>

`><% =+&,$2)".+7%)$&)"+9%'+8%6'"+)$+'+2$%.(%D#$%&'($)*%&*&)$6&%'+8%$G-",6$+)% >NN

`N<% =+&,$2)".+&%'+8%#$,'"#&%.(%.)5$#%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&% >NO

`V<% Q.+").#"+9%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%'+8%0$"+9%'1$#)%).%+$:%5'a'#8&% >NX

`U<% I$;"$:"+9%'+8%'-8")"+9%D#$%&'($)*%&)'+8'#8&% >N`

Page 23



8          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

`O<% \.+)#.11"+9%'1)$#')".+&%&.%)5')%)5$*%'#$%+.)%8$)#"6$+)'1%).%D#$%&'($)*% >N?

`@<% ^$"+9%'1$#)%).%,.&&"0"1")"$&%.(%"6,#.;"+9%D#$%&'($)*%&)'+8'#8&% >VA

`X<% Q'"+)'"+"+9%#$2.#8&% >V>

``<% W"'"&"+9%:")5%'9$+2"$&%#$&,.+&"01$%(.#%D#$%&'($)*% >VN

F,,$+8"S%>R%P"&).#*%.(%D#$%&'($)*%8$&"9+%&)'+8'#8&%(.#%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&% >VV

F,,$+8"S%NR%K)$,&%"+%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)% >U@

F,,$+8"S%VR%K$1$2)"+9%'%2.6,$)$+)%,#.($&&".+'1%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&.#% >OA

F,,$+8"S%UR%!"#$%&'($)*%'8;"2$%(.#%#$&"8$+)&% >ON

F,,$+8"S%OR%BS'6,1$&%.(%D#$%'2)".+%+.)"2$&% >OU

F,,$+8"S%@R%!"#$%8$)$2)".+%'+8%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&%(.#%01.23&%.(%4')&% >O@

F,,$+8"S%XR%\'&$%&)-8*%E%H5#$$/&).#$*%01.237%:")5%4')&%.,$+"+9%8"#$2)1*% 
.+).%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*% >@>

F,,$+8"S%`R%\'&$%&)-8*%E%!";$/&).#$*%01.237%:")5%$S2$&&%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$% 
'+8%.)5$#%"&&-$&% >@V

F,,$+8"S%?R%\'&$%&)-8*%E%b"+$/&).#$*%01.237%:")5%"+'8$G-')$%&6.3$%2.+)#.1% 
'+8%.)5$#%"&&-$&% >@O

F,,$+8"S%>AR%\'&$%&)-8*%E%Q"S$8/-&$%01.237%:")5%"+'8$G-')$%2.6,'#)6$+)')".+% >@`

F,,$+8"S%>>R%\'&$%&)-8*%E%^1.23%2.+)'"+"+9%):./&).#$*%4')&7%:")5.-)%'8$G-')$% 
'1)$#+')";$%$S")&% >XA

F,,$+8"S%>NR%\'&$%&)-8*%E%^1.23%2.+)'"+"+9%&"+91$%&).#$*%4')&7%:")5.-)%'8$G-')$% 
'1)$#+')";$%$S")&% >XN

F,,$+8"S%>VR%\'&$%&)-8*%E%H5#$$/&).#$*%1$'&$5.18%01.23&%:")5%-+2..,$#')";$% 
leaseholders  175

Glossary 177

Bibliography 181

=+8$S% >`O

Page 24



!"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')& 9

Local Government Group entrusted responsibility for this guide to a sector-led group of 

stakeholders, comprising:

F22#$8")')".+%b$):.#3%cd Fbcd

F&&.2"')".+%.(%I$&"8$+)"'1%Q'+'9"+9%F9$+)& FIQF

F&&.2"')".+%.(%I$)'"+$8%\.-+2"1%P.-&"+9 FI\P

\5'#)$#$8%=+&)")-)$%.(%B+;"#.+6$+)'1%P$'1)5 \=BP

\5'#)$#$8%=+&)")-)$%.(%P.-&"+9 \=P

\5"$(%!"#$%M(D2$#&Z%F&&.2"')".+ \!MF

Department for Communities and Local Government DCLG

Electrical Safety Council ESC

!$8$#')".+%.(%e#";')$%I$&"8$+)&%F&&.2"')".+& !eIF

P.6$&%'+8%\.66-+")"$&%F9$+2* P\F

W$'&$5.18%F8;"&.#*%K$#;"2$ WBFKB

London Councils

b')".+'1%!$8$#')".+%.(%FWQM& b!F

b')".+'1%P.-&"+9%!$8$#')".+ bP!

b')".+'1%P.-&"+9%Q'"+)$+'+2$%!.#-6 bPQ!

b')".+'1%W'+81.#8&%F&&.2"')".+ bWF

M(D2$%.(%)5$%\5"$(%!"#$%'+8%I$&2-$%F8;"&$# \!IF

I$&"8$+)"'1%W'+81.#8&%F&&.2"')".+ IWF

I.*'1%=+&)")-)".+%.(%\5'#)$#$8%K-#;$*.#& I=\K

H$+'+)%K$#;"2$&%F-)5.#")* HKF

c+";$#&")"$&%cd

Acknowledgements

Page 25



10          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

H5"&%9-"8$%:'&%8#'()$8%(.#%WC%C#.-,%0*%\K%H.88%f%F&&.2"')$&%W)87%:5.%2.+&-1)$8%:")57%'+8%

received comment from, a number of individuals, professional bodies, trade associations and 

others, the assistance of whom is gratefully acknowledged. Photographs and diagrams in this 

guide are reproduced with the kind permission of those responsible for the premises and the 

following:

g% F&&.2"')".+%(.#%K,$2"'1"&)%!"#$%e#.)$2)".+%JFK!eL

g% P.6$&%(.#%=&1"+9).+

g% Guinness South

g% O & H Properties

g% Gerda Security Products Ltd

g% Roché Systems Ltd

g% Lorient Polyproducts Ltd

g% Department for Communities and Local Government

g% b.#0$#+$%K$'1&%W)8

g% Q#%K%h'2G-$&

Page 26



!"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')& 11

1.  Responsibility for this guide

><>% H5$%9-"8'+2$%"+%)5"&%8.2-6$+)%5'&%0$$+%&-0T$2)%).%'+%$S)$+&";$%2.+&-1)')".+%$S$#2"&$<%

H5$%D+'1%2.+)$+)%5'&%#$2$";$8%"+,-)%(#.6%#$,#$&$+)')";$%9#.-,&%(#.6%)5$%5.-&"+9%&$2).#%

as well as the Department for Communities and Local Government and the Chief Fire 

M(D2$#&Z%F&&.2"')".+<

2.   Purpose

N<>% H5"&%8.2-6$+)%"&%'%9-"8$%).%$+&-#"+9%'8$G-')$%D#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%

4')&7%#$9'#81$&&%.(%'9$<%e#'2)"2'1%'8;"2$%"&%.(($#$8%.+%5.:%).%'&&$&&%)5$%#"&3%(#.6%D#$%

'+8%5.:%).%6'+'9$%D#$%&'($)*%"+%&-25%0-"18"+9&<%H5$%8.2-6$+)%'1&.%"+21-8$&%2'&$%

&)-8"$&%0'&$8%.+%)5$%2.66.+1*%(.-+8%"&&-$&%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&7%:")5%&-99$&)$8%D#$%

safety solutions. 

N<N% H5"&%9-"8$%8.$&%+.)%"+)#.8-2$%+$:%&)'+8'#8&%.#%#$9-1')".+&7%0-)%0-"18&%.+%$S"&)"+9%9..8%

,#'2)"2$%'+8%9-"8'+2$%2-##$+)1*%"+%,1'2$<%=+%,'#)"2-1'#7%")%:"11%5$1,%1'+81.#8&7%6'+'9"+9%

'9$+)&7%$+(.#2"+9%.(D2$#&%'+8%)5.&$%-+8$#)'3"+9%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&%).%-+8$#&)'+8%

)5$%1$9"&1')";$%#$G-"#$6$+)&%#$1')"+9%).%01.23&%.(%4')&%'+8%).%',,1*%)5$6%"+%'%2.+&"&)$+)%

and reasonable manner.

N<V% H5"&%8.2-6$+)%8.$&%+.)%&$)%,#$&2#",)";$%&)'+8'#8&<%=)&%'"6%"&%).%,#.;"8$%9-"8'+2$%

'+8%#$2.66$+8')".+&%(.#%-&$%:5$+%'&&$&&"+9%)5$%'8$G-'2*%.(%$S"&)"+9%D#$%&'($)*%

,#.;"&".+&%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&<

N<U% _5"1$%")%"+21-8$&%8$D+")";$%2#")$#"'%(.#%8$)$#6"+"+9%)5$%1$;$1%.(%&'($)*7%)5$&$%'#$%.+1*%

intended to act as useful benchmarks against which comparisons can be made. 

Similarly, the methodology outlined here is only intended to assist in making such 

2.6,'#"&.+&<%F1)$#+')";$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%6$)5.8&%6'*%0$%$G-'11*%;'1"8%"+%.#8$#%).%

2.6,1*%:")5%D#$%&'($)*%1':<%F1)$#+')";$%',,#.'25$&%).%"+8";"8-'1%D#$%&'($)*%&.1-)".+&%6'*%

be acceptable as long as an equivalent level of safety is achieved.

N<O% =)%&5.-18%0$%+.)$8%)5')%0-"18"+9%8$&"9+%;'#"$&%2.+&"8$#'01*%'+8%+.%9-"8$%2'+%$;$#%

,#.;"8$%&,$2"D2%&.1-)".+&%(.#%'11%,.&&"01$%2"#2-6&)'+2$&<%F22.#8"+91*7%)5"&%9-"8$%&$)&%.-)%

only general principles.

N<@% _5"1$%'"6$8%')%'%0#.'8%#$'8$#&5",7%")&%-&$%"+%'&&$&&"+9%#"&3%'+8%8$)$#6"+"+9%'+%

',,#.,#"')$%,'23'9$%.(%D#$%&'($)*%,#.;"&".+&%"+%&.6$%0-"18"+9&%6'*%#$G-"#$%,'#)"2-1'#%

Introduction

Page 27



12          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

3+.:1$89$%'+8%$S,$#"$+2$<%=)%6'*%0$%+$2$&&'#*%).%&$$3%&,$2"'1"&)%5$1,<%c&$#&%.(%)5"&%

guide should consider whether they have the necessary competence before applying 

this guide to a particular building.

3.  Scope of this guidance

3.1 This guide is intended for buildings which have been constructed as purpose-built blocks of 

4')&<%=)%',,1"$&%).%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.+1*<%!"#$%&'($)*%8$&"9+%"+%+$:%01.23&%.(%4')&%"&%9.;$#+$8%

by the Building Regulations 20101, but, once a block is occupied, this guide is applicable.

V<N% H5$%&2.,$%.(%)5"&%9-"8$%$S21-8$&%0-"18"+9&%2.+;$#)$8%"+).%01.23&%.(%4')&<%P.:$;$#%

the guidance contained in this document will largely be applicable to such buildings, 

,#.;"8$8%)5')%E%')%)5$%)"6$%.(%2.+;$#&".+%E%)5$%:.#3%:'&%2'##"$8%.-)%"+%'22.#8'+2$%

:")5%)5$%)5$+%2-##$+)%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&<%=+%,'#)"2-1'#%)5$%9-"8'+2$%"&%1"3$1*%).%0$%

relevant to conversions in which, as a result of compartmentation, a ‘stay-put’ policy is 

appropriate.

V<V% _")5"+%)5"&%9-"8$7%)5$%)$#6%Y4')Z%"&%-&$8%).%8$&2#"0$%'%&$1(/2.+)'"+$8%8.6$&)"2%8:$11"+9%

within a building. Other terms, such as ‘apartment’, are commonly used to describe such 

'22.66.8')".+<%H5$%)$#6%Y4')&Z%"&%"+)$+8$8%).%"+21-8$%)5.&$%'##'+9$8%.+%6.#$%)5'+%.+$%

&).#$*7%&-25%'&%6'"&.+$))$&%J8-,1$S%','#)6$+)&L<

V<U% H5"&%9-"8$%'1&.%"+21-8$&%4')&%:")5"+%&5$1)$#$8%5.-&"+9%&25$6$&%'+8%01.23&%2.+)'"+"+9%

4')&%"+)$+8$8%(.#%6-1)",1$%.22-,')".+%0*7%(.#%$S'6,1$7%&)-8$+)&%.#%3$*%:.#3$#&<%

However, the guide does not address buildings of this nature in which, in the event of a 

D#$%"+%'%4')7%)5$%$+)"#$%0-"18"+9%"&%$;'2-')$8%&"6-1)'+$.-&1*<

3.5 The guide does not address:

g% dwelling houses and bungalows

g% shared houses

g% PQM&

g% hostels

g% 4')&%-&$8%'&%5.1"8'*%1$)&<

V<@% H5"&%9-"8$%8.$&%+.)%'88#$&&%'+2"11'#*%.#%2.66-+'1%('2"1")"$&7%&-25%'&%'%1.-+9$7%9*6%.#%

'%5'"#8#$&&$#%"+%'%&5$1)$#$8%5.-&"+9%&25$6$<%F1)5.-95%&-25%('2"1")"$&%6-&)%0$%"+21-8$8%

"+%)5$%&2.,$%.(%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%(.#%)5$%01.237%)5$%D#$%,#$2'-)".+&%&5.-18%0$%

considered on a case-by-case basis, following general guidance applicable to buildings 

.)5$#%)5'+%4')&<

>% %C-"8'+2$%).%e'#)%^%.(%)5$&$%I$9-1')".+&%J!"#$%K'($)*L%(.#%01.23&%.(%4')&%"&%2.+)'"+$8%"+%)5$%]\WC%,-01"2')".+%YF,,#.;$8%].2-6$+)%^%

Volume 2’.

Page 28



13          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

V<X% H5$%9-"8$%8.$&%2.;$#%01.23&%:")5%4')&%1.2')$8%'0.;$%2.66$#2"'1%,#$6"&$&7%&-25%

'&%5.)$1&%'+8%&5.,&<%P.:$;$#7%9-"8'+2$%.+%D#$%&'($)*%"+%)5$%2.66$#2"'1%$1$6$+)%"&%

outside the scope of the document.

V<`% _5"1$%)5$%9-"8$%"+21-8$&%D#$%&'($)*%:")5"+%)5$%4')&%)5$6&$1;$&7%)5"&%.+1*%',,1"$&%).%4')&%

.22-,"$8%'&%&"+91$/('6"1*%5.-&$5.18&<%F%4')%"+%6-1)",1$%.22-,')".+%"&%'%(.#6%.(%PQM%'+8%

is, therefore, outside the scope of the guidance in this document.

V<?% H5"&%9-"8$%',,1"$&%).%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&%#$9'#81$&&%.(%)5$%)$+-#$%.(%)5$%4')&%J"$%

whether owner-occupied, social housing or private rented sector). The term ‘residents’ is 

-&$8%:5$+%#$($##"+9%).%)5$%.22-,'+)&%.(%)5$%4')&<%H5"&%"&%"+)$+8$8%).%2.;$#%'11%)5.&$%:5.%

live in the building, whether tenants or leaseholders. However, the term ‘tenant’ is used 

:5$+%&,$2"D2'11*%#$($##"+9%).%)$+'+)&7%0-)%+.)%.)5$#%(.#6&%.(%#$&"8$+)<

3.10 The guide is concerned only with the safety of those who live in, visit, or work in blocks 

.(%4')&<%=)%"&%'1&.%#$&)#"2)$8%).%)5.&$%1':(-11*%.+%)5$%,#$6"&$&<

V<>>% =)%8.$&%+.)%,#.;"8$%9-"8'+2$%.+%,#.)$2)"+9%,#.,$#)*<%b.#%8.$&%")%"+21-8$%

#$2.66$+8')".+&%&,$2"D2'11*%).%'88#$&&%2$#)'"+%2.+&$G-$+2$&%.(%D#$7%&-25%'&%)5$%+$$8%

to re-house residents at short notice. 

3.12 By virtue of including guidance on the provision and maintenance of facilities for use 

0*%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$&%"+%D95)"+9%D#$&%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&7%)5$%+$$8&%.(%D#$/D95)$#&%

'#$7%).%&.6$%$S)$+)7%2.;$#$8%"+%)5"&%9-"8$<%P.:$;$#7%)5$%8.2-6$+)%"&%+.)%'%9-"8$%).%

.,$#')".+'1%D#$/D95)"+9%"+%&-25%0-"18"+9&<

3.13 The guide applies only to England. However, it is likely to be relevant in Wales, where 

)5$%&'6$%D#$%&'($)*%1$9"&1')".+%',,1"$&<

U<% %=+)$+8$8%#$'8$#&5",

4.1 This guide is particularly aimed at those who manage, give advice on and enforce standards 

"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&<%H5"&%&,$2"D2'11*%"+21-8$&%)5.&$%-+8$#)'3"+9%D#$%#"&3%

assessments of such buildings, including those contracted to do this on a commercial basis.

4.2 Typically, this will include:

g% private sector housing providers (landlords)

g% social housing providers

g% residents’ management companies

g% YI"95)%).%Q'+'9$Z%2.6,'+"$&

g% managing agents or facility managers

g% $+(.#2$6$+)%.(D2$#&%"+%1.2'1%5.-&"+9%'-)5.#")"$&

Page 29



14          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

g% $+(.#2$6$+)%.(D2$#&%"+%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%'-)5.#")"$&

g% advice agencies

g% 2.+&-1)'+)&%'+8%2.+)#'2).#&%2'##*"+9%.-)%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&<

U<V% H5$%9-"8$%"&%+.)%&,$2"D2'11*%"+)$+8$8%(.#%#$&"8$+)&<%P.:$;$#7%")%"&%#$2.66$+8$8%"+%)5$%

9-"8$%)5')%1'+81.#8&%'+8%.)5$#&%#$&,.+&"01$%(.#%6'+'9"+9%D#$%&'($)*%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&%

should engage and communicate with those who live in the buildings in their care. 

U<U% =)%"&%#$2.9+"&$8%)5')%&.6$%#$'8$#&%:"11%0$%,#"6'#"1*%"+)$#$&)$8%"+%)5$%,#'2)"2'1%',,1"2')".+%

.(%)5"&%9-"8$%'&%")%#$1')$&%).%6'+'9"+9%D#$%&'($)*%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&<%F22.#8"+91*7%,'#)"2-1'#%

'8;"2$%.(%)5"&%+')-#$%"&%5"951"95)$8%"+%)5$%)$S)%'+87%:5$#$%',,#.,#"')$7%3$*%,."+)&%'#$%

&-66'#"&$8<%H5"&%2'+%0$%(.-+8%"+%)5$%&5'8$8%0.S$&<%P.:$;$#7%).%'25"$;$%'+%'8$G-')$%

&)'+8'#8%.(%D#$%&'($)*7%")%"&%"6,.#)'+)%)5')%'11%&$2)".+&%.(%)5$%9-"8'+2$%'#$%)'3$+%"+).%

account.

5.  Relationship to other guidance

5.1 This sector-led guide has been developed by, and for, the housing sector and enforcing 

'-)5.#")"$&7%).%,#.;"8$%&,$2"D2%9-"8'+2$%#$1')"+9%).%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&<%=)%0-"18&%

on the advice given in the DCLG Sleeping accommodation guide mentioned earlier. 

That guide applies generically to all premises in which people sleep, but, for purpose-

0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&7%)5"&%9-"8$%"&%1"3$1*%).%0$%)5$%6.#$%',,#.,#"')$%.+$%).%-&$<

O<N% \$#)'"+%01.23&%.(%4')&%'#$%'1&.%"+21-8$8%:")5"+%)5$%&2.,$%.(%)5$%WF\.IK%9-"8$%YP.-&"+9%

E%D#$%&'($)*R%9-"8'+2$%.+%D#$%&'($)*%,#.;"&".+&%(.#%2$#)'"+%)*,$&%.(%$S"&)"+9%5.-&"+9Z<%

However, the blocks addressed in that document comprise purpose-built blocks and 

conversions that, in either case, do not meet the standards applied under the Building 

Regulations since 1992.

O<V% H5"&%,#$&$+)%9-"8$%2.;$#&%'11%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&%J0.)5%2.66.+%,'#)&%'+8%)5$%

4')&%)5$6&$1;$&L7%"+21-8"+9%)5.&$%:")5"+%)5$%&2.,$%.(%)5$%]\WC%'+8%WF\.IK%9-"8$&<%=)%

"&7%)5$#$(.#$7%)5$%6.#$%',,#.,#"')$%9-"8$%).%-&$%(.#%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&<

@<% %W'*.-)%.(%)5$%9-"8$

@<>% H5$%9-"8$%"&%1'"8%.-)%'&%(.11.:&<

 Part A%2.+)'"+&%'+%'+'1*&"&%.(%D#$&%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&<

% H5"&%"&%"+)$+8$8%).%,-)%)5$%#"&3%(#.6%D#$%"+%)5$&$%0-"18"+9&%"+).%2.+)$S)%'+8%8#':%

comparisons with the risk to people living in other forms of housing.

 Part B%.-)1"+$&%)5$%9$+$#'1%,#"+2",1$&%.(%D#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&<

Page 30



15          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

% H5"&%"&%'"6$8%')%"+(.#6"+9%)5$%#$'8$#%'0.-)%)5$%0'&"&%.(%D#$%&'($)*%8$&"9+%"+%&-25%

0-"18"+9&<%=)%5"951"95)&%5.:%D#$&%2'+%8$;$1.,%'+8%&,#$'8%"(%&-")'01$%,#$2'-)".+&%'#$%

+.)%)'3$+<%F+8%")%1..3&%')%:5*%D#$&%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&%2'+%,.)$+)"'11*%0$%&$$+%'&%6.#$%

serious.

% =)%"&%'1:'*&%"+)$+8$8%)5')%)5$%.22-,'+)&%.(%'%4')%:5$#$%'%D#$%.22-#&%&5.-18%$;'2-')$%

immediately. The concept of ‘stay put’ as a strategy, where other residents remain in 

)5$"#%4')&7%"&%$S,1'"+$8%5$#$%'1.+9%:")5%)5$%"6,1"2')".+&%)5"&%5'&%(.#%0-"18"+9%8$&"9+<%

 The alternative of evacuating some or all of the other residents at the same time is also 

discussed. The particular differences that might apply in special circumstances, such as 

sheltered housing schemes, are also highlighted.

 Part C%,#.;"8$&%'+%.;$#;"$:%.(%)5$%1$9'1%(#'6$:.#3%"+%#$1')".+%).%D#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/

0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&<%

% =+%,'#)"2-1'#7%")%'"6&%).%5$1,%1'+81.#8&7%'+8%)5.&$%6'+'9"+9%D#$%&'($)*%"+%)5$&$%0-"18"+9&7%

to understand their obligations under housing legislation, as well as under the FSO. 

H5$%$S)$+)%.(%)5$&$%.01"9')".+&7%,'#)"2-1'#1*%:5$#$7%-+8$#%'%1$'&$7%1'+81.#8&%8.%+.)%5';$%

2.+)#.1%.;$#%2$#)'"+%D#$%&'($)*%,#.;"&".+&7%"&%'1&.%'88#$&&$8<%

 Part D%.-)1"+$&%)5$%,#"+2",1$&%'+8%6$)5.8.1.9*%.(%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)<%

 This is aimed not only at those undertaking such assessments, but also enforcing 

'-)5.#")"$&%#$&,.+&"01$%(.#%'-8")"+9%)5$6<%=)%"&%'1&.%"+)$+8$8%).%'&&"&)%1'+81.#8&%'+8%

.)5$#&%:5$+%2.66"&&".+"+9%)5"#8%,'#)"$&%).%2'##*%.-)%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&%.+%)5$"#%

behalf.

% _5"1$%)5$#$%"&%.)5$#%9-"8'+2$%';'"1'01$%.+%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)7%)5$%(.2-&%5$#$%"&%.+%")&%

&,$2"D2%',,1"2')".+%).%)5$&$%)*,$&%.(%,#$6"&$&<%=)%"+21-8$&%9-"8'+2$%.+%)5$%(.11.:"+9%

'&,$2)&%.(%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%,#.2$&&R

g% :5.%&5.-18%2'##*%.-)%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%'+8%:5')%1$;$1%.(%2.6,$)$+2$%"&%#$G-"#$8

g% :5')%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&%&5.-18%2.;$#7%,'#)"2-1'#1*%"+%#$1')".+%).%D#$%&'($)*%:")5"+%)5$%

4')&%)5$6&$1;$&

g% how intrusive they should be with regard to assessing aspects of the construction of 

the building

g% when they should be carried out and how often they should be reviewed

g% how they should be recorded.

 Parts E and F%8$&2#"0$%5.:%;'#".-&%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%6'*%0$%',,1"$8%).%#$8-2$%#"&3<%

% =+%e'#)%B7%0$9"++"+9%:")5%D#$%,#$;$+)".+7%'%&$#"$&%.(%,#'2)"2'1%6$'&-#$&%'#$%.-)1"+$8%).%

'88#$&&%)5$%2.66.+1*%(.-+8%D#$%5'a'#8&%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&<%H5"&%"&%,'#)"2-1'#1*%'"6$8%')%

1'+81.#8&%'+8%)5.&$%6'+'9"+9%D#$%&'($)*%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&<%P.:$;$#7%")%:"11%'1&.%&$#;$%).%

Page 31



16          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

inform those giving advice about a reasonable approach on particular issues.

% _5"1$%2.+2$+)#')"+9%.+%)5$%5'a'#8&%'#"&"+9%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&7%#$($#$+2$%"&%6'8$%).%

sources of guidance available to residents.

 Part F%.-)1"+$&%0$+256'#3&%#$1')"+9%).%;'#".-&%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%$6,1.*$8%"+%D#$%

safety design to make a building safe. These measures include:

g% escape route design

g% compartmentation

g% smoke control provisions 

g% ('2"1")"$&%(.#%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$%:5$+%D95)"+9%D#$&<%

g% H.%)5$%$S)$+)%)5')%)5$*%6'*%0$%+$2$&&'#*7%.)5$#%'&,$2)&%'1&.%'88#$&&$8%5$#$%'#$R

g% D#$%8$)$2)".+%'+8%'1'#6%&*&)$6&

g% emergency escape lighting

g% D#$%$S)"+9-"&5"+9%',,1"'+2$&%

g% D#$%&'($)*%&"9+&<%

% P.:$;$#7%'&%8"&2-&&$8%"+%)5"&%,'#)%E%:")5%)5$%$S2$,)".+%.(%$6$#9$+2*%$&2',$%1"95)"+9%E%

such measures will not often be necessary and will need to be considered on a case-by-

case basis.

% F%6$)5.8.1.9*%"&%"+21-8$8%(.#%2.6,'#"+9%)5$%&)'+8'#8%(.-+8%"+%)5$%0-"18"+9%).%)5')%.(%)5$%

benchmarks set out in this part of the guide.

 To illustrate the application of this approach, case studies are included in the 

',,$+8"2$&<%H5$&$%'#$%.+1*%$S'6,1$&%.(%D#$%&'($)*%&.1-)".+&%(.#%,'#)"2-1'#%&$)&%.(%

circumstances. Other solutions may be equally valid and, accordingly, those described 

must not be used as ‘off-the-peg’ solutions.

 Part G is particularly aimed at landlords and others with the responsibility for the 

.+9."+9%2.+)#.1%.(%D#$%&'($)*%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&<%=)%:"11%'1&.%0$%-&$(-1%).%)5.&$%2.+&"8$#"+9%

)5$%&)'+8'#8%.(%D#$%&'($)*%6'+'9$6$+)%:5$+%'&&$&&"+9%#"&3<%

% F8;"2$%.+%)5$%,.&&"01$%+$$8%(.#%$6$#9$+2*%,1'+&%'+8%D#$%,#.2$8-#$&%"&%9";$+<%H5"&%

includes suggestions for engaging with tenants and residents to improve awareness 

.(%5'a'#8&%'+8%,#$,'#$8+$&&%(.#%D#$%$6$#9$+2"$&<%H5$%0$+256'#3&%(.#%)$&)"+9%'+8%

6'"+)'"+"+9%D#$%&'($)*%,#.;"&".+&%'#$%"+21-8$8%:")5%9..8%,#'2)"2$%.+%:5')%&5.-18%0$%

recorded and how records should be kept. 

 This part also includes guidance relating to changes that might introduce new risks. 

F1)$#')".+&%).%0-"18"+9&%2'+%"+'8;$#)$+)1*%'(($2)%D#$%&'($)*%&)'+8'#8&7%'+8%$S'6,1$&%.(%

where this might occur are given. 

Page 32



17          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

X<% %F,,$+8"2$&%

7.1 Various appendices provide a reference source for readers.

 These comprise:

g% '%5"&).#*%.(%D#$%&'($)*%8$&"9+%&)'+8'#8&%(.#%01.23&%.(%4')&

g% )5$%&)$,&%"+;.1;$8%"+%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)

g% &$1$2)".+%.(%'%2.6,$)$+)%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&.#

g% D#$%&'($)*%'8;"2$%(.#%#$&"8$+)&

g% &'6,1$%D#$%'2)".+%+.)"2$&

g% D#$%8$)$2)".+%'+8%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&%(.#%01.23&%.(%4')&

g% case studies illustrating the application of the guidance to various situations commonly 

(.-+8%"+%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&<

8.  Glossary

8.1 The glossary is intended as a plain English guide to some terms used in this document.

9.  Bibliography

9.1 The bibliography offers sources of further reading for those seeking greater detail 

.#%#$&$'#25"+9%)5$%&.-#2$%.(%&.6$%.(%)5$%9-"8'+2$<%=)%'1&.%1"&)&%)5$%(-11%)")1$&%.(%'11%

references included in the guide.

Page 33



18          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

d$*%,."+)&

g% e$.,1$%1";"+9%"+%4')&%$S,$#"$+2$%6.#$%D#$&%)5'+%,$.,1$%1";"+9%"+%5.-&$&<%P.:$;$#7%'%D#$%"+%

'%4')%"&%+.%6.#$%8'+9$#.-&%)5'+%'%D#$%"+%'%5.-&$<

g% High-rise does not mean high-risk!

g% H.%3$$,%D#$%#"&3%).%'%6"+"6-67%")%"&%T-&)%'&%"6,.#)'+)%).%,#$;$+)%D#$&%'&%).%,#.;"8$%

6$'&-#$&%).%,#.)$2)%,$.,1$%:5$+%D#$%.22-#&<

g% H5$%6.&)%&"9+"D2'+)%"+4-$+2$&%.+%D#$%#"&3%'#$%&.2"'1%'+8%1"($&)*1$%('2).#&%'+8%'8;'+2$8%

age, not the type of dwelling in which people live.

g% F11%8:$11"+9&%&5.-18%5';$%:.#3"+9%&6.3$%'1'#6&<

g% i$#*%($:%,$.,1$%8"$%'&%'%#$&-1)%.(%'%D#$%"+%'%+$"950.-#Z&%4')%.#%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&<%b$'#1*%'11%

D#$%8$')5&%.22-#%"+%)5$%4')%"+%:5"25%D#$%&)'#)&<

g% =+%01.23&%.(%4')&7%$'25%4')%"&%8$&"9+$8%).%0$%'%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%Y0.SZ<%=)%"&%"6,.#)'+)%).%6'"+)'"+%

the integrity of this compartment, particularly when building work and alterations take place.

g% =)%"&%"6,.#)'+)%).%$+&-#$%)5')%D#$&%2'++.)%&)'#)%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%.#%2.66.+%('2"1")"$&<

Part A: K'($%'&%5.-&$&[%!"#$&%
"+%4')&%'+8%)5$"#%"6,'2)

18          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&
Page 34



19          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

10.  Fires in domestic dwellings

>A<>%C$+$#'11*7%,$.,1$%'#$%&'($#%(#.6%D#$%"+%

their homes than at any time in recent 

5"&).#*<%=+%>?X?7%`@O%,$.,1$%"+%)5$%cd%

8"$8%(#.6%D#$&%"+%8:$11"+9&<%b$'#1*%

thirty years later, the number of deaths 

5'8%('11$+%).%VOV7%'%#$8-2)".+%.(%@A%,$#%

2$+)7%'+8%)5$%1.:$&)%D9-#$%&"+2$%.(D2"'1%

#$2.#8&%0$9'+%"+%>?@A<2

>A<N%H5"&%&"9+"D2'+)%#$8-2)".+%"+%8.6$&)"2%

D#$%8$')5&%"&%'16.&)%2$#)'"+1*%)5$%#$&-1)%

of a number of factors, one of the most 

important of which is the great increase 

in the provision of smoke alarms 

in homes. There is overwhelming 

evidence to show that, where 

occupants of a dwelling are given an 

$'#1*%:'#+"+9%.(%D#$%0*%'%&6.3$%'1'#67%

the chance of anyone dying is greatly 

#$8-2$8<%F+.)5$#%"6,.#)'+)%('2).#%"&%

1$9"&1')".+%).%2.+)#.1%)5$%4'66'0"1")*%.(%

domestic furniture.

>A<V% =+%'88")".+7%-+8.-0)$81*%6'+*%1";$&%5';$%0$$+%&';$8%0*%9.;$#+6$+)7%'+8%"+8";"8-'1%D#$%

'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$&Z%Y2.66-+")*%D#$%&'($)*Z%J\!KL%"+")"')";$&<%\!K%"+;.1;$&%,#.'2)";$%

$((.#)&%).%#$8-2$%)5$%"+2"8$+2$%'+8%"6,'2)%.(%D#$%)5#.-95%$8-2')".+7%"+(.#6')".+%

'+8%,-01"2")*<%K"9+"D2'+)%\!K%"+")"')";$&%"+21-8$%)5$%,#.;"&".+%.(%&6.3$%'1'#6&%).%

5.-&$5.18$#&7%$8-2')".+%"+%&25..1&%'+8%(#$$%5.6$%D#$/&'($)*%25$23&<

>><%%I$1')";$%#"&3%"+%4')&

>><>% =+%B+91'+87%'#.-+8%>A%,$#%2$+)3 of the 

,.,-1')".+%1";$%"+%'%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%4')<%

Yet, during 2009-2010, around 25 per 

2$+)%.(%8:$11"+9%D#$&%.22-##$8%:")5"+%

,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&<%F&%'%#$&-1)7%

"+%)5')%*$'#7%NV%,$#%2$+)%.(%'11%D#$%8$')5&%

in dwellings occurred in these blocks. 

N% %K.-#2$R%cd%!"#$%K)')"&)"2&%NAA`

3  Source: 2001 Census and English Housing Survey (2009-2010)

0

200

400

600

800

1000

20081979

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
d
e
a
th

s
 f
ro

m
 f
ir
e
s
 i
n
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s

0 % 25

Proportion of 

people living 

in flats

Proportion of 

dwelling fires 

in blocks of 

flats 

Proportion of 

domestic fire 

deaths in 

blocks of 

flats 

Page 35



20          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

>><N% H5"&%&-99$&)&%)5')%)5$%+-60$#%.(%D#$%8$')5&%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%4')&%',,$'#&%&"9+"D2'+)1*%

disproportionate to the number of people who live in these dwellings. But this is simply 

)5$%#$&-1)%.(%+-60$#%.(%D#$&%"+%&-25%8:$11"+9&7%6.&)%.(%:5"25%'#$%&)'#)$8%'22"8$+)'11*<%

H5$#$%"&%+.%$;"8$+2$%(#.6%D#$%&)')"&)"2&%).%&-99$&)%)5')%)5.&$%1";"+9%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%

01.23&%.(%4')&%'#$%')%9#$')$#%8'+9$#%(#.6%D#$7%.+2$%")%0#$'3&%.-)7%)5'+%)5.&$%:5.%1";$%"+%

houses4.

>><V% M+2$%'%D#$%.22-#&%"+%'%01.23%.(%4')&7%)5$%1"3$1"5..8%.(%'%8$')5%"&%'2)-'11*%1$&&%)5'+%)5$%

1"3$1"5..8%.(%'%8$')5%:5$+%D#$%.22-#&%"+%'%0-+9'1.:%.#%'%5.-&$<%H5$%1.:$#%(#$G-$+2*%.(%

8$')5&%:5$+%D#$%.22-#&%"&%,'#'11$1$8%0*%'%1.:$#%#')$%.(%"+T-#*<%M+$%,.&&"01$%#$'&.+%(.#%

)5"&%"&%)5')%9#$')$#%,#.)$2)".+%"&%'((.#8$8%).%$&2',$%#.-)$&%"+%4')&%)5'+%"+%0-+9'1.:&%'+8%

two-storey houses.

>><U% =+%'88")".+7%0$2'-&$7%"+%'%01.23%.(%4')&7%$'25%"+8";"8-'1%4')%"&%).)'11*%$+21.&$8%"+%D#$/

#$&"&)"+9%2.+&)#-2)".+7%)5$%;'&)%6'T.#")*%.(%D#$&%'#$%2.+)'"+$8%:")5"+%)5$%4')%J'+87%"+%)5$%

6'T.#")*%.(%2'&$&7%)5$%#..6L%:5$#$%)5$*%&)'#)<%=)%"&%2$#)'"+1*%#'#$%(.#%'+*.+$7%.-)&"8$%)5$%

4')%:5$#$%'%D#$%&)'#)&7%).%8"$%'&%'%#$&-1)%.(%'%D#$%"+%'%4')<

>N<%%=&%Y&)'*%,-)Z%&'($[

>N<>%H5"&%"&%)5$%0'&"&%(.#%)5$%Y&)'*%,-)Z%,#"+2",1$%J8"&2-&&$8%1')$#%"+%)5"&%9-"8$LR%:5$+%'%D#$%

occurs within one dwelling (or, less likely, in the common parts), it is normally safe for 

.)5$#%#$&"8$+)&%).%#$6'"+%:")5"+%)5$"#%.:+%4')<%H5"&%,#"+2",1$%"&%-+8.-0)$81*%&-22$&&(-1%

"+%'+%.;$#:5$16"+9%+-60$#%.(%D#$&%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&<%=+%NAA?/NA>A7%.(%.;$#%`7AAA%D#$&%

"+%)5$&$%01.23&7%.+1*%NN%D#$&%+$2$&&")')$8%$;'2-')".+%.(%6.#$%)5'+%D;$%,$.,1$%:")5%)5$%

'&&"&)'+2$%.(%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$5.

>V<%%P"95/#"&$%$G-'1&%5"95/#"&3[

13.1 There is a common misconception that those living on the higher levels of a high-

#"&$%01.23%.(%4')&%'#$%')%9#$')$#%#"&3%(#.6%D#$%)5'+%,$.,1$%1";"+9%"+%1.:/#"&$%01.23&7%.#%

in bungalows and two-storey houses. However, statistically, there is no evidence to 

support this, even though, in principle, the potential risk might be regarded as greater.

>V<N%M0;".-&1*7%'0.;$%D#&)%4..#%1$;$17%$&2',$%;"'%:"+8.:&%"&%"6,.&&"01$7%'+87%'0.;$%)5$%

)5"#8%4..#7%#$&2-$%0*%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$%1'88$#&%"&%-+1"3$1*%).%0$%,.&&"01$j%$;$+%5"95%

reach appliances have their limits. However, this is taken into account in the design, 

1'*.-)%'+8%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%"+%6.8$#+%01.23&%.(%4')&<%H5$*%'#$%8$&"9+$8%&.%)5')%

escape or rescue via windows should not be necessary.

U% %K.-#2$R%!"#$%'+8%I$&2-$%K$#;"2$%=+2"8$+)%I$,.#)"+9%K*&)$6%]')'%NAA?/NA>A

O% %K.-#2$R%!"#$%'+8%I$&2-$%K$#;"2$%=+2"8$+)%I$,.#)"+9%K*&)$6%]')'%NAA?/NA>A

Page 36



21          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

>V<V%H5$#$%"&%$;"8$+2$%).%&-99$&)%)5')%)'11$#%01.23&%$S,$#"$+2$%6.#$%D#$&%J$9%,$#%>7AAA%

8:$11"+9&L%)5'+%01.23&%.(%1.:$#%5$"95)<%P.:$;$#7%6.#$%D#$&%.22-#%.+%)5$%9#.-+8%4..#%

)5'+%.+%'+*%.(%)5$%5"95$#%4..#&<%F9'"+7%.+2$%D#$%8.$&%0#$'3%.-)7%)5$#$%"&%+.%9#$')$#%

1"3$1"5..8%.(%'%(')'1")*%"+%'%5"95/#"&$%01.23%)5'+%"+%'%1.:/#"&$%01.23<%=+%('2)7%D#$%&)')"&)"2&%

&5.:%)5')%'%D#$%"+%'%0-+9'1.:%"&%6.#$%1"3$1*%).%#$&-1)%"+%'%(')'1")*%)5'+%'%D#$%"+%'%5"95/#"&$%

01.23%.(%4')&%J0$2'-&$%.(%)5$%'9$%8$6.9#',5"2%.(%)5.&$%1";"+9%"+%0-+9'1.:&L<

>V<U%H5$#$(.#$7%'&%"+%'11%8:$11"+9%)*,$&7%)5$%#"&3%).%,$.,1$%(#.6%D#$%J"$%#"&3%.(%8$')5%.#%"+T-#*L%

"+%'%01.23%.(%4')&%"&%9.;$#+$8%,#"6'#"1*%0*%)5$%1"3$1"5..8%.(%D#$%.22-##"+9%'+8%:5$)5$#%

smoke alarms are installed, rather than the type of dwelling in which people live, the 

height of the dwelling above ground or the architectural design of the block. 

>U<%%!'2).#&%"+4-$+2"+9%)5$%1"3$1"5..8%.(%'%D#$

>U<>%H5$%1"3$1"5..8%.(%D#$%"&%&)#.+91*%"+4-$+2$8%0*%&.2"'1%'+8%1"($&)*1$%('2).#&<%=)%"&%)5$&$%

('2).#&7%6.#$%)5'+%'+*%.)5$#7%)5')%#$&-1)%"+%)5$%8"&,#.,.#)".+')$%+-60$#%.(%D#$&%J'+8%D#$%

8$')5&L%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&<%

>U<N%H5"&%5"951"95)&%)5$%"6,.#)'+2$%.(%D#$%,#$;$+)".+%:")5"+%)5$%"+8";"8-'1%4')&<%=)%"&%'1&.%

21$'#%)5')%6-25%2'+%0$%8.+$%0*%1'+81.#8&7%.)5$#%5.-&"+9%,#.;"8$#&%'+8%)5$%D#$%'+8%

rescue service (through their CFS activities) to reduce the risk to all residents. This is 

particularly true in the case of the most vulnerable people, such as older or disabled 

people, socially deprived people and those who engage in drug or alcohol abuse.

>U<V%H5$%'&&$&&6$+)%.(%#"&3%(#.6%D#$%'1&.%+$$8&%).%)'3$%&.2"'1%('2).#&%"+).%'22.-+)7%

,'#)"2-1'#1*%"+%)5$%2'&$%.(%'22.66.8')".+%,#.;"8$8%&,$2"D2'11*%(.#%2$#)'"+%5"95/

#"&3%9#.-,&<%C-"8'+2$%.+%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"&%9";$+%"+%e'#)%]%.(%)5"&%9-"8$7%:5"1$%

6$'&-#$&%).%,#$;$+)%D#$%.22-##"+9%'#$%8"&2-&&$8%"+%e'#)%B%.(%)5"&%9-"8$<

>U<U%b.):")5&)'+8"+9%)5$%"6,.#)'+2$%.(%D#$%,#$;$+)".+7%).%$+&-#$%)5')7%"+%'+*%01.23%.(%4')&7%

:5$+%'%D#$%.22-#&%)5$%#"&3%).%,$.,1$%"&%6"+"6"&$87%;'#".-&%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%+$$8%).%

0$%,#.;"8$8<%H5$&$%'#$%&,$2"D2%).%01.23&%.(%4')&7%'+8%)'3$%'22.-+)%.(%)5$%8"(($#$+2$&%

0$):$$+%4')&%'+8%)#'8")".+'1%5.-&$&<%H5$%,#"+2",'1%8"(($#$+2$&%'#$%8"&2-&&$8%"+%e'#)%^%

of this guide.

Page 37



22          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

d$*%,."+)&

g% _5"1$%$&2',$%:")5"+%4')&%"&%0'&$8%.+%&"6"1'#%,#"+2",1$&%).%)5.&$%(.#%5.-&$&7%#$'25"+9%

ultimate safety relies on using the common parts.

g% Q.&)%01.23&%.(%4')&%'#$%8$&"9+$8%.+%)5$%Y&)'*%,-)Z%,#"+2",1$<%F1)5.-95%)5"&%#$1"$&%.+%)5$#$%

being effective compartmentation, it is a principle that should be adopted wherever 

possible.

g% Provided there is effective compartmentation and means of escape, ‘general needs’ blocks 

.(%4')&%:"11%+.)%+.#6'11*%#$G-"#$%'%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6<

g% \.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&%&5.-18%+.)%0$%"+&)'11$8%-+1$&&%")%2'+%0$%8$6.+&)#')$8%)5')%

)5$#$%"&%+.%.)5$#%,#'2)"2'01$%:'*%.(%$+&-#"+9%'+%'8$G-')$%1$;$1%.(%&'($)*<%=(%&-25%'%&*&)$6%

is provided, it must be possible to manage it.

g% However, it should not automatically be assumed that constructional standards will be 

inadequate in the absence of evidence to that effect.

g% e#.,.&'1&%).%-,9#'8$%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%"+%'+%$S"&)"+9%01.23%&5.-18%'"6%).%$+&-#$7%.#%#$&).#$7%'%

satisfactory standard of compartmentation in order to maintain the original ‘stay put’ policy.

g% Q.#$%9$+$#'11*7%',,1"2')".+%.(%2-##$+)%0$+256'#3%&)'+8'#8&%).%'+%$S"&)"+9%01.23%.(%4')&%"&%

not normally appropriate.

g% \$#)'"+%8$;$1.,6$+)&%"+%D#$%&'($)*%)$25+.1.9*%'+8%,#'2)"2$%J$9%&6.3$%'1'#6&%:")5"+%4')&L%

should be adopted. However, other developments such as automatic suppression systems 

will only be appropriate if the cost and effort of adopting them is proportionate to the risk.

Part B: !"#$%&'($)*%E%5.:%
01.23&%.(%4')&%8"(($#%(#.6%.)5$#%
residences

22          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&
Page 38



23          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

>O<%%=+)#.8-2)".+

>O<>%_")5%'11%)5$%('2"1")"$&%'+8%'6$+")"$&%+$$8$8%(.#%"+8$,$+8$+)%1";"+97%'%4')%"&%+.%8"(($#$+)%

"+%6'+*%#$&,$2)&%).%'+*%.)5$#%(.#6%.(%8:$11"+9<%F&%8$6.+&)#')$8%"+%e'#)%F%.(%)5"&%9-"8$7%

)5$%#"&3%).%,$.,1$%(#.6%'%D#$%:")5"+%)5$"#%4')%"&%+.%9#$')$#%)5'+%(.#%)5.&$%1";"+9%"+%.)5$#%

forms of dwelling.

>O<N%H5$%,.)$+)"'1%(.#%D#$%).%&,#$'8%(#.6%.+$%4')%).%'+.)5$#%5'&%1.+9%0$$+%#$2.9+"&$8<%_5"1$%

D#$%&'($)*%&)'+8'#8&%5';$%8$;$1.,$8%.;$#%)5$%*$'#&7%)5$*%5';$%'1:'*&%'"6$8%).%$+&-#$%

)5')%)5$%1$;$1%.(%&'($)*%(.#%)5.&$%1";"+9%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&%"&%$G-";'1$+)%).%)5')%(.#%)5.&$%

living in houses. Fundamental to this is the ability to escape safely.

>@<%%Q$'+&%.(%$&2',$

>@<>%H5$%(-+8'6$+)'1%.0T$2)";$%"+%$&2',$%#.-)$%8$&"9+%"&%)5')%")%&5.-18%0$%,.&&"01$%).%$&2',$%

-+'"8$8%:5"1$%")%"&%&)"11%&'($%).%8.%&.<%F%,$#&.+Z&%'0"1")*%).%$&2',$%:"11%0$%'(($2)$8%0*%0.)5%

)5$%&6.3$%'+8%)5$%5$')%(#.6%'%D#$<%K6.3$%+.)%.+1*%#$8-2$&%;"&"0"1")*7%0-)%2'+7%0$2'-&$%

.(%)5$%).S"2%9'&$&%'+8%"##")'+)&%"+%)5$%&6.3$7%2'-&$%"+2','2")')".+<%P"95%)$6,$#')-#$&%

'+8%#'8"'+)%5$')%(#.6%)5$%4'6$&%:"11%'1&.%"6,'2)%.+%,$.,1$Z&%'0"1")*%).%$&2',$<%

I$2.9+"&"+9%)5$&$%5'a'#8&%'+8%6$$)"+9%)5"&%.0T$2)";$%-+8$#1"$&%D#$%&'($)*%8$&"9+%"+%'11%

0-"18"+9&<%=)%',,1"$&%$G-'11*%).%8:$11"+9&<%

>@<N%H5$#$%'#$%&")-')".+&%"+%:5"25%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$&%+$$8%).%#$&2-$%,$.,1$%0*%-&"+9%

1'88$#&<%_5"1$%&.6$%8:$11"+9&7%"+21-8"+9%)5.&$%:")5"+%01.23&%.(%4')&7%'#$%:")5"+%#$'25%.(%

1'88$#&%.#%5"95/#$'25%',,1"'+2$&7%6'+*%'#$%+.)<%=+%'88")".+7%6.8$#+%)#'(D2%2.+8")".+&7%

"+21-8"+9%2.+9$&)".+%'+8%#$&)#"2)$8%'22$&&%8-$%).%,'#3"+97%2'+%&"9+"D2'+)1*%"6,'2)%.+%

)5$%'0"1")*%).%2'##*%.-)%&-25%#$&2-$&<%=)%"&7%)5$#$(.#$7%'%(-+8'6$+)'1%,#"+2",1$%)5')%$&2',$%

#.-)$%8$&"9+%&5.-18%+.)%#$1*%.+%$S)$#+'1%#$&2-$%0*%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$<%

>@<V%H.%$+'01$%,$.,1$%).%1$';$%"+%)"6$7%6.&)%5.-&$&%'#$%8$&"9+$8%:")5%'+%'1)$#+')";$%6$'+&%

.(%$&2',$%"(%)5$%.22-,'+)&%2'++.)%-&$%)5$%+.#6'1%:'*%.-)%.(%)5$%8:$11"+9<%F1)$#+')";$1*7%

).%$+&-#$%)5')%")%2'+%0$%-&$8%&'($1*7%)5$%6'"+%$S")%#.-)$%"&%Y,#.)$2)$8Z7%"$%$+21.&$8%"+%D#$/

#$&"&)"+9%2.+&)#-2)".+<%=+%0-+9'1.:&%'+8%):.%&).#$*%5.-&$&7%:"+8.:&%'#$%#$2.9+"&$8%'&%

an alternative means of escape.

>@<U% ]#.,,"+9%(#.6%'%:"+8.:%"&%+.)7%.(%2.-#&$7%'%($'&"01$%.,)".+%"+%)5$%2'&$%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&%

'0.;$%):.%&).#$*&%"+%5$"95)<%F1)$#+')";$&%"+%)5"&%2'&$%-&-'11*%"+;.1;$%'22$&&%).%'%&)'"#:'*7%

$;$+%"(%;"'%'%2.##"8.#%.#%1"+3"+9%0'12.+*<%c&"+9%'%1"+3"+9%0'12.+*%).%9'"+%'22$&&%).%'%

+$"950.-#Z&%4')%5'&%0$$+%'+%',,#.'25%-&$8%"+%)5$%,'&)%0-)%"&%+.:%2.+&"8$#$8%-+&-")'01$<%

>@<O% =)%"&7%5.:$;$#7%,.&&"01$%).%8$&"9+%'%01.23%.(%4')&%:")5.-)%'1)$#+')";$%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%

(#.6%)5$%4')&<%=+8$$87%)5"&%"&%0*%('#%)5$%+.#6<%B;$+%"+%01.23&%:")5%):.%.#%6.#$%&)'"#:'*&7%

")%"&%.()$+%+$2$&&'#*%).%$&2',$%(#.6%)5$%4')%"+).%'%&"+91$%2.66.+%2.##"8.#%).%#$'25%0.)5%

stairways.

Page 39



24          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

>@<@% =+%)5$&$%2'&$&7%1"6")')".+&%.+%)5$%&"a$%'+8%1'*.-)%.(%)5$%4')&%+.#6'11*%',,1*7%:")5%

#$&)#"2)".+&%.+%)5$%.;$#'11%8"&)'+2$%(#.6%)5$%(#.+)%8..#%).%)5$%(-#)5$&)%,'#)%.(%)5$%4')<%

F1)$#+')";$1*7%'%,#.)$2)$8%$+)#'+2$%5'11%"&%,#.;"8$8%).%&'($9-'#8%)5$%"+)$#+'1%#.-)$%.(%

$&2',$%(#.6%$'25%5'0")'01$%#..6%).%)5$%(#.+)%8..#<%F9'"+7%1"6")&%'#$%',,1"$8%).%)5$%

length of such corridors.

>@<X%_5"1$%")%"&%21$'#%(#.6%)5$%'0.;$%)5')%)5$%"+)$#+'1%$&2',$%(#.6%4')&%"&%8$&"9+$8%.+%&"6"1'#%

,#"+2",1$&%).%)5')%.(%5.-&$&%'+8%0-+9'1.:&7%)5$%3$*%8"(($#$+2$%"+%D#$%&'($)*%8$&"9+%"+%'%

01.23%.(%4')&%#$1')$&%).%)5$%('2)%)5')7%.+2$%.-)%.(%)5$%4')7%)5$#$%"&%(-#)5$#%).%9.%).%#$'25%

ultimate safety. Escape for residents therefore depends on the common parts being 

suitably designed and maintained for use in an emergency.

>@<`%_5"1$%)5$%4')&7%)5$6&$1;$&7%'#$%.-)&"8$%)5$%&2.,$%.(%)5$%!KM7%)5.&$%$1$6$+)&%.(%)5$%

2.66.+%,'#)&%)5')%'((.#8%$&2',$%(.#%#$&"8$+)&%.+2$%.-)&"8$%)5$"#%4')&%'#$%"+21-8$8%J&$$%

Part C of this guide).

>@<?%]$&"9+%.(%2.66-+'1%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&%"&%0'&$8%.+%

certain assumptions. These include:

g% )5$%6.&)%1"3$1*%,1'2$%.(%.#"9"+%.(%'%D#$%:"11%0$%"+%'%4')%")&$1(

g% )5')%)5$#$%"&%'%5"95%8$9#$$%.(%D#$%&$,'#')".+%0$):$$+%4')&%'+8%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%'+87%

)5$#$(.#$7%)5$%1"3$1"5..8%.(%D#$%'+8%&6.3$%&,#$'8%0$*.+8%)5$%4')%.(%.#"9"+%"&%1.:

g% the materials used in the construction of the building or the protection afforded to 

)5$6%'#$%&-25%)5')%D#$%"&%-+1"3$1*%).%&,#$'8%)5#.-95%)5$%('0#"2%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9

g% that the use of the common parts, and the nature of any combustible items present, 

"&%&-25%)5')%'+*%D#$%.#"9"+')"+9%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%"&%-+1"3$1*%).%&,#$'8%0$*.+8%)5$%

immediate vicinity

g% )5$#$%:"11%0$%+.%$S)$#+'1%#$&2-$7%'+8%#$&"8$+)&%&5.-18%0$%'01$%).%$&2',$%0*%

themselves.

>@<>A% H5$&$%'&&-6,)".+&%8"2)')$%)5$%',,#.,#"')$%,#.)$2)".+%(.#%)5$%2.66-+'1%6$'+&%.(%

escape.

Page 40



25          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

.&'*'-1&3"+H'+91'(#""#?67B';-67$6;"1&'?#3"8'7#-:*""='!1'67$#-;#-*+18'67'+91'81&6B7'

#('1&$*;1'-#3+1&'67'*'!"#$%'#(')*+&I

g% !#.+)%8..#&%).%4')&%+$$8%).%0$%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%'+8%&$1(/21.&"+9<

g% \.##"8.#&%1$'8"+9%).%&)'"#:'*&%+$$8%).%0$%$+21.&$8%"+%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%2.+&)#-2)".+<

g% _5$#$%)5$#$%"&%.+1*%$&2',$%"+%.+$%8"#$2)".+%'1.+9%'%2.##"8.#7%)5$%$S)$+)%.(%)#';$1%"+%&-25%

‘dead ends’ needs to be limited.

g% M,$+%8$23&%'+8%0'12.+"$&%+$$8%).%0$%1"6")$8%"+%$S)$+)%"(%$&2',$%"&%.+1*%,.&&"01$%"+%.+$%

8"#$2)".+7%:")5%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%2.+&)#-2)".+%).%,#.)$2)%,$.,1$%,'&&"+9%.)5$#%4')&%).%#$'25%'%

stairway.

g% K)'"#:'*&%+$$8%).%0$%$+21.&$8%"+%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%2.+&)#-2)".+7%:")5%D#$/#$&"&)"+97%&$1(/

closing doors.

g% F+*%$S)$#+'1%&)'"#:'*&%+$$8%).%0$%&-")'01*%&$,'#')$8%(#.6%)5$%0-"18"+9%0*%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%

construction and doors.

g% F+*%'#$'&7%#..6&%.#%#"&$#&%.,$+"+9%.+).%2.66-+'1%$&2',$%2.##"8.#&%'+8%&)'"#:'*&%

+$$8%).%0$%D))$8%:")5%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&%)5')%'#$%&$1(/21.&"+9%.#%3$,)%1.23$8%&5-)<

g% F##'+9$6$+)&%(.#%6'"+)'"+"+9%&)'"#:'*&%21$'#%.(%&6.3$%+$$8%).%0$%,#.;"8$8%J)5#.-95%

means such as openable windows and vents).

g% F88")".+'1%,#.)$2)".+%"&%+$$8$8%:5$#$%)5$#$%"&%.+1*%'%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*%(.#%+.#6'1%'22$&&%

and for egress in an emergency, normally comprising lobby approach and permanent 

openings or automatically opening vents for clearing smoke.

>@<>>% M18$#%,$.,1$%'+8%,$.,1$%:")5%2$#)'"+%8"&'0"1")"$&%6'*%#$G-"#$%,'#)"2-1'#%2.+&"8$#')".+%

).%0$%9";$+%).%)5$"#%+$$8&%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%D#$<%Q$$)"+9%,$.,1$Z&%+$$8&%(.#%+.#6'1%1";"+9%

may mean that, in certain cases, specially adapted dwellings need to be provided, for 

$S'6,1$7%.+%)5$%9#.-+8%4..#<%K5$1)$#$8%5.-&"+9%"&%21$'#1*%'+%$S'6,1$%.(%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%

'22.66.8')".+%"+)$+8$8%(.#%,$.,1$%:")5%'%,'#)"2-1'#%&$)%.(%+$$8&<%F22.#8"+91*7%D#$%

safety design in such buildings includes consideration of the implications for means of 

$&2',$%'+8%.)5$#%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&<

>@<>N% P.:$;$#7%")%"&%#$'&.+'01$%).%$S,$2)%)5')%)5$%.22-,'+)&%.(%'%Y9$+$#'1%+$$8&Z%01.23%.(%

4')&%:"11%#$4$2)%)5$%8";$#&$%#'+9$%.(%,5*&"2'1%'+8%6$+)'1%2','0"1")"$&%.(%)5$%9$+$#'1%

,.,-1')".+%'&%'%:5.1$<%F1)5.-95%"+21-&";$%8$&"9+%"&%(-+8'6$+)'1%).%+$:%Y9$+$#'1%+$$8&Z%

,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&7%)5$%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&%8.%+.)%&)",-1')$%'88")".+'1%D#$%&'($)*%

measures that must be provided as a consequence.

>@<>V% =+%6'+*%2"#2-6&)'+2$&7%")%:"11%0$%"6,#'2)"2'01$%).%6'3$%&,$2"'1%,#.;"&".+%

#$)#.&,$2)";$1*7%:")5%#$9'#8%).%D#$%&'($)*%8$&"9+%"+%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&7%).%'88#$&&%)5$%

nature of the occupants. However, it is generally considered unacceptable for landlords 

E%'+8%.)5$#&%:5.%.:+%.#%6'+'9$%01.23&%.(%4')&%E%).%$S21-8$%,$.,1$%(#.6%)5$%0-"18"+9%

Page 41



26          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

because of factors such as disability and age. Fire safety should not be used as a 

#$'&.+%(.#%)5"&<%C-"8'+2$%.(%'%&,$2"D2%+')-#$%)5')%6'*%0$%2.+&"8$#$8%(.#%)5$%,#.)$2)".+%

of disabled people can be found in various parts of this guide.

17.  Compartmentation

>X<>% H5$%5"95%8$9#$$%.(%D#$%&$,'#')".+%0$):$$+%4')&%'+8%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%"&%'25"$;$8%

0*%6'3"+9%$'25%4')%'%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%$+21.&-#$<%H5"&%"&%3+.:+%'&%2.6,'#)6$+)')".+<%F%

2.6,'#)6$+)%"&%&"6,1*%'%,'#)%.(%'%0-"18"+9%0.-+8$8%0*%:'11&%'+8%4..#&%)5')%:"11%#$&"&)%)5$%

,'&&'9$%.(%D#$%(.#%'%&,$2"D$8%,$#".8%.(%)"6$<%H5$%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%.(%)5"&%2.+&)#-2)".+%"&%

&-25%)5')7%+.#6'11*7%'%D#$%:"11%0-#+%")&$1(%.-)%0$(.#$%&,#$'8"+9%).%.)5$#%,'#)&%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9<

>X<N%\.6,'#)6$+)')".+%6"+"6"&$&%)5$%1"3$1"5..8%.(%D#$%&,#$'8"+9R

g% (#.6%'%4')%).%)5$%$&2',$%#.-)$&%J2.66.+%,'#)&L

g% (#.6%4')%).%4')

g% beyond communal rooms and facilities, such as plant rooms and bin stores

g% ;"'%2.+2$'1$8%;."8&7%"+21-8"+9%$S)$#+'1%:'11%2';")"$&

g% via common service risers and ducts

g% via rubbish chutes

g% via lifts

g% from any car-parking areas below

g% (#.6%.)5$#%.22-,'+2"$&%:5$#$%)5$%01.23%"&%,'#)%.(%'%6"S$8%-&$%8$;$1.,6$+)%$9%'0.;$%

shops or a hotel.

>X<V%H5$%0-"18"+9Z&%$1$6$+)&%.(%&)#-2)-#$%'#$%#$G-"#$8%).%,.&&$&&%&-(D2"$+)%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%

:5$+%$S,.&$8%).%'%D#$%.(%,#$8"2)$8%&$;$#")*%).%+.)%.+1*%,#$;$+)%D#$/&,#$'87%0-)%'1&.%).%

prevent structural collapse.

J+'7118&'+#'!1'17&3-18'+9*+'+91'D-1K-1&6&+67B'17$"#&3-1'#(')*+&'6&':*67+*6718'*+'*""'

openings, including:

g% 4')%$+)#'+2$%'+8%.)5$#%8..#&

g% '+*%"+)$#+'1%:"+8.:&%"+).%)5$%'22$&&%2.##"8.#7%.#%'+*%91'a"+9%'0.;$%.#%'#.-+8%)5$%4')%

entrance door

g% .,$+"+9&%"+%:'11&%'+8%4..#&%(.#%&$#;"2$&7%&-25%'&%:')$#7%9'&%'+8%$1$2)#"2")*

g% ;$+)&%"+).%&5'#$8%'"#%&-,,1*%8-2)&7%0-)7%6.#$%2.66.+1*7%&5'#$8%$S)#'2)%8-2)&%(#.6%

bathrooms and sometimes kitchens

Page 42



27          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

18.  Evacuation strategy 

>`<>%H5$%2.6,'#)6$+)')".+%0$):$$+%4')&%"&%'+'1.9.-&%).%)5$%,'#)*%:'11%&$,'#')".+%0$):$$+%

'8T."+"+9%5.-&$&7%:5"25%,#$;$+)&%D#$/&,#$'8%(#.6%.+$%5.-&$%).%'+.)5$#<%=)%'1&.%

enshrines the principle that a person’s actions, while they may affect their own safety, 

should not endanger their neighbours.

>`<N%\.6,'#)6$+)')".+%#$G-"#$&%'%5"95$#%&)'+8'#8%.(%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%)5'+%)5')%+.#6'11*%

2.+&"8$#$8%+$2$&&'#*%&"6,1*%).%,#.)$2)%)5$%$&2',$%#.-)$&<%H5"&%"&%).%$+&-#$%)5')%'%D#$%

&5.-18%0$%2.+)'"+$8%:")5"+%)5$%4')%.(%D#$%.#"9"+<%F22.#8"+91*7%)5.&$%"+%4')&%#$6.)$%(#.6%

)5$%D#$%'#$%&'($%).%&)'*%:5$#$%)5$*%'#$<%=+8$$87%"+%)5$%6'T.#")*%.(%D#$&%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&7%

#$&"8$+)&%.(%.)5$#%4')&%+$;$#%+$$8%).%1$';$%)5$"#%4')&<

>`<V%H5"&%"&%)5$%$&&$+2$%.(%)5$%Y&)'*%,-)Z%,#"+2",1$<%=)%5'&%-+8$#,"++$8%D#$%&'($)*%8$&"9+%

&)'+8'#8&%(#.6%$;$+%0$(.#$%)5$%>?@A&7%:5$+%+')".+'1%&)'+8'#8&%:$#$%D#&)%8#'()$8<%=)%

&)"11%)5$%0'&"&%-,.+%:5"25%01.23&%.(%4')&%'#$%8$&"9+$8%).8'*<%=+%)5$%6'T.#")*%.(%$S"&)"+9%

blocks, it remains entirely valid.

>`<U% =+$;")'01*7%D#$&%8.%.22-#%"+%:5"257%(.#%.,$#')".+'1%#$'&.+&7%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$%

decides to evacuate others in the building. Fires have been known to spread beyond 

)5$%4')%.(%.#"9"+%).%"+;.1;$%.)5$#%4')&%.#%).%&,#$'8%'2#.&&%)5$%).,%.(%01.23&%)5#.-95%)5$%

#..(%;."8&<%=+%)5$&$%2'&$&7%).)'1%$;'2-')".+%.(%)5$%01.23%5'&%&.6$)"6$&%0$$+%+$2$&&'#*<%

!.#)-+')$1*7%)5$&$%D#$&%'#$%#'#$<%H5$*%'#$%-&-'11*%)5$%('-1)%.(%('"1"+9&%"+%)5$%2.+&)#-2)".+<

19.  ‘Stay put’ policy

>?<>%F%Y&)'*%,-)Z%,.1"2*%"+;.1;$&%)5$%(.11.:"+9%',,#.'25<

g% _5$+%'%D#$%.22-#&%:")5"+%'%4')7%)5$%.22-,'+)&%'1$#)%.)5$#&%"+%)5$%4')7%6'3$%)5$"#%:'*%

.-)%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9%'+8%&-66.+%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$<

g% =(%'%D#$%&)'#)&%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&7%'+*.+$%"+%)5$&$%'#$'&%6'3$&%)5$"#%:'*%.-)%.(%)5$%

0-"18"+9%'+8%&-66.+&%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$<

g% F11%.)5$#%#$&"8$+)&%+.)%8"#$2)1*%'(($2)$8%0*%)5$%D#$%:.-18%0$%$S,$2)$8%).%Y&)'*%,-)Z%'+8%

#$6'"+%"+%)5$"#%4')%-+1$&&%8"#$2)$8%).%1$';$%0*%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$<

g% .,$+"+9&%"+%:'11&%'+8%4..#&%(.#%2.66-+'1%5$')"+9%&*&)$6&7%"+21-8"+9%8-2)$8%:'#6%'"#%

systems, as well as hot water supplies

g% doorways or hatches in walls for access to read electricity and gas meters and for 

deliveries and collections.

Page 43



28          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

>?<N% =)%"&%+.)%"6,1"$8%)5')%)5.&$%+.)%8"#$2)1*%"+;.1;$8%:5.%:"&5%).%1$';$%)5$%0-"18"+9%&5.-18%0$%

,#$;$+)$8%(#.6%8."+9%&.<%b.#%8.$&%)5"&%,#$21-8$%)5.&$%$;'2-')"+9%'%4')%)5')%"&%.+%D#$%

from alerting their neighbours so that they can also escape if they feel threatened.

19.3 The alternative to a ‘stay put’ policy is one involving simultaneous evacuation.

>?<U%K"6-1)'+$.-&%$;'2-')".+%"+;.1;$&%$;'2-')"+9%)5$%#$&"8$+)&%.(%'%+-60$#%.(%4')&%

).9$)5$#<%=)%#$G-"#$&%'%6$'+&%).%'1$#)%'11%.(%)5$&$%#$&"8$+)&%).%)5$%+$$8%).%$;'2-')$7%"$%'%

D#$%8$)$2)".+%'+8%'1'#6%&*&)$6<%e-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&%'#$%+.)%+.#6'11*%,#.;"8$8%

with such systems.

>?<O% K"6-1)'+$.-&%$;'2-')".+%"&%&.6$)"6$&%',,1"$8%).%0-"18"+9&%2.+;$#)$8%"+).%01.23&%.(%4')&7%

but usually only where it has not been possible to achieve the level of compartmentation 

#$G-"#$8%(.#%'%Y&)'*%,-)Z%,.1"2*<%=+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&7%$S,$#"$+2$%5'&%&5.:+%)5')%

6.&)%#$&"8$+)&%8.%+.)%+$$8%).%1$';$%)5$"#%4')&%:5$+%)5$#$%"&%'%D#$%$1&$:5$#$<%=+8$$87%"+%

some circumstances, they might place themselves at greater risk when they do so.

>?<@%K.6$%$+(.#2"+9%'-)5.#")"$&%'+8%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&.#&%5';$%0$$+%'8.,)"+9%'%,#$2'-)".+'#*%

approach whereby, unless it can be proven that the standard of construction is adequate 

(.#%Y&)'*%,-)Z7%)5$%'&&-6,)".+%&5.-18%0$%)5')%")%"&%+.)<%F&%'%2.+&$G-$+2$7%&"6-1)'+$.-&%

$;'2-')".+%5'&%&.6$)"6$&%0$$+%'8.,)$87%'+8%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&%D))$8%#$)#.&,$2)";$1*7%

"+%01.23&%.(%4')&%8$&"9+$8%).%&-,,.#)%'%Y&)'*%,-)Z%&)#')$9*<

>?<X%H5"&%"&%2.+&"8$#$8%-+8-1*%,$&&"6"&)"2<%=+8$$87%&-25%'+%',,#.'25%"&%+.)%T-&)"D$8%0*%

$S,$#"$+2$%.#%&)')"&)"2'1%$;"8$+2$%(#.6%D#$&%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&%J&$$%e'#)%F%.(%)5"&%9-"8$L<%

=)%"&%'1&.%8"(($#&%(#.6%)5$%,#"+2",1$&%.(%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%J&$$%e'#)%]%.(%)5"&%9-"8$L<%

F22.#8"+91*7%,#.,.&'1&%.(%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&.#&7%'+8%#$G-"#$6$+)&%.(%$+(.#2"+9%'-)5.#")"$&7%

based on a precautionary approach (eg abandonment of a ‘stay put’ policy simply 

0$2'-&$%.(%8"(D2-1)"$&%"+%;$#"(*"+9%2.6,'#)6$+)')".+L7%&5.-18%0$%G-$&)".+$8<%^$(.#$%

committing resources, it might be appropriate to seek a second opinion.

20.  Fire detection and alarm  
systems

NA<>%B'#1*%:'#+"+9%.(%D#$%"&%'+%$&&$+)"'1%2.6,.+$+)%.(%$+&-#"+9%)5')%#$&"8$+)&%2'+%$;'2-')$%

&'($1*%(#.6%)5$"#%4')&%"+%'%D#$<%=+%e'#)%F%.(%)5"&%9-"8$7%)5$%&-22$&&%.(%&6.3$%'1'#6&%

"+%2-))"+9%)5$%+-60$#%.(%2'&-'1)"$&%"+%D#$&%"+%8:$11"+9&%:'&%5"951"95)$8<%e#.;"&".+%.(%

appropriate smoke (and sometimes heat) alarms is now considered a basic component 

.(%D#$%&'($)*%8$&"9+%(.#%4')&<

NA<N%F1)5.-95%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&%'#$%+.)%+.#6'11*%,#.;"8$8%:")5%2.66-+'1%D#$%

8$)$2)".+%'+8%'1'#6%&*&)$6&7%)5$#$%'#$%$S2$,)".+&<%H5$%6.&)%2.66.+%$S'6,1$%"&%'%

sheltered housing scheme, but this is a special case, and, even then, a ‘stay put’ policy 

is normal.

Page 44



29          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

20.3 Fire detection may also be provided in order to operate automatically opening vents to 

clear smoke from common areas. However, these systems do not incorporate means to 

:'#+%)5$%.22-,'+)&%.(%4')&<

NA<U% =+%Y9$+$#'1%+$$8&Z%01.23&%8$&"9+$8%).%&-,,.#)%'%Y&)'*%,-)Z%,.1"2*7%")%"&%-++$2$&&'#*%'+8%

-+8$&"#'01$%(.#%'%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%).%0$%,#.;"8$8<%F%2.66-+'1%D#$%8$)$2)".+%'+8%'1'#6%

system will inevitably lead to a proliferation of false alarms. This will impose a burden on 

D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$&%'+8%1$'8%).%#$&"8$+)&%"9+.#"+9%:'#+"+9&%.(%9$+-"+$%D#$&<

NA<O%F%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%.-95)%).%0$%,#.;"8$8%.+1*%"+%'%0-"18"+9%"+%:5"25%&.6$%2.+)#.1%2'+%

be achieved over the occupants to ensure that they respond appropriately. For most 

01.23&%.(%4')&7%")%:.-18%0$%-+#$'1"&)"2%).%$S,$2)%)5"&<%b.#%"&%")%+$2$&&'#"1*%8$&"#'01$%)5')%

$;'2-')".+%&5.-18%)'3$%,1'2$%(#.6%'#$'&%#$6.)$%(#.6%)5$%D#$7%-+1$&&%'+8%-+)"1%)5$&$%

'#$'&%)5$6&$1;$&%0$2.6$%)5#$')$+$8%0*%)5$%D#$<

NA<@%H5$%'0"1")*%).%6'+'9$%'%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%"&%#'#$1*%,.&&"01$%"+%'%01.23%.(%4')&%-+1$&&%

&)'(($8%')%'11%)"6$&7%$9%0*%'%2.+2"$#9$%.#%2'#$)'3$#<%F11.:"+9%#$&"8$+)&%).%&"1$+2$%'+8%

#$&$)%'%&*&)$6%"&%"+',,#.,#"')$%"+%)5$&$%2"#2-6&)'+2$&<%F22$&&%).%-&$%.(%)5$&$%('2"1")"$&%

'1&.%$+'01$&%6'T.#%8"&'01$6$+)%.(%'%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6<%H5"&%2.-18%$S,.&$%1'+81.#8&%'+8%

.)5$#&%:")5%#$&,.+&"0"1")*%(.#%6'+'9"+9%D#$%&'($)*%).%1"'0"1")*%"(7%)5#.-95%)5$%'2)".+&%.(%'%

#$&"8$+)7%)5$%&*&)$6%"&%1$()%"+.,$#')";$%'+8%('"1&%).%,$#(.#6%2.##$2)1*%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%'%D#$<

NA<X% =+%;"$:%.(%)5$%'0.;$7%.+1*%"+%-+-&-'1%2"#2-6&)'+2$&%:"11%'%2.66-+'1%D#$%8$)$2)".+%'+8%

'1'#6%&*&)$6%0$%',,#.,#"')$%(.#%'%Y9$+$#'1%+$$8&Z%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23%.(%4')&<

20.8 These could include:

g% where it can be demonstrated that the assumptions and principles outlined earlier are 

not met and cannot readily be achieved

g% :5$#$%)5$%4')&%'#$%+.)%&-(D2"$+)1*%&$,'#')$8%(#.6%2.66$#2"'1%,#$6"&$&%0$1.:<

NA<?% =)%6'*%+.)%'1:'*&%0$%+$2$&&'#*%).%'8.,)%&"6-1)'+$.-&%$;'2-')".+%:5$+%,#.;"8"+9%'%

2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%J&$$%F,,$+8"S%@L<%H5$#$%6'*%0$%2"#2-6&)'+2$&%"+%:5"25%

)5$%.0T$2)";$%.(%)5$%&*&)$6%"&%).%2.6,$+&')$%(.#%'%,'#)"2-1'#%&5.#)2.6"+9%"+%'+%'&,$2)%

of, say, escape route design or compartmentation in a building, which otherwise is 

&-")'01*%8$&"9+$8%(.#%'%Y&)'*%,-)Z%,.1"2*<%=+%)5$&$%2'&$&7%")%6'*7%(.#%$S'6,1$7%.+1*%0$%

+$2$&&'#*%).%'1$#)%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%'2)";')".+%.(%)5$%&*&)$6<

NA<>A% c&$%.(%&-25%&*&)$6&%:"11%.+1*%0$%',,1"2'01$%"+%&,$2"D2%2"#2-6&)'+2$&7%'+8%:"11%#$G-"#$%

2'#$(-1%2.+&"8$#')".+%0*%)5.&$%2'##*"+9%.-)%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)<%!"#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&%

&5.-18%.+1*%0$%D))$8%"+%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&%:5$#$%)5$#$%"&%21$'#%T-&)"D2')".+7%'+8%.+1*%'&%

a last resort when it is impossible to upgrade other measures to enable a ‘stay put’ policy 

to be adopted.

Page 45



30          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

N><%%M)5$#%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&

21.1 There should be adequate illumination of escape routes to be able to see the way out in 

'+%$6$#9$+2*<%_")5%)5$%,.&&"01$%$S2$,)".+%.(%&6'11%):./&).#$*%01.23&%.(%4')&7%:")5%9..8%

0.##.:$8%1"95)%(#.67%(.#%$S'6,1$7%&)#$$)%1"95)"+97%01.23&%.(%4')&%&5.-18%0$%,#.;"8$8%:")5%

emergency escape lighting.

N><N%K"6"1'#1*7%D#$%$S")%&"9+&%6"95)%+$$8%).%0$%8"&,1'*$8%).%'&&"&)%"+%)5$%-&$%.(%'+%$&2',$%

#.-)$%:")5%:5"25%,$.,1$%'#$%-+('6"1"'#<%=+%'%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*%0-"18"+97%)5$#$%"&%#'#$1*%'%

+$$8%(.#%&-25%&"9+&<%=)%"&%+.)%-&-'11*%2.+&"8$#$8%+$2$&&'#*%).%&"9+,.&)%)5$%#.-)$%)5')%

#$&"8$+)&%+.#6'11*%-&$%).%9'"+%'22$&&%).%)5$"#%4')&<

N><V% =)%"&%#'#$%(.#%)5$#$%).%0$%'%+$$8%(.#%D#$/D95)"+9%$G-",6$+)%).%0$%-&$8%0*%,$.,1$%,#$&$+)%

"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&<%=)%"&7%+$;$#)5$1$&&7%-&-'11*%,#.;"8$8%"+%,1'+)%

rooms and other such rooms, for use by the staff and contractors.

N><U%H5$%,#.;"&".+%.(%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5$#&%'+8%.)5$#%(.#6&%.(%D#$/D95)"+9%$G-",6$+)%"+%2.66.+%

,'#)&%(.#%-&$%0*%#$&"8$+)&%"&%,#.01$6')"2<%=)%"&%+.)%$S,$2)$8%)5')%#$&"8$+)&%&5.-18%+$$8%

).%)'231$%'%D#$%"+%)5$"#%4')&%).%6'3$%)5$"#%$&2',$<%=+8$$87%).%.0)'"+%'%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5$#%

1.2')$8%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%(.#%)5"&%,-#,.&$%:.-18%"+;.1;$%)5$%,$#&.+%1$';"+9%)5$"#%4')%

"+%)5$%D#&)%,1'2$<

N><O%H5"&%8.$&%+.)%,#$21-8$%#$&"8$+)&%(#.6%,#.;"8"+9%)5$"#%.:+%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5$#&%'+8%D#$%

01'+3$)&<%=+8$$87%")%6'*%0$%',,#.,#"')$%(.#%1'+81.#8&7%'+8%.)5$#&%#$&,.+&"01$%(.#%)5$%

common parts, to encourage this as part of the process of engaging with, and educating 

#$&"8$+)&%.+7%D#$%&'($)*<

NN<%%!"#$/D95)"+9

NN<>% K,$2"'1%('2"1")"$&%(.#%-&$%0*%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$%"+%$(($2)"+9%#$&2-$%'+8%D95)"+9%

'%D#$%'#$%,#.;"8$8%"+%)'11%01.23&%.(%4')&<%H5$&$%+.#6'11*%2.6,#"&$%&-")'01*%,#.)$2)$8%

&)'"#:'*&%'+8%1.00"$&7%&,$2"'11*%8$&"9+$8%1"()&%(.#%-&$%0*%D#$/D95)$#&%'+8%D#$%6'"+&%0*%

:5"25%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$%2'+%.0)'"+%:')$#<

NN<N% b.#6'11*7%)5$%,#$&$+2$%J.#%"+8$$8%'0&$+2$L%.(%)5$&$%('2"1")"$&%5'&%+.%8"#$2)%0$'#"+9%

.+%)5$%$;'2-')".+%&)#')$9*%.(%)5$%01.23<%=)%:.-18%+.)%+.#6'11*%0$%',,#.,#"')$%).%&$$3%

improvements to such facilities to address issues relating to escape route design and 

2.6,'#)6$+)')".+%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&<

Page 46



31          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

23.  Benchmark standards

NV<>%H5$%'&&-6,)".+&%'+8%,#"+2",1$&%.-)1"+$8%'0.;$%5';$%-+8$#,"++$8%D#$%&'($)*%8$&"9+%

&)'+8'#8&%(.#%6'+*%8$2'8$&%'+87%:")5%&.6$%$S2$,)".+&7%&)"11%#$6'"+%;'1"8%).8'*<%H5$*%

'#$%&)"11%)5$%0'&"&%.(%2-##$+)%9-"8'+2$%(.#%+$:%01.23&%.(%4')&<

23.2 While many of the design principles have not changed, there have been changes in 

the benchmark standards that are applied. There have also been changes to some of 

)5$%',,#.'25$&%).%',,1*"+9%)5$&$%,#"+2",1$&<%!.#%$S'6,1$7%&6.3$%8"&,$#&'1%0*%6$'+&%

of cross-ventilation is no longer accepted as an effective means of keeping common 

escape routes clear of smoke.

NV<V% =)%"&%:5.11*%"+',,#.,#"')$%).%"6,.&$%)5$%2-##$+)%9-"8'+2$%(.#%+$:%01.23&%.(%4')&%

#$)#.&,$2)";$1*%).%$S"&)"+9%0-"18"+9&<%b$;$#)5$1$&&7%2-##$+)%9-"8'+2$%2'+%0$%2.+&"8$#$8%

:5$+%&$))"+9%0$+256'#3&%'9'"+&)%:5"25%).%'&&$&&%)5$%'8$G-'2*%.(%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%:")5"+%

$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&<

23.4 However, it should be recognised that benchmarks are intended simply to make 

2.6,'#"&.+&<%h-89$6$+)%"&%+$$8$8%0*%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&.#&%'+8%.)5$#&%:5$+%#$;"$:"+9%

D#$%&'($)*%"+%'%,'#)"2-1'#%01.23<

NV<O% =)%:"11%.()$+%+$$8%).%0$%'22$,)$8%)5')%")%"&%+$")5$#%#$'1"&)"2%).%6$$)%2-##$+)%0$+256'#3%

standards, nor risk proportionate to impose many of the solutions available today to the 

&")-')".+&%(.-+8%"+%)5$%8$&"9+&%.(%$S"&)"+9%0-"18"+9&<

NV<@%H5$#$%5';$%0$$+%6'+*%;'#"')".+&%"+%)5$%8$&"9+%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&%.;$#%)5$%*$'#&<%F&%

a result, older blocks will not comply with current benchmark standards. Fire safety 

professionals may not be familiar with older designs that are not consistent with the 

standards of today.

NV<X% =)%"&%#$2.9+"&$8%)5')7%:")5%.18$#%01.23&7%")%2'+%0$%8"(D2-1)%).%8"&2$#+%:5')%)5$%.#"9"+'1%

design intent was, and whether it has been preserved or altered subsequently. Similarly, 

")%2'+%'1&.%0$%8"(D2-1)%).%8$)$#6"+$%:5')%&)'+8'#8%5'&%0$$+%'25"$;$87%$&,$2"'11*%"+%

relation to compartmentation, given that some of the relevant elements of structure are 

often hidden and inaccessible.

NV<`%b$;$#)5$1$&&7%:5$+%'&&$&&"+9%)5$%'8$G-'2*%.(%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%"+%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&7%

it is considered essential to endeavour to determine the benchmark standards that 

',,1"$8%:5$+%)5$%01.23%:'&%0-"1)<%=)%"&%"6,.#)'+)%).%$&)'01"&5%T-&)%5.:%('#%#$6.;$8%)5$%

original standards are to what is considered acceptable today, and whether this has 

given rise to an unacceptable level of risk.

NV<?% H5"&%"&%+$$8$8%).%"+(.#6%8$2"&".+&%#$9'#8"+9%)5$%+$$8%.#%.)5$#:"&$%).%-,9#'8$%D#$%

,#.)$2)".+%:5$+%2.+&"8$#"+9%)5$%D#$%#"&3%"+%'%,'#)"2-1'#%01.23<

Page 47



32          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

23.10 Guidance on appropriate benchmark standards is given in Part F of this guide. This 

"+21-8$&%2.+&"8$#')".+%.(%)5$%6'+*%4')%1'*.-)&%'+8%$&2',$%#.-)$%8$&"9+&%)5')%2'+%0$%

(.-+8%"+%$S"&)"+9%0-"18"+9&<%=)%"+21-8$&%'%(#'6$:.#3%(.#%2.6,'#"+9%)5$%&)'+8'#8%.(%D#$%

&'($)*%(.-+8%"+%'%0-"18"+9%'9'"+&)%)5$&$%0$+256'#3%&)'+8'#8&<%F,,$+8"S%>%9";$&%'%0#"$(%

5"&).#*%.(%)5$%8$;$1.,6$+)%.(%D#$%&'($)*%&)'+8'#8&%)5')%5';$%',,1"$8%).%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%

01.23&%.(%4')&%.;$#%)5$%*$'#&<

NU<%%]$;$1.,6$+)&%"+%D#$%&'($)*%)$25+.1.9*%'+8%,#'2)"2$

NU<>%H5$#$%5';$%0$$+%+-6$#.-&%8$;$1.,6$+)&%&"+2$%6'+*%.(%).8'*Z&%01.23&%.(%4')&%:$#$%

0-"1)<%Q'+*%0-"18"+9&%,#$/8')$%.+$%.(%)5$%6.&)%&"9+"D2'+)%.(%)5$&$7%)5$%:"8$&,#$'8%-&$%

of smoke alarms in domestic dwellings.

NU<N%K.6$%$1$6$+)&%.(%D#$%&'($)*%8$&"9+%'#$%+.%1.+9$#%2.+&"8$#$8%'22$,)'01$7%$9%$&2',$%

"+).%'%+$"950.-#Z&%4')%;"'%'%1"+3"+9%0'12.+*<%F1&.7%)5$%',,#.'25%)'3$+%).%6$$)"+9%D#$%

&'($)*%,#"+2",1$&%5'&%25'+9$8<%!.#%$S'6,1$7%&6.3$%2.+)'"+6$+)%"&%+.:%,#$($##$8%'&%)5$%

means of keeping common escape stairways clear of smoke, while smoke dispersal is 

deprecated. 

NU<V%b$:%(.#6&%.(%&6.3$%2.+)#.17%-&"+9%6$25'+"2'1%6$'+&7%#')5$#%)5'+%+')-#'1%;$+)"1')".+7%

5';$%0$$+%"+)#.8-2$8<%!.#%$S'6,1$7%&*&)$6&%-&"+9%,#$&&-#"&')".+%).%3$$,%$&2',$%

#.-)$&%21$'#%'#$%+.:%';'"1'01$7%'+8%&6.3$%$S)#'2)%&*&)$6&%'#$%+.:%0$"+9%-&$8%"+%D#$%

$+9"+$$#"+9%8$&"9+&%(.#%01.23&%.(%4')&%).%('2"1")')$%$S)$+8$8%)#';$1%:")5"+%Y8$'8%$+8&Z<

NU<U%F+.)5$#%3$*%8$;$1.,6$+)%5'&%0$$+%)5$%-&$%.(%&,#"+31$#&<%F1)5.-95%6.#$%2.66.+1*%

'&&.2"')$8%:")5%.)5$#%)*,$&%.(%0-"18"+97%&*&)$6&%&,$2"D2'11*%"+)$+8$8%(.#%8.6$&)"2%'+8%

residential premises have been developed, along with appropriate standards to govern 

)5$"#%-&$<%C-"8'+2$%-+8$#%)5$%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&%+.:%2'11&%(.#%01.23&%.(%4')&%.;$#%

VA6%"+%5$"95)%).%0$%D))$8%:")5%&,#"+31$#&%"+%)5$%4')&<%H5$"#%-&$%2'+%'1&.%,#.;"8$%8$&"9+%

(#$$8.6&7%(.#%$S'6,1$%"+%.,$+%,1'+%1'*.-)&<

24.5 Water mist systems are also now available. These too have been developed for 

domestic and residential applications as well as for more commercial and industrial 

applications.

NU<@%H5$%$S)$+)%).%:5"25%&-25%8$;$1.,6$+)&%"+%)$25+.1.9*%2'+7%'+8%&5.-18%0$7%)'3$+%"+).%

'22.-+)%:5$+%'&&$&&"+9%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&%+$$8&%).%0$%2.+&"8$#$8%2'#$(-11*<%=)%

"&%"6,.#)'+)%)5')%)5$%2.&)7%,#'2)"2'1")*%'+8%0$+$D)%9'"+$8%'#$%'11%)'3$+%"+).%'22.-+)<%

K)#')$9"$&%).%'88#$&&%&5.#)2.6"+9&%"+%D#$%&'($)*%&5.-18%0$%,#.,.#)".+')$%).%)5$%#"&3<%

H5"&%"&%'%3$*%,#"+2",1$%"+%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%J&$$%e'#)%]%.(%)5"&%9-"8$L<

NU<X%_5"1$%&6.3$%'1'#6&%2'+%$'&"1*%0$%#$)#.D))$87%.)5$#%D#$%&'($)*%)$25+.1.9*%2'++.)%'1:'*&%

#$'8"1*%0$%',,1"$8%).%$S"&)"+9%0-"18"+9&<%=)%"&%-+1"3$1*%)5')%#$)#.D))"+9%&,#"+31$#&%.#%:')$#%

6"&)%&*&)$6&%:.-18%0$%#$'&.+'01*%,#'2)"2'01$%(.#%$S"&)"+9%01.23&7%+.#%:.-18%#$)#.D))"+9%

Page 48



33          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

6$25'+"2'1%6$'+&%.(%&6.3$%2.+)#.1<%b$;$#)5$1$&&7%)5"&%8.$&%+.)%,#$21-8$%)5$"#%-&$%

:5$#$%)5$#$%"&%21$'#%T-&)"D2')".+%'+8%',,#.,#"')$%2.+&"8$#')".+%.(%)5$%,#'2)"2'1")"$&%.(%

their installation and subsequent maintenance.

Page 49



34          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

d$*%,."+)&

g% Q')$#"'1%'1)$#')".+&%).%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&7%"+21-8"+9%'1)$#')".+&%).%"+8";"8-'1%4')&7%'#$%

controlled under the Building Regulations 2010, and need to be approved by a building 

control body otherwise an offence is committed.

g% F11%#$&"8$+)&%.(%4')&%+$$8%).%0$%6'8$%':'#$%.(%)5$%"6,.#)'+2$%.(%6'"+)'"+"+9%"+%,1'2$%

)5$%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%#$G-"#$8%0*%1$9"&1')".+%')%)5$%)"6$%.(%2.+&)#-2)".+%.(%)5$%01.23<%

F1)$#')".+&%0*%#$&"8$+)&%:")5"+%)5$"#%.:+%4')&%6'*%+.)%.+1*%,-)%)5.&$%#$&"8$+)&%')%#"&37%0-)%

also other residents in the block.

g% B;$+%"(%)5$%01.23%&')"&D$8%$'#1"$#%1$9"&1')".+7%,#.,.&$8%'1)$#')".+&%6-&)%0$%2.+&"8$#$8%"+%

)5$%1"95)%.(%)5$%2-##$+)%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&j%")%"&%+.)%&-(D2"$+)%).%2'##*%.-)%'1)$#')".+&%.+%)5$%

basis of the earlier legislation.

g% c+8$#%)5$%P.-&"+9%F2)%NAAU7%)5$%5.-&"+9%'-)5.#")*%6-&)%"+&,$2)%,#.,$#)"$&%"(%)5$*%0$2.6$%

':'#$%.(%&"9+"D2'+)%D#$%5'a'#8&<%P.-&"+9%'-)5.#")"$&%5';$%,.:$#&%.(%$+)#*%(.#%)5"&%,-#,.&$<

g% H5$%5.-&"+9%'-)5.#")*%6'*%6'3$%#$G-"#$6$+)&%(.#%"6,#.;$6$+)&%"+%D#$%,#$2'-)".+&<%=+%

the event of serious risk, the housing authority has the power to take emergency remedial 

action.

g% H5$%!KM%',,1"$&%).%'11%,'#)&%.(%'%01.23%.(%4')&7%.)5$#%)5'+%:")5"+%)5$%"+8";"8-'1%4')&<

g% The FSO imposes duties on persons who may include freeholders, landlords, managing 

'9$+)&%'+8%2.+)#'2).#&%:5.%6'"+)'"+%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%'+8%)5.&$%:5.%2'##*%.-)%D#$%#"&3%

assessments.

g% F11%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%6-&)%0$%'8$G-')$1*%6'"+)'"+$8<

g% F+%.(($+2$%"&%2.66"))$8%"(%"+'8$G-')$%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%,1'2$%,$.,1$%')%#"&3%.(%8$')5%.#%

&$#".-&%"+T-#*%"+%2'&$%.(%D#$<

Part C: H5$%1':%9.;$#+"+9%D#$%
&'($)*%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&

34          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&
Page 50



35          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

25.  Relevant legislation

NO<>%_5$+%'%01.23%.(%4')&%"&%8$&"9+$8%'+8%2.+&)#-2)$87%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&%6'3$%

#$G-"#$6$+)&%"+%#$&,$2)%.(%;'#".-&%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&<%P.:$;$#7%)5$#$%"&%+.%.+9."+9%

2.+)#.1%(.#%)5$%6'"+)$+'+2$%.(%)5$&$%6$'&-#$&%-+8$#%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&j%)5$%

#$9-1')".+&%5';$%+.%(-#)5$#%$(($2)%-+)"1%)5$#$%'#$%,#.,.&'1&%(.#%'1)$#')".+&<%F()$#%)5$%

01.23%"&%.22-,"$87%2.+)#.1%.(%D#$%&'($)*%"&%)#'+&($##$8%).%)5$%P.-&"+9%F2)%NAAU%'+8%)5$%

Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005.

25.2 The above legislation and its application is discussed in this part of the guide.

N@<%%̂ -"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&%

N@<>%!.#%01.23&%.(%4')&7%)5$%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&%NA>A%6'3$%#$G-"#$6$+)&%(.#%;'#".-&%D#$%

&'($)*%6$'&-#$&7%"+21-8"+9%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$7%&)#-2)-#'1%D#$%,#$2'-)".+&7%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%

'+8%('2"1")"$&%(.#%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$<%H5$%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&%',,1*%).%+$:%

building work, such as:

g% $#$2)".+%.(%'%+$:%01.23%.(%4')&

g% $S)$+&".+%.(%'+%$S"&)"+9%01.23%

g% material alterations.

N@<N% =)%"&%"6,.#)'+)%).%-+8$#&)'+8%)5$%#$1$;'+2$%.(%)5$%2-##$+)%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&%).%

'1)$#')".+&<%=+',,#.,#"')$%'+8%-+'-)5.#"&$8%'1)$#')".+&%2'+%-+8$#6"+$%)5$%6$'&-#$&%

,#.;"8$8%).%$+&-#$%&'($)*%.(%.22-,'+)&%(#.6%D#$<%YQ')$#"'1%'1)$#')".+&Z%6-&)%0$%',,#.;$8%

by a building control body.

N@<V% =)%2'+%&.6$)"6$&%0$%8"(D2-1)%(.#%)5$%#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+%).%T-89$%:5$)5$#%.#%+.)%'+%'1)$#')".+%

"&%6')$#"'1<%=+%,#'2)"2$7%'+*%,#.,.&'1&%).%2'##*%.-)%'1)$#')".+&%E%).%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&7%6$'+&%

of escape or smoke control arrangements, structural alterations and alterations to facilities 

(.#%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$%E%&5.-18%0$%&-06"))$8%).%'%0-"18"+9%2.+)#.1%0.8*%).%8$)$#6"+$%

if approval is necessary (and, if so, to obtain approval of the proposals) under the Building 

Regulations.

N@<U% =)%&5.-18%0$%+.)$8%)5')%G-")$%6"+.#%'1)$#')".+&%'+8%0-"18"+9%:.#3&%2'+%.()$+%#$&-1)%"+%'%

2.+)#';$+)".+%.(%)5$%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&7%:5"25%"&%'+%.(($+2$%-+8$#%)5$%^-"18"+9%F2)%

>?`U<%!.#%$S'6,1$7%#$6.;'1%.(%2#.&&/2.##"8.#%D#$%8..#&7%.#%#$,1'2$6$+)%.(%'%D#$%8..#%

:")5"+%'%4')%0*%'%+.+/D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#7%:.-18%+.#6'11*%#$&-1)%"+%&-25%'%2.+)#';$+)".+<%

Prosecution proceedings for such offences can be instituted for 24 months after 

completion of the unauthorised work.

N@<O%F%2.66.+%2.+)#';$+)".+%"&%)5$%#$,1'2$6$+)%.(%'%&$1(/21.&"+97%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%4')%

$+)#'+2$%8..#%0*%'%+.+/D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#%.#%0*%'%8..#%)5')%"&%+.)%&$1(/21.&"+9<%H5"&%"&%'%

,'#)"2-1'#1*%&$#".-&%2.+)#';$+)".+%'&%")%6'*%,1'2$%.)5$#%#$&"8$+)&%')%&$#".-&%#"&3%"(%'%D#$%

Page 51



36          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

.22-#&%"+%)5$%4')%"+%G-$&)".+<%H5"&%5"951"95)&%)5$%"6,.#)'+2$%.(%6'3"+9%#$&"8$+)&%':'#$%

.(%)5$"#%#$&,.+&"0"1")"$&%).%6'"+)'"+%"+%,1'2$%)5$%D#$%,#$2'-)".+&%.#"9"+'11*%#$G-"#$8%-+8$#%

)5$%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&%')%)5$%)"6$%.(%2.+&)#-2)".+%.(%)5$%4')&<

N@<@%H5$#$%"&%+.%#$G-"#$6$+)%-+8$#%)5$%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&%(.#%-,9#'8"+9%$S"&)"+9%D#$%

&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%).%2-##$+)%&)'+8'#8&<%P.:$;$#7%$S"&)"+9%+.+/2.6,1"'+2$&%:")5%)5$%

current Building Regulations must not be made any worse in the course of alterations or 

building works.

N@<X%e.:$#&%'1&.%$S"&)%-+8$#%)5$%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&%).%#$G-"#$%-+'-)5.#"&$8%6')$#"'1%

'1)$#')".+&%).%0$%#$2)"D$8%"(%'%0#$'25%.(%)5$%I$9-1')".+&%#$&-1)$8%(#.6%)5$%:.#3<%

H5$&$%,.:$#&%.+1*%$S"&)%(.#%>N%6.+)5&%'()$#%)5$%:.#3%5'&%0$$+%2'##"$8%.-)<%P.:$;$#7%

at any time, an application can be made to the local authority building control for 

‘regularisation’ of unauthorised work carried out after 1985, enabling retrospective 

',,#.;'1%).%0$%9#'+)$87%&-0T$2)%).%)5$%:.#3%0$"+9%&')"&('2).#*<

NX<%%P.-&"+9%F2)%NAAU

NX<>%H5$%P.-&"+9%F2)%NAAU%6'3$&%#$G-"#$6$+)&%#$9'#8"+9%)5$%2.+8")".+%.(%'%0#.'8%&,$2)#-6%

.(%5.-&"+97%"+21-8"+9%0.)5%"+8";"8-'1%4')&%:")5"+%'%01.23%'+8%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%.(%)5')%

block (ie all parts of buildings to which this guide applies). Local housing authorities are 

the enforcing authority for this legislation.

NX<N%F&&$&&6$+)%.(%)5$%2.+8")".+&%:")5"+%4')&%.#%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&%"&%

carried out by means of the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (‘HHSRS’) 

&,$2"D$8%"+%)5$%F2)<%H5$%,-#,.&$%.(%)5$%PPKIK%"&%).%,#.;"8$%'%6$'+&%.(%'&&$&&6$+)%

)5')%"8$+)"D$&%5'a'#8&%'+8%'11.:&%'%T-89$6$+)%).%0$%6'8$%'&%).%:5$)5$#%)5$%

2.+&$G-$+)%#"&3%).%,$.,1$%"&%'22$,)'01$<%F%).)'1%.(%N?%5'a'#8&7%"+21-8"+9%)5$%5'a'#8%.(%

D#$7%6-&)%0$%2.+&"8$#$8%"+%2'##*"+9%.-)%)5$%PPKIK<%H5$%'&&$&&6$+)%"&%2'##"$8%.-)%.+%

$'25%"+8";"8-'1%4')7%#')5$#%)5'+%)5$%$+)"#$%01.23%'&%'%&"+91$%0-"18"+9<

NX<V%F&&$&&$8%5'a'#8&%'#$%21'&&"D$8%-+8$#%)5$%F2)%'&%$")5$#%\')$9.#*%>%.#%\')$9.#*%N7%

'22.#8"+9%).%)5$%$S)$+)%.(%#"&3%).%)5$%6.&)%;-1+$#'01$%.22-,'+)&<%\')$9.#*%>%5'a'#8&%

2#$')$%9#$')$#%#"&3%)5'+%\')$9.#*%N%5'a'#8&<%=(%'%1.2'1%5.-&"+9%'-)5.#")*%0$2.6$&%':'#$%

)5')%'%\')$9.#*%>%.#%\')$9.#*%N%5'a'#8%6'*%$S"&)7%)5$*%'#$%.01"9$8%).%2'##*%.-)%'+%

inspection.

NX<U% =(%")%"&%2.+D#6$8%)5')%'%\')$9.#*%>%5'a'#8%$S"&)&7%)5$%5.-&"+9%'-)5.#")*%5';$%'%8-)*%).%

take one of a number of possible enforcement actions. (However, the local authority 

cannot take enforcement action against itself.) Enforcement actions include the serving 

of various forms of notice, which may require the person on whom the notice is served 

to take remedial action, or may prohibit the use of the building or part of the building. 

=+%)5$%2'&$%.(%&$#".-&%#"&37%)5$%5.-&"+9%'-)5.#")*%6'*7%")&$1(7%)'3$%$6$#9$+2*%#$6$8"'1%

action.

Page 52



37          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

NX<O% =+%)5$%2'&$%.(%\')$9.#*%N%5'a'#8&7%'%1.2'1%'-)5.#")*%5'&%8"&2#$)".+%).%"&&-$%)5$%+.)"2$&%

8$&2#"0$8%'0.;$<%P.:$;$#7%(.#%)5$&$%5'a'#8&7%)5$#$%"&%+.%,.:$#%).%)'3$%$6$#9$+2*%

remedial action.

NX<@%F%,$#&.+%.+%:5.6%'%+.)"2$%"&%&$#;$8%5'&%)5$%#"95)%.(%',,$'1%).%)5$%I$&"8$+)"'1%e#.,$#)*%

Tribunal.

28.  Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005

28.1 The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 (the ‘FSO’) does not apply to individual 

4')&7%0-)%8.$&%',,1*%).%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&<%H5$%!KM%'1&.%',,1"$&%).%

:.#3,1'2$&%:")5"+%'%01.23%.(%4')&<%!.#%$S'6,1$7%)5$&$%2'+%"+21-8$%'%#..6%-&$8%0*%'%

caretaker or concierge, a plant room or commercial premises, such as a hairdressing 

salon in sheltered housing.

N`<N%H5$%!KM%"6,.&$&%#$G-"#$6$+)&%'+8%8-)"$&%.+%)5$%Y#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+Z<%=+%)5$%2'&$%.(%

'%01.23%.(%4')&7%)5$%#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+%"&%)5$%,$#&.+%5';"+9%2.+)#.1%.(%)5$%,#$6"&$&<%

However, if any part of the block is a workplace, the responsible person in that 

workplace is the person who employs people to work there. Commonly, the responsible 

person is, therefore, not a named individual, but a company or organisation.

28.3 Typically, the responsible person is the freeholder or landlord, but may be a ‘residential 

6'+'9$6$+)%2.6,'+*Z%JIQ\.L%.#%'%Y#"95)%).%6'+'9$%2.6,'+*Z%JIHQ\.L<%P.:$;$#7%

responsibilities and duties imposed on the responsible person also apply to any other 

person having control of the premises. This includes anyone who, “under a tenancy or 

contract, has a responsibility for maintenance or repair of the premises, maintenance 

or repair of anything in or on the premises, or for the safety of the premises”. This can 

"+21-8$%'%:"8$%;'#"$)*%.(%,$.,1$7%"+21-8"+9%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&.#&<

N`<U%Q'+'9"+9%'9$+)&%:"11%+.#6'11*%0$%$")5$#%'%#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+%.#%'+.)5$#%,$#&.+%5';"+9%

control of the premises. The same responsibilities and duties are imposed on the 

managing agent in each case.

28.5 Other than any part of the block that is a workplace, the responsibilities and duties 

"6,.&$8%'#$%1"6")$8%).%6'))$#&%.;$#%:5"25%)5$%,$#&.+%5'&%2.+)#.1<%K.6$)"6$&7%4')%

$+)#'+2$%8..#&%6'*%0$%.-)&"8$%)5$%2.+)#.1%.(%'%(#$$5.18$#<%!.#%$S'6,1$7%.()$+7%

under each resident’s lease, the door is legally part of the demised premises and so 

#$&,.+&"0"1")*%(.#%6'"+)$+'+2$%.(%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#%#$&)&%:")5%)5$%#$&"8$+)<%H5$%

landlord has no legal right to force a tenant to upgrade the door to the current standard, 

nor to carry out the works unilaterally. However, in case of impasse, a landlord should 

refer the matter to the relevant enforcing authority.

Page 53



38          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

N`<@%H5$%.)5$#%,$#&.+&%5';"+9%2.+)#.1%.(%,#$6"&$&%2'+%"+21-8$%2.+)#'2).#&%:5.%2'##*%.-)%

6'"+)$+'+2$%.(%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&<%=(%6'"+)$+'+2$%"&%+.)%2'##"$8%.-)%,#.,$#1*7%'+%

offence may be committed by the maintenance contractor.

N`<X%H5$%!KM%"6,.&$&%'%9$+$#'1%8-)*%.(%D#$%&'($)*%2'#$%"+%#$&,$2)%.(%Y#$1$;'+)%,$#&.+&Z<%H5"&%

"+21-8$&%'+*.+$%1':(-11*%.+%)5$%,#$6"&$&<%H5$%8-)*%"&%,#"6'#"1*%).%$+&-#$%)5')%)5$%D#$%

safety measures within the common parts, plant rooms, and so forth are such as may 

reasonably be required in the circumstances of the case to ensure that the premises are 

&'($<%J=(%'+*%,'#)%.(%)5$%01.23%"&%'%:.#3,1'2$7%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%6-&)7%&.%('#%'&%"&%

reasonably practicable, ensure the safety of the employees.) 

N`<`%H5$%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%:")5"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&7%)5')%6-&)%0$%'8$G-')$%(.#%

compliance with the FSO, comprise the following.

g% Q$'&-#$&%).%#$8-2$%)5$%#"&3%.(%D#$%'+8%)5$%#"&3%.(%&,#$'8%.(%D#$<

g% H5$%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%(#.6%D#$<

g% The measures necessary to assist people in the use of the escape routes, such as 

$6$#9$+2*%$&2',$%1"95)"+97%D#$%$S")%&"9+&%'+8%6$'&-#$&%(.#%&6.3$%2.+)#.1<%JK.6$%

.(%)5$&$%6$'&-#$&%6'*%+.)%0$%+$2$&&'#*%"+%'11%0-"18"+9&R%(.#%$S'6,1$7%:5$#$%$&2',$%

#.-)$&%'#$%&)#'"95)(.#:'#87%$'&"1*%"8$+)"D'01$%'+8%1"3$1*%).%0$%:$11/3+.:+%).%.22-,'+)&7%

D#$%$S")%&"9+&%:"11%+.#6'11*%0$%-++$2$&&'#*<L

g% _5$#$%+$2$&&'#*7%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5"+9%',,1"'+2$&<%JH5$&$%'#$%+.)%+.#6'11*%+$2$&&'#*%

:")5"+%2.66.+%,'#)&7%0-)%6"95)%0$%+$2$&&'#*%:")5"+%'%,1'+)%#..67%2'#$)'3$#Z&%.(D2$%.#%

other non-domestic parts of the block.)

g% F+*%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%+$2$&&'#*%).%$+&-#$%)5$%&'($)*%.(%.22-,'+)&<%Jb.#6'11*7%'%D#$%

alarm system within the common parts is not necessary or appropriate.)

g% F+%$6$#9$+2*%,1'+<%J=+%'%&6'11%01.23%.(%4')&7%)5"&%6'*%0$%'&%&"6,1$%'&%'%D#$%

'2)".+%+.)"2$7%0-)%")%"&%"6,.#)'+)%)5')%)5$%,#.2$8-#$%).%'8.,)%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%D#$%"&%

disseminated to all residents.)

g% Q'"+)$+'+2$%.(%'11%.(%)5$%'0.;$%6$'&-#$&<

g% Q'"+)$+'+2$%.(%6$'&-#$&%#$G-"#$8%0*%1$9"&1')".+%J"+21-8"+9%)5$%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&L%

(.#%)5$%&'($)*%.(7%.#%-&$%0*7%D#$/D95)$#&<

N`<?%H5$%!KM%#$G-"#$&%)5')%)5$%',,#.,#"')$%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%'#$%8$)$#6"+$8%0*%6$'+&%

.(%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)<%H5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%6-&)%0$%Y&-")'01$%'+8%&-(D2"$+)Z%).%

$+&-#$%)5')%)5$%9$+$#'1%8-)*%.(%D#$%&'($)*%2'#$%"&%&')"&D$8%:")5"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&<%H5"&%

D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%8.$&%+.)%'88#$&&%)5$%&'($)*%.(%#$&"8$+)&%(#.6%D#$%:")5"+%)5$"#%.:+%

4')<

Page 54



39          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

N`<>A% =(%)5$%#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+%.#%,$#&.+%5';"+9%2.+)#.1%.(%)5$%,#$6"&$&%$6,1.*&%D;$%

or more persons in their organisation (regardless of where they are employed), the 

&"9+"D2'+)%D+8"+9&%.(%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%6-&)%0$%8.2-6$+)$8<%=+%)5"&%2'&$7%)5$%

D#$%&'($)*%'##'+9$6$+)&%6-&)%'1&.%0$%#$2.#8$8<%H5"&%"&%,'#)%.(%)5$%#$G-"#$6$+)%).%5';$%

in place arrangements for the “effective planning, organisation, control, monitoring and 

review of the preventive and protective measures”.

N`<>>% H5$%!KM%"&%+.#6'11*%$+(.#2$8%0*%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%'-)5.#")*7%:5.%2'##*%.-)%

"+&,$2)".+&%).%'-8")%2.6,1"'+2$%:")5%)5$%.#8$#<%=(%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%'-)5.#")*%"8$+)"(*%

a breach of the FSO, they will notify the responsible person, and may issue an 

$+(.#2$6$+)%+.)"2$%#$G-"#"+9%)5')%&)$,&%0$%)'3$+%).%#$6$8*%)5$%0#$'25<%=+%)5$%2'&$%.(%

serious risk, a prohibition notice, prohibiting or restricting the use of the premises, may 

be issued.

N`<>N% F%,$#&.+%.+%:5.6%'%+.)"2$%"&%&$#;$8%5'&%)5$%#"95)%.(%',,$'1%).%)5$%Q'9"&)#')$&Z%\.-#)%

(.#%N>%8'*&%'()$#%&$#;"2$%.(%)5$%+.)"2$<%F1)$#+')";$1*7%"(%)5$%#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+%'+8%)5$%

D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%'-)5.#")*%2'++.)%'9#$$%.+%)5$%6$'&-#$&%+$2$&&'#*%).%#$6$8*%'%0#$'25%

of the FSO, the two parties may agree to refer the matter for a determination by the 

K$2#$)'#*%.(%K)')$<%H5$%K$2#$)'#*%.(%K)')$Z&%8$2"&".+%"&%0"+8"+9%.+%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%

authority.

N`<>V% !'"1-#$%).%,#.;"8$%'8$G-')$%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%"&%'+%.(($+2$%"(%)5$%('"1-#$%,1'2$&%

.+$%.#%6.#$%,$#&.+&%')%#"&3%.(%8$')5%.#%&$#".-&%"+T-#*%"+%2'&$%.(%D#$<%B'25%&-25%.(($+2$%

"&%,-+"&5'01$%0*%'%D+$%J2-##$+)1*%.(%-,%).%kO7AAAL%"+%)5$%Q'9"&)#')$&Z%\.-#)7%.#%0*%'+%

-+1"6")$8%D+$%'+8l.#%):.%*$'#&%"6,#"&.+6$+)%"+%)5$%\#.:+%\.-#)<

29.  Overlap of legislation

N?<>% =)%"&%.0;".-&%(#.6%)5$%'0.;$%)5')%)5$#$%"&%.;$#1',%0$):$$+%)5$%P.-&"+9%F2)%'+8%)5$%

!KM<%H5$%P.-&"+9%F2)%',,1"$&%).%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%'+8%)5$%4')&%)5$6&$1;$&7%:5"1$%

)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%'1&.%('11%:")5"+%)5$%&2.,$%.(%)5$%!KM<%F%(-#)5$#%2.6,1$S")*%"&%)5')%

)5$%&'($)*%.(%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%(#.6%D#$%2'+%&.6$)"6$&%#$1*%.+%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%

:")5"+%)5$%4')&7%"+).%:5"25%)5$#$%"&%+.%,.:$#%.(%$+)#*%0*%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%'-)5.#")*7%.#%

power to make requirements under the FSO. However, there is such a power under the 

P.-&"+9%F2)<

N?<N%\.66.+%$S'6,1$&%.(%)5$%"+4-$+2$%.(%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%:")5"+%4')&%.+%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%

of the common parts include the following.

 Front doors

% H5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%'#$%2#")"2'1%).%)5$%&'($)*%.(%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%'%

D#$%:")5"+%'%4')<%H5$%8..#&%6-&)%0$%&$1(/21.&"+9%'+8%'((.#8%'+%'8$G-')$%8$9#$$%.(%D#$%

resistance. Where these doors are, under tenancy agreements, the responsibility of the 

Page 55



40          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

(#$$5.18$#7%)5$%!KM%'+8%)5$%P.-&"+9%F2)%6'*%0.)5%0$%-&$8%).%'88#$&&%8$D2"$+2"$&7%0-)7%

in many cases, it will be the FSO that is more appropriate to apply.

% =+%)5$%2'&$%.(%6'+*%$S"&)"+9%1$'&$5.18%4')&7%)5$%#$&,.+&"0"1")*%(.#%6'"+)$+'+2$%.(%)5$%4')%

$+)#'+2$%8..#&%#$&)&%:")5%)5$%#$&"8$+)&<%=+%)5"&%2'&$7%)5$%(#$$5.18$#Z&%,.:$#%).%'##'+9$%

(.#%8$($2)&%).%0$%#$2)"D$8%6'*%0$%1"6")$8%.#%+.+/$S"&)$+)7%6'3"+9%$+(.#2$6$+)%'2)".+%.+%

the freeholder inappropriate. 

% c+8$#%)5$&$%2"#2-6&)'+2$&7%)5$%#$&"8$+)&%6"95)%0$%#$9'#8$8%'&%.)5$#%,$#&.+&%5';"+9%

2.+)#.1%.(%,#$6"&$&%J'&%8$D+$8%0*%F#)"21$%OJVL%.(%)5$%!KML7%:")5%'%8-)*%).%$+&-#$%)5$%

'8$G-'2*%.(%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&<%P.:$;$#7%-&$%.(%,.:$#&%-+8$#%)5$%P.-&"+9%F2)%

6'*%0$%'%6.#$%',,#.,#"')$%'+8%0$))$#%8$D+$8%#.-)$%).%'25"$;"+9%2.6,1"'+2$%:")5%)5$%

!KM<%=+%+$:%1$'&$&7%"8$'11*%)5$%(#$$5.18$#%&5.-18%#$)'"+%2.+)#.1%.;$#%'11%4')%$+)#'+2$%

doors.

 Internal doors

% H.%,#.)$2)%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%(#.6%'%D#$%:")5"+%'%4')7%#$1"'+2$%"&%&.6$)"6$&%,1'2$8%.+%

"+)$#+'1%D#$%8..#&%:")5"+%$;$#*%4')%J&$$%e'#)%!%.(%)5"&%9-"8$L<%=+%8$)$#6"+"+9%2.6,1"'+2$%

with the FSO, it may be necessary to establish whether these doors are present. 

I$1"'+2$%6'*%+$$8%).%0$%,1'2$8%.+%)5$%,.:$#&%.(%)5$%P.-&"+9%F2)%).%'88#$&&%)5"&%"&&-$<

 Ventilation systems

% \.66.+%3")25$+%.#%0')5#..6%$S)#'2)%'##'+9$6$+)&%2'+%0$%'%#.-)$%(.#%D#$/&,#$'8%

0$):$$+%4')&<%F%Y&)'*%,-)Z%,.1"2*%6'*%0$%2.6,#.6"&$8%0*%"+'8$G-')$%6$'&-#$&%).%

,#$;$+)%&,#$'8%.(%D#$%;"'%'%2.66.+%$S)#'2)%8-2)<%F9'"+7%:5"1$%")%6'*%0$%'#9-$8%)5')%

&.6$%,.:$#&%).%'88#$&&%&-25%8$D2"$+2"$&%6"95)%$S"&)%-+8$#%)5$%!KM7%)5$#$%"&%+.%8.-0)%

)5')%)5$%,.:$#&%.(%)5$%P.-&"+9%F2)%2'+%0$%-&$8%(.#%)5"&%,-#,.&$<

N?<V%F%,#.).2.1%5'&%0$$+%8$;$1.,$8%)5')%&$)&%.-)%'+%"+)$##$1')".+&5",%0$):$$+%1.2'1%5.-&"+9%

'-)5.#")"$&%'+8%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%'-)5.#")"$&%:")5%#$9'#8%).%:5"25%$+(.#2"+9%'-)5.#")*%

)'3$&%)5$%1$'8%$+(.#2$6$+)%#.1$%"+%8"(($#$+)%,#.,$#)"$&7%"+21-8"+9%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%4')&<%

The protocol describes the manner in which the two enforcing authorities can work 

2.11'0.#')";$1*%).%8"&25'#9$%)5$"#%1$9"&1')";$%,.:$#&%-+8$#%)5$%P.-&"+9%F2)%'+8%)5$%

!KM%"+%#$&,$2)%.(%D#$%&'($)*<%H5$%,#.).2.17%).%:5"25%6'+*%1.2'1%5.-&"+9%'-)5.#")"$&%

'+8%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%'-)5.#")"$&%5';$%&"9+$8%-,7%'11.:&%)5$%',,1"2')".+%.(%2.66.+%D#$%

safety standards and describes which body takes the lead in different circumstances. 

c+8$#%)5$%e#.).2.17%'##'+9$6$+)&%'#$%,-)%"+%,1'2$%(.#%2.+&-1)')".+%'+8%2.66-+"2')".+%

0$):$$+%)5$%1.2'1%5.-&"+9%'-)5.#")*%'+8%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%'-)5.#")*7%&.%)5')%

unnecessary duplication is avoided and one authority can take the lead in any given 

case.

Page 56



!"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')& 4141          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

d$*%,."+)&

g% F%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"&%#$G-"#$8%0*%1$9"&1')".+<%=)&%,-#,.&$%"&%).%$;'1-')$%)5$%#"&3%).%,$.,1$%

(#.6%D#$<

g% =)%$+'01$&%)5$%#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+%).%8$)$#6"+$%)5$%+$2$&&'#*%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%

required.

g% =)%"&%+.#6'11*%.+1*%+$2$&&'#*%).%2.+&"8$#%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%).%&')"&(*%)5$%!KM<

g% _5$#$%'%1'+81.#8%5'&%2.+2$#+%#$9'#8"+9%#"&3%).%#$&"8$+)&%:")5"+%)5$"#%4')&7%)5$%D#$%#"&3%

'&&$&&6$+)%6'*%$S)$+8%).%)5$%4')&%)5$6&$1;$&<

g% =+)#-&";$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&%J"+;.1;"+9%8$&)#-2)";$%$S,.&-#$L%:"11%.+1*%0$%+$2$&&'#*%

:5$#$%)5$#$%"&%T-&)"D'01$%2.+2$#+%#$9'#8"+9%&)#-2)-#'1%D#$%,#$2'-)".+&<

g% F%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%+$$8%+.)%'1:'*&%0$%2'##"$8%.-)%0*%&,$2"'1"&)&7%0-)%:5$#$%$S)$#+'1%

specialists are used, care should be taken to ensure their competence.

g% Fire risk assessments should be reviewed regularly and when circumstances change.

Part D: Fire risk assessment

!"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')& 41          
Page 57



42          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

VA<%%=+)#.8-2)".+

VA<>%F%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"&%)5$%(.-+8')".+%(.#%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%#$G-"#$8%"+%'%01.23%

.(%4')&<

VA<N%F%&-")'01$%'+8%&-(D2"$+)%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%2'##"$8%.-)%0*7%.#%.+%0$5'1(%.(7%)5$%

#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+%:"11%5$1,%).%$+&-#$%)5')%)5$%25'+2$%.(%D#$%.22-##"+9%"+%)5$%'#$'&%

-+8$#%)5$%2.+)#.1%.(%)5$%#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+%"&%6"+"6"&$8<%=)%'1&.%5$1,&%).%$+&-#$%)5')7%

"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%'%D#$%'+*:5$#$%"+%)5$%01.237%,$.,1$%2'+7%"(%+$2$&&'#*7%-&$%)5$%2.66.+%

,'#)&%&'($1*%).%$;'2-')$%)5$%0-"18"+9<%H5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%:"11%'1&.%$+&-#$%)5')%

',,#.,#"')$%6'+'9$#"'1%'##'+9$6$+)&7%&-25%'&%D#$%,#.2$8-#$&%'+8%6'"+)$+'+2$%.(%D#$%

safety measures, are in place.

V><%%I$G-"#$6$+)%(.#%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)

V><>%F%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"&%#$G-"#$8%0*%)5$%I$9-1').#*%I$(.#6%J!"#$%K'($)*L%M#8$#%NAAO%

(see Part C of this guide).

V><N%H5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%'-)5.#")*%:"11%$S'6"+$%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%')%)5$%)"6$%.(%'+*%

'-8")%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9<%H5$*%8.%+.)%2'##*%.-)%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)7%0-)%6'*%9";$%'%

2$#)'"+%'6.-+)%.(%'8;"2$%).%)5$%#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+<%H5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%&5.-18%

not be confused with an assessment carried out by the local housing authority for the 

purpose of the Housing Health and Safety Rating System.

VN<%%_5')%"&%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)[

VN<>%!"#$%#"&3%"&%'%2.60"+')".+%.(%)5$%1"3$1"5..8%.(%D#$%.22-##"+9%'+8%)5$%2.+&$G-$+2$&%).%)5$%

&'($)*%.(%,$.,1$%"(%")%8.$&%.22-#<%F%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"&7%)5$#$(.#$7%&"6,1*%'%&*&)$6')"2%

'+8%&)#-2)-#$8%$S'6"+')".+%.(%)5$%1"3$1"5..8%.(%D#$%'+8%)5$%1"3$1*%2.+&$G-$+2$&%).%

#$&"8$+)&%'+8%.)5$#&%:5.%6'*%0$%'(($2)$8%0*%'%D#$<

VN<N%H5$%,-#,.&$%.(%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"&%).%$;'1-')$%)5$%#"&3%).%,$.,1$%(#.6%D#$7%

)'3"+9%"+).%'22.-+)%$S"&)"+9%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&7%'+8%).%8$)$#6"+$%:5$)5$#%'88")".+'1%

measures are necessary.

VV<%%\.66.+%6"&2.+2$,)".+&%'0.-)%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&

VV<>%H5$#$%"&%.()$+%2.+(-&".+%#$9'#8"+9%:5')%"&%6$'+)%0*%)5$%)$#6%YD#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)Z<%

H5$#$%"&%'1&.%8"(($#$+)%.,"+".+%.;$#%)5$%$S'2)%&2.,$%.(%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)7%

particularly one required by the FSO. Landlords and other responsible persons are also 

(#$G-$+)1*%-+2$#)'"+%'&%).%)5$%$S)$+)%).%:5"25%$S"&)"+9%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%E%,'#)"2-1'#1*%

#$1')"+9%).%)5$%&)#-2)-#$%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9%E%+$$8%).%0$%"+;$&)"9')$8<

Page 58



43          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

VV<N%F22.#8"+91*7%).%';."8%&.6$%2.66.+%6"&2.+2$,)".+&7%)5$%(.11.:"+9%,."+)&%&5.-18%0$%

noted.

g% F%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"&%+.)%2'##"$8%.-)%')%)5$%8$&"9+%&)'9$%.(%'%0-"18"+9<%

g% F%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"&%+.)%'%0-"18"+9%&+'99"+9%$S$#2"&$7%2'##"$8%.-)%T-&)%,#".#%).%

.22-,')".+j%")%2'+%.+1*%0$%2.6,1$)$8%'()$#%)5$%0-"18"+9%"&%"+%-&$<

g% F%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%+$$8%+.)%'1:'*&%0$%2'##"$8%.-)%0*%&,$2"'1"&)&7%&-25%'&%

2.+&-1)'+)&<%c&$%.(%)5"&%9-"8$%6"95)%$+'01$%)5$%#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+%).%2'##*%.-)%)5$"#%

.:+%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)7%,'#)"2-1'#1*%"+%&6'117%&"6,1$%01.23&%.(%4')&<

g% b.#6'11*7%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&%+$$8%+.)%"+;.1;$%8$&)#-2)";$%"+&,$2)".+%.(%)5$%

building, such as opening up of construction. However, where practicable, it may be 

appropriate to lift a sample of accessible false ceiling tiles, or to open a sample of 

service risers.

g% F1)5.-95%)5$%&2.,$%.(%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"&%1"6")$8%).%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&7%")%

"&%$&&$+)"'1%)5')%)5$%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%0$):$$+%)5$%4')&%'+8%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%"&%

2.+&"8$#$8<%=+%,'#)"2-1'#7%")%:"11%0$%+$2$&&'#*%).%$S'6"+$%')%1$'&)%'%&'6,1$%.(%4')%

$+)#'+2$%8..#&%).%$+&-#$%)5')%)5$*%'#$%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%'+8%&$1(/21.&"+9<%\'#$%&5.-18%0$%

)'3$+%).%1..3%.-)%(.#%.)5$#%.0;".-&%#$'8*%#.-)$&%:5$#$%D#$%6"95)%&,#$'8%0$):$$+%)5$%

4')&%'+8%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&7%&-25%'&%6$)$#%.#%6"13%8$1";$#*%2-,0.'#8&7%:"+8.:&7%'+8%

so forth.

g% F%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"&%+.)%'+%$S$#2"&$%).%"8$+)"(*%('"1"+9&%"+%:.#36'+&5",%'+8%

6')$#"'1&%')%)5$%)"6$%'%+$:%0-"18"+9%"&%5'+8$8%.;$#<%=)%"&%$G-'11*%+.)%"+)$+8$8%).%

"8$+)"(*%'11%1')$+)%8$($2)&%"+%$S"&)"+9%0-"18"+9&<%=)%"&%-+8.-0)$81*%)5$%2'&$%)5')%'%D#$%

6'*%#$;$'1%5"88$+%&5.#)2.6"+9&%)5')%2.-18%+.)%#$'&.+'01*%0$%"8$+)"D$8%0*%'%D#$%#"&3%

assessment.

g% K"6,1*%0$2'-&$%)5$%!KM%#$G-"#$&%)5')7%:5$#$%+$2$&&'#*7%2$#)'"+%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%

are required, it does not mean that such measures are necessary in all cases. For 

$S'6,1$7%)5$%!KM%#$G-"#$&%)5')7%:5$#$%+$2$&&'#*7%'11%,#$6"&$&%).%:5"25%)5$%M#8$#%

',,1"$&%5';$%'8$G-')$%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5$#&%'+8%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&<%=+%'%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%

01.23%.(%4')&7%)5$&$%6$'&-#$&%'#$%+.)%+.#6'11*%+$2$&&'#*%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&<

g% =)%"&%+.)%&-(D2"$+)%(.#%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%).%2.+&"8$#%.+1*%)5$%6$'&-#$&%+$$8$8%).%

'&&"&)%#$&"8$+)&%).%$&2',$%(#.6%D#$<%!.#%$S'6,1$7%6$'&-#$&%).%,#$;$+)%'%D#$%:")5"+%

the common parts must be considered, as must the maintenance of any measures 

)5')%:$#$%#$G-"#$8%-+8$#%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&%(.#%)5$%&'($)*%.(7%.#%-&$%0*7%)5$%D#$%'+8%

rescue service.

g% F1)5.-95%)5$%!KM%.+1*%',,1"$&%).%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&7%#$&"8$+)&%:")5"+%4')&%'#$%

Y#$1$;'+)%,$#&.+&Z7%:5.&$%&'($)*%(#.6%'%D#$%)5')%&)'#)&%"+%.#%&,#$'8&%).%)5$%2.66.+%

parts, must be considered.

Page 59



44          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

VU<%%K2.,$%.(%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)

34.1 F&%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+) "&%2.+2$#+$8%:")5%D#$%&'($)*%:")5"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&7%)5$%

4')&%)5$6&$1;$&%'#$%.-)&"8$%)5$%&2.,$%.(%)5$%!KM<%F22.#8"+91*7%)5$%&2.,$%.(%)5$%D#$%#"&3%

assessment required by the FSO does not include measures to protect residents from 

'%D#$%"+%)5$"#%.:+%4')<%P.:$;$#7%")%:"11%+.#6'11*%0$%+$2$&&'#*%).%9'"+%1"6")$8%$+)#*%).%')%

1$'&)%'%&'6,1$%.(%4')&<%H5"&%"&%).%$S'6"+$%)5$%+$2$&&'#*%6$'&-#$&%).%$+&-#$%:5$+%'%

D#$%.22-#&%"+%'%4')7%)5')%)5$#$%"&%+.)%-+8-$%#"&3%).%.)5$#%#$&"8$+)&<

VU<N%H5$%#$1$;'+)%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%'+8%6'+'9$#"'1%'##'+9$6$+)&%)5')%6-&)%0$%

2.+&"8$#$8%"+%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%'#$7%"+%$(($2)7%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%8-)"$&%&$)%.-)%"+%F#)"21$&%

10-22 of the FSO.

VU<V% =+%&-66'#*7%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%6-&)%2.+&"8$#%)5$%Y9$+$#'1%D#$%,#$2'-)".+&Z%

8$D+$8%"+%)5$%!KM<%M(%)5$&$7%)5$%,#"+2",'1%.+$&%(.#%'%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23%.(%4')&%'#$R

g% 6$'&-#$&%).%#$8-2$%)5$%#"&3%.(%D#$%'+8%)5$%#"&3%.(%)5$%&,#$'8%.(%D#$

g% 6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%(#.6%D#$

g% measures to ensure that escape routes can be safely and effectively used

g% '+%$6$#9$+2*%,1'+7%"+21-8"+9%,#.2$8-#$&%(.#%#$&"8$+)&%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%D#$

g% 6$'&-#$&%).%6")"9')$%)5$%$(($2)&%.(%D#$<

VU<U% YC$+$#'1%D#$%,#$2'-)".+&Z%'1&.%"+21-8$%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5"+9%$G-",6$+)%'+8%D#$%'1'#6%

systems. While these are not normally necessary, if such measures are present, 

consideration needs to be given as to whether they are appropriate or whether they are, 

in fact, undesirable.

VU<O%H5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%6-&)%'1&.%2.+&"8$#%)5$%6'"+)$+'+2$%'##'+9$6$+)&%(.#%'11%

6$'&-#$&%#$G-"#$8%-+8$#%)5$%!KM%.#7%"+%)5$%2'&$%.(%$G-",6$+)%'+8%('2"1")"$&%(.#%)5$%D#$%

and rescue service, under Building Regulations.

VO<%%H*,$&%.(%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)

VO<>%H5$%&2.,$%.(%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%+$$8&%).%0$%#$1$;'+)%).%)5$%+')-#$%.(%)5$%,#$6"&$&%

and the amount known in respect of the structural protection. There are, in principle, 

(.-#%8"(($#$+)%)*,$&%.(%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%)5')%2'+%0$%2'##"$8%.-)%(.#%'%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%

01.23%.(%4')&<%H5$*%8"(($#%"+%)5$%$S)$+)%).%:5"25%)5$%0-"18"+9%"&%"+&,$2)$8<%

Page 60



45          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

' A=;1'L'>'@#::#7';*-+&'#7"='M7#7K81&+-3$+6C1N

% F%H*,$%>%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"&%)5$%0'&"2%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%#$G-"#$8%(.#%)5$%,-#,.&$%

of satisfying the FSO. 

 The inspection of the building is non-destructive. But, as well as considering the 

'##'+9$6$+)&%(.#%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%'+8%&.%(.#)57%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"+21-8$&%

$S'6"+')".+%.(%')%1$'&)%'%&'6,1$%.(%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&<%=)%'1&.%2.+&"8$#&7%&.%('#%

'&%#$'&.+'01*%,#'2)"2'01$7%)5$%&$,'#')"+9%2.+&)#-2)".+%0$):$$+%)5$%4')&%'+8%)5$%

2.66.+%,'#)&%:")5.-)%'+*%.,$+"+9%-,%.(%2.+&)#-2)".+<%P.:$;$#7%"+%)5"&%H*,$%.(%D#$%#"&3%

'&&$&&6$+)7%$+)#*%).%4')&%0$*.+8%)5$%'#$'%.(%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#7%"&%+.)%"+;.1;$8<

 Where there are demountable false ceilings in the common parts, it may be appropriate 

).%1"()%'%&'6,1$%.(%#$'8"1*%'22$&&"01$%('1&$%2$"1"+9%)"1$&<%=+%'88")".+7%")%:"11%+.#6'11*%0$%

appropriate to open a sample of service risers, provided access is practicable at the 

time of inspection.

% c+1$&&%)5$#$%"&%#$'&.+%).%$S,$2)%&$#".-&%8$D2"$+2"$&%"+%&)#-2)-#'1%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%E%

&-25%'&%"+'8$G-')$%2.6,'#)6$+)')".+7%.#%,..#%D#$%&).,,"+9%E%'%H*,$%>%"+&,$2)".+%

:"11%+.#6'11*%0$%&-(D2"$+)%(.#%6.&)%01.23&%.(%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%4')&<%_5$#$%8.-0)%$S"&)&%

"+%#$1')".+%).%)5$&$%6'))$#&7%)5$%'2)".+%,1'+%.(%'%H*,$%>%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%6'*%

#$2.66$+8%)5')%.+$%.(%)5$%.)5$#%)*,$&%.(%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%0$%2'##"$8%.-)%.#%)5')%

further investigation be carried out by specialists. (However, this should not be a generic 

#$2.66$+8')".+%.(%'11%H*,$%>%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&j%)5$%#$2.66$+8')".+%&5.-18%0$%

0'&$8%.+%"8$+)"D2')".+%.(%"&&-$&%)5')%T-&)"(*%#$'&.+%(.#%8.-0)<L

' A=;1'O'>'@#::#7';*-+&'#7"='M81&+-3$+6C1N

% H5$%&2.,$%'+8%.0T$2)";$&%.(%'%H*,$%N%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%'#$%9$+$#'11*%&"6"1'#%).%

)5.&$%.(%'%H*,$%>%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)7%$S2$,)%)5')%)5$#$%"&%'%8$9#$$%.(%8$&)#-2)";$%

inspection, carried out on a sampling basis. This will usually necessitate the presence 

of a contractor for the purpose of opening up construction and making good after the 

inspection. 

% =+%.#8$#%).%25$23%)5$%"+)$9#")*%.(%&$,'#')"+9%2.+&)#-2)".+7%)5$%'#$'&%"+%:5"25%8$&)#-2)";$%

"+&,$2)".+%"&%2'##"$8%.-)%6"95)%&.6$)"6$&%"+21-8$%'%&'6,1$%.(%4')&<%P.:$;$#7%0$2'-&$%

.(%)5$%+')-#$%.(%)5$%:.#37%)5"&%2'+%.()$+%.+1*%0$%2'##"$8%.-)%"+%;'2'+)%4')&<

% F%H*,$%N%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"&%-&-'11*%'%.+$/.((%$S$#2"&$7%:5"25%"&%2'##"$8%.-)%.+1*%

"(%)5$#$%"&%9..8%#$'&.+%).%&-&,$2)%&$#".-&%&)#-2)-#'1%8$D2"$+2"$&%)5')%2.-18%1$'8%).%

&,#$'8%.(%D#$%0$*.+8%)5$%4')%.(%D#$%.#"9"+<%H5$%'9$%.(%)5$%01.23%'1.+$%"&%+.)%9$+$#'11*%

&-(D2"$+)%).%:'##'+)%'%H*,$%N%"+&,$2)".+<%H5$%+$$8%(.#%'%H*,$%N%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%

6'*%&.6$)"6$&%0$%"8$+)"D$8%"+%'%H*,$%>%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)7%0-)%&5.-18%+.)%&"6,1*%0$%

recommended as a matter of course.

 

Page 61



46          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

' A=;1'P'>'@#::#7';*-+&'*78')*+&'M7#7K81&+-3$+6C1N

% F%H*,$%V%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"+21-8$&%)5$%:.#3%"+;.1;$8%"+%'%H*,$%>%D#$%#"&3%

assessment, but goes beyond the scope of the FSO (though not the scope of the 

P.-&"+9%F2)L<%H5"&%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%2.+&"8$#&%)5$%'##'+9$6$+)&%(.#%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%

'+8%D#$%8$)$2)".+%J"$%&6.3$%'1'#6&L%:")5"+%')%1$'&)%'%&'6,1$%.(%)5$%4')&<%_")5"+%)5$%4')&7%

)5$%"+&,$2)".+%"&%+.+/8$&)#-2)";$7%0-)%)5$%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%.(%8..#&%).%#..6&%"&%2.+&"8$#$8<

% Q$'&-#$&%).%,#$;$+)%D#$%'#$%+.)%2.+&"8$#$8%-+1$&&%J$9%"+%)5$%2'&$%.(%6'"+)$+'+2$%

of the electrical and heating installations) the measures are within the control of, for 

$S'6,1$7%)5$%1'+81.#8<

% F%H*,$%V%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%6'*%&.6$)"6$&%0$%',,#.,#"')$%(.#%#$+)$8%4')&%"(%)5$#$%

"&%#$'&.+%).%&-&,$2)%&$#".-&%#"&3%).%#$&"8$+)&%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%'%D#$%"+%)5$"#%4')&<%JH5"&%

6"95)%0$7%(.#%$S'6,1$7%0$2'-&$%.(%)5$%'9$%.(%)5$%01.23%.#%#$'&.+%(.#%&-&,"2".+%.(%

:"8$&,#$'87%-+'-)5.#"&$8%6')$#"'1%'1)$#')".+&L<%H5"&%)*,$%.(%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%:"11%+.)%

0$%,.&&"01$%"+%)5$%2'&$%.(%1.+9%1$'&$5.18%4')&7%'&%)5$#$%"&%+.#6'11*%+.%#"95)%.(%'22$&&%(.#%

freeholders.

' A=;1'Q'>'@#::#7';*-+&'*78')*+&'M81&+-3$+6C1N

% F%H*,$%U%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%5'&%)5$%&'6$%&2.,$%.(%:.#3%'&%'%H*,$%V%D#$%#"&3%

'&&$&&6$+)7%$S2$,)%)5')%)5$#$%"&%'%8$9#$$%.(%8$&)#-2)";$%"+&,$2)".+7%"+%0.)5%)5$%2.66.+%

,'#)&%'+8%)5$%4')&7%2'##"$8%.-)%.+%'%&'6,1"+9%0'&"&<%H5"&%:"11%-&-'11*%+$2$&&")')$%)5$%

presence of a contractor for the purpose of opening up construction and making good 

after the inspection. However, the nature of the work is such that, often, destructive 

"+&,$2)".+%:")5"+%4')&%2'+%.+1*%0$%2'##"$8%.-)%"+%)5.&$%)5')%'#$%;'2'+)<

% H5"&%"&%)5$%6.&)%2.6,#$5$+&";$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)7%0-)%:"11%.+1*%0$%',,#.,#"')$%"+%

1"6")$8%2"#2-6&)'+2$&%E%&-25%'&%:5$+%'%+$:%1'+81.#8%)'3$&%.;$#%'%01.23%.(%4')&%"+%

which the history of works carried out is unknown and there is reason to suspect serious 

#"&3%).%#$&"8$+)&%(#.6%0.)5%'%D#$%"+%)5$"#%.:+%4')&%'+8%'%D#$%"+%+$"950.-#&Z%4')&<

 Note: Before destructive inspection is to be carried out, the risk of disturbing asbestos 

&5.-18%0$%2.+&"8$#$8%J$9%0*%$S'6"+')".+%.(%)5$%'&0$&).&%#$9"&)$#L<

V@<%%H5$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%,#.2$&&

V@<>%H5$#$%"&%+.%&"+91$%#"95)%.#%:#.+9%:'*%.(%2'##*"+9%.-)%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)<%H5$%

"6,.#)'+)%"&&-$%"&%)5')%)5$%&2.,$%"&%',,#.,#"')$%'+8%)5')%)5$%#$1$;'+)%D#$%&'($)*%

6$'&-#$&%'#$%,#.,$#1*%$S'6"+$8<%H#'8")".+'11*7%9-"8'+2$%5'&%#$($##$8%).%)5$%YD;$%&)$,&Z%

).%#"&3%'&&$&6$+)<%H5"&%"&%)5$%',,#.'25%.-)1"+$8%"+%)5$%PQ%C.;$#+6$+)%9-"8$%Y!"#$%

&'($)*%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)R%&1$$,"+9%'22.66.8')".+Z%J&$$%F,,$+8"S%NL<

Page 62



47          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

V@<N%Q.#$%8$)'"1$8%9-"8'+2$%.+%)5$%&)$,&%"+;.1;$8%"+%2'##*"+9%.-)%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%'#$%

&$)%.-)%"+%)5$%^#")"&5%K)'+8'#8&%=+&)")-)".+%,-01"21*%';'"1'01$%&,$2"D2')".+7%eFK%X?%JY!"#$%

#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)R%9-"8'+2$%'+8%'%#$2.66$+8$8%6$)5.8.1.9*ZL<%eFK%X?%&$)&%.-)%+"+$%

&$,'#')$%&)$,&%"+%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%,#.2$&&%J&$$%F,,$+8"S%NL<%P.:$;$#7%")%"&%

stressed that many other approaches are equally acceptable.

V@<V% =(%)5$%#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+%$6,1.*&%D;$%.#%6.#$%,$.,1$%"+%)5$%.#9'+"&')".+%J#$9'#81$&&%

.(%:5$#$%)5$*%'#$%$6,1.*$8%).%:.#3L7%)5$%&"9+"D2'+)%D+8"+9&%.(%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%

6-&)%0$%8.2-6$+)$8<%Jc+8$#%2$#)'"+%2"#2-6&)'+2$&7%)5"&%2'+%0$%#$G-"#$8%:5$#$%1$&&%

)5'+%D;$%,$#&.+&%'#$%$6,1.*$8<L

V@<U%H5$%6"+"6-6%"+(.#6')".+%)5')%6-&)%0$%#$2.#8$8%"+%)5$%'0.;$%2"#2-6&)'+2$&%2.6,#"&$&R

g% the measures that have been taken, or are in place, to satisfy the FSO

g% the measures that will be taken to achieve compliance (the action plan)

g% '+*%9#.-,%.(%,$#&.+&%"8$+)"D$8%0*%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%'&%$&,$2"'11*%')%#"&3<

V@<O%H5$#$%"&%+.%1$9'1%#$G-"#$6$+)%).%-&$%'+*%,'#)"2-1'#%&)*1$%.#%(.#6')%(.#%#$2.#8"+9%)5$%

D+8"+9&%.(%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)<%J]\WC%9-"8'+2$%'+8%eFK%X?%2.+)'"+%)$6,1')$&%)5')%

2'+%0$%-&$87%0-)%'#$%&"6,1*%$S'6,1$&7%'+8%.)5$#%(.#6')&%2'+%0$%$G-'11*%'22$,)'01$<L

37.  The action plan

VX<>%H5$%.-)2.6$%.(%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%&5.-18%0$%'%&-")'01$%'2)".+%,1'+<%H5$%'2)".+%

plan should set out a list of any (normally prioritised) physical and managerial measures 

)5')%'#$%+$2$&&'#*%).%$+&-#$%)5')%D#$%#"&3%"&%6'"+)'"+$8%')7%.#%#$8-2$8%).7%'+%'22$,)'01$%

level. Prioritisation should be commensurate with the risk, but it is important to 

'23+.:1$89$%)5')%6'T.#%2',")'1%:.#3%2'++.)%0$%2.6,1$)$8%"66$8"')$1*<%I$2.66$+8$8%

timescales must be realistic.

VX<N% =+%(.#6-1')"+9%'+%'2)".+%,1'+7%)5$%(.11.:"+9%G-$&)".+&%&5.-18%0$%2.+&"8$#$8<

g% _"11%)5$%,1'+7%.+2$%"6,1$6$+)$87%'25"$;$%'8$G-')$%&'($)*%(.#%,$.,1$[

g% _"11%'+*%5'a'#8&%).%5$'1)5%'+8%&'($)*%0$%2#$')$8[

g% F#$%)5$%'2)".+&%#$'&.+'01*%,#'2)"2'01$7%)'3"+9%2.&)7%$((.#)%'+8%#"&3%"+).%'22.-+)[

g% _5')%:"11%)5$%;"$:%.(%#$&"8$+)&%0$%"(%)5$%'2)".+&%'#$%"6,1$6$+)$8[

g% Will it be practicable to maintain the precautions in place during normal use of the 

0-"18"+9[

g% Do the proposed actions have any implications for accessibility and safety of disabled 

,$.,1$[

Page 63



48          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

V`<%%_5.%&5.-18%2'##*%.-)%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)[

V`<>% H5$#$%"&%+.%1$9'1%#$G-"#$6$+)%(.#%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%).%0$%2'##"$8%.-)%0*%&,$2"'1"&)&7%

&-25%'&%2.+&-1)'+)&<%=+8$$87%"+%)5$%2'&$%.(7%&'*7%&6'11%.#%6.8$#+%01.23&%.(%4')&%J$9%0-"1)%

within the last 20 years), it can be advantageous for the landlord or other responsible 

,$#&.+%).%-&$%)5"&%9-"8$%'+8%2'##*%.-)%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%)5$6&$1;$&<%H5$"#%

2.+&$G-$+)%-+8$#&)'+8"+9%.(%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%8$&"9+%"+%)5$%0-"18"+9%:"11%$+'01$%)5$6%).%

6'+'9$%D#$%&'($)*%0$))$#%.+%'+%.+9."+9%0'&"&<

V`<N% =+%)5$%2'&$%.(%)'11$#%01.23&%.(%4')&%J$9%2.6,#"&"+9%6.#$%)5'+%'%9#.-+8%'+8%)5#$$%

-,,$#%&).#$*&L7%6.#$%&,$2"'1"&)%3+.:1$89$%6'*%0$%+$2$&&'#*%).%2'##*%.-)%'%D#$%#"&3%

assessment, particularly if the block was designed and constructed before 1992. 

P.:$;$#7%)5$%8$2"&".+%'&%).%:5$)5$#%).%-&$%.-)&"8$%&,$2"'1"&)&%).%2'##*%.-)%'%D#$%#"&3%

assessment rests with the responsible person.

38.3 Regardless of who carries it out, the Responsible person will be liable to prosecution if, 

'&%'%#$&-1)%.(%'+%"+'8$G-')$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)7%,$.,1$%'#$%,1'2$8%')%)5$%#"&3%.(%8$')5%

.#%&$#".-&%"+T-#*%"+%2'&$%.(%D#$<%BG-'11*7%'+*.+$%2'##*"+9%.-)%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%

(.#%)5$%#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+%5'&%)5$%&'6$%1"'0"1")*<%b$;$#)5$1$&&7%$S)$#+'1%&$#;"2$&%2'+%

only be advisory in nature and there will still be a need for some involvement of the 

#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+%"+%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%,#.2$&&%E%$;$+%"(%.+1*%).%,#.;"8$%2$#)'"+%

information and arrange access.

V?<%%\.6,$)$+2$%.(%,#.($&&".+'1%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&.#&

39.1 Commonly, freeholders, landlords and managing agents prefer to use the services of 

$S)$#+'1%&,$2"'1"&)&%JYD#$%#"&3%'&&$&&.#&ZL%).%2'##*%.-)%)5$"#%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)<%=+%)5"&%

2'&$7%")%"&%$&&$+)"'1%)5')%)5$%2.6,$)$+2$%.(%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&.#%"&%$+&-#$8<%H5"&%"&%

0$2'-&$7%'&%8"&2-&&$8%'0.;$7%)5$%1$9'1%#$&,.+&"0"1")*%(.#%)5$%'8$G-'2*%.(%)5$%D#$%#"&3%

assessment cannot be delegated.

V?<N%C-"8'+2$%.+%&$1$2)"+9%'%&-")'01$%,#.($&&".+'1%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&.#%"&%9";$+%"+%F,,$+8"S%V%).%

this guide.

Page 64



49          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

UA<%%I$;"$:%.(%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&

UA<>%H5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"&%'%1";"+9%8.2-6$+)7%:5"25%2'++.)%#$6'"+%;'1"8%(.#%'+%

-+1"6")$8%1$+9)5%.(%)"6$<%=)%+$$8&%).%0$%#$;"$:$8%,$#".8"2'11*<

UA<N%!.#%2.6,1"'+2$%:")5%)5$%!KM7%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&%+$$8%).%0$%#$;"$:$8R

g% regularly (see below)

g% when material alterations take place

g% :5$+%)5$#$%"&%'%&"9+"D2'+)%25'+9$%"+%)5$%6'))$#&%)5')%:$#$%)'3$+%"+).%'22.-+)%'&%)5$%

#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%:'&%2'##"$8%.-)%E%)5"&%"+21-8$&%'%:"8$&,#$'8%25'+9$%"+%)5$%)*,$%.(%

residents occupying the block

g% :5$+%)5$#$%"&%'%#$'&.+%).%&-&,$2)%)5')%)5$%.#"9"+'1%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"&%+.%1.+9$#%

;'1"8%J$9%'()$#%'%D#$%)5')%.22-##$8%:")5"+7%.#%&,#$'8%).7%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&L%

g% '()$#%2.6,1$)".+%.(%&"9+"D2'+)%:.#3&%2.6,1$)$8%).%'88#$&&%&5.#)2.6"+9&%"8$+)"D$8%0*%

)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)<

UA<V%I$;"$:%.(%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"&%+.)%+$2$&&'#"1*%)5$%&'6$%'&%'%#$,$')%.(%)5$%$+)"#$%

D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%,#.2$&&<%=(%'%)5.#.-95%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%5'&%0$$+%2'##"$8%.-)7%'%

&5.#)$#%#$;"$:%$S$#2"&$%6"95)%0$%2'##"$8%.-)%#$9-1'#1*7%:")5%'%6.#$%(-+8'6$+)'1%+$:%D#$%

risk assessment competed at less regular intervals.

UA<U%H5$%(#$G-$+2*%:")5%:5"25%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&%&5.-18%0$%#$;"$:$8%"+%)5$%'0&$+2$%.(%

'+*%3+.:+%25'+9$&%"&%+.)%8$D+$8%"+%)5$%!KM<%H5$%8')$%0*%:5"25%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%

&5.-18%0$%#$;"$:$8%&5.-18%0$%8$)$#6"+$8%'&%,'#)%.(%)5$%,#.2$&&%.(%2'##*"+9%.-)%'%D#$%

risk assessment.

40.5 The frequency of review should take into account the rate with which changes, including 

those arising from the need for maintenance work, are likely to occur, and the risk to 

people that might arise from changes. This means that a less frequent review might 

be acceptable if there is close management control of the common parts, including 

frequent routine inspections.

UA<@%F&%'%9$+$#'1%9-"8$7%(.#%'%1.:%#"&37%6.8$#+7%1.:/#"&$%01.23%J$9%'%01.23%.(%+.%6.#$%)5'+%

three storeys above ground, built within the last 20 years), a review every two years 

6"95)%0$%&-(D2"$+)7%:")5%'%+$:%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%2.6,1$)$8%$;$#*%(.-#%*$'#&<%!.#%

01.23&%:")5%5"95$#%#"&3%E%'#"&"+9%(#.6%&.2"'1%('2).#&7%)5$%'9$%.(%)5$%0-"18"+97%'+8%&.%(.#)5%

E%'+8%01.23&%.;$#%(.-#%&).#$*&%"+%5$"95)7%'+%'++-'1%#$;"$:%6"95)%0$%6.#$%',,#.,#"')$7%

:")5%'%+$:%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%$;$#*%)5#$$%*$'#&<%=+%$S)#$6$%2'&$&7%(.#%)5$%5"95$&)%#"&3%

,#$6"&$&7%'+%'++-'1%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%6"95)%0$%',,#.,#"')$<

Page 65



50          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

R917'$#::6&&6#767B'*'D-1'-6&%'*&&1&&:17+'(-#:'1S+1-7*"'&;1$6*"6&+&H'"*78"#-8&'

*78'#+91-'-1&;#7&6!"1';1-&#7&'&9#3"8/

g% &,$2"(*%:5')%)*,$%.(%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"&%#$G-"#$8%E%#$6$60$#%H*,$%>%:"11%.()$+%

&-(D2$%'+8%.)5$#%)*,$&%"+;.1;$%$S)#'%)"6$7%2.&)%'+8%8"&#-,)".+%)5')%6'*%+.)%0$%T-&)"D$8%

-+1$&&%)5$#$%"&%9..8%#$'&.+%).%&-&,$2)%&$#".-&%8$D2"$+2"$&%"+%D#$%&'($)*

g% $+&-#$%*.-%,#.;"8$%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&.#%:")5%#$1$;'+)%"+(.#6')".+%.+%)5$%0-"18"+97%)5$%

.22-,'+)&%'+8%'##'+9$6$+)&%(.#%6'+'9$6$+)%.(%D#$%&'($)*

g% #$2.9+"&$%)5')%'11%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&%:"11%"+;.1;$%'%8$9#$$%.(%'22$&&%).%'%&'6,1$%.(%4')&%E%

you will need to assist in arranging access

g% :5$#$%*.-%&,$2"(*%'%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%#$G-"#"+9%8$&)#-2)";$%&-#;$*&7%$S,$2)%).%$6,1.*%'%

2.+)#'2).#%).%.,$+%-,%)5$%2.+&)#-2)".+%E%#'#$1*%8.%)5"#8%,'#)*%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&.#&%5';$%"+/

house resources to carry this out

g% #$2.9+"&$%)5')%+.%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%2'+%0$%$S5'-&)";$%E%$S,$2)%#$2.66$+8')".+&%(.#%

(-#)5$#%"+;$&)"9')".+%"(%)5$#$%"&%8"(D2-1)*%"+%$&)'01"&5"+97%(.#%$S'6,1$7%)5$%&-")'0"1")*%.(%

4..#&%'+8%:'11&%).%#$&"&)%D#$/&,#$'8%E%5.:$;$#7%25'11$+9$%9$+$#"2%#$2.66$+8')".+&%

:5"25%'#$%+.)%&-,,.#)$8%0*%T-&)"D$8%2.+2$#+%)5')%&$#".-&%8$D2"$+2"$&%'#$%,#$&$+)7%

taking into account all relevant sections of this guidance

g% 2.+&"8$#%&,$2"(*"+9%)5$%&)*1$%'+8%(.#6')%*.-%#$G-"#$%(.#%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%

#$,.#)&%E%2.+&"8$#%'8.,)"+9%#$2.9+"&$8%)$6,1')$&7%&-25%'&%)5.&$%"+%eFK%X?%.#%)5$%PQ%

Government guide ‘Fire safety risk assessment: sleeping accommodation’.

g% insist that action plans include a clear priority and timescale for all recommendations 

and differentiate between those recommendations essential to satisfy legislation and 

those that are a matter of good practice

g% #$6$60$#%)5')%-&"+9%'+%$S)$#+'1%&,$2"'1"&)%8.$&%+.)%'0&.1;$%*.-%.(%*.-#%#$&,.+&"0"1")"$&%

under the FSO

g% $+&-#$%*.-#%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&.#%"&%2.6,$)$+)

g% $&)'01"&5%)5')%*.-#%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&.#%5'&%&-")'01$%$S,$#"$+2$%'+8%3+.:1$89$%.(%2'##*"+9%

.-)%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&%"+%)5$%)*,$%.(%0-"18"+9&%:")5"+%*.-#%5.-&"+9%&).23<

UA<X%B;$+%"(%.-)&"8$%&,$2"'1"&)&%2'##*%.-)%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&7%")%"&%,.&&"01$%)5')%#$;"$:&%

could be carried out by those with less specialist knowledge, such as in-house staff who 

have received suitable training, as the review concentrates primarily on progress with 

)5$%,#$;".-&%'2)".+%,1'+%'+8%"8$+)"D2')".+%.(%25'+9$&<

Page 66



!"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')& 51

Part E: Q'+'9"+9%D#$%#"&3%E%
,#$;$+)"+9%D#$&

d$*%,."+)&

g% e#$;$+)".+%.(%D#$7%'&%('#%'&%,.&&"01$7%"&%$&&$+)"'1<

g% H5$%6.&)%1"3$1*%,1'2$%(.#%D#$%).%&)'#)%"&%:")5"+%'%4')<%P.:$;$#7%D#$&%:")5"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%

are particularly dangerous.

g% There should be vigilance to ensure that people do not smoke in the common parts.

g% F#&.+%"&%'%2.66.+%2'-&$%.(%D#$7%&.%9..8%&$2-#")*%"&%,'#)%.(%D#$%,#$;$+)".+<

g% e..#%5.-&$3$$,"+9%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%"&%'%&"9+"D2'+)%D#$%5'a'#8<

g% There should be a clear policy on whether common parts must remain completely sterile 

JYa$#.%).1$#'+2$ZL%.#%6'*%0$%&-0T$2)%).%Y6'+'9$8%-&$Z<

g% !"S$8%$1$2)#"2'1%"+&)'11')".+&%&5.-18%0$%&-0T$2)%).%,$#".8"2%"+&,$2)".+%'+8%)$&)%$;$#*%D;$%

*$'#&%"+%)5$%2'&$%.(%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&7%'+8%$;$#*%)$+%*$'#&%(.#%)5$%"+&)'11')".+&%"+%4')&<

g% Heating and ventilation systems should be maintained regularly, particularly where they 

&$#;$%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%.#%'#$%2.66.+%).%6.#$%)5'+%.+$%4')<

g% F+*%1"95)+"+9%,#.)$2)".+%&*&)$6&%&5.-18%0$%&-0T$2)%).%#$9-1'#%6'"+)$+'+2$<

!"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')& 51          
Page 67



52          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

U><%%=+)#.8-2)".+

U><>%H5$%"6,.#)'+2$%.(%,#$;$+)"+9%D#$&%2'++.)%0$%.;$#&)')$8<%H5"&%"&%'%3$*%2.+&"8$#')".+%"+%

'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)<%=)%"&%'1&.%(-+8'6$+)'1%).%9..8%D#$%&'($)*%6'+'9$6$+)<

U><N%H5"&%,'#)%.(%)5$%9-"8$%"&%'"6$8%,#"6'#"1*%')%9";"+9%9-"8'+2$%.+%D#$%,#$;$+)".+%:")5"+%)5$%

2.66.+%,'#)&%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&<%P.:$;$#7%)5$%6.&)%1"3$1*%,1'2$%(.#%'%D#$%).%&)'#)%:")5"+%

'%01.23%.(%4')&%"&%)5$%4')&%)5$6&$1;$&<%=)%"&%#$2.9+"&$8%)5')%)5$%&2.,$%(.#%1'+81.#8&%).%

)'3$%&)$,&%).%,#$;$+)%D#$&%:")5"+%4')&%"&%1"6")$8<%b$;$#)5$1$&&7%)5$#$%'#$%.,,.#)-+")"$&%"+%

#$+)$8%4')&%)5#.-957%(.#%$S'6,1$7%#$9-1'#%9'&%&'($)*%25$23&%'+8%,$#".8"2%"+&,$2)".+&%.(%

$1$2)#"2'1%"+&)'11')".+&%).%"6,'2)%.+%)5$%,.)$+)"'1%(.#%2$#)'"+%D#$&%:")5"+%4')&<

U><V% =)%"&%&)#.+91*%#$2.66$+8$8%)5')%1'+81.#8&%'+8%)5.&$%6'+'9"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&%)'3$%$;$#*%

&-")'01$%.,,.#)-+")*%).%$+9'9$%:")57%'+8%$8-2')$7%#$&"8$+)&%.+%0'&"2%D#$%,#$;$+)".+<%

This is discussed further in Part G of this guide.

U><U%\.66.+%5'a'#8&%'+8%,.&&"01$%6$'&-#$&%).%2.+)#.1%.#%$1"6"+')$%)5$6%'#$%&$)%.-)%0$1.:<%

P.:$;$#7%'%9-"8$%&-25%'&%)5"&%2'++.)%0$%$S5'-&)";$7%'+8%1'+81.#8&%'+8%)5.&$%6'+'9"+9%

D#$%&'($)*%6-&)%0$%;"9"1'+)%(.#%.)5$#%5'a'#8&%)5')%6"95)%0$%,#$&$+)%.#%+$:%5'a'#8&%)5')%

might materialise in the future. 

42.  Smoking

UN<>%^*%1':7%&6.3"+9%"&%+.)%'11.:$8%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&<%H5$#$%&)"11%

$S"&)&%)5$%;$#*%#$'1%+$$8%).%#$6'"+%;"9"1'+)7%+.)%.+1*%0$2'-&$%.(%,$.,1$%"+'8;$#)$+)1*%

smoking in areas where the law prohibits it, but also because of illicit and surreptitious 

&6.3"+9<%=+8$$87%:")5%#$9'#8%

to smoking, people’s efforts 

to conceal their actions, can 

often result in increased risk.

42.2 Residents need to be 

reminded that the law on 

smoking applies to the 

2.66.+%,'#)&<%Yb.%&6.3"+9Z%

signage is a statutory 

obligation, but taking other 

simple, basic steps can help. 

These can include providing 

suitable receptacles for 

smokers’ materials outside 

entrances to encourage 

people to put out their 

cigarettes before entering.

Page 68



53          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

UN<V%I$&"8$+)&Z%5'+80..3&7%D#$%&'($)*%1$'4$)&%'+8%.)5$#%2.66-+"2')".+&%:")5%#$&"8$+)&%

provide opportunities to inform and educate on this basic, but vital, message.

UV<%%F#&.+

UV<>% =+%NAA`7%8$1"0$#')$%"9+")".+%:'&%)5$%2'-&$%.(%&.6$%>X%,$#%2$+)%.(%D#$&%"+%8:$11"+9&%E%)5$%

)5"#8%1'#9$&)%2'-&$%.(%D#$&%"+%8:$11"+9&<%H5$&$%D#$&%#$&-1)$8%"+%O?%8$')5&%'+8%+$'#1*%>7@AA%

non-fatal casualties6<%K$2-#")*%"&%)5$#$(.#$%'%3$*%$1$6$+)%.(%D#$%,#$;$+)".+%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&<%

UV<N% H5$%+')-#$%.(%8$1"0$#')$%D#$&%$S,$#"$+2$8%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&%;'#"$&7%0-)%2'+%#'+9$%(#.6%

,$.,1$%&$))"+9%D#$%).%#-00"&5%'+8%&).#'9$%1$()%:")5"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%).%"9+")"+9%4'66'01$%

1"G-"8%,.-#$8%)5#.-95%1$))$#%0.S$&%.(%(#.+)%8..#&<%H5$%,#.D1$%.(%)5.&$%2'##*"+9%.-)%&-25%'2)&%

21$'#1*%;'#"$&<%F+)"/&.2"'1%0$5';".-#%2'+%0$%'%('2).#%"+%'22.-+)"+9%(.#%&.6$%.(%)5$&$%D#$&<%

^'&"2%&$2-#")*%2'+%.()$+%0$%;$#*%$(($2)";$%"+%2.-+)$#"+9%)5$&$%D#$&<

UV<V% P.:$;$#7%")%6-&)%0$%#$2.9+"&$8%)5')%&.6$%D#$&%'#$%&)'#)$8%0*%)5.&$%:")5%)5$%8$1"0$#')$%

"+)$+)%.(%2'-&"+9%&$#".-&%5'#6%).%,$.,1$<%=)%"&%-+1"3$1*%).%0$%,#'2)"2'1%).%"6,1$6$+)%,5*&"2'1%

measures completely to counter this risk. Vigilance by residents, along with visiting staff 

and contractors, will continue to be key to any programme of arson prevention.

@% %K.-#2$R%cd%!"#$%K)')"&)"2&%NAA`

R917'67&;1$+67B'+91'!"#$%H'3&1'+91'#;;#-+376+='+#:

g% look out for evidence of smoking in the common parts

g% check that ‘no smoking’ signs are still in place

g% make sure receptacles provided for disposal of smokers’ materials are being emptied 

on a regular basis.

F1*&3-1&'+9*+'$*7'!1'3&18'+#'*88-1&&'+91';#+17+6*"'(#-'*-&#7'67$"381/

g% good physical security, with suitable locks on doors and windows in common parts

g% :5$#$%',,#.,#"')$7%'22$&&%2.+)#.1%1"+3$8%).%$+)#*/,5.+$&%"+%4')&

g% $(($2)";$%1"95)"+97%0.)5%$S)$#+'11*%'+8%"+)$#+'11*7%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&

g% :5$#$%',,#.,#"')$7%\\Hi7%,'#)"2-1'#1*%.+%$+)#'+2$&%'+8%$S)$#+'1%('m'8$&

g% maintaining common areas free from combustible material

g% where possible, maintaining a presence by people such as caretakers and concierges

g% :5$#$%',,#.,#"')$7%(.#%2.66-+'1%1$))$#0.S$&7%-&$%.(%&-")'01$%$+21.&-#$&%8$&"9+$8%).%

contain burning material

g% supporting initiatives to address anti-social behaviour.

Page 69



54          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

UV<U%H5$%,.&&"01$%2.+4"2)%0$):$$+%&$2-#")*%'+8%D#$%&'($)*%6-&)%0$%)'3$+%"+).%'22.-+)<%F+*%

6$'&-#$&%)'3$+%).%#$&)#"2)%'22$&&%6-&)%+.)%,#$;$+)%,$.,1$%$&2',"+9%$'&"1*%"+%'%D#$<

UV<O%I$&"8$+)&%&5.-18%'1&.%0$%$+2.-#'9$8%).%6'3$%)5$"#%5.6$&%&$2-#$<%F8;"2$%.+%2#"6$%

prevention in the home is available from 

UV<@%I$&"8$+)&%6'*%)'3$%)5$"#%.:+%6$'&-#$&7%"+21-8"+9%D))"+9%'88")".+'1%1.23&%).%(#.+)%

8..#&%'+8%"+&)'11"+9%"+)#-8$#%'1'#6%&*&)$6&<%F9'"+7%2'#$%"&%+$$8$8%).%$+&-#$%)5')%'+*%

6$'&-#$&%)'3$+%8.%+.)%2.+4"2)%:")5%)5$%+$$8%).%$&2',$%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%D#$<%_5$#$%

,.&&"01$7%1$'&$&%&5.-18%0$%-&$8%).%2.+&)#'"+%)5$%D))"+9%.(%$S2$&&";$%&$2-#")*%6$'&-#$&7%

such as grilles, gates and shutters, that might:

g% delay escape by the residents

g% impinge on the safety of others (eg across a common balcony) 

g% ,#$;$+)%'22$&&%).%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$%).%$(($2)%#$&2-$%'+8%D95)%'%D#$%"+%'%4')<%

% K$2-#")*%8..#&%)5')%'25"$;$%VA%6"+-)$&%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%'#$%';'"1'01$<%K$2-#")*%8..#&%

)5')%2'+%0$%$'&"1*%#$6.;$8%0*%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$%"+%'+%$6$#9$+2*%'#$%'1&.%

available.

Page 70



55          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

44.  Housekeeping

44.1 Good housekeeping is fundamental 

).%#$8-2"+9%#"&3%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&<%

Controlling the presence of combustible 

materials and ignition sources not only 

#$8-2$&%)5$%,.)$+)"'1%(.#%'22"8$+)'1%D#$&%

to start and develop in the common 

,'#)&7%")%'1&.%&"9+"D2'+)1*%#$8-2$&%

)5$%&2.,$%(.#%8$1"0$#')$%D#$&<%=)%'1&.%

ensures escape routes are free of 

obstructions that might hinder the 

evacuation of people from the building 

'+8%'22$&&%(.#%D#$/D95)$#&<

44.2 The ignition of combustible material 

within the common corridors, stairways 

and landings will give rise to the 

presence of smoke in escape routes 

'+8%)5$%,.&&"0"1")*%.(%D#$/&,#$'8%"+).%

4')&<%B;$+%"(%2.60-&)"01$%6')$#"'1%"&%

R917'67&;1$+67B'!"#$%&'#(')*+&/

g% check that basic security is being 

maintained, eg that entrance doors are 

closing effectively and security lights 

are working

g% be vigilant for signs of anti-social 

0$5';".-#%"+;.1;"+9%D#$%&$))"+97%0.)5%

inside the block and outside in the 

vicinity

g% check that doors to residents’ store 

cupboards and garages are kept locked

g% make sure that plant rooms and 

electrical cupboards are locked shut 

and bin rooms are kept secure

g% monitor housekeeping in common 

areas and ensure that the 

organisation’s policy on the use of 

common parts is being followed.

Page 71



56          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

present in a room separated from escape routes, such as a lift motor room, there is 

&)"11%'%8'+9$#%)5')%'+*%#$&-1)'+)%D#$%2.-18%$;$+)-'11*%)5#$')$+%)5$%$&2',$%.(%.22-,'+)&%

.(%4')&<%=+8$$87%6'+*%&-25%#..6&%5';$%'%5"95$#%,#.0'0"1")*%.(%D#$%"+2$,)".+%J$9%

communal boiler rooms and electrical switch rooms). These should therefore be free of 

combustible materials for that reason alone.

44.3 There is a tendency for some residents 

to treat the common areas of blocks of 

4')&%'&%'+%$S)$+&".+%.(%)5$"#%.:+%5.6$<%

F&%'%2.+&$G-$+2$7%")%"&%+.)%-+3+.:+%).%

D+8%,$#&.+'1%0$1.+9"+9&%0$"+9%&).#$8%

in corridors and on stairway landings, 

along with furniture and electrical 

appliances.

44.4 Sometimes residents see the common 

parts as communal amenity areas, 

:5$#$7%(.#%$S'6,1$7%)5$*%2'+%&).#$%

bicycles, dry clothes and sit on 

furniture. Some landlords encourage 

this, particularly in sheltered schemes, 

in an effort to avoid the block having 

the appearance of an institution. The 

,#$&$+2$%.(7%(.#%$S'6,1$7%8..#%6')&7%

pot plants, pictures and seating is seen 

as part of making the block homely for 

the residents.

44.5 However, many landlords battle with 

problems that can arise from this, 

particularly of residents taking matters 

).%$S)#$6$&%J$9%5.18"+9%0'#0$2-$&%

.+%'22$&&%8$23&%'+8%$&2',$%0'12.+"$&L<%F%(-#)5$#%,#.01$6%"&%.+$%.(%'0-&$7%&-25%'&%

8-6,"+9%-+:'+)$8%0$1.+9"+9&%'+8%#-00"&5%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&<%b.)%.+1*%2'+%)5"&%

result in people potentially putting their own lives at risk, it could also endanger the lives 

of others.

UU<@%H5$%"+',,#.,#"')$%'2)".+&%.(%#$&"8$+)&%"+%)5"&%#$9'#8%2.-18%'1&.%0$%$S,.&"+9%1'+81.#8&%

'+8%.)5$#&%:5.%6'+'9$%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%).%1"'0"1")*%-+8$#%D#$%&'($)*%1':<

Page 72



57          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

UU<X%H5$%+')-#$%.(%")$6&%(.-+8%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&%2'+%;'#*%:"8$1*7%0-)%

have been known to include:

g% rubbish bags

g% wheeled bins

g% buggies and prams

g% mobility scooters, bicycles and motor cycles

g% lockers and cabinets

g% washing machines, tumble dryers and other goods awaiting disposal

g% unwanted bedding and mattresses

g% upholstered seating

g% children’s toys and play furniture

g% shopping trolleys.

Page 73



58          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

UU<`%H5$%'2)-'1%,.)$+)"'1%(.#%&"9+"D2'+)%&6.3$%,#.8-2)".+%'+8%D#$%8$;$1.,6$+)%:5$+%

combustible materials are ignited varies enormously, depending on the inherent 

properties of the material. This includes its ease of ignition, the quantity present and its 

2.+D9-#')".+<%b.)%'11%.(%)5$%")$6&%2.66.+1*%(.-+8%'#$%$")5$#%$'&"1*%"9+")'01$%.#%1"3$1*%).%

give rise to a serious risk if ignited in isolation. 

44.9 This suggests that it might be possible to allow some items to be present without unduly 

$S,.&"+9%#$&"8$+)&%).%#"&3<%P.:$;$#7%)5$%8"(D2-1)"$&%1'+81.#8&%'+8%.)5$#&%#$&,.+&"01$%(.#%

the common parts face is how to manage use of the building in this way. 

UU<>A% c+#$&)#"2)$8%-&$%.(%2.66.+%,'#)&%"&%21$'#1*%+.)%'22$,)'01$<%=)%:"117%)5$#$(.#$7%0$%

necessary to adopt one of the following alternatives:

i. Ya$#.%).1$#'+2$Z

ii. ‘managed use’

UU<>>% F%Ya$#.%).1$#'+2$Z%',,#.'25%"&%.+$%"+%:5"25%#$&"8$+)&%'#$%+.)%,$#6"))$8%).%-&$%)5$%

2.66.+%,'#)&%).%&).#$%.#%8"&,.&$%.(%)5$"#%0$1.+9"+9&%.#%#-00"&5<%b.%$S2$,)".+&%

:.-18%',,1*<%=)%:.-18%$+&-#$%)5')%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%'#$%$(($2)";$1*%Y&)$#"1$Z%"$%(#$$%.(%

combustible material, ignition sources and obstructions.

UU<>N% H5$%0$+$D)&%.(%)5"&%',,#.'25%'#$R

g% it is the simplest policy to adopt

g% ")%#$6.;$&%+.)%.+1*%)5$%#"&3%(#.6%'22"8$+)'1%D#$&7%"+;.1;"+9%")$6&%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&7%

but also denies fuel for the arsonist

g% )5$#$%"&%+.%'60"9-")*%#$9'#8"+9%:5')%"&%'11.:$8%'+8%)5$#$(.#$%#$&"8$+)&%3+.:%$S'2)1*%

where they stand

g% it is easier for landlords to ‘police’ when carrying out inspections

g% enforcing authorities usually favour this approach

g% ")%"&%&"6,1$#%).%'-8")%0*%)5.&$%2'##*"+9%.-)%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&

g% it arguably reduces the liability on landlords.

Page 74



59          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

44.13 There are, however, disadvantages including:

g% 0*%+.)%)'3"+9%"+).%'22.-+)%)5$%&,$2"D2%2"#2-6&)'+2$&7%)5"&%,.1"2*%6"95)%+.)%0$%#"&3%

proportionate

g% it unduly penalises those who could manage their common parts effectively

g% it denies residents an opportunity to personalise and improve their living environment.

UU<>U% H5$%'1)$#+')";$%"&%Y6'+'9$8%-&$Z<%H5"&%',,#.'25%'11.:&%&)#"2)1*%8$D+$8%-&$%.(%2.66.+%

,'#)&%'+8%1"6")&%)5$%")$6&%'11.:$87%).%2.+)#.1%D#$%1.'8%'+8%$'&$%.(%"9+")".+<%=)%"+21-8$&%

&)#"2)%2.+8")".+&%.+%:5$#$%&-25%")$6&%2'+%0$%3$,)<%!.#%$S'6,1$7%'%Y6'+'9$8%-&$Z%,.1"2*%

might permit residents to:

g% place pot plants and door mats outside their front doors

g% have framed pictures and notice boards on walls

g% store bicycles, prams and mobility scooters in places that are out of the way and not 

likely to cause obstruction.

UU<>O% H5"&%',,#.'25%'1&.%5'&%'8;'+)'9$&%'+8%8"&'8;'+)'9$&<%H5$%0$+$D)&%"+21-8$R

g% by making the common areas ‘homely’, it fosters a sense of pride and value in the 

block, which can impact positively on anti-social behaviour

g% ")%0$+$D)&%.18$#%'+8%8"&'01$8%,$.,1$%"+%,'#)"2-1'#7%0*%'11.:"+9%)5$6%).%&).#$%6.0"1")*%

aids at the point of access

g% ")%'11.:&%)5$%&,$2"D2%#"&3%('2).#&%"+%)5$%0-"18"+9%).%0$%)'3$+%"+).%'22.-+)<

UU<>@% H5$%8"&'8;'+)'9$&%"+21-8$R

g% ")%"&%6.#$%8"(D2-1)%).%'8.,)%'&%")%#$G-"#$&%'%21$'#1*%8$D+$8%,.1"2*%:")5%'%1"&)%.(%Y8.&%'+8%

don’ts’

.'TU1-#'+#"1-*7$1V';#"6$='&9#3"8/

g% be adopted by way of ‘default’

g% always apply when there is doubt over the ability of residents to apply a ‘managed use’ 

policy

g% 0$%'8.,)$8%:5$#$%4')&%.,$+%8"#$2)1*%.+).%&)'"#:'*&%-+1$&&%Y6'+'9$8%-&$Z%"&%2.+&"8$#$8%

'22$,)'01$%0*%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)

g% always apply where the escape stairway is of combustible construction

g% always apply where the building needs to be evacuated immediately ie where the 

&)'+8'#8%.(%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%8.$&%+.)%&-,,.#)%'%Y&)'*%,-)Z%,.1"2*<

Page 75



60          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

R917'*8#;+67B'*'T:*7*B18'3&1V';#"6$=/

g% 2'##*%.-)%'%&,$2"D2%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%)'3"+9%"+).%'22.-+)%)5$%,'#)"2-1'#%2"#2-6&)'+2$&%"+%

the building

g% consider whether residents are disposed towards keeping ‘rules’, and avoid ‘managed 

use’ where this is not the case

g% $+&-#$%)5')%)5$#$%'#$%21$'#1*%8$D+$8%Y8.Z&%'+8%8.+Z)&Z%)5')%#$&"8$+)&%2'+%$'&"1*%(.11.:

g% .+1*%',,1*%")%:5$#$%)5$#$%"&%'%&-")'01$%&)'+8'#8%.(%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%E%,'#)"2-1'#%2'#$%&5.-18%

be taken when applying it to situations such as single stairway buildings and ‘dead end’ 

corridors

g% limit it to buildings in which the main elements of structure are made of concrete, brick 

and other non-combustible materials

g% there is more scope for misunderstanding, requiring more education of, and 

communication with, residents

g% :5"1$%")%6"95)%0$%,.&&"01$%).%6"+"6"&$%'22"8$+)'1%D#$&%:")5%'+%',,#.,#"')$%Y6'+'9$8%-&$Z%

,.1"2*7%8$1"0$#')$%"9+")".+%6'*%&)"11%0$%'%&"9+"D2'+)%2.+2$#+

g% by allowing valuables to be left on view, it can encourage crime and subsequently 

increase the risk of deliberate ignition

g% ")%"&%6.#$%8"(D2-1)%(.#%1'+81.#8&%).%Y,.1"2$Z7%'+8%(.#%$+(.#2"+9%'-)5.#")"$&%'+8%D#$%#"&3%

assessors to audit

g% it is likely to require more frequent inspections by landlords

g% failure to adopt the policy effectively could result in liability for landlords should a 

&")-')".+%.22-#%)5')%,1'2$&%#$&"8$+)&%')%#"&3%.(%&$#".-&%"+T-#*%.#%8$')5%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%

D#$<

UU<>X% H5$%6.&)%',,#.,#"')$%',,#.'25%:"11%8$,$+8%.+%)5$%&,$2"D2%2"#2-6&)'+2$&7%'+8%:5')$;$#%

',,#.'25%"&%)'3$+%&5.-18%0$%2.+&"8$#$8%:")5"+%)5$%.;$#'11%2.+)$S)%.(%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%

6$'&-#$&%"+%)5$%0-"18"+9<%=)%&5.-18%0$%2.+&"8$#$8%'&%,'#)%.(%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%(.#%

)5$%01.23<%F%6'+'9$8%-&$%'+8%")&%2.+&)#'"+)&%2'+%.()$+%0$%'9#$$8%0*%2.+&-1)')".+%:")5%

residents.

UU<>`% _5"1$%")%6'*%0$%$'&"$#%(.#%1'+81.#8&%).%)'3$%)5$%Ya$#.%).1$#'+2$Z%',,#.'257%")%&5.-18%

0$%#$2.9+"&$8%)5')%#$&"8$+)&%6'*%0$%,-)%')%&"9+"D2'+)%"+2.+;$+"$+2$%'+8%#$&.#)%).%

infringements of the policy through frustration. Consideration of the needs of residents in 

ways that encourage them to follow the constraints of such an approach can contribute 

&"9+"D2'+)1*%).%D#$%&'($)*<%e#.;"8"+9%&-")'01$%2.66-+'1%&).#'9$%('2"1")"$&%'+87%(.#%$S'6,1$7%

charging rooms for mobility scooters, can greatly assist.

Page 76



61          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

44.19 Regular inspection is a key component of maintaining good housekeeping. Landlords 

should ensure that every opportunity is taken to monitor the situation in a block and 

ensure that there is compliance with the policy adopted. This should apply to the 

common parts, including stairways, lobbies, corridors, escape balconies and chute 

#..6&<%=)%&5.-18%'1&.%',,1*%).%,1'+)%#..6&7%1'+81.#8&Z%&).#$&7%#"&$#%2-,0.'#8&7%H$+'+)%

'+8%I$&"8$+)%F&&.2"')".+%JHIFL%1.-+9$&%'+8%('2"1")"$&%'+8%.)5$#%2.66-+'1%#..6&<

45.  Recycling

45.1 Recycling initiatives encourage residents to avoid waste and use resources sustainably. 

However, collection schemes often involve materials being set out in corridors, lobbies 

'+8%&)'"#:'*&%:")5"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&7%9";"+9%#"&$%).%'%,.)$+)"'11*%&$#".-&%D#$%5'a'#8<

UO<N%^'9&%.(%21.)5$&%(.#%25'#")*%'+8%0.S$&%'+8%0'9&%.(%+$:&,',$#&%'+8%,1'&)"2%2.+)'"+$#&%

#$,#$&$+)%'%&"9+"D2'+)%D#$%1.'8<%H5$%6')$#"'1%"&%"+%'%(.#6%"+%:5"25%")%2'+%0$%$'&"1*%"9+")$8%

'+8%1$'8%).%$S)$+&";$%D#$/&,#$'8%'+8%&6.3$%,#.8-2)".+<%

g% take notice of instances of anti-social behaviour and avoid ‘managed use’ where there 

is particular concern regarding the potential for deliberate ignition

g% generally only apply it to buildings which have effective security, eg access control

g% +$;$#%'11.:%&).#'9$%.(%2.60-&)"01$%6')$#"'1%E%:5$#$%',,#.,#"')$7%6'3$%'##'+9$6$+)&%

for residents to have communal facilities for storage

g% +$;$#%'11.:%")$6&%).%0$%1$()%':'")"+9%8"&,.&'17%+.)%$;$+%"+%25-)$%#..6&%E%$;$+%&5.#)%

term presence poses a risk

g% only allow basic furniture and not upholstered seating

g% never allow motorcycles, mowers and other gardening equipment containing petrol and 

other fuels

g% never allow charging of mobility scooters, batteries or other electrical equipment 

"+%2.66.+%,'#)&%E%2.+&"8$#%,#.;"8"+9%8$8"2')$8%#..6&%(.#%25'#9"+97%&-")'01*%D#$%

separated from the rest of the block

g% if storage cabinets are appropriate, only permit lockable metal cabinets to be used and 

never timber or plastic sheds or lockers

g% +$;$#%'11.:%#$&"8$+)&%).%&).#$%5'a'#8.-&%25$6"2'1&7%9'&%2.+)'"+$#&%.#%4'66'01$%

liquids in storage cabinets or dedicated storerooms and cupboards

g% only allow scooters, bicycles, prams and so forth, if there are suitable areas, that will 

not pose an obstruction, where they can be kept.

Page 77



62          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

UO<V%H5$%D#$%&'($)*%8$&"9+7%'+8%&,$2"D2'11*%)5$%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%'##'+9$6$+)&7%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%

01.23&%.(%4')&%'#$%+.)%"+)$+8$8%).%2.,$%:")5%D#$&%.(%)5"&%&"a$%'+8%&$;$#")*%:")5"+%)5$&$%

areas of the building.

UO<U%_5"1$%.+1*%)#'+&").#*7%&-25%6')$#"'1%"&%+$;$#)5$1$&&%:5.11*%"+',,#.,#"')$<%=)%2'++.)%0$%

considered acceptable even where ‘managed use’ policies apply. Landlords should put 

in place alternative arrangements for recycling that do not rely on collection from within 

the common parts.

U@<%%B1$2)#"2'1%5'a'#8&

U@<>%!"#$&%.(%$1$2)#"2'1%.#"9"+%'22.-+)%(.#%&.6$%>X%,$#%2$+)%.(%'11%D#$&%"+%)5$%5.6$7%)5$%&$2.+8%

1'#9$&)%2'-&$<%=+%NAA`7%)5$&$%D#$&%#$&-1)$8%"+%N`%8$')5&%'+8%'#.-+8%>7NAA%"+T-#"$&7.

U@<N% =9+")".+%.(%2.60-&)"01$%6')$#"'1&%)5#.-95%.;$#5$')"+9%.#%'#2"+9%2'+%#$&-1)%:5$+%('-1)&%

8$;$1.,%"+%:"#"+9%.#%"+%',,1"'+2$&<%K-25%('-1)&%'#$%.()$+%$;"8$+)%0$(.#$%'%D#$%.22-#&<%

P.-&$5.18$#&%2'+%2.+&"8$#'01*%#$8-2$%)5$%1"3$1"5..8%.(%'%D#$%8$;$1.,"+9%0*%0$"+9%

vigilant when appliances do not work or circuit-breakers keep tripping, and arranging 

for these faults to receive attention. Residents should also be encouraged to take 

preventive action by arranging for their electrical installation to be inspected and tested 

periodically.

X% %K.-#2$R%cd%!"#$%K)')"&)"2&%NAA`

Page 78



63          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

U@<V%W'+81.#8&%&5.-18%,1'+%).%5';$%)5$%$1$2)#"2'1%"+&)'11')".+&%"+%)5$"#%4')&%"+&,$2)$8%'+8%

)$&)$8%#$9-1'#1*<%F%+-60$#%.(%('2).#&%&5.-18%0$%)'3$+%"+).%2.+&"8$#')".+%:5$+%8$2"8"+9%

upon the frequency of such inspection, including:

g% the age of the property and the electrical installation therein

g% the duration of the tenancy

g% )5$%+')-#$%.(%)5$%)$+'+)%$S,$2)$8%).%)'3$%,.&&$&&".+%.(%)5$%4')<

U@<U%F+%"+)$#;'1%.(%>A%*$'#&%0$):$$+%&-25%"+&,$2)".+&%:.-18%0$%',,#.,#"')$%(.#%4')&%:5$#$%

'%1.+9%)$#6%)$+'+2*%'9#$$6$+)%"&%"+%,1'2$<%F+%"+)$#;'1%.(%D;$%*$'#&%6"95)%0$%6.#$%

appropriate for situations where the tenancy is shorter.

U@<O%_5$#$%)$+'+)%)-#+.;$#%"&%5"957%)5$%1'+81.#8%:.-18%0$%:$11%'8;"&$8%).%5';$%'%)5.#.-95%

;"&-'1%"+&,$2)".+%.(%)5$%'22$&&"01$%,'#)&%.(%)5$%$1$2)#"2'1%"+&)'11')".+&<%!.#%$S'6,1$7%

landlords should look for signs of damage to installed equipment and accessories which 

have made access to live parts possible or other defects or deterioration which may 

,.&$%'%8'+9$#%).%)5$%+$S)%)$+'+)&<

U@<@%H5$%"+)$#;'1%0$):$$+%"+&,$2)".+%'+8%)$&)"+9%2'+%0$%$S)$+8$8%:5$#$%+.%8'6'9$%

5'&%0$$+%.0&$#;$8%:5"25%:.-18%6'3$%)5$%4')%-+&'($%.;$#%'%+-60$#%.(%"+&,$2)".+&<%

\.+;$#&$1*7%)5$%"+)$#;'1%&5.-18%0$%#$8-2$8%:5$#$%)5$%"+&,$2).#%D+8&%$;"8$+2$%.(%

&"9+"D2'+)%8'6'9$%.#%8$)$#".#')".+<

U@<X%\-##$+)%9-"8'+2$%&)')$&%)5')%)5$%$1$2)#"2'1%"+&)'11')".+&%&-,,1*"+9%)5$%4')&%'+8%)5$%

2.66.+%,'#)&%.(%)5$%01.23%&5.-18%'1&.%0$%&-0T$2)%).%,$#".8"2%"+&,$2)".+%'+8%)$&)<%H5"&%

&5.-18%0$%-+8$#)'3$+%$;$#*%D;$%*$'#&<

U@<`%e$#".8"2%"+&,$2)".+%'+8%)$&)"+9%.(%$1$2)#"2'1%"+&)'11')".+&%&5.-18%0$%-+8$#)'3$+%0*%

&-")'01*%2.6,$)$+)%,$#&.+&%$9%'%)5"#8/,'#)*%2$#)"D2')$8%$1$2)#"2'1%2.+)#'2).#%.#%'%

6$60$#%.(%)5$%B1$2)#"2'1%\.+)#'2).#&Z%F&&.2"')".+%JB\FL<%H5$%"+&,$2)".+%'+8%)$&)7%'+8%

any necessary remedial work, should be undertaken in accordance with the current 

=+&)")-)".+%.(%B+9"+$$#"+9%'+8%H$25+.1.9*%J=BHL%_"#"+9%I$9-1')".+&%J^K%X@X>L%'+8%)5$%

#$2.66$+8')".+&%"+%=BH%YC-"8'+2$%b.)$%VZ<%C-"8'+2$%.+%,$#".8"2%"+&,$2)".+%#$,.#)"+9%

is also available from the Electrical Safety Council (ESC) and can be downloaded from 

the ESC website.

U@<?%F+*%,.#)'01$%$1$2)#"2'1%',,1"'+2$&%)5')%6"95)%0$%,#$&$+)%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%'+8%.)5$#%

'#$'&%-+8$#%)5$%2.+)#.1%.(%)5$%#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+%&5.-18%'1&.%0$%&-0T$2)%).%"+&,$2)".+%

and test on a regular basis. Guidance on the nature and frequency of this can be 

(.-+8%"+%)5$%=BH%\.8$%.(%e#'2)"2$%(.#%=+/K$#;"2$%=+&,$2)".+%'+8%H$&)"+9%.(%B1$2)#"2'1%

Equipment.

Page 79



64          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

U@<>A% M)5$#&%E%&-25%'&%HIF&7%:5.%.22-,*%,'#)&%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&%)5')%'#$%.-)&"8$%)5$%2.+)#.1%

of the Responsible person, and cleaners and maintenance contractors who bring 

,.#)'01$%$1$2)#"2'1%',,1"'+2$&%"+).%)5$%0-"18"+9%E%&5.-18%0$%$+2.-#'9$8%).%$+&-#$%)5')%

they have suitable inspection and testing regimes in place.

47.  Heating and ventilation systems and equipment

47.1 Heating and ventilation systems serving the common parts are often now completely 

&$,'#')$%(#.6%)5$%&*&)$6&%"+%)5$%4')&<%P.:$;$#7%)5"&%5'&%+.)%'1:'*&%0$$+%)5$%2'&$<%=+%

the past, communal ducted warm air systems have been employed to heat individual 

4')&<%=)%"&%&)"11%+.)%-+-&-'1%).%D+8%2.66.+%$S)#'2)%&*&)$6&%(.#%0')5#..6&%'+87%

sometimes, kitchens.

UX<N%H5$%5'a'#8&%'#"&"+9%(#.6%2.66-+'1%5$')"+9%'+8%;$+)"1')".+%&*&)$6&%"+21-8$%0.)5%'%

,.)$+)"'1%(.#%"9+")".+%'+8%'%#.-)$%(.#%D#$/&,#$'8%)5#.-95%2.66.+%8-2)&%'+8%#"&$#&<%

Planned preventive maintenance is the key to minimising the likelihood that, for 

$S'6,1$R

'%2$+)#'1%0."1$#%:"11%2')25%D#$

'%D#$%:")5"+%&-,,1*%'+8%$S)#'2)%('+&%.#%"+%8-2):.#3%:"11%&,#$'8%&6.3$%'+8%4'6$&%

through a building.

UX<V%_5$#$%,.#)'01$%5$')$#&%'#$%-&$8%E%$9%"+%HIF%1.-+9$&%'+8%2.66-+")*%#..6&%E%)5$&$%

&5.-18%0$%&-")'01$%(.#%)5$"#%"+)$+8$8%-&$%'+8%+.)%&-0T$2)%).%$'&"1*%0$"+9%3+.23$8%.;$#%.#%

damaged. Portable gas heaters should not be used.

A#'-183$1'+91'"6%1"69##8'#('*7'1"1$+-6$*"'D-1/

g% 0$%;"9"1'+)%8-#"+9%"+&,$2)".+&%(.#%'+*%.0;".-&%8'6'9$%).%$1$2)#"2'1%D))"+9&%'+8%

equipment within the common parts

g% make sure electrical distribution boards are located in secure cupboards or rooms, 

within which there is no storage or rubbish

g% &).,%#$&"8$+)&%(#.6%2.++$2)"+9%:"#"+9%(#.6%)5$"#%4')&%).%8$2.#')";$%1"95)&%.#%.)5$#%

equipment in the common parts

g% look out for residents using sockets in the common parts to charge their appliances or 

,.:$#%$G-",6$+)%:")5"+%)5$"#%4')&%E%#-++"+9%$S)$+&".+%1$'8&%2.6,.-+8&%)5$%5'a'#8%0*%

2.6,#.6"&"+9%)5$%D#$%&$,'#')".+%0$):$$+%)5$%4')&%'+8%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&

g% consider installing key-operated socket outlets within common parts to restrict access to 

cleaners and other legitimate users.

Page 80



65          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

47.4 Residents should also be encouraged to have their heating systems serviced regularly. 

While landlords are obliged to arrange annual gas safety checks for rented properties, 

#$&"8$+)&%.(%1$'&$5.18%4')&%&5.-18%'1&.%0$%$+2.-#'9$8%).%5';$%)5$"#%',,1"'+2$&%25$23$8%

every year.

48.  Lightning 

U`<>%W"95)+"+9%"&%'%&.-#2$%.(%"9+")".+%"+%'%&6'11%,#.,.#)".+%.(%D#$&<%P.:$;$#7%)5$%#"&3%8$,$+8&%

on factors such as:

g% the location of the building

g% )5$%0-"18"+9Z&%&"a$%'+8%2.+&)#-2)".+

g% )5$%,#.S"6")*%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9%).%.)5$#%&)#-2)-#$&%

g% the local topography. 

% F%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%)..1%(.#%8$)$#6"+"+9%)5$%+$$8%(.#%1"95)+"+9%,#.)$2)".+%.+%'%01.23%.(%

4')&%2'+%0$%(.-+8%"+%^K%Bb%@NVAO/N7%0-)%+.#6'11*%+$$8&%'%&,$2"'1"&)%).%',,1*%")<

48.2 Retrospective installation of lightning protection is rarely likely to be considered 

$&&$+)"'1%(.#%2.6,1"'+2$%:")5%1$9"&1')".+%"+%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&<%P.:$;$#7%'+*%

$S"&)"+9%1"95)+"+9%,#.)$2)".+%&*&)$6&%&5.-18%0$%&-0T$2)%).%#$9-1'#%"+&,$2)".+%'+8%)$&)"+9<%

C-"8'+2$%.+%)5"&%"&%';'"1'01$%"+%^K%Bb%@NVAO/V<

49.  Other causes

U?<>%F1)5.-95%2..3"+9%8.$&%+.)%.22-#%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%.(%'%01.23%.(%4')&7%")%"&%)5$%6.&)%

2.66.+%2'-&$%.(%D#$%"+%8:$11"+9&%E%&.6$%UO%,$#%2$+)%"+%NAA`8<%=)%6'*%0$%+$2$&&'#*%).%

2.+&"8$#%2..3"+9%5'a'#8&%:5$#$%)5$#$%'#$%2.66-+'1%('2"1")"$&7%&-25%'&%HIF%1.-+9$&7%

'+8%"+%&5$1)$#$8%&25$6$&%:5$#$%2')$#"+9%"&%,#.;"8$8<%F%3$*%2.6,.+$+)%).%#$8-2"+9%

the risk is regular maintenance and cleaning of cooking appliances and any associated 

$S)#'2)%&*&)$6&7%$&,$2"'11*%"(%8$$,%(')%(#*"+9%"&%-+8$#)'3$+<

U?<N%H5$#$%'#$%.)5$#%5'a'#8&%)5')%6"95)%.+1*%0$%,#$&$+)%.+%.22'&".+&<%C..8%$S'6,1$&%

'#$%)5$%5'a'#8&%'&&.2"')$8%:")5%0-"18"+9%:.#3&%'+8%2.+)#'2).#&%.,$#')".+&<%H5"&%"&%

considered in Part G of this guide.

`% %K.-#2$R%cd%!"#$%K)')"&)"2&%NAA`

Page 81



66          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

Part F: Q'+'9"+9%D#$%#"&3%E%D#$%
protection

d$*%,."+)&

g% ^$+256'#3&%&5.-18%0$%-&$8%).%'&&$&&%)5$%&)'+8'#8%.(%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%"+%'%01.23%.(%4')&<%

These are not prescriptive, and the aim should be to use them to determine a reasonable 

',,#.'25%).%"6,#.;"+9%D#$%&'($)*%:5$#$%)5$%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%6$'&-#$&%5';$%0$$+%(.-+8%).%

be inadequate.

g% =+")"'11*7%)5$&$%0$+256'#3&%6"95)%0$%)5.&$%)5')%:$#$%"+%,1'2$%:5$+%)5$%01.23%:'&%0-"1)7%

rather than those that currently apply.

g% P.:$;$#7%-,9#'8"+9%$S"&)"+9%0-"18"+9&%).%6$$)%2-##$+)%0$+256'#3&%6'*%0$%',,#.,#"')$%"+%

situations in which the original standards are far removed from what is acceptable today, 

and, as a result, there is unacceptable risk.

g% While the appropriate solution might be to restore what was originally in place, upgrading 

to achieve current benchmarks should take place when the opportunity arises, such as 

through the normal process of refurbishment.

g% _5$+%-,9#'8"+9%D#$%,#$2'-)".+&7%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%,#.8-2)&%'+8%&$#;"2$&%&5.-18%0$%D)%(.#%

,-#,.&$%'+8%,#.,$#1*%"+&)'11$8<%H5"#8%,'#)*%2$#)"D2')".+%&25$6$&%'#$%';'"1'01$%(.#%6'+*%

such products and services.

g% B(($2)";$%2.6,'#)6$+)')".+%"&%(-+8'6$+)'1%).%$+&-#"+9%'8$G-')$%D#$%&'($)*%"+%01.23&%.(%

4')&<%=)%"&%)5$#$(.#$%;")'1%)5')%4..#&%'+8%:'11&%'#$%"+%9..8%2.+8")".+%'+8%)5')%)5$#$%'#$%+.%

.,$+"+9&%)5')%:.-18%,$#6")%-+2.+)#.11$8%&,#$'8%.(%D#$%'+8%&6.3$<

g% e'#)"2-1'#%'))$+)".+%&5.-18%0$%9";$+%).%)5$%,.)$+)"'1%(.#%D#$/&,#$'8%)5#.-95%2.66.+%

ventilation ducts.

g% B&2',$%#.-)$&%(#.6%4')&%"+%&.6$%.18$#%01.23&%6'*%"+;.1;$%(.#6&%.(%'1)$#+')";$%$S")7%&-25%

as linking balconies and pass doors, that are no longer recommended. Compensatory 

measures may need to be provided where this is the case.

g% =+2#$'&$&%"+%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$%'+8%.)5$#%8$,'#)-#$&%(#.6%2-##$+)%0$+256'#3%8$&"9+%9-"8'+2$%

may need to be accepted. Compensatory measures may again be required in some cases.

g% M#"9"+'1%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%"+%6'+*%.18$#%01.23&%:"11%+.)%6$$)%2-##$+)%&)'+8'#8&<%=+%

&.6$%&")-')".+&7%")%:"11%0$%',,#.,#"')$%).%'22$,)%)5$%8..#%'&%")%"&j%"+%.)5$#&7%-,9#'8"+9%.#%

replacement of the doors will be necessary. This will depend on the risk.

g% H5$%D))"+9%.(%&-")'01$%&$1(/21.&"+9%8$;"2$&%).%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%"&%'+%$&&$+)"'1%&5.#)/)$#6%

measure.

66          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&
Page 82



67          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

g% !"#$%$S")%&"9+&%:"11%+.)%.()$+%0$%#$G-"#$8%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&7%,'#)"2-1'#1*%)5.&$%:")5%'%&"+91$%

stairway.

g% Emergency escape lighting will be required in all but the smallest of blocks.

g% F11%4')&%&5.-18%0$%,#.;"8$8%:")5%&6.3$%'1'#6&%"+&)'11$8%"+%'22.#8'+2$%:")5%^K%O`V?/@<

g% _5$#$7%.+%#'#$%.22'&".+&7%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&%'#$%"+&)'11$8%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&7%)5$&$%

&*&)$6&%&5.-18%2.6,1*%:")5%^K%O`V?/><%c&$%.(%&6.3$%'1'#6&%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%"&%

inappropriate.

g% e#.;"&".+%.(%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5$#&%.#%5.&$%#$$1&%"&%+.)%+.#6'11*%2.+&"8$#$8%+$2$&&'#*7%.)5$#%

than in plant rooms, community facilities, staff rooms and so forth.

g% =+%6"S$8%-&$%0-"18"+9&7%)5$%#"&3&%,#$&$+)$8%0*%.)5$#%.22-,'+2"$&7%'+8%)5$%:'*%)5$&$%#"&3&%

2'+%"6,'2)%.+%)5$%&'($)*%.(%)5$%#$&"8$+)&%.(%4')&7%+$$8%).%0$%)'3$+%"+).%'22.-+)<

g% The limitations of the residents of sheltered housing schemes should be taken into account 

:5$+%8$)$#6"+"+9%&-")'01$%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&<%P.:$;$#7%)5$%,#"+2",1$&%.(%'%Y&)'*%,-)Z%

policy apply equally to such schemes.

g% !"#$/D95)"+9%('2"1")"$&%,#.;"8$8%"+%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&%&5.-18%')%1$'&)%6$$)%)5$%&)'+8'#8%

.(%)5$%8'*%)5$%01.23%:'&%0-"1)%'+8%&5.-18%0$%6'"+)'"+$8%"+%$(D2"$+)%:.#3"+9%.#8$#<

g% I$&)#"2)".+&%',,1*%).%)5$%+')-#$%'+8%2.+&)#-2)".+%.(%$S)$#+'1%21'88"+9%&*&)$6&%'+8%).%)5$%

6')$#"'1&%-&$8%(.#%('m'8$&<%H5"&%"&%"+%.#8$#%).%1"6")%)5$%,.)$+)"'1%(.#%$S)$#+'1%D#$/&,#$'87%

particularly in high-rise blocks.

67          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&
Page 83



68          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

OA<%%=+)#.8-2)".+

OA<>%H5"&%e'#)%.(%)5$%9-"8$%"&%2.+2$#+$8%:")5%)5$%"+/0-"1)%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%"+%'%01.23%.(%

4')&7%"$%)5.&$%$1$6$+)&%+$2$&&'#*%).%$+&-#$%'%&')"&('2).#*%&)'+8'#8%.(%D#$%,#.)$2)".+<%

H5$%.0T$2)";$&%'+8%,#"+2",1$&%0$5"+8%)5$&$%6$'&-#$&%'#$%8"&2-&&$8%"+%e'#)%^%.(%)5"&%

guide. The aim of these measures is to ensure reasonable safety for those escaping 

'%D#$%'+87%:5$#$%'%Y&)'*%,-)Z%,.1"2*%',,1"$&7%(.#%)5.&$%#$6.)$%(#.6%)5$%D#$%:5"1$%)5$*%

#$6'"+%"+%)5$"#%4')&<

50.2 Set out below are benchmarks, against which the standard of safety in a particular block 

can be assessed, but these should not be seen as prescriptive standards.

OA<V% =+")"'11*7%'%D#$%:"11%.+1*%,#$&$+)%'%)5#$')%).%)5.&$%"+%")&%"66$8"')$%;"2"+")*<%H5$%6'T.#")*%

.(%D#$&%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&%8.%+.)%&,#$'8%0$*.+8%)5$%1.2')".+%.(%.#"9"+<%

P.:$;$#7%")%5'&%'1&.%).%0$%'&&-6$8%)5$#$%"&%'%&6'11%25'+2$%)5')7%')%&.6$%&)'9$7%D#$%

might spread to affect other areas of the building, including the common parts and the 

communal escape routes.

51.  Limitations of this guidance

O><>% H5$%:"8$%;'#"')".+%"+%'9$7%8$&"9+%'+8%2.+&)#-2)".+%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&%"&%&-25%)5')%)5"&%

9-"8$%2'+%.+1*%2.;$#%)5$%6.#$%2.66.+%8$&"9+&%'+8%6.#$%2.66.+1*%$6,1.*$8%D#$%

&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%(.-+8%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&<%=+$;")'01*7%)5$#$%:"11%0$%1'*.-)&%'+8%

circumstances that will not be fully addressed by this guide. However, it is hoped that use of 

the basic principles outlined below will enable a meaningful assessment to be made of the 

level of safety in these blocks. Landlords and other responsible persons should be aware 

that, in these circumstances, it is likely that help will be needed from suitable specialists.

ON<%%Q$)5.8.1.9*%(.#%-&"+9%0$+256'#3&

ON<>%_5$+%2'##*"+9%.-)%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)7%.#%.)5$#:"&$%#$;"$:"+9%D#$%&'($)*%8$&"9+%"+%'%

01.23%.(%4')&7%")%"&%"6,.#)'+)%).%2.6,'#$%)5$%&)'+8'#8%(.-+8%"+%'%,'#)"2-1'#%01.23%'9'"+&)%

',,#.,#"')$%0$+256'#3&<%M+1*%)5$+%2'+%T-89$6$+)&%0$%6'8$%'0.-)%)5$%'8$G-'2*%.(%)5$%

D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&<

ON<N% =+")"'11*7%)5$&$%0$+256'#3&%6"95)%0$%)5.&$%)5')%:$#$%"+%,1'2$%:5$+%)5$%01.23%:'&%0-"1)%'+8%

+.)%)5.&$%)5')%2-##$+)1*%',,1*<%=+8$$87%")%"&%+.#6'11*%"+',,#.,#"')$%).%#$)#.&,$2)";$1*%-,9#'8$%

$S"&)"+9%01.23&%).%6$$)%2-##$+)%0$+256'#3&%:")5.-)%T-&)"D2')".+%.+%)5$%0'&"&%.(%D#$%#"&3<

ON<V%b$;$#)5$1$&&7%)5$#$%6'*%0$%&")-')".+&%"+%:5"25%)5$%.#"9"+'1%0$+256'#3&%.(%)5$%8'*%

are far removed from what is acceptable today and, as a result, there may be an 

unacceptable risk.

Page 84



69          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

52.4 The guidance in this part is set out in such a way as to highlight:

g% the benchmark standards recommended by current design codes and guides for the 

8$&"9+%.(%6.8$#+%01.23&%.(%4')&

g% the most commonly found differences between newly built blocks and those designed 

).%6$$)%)5$%&)'+8'#8&%.(%)5$%8'*%)5')%',,1"$8%:5$+%'+%$S"&)"+9%01.23%:'&%0-"1)

g% ,.&&"01$%&.1-)".+&%)5')%6"95)%0$%&-")'01$%:5$#$%)5$%&)'+8'#8%(.-+8%"+%'+%$S"&)"+9%

building has not been maintained in line with the original design intent, or falls far 

short of the standard considered acceptable today. 

ON<O%H5$%(.11.:"+9%"11-&)#')$&%'%(#'6$:.#3%-&$8%:5$+%2'##*"+9%.-)%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%(.#%

2.6,'#"+9%)5$%&)'+8'#8%.(%D#$%&'($)*%(.-+8%"+%'%,'#)"2-1'#%01.23%:")5%)5$&$%0$+256'#3&<

W1$6&6#7'A-11'(#-'*&&1&&67B'+91'*81X3*$='#('D-1'&*(1+=':1*&3-1&' 
67'*7'1S6&+67B'!"#$%'#(')*+&

].%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%

in the building meet 

2-##$+)%&)'+8'#8&[

P';$%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%

measures, required at 

the time of construction, 

been compromised  

J$9%0*%'1)$#')".+&L[

=8$+)"(*%&5.#)2.6"+9&%

in relation to current 

standards

Do departures from 

current standards 

2#$')$%&"9+"D2'+)%#"&3[

(Fire risk assessment)

c,9#'8$%D#$%&'($)*%

measures in the building

Prioritise requirements

F8$G-')$%D#$%

protection

=8$+)"(*%&5.#)2.6"+9&%

from that standard

Have these standards 

0$$+%#$1'S$8[

Rectify short comings

F#$%)5$#$%&)"11%

shortcomings from 

2-##$+)%&)'+8'#8&[

YES

bM

YES

YES

YES

t)

YES

bM

*%

bM

+9&%

bM

bM

Page 85



70          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

ON<@%H5$%'"6%"&%).%8$)$#6"+$%'%#$'&.+'01$%',,#.'25%).%"6,#.;"+9%D#$%&'($)*%"+%$S"&)"+9%

01.23&%.(%4')&%:5$#$%)5$%$S"&)"+9%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%5';$%0$$+%(.-+8%).%0$%

inadequate.

ON<X% =)%6-&)%0$%#$2.9+"&$8%)5')%")%:"11%+.)%'1:'*&%0$%#$'&.+'01*%,#'2)"2'01$%).%'25"$;$%

solutions that conform to today’s standards. The appropriate solution may simply be 

to restore what was originally there until such time as it can be upgraded through the 

+.#6'1%,#.2$&&%.(%#$(-#0"&56$+)%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9<%H5$%.0T$2)";$%"&%).%$&)'01"&5%:5$)5$#%

)5$%8$,'#)-#$&%(#.6%2-##$+)%0$+256'#3&%2#$')$%&"9+"D2'+)%#"&3%'+87%"(%)5$*%8.7%).%

determine a realistic solution that can be implemented within the constraints of an 

$S"&)"+9%0-"18"+9<

ON<`%F+%$S'6,1$%)5')%"11-&)#')$&%)5"&%',,#.'25%"&%)5$%#$,1'2$6$+)%.(%'%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#%0*%

'%#$&"8$+)%:")5%'%+.+/D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#%)5')%"&%+.)%&$1(/21.&"+9<%F&%8"&2-&&$8%1')$#7%)5$%

2-##$+)%0$+256'#3%&)'+8'#8%"&%(.#%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%).%0$%&$1(/21.&"+9%8..#&7%2','01$%

.(%,#.;"8"+9%VA/6"+-)$%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%'+8%"+2.#,.#')"+9%"+)-6$&2$+)%&)#",&%'+8%&6.3$%

&$'1&%J!]VAKL<%=(%)5$%8..#%)5')%5'8%0$$+%#$,1'2$8%:'&%"+%'%01.23%8')"+9%(#.67%&'*7%)5$%

>?@A&7%")%"&%6.&)%1"3$1*%)5')%)5$%.#"9"+'1%8..#%:.-18%0$%D#$/#$&"&)"+97%0-)%6"95)%.+1*%0$%

D))$8%:")5%#"&"+9%0-))%5"+9$&<%=)%:.-18%+.)%"+2.#,.#')$%"+)-6$&2$+)%&)#",&%'+8%&6.3$%

seals.

ON<?% =+%)5$%&")-')".+%8$&2#"0$8%'0.;$7%)5$%#$,1'2$6$+)%8..#%8.$&%+.)%6$$)%2-##$+)%

0$+256'#3%&)'+8'#8&<%=)%'1&.%8.$&%+.)%6$$)%)5$%&)'+8'#8&%.(%)5$%8'*%)5$%01.23%:'&%

0-"1)<%H5.&$%&)'+8'#8&%5';$%+.)%0$$+%#$1'S$8<%H5$%+$:%8..#7%"(%#$,1'2$8%:")5%'%8..#%

&"6"1'#%).%)5$%.+$%.#"9"+'11*%D))$87%:.-18%&)"11%+.)%6$$)%2-##$+)%&)'+8'#8&<%F&%$S,1'"+$8%

later, the lack of a positive action self-closing device at the very least is considered to 

2#$')$%&"9+"D2'+)%#"&3<%=+%,#'2)"2$7%#$,1'2$6$+)%.(%)5$%+$:%8..#%:")5%'+%!]VAK%8..#7%

D))$8%:")5%'%,.&")";$%'2)".+%&$1(/21.&"+9%8$;"2$7%:.-18%0$%)5$%',,#.,#"')$%&.1-)".+<

ON<>A% F&%'+.)5$#%$S'6,1$7%")%"&%(#$G-$+)1*%(.-+8%)5')%#$&"8$+)&%5';$%'1&.%#$6.;$8%.#"9"+'1%

&$1(/21.&"+9%8$;"2$&%(#.6%"+)$#+'1%8..#&%:")5"+%4')&7%:5"25%:$#$%#$G-"#$8%0*%)5$%

standards of the day. However, these self-closing devices are not now required for 

2.6,1"'+2$%:")5%2-##$+)%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&<%F22.#8"+91*7%-+8$#%6.&)%2"#2-6&)'+2$&7%

)5$*%'#$%+.%1.+9$#%+$2$&&'#*%:")5"+%$S"&)"+9%4')&%J&$$%,'#'9#',5%O@<NVL<

ON<>>% M)5$#%$S'6,1$&%.(%)5$%',,1"2')".+%.(%)5"&%',,#.'25%'+8%)5$%9-"8'+2$%)5')%(.11.:&%

0$1.:%'#$%2.+)'"+$8%"+%F,,$+8"2$&%XE>N<

ON<>N% F,,$+8"S%>%2.+)'"+&%'%5"&).#*%.(%D#$%&'($)*%8$&"9+%&)'+8'#8&%(.#%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%

.(%4')&<%=)%"&%)5$#$(.#$7%'%#$($#$+2$%&.-#2$%(.#%8$)$#6"+"+9%)5$%&)'+8'#8%)5')%',,1"$8%

when a particular block was built.

Page 86



71          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

OV<%%H5"#8/,'#)*%2$#)"D2')".+

OV<>%_5$+%-,9#'8"+9%D#$%,#$2'-)".+&7%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%,#.8-2)&%'+8%#$1')$8%&$#;"2$&%&5.-18%

0$%D)%(.#%)5$"#%,-#,.&$%'+8%,#.,$#1*%"+&)'11$8%'+8%6'"+)'"+$8%"+%'22.#8'+2$%:")5%)5$%

manufacturer’s instructions or a relevant standard.

OV<N%H5"#8/,'#)*%2$#)"D2')".+%&25$6$&%(.#%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%,#.8-2)&%'+8%#$1')$8%&$#;"2$&%'#$%'+%

effective means of providing the fullest possible assurances, offering a level of quality, 

#$1"'0"1")*%'+8%&'($)*%)5')%+.+/2$#)"D2')$8%,#.8-2)&%6'*%1'23<%H5"&%8.$&%+.)%6$'+%9..8&%

and services that are not third-party approved are less reliable, but there is no obvious 

way in which this can be demonstrated.

53.3 Third-party quality assurance can offer comfort, both as a means of satisfying you 

)5')%9..8&%'+8%&$#;"2$&%*.-%5';$%,-#25'&$8%'#$%D)%(.#%,-#,.&$7%'+8%'&%'%6$'+&%.(%

demonstrating that you have complied with the law.

54.  Compartmentation

OU<>%F8$G-')$%2.6,'#)6$+)')".+%"&%'%0'&"2%#$G-"#$6$+)%"+%'11%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&<%

H5$%&)'+8'#8%.(%D#$%&$,'#')".+7%:5$)5$#%0$):$$+%"+8";"8-'1%4')&7%0$):$$+%4')&%'+8%)5$%

common parts, or between the common parts and ancillary accommodation, such as 

#$(-&$%25-)$&%'+8%,1'+)%#..6&7%&5.-18%0$%'%3$*%2.+&"8$#')".+%:5$+%-+8$#)'3"+9%'%D#$%

risk assessment.

OU<N% H5$%&)'+8'#8%.(%2.6,'#)6$+)')".+%'+8%D#$%&$,'#')".+%#$2.66$+8$8%"+%8$&"9+%9-"8$&%(.#%

01.23&%.(%4')&%5'&%25'+9$8%.;$#%)5$%*$'#&7%,'#)"2-1'#1*%"+%2.6,'#"&.+%).%)5.&$%,-01"&5$8%

,#".#%).%)5$%>?@A&<%H5"&%5'&%"+$;")'01*%1$8%).%;'#"')".+&7%0.)5%"+%)5$%+')-#$%.(%)5$%2.+&)#-2)".+%

'+8%"+%)5$%,$#".8&%.(%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%)5')%2'+%0$%(.-+8%"+%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&<

OU<V%\-##$+)%0$+256'#3%8$&"9+%9-"8'+2$%(.#%+$:%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&%#$2.66$+8&%

)5')%)5$%(.11.:"+9%&5.-18%0$%2.+&)#-2)$8%'&%2.6,'#)6$+)%:'11&%'+8%4..#&R

g% $;$#*%4..#%J-+1$&&%")%"&%:")5"+%'%6-1)"/1$;$1%4')L

g% $;$#*%:'11%&$,'#')"+9%'%4')%(#.6%'+*%.)5$#%,'#)%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9

g% $;$#*%:'11%'+8%4..#%$+21.&"+9%'%#$(-&$%&).#'9$%#..6<

OU<U%H5$%2-##$+)%6"+"6-6%1$;$1%.(%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%"&%@A%6"+-)$&%J5"95$#%"+%)5$%2'&$%.(%5"95/

#"&$%01.23&7%0-)%+.#6'11*%VA%6"+-)$&%"+%&6'117%):./&).#$*%01.23&%.(%4')&L<%e#$;".-&%

8$&"9+%&)'+8'#8&%(.#%.18$#7%)#'8")".+'11*%0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&7%:")5%)"60$#%4..#&7%,$#6"))$8%

'%1.:$#%1$;$1%.(%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$7%)*,"2'11*%VA%6"+-)$&<

OU<O% =+%,#'2)"2$7%)5$%6')$#"'1&%)5')%:$#$%-&$87%'+8%)5$%6$)5.8%.(%2.+&)#-2)".+%'8.,)$87%"+%

.18$#%01.23&%.(%4')&7%6"95)%+.)%'25"$;$%)5$&$%,$#".8&%.(%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$<%H#'8")".+'11*7%

)5$%2.60"+')".+%.(%'%1')5%'+8%,1'&)$#%2$"1"+9%0$1.:%'%)"60$#%4..#%:'&%.+1*%2.+&"8$#$8%

Page 87



72          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

).%,#.;"8$%'%+.)".+'1%VA%6"+-)$&%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$<%=+%#$'1")*7%)5$%,$#(.#6'+2$%.(%1')5%'+8%

plaster is highly variable, given that the thickness of the plaster is not uniform.

' 56-1'-1&6&+*7$1'#('1S6&+67B'$#:;*-+:17+'?*""&'*78')##-&

OU<@% =+%,#"+2",1$7%)5$%,.)$+)"'1%#"&3%).%)5$%.22-,'+)&%.(%4')&%"+2#$'&$&%:")5%)5$%5$"95)%.(%)5$%

01.237%)5$%&"a$%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9%'+8%)5$%+-60$#%.(%4')&%,#$&$+)<%=)%6'*7%)5$#$(.#$7%0$%

#$'&.+'01$%).%'22$,)%#$8-2$8%1$;$1&%.(%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%(.#%2.6,'#)6$+)%4..#&%'+8%:'11&%

"+%$S"&)"+9%&6'117%1.:/#"&$%01.23&<%P.:$;$#7%)5"&%:.-18%8$,$+8%.+%.)5$#%"+)$#/#$1')$8%

factors, most importantly the provision of adequate means of escape. Benchmark levels 

are set out below.

OU<X% =+%2$#)'"+%&")-')".+&7%"+%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%:5$#$%)5$&$%,$#".8&%.(%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%'#$%+.)%6$)%

.#%2'++.)%#$'8"1*%0$%'25"$;$8%0*%-,9#'8"+97%2.6,$+&').#*%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%6$'&-#$&%6'*%

need to be considered. These measures might include one or more of the following:

g% improving the means of escape by providing an alternative escape route or upgrading 

protection to the enclosure of escape routes to current benchmark design standards, eg 

FD30S doors

g% ,#.;"&".+%.(%'+%'-).6')"2%D#$%8$)$2)".+%'+8%'1'#6%&*&)$6%).%2.6,$+&')$%(.#%)5$%

#$8-2$8%1$;$1&%.(%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$

g% ,#.;"&".+%.(%'%&,#"+31$#7%.#%.)5$#%&-")'01$%DS$8%'-).6')"2%&-,,#$&&".+7%&*&)$6<

' ES6&+67B'$#786+6#7'#('$#:;*-+:17+'?*""&'*78')##-&

OU<`% =)%"&%;")'1%)5')%4..#&%'+8%:'11&%'#$%"+%9..8%2.+8")".+%'+8%)5')%)5$#$%'#$%+.%.,$+"+9&7%

:5$)5$#%"+)$+)".+'1%.#%-+"+)$+)".+'17%)5')%:.-18%,$#6")%)5$%-+2.+)#.11$8%&,#$'8%.(%D#$%'+8%

&6.3$<%H5$%,.)$+)"'1%(.#%D#$%).%&,#$'8%)5#.-95%'+*%&$#;"2$%8-2)&%'+8%#"&$#&7%;$+)"1')".+%

ducts and refuse chutes, and by means of openings around gas, electricity, water, 

drainage and telecommunications services, should be considered.

OU<?% M0;".-&%.,$+"+9&%0$):$$+%4..#&7%'+8%"+%:'11&%0$):$$+%4')&%'+8%.)5$#%'+2"11'#*%

accommodation (eg plant rooms) and the common parts, should be considered. Particular 

attention should be paid to service ducts or risers and any common ventilation systems.

.&'*'!17$9:*-%H'+91':676:3:'"1C1"&'#('D-1'-1&6&+*7$1'(#-'$#:;*-+:17+'?*""&'*78'

)##-&'(#-'1S6&+67B'!"#$%&'#(')*+&'&9#3"8'!1/

g% )5#$$/&).#$*%E%+.)".+'1%VA%6"+-)$&%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%E%)*,"2'11*%)"60$#%4..#&%:")5%1')5%'+8%

plaster ceilings.

g% (.-#/%'+8%D;$/&).#$*%E%(-11%VA%6"+-)$&%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%E%)*,"2'11*%)"60$#%4..#&%:")5%

plasterboard ceilings.

g% &"S/&).#$*%'+8%'0.;$%E%@A%6"+-)$&%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$<

Page 88



73          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

OU<>A% _")5"+%4')&7%2.+&"8$#')".+%:"11%+$$8%).%0$%9";$+%).%)5$%'8$G-'2*%.(%D#$%&).,,"+9%

'#.-+8%'+*%.,$+"+9&%"+%:'11&%'+8%4..#&%(.#%&$#;"2$&%&-25%'&%9'&7%:')$#7%$1$2)#"2")*7%

telecommunications and drainage. These may be present where such services enter from 

)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%.#%,'&&%0$):$$+%4')&<%=+%6.&)%2'&$&7%)5$%$S)$+)%.(%'+*%.,$+"+9&%'+8%

)5$%$S)$+)%.(%D#$%&).,,"+9%2'+%.+1*%0$%'&2$#)'"+$8%)5#.-95%8$&)#-2)";$%"+&,$2)".+&%'+8%0*%

opening up panels in kitchens, bathrooms and other areas. This would only apply when 

H*,$&%N%'+8%U%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&%'#$%2'##"$8%.-)<

54.11 Small bore pipes, typically less than 40mm in diameter, are not normally considered 

to be of concern. Larger pipes, especially if made of a combustible material, could, in a 

D#$7%9";$%#"&$%).%'+%.,$+"+9%)5')%:"11%'11.:%&"9+"D2'+)%D#$%'+8%&6.3$/&,#$'8<%e#.,#"$)'#*%

D#$%&$'1&7%"+21-8"+9%$S)$#+'11*%6.-+)$8%2.11'#&7%.#%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%$+21.&-#$&7%'#$%-&$8%"+%

new buildings and could be used to address this problem in older blocks. However, the 

8"(D2-1)"$&%.(%#$)#.D))"+9%&-25%&$'1&%"+%'+%.22-,"$8%01.23%.(%4')&%6'*%6$'+%)5')%")%:"11%.+1*%

0$%,#'2)"2'01$%).%-+8$#)'3$%)5"&%.+%'%1.+9/)$#6%0'&"&%'&%'+8%:5$+%4')&%0$2.6$%;'2'+)<

OU<>N% =+%'88")".+7%"+%&.6$%8$&"9+&%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&7%-&$%:"11%0$%6'8$%.(%2.66.+%;$+)"1')".+%

8-2)&%).%,#.;"8$%$S)#'2)%(#.6%0')5#..6&%'+87%1$&&%2.66.+1*7%3")25$+&<%H5$&$%8-2)&%

6'*%:$11%)#';$1%)5$%(-11%5$"95)%.(%)5$%0-"18"+97%&$#;"+9%'%1'#9$%+-60$#%.(%4')&%'+8%

terminating at roof level.

OU<>V% =)%5'&%0$$+%)#'8")".+'1%(.#%6'+*%*$'#&%(.#%)5$%2.66.+%$S)#'2)%(#.6%0')5#..6&%).%

"+2.#,.#')$%&5-+)%8-2)&7%:5"25%#$8-2$%)5$%1"3$1"5..8%.(%D#$%'+8%&6.3$/&,#$'8%0$):$$+%

4')&<%K.6$%$'#1"$#%8$&"9+&%-&$8%)5$%&'6$%'##'+9$6$+)%(.#%3")25$+%$S)#'2)7%'1)5.-95%)5"&%

was not a preferred method.

Page 89



74          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

OU<>U% P.:$;$#7%)5$#$%'#$%01.23&%.(%4')&%

that do not incorporate shunt ducts and 

have no adequate means of preventing 

D#$%'+8%&6.3$/&,#$'8%0$):$$+%4')&%

via ventilation ducts. The absence 

.(%6$'&-#$&%).%,#$;$+)%D#$%'+8%

smoke-spread via common ventilation 

systems is so far removed from what 

is acceptable today that action will be 

necessary to reduce the risk it poses.

OU<>O% =+%$S"&)"+9%4')&7%")%:"11%#'#$1*%0$%

practicable to upgrade ventilation 

systems to meet current benchmark 

standards and retrospectively introduce 

6$25'+"2'1%D#$%'+8%&6.3$%8'6,$#&%

into the ducts. However, one way 

.(%#$8-2"+9%)5$%,.)$+)"'1%(.#%D#$/

&,#$'8%0$):$$+%4')&%:.-18%0$%).%D)%

"+)-6$&2$+)%D#$%8'6,$#&%).%)5$%;$+)&%

"+).%)5$%8-2)&<%F1)5.-95%)5"&%:.-18%

not restrict the spread of smoke in the 

$'#1*%&)'9$&%.(%'%D#$7%")%:.-18%,#$;$+)%

&,#$'8%.(%4'6$&%'+8%5.)%9'&$&<%

This is a reasonable approach for 

bathrooms, but is less satisfactory for 

kitchens, where there is the potential 

(.#%'%&$#".-&%D#$%"+%)5$%#..6%"+%:5"25%

)5$%;$+)%"&%1.2')$8<%=+%)5$&$%2'&$&7%)5$%

ideal solution would be to rearrange 

the ventilation to discharge directly to 

outside and not via a common duct.

56B3-1'L'>'0937+'83$+'*--*7B1:17+&

Shunt  

$S)#'2)% 

ductwork

Flat Flat

Flat

Flat

Flat

Flat

Flat

Q'"+%$S)#'2)%8-2):.#3

900 min 

(Bathrooms 

and WCs

1800 min 

Jd")25$+&L

Fire-resisting construction

BS)#'2)%9#"11$%:")5%+.+/#$)-#+%&5-))$#

Dimensions in mm. Values are 

minimum values.

Page 90



75          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

OU<>@% F9'"+7%)5$%8"(D2-1)"$&%.(%'22$&&%).%#$)#.D)%"+)-6$&2$+)%D#$%8'6,$#&%"+%'+%.22-,"$8%

01.23%.(%4')&7%,'#)"2-1'#1*%:5$#$%)5$&$%'#$%1$'&$5.18%4')&7%+$$8%).%0$%2.+&"8$#$8<

OO<%%Q$'+&%.(%$&2',$

OO<>%H5$%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%"+%'%01.23%.(%4')&%2'+%0$%2.+&"8$#$8%).%2.6,#"&$%):.%8"&)"+2)7%0-)%

obviously linked, components:

g% 6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%(#.6%'+%"+8";"8-'1%4')

g% 6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%(#.6%)5$%$S")%.(%$'25%4')7%-&"+9%)5$%2.66.+%5.#"a.+)'1%'+8%;$#)"2'1%

#.-)$&%"+%'%0-"18"+97%).%'%D+'1%$S")%1$'8"+9%).%'%,1'2$%.(%-1)"6')$%&'($)*%.-)&"8$<

O@<%%Q$'+&%.(%$&2',$%:")5"+%)5$%4')

O@<>% H5$%,#.;"&".+%.(%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%(#.6%4')&%8$,$+8&%.+%'%+-60$#%.(%('2).#&%"+21-8"+9%)5$%

5$"95)%'+8%,.&")".+%.(%)5$%4')%'+8%)5$%+-60$#%.(%4..#&%.#%1$;$1&%:")5"+%)5$%4')<%=##$&,$2)";$%.(%

)5$%8$&"9+7%&"a$%.#%1'*.-)7%)5$%"6,.#)'+)%,#"+2",1$%).%2.+&"8$#%"&%)5')%'%D#$%'+*:5$#$%:")5"+%'%

4')%&5.-18%+.)%,#$;$+)%)5$%.22-,'+)&%.(%)5')%4')%(#.6%$&2',"+9%-+'"8$8%).%'+%$S")%(#.6%)5$%4')<

 Inner rooms

O@<N% F+%"++$#%#..6%"&%'%#..6%(#.6%:5"25%$&2',$%"&%.+1*%,.&&"01$%0*%,'&&"+9%)5#.-95%'+.)5$#%

#..6%J'22$&&%#..6L<%H5$&$%&")-')".+&%2'+%2.66.+1*%.22-#%"+%1'#9$#%4')&%'+8%:"11%'1&.%

.22-#%"+%.,$+%,1'+%1'*.-)&%'+8%9'11$#"$&<%=+%'88")".+7%")%"&%+.)%-+2.66.+%(.#%)5$%.22-,'+)&%

.(%4')&%).%#$6.;$%"+)$#+'1%8..#&%.#%,'#)")".+&7%)5$#$0*%2#$')"+9%"++$#%#..6%&")-')".+&<

Figure 2 – Inner room situation

=++$#%#..6

F22$&&%#..6

Page 91



76          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

O@<V% =+%9$+$#'17%'+*%"++$#%#..6%)5')%"&%-&$8%'&%'%5'0")'01$%#..67%.)5$#%)5'+%'%3")25$+7%J$9%

'%0$8#..67%1";"+9%#..6%.#%8"+"+9%#..6L%&5.-18%0$%,#.;"8$8%:")5%'+%'1)$#+')";$%$S")%)5')%

1$'8&%).%'%,1'2$%.(%&'($)*%0$*.+8%)5$%4')<

O@<U%F%&-")'01$%'1)$#+')";$%$S")%:.-18%0$R

g% a door to an access corridor, access lobby or common balcony

g% an internal private stairway leading to another level, giving access to one of the above

g% '%8..#%).%'%2.66.+%&)'"#:'*7%$S)$#+'1%&)'"#:'*%.#%).%'+%$&2',$%#.-)$%.;$#%'%4')%#..(

g% "+%)5$%2'&$%.(%0'&$6$+)7%9#.-+8%4..#%'+8%D#&)%4..#%4')&7%'%&-")'01*%&"a$8%:"+8.:%

.#%8..#%1$'8"+9%8"#$2)1*%).%.-)&"8$%E%:5$#$%)5$%4..#%"&%+.%6.#$%)5'+%U<O%6$)#$&%J6L%

above ground level.

O@<O%F+*%$6$#9$+2*%:"+8.:%.#%8..#%&5.-18%0$%D)%(.#%,-#,.&$7%'+8%)5$%#$&"8$+)&%.(%)5$%4')%

should be able to escape unaided using the window or door to reach a place of safety. 

=+%2"#2-6&)'+2$&%:5$#$%)5$%#$&"8$+)&%'#$%.18$#7%6.0"1")*%"6,'"#$8%.#%8"&'01$87%)5$*%6'*%

+.)%0$%'01$%).%-&$%)5$%'1)$#+')";$%$S")7%,'#)"2-1'#1*%'%:"+8.:%$S")<%F88")".+'1%6$'&-#$&%

6'*%0$%#$G-"#$8%.#%#$&)#"2)".+&%,1'2$8%.+%.22-,'+2*<%F%&,$2"D2')".+%(.#%'+%$6$#9$+2*%

$&2',$%:"+8.:%"&%9";$+%"+%F,,#.;$8%].2-6$+)%^<

O@<@%H5$%,#.;"&".+%.(%'1)$#+')";$%$S")&%;"'%1"+3"+9%0'12.+"$&7%,'&&/8..#&%0$):$$+%'8T."+"+9%

4')&%'+8%0#$'3/.-)%,'+$1&%:")5"+%)5$%4')%5'&%($')-#$8%"+%,#$;".-&%9-"8'+2$%'+8%2'+%

0$%(.-+8%"+%6'+*%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&<%P.:$;$#7%)5$&$%'##'+9$6$+)&%'#$%+.%1.+9$#%

#$2.66$+8$8%J&$$%O@<NXL<

O@<X%_5$#$%+.+$%.(%)5$%'0.;$%'##'+9$6$+)&%'#$%,#'2)"2'01$7%'%D#$%$+9"+$$#"+9%&.1-)".+%

0'&$8%.+%'-).6')"2%D#$%8$)$2)".+%'+8%'%&,#"+31$#7%.#%.)5$#%&-")'01$%DS$8%'-).6')"2%

suppression system, could be considered. However, in this case, the access room 

should not be a kitchen.

 5"*+&'?6+9'7#')##-':#-1'+9*7'QIY:'*!#C1'B-#378'#-'*$$1&&'"1C1"

O@<`%\-##$+)%0$+256'#3%8$&"9+%9-"8'+2$%(.#%+$:%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&%#$2.66$+8&%

the following.

g% K"+91$%&).#$*%4')&%.+%9#.-+8%.#%D#&)/4..#%1$;$1&R%'11%5'0")'01$%#..6&7%$S2$,)%3")25$+&7%

&5.-18%.,$+%8"#$2)1*%.+).%'%5'11:'*%1$'8"+9%).%)5$%$+)#'+2$%8..#%.#%'+%'1)$#+')";$%$S")7%

or be provided with an escape window or door.

g% =+%4')&%.+%):.%1$;$1&R%.+%)5$%9#.-+8%4..#7%'11%5'0")'01$%#..6&7%$S2$,)%3")25$+&7%&5.-18%

.,$+%8"#$2)1*%.+).%'%5'11:'*%1$'8"+9%).%)5$%$+)#'+2$%8..#%.#%'+%'1)$#+')";$%$S")7%.#%0$%

,#.;"8$8%:")5%'+%$&2',$%:"+8.:%.#%8..#<%M+%)5$%D#&)%4..#7%'11%5'0")'01$%#..6&7%$S2$,)%

3")25$+&7%&5.-18%0$%,#.;"8$8%:")5%'+%'1)$#+')";$%$S")%;"'%'+%$&2',$%:"+8.:%.#%8..#7%.#%

.,$+%8"#$2)1*%.+).%'+%"+)$#+'1%,#.)$2)$8%&)'"#:'*%1$'8"+9%).%'+%$S")<

Page 92



77          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

O@<?% =+%4')&%.+%):.%1$;$1&7%'%&"+91$%'1)$#+')";$%$S")%2'+%&$#;$%):.%#..6&%.+%)5$%-,,$#%1$;$17%

provided that:

g% each room has a door which opens onto the stairway

g% a pass door is provided between the two rooms, so that the occupants do not have to 

pass through the stairway enclosure or inner lobby to reach the alternative.

O@<>A% =+%'%4')%.+%):.%1$;$1&7%)5$%,#.;"&".+%.(%'1)$#+')";$%$S")&%(#.6%$'25%#..6%"&%'%#$1')";$1*%+$:%

8$&"9+%,#"+2",1$<%H5$#$%:"11%0$%6'+*%4')&%:5$#$%)5$%.22-,'+)&%.(%5'0")'01$%#..6&%6'*%

+$$8%).%'22$&&%)5$%-+,#.)$2)$8%&)'"#:'*%'+8%5'11:'*%).%#$'25%'+%$S")%(#.6%)5$%4')<%e#.;"8$8%

that there are smoke alarms on each level (see later), this arrangement is considered to 

be acceptable in most circumstances. However, where occupants are considered to be 

,'#)"2-1'#1*%;-1+$#'01$%).%D#$7%)5$%1.-+9$%'+8%3")25$+%8..#&%&5.-18%0$%D#$/#$&"&)"+9<

' 067B"1K&+#-1=')*+&'"#$*+18':#-1'+9*7'QIY:'*!#C1'B-#378'#-'*$$1&&'"1C1"

O@<>>% H5$#$%'#$%)5#$$%2.66.+1*%'22$,)'01$%',,#.'25$&%).%,#.;"8"+9%'8$G-')$%6$'+&%.(%

$&2',$%(#.6%4')&%:5$#$%'11%#..6&%'+8%)5$%$+)#'+2$%8..#%'#$%.+%'%&"+91$%1$;$1<%H5$&$%

are:

g% 1"6")%)5$%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$%:")5"+%)5$%4')

g% provide a protected entrance hall

g% ,#.;"8$%'+%'1)$#+')";$%$S")<

 5"*+&'?6+9'"6:6+18'+-*C1"'86&+*7$1

O@<>N% H5$%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$%(#.6%'+*%,."+)%"+%'%

5'0")'01$%#..6%).%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#%

is limited. This reduces the chance that 

residents could become trapped in the 

$;$+)%.(%'%D#$%J&$$%D9-#$%VL<

O@<>V% \-##$+)%8$&"9+%9-"8'+2$%(.#%4')&%:")5%

limited travel distance is as follows.

g% The travel distance from any point in 

'%5'0")'01$%#..6%).%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%

door should be limited to 9m.

g% Cooking facilities should be remote 

from the entrance door and should 

+.)%,#$T-8"2$%)5$%$&2',$%#.-)$%(#.6%

'+*%,."+)%"+%)5$%4')<

56B3-1'P'>'5"*+'?6+9'"6:6+18'

+-*C1"'86&+*7$1

Page 93



78          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

O@<>U% H5$%'22$,)'0"1")*%.(%8$,'#)-#$&%(#.6%)5$%2-##$+)%0$+256'#3&%'0.;$%&5.-18%)'3$%

'22.-+)%.(%)5$%"+8";"8-'1%2"#2-6&)'+2$&%"+%)5$%4')7%"+21-8"+9%&.2"'1%('2).#&%'+8%

lifestyles of the residents. Slightly increased travel distances of, say, an additional 3m 

might not require any additional measures. However, other approaches, or additional 

2.6,$+&').#*%6$'&-#$&7%'#$%1"3$1*%).%0$%+$2$&&'#*%"(%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$&%"+%$S2$&&%.(%)5"&%

are involved.

O@<>O% \.6,$+&').#*%6$'&-#$&%6"95)%"+21-8$%"+2#$'&$8%1$;$1&%.(%'-).6')"2%8$)$2)".+%'+8%

D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&%).%'+*%3")25$+%.#%1.-+9$<

' 5"*+&'?6+9';-#+1$+18'17+-*7$1'9*""

O@<>@% _")5%'%,#.)$2)$8%$+)#'+2$%5'117%)5$%$&2',$%#.-)$%:")5"+%)5$%4')%&5.-18%#$6'"+%#$1')";$1*%

&6.3$%(#$$%"+%)5$%$'#1*%&)'9$&%.(%'%D#$%"+%'%#..6<%^-)7%'&%'+%'88")".+'1%&'($9-'#87%)5$%

1$+9)5%.(%)#';$1%"+%)5$%$+)#'+2$%5'11%"&%1"6")$8%J&$$%D9-#$%UL<

O@<>X% \-##$+)%8$&"9+%9-"8'+2$%(.#%4')&%

with protected entrance halls is as 

follows.

g% F11%5'0")'01$%#..6&%&5.-18%.,$+%

onto the entrance hall.

g% The travel distance between a 

door to a habitable room and the 

$+)#'+2$%8..#%).%)5$%4')%&5.-18%

be limited to 9m.

g% The entrance hall should be a 

protected route, with 30-minute 

D#$/#$&"&)"+9%2.+&)#-2)".+%'+8%

NA/6"+-)$%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&<

O@<>`% K1"95)1*%"+2#$'&$8%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$&%

of, say, an additional 3m might not 

require any additional measures. 

However, if travel distances in 

$S2$&&%.(%)5"&%'#$%"+;.1;$87%.)5$#%

approaches, or compensatory 

measures, are likely to be 

+$2$&&'#*<%!.#%$S'6,1$7%'-).6')"2%

detection should be provided in the 

3")25$+%'+8%1";"+9%#..6<%=+%$S)#$6$%

cases, automatic detection might 

also be provided in bedrooms.

56B3-1'Q'>'5"*+'?6+9'*';-#+1$+18'

17+-*7$1'9*""

Page 94



79          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

O@<>?% =+%.18$#%01.23&%.(%4')&7%")%"&%+.)%-+-&-'1%).%D+8%)5')%.+1*%)5$%,'#)")".+&%'+8%8..#&%).%

3")25$+&%'+8%1";"+9%#..6&%'#$%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%J&$$%F,,$+8"S%>L<%_5$)5$#%)5$#$%"&%'%+$$8%

to upgrade doors and partitions to bedrooms in these circumstances will depend on the 

.;$#'11%#"&3<%!.#%$S'6,1$7%)5"&%6'*%+.)%0$%+$2$&&'#*%:5$#$%)5$%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$%"+%)5$%

entrance hall is no more than 12m and automatic detection is provided in the hallway 

.(%)5$%4')<%_5$#$%)5$%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$%"&%"+%$S2$&&%.(%>N67%'88")".+'1%'-).6')"2%8$)$2)".+%

should be installed in the living room and kitchen, and, either all doors onto the hallway 

&5.-18%0$%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&%.#%(-#)5$#%'-).6')"2%8$)$2)".+%&5.-18%0$%"+&)'11$8%).%2.;$#%

all other rooms, including bedrooms (but not toilets and bathrooms).

O@<NA% !"))"+9%&$1(/21.&"+9%8$;"2$&%).%"+)$#+'1%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&%)5')%.,$+%.+).%,#.)$2)$8%

$+)#'+2$%5'11&%:'&%'%+.#6'1%#$G-"#$6$+)%.(%,#$;".-&%0$+256'#3%&)'+8'#8&<%=+%6'+*%

cases, in older blocks, these would have been rising butt hinges, which, over the years, 

have often become ineffective. 

O@<N>% !"))"+9%&$1(/21.&"+9%8$;"2$&%).%"+)$#+'1%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&%"+%4')&%"&%+.%1.+9$#%

recommended in the latest guidance to the Building Regulations. This, in part, is in 

recognition of the fact that many residents remove these devices or hold doors open. 

The emphasis today is on educating residents to close these doors when people are 

sleeping.

O@<NN% H5"&%)5$+%#'"&$&%)5$%G-$&)".+%'&%).%:5$)5$#%.#%+.)%"+)$#+'1%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&%)5')%:$#$%

originally required to have self-closing devices should have these devices reinstated to 

meet the standard of the day.

O@<NV% =+%9$+$#'17%")%:.-18%&$$6%"+',,#.,#"')$%).%#$G-"#$%8..#&%).%0$%&$1(/21.&"+97%,#.;"8"+9%

the other current benchmark standards for means of escape can be achieved. However, 

'&%'%(-#)5$#%2.6,$+&')"+9%($')-#$%(.#%$S2$&&";$%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$7%2.+&"8$#')".+%6"95)%0$%

9";$+%).%D))"+9%,.&")";$%'2)".+7%&$1(/21.&"+9%8$;"2$&%).%5"95%5'a'#8%#..6&7%$9%)5$%3")25$+%

and living room, particularly where the latter are closer to the entrance door than the 

bedrooms.

O@<NU% =)%"&%+.)%-+2.66.+%).%D+8%"+%&.6$%2"#2-6&)'+2$&%)5')%#$&"8$+)&%5';$%$")5$#%25'+9$8%

"+)$#+'1%D#$%8..#&%).%+.+/D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&%.#%5';$%#$6.;$8%8..#&%'+87%"+%&.6$%

2'&$&7%,'#)")".+&7%'1).9$)5$#7%)5-&%2#$')"+9%"++$#%#..6&<%I$"+&)')"+9%)5$%D#$%8..#&%'+8%

partitions will ensure adequate means of escape. This may be necessary to protect the 

common means of escape where there is dependence on the protection of the internal 

hallway to safeguard the communal escape routes.

Page 95



80          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

' 5"*+&'?6+9'*7'*"+1-7*+6C1'1S6+

O@<NO% \-##$+)%8$&"9+%9-"8'+2$%(.#%4')&%:")5%'1)$#+')";$%$S")&%"&%'&%(.11.:&<

g% F1)$#+')";$%$S")&%&5.-18%0$%#$6.)$%(#.6%)5$%$+)#'+2$%8..#<

g% H5$%'1)$#+')";$%$S")%&5.-18%1$'8%).%'%D+'1%$S")%.#%2.66.+%&)'"#:'*<

g% i'#".-&%'1)$#+')";$%$S")%#.-)$&%'#$%'22$,)'01$%"+21-8"+9%'%2.66.+%2.##"8.#7%1.00*%.#%

balcony leading to a common stairway, an internal private stairway leading to common 

,'#)&%.+%'+.)5$#%1$;$1j%'+%$S)$#+'1%&)'"#:'*%'+8%'+%$&2',$%#.-)$%.;$#%'%4')%#..(<

O@<N@% !1')&%,#.;"8$8%:")5%'1)$#+')";$%

$S")&%&5.-18%'11.:%'22$&&%(#.6%'11%

habitable rooms to both the main 

$+)#'+2$%8..#%'+8%'+%'1)$#+')";$%$S")<%

=+)$#+'1%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%,'#)")".+&%6'*%

be required between living areas 

and bedrooms particularly where 

habitable rooms (bedrooms) do not 

have direct access to the entrance 

5'11<%JK$$%D9-#$%O<L

O@<NX% B&2',$%;"'%1"+3"+9%0'12.+"$&7%.#%

pass doors between neighbouring 

4')&7%:'&%'%2.66.+1*%'22$,)$8%

alternative escape arrangement 

under previous benchmark standards 

'+8%2'+%0$%(.-+8%"+%6'+*%$S"&)"+9%

01.23&%.(%4')&<%P.:$;$#7%)5$&$%

arrangements are no longer 

recommended for the design of new 

4')&<%=+%6.&)%.(%)5$&$%&")-')".+&7%

the linking balcony, and pass doors, 

were shared by the residents of 

):.%'8T."+"+9%4')&<%=+%&.6$%.)5$#%

&")-')".+&7%6.#$%)5'+%):.%4')&%&5'#$8%

the linking balcony but, in all cases, 

there was a need to gain access 

"+).%'%+$"950.-#Z&%4')%).%#$'25%'+%

'1)$#+')";$%$S")%#.-)$<

56B3-1'Y'>'5"*+'?6+9'*7'*"+1-7*+6C1'

1S6+H'!3+'?91-1'*""'9*!6+*!"1'-##:&'

9*C1'7#'86-1$+'*$$1&&'+#'*7'

17+-*7$1'9*""

Page 96



81          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

O@<N`% H5$%8"(D2-1)"$&%.(%$+&-#"+9%'22$&&%"+).7%'+8%$S")%(#.67%'+%'8T."+"+9%4')%).%#$'25%'+%

'1)$#+')";$%$S")%'#$%.0;".-&%'+8%2'++.)%0$%#$1"$8%.+%:")5%'+*%8$9#$$%.(%2$#)'"+)*%).%0$%

available at all times.

O@<N?% ]$&,")$%)5$%'0.;$7%"+%6'+*%$S"&)"+9%4')&7%)5$%,#.;"&".+%.(%.)5$#7%6.#$%&-")'01$%

'1)$#+')";$%$S")%#.-)$&7%&-25%'&%2.66.+%0'12.+"$&%.#%&)'"#:'*&7%:"11%0$%"6,#'2)"2'1%

).%'25"$;$<%=+%)5$&$%&")-')".+&7%$")5$#%.+$%.(%)5$%.)5$#%):.%',,#.'25$&%J1"6")$8%)#';$1%

distance or protected entrance hallway) should be adopted, or compensatory measures 

will need to be considered. The latter include:

g% ,'&&%8..#&%0$):$$+%"+)$#+'1%#..6&%).%'22$&&%'%,#.)$2)$8%$S")%#.-)$

g% additional automatic detection to a Category LD2 or even LD1 standard

g% '%&,#"+31$#7%.#%.)5$#%&-")'01$%DS$8%'-).6')"2%&-,,#$&&".+7%&*&)$6<

O@<VA% P.:$;$#7%)5$#$%6'*%0$%2"#2-6&)'+2$&%:5$#$7%$;$+%:")5%)5$&$%'88")".+'1%6$'&-#$&7%

the access to the linking balcony or the pass doors might still be retained for use as a 

last resort.

' 5"*+&'?6+9':#-1'+9*7'#71'&+#-1=H'?6+9'*')##-'*+':#-1'+9*7'QIY:'*!#C1'B-#378'

"1C1"

O@<V>% H5$%"+)$#+'1%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%(#.6%4')&%:")5%6.#$%)5'+%.+$%&).#$*%J$9%6'"&.+$))$&%

'+8%2#.&&/.;$#%4')&L7%:")5%'%4..#%')%6.#$%)5'+%U<O6%'0.;$%9#.-+8%1$;$17%,#.;"8$%

'88")".+'1%"&&-$&%).%)5.&$%$+2.-+)$#$8%"+%4')&%.+%.+$%1$;$1<%b$;$#)5$1$&&7%)5$%0'&"2%

',,#.'25$&%.(%,#.;"8"+9%$")5$#%'%,#.)$2)$8%$S")%#.-)$%.#%'+%'1)$#+')";$%$S")%#$6'"+%)5$%

same.

O@<VN% \-##$+)%0$+256'#3%8$&"9+%9-"8'+2$%#$2.66$+8&%(.-#%',,#.'25$&%).%)5$%,1'++"+9%.(%

6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%(#.6%)5$&$%4')&R

"<% ,#.;"8$%'+%'1)$#+')";$%$S")%(#.6%$'25%5'0")'01$%#..6%)5')%"&%+.)%.+%)5$%$+)#'+2$%1$;$1

""<% ,#.;"8$%'%&"+91$%'1)$#+')";$%$S")%(#.6%$'25%1$;$17%.)5$#%)5'+%)5$%$+)#'+2$%1$;$17%'+8%

provide a protected landing and hallway

iii. provide a protected route and install additional automatic detection

iv. provide a protected route and install an automatic suppression system.

Page 97



82          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

O@<VV% H5$%D#&)%&.1-)".+%J"L%"&%)5')%'11%5'0")'01$%

rooms not on the entrance level should 

0$%,#.;"8$8%:")5%'+%'1)$#+')";$%$S")%

J&$$%D9-#$%@L<%H5$%&)'"#:'*%1'+8"+9%"&%

not required to be protected in these 

situations. The entrance hall is only 

#$G-"#$8%).%0$%,#.)$2)$8%"(%)5$%6'S"6-6%

travel distance from any point in a room 

).%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#%"&%6.#$%)5'+%

?6%'+8%)5$#$%'#$%+.%'1)$#+')";$%$S")&%

from each of the rooms on that level.

O@<VU% H5$%&$2.+8%&.1-)".+%J""L%"&%).%,#.;"8$%

'%&"+91$%'1)$#+')";$%$S")%.+%)5$%+.+/

entrance level, either within a room or 

on the landing. This could be accepted 

in any of the following situations.

g% F11%5'0")'01$%#..6&%.,$+%8"#$2)1*%.+).%

a protected entrance hall and landing 

J&$$%D9-#$%XL<

g% F%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%,'#)")".+%"&%,#.;"8$8%

at the head or base of the stairway 

to separate the entrance level from 

)5$%1$;$1%:")5%)5$%'1)$#+')";$%$S")<%

(The landing need not be protected 

,#.;"8$8%)5$%6'S"6-6%8"&)'+2$%

between any point in a room on the 

non-entrance level and the alternative 

$S")%8.$&%+.)%$S2$$8%?6<L

g% H5$%'1)$#+')";$%$S")%"&%:")5"+%'%#..6%

on the non-entrance level. Pass 

doors are provided between habitable 

rooms on this level, so that residents 

do not have to enter the stairway 

$+21.&-#$%).%#$'25%'+%'1)$#+')";$%$S")<

O@<VO% =+%&.6$%$S"&)"+9%4')&7%+.+$%.(%)5$%

'0.;$%&.1-)".+&%6'*%0$%($'&"01$<%=+%)5$&$%&")-')".+&7%'+%'1)$#+')";$%.,)".+%2.-18%0$%).%

,#.;"8$%'%,#.)$2)$8%#.-)$%.+1*%.+%)5$%$+)#'+2$%1$;$1<%=)%6"95)%+.)%0$%+$2$&&'#*%(.#%)5$#$%

).%0$%'%,#.)$2)$8%1'+8"+97%,#.;"8$8%)5$%6'S"6-6%8"&)'+2$%0$):$$+%'+*%,."+)%"+%'%#..6%

.+%)5$%+.+/$+)#'+2$%1$;$1%'+8%)5$%'1)$#+')";$%$S")%8.$&%+.)%$S2$$8%?6<

56B3-1'Z'>'F3"+6'&+#-1=')*+'?6+9'

*"+1-7*+6C1'1S6+&H'(-#:'1*$9'

9*!6+*!"1'-##:H'1S$1;+'*+'17+-*7$1'

"1C1"

Page 98



83          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

O@<V@% \#.&&/.;$#%4')&%2'+%&.6$)"6$&%

present particular problems because 

.(%)5$%2.6,1$S")*%.(%8$&"9+%'+8%1'*.-)<%

\#.&&/.;$#%4')&%'#$%4')&%.+%6.#$%)5'+%

one level and the principles set out 

above can be applied. However, the 

2.6,1$S")*%.(%)5"&%'##'+9$6$+)%:"11%

require careful consideration of the 

means of escape, and specialist advice 

may need to be sought.

O@<VX% H5$%)5"#8%&.1-)".+%J"""L%"&%).%,#.;"8$%'%

protected route and to install additional 

'-).6')"2%D#$%8$)$2)".+<%H5"&%',,1"$&%

).%4')&%:5$#$%)5$%;$#)"2'1%8"&)'+2$%

between the entrance level of the 

4')%'+8%'+*%4..#&%'0.;$%.#%0$1.:%

8.$&%+.)%$S2$$8%X<O6<%H5$%$+)#'+2$%

hall, stairway and landing should 

be a protected route and additional 

automatic detection, in all rooms (other 

than toilets or bathrooms), should be 

provided (a Category LD1 system as 

8$D+$8%"+%^K%O`V?/@L<

O@<V`% H5$%(.-#)5%.,)".+%J";L%"&%).%,#.;"8$%'%

protected route and install an automatic 

suppression system. The entrance 

hall, stairway and landing should 

0$%'%,#.)$2)$8%#.-)$<%F%&,#"+31$#%.#%

water mist system should be installed 

)5#.-95.-)%)5$%4')7%).9$)5$#%:")5%'+%

automatic detection in the circulation 

spaces (a Category LD3 system as 

8$D+$8%"+%^K%O`V?/@L<

56B3-1'['>'F3"+6K&+#-1=')*+'?6+9'

;-#+1$+18'17+-*7$1'9*""'*78'

landing

Page 99



84          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

57.  Escape routes within the common parts

OX<>%B&2',$%#.-)$&%(#.6%'%4')%).%-1)"6')$%&'($)*%.-)&"8$%)5$%0-"18"+9%#$1*%.+%-&"+9%)5$%

common parts. There are two elements to this:

g% 5.#"a.+)'1%$&2',$%(#.6%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#%).%'%&)'"#:'*

g% ;$#)"2'1%$&2',$%;"'%'%&)'"#:'*%1$'8"+9%).%'%D+'1%$S")<

OX<N%F8$G-')$%1$;$1&%.(%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%+$$8%).%0$%,#.;"8$8%).%)5$%2.66-+'1%$&2',$%#.-)$&%

&.%)5')%&6.3$%'+8%5$')%(#.6%'%D#$%"+%'%4')%.#%'+2"11'#*%#..6%:"11%+.)%,#$T-8"2$%-&$%.(%)5$%

2.##"8.#&7%1.00"$&7%$S)$#+'1%0'12.+"$&%.#%&)'"#:'*&<%H5"&%:"11%"+21-8$%,#.;"&".+&%).%$+&-#$%

that the common escape routes remain relatively smoke free and safe to use in the 

$;$+)%.(%'%D#$<

OX<V% =+%9$+$#'17%"+%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&7%).%'22$&&%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&7%")%"&%+$2$&&'#*%

).%-&$%$")5$#%'+%"+)$#+'1%2.##"8.#%.#%1.00*7%.#%'+%$S)$#+'1%0'12.+*%.#%8$237%.((%'%2.66.+%

stairway. The provisions required to safeguard the escape routes in each of these 

scenarios will vary.

O`<%%B&2',$%(#.6%4')&%:")5%"+)$#+'1%2.##"8.#%.#%1.00*%',,#.'25

58.1 Current benchmark design guidance recommends two methods of ensuring that the 

5.#"a.+)'1%$&2',$%#.-)$&%2'+%0$%&'($1*%-&$8%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%'%D#$<%H5$&$%'#$R

g% provide protected corridors and lobbies leading to a stairway and limit the distance of 

5.#"a.+)'1%)#';$1

g% ,#.;"8$%"+8$,$+8$+)%'1)$#+')";$%$&2',$%#.-)$&%(#.6%$'25%4')7%$")5$#%0*%:'*%.(%'%

2.66.+%"+)$#+'1%2.##"8.#%')%'+.)5$#%1$;$1%.#%0*%'+%$S)$#+'1%2.66.+%0'12.+*7%"+%0.)5%

cases leading to a stairway.

 Protected corridors or lobbies

58.2 The corridors and lobbies used for means of escape need to be protected routes ie 

$+21.&$8%"+%2.+&)#-2)".+%:")5%')%1$'&)%VA%6"+-)$&%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$<%F&%8"&2-&&$8%$'#1"$#7%

:'11&%0$):$$+%4')&%'+8%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%+$$8%).%0$%2.6,'#)6$+)%:'11&%'+87%'&%

&-257%:"11%,#.;"8$%)5$%+$2$&&'#*%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$<%F+2"11'#*%#..6&7%#"&$#&%'+8%.)5$#%'#$'&%

opening onto corridors and lobbies also need to provide this protection.

O`<V%]..#&%(#.6%'+2"11'#*%#..6&7%'&%:$11%'&%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&7%+$$8%).%0$%D#$/#$&"&)"+9<%

The current benchmark for doors opening into internal corridors and lobbies should be 

2','01$%.(%,#.;"8"+9%VA%6"+-)$&%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%'+8%E%:")5%)5$%$S2$,)".+%.(%#"&$#&%'+8%

'+2"11'#*%#..6&%E%)5$%8..#&%+$$8%).%0$%&$1(/21.&"+9<

 

Page 100



85          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

 Stairways

O`<U%K)'"#:'*&%+$$8%0$%$+21.&$8%"+%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%2.+&)#-2)".+%).%6"+"6"&$%)5$%#"&3%.(%

4'6$&%'+8%&6.3$%$+)$#"+9%)5$%&)'"#:'*&%:5"1$%)5$*%'#$%0$"+9%-&$8%(.#%$&2',$<%F9'"+7%

)5$%2-##$+)%0$+256'#3%(.#%8..#&%"&%)5')%)5$*%0$%2','01$%.(%,#.;"8"+9%VA/6"+-)$%D#$%

resistance and be self-closing.

O`<O%K)'"#:'*&%&5.-18%1$'8%8"#$2)1*%).%'%D+'1%$S")7%.#%).%'%,#.)$2)$8%#.-)$%1$'8"+9%).%'%D+'1%

$S")<%H5$%&)'"#:'*&%&5.-18%+.)%2.+)'"+%'+*%&"9+"D2'+)%D#$%5'a'#8&%'+8%&5.-187%"8$'11*7%

+.)%2.+)'"+%'+*)5"+9%.)5$#%)5'+%1"()&%.#%,#.)$2)$8%$1$2)#"2'1%6$)$#%2-,0.'#8&<%=8$'11*7%9'&%

installations should not be located within protected stairways.

O`<@% =)%"&%-+1"3$1*%)5')%)5$%:"8)5%.(%&)'"#:'*&%:"11%0$%'%&"9+"D2'+)%"&&-$%:")5%#$9'#8%).%)5$"#%

capacity for use for escape, as there is normally no requirement for simultaneous 

$;'2-')".+%.(%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&<%H5$#$(.#$7%)5$%+-60$#%.(%,$.,1$%$S,$2)$8%

).%-&$%'%&)'"#:'*%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%'%D#$%:"11%0$%1"6")$8<%_"8)5&%.(%>7AAA%6"11"6$)#$&%J66L%

:.-18%+.#6'11*%0$%2.+&"8$#$8%'8$G-')$%(.#%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%"+%6.&)%2'&$&<%=+8$$87%

+'##.:$#%&)'"#:'*&%6'*%:$11%0$%(.-+8%"+%&.6$%$S"&)"+9%0-"18"+9&7%'+8%)5$&$%:"11%

generally be acceptable depending on the circumstances.

O`<X% =+%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*%0-"18"+9&7%.)5$#%)5'+%"+%&6'11%01.23&%.(%4')&%J1$&&%)5'+%(.-#%&).#$*&L7%)5$%

&)'"#:'*%&5.-187%"8$'11*7%+.)%2.+)"+-$%8.:+%).%&$#;$%'%0'&$6$+)%.#%$+21.&$8%2'#%,'#3<%=+%

multiple stairway buildings, where the stairways serve basements and car parks, one of the 

&)'"#:'*&%&5.-187%,#$($#'01*7%0$%)$#6"+')$8%')%9#.-+8%1$;$1<%M)5$#%&)'"#:'*&%6'*%$S)$+8%).%

serve basements, providing they have lobby or corridor protection at basement level.

O`<`%BS2$,)%"+%&6'11%01.23&%.(%4')&7%'%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*%&5.-187%"8$'11*7%+.)%&$#;$%'+*%0."1$#%

#..67%(-$1%&).#'9$%#..6%.#%.)5$#%&"6"1'#%5"95/#"&3%'+2"11'#*%#..6&<%=+%6-1)",1$%&)'"#:'*%

01.23&%.(%4')&7%)5$%'+2"11'#*%#..6&%&5.-187%+.#6'11*7%0$%&$,'#')$8%(#.6%)5$%&)'"#:'*&%0*%

a protected lobby or corridor.

 Smoke control

O`<?%^.)5%2-##$+)%8$&"9+%9-"8'+2$%'+8%,#$;".-&%&)'+8'#8&%(.#%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&%

recommend that measures be provided to ensure that escape routes remain free of 

smoke. However, different approaches have been employed in order to achieve this, 

and, indeed, the philosophy behind smoke control design has changed over the years.

58.10 The current benchmark design guidance is based on using smoke control to protect 

the common stairways. While this might afford some protection to the corridors and other 

5.#"a.+)'1%#.-)$&7%)5"&%"&%+.)%)5$%8$&"9+%"+)$+)<%H5$%$6,5'&"&%"+%,#$;".-&%8$&"9+%9-"8'+2$%

5'&%0$$+%.+%,#.)$2)"+9%+.)%.+1*%)5$%&)'"#:'*&7%0-)%'1&.%)5$%$+)"#$%5.#"a.+)'1%#.-)$%).%)5$6<

58.11 The current approach is that of smoke containment, with ventilation of lobbies and 

2.##"8.#&%:5$#$%)5$*%'8T."+%'%&)'"#:'*<%H5')%;$+)"1')".+%2'+%0$%'25"$;$8%0*%+')-#'1%.#%

mechanical means. 

Page 101



86          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

O`<>N% b')-#'1%;$+)"1')".+7%$")5$#%8"#$2)%).%

open air or via smoke shafts that rise 

up through the building, involves the 

provision of vents or windows, usually 

of minimum free area of 1.5 metres 

squared (m2). These can be:

g% permanently open vents (PVs), as 

recommended in some previous 

design guides

g% manually openable vents (OVs) 

g% '-).6')"2'11*%.,$+"+9%;$+)&%JFMi&L<

 The latter is operated by smoke detectors 

,#.;"8$8%&,$2"D2'11*%(.#%)5"&%,-#,.&$<%H5$%

6$)5.8%.(%.,$#')".+%$6,1.*$8%"&%8$,$+8$+)%.+%)5$%8$&"9+%.(%)5$%01.23%.(%4')&<

O`<>V% \-##$+)%9-"8'+2$%&)')$&%)5')%;$+)&%"+%1.00"$&%.#%2.##"8.#&%'8T."+"+9%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*&%

&5.-18%0$%.,$#')$8%'-).6')"2'11*%JFMi&L<%=+%6-1)",1$%&)'"#:'*%01.23&7%6'+-'11*%

.,$+'01$%;$+)&%:"11%&-(D2$<

58.14 Protected stairways also need means to ventilate any smoke that may enter the 

&)'"#:'*%8-#"+9%$;'2-')".+%.#%D#$%D95)"+9%'+8%'11.:%'%#.-)$%(.#%'"#%).%#$'25%;$+)"1')$8%

1.00"$&%'+8%2.##"8.#&<%F%;$+)%.(%')%1$'&)%>62 needs to be provided at the head of the 

&)'"#:'*%(.#%)5"&<%\-##$+)%9-"8'+2$%&)')$&%)5')7%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&%:")5%6.#$%)5'+%.+$%

$&2',$%&)'"#:'*7%)5"&%;$+)%2'+%0$%.,$+$8%6'+-'11*<%^-)7%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&%:")5%'%&"+91$%

&)'"#:'*7%")%"&%#$2.66$+8$8%)5')%)5$%;$+)%"&%.,$#')$8%'-).6')"2'11*%J'+%FMiL<

O`<>O% Q$25'+"2'1%;$+)"1')".+%&*&)$6&%2'+%'25"$;$%)5$%&'6$%.0T$2)";$%"+%,#.)$2)"+9%'%&)'"#:'*%

'+87%"+%&.6$%#$&,$2)&<%Q.#$%$(($2)";$1*7%9";$+%)5')%)5$*%'#$%1$&&%"+4-$+2$8%0*%:"+8%

effects. These usually comprise pressurisation systems to keep smoke out of the stairway.

O`<>@% F%(-#)5$#%,'#)%.(%)5$%2.+)'"+6$+)%,#"+2",1$%"&%)5$%&-08";"&".+%.(%2.##"8.#&%1"+3"+9%

stairways and the separation of any dead-end sections from the rest of the corridor. This 

is to ensure that smoke will not affect access to more than one stairway or, in the case 

of the dead ends, affect access to the nearest stairway.

' 03-(*$1'D76&91&'67'$#::#7'1&$*;1'-#3+1&

O`<>X% H5$%&-#('2$%D+"&5$&%.(%:'11&%'+8%2$"1"+9&%"+%$&2',$%2.##"8.#&7%1.00"$&%'+8%&)'"#:'*&%2'+%

&"9+"D2'+)1*%'(($2)%)5$%#')$%.(%D#$/&,#$'8%'+8%2.+)#"0-)$%).%)5$%8$;$1.,6$+)%.(%'%D#$<%=)%"&7%

)5$#$(.#$7%"6,.#)'+)%).%2.+)#.1%)5$%D#$%,$#(.#6'+2$%.(%1"+"+9&%:")5"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&<

O`<>`% \.60-&)"01$%&-#('2$%D+"&5$&%&5.-18%+.)%0$%,$#6"))$8%"+%$&2',$%2.##"8.#&7%1.00"$&%.#%

stairways. Products and materials that will afford a ‘Class 0’ (or European class B-s3, d2) 

Page 102



87          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

,$#(.#6'+2$%'#$%+.#6'11*%+$2$&&'#*%(.#%-&$%"+%)5$%2.66.+%'#$'&%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&<%H5"&%"&%

'%21'&&"D2')".+%8$D+$8%"+%F,,#.;$8%].2-6$+)%^<

O`<>?% =+%9$+$#'17%:5$#$%'%:'11%.#%2$"1"+9%"&%2.+&)#-2)$8%.(%+.+/2.60-&)"01$%6')$#"'1&7%&-25%

'&%6'&.+#*7%0#"237%2.+2#$)$%.#%,1'&)$#0.'#87%.#%5'&%,1'&)$#%D+"&5$&7%)5$%D#$%,$#(.#6'+2$%

characteristics will be acceptable in the common escape routes.

O`<NA% P.:$;$#7%"+%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&7%")%"&%.()$+%8"(D2-1)%).%"8$+)"(*%)5$%21'&&"D2')".+%.(%

$S"&)"+9%&-#('2$%D+"&5$&7%,'#)"2-1'#1*%"(%)5$%6')$#"'1&%-&$8%'#$%+.)%.0;".-&<%B;$+%)5.&$%

D+"&5$&%+.#6'11*%2.+&"8$#$8%'22$,)'01$%6'*%5';$%0$$+%&-0T$2)%).%6'+*%"+&)'+2$&%.(%

.;$#/,'"+)"+9<%H5"&%2'+%'(($2)%)5$"#%,$#(.#6'+2$%:5$+%$S,.&$8%).%D#$<

O`<N>% Q-1)",1$%1'*$#&%.(%,'"+)%5';$7%.;$#%)5$%*$'#&7%0$$+%',,1"$8%).%:'11&%'+8%2$"1"+9&%"+%)5$%

2.66.+%,'#)&%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&<%H5$%0-"18/-,%.(%,'"+)%1'*$#&%2'+%9";$%#"&$%).%#',"8%D#$/

&,#$'8<%=+%)5$&$%&")-')".+&7%:5$#$%)5$%#"&3%"&%2.+&"8$#$8%&"9+"D2'+)7%'2)".+%&5.-18%0$%

taken to remove or treat the paint. Proprietary products are available that can be used 

).%)#$')%)5$%&-#('2$&%).%,#.;"8$%'%,#.)$2)";$%.-)$#%2.')"+9%)5')%:"11%#$8-2$%)5$%$S)$+)%.(%

D#$/&,#$'8<%H#$')6$+)&%'#$%'1&.%';'"1'01$%(.#%)"60$#%1"+"+9&<

58.22 False ceilings can sometimes be found in the common corridors and lobbies of 

01.23&%.(%4')&<%H5$%6')$#"'1&%-&$8%).%2.+&)#-2)%)5$%2$"1"+9&%'+8%)5$%&-#('2$%D+"&5$&%

should preferably be non-combustible or, at least, Class 0. There should be little or no 

'88")".+'1%D#$%5'a'#8&%:")5"+%)5$%('1&$%2$"1"+9&<%M+%)5"&%0'&"&7%)5$#$%6'*%+.)%0$%'%+$$8%

for cavity barriers to sub-divide the voids, but this would need to be considered in each 

circumstance.

' <17$9:*-%'B368*7$1

O`<NV% H5$%(.11.:"+9%#$4$2)&%)5$%2-##$+)%0$+256'#3%8$&"9+%9-"8'+2$%(.#%0.)5%&"+91$%'+8%

6-1)",1$%&)'"#:'*%01.23&%.(%4')&%:")5%2.##"8.#%.#%1.00*%'22$&&<

' 5"*+&'&1-C18'!='*'&67B"1'1&$*;1'&+*6-?*=

O`<NU% \-##$+)%0$+256'#3%8$&"9+%9-"8'+2$%(.#%4')&%:")5%'%&"+91$%$&2',$%#.-)$%(#.6%'%4')%

entrance door to the stairway is as follows.

g% B;$#*%4')%&5.-18%0$%&$,'#')$8%(#.6%)5$%2.66.+%$&2',$%&)'"#:'*%0*%'%,#.)$2)$8%

corridor or lobby.

g% H5$%8"&)'+2$%.(%)#';$1%0$):$$+%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#%'+8%)5$%8..#%).%'%1.00*%.#%

stairway should be limited to 7.5m.

g% Smoke control should be provided by natural or mechanical ventilation in the lobby or 

2.##"8.#%'8T'2$+)%)5$%&)'"#:'*<%

g% H5$%&6.3$%;$+)&%.+%)5$%D#$%4..#%'+8%)5$%;$+)%')%)5$%5$'8%.(%)5$%&)'"#:'*%&5.-18%0$%

operated automatically by means of smoke detectors in the common access corridor 

.#%1.00*%).%)5$%4')&<

Page 103



88          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

56B3-1'\'>'5"*+&'&1-C18'!='*'&67B"1'1&$*;1'&+*6-?*=

F<%\.##"8.#%'22$&&%4')&

^<%W.00*%'22$&&%4')&

Note:

><%% F11%8..#&%&5.:+%'#$%D#$%8..#&<

2.  Where travel distance is measured to a  

stair lobby, the lobby must not provide  

8"#$2)%'22$&&%).%'+*%&).#'9$%#..67%4')% 

.#%.)5$#%&,'2$%2.+)'"+"+9%'%,.)$+)"'1%D#$%

5'a'#8<

Key:

!% n%4')

% K5'8$8%'#$'%"+8"2')$&%'%a.+$%:5$#$% 

smoke ventilation should be provided.  

JF+%$S)$#+'1%:'11%;$+)%.#%&6.3$%&5'()% 

located anywhere in the shaded area)

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

Page 104



89          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

 Small single-stairway buildings 

O`<NO% _5$#$%'%&"+91$/&)'"#:'*%0-"18"+9%"&%&6'117%#$1'S')".+&%"+%)5$%,#.;"&".+&%',,1*7%,#.;"8"+9R

g% )5$%).,%4..#%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9%"&%+.%6.#$%)5'+%>>6%'0.;$%9#.-+8%1$;$1

g% there are no more than three storeys above the ground level storey

g% the stairway does not connect to a covered car park

g% the stairway does not serve ancillary accommodation, unless the ancillary 

accommodation is separated from the stairway by a protected lobby or corridor with a 

permanent natural vent or ventilation by a mechanical smoke control system

g% )5$#$%"&%'+%.,$+'01$%;$+)%,#.;"8$8%.+%$'25%4..#%1$;$1%(.#%-&$%0*%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%

service, or alternatively, there is a remotely operated vent at the head of the stairway.

O`<N@% \-##$+)%0$+256'#3%8$&"9+%9-"8'+2$%(.#%&6'117%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*%01.23&%"&%'&%(.11.:&R%

g% $;$#*%4')%"&%&$,'#')$8%(#.6%)5$%2.66.+%$&2',$%&)'"#:'*%0*%'%,#.)$2)$8%2.##"8.#%.#%1.00*

g% )5$%8"&)'+2$%.(%)#';$1%(#.6%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%).%)5$%&)'"#:'*%&5.-18%0$%1"6")$8%).%U<O6%

E%"(%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%"&%,#.;"8$8%"+%)5$%1.00*7%)5$%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$%2'+%0$%"+2#$'&$8%).%X<O6

g% "+%&"+91$/&)'"#:'*%0-"18"+9&%:")5%.+1*%):.%4')&%,$#%4..#7%)5$%1.00*%0$):$$+%)5$%

&)'"#:'*%'+8%)5$%4')&%"&%+.)%$&&$+)"'17%,#.;"8"+9%)5$%4')&%5';$%,#.)$2)$8%$+)#'+2$%

5'11&%E%"+%)5$&$%2"#2-6&)'+2$&7%)5$%;$+)%')%)5$%5$'8%.(%)5$%&)'"#:'*%&5.-18%0$%'+%FMi%

operated by smoke detectors.

' 5"*+&'?6+9':#-1'+9*7'#71'1&$*;1'&+*6-?*=

58.27 Current benchmark design guidance for blocks with more than one common escape 

&)'"#:'*%'+8%'1)$#+')";$%#.-)$&%(#.6%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#%).%'%&)'"#:'*%"&%'&%(.11.:&<%

g% $;$#*%4')%&5.-18%0$%&$,'#')$8%(#.6%$'25%2.66.+%$&2',$%&)'"#:'*%0*%'%,#.)$2)$8%

corridor or lobby

g% )5$%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$%(#.6%'%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#%).%)5$%8..#%).%)5$%+$'#$&)%&)'"#:'*%.#%

lobby should be limited to 30m

g% a common corridor that connects two or more escape stairways should be sub-

8";"8$8%0*%'%&$1(%21.&"+9%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#%).%$+&-#$%&6.3$%:"11%+.)%'(($2)%'22$&&%).%

6.#$%)5'+%.+$%&)'"#:'*%E%)5"&%8..#%2'+%0$%.6"))$8%"(%)5$%6'S"6-6%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$%

(#.6%'%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#%).%'%&)'"#:'*%.#%1.00*%"&%+.)%6.#$%)5'+%>O6

g% any dead-end section of an access corridor should be separated from the rest of the 

2.##"8.#%0*%'%&$1(/21.&"+9%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#%E%)5$%&"+91$%8"#$2)".+%.(%)#';$1%"+%)5$%8$'8/

end section of corridor should be limited to 7.5m

g% smoke control by natural or mechanical ventilation should be provided in the lobby or the 

2.##"8.#%'8T'2$+)%)5$%&)'"#:'*%).%,#.)$2)%)5$%&)'"#:'*

g% an openable vent should be provided at the head of the stairway.

Page 105



90          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

O`<N`% H5$%6'S"6-6%8"&)'+2$&%.(%)#';$1%&,$2"D$8%'0.;$%8.%+.)%',,1*%"+%4')&%:")5%0.)5%&"+91$%

'+8%6-1)",1$%$&2',$%&)'"#:'*&7%:5$#$%'11%4')&%.+%'%&).#$*%5';$%"+8$,$+8$+)%'1)$#+')";$%

6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%1$'8"+9%).%'+%'22$&&%2.##"8.#%.#%'22$&&%1.00*%')%'+.)5$#%1$;$1<%=+%

)5$&$%&")-')".+&7%)5$%8"&)'+2$&%&,$2"D$8%(.#%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$%'22$&&%8$)'"1$8%"+%

71.5 will apply.

O?<%%B&2',$%(#.6%4')&%:")5%$S)$#+'1%0'12.+*%.#%8$23%'22$&&%
approach

O?<>% =(%)5$%:"8)5%.(%)5$%'22$&&%0'12.+"$&%.#%8$23%"&%1$&&%)5'+%N67%")%2'+%0$%'&&-6$8%)5')%

)5$#$%"&%1"))1$%#"&3%.(%5.#"a.+)'1%&6.3$%&,#$'8%'1.+9%)5$%0'12.+*%.#%8$23%(#.6%'%D#$%"+%'%

4')7%)5')%:.-18%,#$;$+)%#$&"8$+)&%(#.6%-&"+9%)5$%$&2',$%#.-)$<%H5$#$%"&7%5.:$;$#7%&.6$%

,.)$+)"'1%(.#%&6.3$/&,#$'8%'1.+9%0'12.+"$&%.#%8$23&%:"8$#%)5'+%N6<%=+%)5$&$%&")-')".+&7%

56B3-1']'>'5"*+&'&1-C18'!=':#-1'+9*7'#71'1&$*;1'&+*6-?*=

F<%\.##"8.#%'22$&&%:")5.-)%8$'8%$+8&

B. Corridor access with dead ends 

H5$%2$+)#'1%8..#%6'*%0$%.6"))$8%"(%6'S"6-6%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$ 

is not more than 15m

Key:

!% n%4')

(8% n%D#$%8..#

% K5'8$8%'#$'%"+8"2')$&%'%a.+$%:5$#$%&6.3$%;$+)"1')".+%

&5.-18%0$%,#.;"8$8<%JF+%$S)$#+'1%:'11%;$+)%.#%&6.3$%&5'()%

located anywhere in the shaded area).

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

Page 106



91          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

downstands may need to be considered to restrict the lateral spread of smoke along the 

balcony or deck.

O?<N% =8$'11*7%)5$#$%&5.-18%0$%+.%'88")".+'1%D#$%5'a'#8&7%&-25%'&%&).#$&%.#%.)5$#%'+2"11'#*%

rooms, located off the balcony or deck.

O?<V%H5$#$%'#$%+.%1"6")')".+&%.+%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$%"+%)5$%2.66.+%$&2',$%#.-)$&%(.#%4')&%:")5%

$S)$#+'1%0'12.+*%.#%8$23%',,#.'25<%P.:$;$#7%)5$%8"&)'+2$&%&,$2"D$8%(.#%D#$/D95)"+9%

'22$&&%1')$#%:"11%',,1*<%F11%'#$'&%.(%'%4')%&5.-18%0$%:")5"+%UO6%.(%)5$%D#$/D95)"+9%;$5"21$%

'22$&&%,."+)7%.#%:")5"+%UO6%.(%'%1'+8"+9%;'1;$%.(%'%8#*%#"&"+9%6'"+%J@A6%:5$+%)5$%

1'+8"+9%;'1;$%"&%"+%'%D#$/D95)"+9%&5'()L<

O?<U% =+%01.23&%.(%4')&%:5$#$%)5$#$%"&%'1)$#+')";$%$&2',$%';'"1'01$%(#.6%$'25%4')%$+)#'+2$%

along the open balcony or deck to two or more escape stairways, the separating walls 

0$):$$+%)5$%4')&%'+8%'22$&&%0'12.+*%.#%8$23%'+8%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%'#$%+.)%

#$G-"#$8%).%0$%D#$/#$&"&)"+9<

O?<O% =+%4')&%:")5%'%&"+91$%8"#$2)".+%.(%$&2',$%).%'%&"+91$%$&2',$%&)'"#:'*7%)5$%&$,'#')"+9%

:'11&%0$):$$+%)5$%4')&%'+8%)5$%0'12.+*%.#%8$23%&5.-18%0$%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%-,%).%'%5$"95)%.(%

><>6%(#.6%0'12.+*%.#%8$23%1$;$1<%H5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%"+%)5$&$%&")-')".+&%&5.-18%0$%

&$1(/21.&"+9%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&<

O?<@%H5"&%:"11%'11.:%#$&"8$+)&7%"(%)5$*%:"&57%).%,'&&%'%D#$%"+%'+%'8T."+"+9%4')%).%#$'25%)5$%

&)'"#:'*<%=+%4')&%:")5%'1)$#+')";$%"+8$,$+8$+)%$&2',$%).%'+.)5$#%0'12.+*%.#%8$23%.+%)5$%

same level, which leads back to the single stairway, only one of the enclosures between 

)5$%4')&%'+8%)5$%0'12.+*%+$$8&%).%0$%D#$/#$&"&)"+9<

@A<%%BS)$#+'1%&)'"#:'*&

@A<>%\-##$+)%0$+256'#3%8$&"9+%9-"8'+2$%"&%)5')%$S)$#+'1%&)'"#:'*&%&5.-18%0$%1"6")$8%).%

&$#;$%4..#&%+.)%6.#$%)5'+%@6%'0.;$%9#.-+8%1$;$1<%P.:$;$#7%"+%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&7%

)5$#$%6'*%0$%$S)$#+'1%&)'"#:'*&%.;$#%)5"&%5$"95)7%'+8%")%:.-18%0$%-+#$'&.+'01$%+.)%).%

continue to rely on them simply because of this height limitation.

@A<N% =+%)5$&$%&")-')".+&7%")%&5.-18%0$%$+&-#$8%)5')%)5$%&)'"#:'*%#$6'"+&%&'($%).%-&$%')%'11%)"6$&%

"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%'%D#$<%BS)$#+'1%&)'"#:'*&%+$$8%).%0$%,#.)$2)$8%(#.6%'%D#$%"+%)5$%0-"18"+9%0*%

6$'+&%.(%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%,'#)")".+&7%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%91'a"+9%'+8%&$1(/21.&"+9%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&<

@><%%B&2',$%#.-)$&%.;$#%#..(&

@><>%\-##$+)%0$+256'#3%8$&"9+%9-"8'+2$%#$2.66$+8&%)5')7%"(%6.#$%)5'+%.+$%$&2',$%#.-)$%"&%

available from a storey, one of the routes may be by way of the roof of a block.

@><N%b.)%.+1*%8.%&.6$%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&%-)"1"&$%$&2',$%'2#.&&%'%#..(7%)5$#$%'#$%&.6$%"+%

Page 107



92          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

:5"25%-,:'#8%$&2',$%"&%+$2$&&'#*%).%#$'25%)5$%#..(<%=+%)5$&$%&")-')".+&7%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%

doors need to be provided across the stairways to separate the route down from the 

route up.

@><V% =(%$&2',$%'2#.&&%'%#..(%"&%$+2.-+)$#$87%")%&5.-18%0$%$+&-#$8%)5')R

g% the roof is not accessed by means of a ladder or other route that cannot be readily 

used by mobility impaired people

g% )5$%#..(%"&%4')

g% the route across the roof leads to a protected escape stairway (which may be in an 

'8T."+"+9%0-"18"+9L%.#%1$'8&%).%'+%$S)$#+'1%&)'"#:'*

56B3-1'L^'>'@#::#7'1&$*;1'-#3+1&'67'!*"$#7=_81$%'*;;-#*$9'!"#$%&

OV OV

F<%Q-1)"/&)'"#%0-"18"+9

B. Single stair building

OV

OV

Note 1: B")5$#%$S)$#+'1%21.&-#$%>%.#%$S)$#+'1%21.&-#$%N%&5.-18%0$%D#$%#$&"&)"+9<

d$*R

M,$+'01$%;$+)%(.#%D#$%&$#;"2$%-&$%J><A62 minimum)

Fire resisting contruction

Fire resisting contruction up to a height of 1.1m above deck level

K$1(%21.&"+9%!]VAK%D#$%8..#

Note 2:%F11%8..#&%0#$'25"+9%)5$%><>6%5"95%D#$%#$&"&)"+9%&$,$#')".+%&5.-18%0$%&$1(%21.&"+9%!]NA%D#$%8..#&<

Note 3:%F1)5.-95%)5$#$%'#$%+.%1"6")')".+&%.+%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$7%'11%,'#)&%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9%+$$8%).%0$%:")5"+%

@A6%.(%'%D#$%6'"+7%6$'&-#$8%'1.+9%'%1"+$%.+%:5"25%'%5.&$%2'+%0$%1'"8<

Note 4: The OVs to a stairway may be replaced by an openable vent over the stair.

\<%K"+91$%&)'"#%0-"18"+9%:")5%'+%'1)$#+')";$%$S")%(#.6%$;$#*%4')

OV

F F F F F F F
E%>

E%N

Page 108



93          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

56B3-1'LL'>',-#+1$+6#7'+#'*7'1S+1-7*"'

stairway

Figure 12 – Escape route across a 

roof

]$D+$8%a.+$%(.#%D#$/

resisting walls, doors 

and windows on an 

$S)$#+'1%&)'"#:'*

1.8m

1.8m

3m

3m

Page 109



94          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

g% 0.)5%0-"18"+9&%'+8l.#%&)'"#:'*&%'#$%-+8$#%)5$%&'6$%2.+)#.1%.(%)5$%1'+81.#8%.#%.:+$#7%.#7%

alternatively, there are legal agreements in place to ensure right of access to use the route

g% )5$%#.-)$%'2#.&&%)5$%#..(%"&%'8$G-')$1*%8$D+$8%'+8%9-'#8$8

g% there is adequate emergency lighting and signage as necessary

g% )5$%,'#)%.(%)5$%#..(%(.#6"+9%)5$%$&2',$%#.-)$%'+8%")&%&-,,.#)"+9%&)#-2)-#$%"&%D#$/#$&"&)"+9<

@N<%%̂ 1.23&%.(%4')&%)5')%8.%+.)%6$$)%)5$%2-##$+)%8$&"9+%
benchmarks for means of escape

@N<>%F1)5.-95%)5$%'0.;$%0$+256'#3&%#$4$2)%2-##$+)%8$&"9+%9-"8'+2$7%6'+*%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%

.(%4')&7%8$&"9+$8%).%$'#1"$#%&)'+8'#8&7%.#%"+%:5"25%'1)$#')".+&%5';$%)'3$+%,1'2$7%:"11%+.)%

2.6,1*%:")5%)5$&$%0$+256'#3&<%!.#%$S'6,1$R

g% $S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&%6'*%5';$%"+2#$'&$8%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$&

g% there may be no corridor or lobby protection to the stairways

g% &6.3$%2.+)#.1%'##'+9$6$+)&%6'*%0$%+.+/$S"&)$+)%.#%8"(($#%(#.6%:5')%"&%'22$,)'01$%).8'*<%

% H5$%1'))$#%:"11%0$%,'#)"2-1'#1*%#$1$;'+)%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&%8$&"9+$8%.+%)5$%,#"+2",1$&%.(%&6.3$%

8"&,$#&'17%:5$#$%"+2#$'&$8%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$&%:$#$%,$#6"))$8<%F1&.7%)5$%#$G-"#$6$+)%(.#%

1.00*%,#.)$2)".+%"+%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*%01.23&%.(%4')&%:'&%'1&.%8"(($#$+)%"+%$'#1"$#%9-"8'+2$7%

:")5%4')&%"+%&.6$%01.23&%.;$#%(.-#%&).#$*&%"+%5$"95)%.,$+"+9%8"#$2)1*%.+).%)5$%&)'"#:'*&%

'+8%)5$%+-60$#%.(%4')&%,$#%4..#%$S2$$8"+9%2-##$+)%#$2.66$+8')".+&%(.#%&6'11%01.23&<

@N<N% =+%)5$&$%2"#2-6&)'+2$&7%-,9#'8"+9%).%2-##$+)%&)'+8'#8&7%'1)5.-95%"8$'17%6'*%+.)%0$%

,.&&"01$7%8-$%).%)5$%,5*&"2'1%2.+&)#'"+)&%"+%)5$%0-"18"+97%.#%T-&)"D'01$%.+%)5$%0'&"&%.(%#"&3<%

Therefore, there will be a need to consider the overall risk.

@N<V% =+%&.6$%01.23&7%#$&).#"+9%)5$%01.23%0'23%).%)5$%&)'+8'#8%.(%)5$%8'*%6"95)%0$%'11%)5')%"&%

+$$8$8<%=+%.)5$#&7%2.6,$+&').#*%6$'&-#$&%6"95)%+$$8%).%0$%2.+&"8$#$8<%=+%$S2$,)".+'1%

2"#2-6&)'+2$&7%'-).6')"2%D#$%8$)$2)".+%'+8%'1'#6%&*&)$6&%'+8%'-).6')"2%D#$%

suppression systems might also need to be considered.

@N<U%H5$%'22$,)'+2$%.(%&)'+8'#8&%"+%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&7%:5$#$%)5$*%&"9+"D2'+)1*%8"(($#%

(#.6%2-##$+)%0$+256'#3&7%&5.-18%0$%&-0T$2)%).%2'#$(-1%&2#-)"+*<%H5"&%6'*%#$G-"#$%

assessment by a suitable specialist. However, the following general guidance may 

assist when considering the available options for means of escape.

@N<O%H5$%(.11.:"+9%&2$+'#".&%'#$%2.+&"8$#$8<

g% ^1.23&%.(%4')&%:")5%"+2#$'&$8%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$<

g% ^1.23&%.(%4')&%"+%:5"25%)5$%4')&%.,$+%8"#$2)1*%.+).%'%&)'"#:'*<

g% ^1.23&%.(%4')&%:")5%-+&')"&('2).#*%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%'##'+9$6$+)&<

g% ^1.23&%.(%4')&%"+%:5"25%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&%,#$/8')$%2-##$+)%&)'+8'#8&<

Page 110



95          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

' J7$-1*&18'+-*C1"'86&+*7$1

@N<@%H5$%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$&%&,$2"D$8%$'#1"$#%5';$%0$$+%(.-+8%).%'25"$;$%)5$%#$G-"&")$%1$;$1%.(%

safety, but were never intended to be hard and fast, and different limits have applied 

"+%)5$%,'&)%J&$$%F,,$+8"S%>L<%H5$%'22$,)'+2$%.(%"+2#$'&$8%8"&)'+2$&%.(%)#';$1%6'*%0$%

considered appropriate in individual circumstances. This will be particularly relevant 

"+%.18$#%)*,$&%.(%,#.,$#)*7%:5$#$%)5$#$%:"11%0$%1"))1$%&2.,$%).%#$8-2$%)5$%$S"&)"+9%)#';$1%

distances or provide alternative means of escape.

@N<X%K6'11%"+2#$'&$&%"+%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$%2'+%0$%'22$,)$8%"+%6.&)%&")-')".+&%:")5.-)%'+*%

additional measures. However, additional measures may need to be considered if there 

'#$%&"9+"D2'+)%"+2#$'&$&%"+%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$<%H5$&$%6"95)%"+21-8$R

g% additional cross-corridor doors to restrict smoke-spread

g% improvements to the smoke control arrangements 

g% "+%#'#$%2'&$&7%'-).6')"2%D#$%8$)$2)".+<%

% F%,.&&"01$%',,#.'25%).%)5"&%&")-')".+%:5$+%(.-+8%"+%$S"&)"+9%0-"18"+9&%"&%'&%(.11.:&<

 

<17$9:*-%&'(#-'1S6&+67B'!"#$%&'#(')*+&'M$#--68#-'#-'"#!!='*;;-#*$9N'>'&67B"1'

direction escape

g% =+%-+;$+)"1')$8%1.00"$&7%"+2#$'&$&%(#.6%)5$%U<O6%1"6")%).%@6%'#$%1"3$1*%).%0$%'22$,)'01$%

with no additional measures.

g% =+%-+;$+)"1')$8%1.00"$&7%"+2#$'&$&%-,%).%X<O6%:"11%#$G-"#$%'88")".+'1%6$'&-#$&7%&-25%'&%

‘upgraded FD30S’ doors (see later). Beyond 7.5m, the lobby should be ventilated.

g% =+%;$+)"1')$8%1.00"$&%'+8%2.##"8.#&7%"+2#$'&$&%(#.6%X<O6%-,%).%>A6%'#$%1"3$1*%).%0$%

acceptable in most situations with no additional measures.

g% =+%;$+)"1')$8%1.00"$&%'+8%2.##"8.#&7%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$&%.(%)$+%).%>O6%6'*%0$%'22$,)'01$7%

providing all doors to the common corridor or lobby are at least ‘upgraded FD30S’ 

8..#&%J&$$%1')$#L%'+8%)5$%&6.3$%;$+)"1')".+%2.6,#"&$&%ei&%.#%FMi&<

g% =+%;$+)"1')$8%1.00"$&%'+8%2.##"8.#&7%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$&%.;$#%>O6%'#$%1"3$1*%).%0$%-+-&-'17%

and cannot be considered acceptable without additional measures, which might include 

Y#$,1'2$6$+)%!]VAKZ%8..#&7%FMi&%.#%'-).6')"2%D#$%8$)$2)".+<%H5$%'8;"2$%.(%&,$2"'1"&)&%

will be necessary.

Page 111



96          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

Flats opening directly onto stairways

@N<`%F&%"+8"2')$8%"+%F,,$+8"S%>7%,#$;".-&%#$9-1')".+&%'+8%9-"8'+2$%5';$%,$#6"))$8%4')&%).%

open directly onto stairways above the limits in height currently considered acceptable. 

H5$%"+)#.8-2)".+%.(%2.66.+%1.00"$&%"+%)5$&$%0-"18"+9&%"&%+.)%'%#$'1"&)"2%,#.,.&")".+<%F%

,.&&"01$%',,#.'25%).%)5"&%&")-')".+%:5$+%(.-+8%"+%$S"&)"+9%0-"18"+9&%"&%'&%(.11.:&<

 Unsatisfactory smoke control

@N<?% F1)5.-95%)5$#$%5';$%0$$+%25'+9$&%"+%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%8$&"9+7%")%"&%&)"11%',,#.,#"')$7%:5$+%

'&&$&&"+9%'+%$S"&)"+9%0-"18"+9Z&%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%'##'+9$6$+)&7%).%#$;"$:%)5$&$%"+%)5$%1"95)%.(%

the standards that were in place at the time the block was built. Start by ensuring that what 

is there continues to work as originally intended before considering the need to improve 

the arrangements. However, in relation to smoke dispersal previous benchmark design 

guidance is far removed from what is acceptable today.

<17$9:*-%&'(#-'1S6&+67B'!"#$%&'#(')*+&'M$#--68#-'#-'"#!!='*;;-#*$9N'>'1&$*;1'67'

two directions

g% =+2#$'&$&%(#.6%VA6%).%UA6%J$9%#$&-1)"+9%(#.6%'%25'+9$%(#.6%&6.3$%8"&,$#&'1%).%&6.3$%

containment) should be acceptable in most situations without the need for additional 

measures.

g% H#';$1%8"&)'+2$&%"+%$S2$&&%.(%UA6%:"11%.+1*%0$%'22$,)'01$%:")5%'88")".+'1%6$'&-#$&7%

:5"25%6"95)%"+21-8$%Y#$,1'2$6$+)%!]VAKZ%8..#&7%FMi&%'+8l.#%'-).6')"2%D#$%8$)$2)".+<%

The advice of specialists will be necessary.

<17$9:*-%&'(#-'1S6&+67B'!"#$%&'#(')*+&'?6+9')*+&'#;1767B'86-1$+"='#7'+#'*'&67B"1'

stairway

g% c,%).%(.-#%&).#$*&%"+%5$"95)7%&5.-18%0$%'22$,)'01$%"+%6.&)%&")-')".+&7%,#.;"8$8%)5$%

stairway has openable windows or vents.

g% c,%).%&"S%&).#$*&%"+%5$"95)7%&5.-18%0$%'22$,)'01$7%,#.;"8"+9%)5$%:'11&%$+21.&"+9%)5$%

&)'"#:'*%'#$%@A%6"+-)$&%D#$/#$&"&)"+97%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%'#$%')%1$'&)%Y-,9#'8$8%!]VAKZ%

8..#&%'+8%)5$%&)'"#:'*%5'&%.,$+'01$%:"+8.:&%.#%;$+)&<%_")5"+%4')&%)5$#$%&5.-18%0$%

"+)$#+'1%$+)#'+2$%5'11&%,#.)$2)$8%:")5%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&%).%)5$%3")25$+%'+8%1.-+9$7%0-)%

not necessarily bedrooms.

g% M;$#%&"S%&).#$*&7%&5.-18%+.)%0$%'22$,)$8%:")5.-)%'88")".+'1%6$'&-#$&<%H5$&$%'#$%1"3$1*%

).%"+21-8$%FMi&%'+8%Y#$,1'2$6$+)%!]VAKZ%(#.+)%8..#&7%0-)%6"95)%"+21-8$%(-11*%,#.)$2)$8%

$+)#'+2$%5'11&%:")5"+%)5$%4')&%'+8%'-).6')"2%D#$%8$)$2)".+<%H5$%'8;"2$%.(%&,$2"'1"&)&%:"11%

be necessary.

Page 112



97          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

@N<>A% K6.3$%8"&,$#&'1%5'&%,#.;$8%).%0$%;$#*%-+#$1"'01$%(.#%'%+-60$#%.(%#$'&.+&7%'+8%"&%+.%

1.+9$#%&$$+%'&%'+%'22$,)$8%6$)5.8%.(%&6.3$%2.+)#.1<%=+%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&%:")5%

smoke dispersal, action should be taken to review both the smoke control arrangements 

'+8%)5$%$S"&)"+9%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$<%H5$%'8;"2$%.(%&,$2"'1"&)&%6'*%+$$8%).%0$%&.-95)<

@N<>>% F+%',,#.'25%).%)5#$$%2.66.+1*%(.-+8%&")-')".+&7%"+%:5"25%)5$#$%'#$%-+&')"&('2).#*%

smoke control provisions, is as follows.

 Fire-resisting doors

@N<>N% c+8$#%2-##$+)%0$+256'#3%8$&"9+%9-"8'+2$7%8..#&%(.#6"+9%,'#)%.(%)5$%,#.)$2)$8%

$+)#'+2$%5'11&%'+8%&)'"#:'*&%:")5"+%4')&%'#$%+.#6'11*%&,$2"D$8%'&%NA/6"+-)$%D#$/

resisting doors (designated FD20). Similarly, doors forming part of the protected escape 

#.-)$%(#.6%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#%).%)5$%D+'1%$S")7%"+21-8"+9%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#%")&$1(7%

'#$%+.#6'11*%&,$2"D$8%'&%VA/6"+-)$%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&%:")5%&6.3$%&$'1&%J8$&"9+')$8%

FD30S).

@N<>V% F)%)5$%)"6$%)5$*%:$#$%D))$87%)5$%;'&)%6'T.#")*%.(%)5$&$%8..#&%:.-18%5';$%2.6,1"$8%:")5%

)5$%)$&)%&)'+8'#8%.#%&,$2"D2')".+%.(%)5$%8'*%(.#%'%NA%.#%VA/6"+-)$%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#<%=+%

'88")".+7%6'+*%.(%)5$&$%8..#&%5';$%,$#(.#6$8%&')"&('2).#"1*%"+%'%D#$%&")-')".+%'+87%'#$%

likely to continue to do so, providing they remain in good condition.

@N<>U% F%6.8$#+%J!]VAKL%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#%5'&%"+)-6$&2$+)%&)#",&%'+8%2.18%&6.3$%&$'1&%

D))$8%'1.+9%")&%&"8$%'+8%).,%$89$&%J.#%:")5"+%)5$%(#'6$%"+%)5$&$%1.2')".+&L<%W$))$#%0.S$&%

would be of a type incorporating intumescent materials to protect the opening. The 

<17$9:*-%&'(#-'1S6&+67B'!"#$%&'#(')*+&'?6+9'37&*+6&(*$+#-='&:#%1'$#7+-#"

g% =+%&"+91$%&)'"#2'&$%01.23&%-,%).%&"S%&).#$*&7%"+%:5"25%4')&%.,$+%8"#$2)1*%.+).%)5$%

stairway, manually opening vents or windows would be acceptable.

g% =+%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*%01.23&%.;$#%&"S%&).#$*&7%"+%:5"25%4')&%.,$+%8"#$2)1*%.+).%)5$%&)'"#:'*7%

FMi&%&5.-18%0$%,#.;"8$8<

g% =+%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*%01.23&%:")5%2.##"8.#%.#%1.00*%',,#.'25%#$G-"#"+9%&6.3$%;$+)"1')".+7%

and with travel distances of 7.5 to 10m, OVs in corridors or lobbies are acceptable up 

).%&"S%&).#$*&%"+%5$"95)<%=(%)5"&%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$%$S2$$8&%>A67%.#%)5$%+-60$#%.(%&).#$*&%

$S2$$8&%&"S7%.#%)5$%;$+)"1')".+%"&%,#.;"8$8%"+%)5$%&)'"#:'*%'+8%+.)%)5$%2.##"8.#%.#%1.00*7%

FMi&%.#%ei&%'#$%#$G-"#$8<

g% =+%01.23&%.(%4')&%8$&"9+$8%:")5%2.##"8.#%&6.3$%8"&,$#&'1%&*&)$6&7%2.+&"8$#')".+%&5.-18%

be given to providing cross-corridor doors to change to a smoke containment approach, 

0-)%6'"+)'"+%)5$%Mi&%.#%ei&%).%;$+)"1')$%)5$%&$2)".+&%.(%2.##"8.#%#$6'"+"+9<%F8;"2$%(#.6%

a specialist should be sought if smoke dispersal is present in single stairway buildings.

Page 113



98          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

8..#%:.-18%0$%D))$8%:")5%'+%.;$#5$'8%

self-closing device or a concealed 

21.&$#%"+%)5$%8..#%T'60<%H5$%8..#&$)7%

the complete entity incorporating door 

hardware and furniture, would be tested 

for its performance as a whole.

@N<>O% M#"9"+'1%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%6'*%1'23%

intumescent strips and cold smoke 

seals and will not have protected 

1$))$#0.S$&<%H5$#$%:.-18%5';$%0$$+%

reliance on 25mm door stops to achieve 

‘smoke control’. Where older doors 

were self-closing, this was sometimes 

achieved by using rising butt hinges.

@N<>@% c,9#'8"+9%$S"&)"+9%8..#&%&"6,1*%

0$2'-&$%)5$*%'#$%+.)%D))$8%:")5%

intumescent strips or smoke seals, or 

fail to meet some other requirement of 

current standards, should not be made 

a generic recommendation applicable 

).%'11%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&<%K"6"1'#1*7%

-,9#'8"+9%$S"&)"+9%1$))$#0.S$&%"+%

4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%).%6$$)%2-##$+)%

standards is not always necessary. This 

will depend on:

g% )5$%1.2')".+%.(%)5$%1$))$#0.S%"+%)5$%

door

g% )5$%1.2')".+%.(%)5$%4')%:")5"+%)5$%01.23

g% )5$%2.+&)#-2)".+%.(%)5$%1$))$#0.S<

@N<>X% =)%:"11%+.)%0$%,#'2)"2'01$%).%)$&)%$S"&)"+9%8..#&%).%2.+D#6%)5$"#%'2)-'1%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$<%

H5$#$(.#$7%)5#$$%.,)".+&%$S"&)%"+%#$1')".+%).%.#"9"+'1%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&%)5')%8.%+.)%6$$)%

current benchmark standards. These are:

g% '22$,)%)5$%8..#%'&%")%"&7%,#.;"8$8%")%"&%'%9..8%D)%"+%")&%(#'6$%'+8%)5')%")%&')"&D$8%)5$%

&)'+8'#8%',,1"2'01$%).%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&%')%)5$%)"6$%.(%2.+&)#-2)".+%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9%.#%

manufacture of the door (‘notional FD30’ door)

g% -,9#'8$%)5$%8..#%0*7%(.#%$S'6,1$7%D))"+9%"+)-6$&2$+)%&)#",&%'+8%&6.3$%&$'1&%'1.+9%

)5$%$89$&7%'+8%D))"+9%'%,#.)$2)$8%1$))$#%0.S%JY-,9#'8$8%!]VAKZ%8..#L

g% replace the door with an FD30S door (‘replacement FD30S’ door).

Page 114



99          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

@N<>`% F+%-,9#'8$8%!]VAK%8..#%2'++.)%0$%9-'#'+)$$8%).%'25"$;$%)5$%&'6$%,$#(.#6'+2$%

'&%'%#$,1'2$6$+)%!]VAK%8..#7%(.#%:5"25%)5$#$%:"11%0$%'%D#$%)$&)%2$#)"D2')$<%H5"&%"&%).%0$%

$S,$2)$8%'+8%"&%#$'&.+'01$%,#.;"8$8%)5')%)5$%8..#%5'&%&-(D2"$+)%)5"23+$&&%.(%)"60$#%

J$9%UU%6"11"6$)#$&L<%K"6,1*%D))"+9%"+)-6$&2$+)%&)#",&%'+8%&6.3$%&$'1&%).%'%)5"+%8..#%.#%

.+$%:")5%,'+$1&%:"11%+.)%#$+8$#%")%&-")'01*%D#$/#$&"&)"+9<%K,$2"'1"&)%'8;"2$%6'*%+$$8%).%

0$%&.-95)%"+%.#8$#%).%6'3$%'+%'&&$&&6$+)%.(%)5$%1"3$1*%0$+$D)&%.(%-,9#'8"+9%$S"&)"+9%

D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&<%C-"8'+2$%.+%-,9#'8"+9%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&%"&%'1&.%,-01"&5$8%0*%)5$%

H"60$#%I$&$'#25%'+8%]$;$1.,6$+)%F&&.2"')".+%JHIF]FL<

@N<>?% =)%"&%$&&$+)"'1%)5')7%"##$&,$2)";$%.(%:5"25%.,)".+%"&%25.&$+7%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%4')%$+)#'+2$%

doors, and doors provided to protect common corridors, lobbies and stairways, should 

0$%D))$8%:")5%&-")'01$%,.&")";$%'2)".+%&$1(/21.&"+9%8$;"2$&<%H5$%&$1(/21.&"+9%8$;"2$%

should be capable of closing the door in its frame from any angle and overcoming 

the resistance of any latch. Rising butt hinges used to be acceptable under previous 

benchmark guidance, but are no longer considered suitable devices because they are 

unreliable in the effective closure of a door.

@N<NA% H5$%D))"+9%.(%&-")'01$%&$1(/21.&"+9%8$;"2$&%E%

whether to replace rising butt hinges (pictured 

0$1.:L%.#%0$2'-&$%)5$%8..#&%'#$%+.)%D))$8%:")5%&$1(/

21.&"+9%8$;"2$&%E%must be undertaken in the short 

term as a matter of priority.

@N<N>% =+%6'+*%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&7%")%:"11%+.#6'11*%

0$%'22$,)'01$7%)'3"+9%"+).%'22.-+)%)5$%D#$%#"&37%).%

'22$,)7%$S"&)"+9%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&%'+8%+.)%#$,1'2$%

or upgrade the doors as a matter of course. For this 

).%0$%)5$%2'&$7%'+*%$S"&)"+9%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#%:"11%

+$$8%).%0$%:$11%D))"+9%"+%")&%(#'6$%'+8%0$%"+%9..8%

2.+8")".+<%=+%'88")".+7%'1)5.-95%")%6'*%0$%',,#.,#"')$%).%-,9#'8$%.#%#$,1'2$%8..#&7%)5"&%

will not necessarily mean that this work has always to be undertaken as a matter of 

-#9$+2*<%=+%6'+*%01.23&%.(%4')&7%)5$%-,9#'8"+9%.#%#$,1'2$6$+)%.(%8..#&%2'+%0$%,'#)%.(%'%

planned, and possibly phased programme.

@N<NN% F+*%+$:%.#%#$,1'2$6$+)%8..#&%:")5"+%'+%$S"&)"+9%01.23%.(%4')&%&5.-18%6$$)%2-##$+)%

&)'+8'#8&%(.#%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&%J^K%UX@/NN%.#%^K%Bb%>@VU%,'#)&%>7%N%'+8%VL<%K"6"1'#1*7%

'+*%1$))$#0.S$&%)5')%'#$%D))$8%&5.-18%0$%.(%'%,#.)$2)$8%)*,$7%$9%1"+$8%:")5%"+)-6$&2$+)%

6')$#"'1%).%&$'1%)5$%.,$+"+9%:5$+%$S,.&$8%).%D#$<%=)%6'*%'1&.%0$%',,#.,#"')$%).%

2.+&"8$#%)5$%-,9#'8"+9%.#%#$,1'2$6$+)%.(%8..#&%')%)5$%)"6$%.(%'+*%6'T.#%#$(-#0"&56$+)%

work.

@N<NV% H5$%(.11.:"+9%"&%9$+$#'1%9-"8'+2$%.+1*%'+8%:"11%8$,$+8%.+%)5$%&,$2"D2%2"#2-6&)'+2$&%

"+%'%01.23<%=)%#$($#&%).%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&7%0-)%'%&"6"1'#%',,#.'25%2.-18%0$%-+8$#)'3$+%

when considering other doors in the common parts.

Page 115



100          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

<17$9:*-%&'(#-'1S6&+67B'!"#$%&'?6+9'*'&67B"1'&+*6-?*='*78'?6+9'*$$1;+*!"1'+-*C1"'

86&+*7$1H'!3+'8##-&'#;1767B'86-1$+"='#7+#'+91'&+*6-?*=/

g% c,%).%(.-#%&).#$*&7%Y+.)".+'1%!]VAZ%8..#&%&5.-18%0$%'22$,)'01$<

g% c,%).%&"S%&).#$*&7%8..#&%&5.-18%0$%')%1$'&)%Y-,9#'8$8%!]VAKZ<

g% M;$#%&"S%&).#$*&7%8..#&%&5.-18%0$%Y#$,1'2$6$+)%!]VAKZ<

<17$9:*-%&'(#-'1S6&+67B'!"#$%&'?6+9'$#--68#-'#-'"#!!='*$$1&&'>'&67B"1'&+*6-?*='

?6+9'*$$1;+*!"1'+-*C1"'86&+*7$1/

g% c,%).%&"S%&).#$*&7%Y+.)".+'1%!]VAZ%8..#&%&5.-18%0$%'22$,)'01$<

g% F0.;$%&"S%&).#$*&%J0-)%+.%6.#$%)5'+%VA6%"+%5$"95)L7%8..#&%&5.-18%0$%')%1$'&)%Y-,9#'8$8%

FD30S’.

g% Over 30m in height, doors should be ‘replacement FD30S’.

<17$9:*-%&'(#-'1S6&+67B'!"#$%&'?6+9'$#--68#-'#-'"#!!='*$$1&&'>'&67B"1'*78':3"+6;"1'

stairway blocks:

g% Where means of escape, particularly travel distances are satisfactory, ‘notional FD30’ 

doors should continue to be acceptable.

g% _5$#$%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%'#$%+.)%&')"&('2).#*7%&-25%'&%:5$#$%)5$#$%'#$%$S2$&&";$%)#';$1%

distances, upgraded or replacement FD30S doors are likely to be necessary, particularly in 

dead ends.

<17$9:*-%&'(#-'1S6&+67B'!"#$%&'?6+9'1S+1-7*"'!*"$#7='#-'81$%'*$$1&&'>'&67B"1'

&+*6-?*='#-'?6+967'*'81*8'178'?6+9'*$$1;+*!"1'+-*C1"'86&+*7$1&/

g% b.)".+'1%!]VA%8..#&%&5.-18%0$%'22$,)'01$<

g% C1'a"+9%"+%)5$%8..#%'0.;$%><>6%"&%+.)%#$G-"#$8%).%0$%D#$/#$&"&)"+9<

g% F%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%1$))$#0.S%"&%+.)%$&&$+)"'1<

g% F&%:")5%'11%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&7%)5$%8..#%6-&)%0$%D))$8%:")5%'%,.&")";$%'2)".+%&$1(/21.&"+9%

device.

Page 116



101          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

@V<%%!"#$%&'($)*%&"9+&

@V<>% H5$%+.#6'1%'22$&&%'+8%$9#$&&%#.-)$&%:")5"+%'%01.23%.(%4')&%8.%+.)%-&-'11*%#$G-"#$%D#$%$S")%

&"9+&%).%'&&"&)%#$&"8$+)&%'+8%;"&").#&%).%6'3$%)5$"#%:'*%.-)%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%D#$<

@V<N%!1')&%:")5%'%&"+91$%&)'"#2'&$7%#$9'#81$&&%.(%)5$%+-60$#%.(%4..#&7%:.-187%(.#%$S'6,1$7%+.)%

-&-'11*%#$G-"#$%'+*%D#$%$S")%&"9+'9$<

@V<V% =+%.)5$#%01.23&7%D#$%$S")%&"9+'9$%6'*%0$%#$G-"#$8%"+%2"#2-6&)'+2$&%:5$#$%)5$#$%'#$R

g% '1)$#+')";$%$S")%#.-)$&

g% &$2.+8'#*%$S")&%0*%:'*%.(%'+%$S)$#+'1%&)'"#%

g% '2#.&&%'%4')%#..(

g% where there is any potential for confusion.

@V<U% =+%9$+$#'17%Y!"#$%]..#%d$$,%W.23$8%K5-)Z%&"9+&%&5.-18%0$%,#.;"8$8%.+R

g% )5$%$S)$#+'1%('2$%.(%8..#&%).%&).#$%#..6&

g% electrical equipment cupboards 

g% any ancillary rooms located within the common parts.

@V<O% =+%9$+$#'17%Y!"#$%]..#%d$$,%K5-)Z%&"9+&%&5.-18%0$%,#.;"8$8%.+%0.)5%('2$&%.(%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%

doors forming part of the protection to the common escape routes and on cross-corridor 

D#$%8..#&<%P.:$;$#7%)5"&%8.$&%+.)%',,1*%).%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&<%J=+%)5$%-+-&-'1%2'&$%.(%

D#$%8..#&%)5')%'#$%5$18%.,$+7%0-)%#$1$'&$%.+%.,$#')".+%.(%&6.3$%8$)$2).#&7%)5$%&"9+&%

&5.-18%#$'8%YF-).6')"2%!"#$%]..#%d$$,%\1$'#ZL<

Page 117



102          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

@V<@%_5$#$%D#$%$S")%&"9+&%'#$%,#.;"8$87%)5$*%&5.-18%&')"&(*%)5$%#$G-"#$6$+)&%.(%^K%OU??/O%

and be installed in accordance with the recommendations of BS 5499-4.

@U<%%W"95)"+9%.+%$&2',$%#.-)$&

@U<>%F8$G-')$%'#)"D2"'1%1"95)"+9%'+87%:5$#$%+$2$&&'#*7%$6$#9$+2*%$&2',$%1"95)"+9%&5.-18%0$%

provided in common escape routes, such as corridors, lobbies and stairways, to enable 

residents and visitors to make their way safely out of the building.

@U<N% =)%"&%+.)%+$2$&&'#*%).%,#.;"8$%$&2',$%1"95)"+9%"+%&6'11%01.23&%.(%4')&%.(%+.%6.#$%)5'+%):.%

storeys, with adequate levels of natural or street lighting (borrowed lighting). However, 

emergency escape lighting should be provided within all common escape routes, 

"+21-8"+97%:5$#$%+$2$&&'#*7%$S)$#+'1%&)'"#:'*&7%0'12.+"$&%'+8%#..(%1$;$1%$&2',$%#.-)$&<%

Where borrowed lighting is not reliable, eg street lighting switched off during part of the 

night, emergency escape lighting may be required even in two storey blocks.

@U<V%F1)5.-95%6'+*%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&%6'*%+.)%5';$%$6$#9$+2*%$&2',$%1"95)"+97%

)5$%1"3$1"5..8%.(%1.&&%.(%+.#6'1%1"95)"+9%:")5"+%$&2',$%#.-)$&7%'&%'%#$&-1)%.(%D#$7%')%'%

time when residents may need to use the escape routes, is very low. Therefore, the 

installation of emergency escape lighting, particularly in low-rise blocks, is unlikely to be 

'%5"95%,#".#")*%2.6,'#$8%).%.)5$#%"6,#.;$6$+)&7%&-25%'&%D))"+9%&$1(/21.&"+9%8$;"2$&%.+%

doors. However, other considerations, such as the height of the building and inadequate 

normal lighting may dictate the urgency with which emergency escape lighting should 

be installed.

@U<U%B6$#9$+2*%$&2',$%1"95)"+9%&5.-18%2.+(.#6%).%)5$%#$2.66$+8')".+&%'+8%#$G-"#$6$+)&%

.(%)5$%#$1$;'+)%,'#)&%.(%^K%ON@@<%=)%&5.-18%,#.;"8$%"11-6"+')".+%(.#%)5#$$%5.-#&%"+%)5$%

event of power failure.

@U<O%M+$%.#%6.#$%)$&)%&:")25$&%&5.-18%0$%,#.;"8$87%&.%)5')%)5$%$6$#9$+2*%$&2',$%1"95)"+9%

can be tested every month by simulating failure of the normal power supply to the 

luminaires without the need to isolate normal lighting circuits.

@O<%%I$(-&$%'+8%25-)$%#..6&

@O<>%F##'+9$6$+)&%(.#%)5$%8"&,.&'1%.(%:'&)$%'+8%#$(-&$%'#$%"6,.#)'+)%,#.;"&".+&%:")5"+%

01.23&%.(%4')&%).%,#$;$+)%)5$%0-"18%-,%'+8%&).#'9$%.(%2.60-&)"01$%#-00"&5%"+%)5$%2.66.+%

parts. Refuse storage rooms and refuse chutes are therefore normally present in all but 

)5$%&6'11$&)%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&<

@O<N% =)%"&%#$2.66$+8$8%)5')%#$(-&$%'+8%25-)$%#..6&%&5.-18R

g% ideally be approached directly from the open air or by way of a protected lobby with 

permanent ventilation

Page 118



103          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

g% 0$%&$,'#')$8%(#.6%'11%.)5$#%,'#)&%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9%0*%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%2.+&)#-2)".+%

J@A/6"+-)$%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$L

g% not be located within protected stairways or protected lobbies.

@O<V%P.:$;$#7%25-)$%#..6&%2'+%.()$+%0$%(.-+8%:")5"+%&)'"#:'*&7%2.##"8.#&%'+8%.+%0'12.+"$&%

.+%&.6$%$S"&)"+9%01.23&<%=+%)5$&$%&")-')".+&7%)5$%#..6&%&5.-18%0$%$+21.&$8%"+%D#$/

resisting construction and have permanent ventilation direct to open air, designed such 

)5')%)5$%;$+)"1')".+%:"11%+.)%,#$T-8"2$%'+*%$&2',$%#.-)$%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%D#$<

@O<U%I$(-&$%25-)$&%'+8%'22$&&%5')25$&%2'+%&.6$)"6$&%0$%(.-+8%8"#$2)1*%.,$+"+9%.+).%

,#.)$2)$8%2.##"8.#&7%1.00"$&%'+8%&)'"#&7%&.%,#.;"8"+9%)5$%,.)$+)"'1%(.#%)5$%&,#$'8%.(%D#$%

'+8%&6.3$%).%)5$%2.66.+%$&2',$%#.-)$&<%=+%)5$&$%&")-')".+&7%'+%'-).6')"2%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%

&5-))$#%&5.-18%0$%D))$8%')%)5$%0'&$%.(%)5$%#$(-&$%25-)$%).%#$&)#"2)%)5$%&,#$'8%.(%D#$%'+8%

&6.3$%(#.6%'%D#$%"+%)5$%0"+%#..6<%H5$%&5-))$#%&5.-187%'&%'%6"+"6-67%0$%.,$#')$8%.+%'%

DS$8%)$6,$#')-#$%(-&"01$%1"+3<%!-#)5$#%,#.)$2)".+%2'+%0$%,#.;"8$8%0*%'%&,#"+31$#%&*&)$6%

located over the bins, with either frangible bulb or fusible link sprinkler heads, or open 

sprinkler heads with water discharge controlled by smoke detectors. The provision of 

sprinklers should always be considered where access hatches open into protected 

&)'"#:'*&%.#%1.00"$&%2.+)'"+"+9%6.#$%)5'+%):.%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&<

@@<%%!"#$%8$)$2)".+%'+8%'1'#6%&*&)$6&

' R6+967')*+&

@@<>% =+%all%4')&7%$'#1*%:'#+"+9%.(%D#$%&5.-18%0$%,#.;"8$8%0*%6$'+&%.(%&6.3$%'1'#6&%"+&)'11$8%

"+%'22.#8'+2$%:")5%^K%O`V?/@<%F%2')$9.#*%W]V%&*&)$6%&5.-18%0$%2.+&"8$#$8%)5$%

minimum in all circumstances. This is a system where there is one or more smoke 

'1'#6&%&.1$1*%"+%)5$%2"#2-1')".+%&,'2$&%.(%'%4')<%!1')&%:")5%6.#$%)5'+%.+$%1$;$1%'+8%)5.&$%

with more than one hallway or circulation space will always require more than one 

&6.3$%'1'#6<%e#.;"&".+%.(%&6.3$%'1'#6&%"+%4')&%"&%8"&2-&&$8%(-#)5$#%"+%F,,$+8"S%@<

@@<N%F&%&)')$8%$'#1"$#7%6.#$%$S)$+&";$%2.;$#'9$%.(%&6.3$%'1'#6&%J'+8%5$')%'1'#6&%"+%2$#)'"+%

rooms) may be an appropriate additional compensatory measure when the escape 

route design falls far short of acceptable benchmark standards. This is again discussed 

(-#)5$#%"+%F,,$+8"S%@<

' R6+967'+91'$#::#7';*-+&

@@<V%!"#$%8$)$2)".+%'+8%'1'#6%&*&)$6&%'#$%+.)%+.#6'11*%,#.;"8$8%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%.(%

01.23&%.(%4')&%J:")5%)5$%$S2$,)".+%.(%&5$1)$#$8%5.-&"+9%&25$6$&L<%H5"&%5'&%0$$+%)5$%

0$+256'#3%&)'+8'#8%(.#%6'+*%*$'#&%J&$$%F,,$+8"S%>L%'+8%2.+)"+-$&%).%0$%)5$%2'&$%(.#%

+$:%01.23&%.(%4')&%-+8$#%)5$%2-##$+)%9-"8'+2$%"+%F,,#.;$8%].2-6$+)%^<

@@<U%F&%"+8"2')$8%$'#1"$#7%)5$#$%6'*%0$%2"#2-6&)'+2$&%"+%:5"25%&-25%'%&*&)$6%+$$8&%).%0$%

Page 119



104          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

provided in order to compensate for shortcomings in compartmentation and means of 

escape.

@@<O% =+%'+*%01.23%.(%4')&%:5$#$%'%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%"&%"+&)'11$87%)5$%&*&)$6%&5.-18%

be of the type to which BS 5839-1 applies. Domestic smoke alarms are not appropriate for 

)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&7%+.#%"&%")%',,#.,#"')$%).%',,1*%)5$%#$2.66$+8')".+&%.(%

^K%O`V?/@%).%'%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6<%_5$#$%8.6$&)"2%&6.3$%'1'#6&%$S"&)%"+%)5$%

common parts of a block, they may, and often should, be removed and replaced (if this is 

$&&$+)"'1L%:")5%'%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%.(%)5$%)*,$%).%:5"25%^K%O`V?/>%',,1"$&<

@X<%%!"#$%$S)"+9-"&5"+9%',,1"'+2$&

@X<>% =)%"&%+.)%+.#6'11*%2.+&"8$#$8%+$2$&&'#*%

).%,#.;"8$%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5$#&%.#%5.&$%

reels in the common parts of blocks of 

4')&<%K-25%$G-",6$+)%&5.-18%.+1*%0$%

-&$8%0*%)5.&$%)#'"+$8%"+%")&%-&$<%=)%"&%+.)%

considered appropriate or practicable 

(.#%#$&"8$+)&%"+%'%01.23%.(%4')&%).%

receive such training.

@X<N% =+%'88")".+7%"(%'%D#$%.22-#&%"+%'%4')7%

)5$%,#.;"&".+%.(%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5"+9%

appliances in the common parts might 

$+2.-#'9$%)5$%.22-,'+)&%.(%)5$%4')%

to enter the common parts to obtain 

'+%',,1"'+2$%'+8%#$)-#+%).%)5$"#%4')%

).%D95)%)5$%D#$<%K-25%'%,#.2$8-#$%"&%

inappropriate.

@X<V%F+*%,#.,.&'1%(.#%)5$%,#.;"&".+%.(%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5"+9%',,1"'+2$&7%.#%2.+)"+-$8%,#$&$+2$%

.(%$S"&)"+9%$G-",6$+)7%&5.-18%0$%0'&$8%.+1*%.+%(-11%T-&)"D2')".+%.(%)5$%,#.,.&'1%0*%'%

D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)<%_5$#$%5.&$%#$$1&%'#$%2-##$+)1*%,#.;"8$8%"+%'%01.23%.(%4')&7%")%"&%

#$2.66$+8$8%)5')7%&-0T$2)%).%2.+&-1)')".+%:")5%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$7%)5$*%0$%

removed.

@X<U%b.):")5&)'+8"+9%)5$%'0.;$7%")%"&%',,#.,#"')$%).%,#.;"8$%,.#)'01$%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5$#&%"+R

g% plant rooms and similar ancillary accommodation

g% common community facilities

g% any staff rooms

g% places where people are employed to work and so forth. 

Page 120



105          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

% =+%&5$1)$#$8%5.-&"+97%,.#)'01$%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5$#&%&5.-18%0$%,#.;"8$8%"+%'11%2.66.+%

facilities, such as:

g% laundries and common lounges

g% ancillary accommodation 

g% any commercial premises within the block, such as hairdressers. 

% P.:$;$#7%$S)"+9-"&5$#&%+$$8%+.)%0$%,#.;"8$8%:")5"+%4')%2.##"8.#&<%

@X<O%H5"&%8.$&%+.)%,#$21-8$%#$&"8$+)&%"+%'+*%01.23%.(%4')&%(#.6%,#.;"8"+9%)5$"#%.:+%

$G-",6$+)7%&-25%'&%D#$%01'+3$)&%.#%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5$#&%).%)'231$%'%D#$%"+%)5$"#%.:+%4')%

should they wish to do so.

@X<@%_5$#$%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5$#&%'#$%,#.;"8$87%)5$*%&5.-18%0$%"+&)'11$8%"+%'22.#8'+2$%:")5%)5$%

#$2.66$+8')".+&%.(%^K%OVA@/`<

@`<%%K$2-#")*%1.23&%'+8%'22$&&%&*&)$6&

@`<>% =8$'11*7%'+*%&$2-#")*%1.23&%D))$8%).%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%'+8%'1)$#+')";$%$S")%8..#&%(#.6%

4')&%&5.-18%0$%$'&"1*%.,$#'01$%0*%)5$%#$&"8$+)&%(#.6%)5$%"+&"8$%:")5.-)%)5$%-&$%.(%'%

removable key.

@`<N%F&%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%'#$%#$G-"#$8%).%0$%&$1(/21.&"+97%)5$#$%"&%'%#"&3%)5')%'+*%&$1(/1.23"+9%

&$2-#")*%8$;"2$&%D))$8%).%)5$%8..#&%2.-18%'22"8$+)1*%1.23%#$&"8$+)&%.-)&"8$%.(%)5$"#%.:+%

4')&<%F&%:$11%'&%0$"+9%'%9$+$#'1%+-"&'+2$%(.#%#$&"8$+)&%:5.%6'*%1$';$%)5$"#%3$*&%"+&"8$%

)5$%4')7%)5$#$%"&%'1&.%'%#"&3%8-#"+9%'%D#$%"(%#$&"8$+)&%1$';$%)5$"#%4')%'+8%8$,$+8$+)%('6"1*%

6$60$#&%#$6'"+%"+&"8$%)5$%4')<%H5$%8'+9$#%"+%)5$&$%2"#2-6&)'+2$&%"&%)5')%#$&"8$+)&%

may resort to removing or disconnecting the self-closing device. Flat entrance doors 

&5.-187%:5$#$%,.&&"01$7%0$%D))$8%:")5%'%&-")'01$%1.23%)5')%2'+%.+1*%0$%1.23$8%.+%)5$%

outside by the use of a key operated deadlock, but that can still be opened from the 

inside by a handle or lever without the use of a key.

@`<V%I$&"8$+)&%&.6$)"6$&%'1&.%)'3$%)5$"#%.:+%&$2-#")*%6$'&-#$&%'+8%D)%'88")".+'1%1.23&7%

'+87%"+%&.6$%2'&$&7%$S)$#+'1%&$2-#")*%9#"11$&%'+8%9')$&%).%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%'+8%&$2.+8'#*%

$S")&<%=+%)5$&$%&")-')".+&7%#$&"8$+)&%&5.-18%0$%'8;"&$8%.(%)5$%#"&3&%)5$&$%6'*%,#$&$+)%

).%)5$"#%&'($)*%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%'%D#$%:")5"+%)5$"#%.:+%4')&<%F+*%&$2-#")*%1.23&7%9#"11$&%.#%

9')$&%&5.-18%0$%$'&"1*%.,$+'01$%:")5.-)%)5$%-&$%.(%'%3$*%')%'11%)"6$&<%H5$%D))"+9%.(%)5$&$%

&5.-18%+.)%"6,'"#%)5$%$(($2)";$%&$1(/21.&"+9%.(%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&<

@`<U% =)%6"95)%0$%,.&&"01$%).%#$&)#"2)%.#%,#$;$+)%)5$%-&$%.(%$S)$#+'1%9#"11$&%.#%9')$&%-+8$#%)5$%

terms of the lease, where:

g% they do not only present a risk to the individual residents, but impinge on the safety of 

.)5$#&%J$9%"(%D))$8%.+%$S)$#+'1%0'12.+"$&%-&$8%(.#%2.66.+%$&2',$L%

Page 121



106          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

g% 6'*%8$1'*%.#%,#$;$+)%'22$&&%).%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$%).%$(($2)%#$&2-$&%.#%D95)%'%

D#$<

@`<O% F11%D+'1%$S")%8..#&%(#.6%)5$%0-"18"+9%&5.-18%0$%$'&"1*%.,$+'01$%(#.6%)5$%"+&"8$%:")5.-)%)5$%

-&$%.(%'%3$*%.#%2.8$%0*%#$&"8$+)&%'+8%;"&").#&<%F%&"6,1$%)-#+%5'+81$%.#%1$;$#%"&%,#$($##$8<

@`<@%F+*%$S")&%D))$8%:")5%&$,'#')$%$1$2)#.+"2%1.23"+9%6$25'+"&6&7%.#%&-25%6$25'+"&6&%

which form part of a security access system, must fail-safe on power failure and have a 

&)'+80*%,.:$#%&-,,1*<%=+%&.6$%&")-')".+&%J"+21-8"+9%6"S$8%2.66$#2"'1%'+8%#$&"8$+)"'1%

buildings), it might be necessary to consider the provision of suitable override controls in 

accordance with BS 7273-4.

@`<X%_5$+%;."8%4')&%'#$%&$2-#$87%")%"&%$&&$+)"'1%)5')%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#%#$6'"+&%.(%'%)*,$%

)5')%"&%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%'+8%&$1(/21.&"+9<

@?<%%!1')&%"+%6"S$8%-&$%0-"18"+9&

@?<>% =)%"&%"6,.#)'+)%)5')%2.6,'#)6$+)')".+%0$):$$+%4')&%'+8%.)5$#%.22-,'+2"$&%"&%.(%'%5"95%

&)'+8'#8%).%#$8-2$%)5$%#"&3%.(%D#$/&,#$'8%'+8%).%&-,,.#)%)5$%Y&)'*%,-)Z%,.1"2*%:5"25%

&5.-187%:5$#$;$#%,.&&"01$7%0$%'8.,)$8%(.#%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&<%!1')&%&5.-18%0$%

&$,'#')$8%(#.6%.)5$#%.22-,'+2"$&%"+%6"S$8/-&$%0-"18"+9&%0*%:'11&%'+8%4..#&%'((.#8"+9%'%

6"+"6-6%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%.(%@A%6"+-)$&<

@?<N% =)%"&%$G-'11*%"6,.#)'+)%)5')%)5$%2.66.+%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%(#.6%4')&%"&%&-")'01*%,#.)$2)$8%

(#.6%)5$%$(($2)&%.(%'%D#$%"+%.)5$#%.22-,'+2"$&<%H5$%2.66.+%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%#.-)$&7%

including corridors, lobbies and stairways, should be separated from other occupancies 

0*%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%2.+&)#-2)".+%).%$+&-#$%)5$%$&2',$%#.-)$&%#$6'"+%&'($%).%-&$%')%'11%)"6$&<

Page 122



107          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

@?<V% =+%0-"18"+9&%.(%(.-#%&).#$*&7%&)'"#:'*&%6'*%&$#;$%0.)5%4')&%'+8%.)5$#%.22-,'+2"$&7%

provided that the stairways are separated from each occupancy by a protected lobby at 

each level.

@?<U% =+%0-"18"+9&%.;$#%(.-#%&).#$*&7%:5$#$%)5$%4')&%'#$%+.)%'+2"11'#*%).%)5$%6'"+%-&$7%)5$%4')&%

should be served by an independent alternative escape stairway that is not shared with 

.)5$#%.22-,'+2"$&%"+%)5$%0-"18"+9<%P.:$;$#7%'%#$1'S')".+%)5')%,$#6")&%'%&5'#$8%&)'"#:'*%

6'*%0$%'22$,)'01$%"+%'%0-"18"+9%:5$#$%)5$%4')&%8.%+.)%(.#6%'%&-0&)'+)"'1%#$&"8$+)"'1%

element of the building.

@?<O%_5$#$%'%01.23%.(%4')&%&5'#$&%'%2.66.+%$&2',$%&)'"#:'*%:")57%(.#%$S'6,1$7%2.66$#2"'1%

,#$6"&$&%0$1.:7%")%"&%2.+;$+)".+'1%,#'2)"2$%).%$S)$+8%)5$%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%)5')%"&%

,#$&$+)%"+%)5$%2.66$#2"'1%,#$6"&$&%).%2.;$#%)5$%4')&<%H5"&7%"+%$(($2)7%:.-18%6$'+%)5')%

a ‘stay put’ policy cannot be adopted. Given the disruption this could cause, options for 

8$&"9+"+9%.#%2.+D9-#"+9%)5$%&*&)$6%).%#$8-2$%)5$%1"3$1"5..8%)5')%)5$%$+)"#$%01.23%:"11%

+$$8%).%0$%$;'2-')$8%&"6-1)'+$.-&1*%&5.-18%0$%2.+&"8$#$8%J&$$%F,,$+8"S%@L<

70.  Sheltered housing

XA<>%K5$1)$#$8%5.-&"+9%&25$6$&%;'#*%"+%#$&,$2)%.(%&"a$7%8$&"9+7%-&$%'+8%2.6,1$S")*<%H5$*%

2'+%#'+9$%(#.6%'%2.11$2)".+%.(%&$1(/2.+)'"+$8%0-+9'1.:&%.#%4')&7%:")5%+.%.+/&")$%('2"1")"$&%

.#%&25$6$%6'+'9$#&7%).%6-25%1'#9$#%2.6,1$S$&%)5')%6'*%,#.;"8$%2.66-+'1%('2"1")"$&%

such as kitchens, laundry rooms, communal lounges and on-site scheme managers.

XA<N%F1)5.-95%&.6$%&25$6$&%&)"11%5';$%'+%.+/&")$%&25$6$%6'+'9$#7%6'+*%#$1*%.+%.+/2'11%

&*&)$6&7%)5#.-95%&.2"'1%'1'#6%&*&)$6&7%).%,#.;"8$%&-,,.#)%).%#$&"8$+)&<%=+%)5$&$%2'&$&7%

there may be only limited day-time cover and no management presence during the night 

).%,#.;"8$%'+*%'&&"&)'+2$%).%)5$%#$&"8$+)&%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%'%D#$<

70.3 Sheltered schemes are designed and constructed on similar lines to purpose-built 

01.23&%.(%4')&7%:")5%2.6,'#)6$+)%:'11&%'+8%4..#&%'+8%,#.)$2)$8%$&2',$%#.-)$&<%H5$%

principles of a ‘stay put’ policy apply equally in the same way to sheltered schemes as 

)5$*%8.%).%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&<

XA<U% =+%Y$S)#'%2'#$Z%&5$1)$#$8%&25$6$&7%&.6$%#$&"8$+)&%6'*%5';$%8"(D2-1)*%"+%$&2',"+9%(#.6%

)5$"#%.:+%4')%:")5.-)%.-)&"8$%'&&"&)'+2$<%F1)5.-95%)5"&7%"+%6'+*%:'*&7%"&%+.%8"(($#$+)%

from older persons living in their own home, it does present a particular challenge due 

).%)5$%+-60$#%.(%4..#&%'+8%1'*.-)%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9&7%'+8%)5$%1'23%.(%'+*%6'+'9$6$+)%

support, particularly during the night.

70.5 The limitations of the residents should be taken into account when undertaking 

assessments in sheltered schemes, and any particular concerns resulting from the 

vulnerability of any residents should be addressed. However, the recommendations in 

this guide for sheltered schemes are based on the assumption that residents are able to 

Page 123



108          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

$&2',$%-+'"8$8%(#.6%)5$"#%.:+%4')&%'+8%2'+%6'3$%)5$"#%:'*%).%'%,1'2$%.(%&'($)*%-&"+9%

the common means of escape.

' J7+1-7*"':1*7&'#('1&$*;1'(-#:')*+&

XA<@%I')5$#%)5'+%,#.;"8$%,#.)$2)$8%$+)#'+2$%5'11&%:")5%&$1(/21.&"+9%8..#&7%:5"25%2'+%0$%&$$+%

'&%'+%.0&)'21$%).%.18$#%#$&"8$+)&7%,1'++$#&%,#$($##$8%).%8$&"9+%4')&%:")5%1"6")$8%)#';$1%

8"&)'+2$&%.#%,#.;"8$%'1)$#+')";$%$S")&7%,'#)"2-1'#1*%(.#%)5.&$%4')&%.+%)5$%9#.-+8%1$;$1<%

_5$+%'&&$&&"+9%)5$%&-")'0"1")*%.(%)5$%$S"&)"+9%"+)$#+'1%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%(#.6%)5$%4')7%)5$%

1"3$1*%"+'0"1")*%.(%)5$%#$&"8$+)%).%+$9.)"')$%&$1(/21.&"+9%D#$%8..#&%'+8%-&$%$&2',$%8..#&%.#%

escape windows should be carefully considered. This would include any security locks 

.#%('&)$+"+9&%D))$8%).%$&2',$%8..#&%.#%:"+8.:&<

XA<X%B'25%4')%:")5"+%'%&5$1)$#$8%&25$6$%&5.-18%0$%,#.;"8$8%:")5%'%6$'+&%.(%9";"+9%:'#+"+9%

"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%'%D#$%"+%)5$"#%.:+%4')<%B'25%4')%&5.-18%5';$%'%6"+"6-6%.(%'%C#'8$%]%

Category LD3 system with smoke alarms in the circulation space or entrance hall. This 

6'*%+$$8%).%0$%$S)$+8$8%).%'%W]N%&*&)$67%8$,$+8"+9%.+%)5$%1'*.-)%.(%)5$%4')%'+8%)5$%

+')-#$%.(%)5$%#$&"8$+)<%JK$$%'1&.%F,,$+8"S%@%:")5%#$9'#8%).%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&%2.;$#"+9%

the common parts.)

Page 124



109          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

 Common means of escape

XA<`% =+%&5$1)$#$8%&25$6$&7%)5$%8"&)'+2$%.(%)#';$1%(#.6%'%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#%).%'%8..#%).%'%

protected stairway, protected lobby or door sub-dividing a corridor should be limited to 

'11.:%#$&"8$+)&%).%$&2',$%-+'"8$8<%=)%2'++.)%0$%'&&-6$8%)5')%'%&25$6$%6'+'9$#%.#%

other persons will be available to render assistance. Residents should not be required 

).%)#';$1%('#%"+%'%&6.3$/D11$8%2.##"8.#%).%'%,1'2$%.(%&'($)*7%'+8%)5$%2-##$+)%0$+256'#3%

limits on travel distance should be met in most cases.

XA<?%!"#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&7%"+21-8"+9%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&7%'#$%'+%"6,.#)'+)%$1$6$+)%"+%)5$%

,#.)$2)".+%.(%)5$%2.66.+%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$<%F1)5.-95%")%6'*%0$%#$'&.+'01$%).%'22$,)%

‘notional FD30’ doors in the smaller schemes, in many blocks, it might be more 

appropriate to provide ‘upgraded FD30S’ doors as a minimum, albeit as part of a long 

term programme.

XA<>A% Q.&)%.18$#%'+8%8"&'01$8%#$&"8$+)&%:"11%D+8%")%8"(D2-1)%).%+$9.)"')$%&$1(/21.&"+9%D#$%

8..#&%8-#"+9%$;$#*8'*%-&$%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9<%H5$%D))"+9%.(%5.18%.,$+%8$;"2$&7%,'#)"2-1'#1*%

.+%8..#&%:")5"+%)5$%5.#"a.+)'1%2"#2-1')".+%&,'2$&%'+8%"+%2.66-+'1%'#$'&7%&5.-18%0$%

considered.

XA<>>% Q'+*%.18$#%'+8%8"&'01$8%#$&"8$+)&%:"11%D+8%")%8"(D2-1)%).%-&$%&)'"#&%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%'%D#$7%

and additional measures may need to be considered. These could include temporary 

&'($%#$(-9$%'#$'&%.#%&,'2$&%:")5"+%$S"&)"+9%,#.)$2)$8%1.00"$&%'+8%&)'"#&<%=(%1"()&%'#$%

provided, where reasonably practicable, consideration should be given to the provision 

.(%$;'2-')".+%1"()&%)5')%#$&"8$+)&%6'*%-&$%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%'%D#$<

XA<>N% F11%2.66-+'1%('2"1")"$&%E%&-25%'&%3")25$+&7%1.-+9$&7%1'-+8#*%#..6&%'+8%'+*%,1'+)%.#%

&$#;"2$%#..6%E%&5.-187%:5$#$%+$2$&&'#*7%0$%&$,'#')$8%(#.6%2.66.+%$&2',$%#.-)$&%

"+21-8"+9%2.##"8.#&%'+8%&)'"#:'*&<%H5$*%&5.-18%5';$%VA/6"+-)$%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%,'#)")".+&%

'+8%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&<%P"95/5'a'#8%#..6&%&5.-18%0$%&$,'#')$8%(#.6%&)'"#:'*&%0*%'%

protected lobby.

XA<>V% F8$G-')$%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%&5.-18%0$%,#.;"8$8%(#.6%2.66-+'1%'#$'&7%&-25%'&%'%

1.-+9$7%:5"257%"8$'11*7%&5.-18%5';$%.+$%$S")%1$'8"+9%8"#$2)%).%.,$+%'"#<%F+*%(-#+")-#$%.#%

&.()%(-#+"&5"+9&%,#.;"8$8%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%&5.-18%0$%&-0T$2)%).%'%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)<

Page 125



110          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

X><%%!"#$/D95)"+9%('2"1")"$&

X><>%!"#$/D95)"+9%('2"1")"$&%'#$%#$G-"#$8%"+%2$#)'"+%01.23&%.(%4')&%).%'&&"&)%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%

service for the safety of life.

71.2 These facilities may include:

g% ;$5"21$%'22$&&%(.#%D#$%',,1"'+2$&

g% '22$&&%(.#%D#$/D95)"+9%,$#&.++$1

g% D#$%6'"+&%:")5"+%0-"18"+9&

g% venting of heat and smoke from basement areas.

X><V% =+%&6'11%01.23&%.(%4')&7%")%"&%-&-'11*%.+1*%+$2$&&'#*%).%$+&-#$%;$5"21$%'22$&&%"&%

'8$G-')$7%'+8%)5')%&.6$%6$'+&%.(%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%"&%';'"1'01$<%=+%)'11$#%01.23&%('2"1")"$&%E%

&-25%'&%D#$%6'"+&7%D#$/D95)"+9%&5'()&%'+8%D#$/D95)"+9%1"()&%E%6'*%0$%#$G-"#$8<

X><U% =+%.)5$#%)5'+%;$#*%-+-&-'1%2"#2-6&)'+2$&7%)5$#$%&5.-18%0$%+.%#$G-"#$6$+)%).%,#.;"8$%

D#$/D95)"+9%('2"1")"$&%"+%'+%$S"&)"+9%01.23%.(%4')&%.#%-,9#'8$%'+*%('2"1")"$&%"(%)5$&$%:$#$%

not required at the time of construction to comply with the standards of the day.

X><O%H5$%2-##$+)%0$+256'#3%8$&"9+%9-"8'+2$%(.#%D#$/D95)"+9%('2"1")"$&%(.#%+$:%01.23&%.(%4')&%

is as follows.

g% =+%01.23&%.(%4')&%:")5.-)%'+%"+)$#+'1%D#$%6'"+7%)5$#$%&5.-18%0$%;$5"21$%'22$&&%(.#%'%

D#$%',,1"'+2$%).%:")5"+%UO6%.(%'11%,."+)&%:")5"+%$'25%4')<%=+%,#$;".-&%9-"8'+2$7%)5"&%

8"&)'+2$%:'&%@A6<

g% =+%01.23&%.(%4')&%D))$8%:")5%'%D#$%6'"+7%'11%,."+)&%:")5"+%$'25%4')%&5.-18%0$%:")5"+%@A6%

.(%'%1'+8"+9%;'1;$%.+%)5$%D#$%6'"+%"+%'%D#$/D95)"+9%&5'()%JUO6%"(%)5$%1'+8"+9%;'1;$%"&%"+%

a protected stairway).

g% !1')&%.;$#%>`6%"+%5$"95)%&5.-18%0$%,#.;"8$8%:")5%'%D#$/D95)"+9%&5'()7%2.+&"&)"+9%.(%'%

D#$/D95)"+9%&)'"#:'*%'+8%'%D#$%6'"+%1.2')$8%"+%)5$%&)'"#:'*7%'+8%'%D#$/D95)"+9%1"()<%H5$%

D#$/D95)"+9%1"()%2'+7%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&7%.,$+%"+).%)5$%2.66.+%2.##"8.#%9";"+9%'22$&&%).%

)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&7%,#.;"8"+9%)5$%1"()%8..#&%'#$%+.%6.#$%)5'+%X<O6%(#.6%)5$%8..#%).%

the stairway.

X><X% =+%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&7%)5$%D#$/D95)"+9%('2"1")"$&%6'*%+.)%0$%"+%'22.#8'+2$%:")5%)5$%

'0.;$<%=+%)5$&$%2"#2-6&)'+2$&7%)5$%'8;"2$%.(%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$%6'*%+$$8%

to be sought, as it may not be possible, or even appropriate, to consider upgrades to 

meet current benchmarks. What is important is that the facilities provided should, at 

least, meet the standard of the day when the block was built and that these should be 

6'"+)'"+$8%"+%$(D2"$+)%:.#3"+9%.#8$#<

Page 126



111          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

XN<%%BS)$#+'1%D#$/&,#$'8

XN<>%H5$%$S)$#+'1%('m'8$&%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&%&5.-18%+.)%,#.;"8$%,.)$+)"'1%(.#%$S)$+&";$%D#$/

&,#$'8<%_5$+%'&&$&&"+9%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&7%,'#)"2-1'#%'))$+)".+%&5.-18%0$%9";$+%).%

'+*%#'"+&2#$$+%.#%.)5$#%$S)$#+'1%21'88"+9%&*&)$6%)5')%5'&%0$$+%',,1"$8%'+8%).%('m'8$&%

that have been replaced.

XN<N%H5$%-&$%.(%2.60-&)"01$%21'88"+9%6')$#"'1&%'+8%$S)$+&";$%2';")"$&%2'+%,#$&$+)%'%#"&37%

particularly in high-rise blocks. Restrictions are normally applied to the nature of such 

6')$#"'1&%'+8%"+%,'#)"2-1'#%)5$"#%&-#('2$%&,#$'8%.(%4'6$%25'#'2)$#"&)"2&<%\';")*%0'##"$#&%

'#$%'1&.%#$G-"#$8%"+%&.6$%2"#2-6&)'+2$&<%F&&"&)'+2$%(#.6%&,$2"'1"&)&%6'*%0$%#$G-"#$8%

).%8$)$#6"+$%"(%)5$%$S)$#+'1%&-#('2$&%.(%:'11&%'#$%&')"&('2).#*%'+8%:5$)5$#%)5$#$%"&%

adequate provision of cavity barriers.

56B3-1'LP'>'<*&6$'$#:;#717+&'#('*'D-1KDB9+67B'&9*(+

Fire main outlet

Common 

corridor

7.5m 

Q'S

!"#$D95)"+9%

lift in lift 

shaft

!"#$D95)"+9%

stairs

Q"+"6-6%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%@A%6"+-)$&%(#.6%0.)5%&"8$&%:")5%VA%6"+-)$%D#$%8..#&

Q"+"6-6%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%>NA%6"+-)$&%(#.6%'22.6.8')".+%&"8$%'+8%@A%6"+-)$&%

(#.6%)5$%&5'()%:")5%@A%6"+-)$&%D#$%8..#&

Smoke control arrangements not shown

Page 127



112          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

d$*%,."+)&

g% F##'+9$6$+)&%(.#%6'+'9"+9%D#$%&'($)*%"+%'%01.23%.(%4')&%&5.-18%"+21-8$%)5$%(.11.:"+9<

g% ]$;$1.,"+9%'%D#$%,.1"2*%'+8%',,."+)"+9%&.6$.+$%"+%)5$%.#9'+"&')".+%).%)'3$%.;$#'11%

#$&,.+&"0"1")*%(.#%D#$%&'($)*<

g% Q'3"+9%&-#$%&.6$.+$%"&%8$&"9+')$8%).%,#.;"8$%9-"8'+2$%.+%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%#$G-"#$8%

by the FSO, and supporting this person with help from specialists, where necessary.

g% \..#8"+')"+9%'+8%2..,$#')"+9%:")5%.)5$#%.22-,"$#&7%,'#)"2-1'#1*%.+%"&&-$&%&-25%'&%D#$%

procedures.

g% c&"+9%#$&"8$+)&Z%5'+80..3&7%:$0&")$&%'+8%.)5$#%6$8"'%).%$+9'9$%:")5%#$&"8$+)&%'+8%

2.66-+"2')$%;")'1%D#$%&'($)*%6$&&'9$&<

g% e#.;"8"+9%9$+$#"2%)#'"+"+9%).%$+&-#$%5.-&"+9%.(D2$#&%'+8%.)5$#&%;"&")"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&%5';$%

&-(D2"$+)%D#$%&'($)*%':'#$+$&&<

g% e#$,'#"+9%#$1$;'+)%D#$%,#.2$8-#$&%'+8%6'3"+9%$;$#*.+$%':'#$%.(%)5$6<

g% Q'+'9"+9%)5$%#"&3%(#.6%0-"18"+9%:.#3&7%"+21-8"+9%'8.,)"+9%'%Y5.)%:.#3Z%,$#6")%&*&)$6<

g% Putting in place programmes for routine inspection, testing, servicing and maintenance of 

D#$%&'($)*%&*&)$6&%'+8%$G-",6$+)<

g% F##'+9"+9%&"6"1'#%,#.9#'66$&%).%6.+").#%)5$%2.+8")".+%.(%.)5$#%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&7%&-25%

'&%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&<

g% Q.+").#"+9%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%)5#.-95%(.#6'1%"+&,$2)".+&7%'+8%'&%,'#)%.(%8'*/)./8'*%

activities by staff.

g% \'##*"+9%.-)%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%#$;"$:&%).%6.+").#%&)'+8'#8&<

g% Putting in place processes for scrutinising planned alterations in order to consider their 

"6,'2)%.+%D#$%&'($)*<

g% Q'"+)'"+"+9%&-")'01$%#$2.#8&<

g% W"'"&"+9%:")5%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$%'+8%$+2.-#'9"+9%#$&"8$+)&%).%)'3$%-,%)5$%.(($#%.(%

5.6$%D#$/&'($)*%25$23&<

Part G: Q'+'9"+9%D#$%#"&3%E% 
ongoing control

Page 128



113          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

XV<%%=+)#.8-2)".+

XV<>%_5')$;$#%,5*&"2'1%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%'#$%,#.;"8$8%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&%).%$+&-#$%'%

suitable standard of safety, their effectiveness will only be as good as their management 

'+8%6'"+)$+'+2$<%C-"8'+2$%.+%D#$%&'($)*%6'+'9$6$+)%"+%0-"18"+9&%"&%2.+)'"+$8%"+%^K%

????<%H5$#$%"&%'1&.%9-"8'+2$%"+%)5$%PQ%C.;$#+6$+)%9-"8$%Y!"#$%&'($)*%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)R%

sleeping accommodation’. The recommendations in these documents apply equally to 

)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&<%P.:$;$#7%9";$+%)5$%#$1')";$1*%&"6,1$%+')-#$%.(%'%

01.23%.(%4')&7%6'+*%:"11%+.)%0$%#$1$;'+)<

XV<N% =+8$$87%)5$#$%'#$%&$;$#'1%(-+8'6$+)'1%8"(($#$+2$&%0$):$$+%01.23&%.(%4')&%'+8%6'+*%

.)5$#%)*,$&%.(%0-"18"+9%)5')%"6,'2)%.+%5.:%D#$%&'($)*%2'+7%'+8%&5.-18%0$7%6'+'9$8<%

These include:

g% )5$#$%"&%-&-'11*%+./.+$%.+%)5$%,#$6"&$&%).%6'+'9$%D#$%&'($)*%.+%'%8'*/)./8'*%0'&"&

g% )5$%#$&,.+&$%).%'%D#$%"+%'%01.23%.(%4')&%:5$#$%)5$%$;'2-')".+%&)#')$9*%"&%).%Y&)'*%,-)Z%

contrasts with the immediate or progressive evacuation of the occupants in most 

other buildings

g% ,'#)&%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9%6'*%0$%-+8$#%8"(($#$+)%.:+$#&5",%$9%1$'&$5.18%4')&

g% 1'+81.#8&%'+8%.)5$#&%#$&,.+&"01$%(.#%D#$%&'($)*%5';$%1"6")$8%2.+)#.1%.;$#%)5$%'2)";")"$&%

.(%)$+'+)&%:")5"+%)5$"#%4')&7%'+8%$;$+%1$&&%.;$#%1$'&$5.18$#&

g% '22$&&%).%4')&%6'*%+.)%0$%,.&&"01$%'+87%$;$+%:5$#$%$+)#*%2'+%0$%9'"+$87%#$&)#"2)".+&%

may apply

g% #$&"8$+)&%'#$%-&-'11*%'%8"&,'#')$%9#.-,%:")5%+.%2.66.+%'11$9"'+2$%E%")%2'++.)%0$%

$S,$2)$8%)5')%)5$*%:.-18%#$&,.+8%.#%0$5';$%1"3$%)5$%.22-,'+)&%.(%.)5$#%)*,$&%.(%

residential accommodation, such as hotels and halls of residence

g% )5$%1$;$1%.(%D#$%&'($)*%3+.:1$89$%.(%#$&"8$+)&%:"11%0$%;'#"'01$%'+8%#$1*%-,.+%;.1-+)'#*%

2..,$#')".+%"+%$60#'2"+9%D#$%&'($)*%"+")"')";$&<

XV<V%H5.&$%#$&,.+&"01$%(.#%$+&-#"+9%'8$G-')$%D#$%&'($)*%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&%'+8%6'+'9"+9%)5"&%

.+%'+%.+9."+9%0'&"&%2'+%"+21-8$%.:+$#&7%,#.;"8$#&%'+8%6'+'9"+9%'9$+)&<%F1&.%"+21-8$8%

in this are:

g% social landlords, such as local authorities and housing associations

g% private rented sector landlords 

g% resident management companies established by residents

g% F&%8"&2-&&$8%"+%e'#)%\%.(%)5"&%9-"8$7%'11%'#$%#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+&%-+8$#%)5$%!KM%'+8%

all have obligations in this regard under the law.

XV<U%I$&"8$+)&%'1&.%5';$%)5$"#%,'#)%).%,1'*<%=+%'88")".+%).%2.66-+"2')"+9%)5$%D#$%,#$;$+)".+%

6$&&'9$%J&$$%e'#)%BL7%"&%'%(-+8'6$+)'1%$1$6$+)%.(%.+9."+9%2.+)#.1%.;$#%D#$%&'($)*%).%

Page 129



114          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

$+9'9$%:")5%#$&"8$+)&7%).%$S,1'"+%:5')%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%)5$#$%"&%"+%)5$%0-"18"+9%'+8%5.:%

they can ensure it remains effective.

73.5 Fire risk assessors and enforcing authorities must understand what is achievable by 

6'+'9$6$+)%'+8%0$%#$'1"&)"2%"+%)5$"#%$S,$2)')".+&<%F1)5.-95%2"#2-6&)'+2$&%:"11%8"(($#7%")%

:.-187%(.#%$S'6,1$7%+.#6'11*%0$%"+',,#.,#"')$%).%#$1'S%.)5$#%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%"+%)5$%

building on the assumption that a high level of management will be in place.

XV<@%BG-'11*7%"+%&)",-1')"+9%2$#)'"+%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&7%&-25%'&%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%

systems, there will be a consequent level of management needed. This may or may 

+.)%0$%,.&&"01$7%'+8%&.1-)".+&%).%D#$%&'($)*%&5.-18%';."8%,1'2"+9%-+#$'1"&)"2%0-#8$+&%.+%

management.

XV<X%H5$#$%'#$%6"+"6-6%#$G-"#$6$+)&%(.#%D#$%&'($)*%6'+'9$6$+)%)5')%&5.-18%0$%'25"$;$8%"+%

.#8$#%(.#%)5$%&)'+8'#8%.(%D#$%&'($)*%).%0$%6'"+)'"+$8%')%'+%'8$G-')$%1$;$1<%H5$&$7%'1.+9%

:")5%$S'6,1$&%.(%9..8%,#'2)"2$7%'#$%8"&2-&&$8%0$1.:<

XU<%%I$&,.+&"0"1")*%(.#%D#$%&'($)*%"+%)5$%0-"18"+9

XU<>%F1)5.-95%)5$#$%:"11%+.)%+$2$&&'#"1*%0$%'+*.+$%.+%&")$%).%6'+'9$%D#$%&'($)*%.+%'%8'*/

by-day basis, it is important that there is someone within the organisation, whatever its 

&"a$7%:5.%5'&%.;$#'11%#$&,.+&"0"1")*%(.#%D#$%&'($)*<%=)%"&%2.66.+%"+%1'#9$#%.#9'+"&')".+&%

(.#%)5"&%).%0$%&,1")<%!.#%$S'6,1$7%$&)')$&%6'"+)$+'+2$%)$'6&%6'*%0$%#$&,.+&"01$%(.#%

#$,'"#&%'+8%#.-)"+$%)$&)"+9%'+8%"+&,$2)".+%.(%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&7%:")5%)5$%1$))"+9%

department responsible for ensuring that residents understand the conditions applying 

).%'1)$#')".+&%).%)5$"#%4')&%'+8%5';$%#$2$";$8%D#$%&'($)*%"+(.#6')".+%.+%)'3"+9%-,%

.22-,')".+<%P.-&"+9%.(D2$#&%6'*%)5$+%0$%#$&,.+&"01$%(.#%#.-)"+$%"+&,$2)".+&%.(%D#$%

safety.

74.2 Where responsibility is shared in this way, it is important that there is someone who has 

overall control and authority to ensure that everyone’s activities are coordinated and 

nothing is missed.

XU<V%F11%.#9'+"&')".+&%&5.-18%(.#6'1"&$%)5$%#.1$&%'+8%#$&,.+&"0"1")"$&%.(%)5.&$%2.+)#"0-)"+9%).%

)5$%6'+'9$6$+)%.(%D#$%&'($)*<%H5"&%&5.-18%(.#6%,'#)%.(%'%D#$%&'($)*%,.1"2*<%K-25%'%,.1"2*%

would normally be part of arrangements required by the FSO for the effective planning, 

organisation, control, monitoring and review of the ‘preventive and protective’ measures.

XO<%%F22$&&%).%2.6,$)$+)%'8;"2$%.+%D#$%&'($)*%1$9"&1')".+

75.1 There is a responsibility under the FSO to appoint a competent person to provide safety 

'&&"&)'+2$7%"$%9-"8'+2$%.+%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%#$G-"#$8%0*%)5$%1$9"&1')".+%'+8%5.:%

they should be implemented.

Page 130



115          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

75.2 However, this does not preclude an organisation obtaining assistance with this from 

'+%',,#.,#"')$1*%G-'1"D$8%'+8%$S,$#"$+2$8%2.+&-1)'+)7%.#%'+.)5$#%&-")'01$%&.-#2$7%).%

&-,,.#)%)5$%,$#&.+%"+%(-1D11"+9%)5"&%#.1$<%F+*.+$%,#.;"8"+9%)5"&%&$#;"2$%).%'%#$&,.+&"01$%

,$#&.+%6-&)%0$%(-11*%('6"1"'#%:")5%D#$%&'($)*%#$G-"#$6$+)&%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&<

X@<%%\..#8"+')".+%:")5%.)5$#%.22-,"$#&

X@<>% H5$%!KM%'1&.%"6,.&$&%8-)"$&%.+%'%#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+%).%o2..#8"+')$%'+8%2..,$#')$p%:")5%

other responsible persons, either located in the same building or having responsibility 

(.#%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%"+%)5$%01.23<%H5"&%6'*%',,1*%:5$#$%)5$%01.23%.(%4')&%"&%,'#)%

of a development with shops, hotels and other commercial premises, unless there is 

&-0&)'+)"'1%D#$%&$,'#')".+%0$):$$+%)5$%):.%'+8%)5$#$%'#$%+.%&5'#$8%$&2',$%#.-)$&<

X@<N%F%3$*%$1$6$+)%.(%)5"&%"&%2..#8"+')".+%.(%D#$%,#.2$8-#$&<%P.:$;$#7%")%8.$&%+.)%"6,1*%

)5')7%&"6,1*%0$2'-&$%)5$%4')&%'#$%"+%'%6"S$8/-&$%0-"18"+97%'%Y&)'*%,-)Z%,.1"2*%:"11%+.)%0$%

appropriate.

X@<V% H5$%8"(D2-1)"$&%)5')%2'+%'#"&$%:5$+%'%0-"18"+9%.#%")&%D#$%&'($)*%&*&)$6&%'#$%&5'#$8%8.%+$$8%

).%0$%#$2.9+"&$8<%!.#%$S'6,1$7%)5$%8$)$2).#&%+$$8$8%).%.,$#')$%FMi&%"+%)5$%1.00"$&%).%

&)'"#:'*&%6'*%0$%,'#)%.(%'%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%2.;$#"+9%2.66$#2"'1%'#$'&<%F&%)5$%&*&)$6%"&%

common to both, it important that a single organisation takes responsibility for its testing and 

maintenance and that there is adequate recourse in contracts and leases to take action if 

there is a failing on this organisation’s part to effect this.

77.  Engaging with residents

XX<>%W'+81.#8&%'+8%.)5$#&%#$&,.+&"01$%(.#%6'+'9"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&%&5.-18%&$$3%).%$+9'9$%

:")5%#$&"8$+)&%'+8%2.66-+"2')$%'%+-60$#%.(%;")'1%D#$%&'($)*%6$&&'9$&7%"+21-8"+9R

g% 5.:%)5$*%2'+%,#$;$+)%D#$&%"+%)5$"#%.:+%5.6$%'+8%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&

g% the importance of maintaining their block secure (making sure doors close behind 

)5$6%:5$+%)5$*%$+)$#%.#%1$';$L%'+8%0$"+9%;"9"1'+)%(.#%8$1"0$#')$%D#$%&$))"+9

g% )5')%)5$*%&5.-18%+$;$#%&).#$%.#%-&$%,$)#.17%0.))1$8%9'&7%,'#'(D+%5$')$#&%.#%.)5$#%

4'66'01$%6')$#"'1&%"+%)5$"#%4')&7%.+%)5$"#%0'12.+*%.#%"+%&5'#$8%'#$'&

g% :5')%'2)".+%)5$*%&5.-18%)'3$%"(%)5$*%8"&2.;$#%'%D#$

g% 5.:%)5$*%2'+%$+&-#$%)5$*%2'+%6'3$%)5$"#%:'*%&'($1*%(#.6%)5$"#%4')&%'+8%5.:%).%$S")%

)5$%0-"18"+9%.+2$%)5$*%5';$%1$()%)5$"#%4')

g% :5')%Y&)'*%,-)Z%6$'+&%"(%)5$#$%"&%'%D#$%$1&$:5$#$%"+%)5$%0-"18"+9

g% what they must do to safeguard communal escape routes, especially taking care to 

6'3$%&-#$%D#$%8..#&%&$1(/21.&$%,#.,$#1*%'+8%'#$%+.)%:$89$87%)"$8%.#%.)5$#:"&$%5$18%

open

Page 131



116          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

g% what the policy on the use of common parts requires of them

g% 5.:%)5$*%2'+%';."8%"+'8;$#)$+)1*%8'6'9"+9%)5$%0-"18"+9Z&%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%:5$+%6'3"+9%

25'+9$&%).%)5$"#%4')

g% :5$+%'+8%5.:%)5$*%&5.-18%-&$%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5$#&%'+8%.)5$#%D#$/D95)"+9%$G-",6$+)7%"(%

,#.;"8$87%'+8%:5*%)5$*%&5.-18%+.)%6.;$%")%.#%.)5$#:"&$%"+)$#($#$%:")5%")%$S2$,)%).%-&$%

it in an emergency

g% what is involved in testing their smoke alarms and how often they should do it

g% :'*&%)5$*%2'+%'&&"&)%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$%0*%+.)%01.23"+9%'22$&&%:5$+%,'#3"+97%

'+8%0*%3$$,"+9%D#$%6'"+%"+1$)&%'+8%.-)1$)&7%:5$#$%,#.;"8$87%21$'#

g% 5.:%)5$*%2'+%#$,.#)%$&&$+)"'1%#$,'"#&%+$$8$8%).%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%"+%)5$"#%4')%'+8%

elsewhere in the block.

XX<N% I$&"8$+)&Z%5'+80..3&%'#$%)#'8")".+'11*%.+$%:'*%).%2.66-+"2')$%0'&"2%D#$%&'($)*%'8;"2$%).%

new residents in rented accommodation. Similarly, many organisations use their website 

).%2.+;$*%"+(.#6')".+%.(%)5"&%+')-#$%).%)5$"#%)$+'+)&<%_5$#$%',,#.,#"')$7%'+8%&-0T$2)%).%)5$%

policy on use of the common parts, this can be reinforced with notices displayed in the 

0-"18"+9<%H5"&%6'*%"+21-8$%)5$%D+8"+9&%.(%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)<

XX<V%P.:$;$#7%&,$2"D2'11*%)'#9$)$8%2'6,'"9+&%.(%1$'4$)"+9%'+8%.)5$#%"+")"')";$&%).%,#.6.)$%

D#$%&'($)*%6'*%0$%+$2$&&'#*%).%3$$,%)5$%6$&&'9$%(#$&5%"+%,$.,1$Z&%6"+8&7%-,%).%8')$%

'+8%#$1$;'+)%).%)5$"#%,'#)"2-1'#%2"#2-6&)'+2$&<%H5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$%2'+%'&&"&)%

:")5%)5"&7%T."+"+9%:")5%1'+81.#8&7%.)5$#%#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+&%'+8%.)5$#%'9$+2"$&%.+%

"+")"')";$&%).%.(($#%(#$$%5.6$%D#$/&'($)*%25$23&%).%#$&"8$+)&<

XX<U%C$+$#'1%'8;"2$%).%9";$%).%#$&"8$+)&%.+%8.6$&)"2%D#$%&'($)*%'+8%,#$;$+)"+9%D#$&%"+%)5$%

5.6$%"&%';'"1'01$%(#.6%5)),RllD#$3"11&<8"#$2)<9.;<-3l"+8$S<5)61<%Ye#.)$2)%*.-#&$1(%"+%*.-#%

rented home’, which is guidance on electrical safety, is also available, in both printed 

and online form, from the Electrical Safety Council. 

% =)%"&%"6,.#)'+)%)5')%)5$%+$$8&%.(%+.+/B+91"&5%&,$'3"+9%#$&"8$+)&%'#$%)'3$+%"+).%'22.-+)<%

Fire safety information in a number of alternative languages is available to download 

(#.6%:::<8"#$2)<9.;<-3l$+lP.6$F+8\.66-+")*l=+q.-#P.6$l!"#$K'($)*<%

% F,,$+8"S%U%).%)5"&%9-"8$%'1&.%2.+)'"+&%&-")'01$%2.+)$+)%(.#%0'&"2%'8;"2$%).%"+21-8$%:5$+%

2.66-+"2')"+9%:")5%#$&"8$+)&<%^'&"2%D#$%'2)".+%+.)"2$&%'#$%-&-'11*%)5$%&"6,1$&)%6$'+&%

.(%2.+;$*"+9%).%#$&"8$+)&%)5$%'2)".+&%)5$*%&5.-18%)'3$%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%'%D#$<%

XX<O%F,,$+8"S%O%2.+)'"+&%)$6,1')$&%(.#%&"6,1$%D#$%'2)".+%+.)"2$&%',,1"2'01$%0.)5%).%&")-')".+&%

:5$#$%'%Y&)'*%,-)Z%,.1"2*%',,1"$&%'+8%&")-')".+&%:5$#$%E%0*%;"#)-$%.(%'%2.66-+'1%D#$%

'1'#6%&*&)$6%E%'%&"6-1)'+$.-&%$;'2-')".+%&)#')$9*%',,1"$&<

Page 132



117          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

XX<@% =+%01.23&%.(%4')&%:")5%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&7%&-25%'&%6'+*%&5$1)$#$8%&25$6$&7%")%

is particularly important that residents understand:

g% 5.:%).%#$&,.+8%).%D#$%'1'#6&%"+%)5$"#%.:+%4')&

g% :5')%"&%$S,$2)$8%.(%)5$6%"(%)5$%'1'#6%&.-+8&%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%

g% :5*%)5$*%&5.-18%+.)%"+)$#($#$%:")5%)5$%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$67%(.#%$S'6,1$%).%&"1$+2$%)5$%

alarm. 

% =)%"&%;")'1%)5')%)5$*%5';$%'%6$'+&%).%2.+)'2)%&.6$.+$%(#.6%)5$%.#9'+"&')".+%:5.%2'+%

respond quickly if the system is activated when there is no scheme manager, caretaker 

or other person responsible for the system on the premises at the time. This should be 

8"&,1'*$8%,#.6"+$+)1*%0*%)5$%D#$%'1'#6%,'+$1<

X`<%%=+&)#-2)".+7%)#'"+"+9%'+8%"+(.#6')".+%(.#%+.+/#$&"8$+)&

X`<>%\'#$)'3$#&7%5.-&"+9%.(D2$#&%'+8%.)5$#&%:.#3"+9%"+7%.#%;"&")"+97%01.23&%.(%4')&%+$$8%).%0$%

,#.;"8$8%:")5%"+&)#-2)".+7%)#'"+"+9%'+8%"+(.#6')".+%#$1')"+9%).%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%"+%

)5$%0-"18"+9%'+8%)5$%,#.2$8-#$&%)5$*%&5.-18%(.11.:%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%D#$<%H5"&%&5.-18%#$1')$%

to the activities they undertake.

X`<N% =)%"&7%5.:$;$#7%"6,.#)'+)%)5')%)5$%$S)$+)%.(%&-25%)#'"+"+9%'+8%"+&)#-2)".+7%'+8%)5$%&2.,$%

.(%)5$%"+(.#6')".+%,#.;"8$87%&5.-18%#$4$2)%)5$%#$1')";$1*%&"6,1$%+')-#$%.(%)5$&$%0-"18"+9&%

'+8%)5$%1"6")$8%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%,#$&$+)<%^1.23&%.(%4')&%'#$%('#%&"6,1$#%)5'+%6'+*%

other residential buildings and often have simple means of escape.

X`<V%!.#%6.&)%$6,1.*$$&7%'11%)5')%"&%#$G-"#$8%"&%0'&"2%D#$%':'#$+$&&%)#'"+"+9<%H5"&%:"11%+$$8%

to ensure that they:

g% '#$%':'#$%.(%D#$%5'a'#8&%)5')%6"95)%0$%$+2.-+)$#$8%"+%)5$"#%:.#3,1'2$7%'+8%"+%)5$%

common parts

g% 3+.:%5.:%).%,#$;$+)%D#$&

g% recognise the importance of good housekeeping

g% 3+.:%:5$+%'+8%5.:%).%-&$%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5$#&%'+8%.)5$#%D#$/D95)"+9%$G-",6$+)

g% -+8$#&)'+8%:5')%).%8.%"(%)5$*%8"&2.;$#%'%D#$

g% 3+.:%5.:%).%$&2',$%(#.6%)5$%0-"18"+9%&5.-18%)5$*%$+2.-+)$#%'%D#$

g% '#$%':'#$%.(%5.:%)5$"#%'2)".+&%6"95)%'8;$#&$1*%'(($2)%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%,#$&$+)%

"+%)5$%0-"18"+97%$9%0*%,#.,,"+9%.,$+%D#$%8..#&

g% '#$%'01$%).%&,.)%.0;".-&%8$D2"$+2"$&%"+%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%$9%'%8'6'9$8%D#$%8..#<

Page 133



118          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

X`<U%H5$*%+$$8%).%#$2$";$%)5"&%'&%&..+%'&%)5$*%&)'#)%:.#3%(.#%)5$%.#9'+"&')".+<%=)%&5.-18%0$%

#$,$')$8%')%',,#.,#"')$%"+)$#;'1&%).%$+&-#$%,$.,1$%#$6'"+%;"9"1'+)%'+8%,#$,'#$8<%Q'+*%

.(%)5.&$%;"&")"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&%"+%)5$%2.-#&$%.(%)5$"#%8-)"$&%2'+%0$%$S,$2)$8%).%5';$%

#$2$";$8%)5"&%0'&"2%D#$%':'#$+$&&%)#'"+"+9%')%)5$"#%+.#6'1%,1'2$%.(%:.#3<

X`<O%Q.#$%$S)$+&";$%)#'"+"+9%:"11%0$%#$G-"#$8%(.#%&25$6$%6'+'9$#&%'+8%.)5$#%&)'((%:")5%'%

role to play in responding to alarms and managing evacuations in sheltered housing 

&25$6$&<%=)%"&%"6,.#)'+)%)5')%)5$*%'#$%(-11*%2.+;$#&'+)%:")5%)5$%D#$%,#.2$8-#$&%"+%)5$%

emergency plan (see below).

X`<@%_5"1$%D#$%8#"11&%'+8%,#'2)"2$%$;'2-')".+&%'#$%-&$8%"+%6'+*%0-"18"+9&%).%#$"+(.#2$%D#$%

awareness training, it is neither practical nor necessary to carry them out in purpose-

0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&<%B;$+%"+%01.23&%:")5%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&7%)5"&%"&%-+#$'1"&)"2<%

=+%1'#9$%&5$1)$#$8%5.-&"+9%&25$6$&%"+2.#,.#')"+9%$S)$+&";$%2.66-+'1%'6$+")"$&7%&-25%

'&%5'"#8#$&&$#&7%2'($)$#"'&%'+8%&5.,&7%D#$%8#"11&%6'*%0$%+$2$&&'#*<%P.:$;$#7%)5$&$%:"11%

&)"11%.+1*%',,1*%).%,$.,1$%,#$&$+)%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&<%I$&"8$+)&%:")5"+%)5$"#%4')&%:.-18%

+.)%0$%$S,$2)$8%).%)'3$%,'#)%"+%D#$%8#"11&<

X`<X%B6,1.*$$&%'+8%.)5$#&%:.#3"+9%"+%.(D2$&7%:.#3&5.,&%'+8%.)5$#%'22.66.8')".+%

)5')%6'*%0$%,#$&$+)%"+%)5$%&'6$%0-"18"+9%'&%)5$%4')&%:.-18%0$%$S,$2)$8%).%#$2$";$%

',,#.,#"')$%"+&)#-2)".+%'+8%)#'"+"+9%'+87%:5$#$%+$2$&&'#*7%).%)'3$%,'#)%"+%D#$%8#"11&<%

K-")'01$%9-"8'+2$%.+%)5"&%2'+%0$%(.-+8%"+%)5$%PQ%C.;$#+6$+)%9-"8$%Y!"#$%&'($)*%#"&3%

'&&$&&6$+)7%.(D2$&%'+8%&5.,&Z<

X`<`%F88")".+'1%)#'"+"+9%6'*%0$%#$G-"#$8%:5$#$%"+/5.-&$%&)'((%6.+").#%D#$%&'($)*%'&%,'#)%.(%

#.-)"+$%;"&")&%'+8%"+&,$2)".+&<%H5.&$%)'&3$8%:")5%2'##*"+9%.-)%'+8l.#%#$;"$:"+9%D#$%#"&3%

assessments will need appropriate training to ensure satisfactory competence.

79.  Preparing for emergencies

X?<>% =)%"&%'%#$G-"#$6$+)%.(%)5$%!KM%)5')%)5$#$%&5.-18%0$%'%&-")'01$%$6$#9$+2*%,1'+%(.#%

)5$%,#$6"&$&<%I'#$1*7%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&7%:"11%")%0$%+$2$&&'#*%).%5';$%'%

6.#$%$1'0.#')$%$6$#9$+2*%,1'+%)5'+%'%&"6,1$%D#$%'2)".+%+.)"2$%J&$$%F,,$+8"S%O%(.#%

$S'6,1$&L<%b.#%:"11%")%0$%-+";$#&'11*%+$2$&&'#*%).%8"&,1'*%&-25%+.)"2$&<%=+8$$87%")%"&%

more common not to display notices, but to convey this information to tenants in other 

ways (eg through residents’ handbooks and so forth).

X?<N%_5$#$%D#$%'2)".+%+.)"2$&%'#$%8"&,1'*$87%)5$*%6-&)%0$%#$1$;'+)<%K)'+8'#8%D#$%'2)".+%

+.)"2$&%.()$+%#$($#%).%-&"+9%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5$#&7%#'"&"+9%)5$%'1'#6%0*%0#$'3"+9%'%D#$%'1'#6%

2'11%,."+)%'+87%.+2$%.-)&"8$%.(%)5$%0-"18"+97%9')5$#"+9%')%'+%'&&$601*%,."+)<%Q.&)%01.23&%

.(%4')&%5';$%+$")5$#%'%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%+.#%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5$#&7%'+87%9";$+%)5$%Y&)'*%,-)Z%

,.1"2*%)5')%&5.-18%0$%'8.,)$8%"+%6.&)%01.23&%.(%4')&7%'&&$601*%')%'%8$&"9+')$8%,1'2$%

serves little purpose.

Page 134



119          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

X?<V%Q.&)%&)'+8'#8%D#$%'2)".+%+.)"2$&%'1&.%

'8;"&$%,$.,1$%+.)%).%-&$%1"()&%"+%'%D#$<%

This again will not be relevant if there is 

no lift in the block. 

X?<U% =(%'%D#$%'2)".+%+.)"2$%"&%).%0$%8"&,1'*$87%

it would be good practice to place it in a 

location where it will be viewed routinely 

by people entering the building eg by 

the main entrance or, where relevant, 

by the controls inside a lift.

X?<O% =+%)5$%2'&$%.(%Y9$+$#'1%+$$8&Z%01.23&%.(%

4')&%,#.;"8$8%:")5%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%

&*&)$6&7%)5$%D#$%'2)".+%+.)"2$%&5.-18%

#$4$2)%)5$%,#$&$+2$%.(%)5"&%&*&)$6%

and clearly state the action required 

of residents in response to an alarm. 

There should be contact details so that 

residents can arrange for the system 

to be silenced and reset as quickly 

as possible in the event of a false 

'1'#6<%=)%"&%;")'1%)5')%)5"&%#$&,.+&$%"&%'&%

&5.#)%'&%,.&&"01$%E%'+*%1.+9$#%)5'+%'%

few minutes could result in residents 

interfering with the system in an effort 

to stop the noise of the alarm sounding 

'+8%#$/$+)$#%)5$"#%4')&<

X?<@%H5"&%:"11%',,1*%$G-'11*%).%&5$1)$#$8%5.-&"+9%&25$6$&<%Q'+*%.(%)5$&$%&25$6$&%8.%+.)%

have scheme managers or other people on site all of the time ready to respond to 

'2)";')".+&%.(%)5$%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6<

X?<X% =+%)5$&$%0-"18"+9&7%$6$#9$+2*%,1'+&%:"11%+$$8%).%0$%6.#$%8$)'"1$8<%H5$%#.1$%.(%&25$6$%

6'+'9$#&%'+8%.)5$#&%"+%#$&,.+8"+9%).%D#$%'1'#6%'2)";')".+&%#$2$";$8%(#.6%4')&%)5#.-95%

)5$%&.2"'1%'1'#6%&*&)$6%+$$8&%).%0$%21$'#1*%8$D+$8<%e'#)"2-1'#%2.+&"8$#')".+%&5.-18%0$%

9";$+%).%)5$%'&&.2"')$8%#"&3&%(#.6%$+)#*%"+).%'%4')%:5$#$%)5$#$%6"95)%0$%'%D#$<

79.8 The role of scheme manager and others in assisting with the rescue of the occupants of 

4')&%'1&.%+$$8&%).%0$%2.+&"8$#$8<%_5$)5$#%)5#.-95%,5*&"2'1%.#%6$+)'1%8"&'0"1")*7%&.6$%

#$&"8$+)&%6'*%5';$%8"(D2-1)*%"+%1$';"+9%)5$"#%4')%G-"231*<%F%#$&"8$+)Z&%+$$8&%(.#%&-,,.#)%

are usually assessed when they take up occupation, and this should include their ability 

).%$&2',$%-+'"8$8%"+%'%D#$<%F&%:")5%.)5$#%'&,$2)&%#$1')$8%).%)5$"#%:$1('#$7%)5"&%&5.-18%0$%

reviewed as a matter of course as a person’s circumstances change.

Page 135



120          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

X?<?% =+%Y9$+$#'1%+$$8&Z%01.23&%.(%4')&7%")%2'+%$G-'11*%0$%$S,$2)$8%)5')%'%#$&"8$+)Z&%,5*&"2'1%

'+8%6$+)'1%'0"1")*%:"11%;'#*<%=)%"&%-&-'11*%-+#$'1"&)"2%).%$S,$2)%1'+81.#8&%'+8%.)5$#%

responsible persons to plan for this or to have in place special arrangements, such as 

‘personal emergency evacuation plans’. Such plans rely on the presence of staff or 

.)5$#&%';'"1'01$%).%'&&"&)%)5$%,$#&.+%).%$&2',$%"+%'%D#$<

79.10 Even in sheltered housing schemes, there will be reliance ultimately on rescue by 

)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$%"+%)5$%$;$+)%)5')%#$&"8$+)&%2'++.)%$&2',$%0*%)5$6&$1;$&<%

However, in sheltered housing schemes, it is commonplace to hold information relating 

to any resident with particular mobility or other issues affecting their ability to escape. 

H5"&%2'+%0$%6'8$%';'"1'01$%).%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$%.+%'##";'1%')%)5$%,#$6"&$&%J$9%

0*%3$$,"+9%")%"+%'%Y,#$6"&$&%"+(.#6')".+%0.SZ7%:5"25%2'+%.+1*%0$%-+1.23$8%0*%)5$%D#$%'+8%

#$&2-$%&$#;"2$7%')%)5$%6'"+%$+)#'+2$L<%]$)'"1&%.(%'+*%#$&"8$+)&%-&"+9%.S*9$+%.#%.)5$#%

medical gases are also usually kept with this information.

X?<>>% =)%"&%+.)%#$'1"&)"2%).%$S,$2)%&-25%'+%',,#.'25%).%0$%'8.,)$8%:5$#$%)5$#$%'#$%8"&'01$8%

,$.,1$%'+8%.)5$#&%#$G-"#"+9%'&&"&)'+2$%"+%'%Y9$+$#'1%+$$8&Z%01.23<%F+*%'))$6,)&%).%3$$,%

information of this kind must 

be updated regularly as 

inaccurate information could 

potentially be more harmful 

than no information.

X?<>N% =+%1'#9$7%6.#$%2.6,1$S%

01.23&%.(%4')&7%")%2'+%0$%

of great assistance to the 

D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$%).%

keep plans on the premises 

detailing information on the 

layout of the building and its 

services. This can be helpful 

at the time of an incident in 

dealing with the emergency. 

F9'"+7%-&$%.(%'%Y,#$6"&$&%

"+(.#6')".+%0.SZ%')%)5$%6'"+%

entrance is one way to 

achieve this.

Page 136



121          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

`A<%%\.+)#.11"+9%5'a'#8.-&%'2)";")"$&

`A<>%c+1"3$%6'+*%.)5$#%)*,$&%.(%0-"18"+97%)5$#$%'#$%($:%'2)";")"$&%)5')%)'3$%,1'2$%:")5"+%)5$%

2.66.+%,'#)&%.(%01.23%.(%4')&%)5')%'#$%"+5$#$+)1*%5'a'#8.-&<%H5$%$S2$,)".+%"&%0-"18"+9%

and engineering works, whether alterations or repairs.

`A<N% =##$&,$2)";$%.(%:5$)5$#%)5$*%'#$%-+8$#)'3$+%0*%"+/5.-&$%,$#&.++$1%.#%'%2.+)#'2).#7%)5$#$%"&%

,.)$+)"'1%8-#"+9%&-25%:.#3&7%+.)%.+1*%).%&)'#)%D#$&%.#%2#$')$%+$:%5'a'#8&7%0-)%'1&.%).%"6,'"#%

D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&7%$;$+%"(%.+1*%)$6,.#'#"1*<

80.3 Landlords and other responsible persons should place strict obligations on those 

-+8$#)'3"+9%:.#3&%).%"6,1$6$+)%',,#.,#"')$%D#$%,#$2'-)".+&%:5$+%2'##*"+9%.-)%:.#3&%

'+8%).%';."8%"&&-$&%&-25%'&%)5.&$%'0.;$<%=+2.#,.#')"+9%2.+8")".+&%:")5"+%2.+)#'2)&%"&%

one common means of achieving this, but this should also be reinforced by scrutiny of 

method statements and by inspections during the course of the works.

`A<U%H5"&%"&%.()$+%',,1"$8%#"9.#.-&1*%).%6'T.#%,#.T$2)&7%0-)%1$&&%&.%"+%)5$%2'&$%.(%&6'11%:.#3&%

'+8%6'"+)$+'+2$<%P.:$;$#7%)5$%1'))$#%6'*%&)"11%"+;.1;$%)5$%,.)$+)"'1%).%2#$')$%5'a'#8&%

and it is important that account is taken of this.

`A<O%M(%6.&)%2.+2$#+%"&%)5$%,.)$+)"'1%(.#%D#$&%).%0$%&)'#)$8%:5$+%Y5.)%:.#3Z%"&%-+8$#)'3$+<%=)%

"&%;")'1%)5')%2.+)#.1%"&%$S$#2"&$8%.;$#%&-25%:.#3&<%c&-'11*7%)5"&%"&%'25"$;$8%0*%'8.,)"+9%

a ‘permit to work’ system. This places obligations on those carrying out the work to 

"+&,$2)%)5$%'#$'&%"+%:5"25%:.#3%"&%)'3"+9%,1'2$%E%0.)5%0$(.#$%'+8%'()$#%)5$%:.#3%E%'+8%).%

)'3$%'11%+$2$&&'#*%,#$2'-)".+&7%"+21-8"+9%,#.;"&".+%.(%'22$&&"01$%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5$#&<

ES*:;"1&'#('71?'9*U*-8&'#-'6:;*6-:17+&'+#'D-1'&*(1+=':1*&3-1&'+9*+'$*7'*-6&1'(-#:'

building works include:

g% Q'3"+9%5.1$&%"+%2.6,'#)6$+)%:'11&%'+8%4..#&<

g% Removing stairway doors required to protect the escape routes in order to allow free access 

for delivering materials.

g% e'#3"+9%.;$#%D#$%5*8#'+)&<

g% Placing site huts too close to the building.

g% Leaving gas cylinders inside the building overnight to avoid having to store them 

properly away from the building.

g% ^1.23"+9%'22$&&%).%'%D#$%6'"+%"+1$)<

g% Leaving combustible building materials in common parts.

g% M,$+"+9%-,%,'#)&%.(%)5$%&)#-2)-#$%:")5.-)%,#.;"8"+9%&-")'01$%D#$%#$&"&)'+)%5.'#8"+9%).%

separate work areas from occupied parts.

Page 137



122          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

`A<@%!-#)5$#%'8;"2$%.+%D#$%&'($)*%8-#"+9%2.+&)#-2)".+%:.#3%"&%';'"1'01$%(#.6%)5$%P$'1)5%'+8%

K'($)*%BS$2-)";$%JPKBL%'+8%)5$%!"#$%e#.)$2)".+%F&&.2"')".+%J!eFL<

`><%%=+&,$2)".+7%)$&)"+9%'+8%6'"+)$+'+2$%.(%D#$%&'($)*%&*&)$6&%
and equipment

`><>%F11%D#$%&'($)*%&*&)$6&%'+8%$G-",6$+)%+$$8%).%0$%6'"+)'"+$8%"+%$(($2)";$%:.#3"+9%.#8$#<%

=)%"&%)5$#$(.#$%+$2$&&'#*%).%5';$%"+%,1'2$%'##'+9$6$+)&%(.#%#.-)"+$%"+&,$2)".+7%)$&)"+97%

servicing and maintenance.

81.2 Some of the inspection and testing can be carried out by in-house staff, provided 

they are suitably competent. However, it is anticipated that most landlords and other 

#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+&%:"11%+$$8%).%$6,1.*%&-")'01$%2.+)#'2).#&%).%2'##*%)5"&%.-)<%F9'"+7%")%

"&%$&&$+)"'1%)5')%)5$&$%2.+)#'2).#&%'#$%2.6,$)$+)<%i'#".-&%)5"#8%,'#)*%2$#)"D2')".+%'+8%

approval schemes are available that provide landlords and other responsible persons 

:")5%2.+D8$+2$%)5')%1"&)$8%2.6,'+"$&%5';$%0$$+%'&&$&&$8%"+")"'11*%"+%#$1')".+%).%)5$"#%

capability against a recognised standard, and that this is continually monitored through 

surveillance visits. 

81.3 Where elements of the testing are carried out by in-house staff or other non-specialists, 

it is important that there is access to a suitable contractor to follow up and address 

8$D2"$+2"$&%"8$+)"D$8%)5#.-95%)5$%)$&)"+9<%=+%,'#)"2-1'#%")%"&%"6,.#)'+)%).%'))$+8%&")$%')%

short notice to carry out emergency repairs resulting from the tests eg in the event that 

'%&6.3$%;$+)%:"11%+.)%21.&$%.#%'%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%:"11%+.)%#$&$)<

81.4 The following details the basic requirements for routine attention in relation to the 

;'#".-&%D#$%&'($)*%&*&)$6&%'+8%$G-",6$+)%2.66.+1*%(.-+8%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%

4')&<

' E:1-B17$='1&$*;1'"6B9+67B

`><O%c+1$&&%)5$%$6$#9$+2*%1"95)"+9%"&%.(%)5$%&$1(/)$&)"+9%)*,$7%)5$#$%:"11%0$%'%+$$8%).%)$&)%

$'25%D))"+9%,$#".8"2'11*<%=+%6.&)%2'&$&7%)5$%)$&)"+9%"+;.1;$8%2.6,#"&$&%)5$%(.11.:"+9<

g% F%6.+)51*7%(-+2)".+'1%)$&)%-&"+9%'%&-")'01$%)$&)%('2"1")*%E%)5$%,-#,.&$%.(%)5"&%"&%&"6,1*%

).%$&)'01"&5%0*%&:")25"+9%(#.6%)5$%+.#6'1%).%)5$%&)'+80*%&-,,1*%)5')%)5$%D))"+9%5'&%

+.)%('"1$8<%H5"&%"&%'%G-"237%&"6,1$%)$&)%)5')%2'+%$'&"1*%0$%-+8$#)'3$+%0*7%(.#%$S'6,1$7%

5.-&"+9%.(D2$#&7%.#%"+8$$8%'&%,'#)%.(%;'1-$%'88$8%&$#;"2$%(#.6%2.+)#'2).#&%:5.%;"&")%

regularly.

g% F%(-11%8-#')".+%8"&25'#9$%)$&)%.+2$%'%*$'#%E%)5$%,-#,.&$%.(%)5"&%"&%).%2.+D#6%)5')%)5$%

0'))$#"$&%'#$%&)"11%2','01$%.(%&-,,1*"+9%)5$%D))"+9%(.#%1.+9%$+.-95<

`><@%\'#$%&5.-18%0$%)'3$+%+.)%).%1$';$%'%0-"18"+9%$+)"#$1*%:")5.-)%$&2',$%1"95)"+9%:5"1$%

batteries recharge after a test.

Page 138



123          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

81.7 Further guidance on testing and servicing emergency escape-lighting systems can be 

(.-+8%"+%^K%ON@@/`<

' 0:#%1'C17+6"*+6#7

81.8 Systems of automatically opening vents, or vents electrically controlled but manually 

.,$#')$87%&5.-18%0$%&-0T$2)%).%#.-)"+$%)$&)"+9%'+8%,$#".8"2%&$#;"2"+9<%FMi&%'+8%

electrically operated OVs should be tested once a month for correct operation using the 

6'+-'1%2.+)#.1&%,#.;"8$8<%F9'"+%)5"&%"&%'%&"6,1$%)$&)%)5')%2'+%0$%-+8$#)'3$+%#$'8"1*%0*%

non-specialists.

`><?%H$&)"+9%&6.3$%8$)$2).#&%'+8%2.+)#.1&%'&&.2"')$8%:")5%FMi&%&5.-18%)'3$%,1'2$%')%1$'&)%

once a year, and in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions.

`><>A% M)5$#%&*&)$6&%.(%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%E%"+21-8"+9%&6.3$%$S)#'2)%&*&)$6&%'+8%,#$&&-#"&')".+%

&*&)$6&%E%&5.-18%'9'"+%0$%)$&)$8%'+8%&$#;"2$8%,$#".8"2'11*%"+%'22.#8'+2$%:")5%)5$%

manufacturer’s instructions. This will normally be at least annually, but may involve 

monthly or more frequent functional tests where the systems are intended to protect the 

6$'+&%.(%$&2',$<%=)%"&%"6,.#)'+)%)5')%)5.&$%&$#;"2"+9%&-25%&*&)$6&%'#$%('6"1"'#%:")5%)5$%

D#$%$+9"+$$#"+9%,$#(.#6'+2$%,'#'6$)$#&%-&$8%"+%)5$%8$&"9+%.(%)5$%&*&)$6<

81.11 Further guidance on testing and servicing of smoke control systems can be found in 

BS 9999.

' 56-1'1S+67B36&967B'*;;"6*7$1&

`><>N% _5$#$%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5$#&%'+8%D#$%01'+3$)&%'#$%,#.;"8$87%)5$*%&5.-18%0$%"+&,$2)$8%'+8%

maintained every 12 months. This is a task for suitably trained specialists. However, 

)5$#$%"&%'%#.1$%(.#%.)5$#&7%&-25%'&%5.-&"+9%.(D2$#&7%).%0$%'1$#)%).%'+*%6"&&"+9%.#%

8'6'9$8%$G-",6$+)%'&%,'#)%.(%+.#6'1%:'13/#.-+8&%.#%(.#6'1%D#$%&'($)*%"+&,$2)".+&%'+8%

to report this for action.

`><>V% !-#)5$#%9-"8'+2$%.+%"+&,$2)".+%'+8%6'"+)$+'+2$%.(%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5"+9%',,1"'+2$&%2'+%

0$%(.-+8%"+%^K%OVA@/V<

 Fire detection and alarm systems

`><>U% _5$#$%,#.;"8$87%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&%&5.-18%0$%&-0T$2)%).%#.-)"+$%)$&)"+9%'+8%&$#;"2"+9<%

There are two parts to this, regular testing and periodic servicing.

`><>O% F%&"6,1$%(-+2)".+'1%)$&)%&5.-18%0$%-+8$#)'3$+7%.+2$%'%:$$37%0*%.,$#')"+9%'%6'+-'1%

2'11%,."+)<%H5"&%2'+%#$'8"1*%0$%2'##"$8%.-)%0*%+.+/&,$2"'1"&)&%$9%5.-&"+9%.(D2$#&%'+8%

in-house maintenance teams. The aim of this test is simply to check that the system 

"&%(-+2)".+'1<%=)%"&%+.)%"+)$+8$8%)5')%)5"&%)$&)%0$%-&$8%).%2.+D#6%'-8"0"1")*%.(%)5$%'1'#67%

(.#%$S'6,1$<%P.:$;$#7%:5$#$%.,$#')".+%.(%)5"&%&*&)$6%"&%'&&.2"')$8%:")57%&'*7%#$1$'&$%

.(%8$;"2$&%5.18"+9%.,$+%D#$%8..#&7%.#%#$1$'&"+9%$1$2)#"2'11*%1.23$8%D#$%$S")&%J:5$#$%

Page 139



124          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

permitted), the weekly test should be used to check the function of these ancillary 

actions.

`><>@% e$#".8"2%&$#;"2"+9%&5.-18%0$%-+8$#)'3$+%')%1$'&)%.+2$%$;$#*%&"S%6.+)5&<

`><>X% !-#)5$#%9-"8'+2$%.+%)$&)"+9%'+8%&$#;"2"+9%.(%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&%2'+%0$%(.-+8%"+%^K%

5839-1.

' 0:#%1'*78'91*+'*"*-:&

81.18 The need for regular testing applies equally to the smoke alarms and other devices 

,#.;"8$8%(.#%$'#1*%:'#+"+9%.(%D#$%:")5"+%)5$%4')&%)5$6&$1;$&<

81.19 Rarely are landlords in a position to undertake this on behalf of tenants, and it is 

usually the responsibility of residents to test their smoke alarms. However, landlords 

should use opportunities that arise to check on the condition of smoke alarms they have 

,#.;"8$8<%!.#%$S'6,1$7%'+*.+$%+$$8"+9%).%;"&")%'%4')%2'+%$'&"1*%25$23%(.#%&"9+&%)5')%'%

tenant has interfered with a smoke alarm or otherwise disabled it. Damage to the device 

'+8%$;"8$+2$%.(%0'))$#*%#$6.;'1%2'+%.()$+%0$%#$'8"1*%;"&"01$<%=+%'88")".+7%'%)$&)%.(%'%

smoke alarm could be a value added service carried out by any contractor undertaking 

'%#.-)"+$%;"&")%(.#%)5$%,-#,.&$&%.(%2'##*"+9%.-)%'%#$,'"#%.#7%(.#%$S'6,1$7%8-#"+9%'++-'1%

gas safety checks. 

`><NA% !-#)5$#%9-"8'+2$%.+%)$&)"+9%&6.3$%'1'#6&%2'+%0$%(.-+8%"+%^K%O`V?/@<

 Fire dampers

81.21 Fire dampers, where provided in communal ductwork or rubbish chutes, should be 

&-0T$2)%).%"+&,$2)".+%'+8%)$&)%,$#".8"2'11*%).%$+&-#$%)5')%)5$*%:"11%&)"11%.,$#')$%"+%'%D#$<%

Depending on ease of access, this should be undertaken at least once every two years 

for those operated by fusible links. For those that are spring operated, this should take 

place every year.

`><NN% !-#)5$#%9-"8'+2$%.+%)$&)"+9%.(%D#$%8'6,$#&%2'+%0$%(.-+8%"+%^K%????<

' 0;-67%"1-&'M*78'#+91-'D-1'1S+67B36&967B'*78'&3;;-1&&6#7'&=&+1:&N

81.23 Sprinkler systems and water mist systems, where provided, should be regularly tested 

'+8%&$#;"2$8%,$#".8"2'11*<%=)%"&%-+1"3$1*%)5')%'%1'+81.#8%:"11%5';$%&)'((%:")5%',,#.,#"')$%

specialist knowledge in-house. Suitable contractors will need to be employed. Further 

9-"8'+2$%.+%)$&)"+9%'+8%&$#;"2"+9%.(%&,#"+31$#%&*&)$6&%2'+%0$%(.-+8%"+%^K%Bb%>N`UO%.#7%

in the case of domestic sprinklers, BS 9251. Further guidance on testing and servicing 

of water mist systems can be found in DD 8489-1 and, in the case of domestic water 

mist systems, DD 8485-1.

 

Page 140



125          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

 Fire mains

`><NU% !"#$%6'"+&%+$$8%).%0$%"+&,$2)$8%$;$#*%&"S%6.+)5&%'+8%)$&)$8%$;$#*%>N%6.+)5&<%

=+&,$2)".+&%1'#9$1*%"+;.1;$%&"6,1$%25$23&%).%2.+D#6%)5')%)5$%.-)1$)&%'#$%+.)%8'6'9$8%

and padlocks and straps on the landing valves are still in place. This could readily be 

"+2.#,.#')$8%:")5"+%(.#6'1%D#$%&'($)*%"+&,$2)".+&%.#%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%#$;"$:&<%H$&)"+9%

will involve pressurising the main, and will, therefore, normally require a specialist 

contractor to carry it out.

`><NO% !-#)5$#%9-"8'+2$%.+%)$&)"+9%'+8%6'"+)$+'+2$%.(%D#$%6'"+&%2'+%0$%(.-+8%"+%^K%???A<

' 56-1KDB9+67B'"6(+&

`><N@% W"()&%-&$8%(.#%D#$/D95)"+9%+$$8%).%0$%&-0T$2)%).%)$&)&%'+8%6'"+)$+'+2$%.+%'%#$9-1'#%

basis. This will involve weekly operation of override switches and monthly inspections 

and annual testing and maintenance of the lifts.

`><NX% !-#)5$#%9-"8'+2$%.+%)$&)"+9%'+8%&$#;"2"+9%.(%D#$/D95)"+9%1"()&%2'+%0$%(.-+8%"+%^K%????<

`N<%%=+&,$2)".+&%'+8%#$,'"#&%.(%.)5$#%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&<

`N<>%M)5$#%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%&-25%'&%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&%+$$8%'1&.%).%0$%6'"+)'"+$8<%

The following details the basic requirements for routine attention in relation to these 

measures.

 Fire-resisting doors

`N<V%C..8%,#'2)"2$%"&%).%"+&,$2)%)"60$#%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&$)&%.+%'%&"S%6.+)51*%0'&"&%'&%,'#)%

of a programme of planned preventive maintenance. These inspections are aimed at 

identifying defects such as:

g% missing or ineffective self-closing devices

g% damaged doors or frames

g% removal of locks without suitable repairs to the integrity of the doors

g% ,..#1*%D))"+9%8..#&%2'-&$8%0*%8"&).#)".+%.#%&5#"+3'9$7%.#%'&%'%#$&-1)%.(%:$'#%'+8%)$'#

g% +$:1*%D))$87%0-)%"+',,#.,#"')$7%8..#%(-#+")-#$

g% 8..#&%:5"25%5';$%0$$+%#$,1'2$8%-&"+9%+.+/D#$/#$&"&)"+9%)*,$&<

`N<U%!1')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%&5.-18%0$%"+21-8$8%:")5"+%)5"&%,#.9#'66$<%_5$#$%1$'&$5.18%4')&%

are involved, this will only be possible if there is legal right of access, by means of a 

2.+8")".+%:")5"+%)5$%1$'&$%).%2'##*%)5"&%.-)<%=)%"&%"6,.#)'+)%)5')%'+*%+$:%1$'&$&%"+21-8$%

such a condition.

Page 141



126          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

`N<O%H5$%8$($2)&%5"951"95)$8%'0.;$%:"11%.()$+%0$%.0;".-&%).%)5.&$%2'##*"+9%.-)%D#$%&'($)*%

inspections and, indeed, it is straightforward to train others to be alert to them. Where 

defects are reported, it is important that action is taken within an appropriate timescale 

'+8%)5')%)5$*%'#$%+.)%&"6,1*%1$()%).%)5$%+$S)%&"S/6.+)51*%"+&,$2)".+<

`N<@%!-#)5$#%'8;"2$%.+%#.-)"+$%"+&,$2)".+%'+8%6'"+)$+'+2$%.(%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&%2'+%0$%

found in BS 8214.

 Fire-separating construction

`N<X%I.-)"+$%"+&,$2)".+%.(%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%:'11&%'+8%4..#&%2'++.)%0$%&.%#$'8"1*%'25"$;$8<%

b$;$#)5$1$&&7%8'6'9$%).%:'11&%.#%&"9+&%.(%-+'-)5.#"&$8%:.#3%E%"+21-8"+9%]=q%0*%

#$&"8$+)&%E%'#$%1"3$1*%).%0$%.0;".-&%:5$+%:")5"+%)5$%2.66.+%2.##"8.#&7%1.00"$&%

'+8%&)'"#:'*&<%!"#$%&'($)*%"+&,$2)".+&%'+8%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%#$;"$:&%'1&.%.(($#%

opportunities to inspect other areas such as riser cupboards, plant rooms and so forth.

`N<`%M)5$#%.,,.#)-+")"$&7%&-25%'&%:5$+%4')&%0$2.6$%;'2'+)%.#%25'+9$%)$+'+2*7%&5.-18%

0$%-&$8%).%"+&,$2)%)5$%2.+8")".+%.(%2.6,'#)6$+)')".+%'+8%).%-+8$#)'3$%D#$%&'($)*%

improvements.

' ES+1-7*"'D-1'1&$*;1'-#3+1&

`N<?%_5$#$%$S)$#+'1%#.-)$&7%,'#)"2-1'#1*%"+;.1;"+9%6$)'1%$&2',$%&)'"#:'*&7%'#$%,'#)%.(%)5$%

6$'+&%.(%$&2',$7%)5$*%&5.-18%0$%&-0T$2)%).%,$#".8"2%"+&,$2)".+%'+8%6'"+)$+'+2$<%!"#$%

safety inspections should include visual checks to look for:

g% evidence of damage or corrosion

g% 0-"18/-,%.(%6.&&%.#%.)5$#%&1",%5'a'#8&

g% )#",%5'a'#8&%.#%.0&)#-2)".+&%.+%)5$%&)'"#:'*<

82.10 Survey by a specialist, at least once every three years, should also be included to 

ensure that the stairway still has suitable structural integrity.

Page 142



127          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

' F*73*""='#;17*!"1'&:#%1'C17+&

82.11 Windows and other non-electrical means provided for venting smoke should be 

opened on a regular basis (eg at least once a year), to ensure that they open freely and 

have not become stuck.

`V<%%Q.+").#"+9%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%'+8%0$"+9%'1$#)%).%+$:%
5'a'#8&

`V<>%F%(.#6'1%D#$%&'($)*%"+&,$2)".+%.(%'%01.23%.(%4')&%"&%'%2.66.+%6$'+&%.(%"8$+)"(*"+9%

"&&-$&%#$1')"+9%).%D#$%,#$;$+)".+%'+8%6'"+)$+'+2$%.(%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&<%P.:$;$#7%

6'+*%.(%)5$%8'*/)./8'*%'2)";")"$&%)5')%)'3$%,1'2$%"+%'%01.23%.(%4')&%,#.;"8$%2.+)"+-'1%

.,,.#)-+")"$&%).%6.+").#%D#$%&'($)*%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&<%B+&-#"+9%)5')%5.-&"+9%.(D2$#&7%

repair teams, cleaners and any other staff or regular contractors are aware of what 

).%1..3%.-)%(.#%2'+%&"9+"D2'+)1*%"6,'2)%.+%)5$%&)'+8'#8%(.-+8%"+%'%,'#)"2-1'#%0-"18"+9<%

Scheme managers and care providers are also well placed to undertake this in 

sheltered housing schemes.

`V<N%H5$%$S)$+)%).%:5"25%(.#6'1%D#$%&'($)*%"+&,$2)".+&%+$$8%).%0$%2'##"$8%.-)%:"11%;'#*<%=)%

depends on how successfully standards are being maintained. However, frequent 

inspections are likely to be necessary in blocks where there are particular concerns over 

anti-social behaviour and the consequent threat of arson, or where a ‘managed use’ 

Page 143



128          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

policy applies to the use of the common parts.

`V<U%H5.&$%-+8$#)'3"+9%"+&,$2)".+&%&5.-18%'1&.%0$%'1$#)%).%+$:%5'a'#8&%)5')%6"95)%'#"&$%(#.6%

)"6$%).%)"6$%$9%-&$%.(%$S)$+&".+%1$'8&%(#.6%4')&%).%25'#9$%'%6.0"1")*%&2..)$#%0#.-95)%"+%

by a visitor.

`U<%%I$;"$:"+9%'+8%'-8")"+9%D#$%&'($)*%&)'+8'#8&

`U<>%H5$#$%"&%'+%.01"9')".+%-+8$#%)5$%!KM%).%#$;"$:%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)<%Q'+*%

organisations also undertake audits as part of the process of ensuring compliance with 

their legal obligations and demonstrating due diligence in the management of their 

housing stock.

`U<N%F-8")&%'+8%(.#6'1%#$;"$:&%+$$8%+.)%)'3$%,1'2$%$;$#*%)"6$%)5$#$%"&%'%25'+9$%.(%#$&"8$+)<%

b.#7%"+8$$87%:"11%")%0$%+$2$&&'#*%).%8.%&.%$;$#*%)"6$%6"+.#%:.#3&%)'3$%,1'2$<%C..8%

practice is to encourage a process of dynamic risk assessment by all those responsible 

(.#%D#$%&'($)*<%H5"&%:'*7%,$.,1$%2.+)"+-.-&1*%)5"+3%'0.-)%D#$%&'($)*%8-#"+9%)5$"#%:.#3%

activities.

84.3 However, periodically, and where warranted by the nature of the changes that have 

taken place, a formal review needs to be carried out and should be recorded. Periodic 

reviews should always include consideration of the action undertaken in response to the 

previous risk assessment.

@91$%"6&+&'(#-'D-1'&*(1+='67&;1$+6#7&'&9#3"8'$#7D-:'+9*+/'

g% combustible waste or storage is not present in corridors, lobbies, stairways and chute 

rooms

g% '+*%+.)"2$%0.'#8&%'#$%+.)%.;$#4.:"+9%:")5%.-)8')$8%6$&&'9$&%'+8%,.&)$#&

g% other infringements of the policy on the use of the common parts are not taking place

g% doors to residents’ store rooms, electrical cupboards, plant rooms, bin stores and other 

ancillary rooms are not being left or held open

g% (#.+)%8..#&%'+8%.)5$#%$+)#'+2$%'+8%$S")%8..#&%'#$%21.&"+9%,#.,$#1*

g% :5$#$%,#.;"8$87%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5"+9%',,1"'+2$&%'#$%+.)%6"&&"+97%8"&25'#9$8%.#%8'6'9$8

g% )5$#$%'#$%+.%&"9+&%.(%8'6'9$%).%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%:'11&7%8..#&%'+8%91'a"+9%0$):$$+%4')&%

and the common parts

g% vents required for smoke control have not been tampered with, forced open and damaged 

(eg by residents seeking to air stuffy atmospheres or to remove the smell from illicit 

smoking) or blocked up to prevent draughts

g% D#$%$S")%&"9+&%.#%D#$%'2)".+%+.)"2$&%'#$%+.)%6"&&"+9%.#%8$('2$8

Page 144



129          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

85.  Controlling alterations so that they are not detrimental to 
D#$%&'($)*

`O<>%F1)$#')".+&%'+8%"6,#.;$6$+)&%).%01.23&%.(%4')&%2'+%0$%8$)#"6$+)'1%).%D#$%&'($)*%"(%2'#$(-1%

thought is not given to the possible impact they might have. Problems can arise, not 

only when large-scale refurbishment programmes are carried out, but also during minor 

work that residents themselves might undertake. 

85.2 Processes should be in place for landlords and other responsible persons to scrutinise 

'1)$#')".+&%'+8%0-"18"+9%:.#3%:")5"+%2.66.+%,'#)&%)5')%2.-18%5';$%'+%$(($2)%.+%D#$%&'($)*%

"+%)5$%01.23<%=)%"&%"6,.#)'+)%)5')%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&%',,#.;'1%"&%.0)'"+$8%:5$#$%#$1$;'+)<

`O<V% H$+'+2*%'9#$$6$+)&%&5.-18%'1&.%#$&)#"2)%)5$%:.#3&%)5')%)$+'+)&%2'+%-+8$#)'3$%:")5"+%4')&%

:")5.-)%D#&)%&$$3"+9%,$#6"&&".+<%W$'&$5.18$#&%&5.-18%'1&.%0$%&-")'01*%2.+&)#'"+$8%(#.6%

making detrimental changes by virtue of the conditions within their lease.

g% :5$#$%,#.;"8$87%D#$%8$)$2).#&7%2'11%,."+)&%'+8%&.-+8$#&%'#$%&)"11%"+%,1'2$%'+8%5';$%+.)%

been damaged, covered over or interfered with in anyway

g% D#$%6'"+%.-)1$)&7%:5$#$%,#.;"8$87%'#$%+.)%8'6'9$8%.#%.0&)#-2)$8

g% $6$#9$+2*%1"95)%D))"+9&%'#$%:.#3"+9%+.#6'11*%$9%"11-6"+')$8%&"9+&%'#$%&)"11%1")<

Page 145



130          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

`@<%%̂ $"+9%'1$#)%).%,.&&"0"1")"$&%.(%"6,#.;"+9%D#$%&'($)*%
standards

`@<>%F1)$#')".+&%'+8%"6,#.;$6$+)&%).%'%01.23%.(%4')&%2'+%'1&.%,#.;"8$%"8$'1%.,,.#)-+")"$&%

).%-,9#'8$%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&7%.()$+%')%6"+"6'1%$S)#'%2.&)<%!.#%$S'6,1$7%:5$+%

1"()%#$,1'2$6$+)%0$2.6$&%+$2$&&'#*7%&,$2"(*"+9%)5')%)5$%.18%&)'+8'#8%D#$6'+Z&%1"()%0$%

-,9#'8$8%).%2-##$+)%D#$/D95)"+9%1"()%&)'+8'#87%,'#)"2-1'#1*%"+%#$1')".+%).%,.:$#%&-,,1"$&7%

:"11%&"9+"D2'+)1*%"6,#.;$%)5$%,#.)$2)".+%'((.#8$8%).%D#$/D95)$#&%')%)5$%)"6$%.(%'+%"+2"8$+)%

in the building.

ES*:;"1&'67$"381/

g% '%1$'&$5.18$#%25'+9"+9%)5$"#%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#7%0-)%+.)%#$,1'2"+9%")%:")5%'%&-")'01*%D#$/

resisting and self-closing door

g% a resident installing a new bathroom suite, but not ensuring that breaches of riser walls 

2#$')$8%(.#%+$:%8#'"+&%'#$%D#$/&).,,$8%'()$#:'#8&%).%6'"+)'"+%D#$%&$,'#')".+%).%)5$%

common riser

g% a resident removing the doors and walls to the kitchen and lounge to create an open-

plan living area, but in so doing making all the bedrooms inner rooms, and possibly 

impairing protection to the common parts.

g% '%-)"1")*%2.6,'+*%"+&)'11"+9%+$:%9'&%&-,,1"$&%).%4')&%'+8%2#$')"+9%)5$%+$2$&&'#*%;$+)"1')".+%).%

gas meters by unprotected openings into common corridors and stairways (pictured above)

g% '%1'+81.#8%'88"+9%'%,")25$8%#..(%).%'%4')%#..($8%01.23%:")5.-)%,#.;"8"+9%&-")'01$%2';")*%

barriers

g% #$&"8$+)&%D))"+9%+.+/2.+8$+&"+9%)-601$%8#*$#&%:")5%5.1$&%)5#.-95%D#$%:'11&%'+8%8..#&%

for vent pipes

g% a landlord replacing windows and using sealed units, which cannot be opened to vent 

smoke from common parts

g% a contractor installing a new false ceiling without transfer grilles to allow smoke to reach 

$S"&)"+9%,$#6'+$+)%;$+)&%

g% '%1'+81.#8%-+8$#)'3"+9%'%,#.T$2)%).%D)%#'"+%&2#$$+%21'88"+9%).%'+%$S"&)"+9%01.23%.(%4')&%

:")5.-)%2.+&"8$#"+9%)5$%,.)$+)"'1%(.#%'%D#$%(#.6%'%4')%).%)#';$1%-,:'#8&%)5#.-95%)5$%

2';")*%0$5"+8%)5$%21'88"+9%).%&,#$'8%"+).%)5$%4')&%'0.;$

g% )5$%"+&)'11')".+%.(%8.:+1"95)$#&%"+%)5$%2$"1"+9&%.(%4')&%E%:5"25%'#$%+.)%.(%'%21.&$8%

0'23%YD#$/#')$8Z%8$&"9+%'+8%:5"25%5';$%+.)%0$$+%D))$8%:")5%"+)-6$&2$+)%D#$%5..8&%

.#%2.;$#$8%0*%'+%"+&-1')".+%&-,,.#)%0.S%E%)5$#$(.#$%8"6"+"&5"+9%)5$%D#$%&$,'#')".+%

provided by the ceiling

g% '%#$&"8$+)%-+8$#)'3"+9%]=q%).%D)%'88")".+'1%&.23$)%.-)1$)&%'+87%"+%&.%8."+97%8'6'9"+9%

the protection to the timber frame construction.

Page 146



131          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

`X<%%Q'"+)'"+"+9%#$2.#8&

`X<>% =)%"&%9..8%,#'2)"2$%).%3$$,%#$2.#8&%)5')%&5.:%)5')%,$.,1$%5';$%#$2$";$8%D#$%)#'"+"+9%

'+8%)5')%"+&,$2)".+7%)$&)"+9%'+8%6'"+)$+'+2$%5'&%0$$+%2'##"$8%.-)%.+%D#$%&'($)*%

systems and equipment. Such records enable a responsible person to demonstrate due 

8"1"9$+2$%"+%)5$%$;$+)%)5')%D#$%&'($)*%"&%(.-+8%:'+)"+97%$")5$#%'&%'%#$&-1)%.(%#.-)"+$%'-8")%

.#%(.11.:"+9%&2#-)"+*%'()$#%'%D#$<

87.2 Various methods can be used to keep records, from the commonly-used log book to 

electronic devices used to capture data.

`X<V% =+%+$:%0-"18"+9&7%)5$#$%"&%'+%.01"9')".+%-+8$#%)5$%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&%NA>A%).%,'&&%

.+%"+(.#6')".+%.+%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%8$&"9+%).%)5.&$%:5.%5';$%#$&,.+&"0"1")*%(.#%6'+'9"+9%

the building and meeting their obligations under the FSO. This is particularly important 

:5$#$%D#$%$+9"+$$#"+9%5'&%0$$+%$6,1.*$8%).%,#.8-2$%D#$%&'($)*%8$&"9+&%)5')%'#$%+.)%

2.8$/2.6,1"'+)<%H5"&%"+(.#6')".+%"&%-&-'11*%2.+)'"+$8%"+%'%D#$%&'($)*%&)#')$9*%8$;$1.,$8%

8-#"+9%)5$%0-"18"+9%,#.T$2)%).%&-,,.#)%)5$%',,#.;'1%-+8$#%)5$%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&<

`X<U% =)%"&%,.&&"01$%)5')%)5"&%6'*%5';$%',,1"$8%).%)5$%1'#9$#7%6.#$%2.6,1$S%01.23&%.(%4')&%

0-"1)%#$2$+)1*<%P.:$;$#7%(.#%6.&)%$S"&)"+9%01.23&%.(%4')&7%")%"&%-+1"3$1*%)5')%'+*%&-25%

information will have been documented.

`X<O%H5$#$%"&%'+%.01"9')".+%-+8$#%)5$%!KM%).%6'"+)'"+%#$2.#8&%.(%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%'##'+9$6$+)&%

"+%'%0-"18"+9<%H5"&%"&%,'#)"2-1'#1*%"6,.#)'+)%&.%)5.&$%)'&3$8%:")5%6'+'9"+9%D#$%&'($)*%

'#$%':'#$%.(%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%($')-#$&%"+2.#,.#')$8%:")5"+%)5$%8$&"9+%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9<%=)%"&%

"6,.#)'+)%&.%)5')%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%2'+%0$%&-")'01*%6'"+)'"+$8%.+%'+%.+9."+9%0'&"&<%

=)%'1&.%$+'01$&%1'+81.#8&%'+8%.)5$#%#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+&%).%$+&-#$%)5')%)5$&$%6$'&-#$&%

are preserved and protected during future alterations to the building.

`X<@%F%#$2.#8%.(%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%'##'+9$6$+)&%2'+%.()$+%)'3$%)5$%(.#6%.(%'%&"6,1$%,1'+%.(%)5$%

0-"18"+9%&5.:"+9%)5$%;'#".-&%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&<%K-25%,1'+&%6"95)%0$%',,#.,#"')$%

(.#%&.6$%6$8"-6%'+8%5"95/#"&$%01.23&%.(%4')&%0-)%'#$%#'#$1*%1"3$1*%).%0$%:'##'+)$8%

(.#%1.:/#"&$%01.23&<%=+%,#'2)"2$7%)5$#$%:"11%0$%+.%+$$8%(.#%'%&,$2"D2%#$2.#8%.(%)5$%D#$%

&'($)*%'##'+9$6$+)&%"+%6'+*%01.23&7%,'#)"2-1'#1*%"(%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%'#$%

8$)'"1$8%&-(D2"$+)1*%"+%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)<%C$+$#"2%,.1"2"$&%'+8%,#.2$8-#$&%

2.;$#"+9%6'"+)$+'+2$%'##'+9$6$+)&%'+8%&.%(.#)5%:.-18%)5$+%&-(D2$%).%6$$)%)5$%!KMZ&%

requirements in this respect.

`X<X% =+%&.6$%2'&$&%E%,'#)"2-1'#1*%:5$#$%)5$%4')&%'#$%,'#)%.(%'%1'#9$#%6"S$8/-&$%8$;$1.,6$+)7%

.#%:5$#$%D#$%&'($)*%$+9"+$$#"+9%5'&%0$$+%"+2.#,.#')$8%:")5"+%)5$%8$&"9+%E%")%6"95)%0$%

',,#.,#"')$%).%,#$,'#$%'%D#$%&'($)*%6'+-'1%'&%'%#$2.#8%.(%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%'##'+9$6$+)&<%

H5"&%6"95)%'1&.%',,1*%"+%)5$%2'&$%.(7%&'*7%'%1'#9$%$S)#'%2'#$%&5$1)$#$8%5.-&"+9%&25$6$%

E%,'#)"2-1'#1*%:5$#$%8"(($#$+)%.#9'+"&')".+&%'#$%"+;.1;$8%"+%)5$%#-++"+9%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9%

'+8%,#.;"&".+%.(%2'#$<%C-"8'+2$%.+%)5$%2.+)$+)%.(%'%D#$%&'($)*%6'+-'1%2'+%0$%(.-+8%"+%

BS 9999.

Page 147



132          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

``<%%W"'"&"+9%:")5%'9$+2"$&%#$&,.+&"01$%(.#%D#$%&'($)*

88.1 Fire and rescue services routinely undertake visits to certain premises in order for 

operational crews to become familiar with the features of the building, including:

g% )5$%'22$&&%(.#%D#$%',,1"'+2$&

g% ';'"1'0"1")*%.(%:')$#%(.#%D#$/D95)"+9%

g% )5$%,#.;"&".+%.(%'+*%&,$2"'1%('2"1")"$&%(.#%)5$"#%-&$7%&-25%'&%D#$/D95)"+9%1"()&%'+8%D#$%

mains.

``<N%Q.&)%01.23&%.(%4')&%:.-18%+.)%:'##'+)%&-25%'%;"&")7%.)5$#%)5'+%,.&&"01*%"+%)5$%2'&$%.(%

high-rise blocks. However, crews may also visit larger sheltered schemes. Whether 

'%,'#)"2-1'#%01.23%.(%4')&%+$$8&%).%0$%;"&")$8%"&%'%6'))$#%(.#%)5$%8"&2#$)".+%.(%)5$%1.2'1%

D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$<%b$;$#)5$1$&&7%1'+81.#8&%'+8%.)5$#&%:")5%#$&,.+&"0"1")*%(.#%)5$%

blocks should welcome such visits, as pre-planning for an emergency in this way can be 

invaluable.

``<V%H5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$%'#$%'1&.%'01$%).%'&&"&)%1'+81.#8&%'+8%.)5$#&%#$&,.+&"01$%

(.#%D#$%&'($)*%"+%#$"+(.#2"+9%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%6$&&'9$%).%#$&"8$+)&<%P.6$%D#$/&'($)*%

25$23&%'#$%'%3$*%2.6,.+$+)%.(%)5$%Y2.66-+")*%D#$%&'($)*Z%"+")"')";$&%.(%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%

services and are available to residents of any domestic dwelling. Landlords and other 

responsible persons should use suitable opportunities to draw this to the attention of 

residents, particularly those with special needs, such as disabled people.

Page 148



!"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')& 133

P"&).#*%.(%D#$%&'($)*%8$&"9+%&)'+8'#8&%(.#%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%
.(%4')&%

F><>%H.%2'##*%.-)%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%(.#%'+%.18$#%01.23%.(%4')&%E%8$&"9+$8%0$(.#$%2-##$+)%

9-"8'+2$%.+%8$&"9+%.(%6$'&-#$&%&-25%'&%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%'+8%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%E%")%"&%

necessary to have some understanding of the original principles on which the block was 

,#.0'01*%8$&"9+$8<%H5"&%9";$&%&.6$%-+8$#&)'+8"+9%.(%:5$)5$#%&"9+"D2'+)%8$,'#)-#$&%(#.6%

2-##$+)%9-"8'+2$%.+%)5$%8$&"9+%.(%'%+$:7%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23%.(%4')&%5';$%'#"&$+%(#.6%

radical changes in guidance, or from material alterations that compromised the original 

8$&"9+%'+8%)5')%&5.-187%)5$#$(.#$7%0$%#$2)"D$8%J&$$%!"9-#$%r%"+%e'#)%!%.(%)5"&%9-"8$L<

F><N%H5"&%$+'01$&%'%&*6,')5$)"2%',,#.'25%).%.18%01.23&%.(%4')&%8$&"9+$8%"+%'22.#8'+2$%:")5%

&-,$#&$8$8%&)'+8'#8&<%=)%"&%+.)%',,#.,#"')$%&"6,1*%).%',,1*%2-##$+)%&)'+8'#8&%).%&-25%

01.23&7%:")5%+.%2.+&"8$#')".+%.(%)5$%#"&3%).%,$.,1$%(#.6%2.+)"+-')".+%.(%)5$%.#"9"+'1%D#$%

&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%:")5.-)%$S,$+&";$%-,9#'8"+9%)5')%"&%+.)%,#.,.#)".+')$%).%)5$%#"&3<%J^*%

analogy, an old car may not incorporate all the safety features of current models, but 

6'*%&)"11%6$$)%#.'8%)#'(D2%1$9"&1')".+<L%I$G-"#$6$+)&%(.#%-,9#'8"+9%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%

"+%&-25%2"#2-6&)'+2$&%&5.-18%0$%0'&$8%.+%"8$+)"D2')".+%.(%6')$#"'1%#"&37%#')5$#%)5'+%

prescriptive application of current guidance.

F><V%C$+$#'1%9-"8'+2$%.+%)5$%#$1$;'+)%1$9"&1')".+%'+8%8$&"9+%,#"+2",1$&%)5')%:$#$%)*,"2'11*%

adopted at various periods of time are outlined below, along with the relevant 

superseded codes of practice, which can often be consulted to obtain further detail. 

Q'+*%.(%)5$%2.8$&%.(%,#'2)"2$%).%:5"25%)5"&%',,$+8"S%#$($#&%'#$%1$+9)5*%'+8%8$)'"1$8<%

H5$*%2'+%.+1*%0$%0#"$4*%&-66'#"&$8%"+%)5"&%9-"8$<

' ,-1'O^+9K$17+3-='!"#$%&'#(')*+&

F><U%!1')&%0-"1)%0$(.#$%)5$%NA)5%2$+)-#*%6'*%:$11%5';$%0$$+%2.+&)#-2)$8%"+%'22.#8'+2$%:")5%

1.2'1%1$9"&1')".+%'+8%0*$/1':&<%=+%)5$%i"2).#"'+%$#'7%6'+&".+/&)*1$%01.23&%.(%4')&%:$#$%

constructed for upper-class people, and tenement blocks were constructed for working-

class people.

F><O%H*,"2'11*7%)5$&$%01.23&%6'*%2.6,#"&$%'%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*%.(%(.-#%.#%D;$%&).#$*&7%:")5%4')&%

entered directly from the stairway, or blocks with corridors, often of considerable length, 

:")5%.#%:")5.-)%'1)$#+')";$%&)'"#:'*&%(.#%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%(#.6%D#$<%=+%$'#1*%)$+$6$+)&7%

2.+&)#-2)".+%6'*%5';$%.#"9"+'11*%"+2.#,.#')$8%1')5%'+8%,1'&)$#%2$"1"+9&%'+8%)"60$#%4..#&7%

:5"25%:.-187%0*%).8'*Z&%&)'+8'#8&7%+.)%,#.;"8$%&-(D2"$+)%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%0$):$$+%&).#$*&<

.;;1786S'L

Page 149



134          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

F><@%P.:$;$#7%1')5%'+8%,1'&)$#%2$"1"+9&%6'*%5';$%0$$+%#$,1'2$8%:")5%,1'&)$#0.'#8%)5')%:.-18%

'((.#8%'%#$'&.+'01$%8$9#$$%.(%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$7%'+8%2.+2#$)$%4..#&%.()$+%$S"&)%"+%6'+&".+%

01.23&%2.+&)#-2)$8%"+%)5$%1'))$#%5'1(%.(%)5$%>?)5%2$+)-#*<%B+8$';.-#&%&5.-18%0$%6'8$%E%

).%)5$%$S)$+)%,#'2)"2'01$%E%).%8$)$#6"+$%)5$%1"3$1*%2.+&)#-2)".+%.(%4..#&%'+8%2$"1"+9&<%F%

#$'&.+'01$%8$9#$$%.(%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%0$):$$+%4..#&%6'*%0$%'8$G-')$%).%&-,,.#)%'%Y&)'*%

,-)Z%,.1"2*7%&-0T$2)%).%#$'&.+'01$%,#.)$2)".+%.(%)5$%2.66-+'1%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%(#.6%'%

D#$%"+%'%4')%.#%&-")'01$%'1)$#+')";$%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$<

F><X%=+%)5$%1'))$#%,'#)%.(%)5$%>?)5%2$+)-#*7%;$#*%0'&"2%6$'&-#$&%).%&-,,.#)%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%

:$#$%&.6$)"6$&%"+2.#,.#')$87%&-25%'&%$&2',$%;"'%#..(&%"+).%'8T'2$+)%0-"18"+9&<%H5$#$%

may also have been efforts over the years to upgrade means of escape, by provision of 

'1)$#+')";$%$&2',$%#.-)$&%2.6,#"&"+9%#.-)$&%.;$#%#..(&%'+8%$S)$#+'1%&)'"#:'*&<

F><`%=)%"&%"6,.#)'+)%).%0$%':'#$%'+8%2.+&"8$#%,.&&"01$%&5.#)2.6"+9&%"+%#$&,$2)%.(%6$'+&%.(%

$&2',$%(#.6%)5$&$%.18%01.23&%.(%4')&<%K-25%&5.#)2.6"+9&%"+21-8$R

g% 4')&%.(%6.#$%)5'+%)5#$$%&).#$*&%'0.;$%9#.-+8%)5')%'#$%&$#;$8%0*%'%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*7%

with no alternative means of escape and no lobby protection of the stairway

g% "+'8$G-')$%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%0$):$$+%$'25%4')%'+8%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%E%,'#)"2-1'#%+.)$%

&5.-18%0$%)'3$+%.(%'+*%91'a$8%('+1"95)&%.#%&"8$1"95)&7%'&%)5$&$%'#$%-+1"3$1*%).%'((.#8%

'+*%&"9+"D2'+)%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$7%-+1$&&%)5$*%5';$%0$$+%#$,1'2$8%:")5%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%

91'a"+9%.#%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%&$2.+8'#*%91'a"+9%:")5"+%4')&

g% ,'+$11$8%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&7%:")5%1$&&%)5'+%'%+.)".+'1%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%.(%'#.-+8%NA%

6"+-)$&%"(%)$&)$8%"+%'22.#8'+2$%:")5%2-##$+)%D#$/#$&"&)'+2$%)$&)&

Page 150



135          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

g% 4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%)5')%'#$%+.)%$(($2)";$1*%&$1(/21.&"+9

g% long travel distances along corridors leading to protected stairways, sometimes in a 

single direction with no alternative escape route

g% escape routes onto, and over, roofs, which are often unsuitable for disabled, older or 

"+D#6%#$&"8$+)&7%.#%(.#%*.-+9%25"18#$+

g% $S)$#+'1%$&2',$%#.-)$&7%&-25%'&%:'13:'*&%.#%&)'"#:'*&7%:5"25%6'*%0$%$S,.&$8%).%'%

D#$%"+%'+%'8T'2$+)%4')7%6'*%+.)%)$#6"+')$%')%'%,1'2$%.(%-1)"6')$%&'($)*7%.#%6'*%0$%"+%

poor condition.

F><?%H5$#$%:$#$%+.)%+.#6'11*%'+*%&,$2"'1%6$'&-#$&%(.#%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%"+%)5$&$%01.23&7%'+8%")%

is usually not reasonably practicable to install such facilities today. However, often there 

'#$%.,$+'01$%:"+8.:&%:")5"+%2.66.+%,'#)&7%:5"25%'#$%.(%;'1-$%).%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%

service for smoke clearance and should normally be maintained in place.

F><>A%\.+&"8$#')".+%6'*%+$$8%).%0$%9";$+%).%'+*%2.66.+%&5'()&%(.#%;$+)"1')".+%J$9%(#.6%

kitchens or bathrooms), which may have been added over the years and may not 

"+2.#,.#')$%'8$G-')$%6$'&-#$&%).%,#$;$+)%D#$/&,#$'8%0$):$$+%4')&<

' 5"*+&'!36"+'67'1*-"=';*-+'#('O^+9'$17+3-=

F><>>% H5$&$%4')&%:$#$7%'9'"+7%.()$+%&-0T$2)%).%1.2'1%0*$/1':&7%,#.8-2$8%(#.6%)"6$%).%)"6$%

over many years, relating to general standards of construction, though not necessarily 

).%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%(#.6%D#$<%H5$%e-01"2%P$'1)5%F2)%>?V@%$6,.:$#$8%'11%1.2'1%

authorities in England to make such bye-laws for the construction of buildings and the 

materials used.

F><>N%H5$%e-01"2%P$'1)5%F2)%'1&.%#$G-"#$8%1.2'1%'-)5.#")"$&%).%6'3$%&-25%#$G-"#$6$+)&%

'&%2.+&"8$#$8%+$2$&&'#*%).%$+&-#$%'8$G-')$%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%(#.6%01.23&%.(%4')&%

.;$#%):.%&).#$*&%'+8%:")5%'%4..#%.;$#%NA%(..)%J()L%'0.;$%9#.-+8%1$;$1<%H5"&%&.6$)"6$&%

2.6,#"&$8%$&2',$%#.-)$&%;"'%#..(&%.#%$S)$#+'1%&)'"#:'*&<

F><>V% H5$%,.:$#%.(%1.2'1%'-)5.#")"$&%).%6'3$%0*$/1':&%#$1')"+9%).%)5$&$%6'))$#&%:'&%:")58#':+%

0*%)5$%e-01"2%P$'1)5%F2)%>?@>7%0*%:5"25%)"6$%)5$#$%:$#$%'#.-+8%>7UAA%&$)&%.(%0*$/1':&<%

H5"&%F2)%'1&.%9';$%)5$%,.:$#%).%6"+"&)$#&%).%,#.8-2$%+')".+'1%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&<

F><>U% =+%W.+8.+7%)5$%W.+8.+%^-"18"+9%F2)&%J&$$%0$1.:L%6'8$%#$G-"#$6$+)&%(.#%)5$%

2.+&)#-2)".+%.(%0-"18"+9&7%'+8%(.#%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%(#.6%2$#)'"+%01.23&%.(%4')&<%\$#)'"+%

.)5$#%F2)&7%&,$2"D2%).%,'#)"2-1'#%2")"$&7%'1&.%6'8$%#$G-"#$6$+)&%.+%&-25%6'))$#&<

F><>O%b.+$%.(%)5$%'0.;$%1$9"&1')".+%6'8$%&,$2"D2%8$)'"1$8%#$G-"#$6$+)&%(.#%)5$%8$&"9+%

of measures such as means of escape. There were no nationally adopted codes of 

practice to which reference can now be made until the publication of a British Standard 

code of practice, ‘CP3 chapter lV’, in 1948. This code of practice only applied to two-

&).#$*%01.23&%.(%4')&<%=+%;"$:%.(%")&%.0&.1$&2$+2$%'+8%;$#*%#$&)#"2)$8%&2.,$7%")%"&%+.)%

Page 151



136          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

2.+&"8$#$8%(-#)5$#%E%.)5$#%)5'+%).%+.)$%)5')%'%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%.(%VA%6"+-)$&%:'&%&,$2"D$8%

(.#%2.+&)#-2)".+%)5')%&$,'#')$8%)5$%1.:$#%4')&%(#.6%)5$%&)'"#:'*%).%-,,$#%4')&<

 London legislation

F><>@%W.2'11*%',,1"2'01$%9-"8'+2$%:'&%,#.8-2$8%0*%&.6$%'-)5.#")"$&7%6.&)%+.)'01*%)5$%

London County Council (LCC) in support of their local legislation. LCC produced 

9-"8'+2$%)5')%',,1"$8%(#.6%>?AX/>?V@7%'()$#%:5"25%")%:'&%&-0&)'+)"'11*%#$;"&$8<

 London legislation 1936-1946

F><>X%c+8$#%)5$%W\\%9-"8'+2$%.(%>?V@7%'%&"+91$7%+.+/2.60-&)"01$%&)'"#:'*%:'&%'22$,)'01$%

"+%#$&"8$+)"'1%01.23&%+.)%$S2$$8"+9%(.-#%&).#$*&%'0.;$%9#.-+8%1$;$17%:")5%$'25%4')%

accessed directly from the stairway (or from a protected lobby or corridor). 

F><>`%H5$#$%:'&%'%6'S"6-6%.(%(.-#%4')&%,$#%&).#$*7%:5$#$%4..#&%:$#$%)"60$#%'+8%2$"1"+9&%

:$#$%,1'&)$#$87%.#%&"S%4')&%"(%)5$%4..#&%:$#$%+.+/2.60-&)"01$%'+8%)5$#$%:'&%'%D#$/

#$&"&)"+9%&2#$$+%'+8%8..#%&$,'#')"+9%)5$%&)'"#:'*%(#.6%'+*%2.66.+%2.##"8.#<%=)%:'&%

#$G-"#$8%)5')%#..6&%:")5"+%4')&%5'8%).%0$%$+)$#$8%(#.6%'+%$+)#'+2$%5'11<

F><>?%!.#%01.23&%$S2$$8"+9%(.-#%&).#$*&%'0.;$%9#.-+87%.#%:")5%'%4..#%6.#$%)5'+%OA()%'0.;$%

ground, an alternative means of escape, independent of the stairway, was necessary. 

^$8#..6&%"+%4')&%.;$#%OA()%"+%5$"95)7%.#%.+%4..#&%"+'22$&&"01$%).%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$%

appliances, had to be entered from an entrance hall or be provided with a pass door to 

the common parts or an alternative means of escape.

F><NA% =+%)5$%2'&$%.(%Y01.23%8:$11"+9&Z%J(.#%:.#3"+9%21'&&%,$.,1$L7%'22$&&%).%4')&%:'&%;"'%.,$+%

0'12.+"$&<%=+%)5$&$%01.23&7%'%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*7%,'#)1*%.,$+%).%)5$%.-)$#%'"#7%:'&%'22$,)'01$%

(.#%01.23&%+.)%$S2$$8"+9%(.-#%&).#$*&%'0.;$%9#.-+8%1$;$1%J.#%D;$%&).#$*&%"(%)5$%).,%):.%

&).#$*&%:$#$%6'"&.+$))$&L%:")5%'22.66.8')".+%(.#%+.)%6.#$%)5'+%>OA%,$#&.+&<%F11%

8:$11"+9&%5'8%).%5';$%'+%$+)#'+2$%5'11<%H5$%6'S"6-6%8"&)'+2$%.(%)#';$1%0$):$$+%'+*%

4')%'+8%)5$%&)'"#:'*%:'&%1"6")$8%).%`A()%J',,#.S"6')$1*%NU6L<%!.#%01.23&%:")5%6.#$%)5'+%

(.-#%&).#$*&%'0.;$%9#.-+8%1$;$17%'%&$2.+8%&)'"#:'*%:'&%+$2$&&'#*%E%$S2$,)%)5')7%:5$#$%

)5$#$%:'&%.+1*%.+$%'88")".+'1%&).#$*7%'22$&&%2.-18%0$%,#.;"8$8%(#.6%$'25%4')%).%)5$%

0'12.+*%.(%)5$%4')%0$1.:%J.#7%"+%)5$%2'&$%.(%)5$%-,,$#%&).#$*%.(%'%6'"&.+$))$7%;"'%'%1"+3%

0'12.+*%).%)5$%'8T'2$+)%6'"&.+$))$L<

F><N>%!#.6%>?V?7%J-+)"1%)5$%2-##$+)%8'*L7%K$2)".+%NA%.(%)5$%W.+8.+%^-"18"+9&%F2)&%

JF6$+86$+)L%F2)%>?V?%5'&%$+'01$8%'88")".+'1%#$G-"#$6$+)&%).%0$%6'8$%"+%#$&,$2)%

.(%2.+&)#-2)".+%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&%:")5%'%&).#$*%9#$')$#%)5'+%>AA()%J',,#.S"6')$1*%VA6L%

'0.;$%9#.-+87%.#%'0.;$%`A()%J',,#.S"6')$1*%NU6L%"(%)5$%'#$'%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9%$S2$$8&%

>A7AAA%&G-'#$%($$)%J',,#.S"6')$1*%?N?62).

F><NN%H5$%#$G-"#$6$+)%(.#%'1)$#+')";$%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%"+%)5$%2'&$%.(%0-"18"+9&%:")5%6.#$%

)5'+%(.-#%&).#$*&%'0.;$%9#.-+8%:'&%&-0&$G-$+)1*%',,1"$8%:5$#$%'+*%4..#%:'&%'0.;$%

UN()%J',,#.S"6')$1*%>V6L<

Page 152



137          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

 London legislation 1946-1962

F><NV%b$:%9-"8'+2$%(.#%4')&%"+%W.+8.+%:'&%,#.8-2$8%"+%>?U@<%H5$%6'S"6-6%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$%

).%'%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*%:'&%"+2#$'&$8%).%>AA()%J',,#.S"6')$1*%VA6L7%.#%?A()%J',,#.S"6')$1*%

27m) to the nearest stairway in the case of buildings requiring two stairways. 

F><NU%H5$%):.%&)'"#:'*&%2.-18%0$%+.%6.#$%)5'+%>`A()%J',,#.S"6')$1*%OO6L%','#)7%$S2$,)%"+%

the case of open balcony approach, where no limitation applied.

 General

F><NO%_5$#$%01.23&%.(%4')&%:$#$%0-"1)%,#".#%).%>?@N7%&$;$#'1%.(%)5$%,.&&"01$%&5.#)2.6"+9&%

of which it is important to be aware and consider in respect of means of escape are 

&"6"1'#%).%)5.&$%,#$;".-&1*%8$&2#"0$8%(.#%,#$/NA)5/2$+)-#*%01.23&<%P.:$;$#7%.#"9"+'1%4')%

$+)#'+2$%8..#&%:$#$%1"3$1*%).%5';$%0$$+%D#$/#$&"&)"+97%'&%8$D+$8%0*%)5$%&)'+8'#8&%.(%

)5$%)"6$<%H5$&$%6'*%2.+)"+-$%).%'((.#8%'%#$'&.+'01$%8$9#$$%.(%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$7%.)5$#%

than in critical situations, such as long dead ends, where upgrading to current standards 

may be warranted. 

F><N@% =+%)5$%1'))$#%,'#)%.(%)5"&%,$#".87%&5-+)%8-2)&%6'*%5';$%0$$+%-&$8%).%,#$;$+)%D#$/&,#$'8%

0$):$$+%4')&%;"'%2.66.+%;$+)"1')".+%&5'()&7%0-)%)5"&%6'*%+$$8%).%0$%2.+D#6$8%:5$#$%

there is a ‘stay put’ policy.

 Flats built between 1962 and 1971

F><NX% =+%>?@N7%^K=%,-01"&5$8%'%+$:%2.8$%.(%,#'2)"2$7%Y\eV%25',)$#%1i%,'#)%>Z7%:5"25%,#.;"8$8%

#$2.66$+8')".+&%(.#%D#$%,#$2'-)".+&%"+%

01.23&%.(%4')&%.;$#%`A()%J',,#.S"6')$1*%

24m) in height. The code of practice 

was also considered appropriate for 

buildings less than 80ft in height.

F><N`%H5$%>?@N%;$#&".+%.(%Y\eV%25',)$#%1i%

,'#)%>Z%:'&%5"951*%&"9+"D2'+)%'&%")%:'&%

)5$%D#&)%+')".+'1%2.8$%).%'8;.2')$7%

'+8%"+2.#,.#')$7%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%

based on, what is now known as a ‘stay 

,-)Z%,.1"2*<%=+%>?@N%)5"&%:'&%$S,#$&&$8%

'&%'%,#"+2",1$%:5$#$0*%)5.&$%"+%4')&%

.+%4..#&%'0.;$%)5')%"+%:5"25%'%D#$%

occurred would be safe to remain within 

)5$"#%.:+%4')&<%J=)%:'&%'23+.:1$89$8%

)5')%4')&%.+%)5$%&'6$%4..#%'&%)5$%D#$7%

or even in the immediate vicinity of 

)5$%D#$7%6"95)%+$$8%).%0$%$;'2-')$87%

Page 153



138          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

0-)%'%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%:'&%+.)%2.+&"8$#$8%+$2$&&'#*<L%H5$%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%

recommended were intended to ensure that means of escape remained safe for use by 

those with a need, or desire, to evacuate the block.

F><N?%H5"&%&)#')$9*%5'&%,#.;$8%',,#.,#"')$%.;$#%)5$%1'&)%5'1(%2$+)-#*7%'+8%5'&%:.#3$8%

&')"&('2).#"1*%"+%)5$%;'&)%6'T.#")*%.(%D#$&%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&<%F22.#8"+91*7%")%&5.-18%+.)%

#$'8"1*%0$%'0'+8.+$8%).8'*<%B;$+%"(%'%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%"&%2.+&"8$#$8%+$2$&&'#*%J$9%'&%

'%#$&-1)%.(%&$#".-&%&)#-2)-#'1%&5.#)2.6"+9&%)5')%2'++.)%0$%#$2)"D$8L7%2.6,1$)$%$;'2-')".+%

.(%'%5"95/#"&$%01.23%.(%4')&%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%'%D#$%"+%.+$%4')%"&%-+1"3$1*%).%0$%',,#.,#"')$%

J&$$%'1&.%e'#)%!%'+8%F,,$+8"S%@%.(%)5"&%9-"8$L<

F><VA%H5$%2.8$%#$2.66$+8$8%)5')%'11%4')&%5';$%'+%$+)#'+2$%5'117%"+%:5"25%)5$#$%:'&%+.%D#$%

5'a'#8<%^$8#..6&%:$#$%).%$")5$#%.,$+%8"#$2)1*%(#.6%)5"&%$+)#'+2$%5'11%J'+8%0$%+$'#$#%).%

the entrance than any door to a living room, dining room or kitchen), or the bedrooms 

:$#$%).%5';$%'+%'1)$#+')";$%$S")%1$'8"+9%8"#$2)1*%).%'%6'"+%$&2',$%#.-)$%.-)&"8$%)5$%4')<%

H5$%1";"+9%#..67%8"+"+9%#..6%'+8%3")25$+%8..#&%:$#$%#$G-"#$8%).%0$%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%'+8%

&$1(/21.&"+9<%H5"&%.()$+%$+'01$&%"8$+)"D2')".+%.(%'%01.23%.(%4')&%0-"1)%"+%'22.#8'+2$%:")5%

this early version of ‘CP3 chapter lV part 1’. The bedroom doors are often hollow core 

domestic doors, without any substantial doorstop, whereas the living room and kitchen 

8..#&%'#$%&.1"8%D#$%8..#&7%21.&"+9%.+).%'%NO66%&).,<

F><V>%Q'"&.+$))$&%:$#$7%"+%'88")".+7%#$G-"#$8%).%5';$%'+%'1)$#+')";$%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%(#.6%

)5$%+.+/$+)#'+2$%1$;$1<%=(%)5$%$&2',$%#.-)$%(#.6%'+*%#..6%.+%)5$%-,,$#%1$;$1%,'&&$8%)5$%

1'+8"+9%')%)5$%5$'8%.(%)5$%&)'"#:'*7%'%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%&2#$$+%:")5%'%D#$%8..#%:'&%#$G-"#$8%

')%)5$%5$'8%.(%)5$%&)'"#:'*%).%&$,'#')$%)5$%&)'"#:'*%(#.6%)5$%-,,$#%1$;$1<%F1)$#+')";$1*7%

pass doors between rooms, or an internal entrance hall, could be used to protect the 

-,,$#%4..#%$&2',$%#.-)$%(#.6%'%D#$%.+%)5$%1$;$1%0$1.:<

F><VN%_5$#$%'1)$#+')";$%$S")&%(#.6%'%0$8#..6%:$#$%+$2$&&'#*7%)5"&%2.-18%0$%,#.;"8$8%;"'%'%

balcony leading to a stairway, or via an internal stairway leading to common parts on the 

4..#%'0.;$%.#%0$1.:%)5$%0$8#..6%4..#<

F><VV%H.%('2"1")')$%&'($%$&2',$%:")5"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&7%"+%)5$%2'&$%.(%4')&%'22$&&$8%

via balconies, alternative means of escape from each dwelling to a stairway was 

considered necessary. This normally comprised a balcony leading to a stairway at each 

end, but alternatively could comprise a balcony at both sides of the block leading to 

.+$%.#%6.#$%&)'"#:'*&<%=+%)5$%2'&$%.(%6'"&.+$))$&7%)5$&$%1'))$#%0'12.+"$&%2.-18%0$%.+%

'1)$#+')$%4..#&7%&.%$+&-#"+9%&'($%$&2',$%(#.6%'%D#$%:")5"+%)5$%6'"&.+$))$7%'&%:$11%'&%

&'($%$&2',$%(#.6%'%D#$%)5')%'(($2)$8%'+*%0'12.+*<

F><VU%!.#%8:$11"+9&%:")5%'%2.##"8.#%',,#.'257%:5$#$%$;$#*%8:$11"+9%:'&%,#.;"8$8%:")5%'+%

'1)$#+')";$%$S")%).%'%6'"+%&)'"#:'*%J$9%;"'%'%0'12.+*%:")5%$&2',$%"+%):.%8"#$2)".+&L7%)5$%

6'S"6-6%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$%(#.6%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#%).%'%6'"+%&)'"#:'*%:'&%1"6")$8%

).%>AA()%J',,#.S"6')$1*%VA6L%'+8%)5$%2.##"8.#%:'&%).%0$%,#.;"8$8%:")5%,$#6'+$+)%.#%

openable ventilation.

Page 154



139          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

F><VO%_5$#$%'+%'1)$#+')";$%$S")%:'&%+.)%';'"1'01$%(#.6%$'25%4')7%)5$%6'S"6-6%8"&)'+2$%(#.6%

any entrance door to the nearest stairway was still limited to 100ft, provided the dwelling 

:'&%&")-')$8%0$):$$+%):.%&)'"#:'*&7%.#%.)5$#:"&$%:'&%1"6")$8%).%OA()%J',,#.S"6')$1*%

>O6L<%=+%'88")".+7%$;$#*%8:$11"+9%5'8%).%.,$+%"+).%'%2.##"8.#%'+8R

"<% $")5$#%0$%+.%6.#$%)5'+%>O()%J',,#.S"6')$1*%U<O6L%(#.6%)5$%8..#%).%)5$%6'"+%

stairway (or to a smoke-stop door across the corridor) or not more than 15ft from a 

permanently ventilated lobby

ii or open into a permanently ventilated lobby and be not more than 15ft from a 

smoke-stop door separating the lobby from the corridor leading to the stairway.

F><V@%_5$#$%'%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*%:'&%,$#6"))$87%'22$&&%).%")%:'&%$")5$#%(#.6%'%0'12.+*%.#%'%

ventilated lobby.

F><VX%_5$#$%2.66.+%;$+)"1')".+%&5'()&%&$#;$8%4')&%.+%$'25%&).#$*7%'%&5-+)%8-2)%:'&%-&$8%

).%1"+3%$'25%4')%).%)5$%2.66.+%&5'()<%F1)$#+')";$1*%'+*%5.#"a.+)'1%8-2)%(#.6%'%4')%).%)5$%

&5'()%:'&%#$G-"#$8%).%0$%')%1$'&)%V()%1.+9<%=+%)5$%1'))$#%2'&$7%)5$%T-+2)".+&%0$):$$+%)5$%

5.#"a.+)'1%&$2)".+&%(#.6%$'25%&$,'#')$%8:$11"+9%'+8%)5$%6'"+%8-2)%:$#$%).%0$%')%1$'&)%

one storey apart in height.

F><V`%b')".+'1%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&7%',,1"2'01$%)5#.-95.-)%B+91'+8%J.)5$#%)5'+%"++$#%

W.+8.+L%:$#$%D#&)%,#.8-2$8%"+%>?@O<%H5$&$%6'8$%+.%#$G-"#$6$+)&%(.#%6$'+&%.(%

$&2',$7%0-)%8"8%#$G-"#$%2.6,'#)6$+)')".+%0$):$$+%4')&<

 London legislation

F><V?% =+%>?@N7%W.+8.+%\.-+)*%\.-+2"1%'1&.%,-01"&5$8%9-"8'+2$%.+%D#$%,#$2'-)".+&%"+%01.23&%

.(%4')&7%"+%&-,,.#)%.(%)5$%W.+8.+%^-"18"+9%F2)&<

F><UA%H5"&%9-"8'+2$%#$G-"#$8%$+)#'+2$%5'11&%:")5"+%4')&<%=)%2.+)"+-$8%).%,$#6")%8"#$2)%'22$&&%

(#.6%4')&%).%'%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*%J.#%).%'+%"+)$#+'1%,#.)$2)$8%1.00*%.#%2.##"8.#%1$'8"+9%

).%'%&)'"#:'*%.#%).%'+%$S)$#+'1%0'12.+*%1$'8"+9%).%'+%.,$+%&)'"#:'*%.#%,'#)"'11*%.,$+%

&)'"#:'*L%,#.;"8$8%+.%4..#%:'&%9#$')$#%)5'+%UN()%"+%5$"95)%J)*,"2'11*7%'%01.23%.(%4')&%:")5%

up to four upper storeys).

F><U>%!.#%01.23&%:")5%4..#&%.;$#%UN()%"+%5$"95)7%'+%'1)$#+')";$%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%:'&%#$G-"#$87%

but this could comprise access to the roof (with a screen across the stairway to separate 

)5$%1.:$#%4..#&%(#.6%)5$%-,,$#6.&)%4..#&L<%!#.6%)5$%#..(7%'22$&&%:'&%,#.;"8$8%).%'+%

'8T."+"+9%0-"18"+97%'%0'12.+*%.#%'+%$S)$#+'1%&)'"#:'*<%!.#%0'12.+*%',,#.'25%8:$11"+9&%

with only one storey above 42ft, a suitable alternative means of escape comprised a 

stairway to the balcony below.

F><UN%H5$%6'S"6-6%8"&)'+2$%(#.6%'%8:$11"+9%).%'%&)'"#:'*%:'&%>AA()%J',,#.S"6')$1*%VA6L7%

.#7%:5$#$%)5$#$%:$#$%):.%&)'"#:'*&7%?A()%J',,#.S"6')$1*%NX6L%'+8%)5$%):.%&)'"#:'*&%

:$#$%+.)%).%0$%6.#$%)5'+%>`A()%J',,#.S"6')$1*%OO6L%','#)<

Page 155



140          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

F><UV%]"(($#$+)%#$2.66$+8')".+&%',,1"$8%).%01.23&%'22$&&$8%;"'%.,$+%0'12.+"$&%.#%

ventilated lobbies that connected to enclosed stairways. The recommendations varied 

'22.#8"+9%).%:5$)5$#%)5$#$%:'&%.+1*%.+$%4')%"+%1"+$%(#.6%)5$%&)'"#:'*%.#%6.#$%)5'+%.+$%

4')<%=+%0.)5%2'&$&7%$+)#'+2$%5'11&%:$#$%#$G-"#$8%:")5"+%4')&%'+8%)5$%2#.&&%;$+)"1')".+%.(%

)5$%1.00*%:'&%#$G-"#$8<%P.:$;$#7%"+%)5$%2'&$%.(%01.23&%:")5%6.#$%)5'+%.+$%4')%"+%1"+$%

(#.6%)5$%&)'"#:'*7%'1)$#+')";$%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%:'&%#$G-"#$8%(#.6%'11%4..#&%.;$#%`A()%

(24m) in height.

F><UU%F88")".+'1%#$G-"#$6$+)&%(.#%01.23&%.;$#%`A()%"+%5$"95)%:$#$%#$G-"#$8%-+8$#%K$2)".+%NA%

.(%)5$%W.+8.+%^-"18"+9%F2)&%JF6$+86$+)L%F2)%>?V?<

 Flats built between 1971 and 1985

F><UO% =+%>?X>7%\eV%25',)$#%1i%,'#)%>R%>?@N%:'&%&-,$#&$8$8%0*%\eV%25',)$#%1i%,'#)%>R%>?X>7%

:5"25%,#.;"8$8%#$2.66$+8')".+&%(.#%,#$2'-)".+&%(#.6%D#$%"+%4')&%'+8%6'"&.+$))$&%.;$#%

two storeys. This code of practice was adopted in London for the purpose of compliance 

:")5%)5$%W.+8.+%^-"18"+9%F2)&<%P.:$;$#7%"+%)5$%2'&$%.(%)'11%01.23&%.(%4')&7%).%:5"25%

K$2)".+%NA%.(%)5$%W.+8.+%^-"18"+9%F2)&%JF6$+86$+)L%F2)%.(%>?V?%',,1"$87%'%2.8$%.(%

,#'2)"2$%,#.8-2$8%"+%&-,,.#)%.(%)5')%1$9"&1')".+%&,$2"D$8%'88")".+'1%6$'&-#$&7%'+87%6.#$%

generally, was accepted as an alternative code to CP3 chapter lV part 1 in relation to all 

)5$%#$1$;'+)%D#$%,#$2'-)".+&<

F><U@% =+%>?XN7%)5$%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&%:$#$%#$;"&$8%J0-)%:$#$%&)"11%+.)%',,1"2'01$%"+%

inner London). The Building Regulations 1972 (and all later versions of the Building 

Page 156



141          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

I$9-1')".+&L%2.+)"+-$8%).%#$G-"#$%2.6,'#)6$+)')".+%0$):$$+%4')&7%'+8%'88")".+'11*%

#$G-"#$8%'%,#.)$2)$8%&)'"#:'*%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&%.(%)5#$$%.#%6.#$%&).#$*&<%=+%'88")".+7%

#$'&.+'01$%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%:$#$%#$G-"#$8%"+%)5$%2'&$%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&%'0.;$%U<O6%"+%

height (a traditional three, or more, storey block). ‘CP3 chapter lV part 1’ was deemed to 

&')"&(*%'%&,$2"D2')".+%(.#%#$'&.+'01$%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$<%H5$%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&%>?X@%

continued these requirements (with the additional requirement that the enclosure of the 

,#.)$2)$8%&)'"#:'*%6-&)%$S)$+8%).%'%D+'1%$S")L<

F><UX% H5$%.#"9"+'1%>?XN%;$#&".+%.(%Y\eV%25',)$#%1i%,'#)%>Z%:'&%'6$+8$8%"+%>?XN7%>?XV7%

>?X@%'+8%>?X`<%b.+$%.(%)5$%D#&)%)5#$$%'6$+86$+)&%'#$%.(%&"9+"D2'+2$%(.#%)5$%,-#,.&$%

of this guide. The 1978 amendment reproduces advice to owners and occupiers of 

4')&7%.#"9"+'11*%,-01"&5$8%"+%)5$%#$,.#)%.(%)5$%:.#3"+9%9#.-,%.(%)5$%\$+)#'1%!"#$%^#"9'8$&Z%

F8;"&.#*%\.-+2"1&%(.#%B+91'+8%'+8%_'1$&%'+8%(.#%K2.)1'+8%.+%!"#$%&'($)*%"+%5"95/#"&$%

01.23&%.(%4')&<%=)%"&%.(%,'#)"2-1'#%+.)$%)5')%)5$%'8;"2$%).%.22-,"$#&%:'&%)5')7%"(%'%D#$%"&%

$;"8$+)%.#%#$,.#)$8%$1&$:5$#$%)5'+%)5$"#%.:+%4')7%")%:"11%+.#6'11*%0$%&'($%).%&)'*%:")5"+%

)5$"#%4')7%21.&"+9%8..#&%'+8%:"+8.:&<

F><U`% Y\eV%25',)$#%1i%,'#)%>Z%,#.;"8$8%+-6$#.-&%.,)".+&%(.#%)5$%8$&"9+%.(%4')&%'+8%

6'"&.+$))$&7%'+87%"+%'23+.:1$89"+9%)5$%8"(D2-1)*%.(%6'3"+9%2.6,#$5$+&";$%

recommendations for every situation, the code of practice advocated intelligent 

',,1"2')".+%.(%")&%,#"+2",1$&%'+8%#$2.66$+8')".+&<%F&%")%"&%&)"11%';'"1'01$%J(#.6%)5$%^#")"&5%

K)'+8'#8&%=+&)")-)".+L7%")&%#$2.66$+8')".+&%'#$%.+1*%0#.'81*%&-66'#"&$8%0$1.:<

F><U?% F%+-60$#%.(%)5$%,#"+2",1$&%.(%)5$%>?@N%'+8%>?X>%2.8$&%'#$%;$#*%&"6"1'#<%P.:$;$#7%"+%

2.+)#'&)%:")5%)5$%>?@N%;$#&".+7%)5$%>?X>%;$#&".+%+.%1.+9$#%'&&-6$8%)5')%'%:5.1$%4..#%.#%

$;$+%'8T."+"+9%8:$11"+9&%+$$8%0$%$;'2-')$8%"(%'%D#$%.22-##$8%"+%'%4')<%=)%:'&%2.+&"8$#$8%

)5')7%'&%'%#$&-1)%.(%)5$%2.6,'#)6$+)')".+%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&%')%)5')%)"6$%J'&%'%#$&-1)%.(%

#$G-"#$6$+)&%-+8$#%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&L7%)5$%&,#$'8%.(%D#$%'+8%&6.3$%(#.6%.+$%8:$11"+9%

).%'+.)5$#7%'+8%)5$%+$$8%).%$;'2-')$%.22-,'+)&%.(%'8T."+"+9%8:$11"+9&7%:'&%-+-&-'1<

F><OA%F%(-#)5$#%2.+)#'&)%:")5%)5$%>?@N%2.8$%#$1')$&%).%)5$%,#.)$2)$8%$+)#'+2$%5'11&%:")5"+%

4')&<%^.)5%;$#&".+&%#$2.66$+8$8%)5$%,#.;"&".+%.(%)5$&$%$+)#'+2$%5'11&7%0-)%)5$%>?@N%

version recommended that only the lounge, dining room and kitchen doors need be 

D#$/#$&"&)"+9%'+8%&$1(/21.&"+9<%H5$%>?X>%2.8$%#$2.66$+8$8%)5"&%(.#%'11%8..#&7%.)5$#%)5'+%

0')5#..6&%'+8%_\&%2.+)'"+"+9%+.%D#$%5'a'#8<

F><O>%^$8#..6&%:$#$%).%.,$+%"+).%'+%$+)#'+2$%5'11%'+8%,#$($#'01*%0$%+$'#$#%).%)5$%4')%

entrance door than the living room and kitchen. The bedroom doors were not to be 

further than 7.5m from the entrance door unless there was an alternative means of 

$&2',$%(#.6%)5$%0$8#..6&7%:5"25%2.-18%2.6,#"&$%'%1"+3"+9%0'12.+*%).%'+%'8T."+"+9%4')<

Page 157



142          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

F><ON% i'#".-&%1'*.-)&%(.#%6'"&.+$))$&%:$#$%'22$,)'01$7%0-)%'+%'1)$#+')";$%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%:'&%

#$G-"#$8%(#.6%$;$#*%4..#%.+%:5"25%'%5'0")'01$%#..6%:'&%1.2')$87%.)5$#%)5'+%)5$%$+)#'+2$%

4..#<%H5"&%2.-18%2.6,#"&$%'%1"+3"+9%0'12.+*%).%'+%'8T."+"+9%8:$11"+9%.#%'%&)'"#:'*%).7%(.#%

$S'6,1$7%)5$%2.##"8.#%.+%'+.)5$#%4..#%.(%)5$%01.23<%F+%.,$+/,1'+%6'"&.+$))$%E%"+%:5"25%)5$%

-,,$#%4..#%:'&%'22$&&$8%;"'%'%&)'"#:'*%(#.6%)5$%1.-+9$%E%:'&%'22$,)'01$%,#.;"8$8%)5$#$%

:'&%'+%'1)$#+')";$%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%(#.6%$'25%4..#%'+8%'%,#.)$2)$8%5'11:'*%:")5"+%)5$%

8:$11"+9%).%,#.)$2)%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%(#.6%'%D#$%"+%'%#..6%:")5"+%)5$%8:$11"+9<

F><OV%!.#%8:$11"+9&%'22$&&$8%(#.6%'%0'12.+*7%)5$#$%:'&%+.)%9$+$#'11*%'+*%1"6")%"+%)#';$1%

distance to a stairway. Where there was escape only in one direction along the balcony, 

either there was to be an alternative route to a main stairway or construction below 

>7>AA66%'0.;$%)5$%0'12.+*%4..#%:'&%).%0$%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%'+8%-+91'a$8<

F><OU% =+%)5$%2'&$%.(%2.+;$+)".+'1%2.##"8.#%'22$&&%J:")5.-)%'1)$#+')";$%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%(#.6%

)5$%8:$11"+9&L7%):.%'1)$#+')";$%6$)5.8&%.(%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%:$#$%&,$2"D$87%'&%(.11.:&<

F><OO% =+%&6.3$%2.+)'"+6$+)7%)5$%$+)#'+2$%8..#%.(%$;$#*%8:$11"+9%:'&%).%0$%+.%6.#$%)5'+%

U<O6%(#.6%'%8..#%).%'%D#$%8..#%).%'%6'"+%&)'"#:'*7%).%'%D#$%8..#%'2#.&&%)5$%2.##"8.#%.#%

).%)5$%8..#%).%'%;$+)"1')$8%1.00*<%=(%)5$%8$&"9+%:'&%&-25%)5')%)5$%U<O6%8"&)'+2$%:'&%

).%'%2#.&&/2.##"8.#%8..#7%'+8%'+*%.)5$#%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#%:'&%1.2')$8%0$):$$+%)5$%

cross-corridor door and the stairway, there was to be an alternative means of escape 

).%'%(-#)5$#%&)'"#:'*<%F1)$#+')";$1*7%)5$%4')&%2.-18%.,$+%"+).%'%;$+)"1')$8%1.00*%'+8%5';$%

entrance doors no further than 4.5m from a door separating the lobby from a corridor 

that led to a stairway.

F><O@% =+%&6.3$%8"&,$#&'17%#$1"'+2$%:'&%,1'2$8%.+%2#.&&/;$+)"1')".+%.(%)5$%2.##"8.#7%

uninterrupted by cross-corridor doors. The cross-ventilation could be provided by 

manually opened vents, together with either permanent vents or automatically opening 

vents operated by smoke detectors. Dead end corridors were limited in length to 15m, 

0-)7%:5$#$%)5$#$%:'&%$&2',$%"+%):.%8"#$2)".+&7%)5$%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$%(#.6%'%4')%$+)#'+2$%

door to a stairway could be 40m.

F><OX% =+%0-"18"+9&%:")5%'%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*7%)5$%&)'"#:'*%2.-18%0$%$+)$#$8%.+1*%(#.6%'%0'12.+*%.#%

'%,$#6'+$+)1*%;$+)"1')$8%1.00*<%P.:$;$#7%)5$#$%:'&%'%#$1'S')".+%(.#%&6'11%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*%

0-"18"+9&%.(%+.)%6.#$%)5'+%(.-#%4..#&%'0.;$%9#.-+8%1$;$1<%=+%)5$%1'))$#%2'&$7%"(%)5$%+$)%4..#%

'#$'%.(%8:$11"+9&%'0.;$%D#&)%4..#%8"8%+.)%$S2$$8%V`A62, the stairway could be entered from 

'+%-+;$+)"1')$8%1.00*j%)5"&%1.00*%2.-18%0$%.6"))$8%(#.6%)5$%).,6.&)%4..#<

F><O`%F1)$#+')";$1*7%"(%)5$%+$)%4..#%'#$'%.(%8:$11"+9&%'0.;$%D#&)%4..#%8"8%+.)%$S2$$8%XNA62, 

the stairway could be entered from lobbies with either permanent ventilation or 

openable windows.

F><O?%K)'"#:'*&%"+%'11%0-"18"+9&%:$#$%#$G-"#$8%).%5';$%$")5$#%,$#6'+$+)%;$+)"1')".+%.#%

.,$+'01$%:"+8.:&<%_5$#$%'%6'"+%&)'"#:'*%:'&%+.)%1.2')$8%'9'"+&)%'+%$S)$#+'1%:'117%.#%

had no opening windows, it was to have a permanent vent at the top.

Page 158



143          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

F><@A% =)%&5.-18%0$%+.)$8%)5')%)5"+3"+9%.+%)5$%&-0T$2)%.(%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%.(%

01.23&%.(%4')&%5'&%25'+9$8%&"9+"D2'+)1*%&"+2$%)5$%,-01"2')".+%.(%Y\eV%25',)$#%1i%,'#)%>Z<%

F22.#8"+91*7%")%6'*%0$%"+',,#.,#"')$%).%#$&).#$%.#"9"+'1%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%'##'+9$6$+)&%)5')%

have been undermined (eg by blocking of permanent ventilation because of discomfort 

to residents) if more suitable smoke control arrangements, in line with current design 

philosophy, are practicable.

F><@>% =+%,'#)"2-1'#7%")%&5.-18%0$%+.)$8%)5')%&6.3$%8"&,$#&'1%5'&%0$$+%&5.:+%).%0$%;-1+$#'01$%

to failure as a result of wind direction, and so may be unreliable. While it might be 

',,#.,#"')$%).%1$';$%"+%,1'2$%$S"&)"+9%'##'+9$6$+)&%.(%)5"&%)*,$7%6'"+)'"+$8%'&%.#"9"+'11*%

8$&"9+$87%")%6"95)%0$%1$&&%',,#.,#"')$%).%$+9'9$%"+%2',")'1%$S,$+8")-#$%).%#$&).#$%&-25%

'##'+9$6$+)&%).%)5$"#%.#"9"+'1%8$&"9+7%"(%)5$%$S,$+8")-#$%2.-187%"+&)$'87%,#.;"8$%6.#$%

effective smoke control in line with modern standards.

 Flats built between 1985 and 1992

><@N%H5$%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&%:$#$%&-0T$2)%).%'%6'T.#%#$&)#-2)-#"+9%"+%>?`O%J'+8%',,1"$8%

"+%=++$#%W.+8.+%(#.6%>?`XL<%e#$;".-&%$8")".+&%.(%)5$%I$9-1')".+&%&$)%.-)%,#$&2#",)";$%

)$25+"2'1%#$G-"#$6$+)&%(.#%)5$%8$&"9+%.(%D#$%,#$2'-)".+&<%H5$%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&%

1985 were cast in ‘functional form’. That is to say they contained only ‘functional 

#$G-"#$6$+)&Z7%:5"25%"+%$(($2)%'#$%.0T$2)";$&%)5')%6-&)%0$%'25"$;$87%:")5%4$S"0"1")*%'+8%"+%

9$+$#'17%'&%).%)5$%8$&"9+%.(%)5$%6$'&-#$&%0*%:5"25%)5$%.0T$2)";$&%'#$%'25"$;$8<

Page 159



144          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

F><@V%M+$%.(%)5$%(-+2)".+'1%#$G-"#$6$+)&%JI$G-"#$6$+)%^>L%:'&%)5$%,#.;"&".+%.(%6$'+&%.(%

$&2',$%(#.6%D#$<%P.:$;$#7%"+%)5$%2'&$%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&7%)5"&%#$G-"#$6$+)%.+1*%',,1"$8%).%

0-"18"+9&%.(%)5#$$%.#%6.#$%&).#$*&7%:")5%.+$%.#%6.#$%4')&%.+%)5$%&$2.+8%4..#%.#%'0.;$<%

Q$'+&%.(%$&2',$%:'&%.+1*%#$G-"#$8%(.#%,$.,1$%.+%)5$%&$2.+8%4..#%.#%'0.;$<%H5"&%:'&7%

in effect, simply a continuation of much of the previous legislative requirements to which 

)5"&%',,$+8"S%6'3$&%#$($#$+2$%E%"+%:5"25%'+*%#$G-"#$6$+)&%(.#%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%(#.6%

4')&%#$1')$8%).%4..#&%6.#$%)5'+%NA()%J@6L%'0.;$%9#.-+8%1$;$1<%M+%)5$&$%4..#&7%$&2',$%

via windows is not generally possible.

F><@U%!.#%2.6,1"'+2$%:")5%)5$%(-+2)".+'1%#$G-"#$6$+)%(.#%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%(#.6%D#$7%+.%

4$S"0"1")*%:'&%'((.#8$8<%=+&)$'87%)5$#$%:$#$%Y6'+8').#*%#-1$&%(.#%6$'+&%(.#%$&2',$Z<%

b.%.)5$#%:'*&%.(%2.6,1"'+2$%:")5%)5$%(-+2)".+'1%#$G-"#$6$+)%:$#$%'22$,)'01$<%H5$%

6'+8').#*%#-1$&%#$G-"#$8%)5')%)5$%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%2.6,1"$8%:")5%&,$2"D$8%21'-&$&%.(%

‘CP3 chapter lV part 1: 1971’. These clauses included all those concerned with design 

.(%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$7%0.)5%:")5"+%)5$%4')&%'+8%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&<

F><@O%C";$+%)5$%6'T.#%25'+9$&%"+%#$2.66$+8')".+&%(.#%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%(#.6%4')&%

2.+)'"+$8%"+%1')$#%2.8$&%.(%,#'2)"2$7%")%"&%).%0$%$S,$2)$8%)5')%01.23&%.(%4')&%0-"1)%0$(.#$%

1992 might well not meet the design principles for means of escape adopted after 1992.

F><@@%I$G-"#$6$+)%^V%.(%)5$%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&%>?`O%#$G-"#$8%;'#".-&%&)#-2)-#'1%D#$%

,#$2'-)".+&7%"+21-8"+9%2.6,'#)6$+)')".+%).%1"6")%D#$/&,#$'8<%b.+/6'+8').#*%9-"8'+2$%

.+%6$'+&%(.#%2.6,1"'+2$%:")5%I$G-"#$6$+)%^V%:'&%9";$+%"+%F,,#.;$8%].2-6$+)%^%

-+8$#%)5$%I$9-1')".+&<%H5"&%9-"8'+2$%&,$2"D$8%)5')%'11%4..#&%"+%4')&%J.)5$#%)5'+%4..#&%

:")5"+%6'"&.+$))$&L%'+8%'11%:'11&%&$,'#')"+9%'%4')%(#.6%'+.)5$#%,'#)%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9%

&5.-18%0$%2.+&)#-2)$8%'&%2.6,'#)6$+)%4..#&%'+8%:'11&7%:")57%"+%)5$%2'&$%.(%4')&%"+%

0-"18"+9&%.(%)5#$$%.#%6.#$%&).#$*&7%')%1$'&)%@A/6"+-)$%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$<

F><@X% =+%>??A7%Y\eV%25',)$#%1i%,'#)%>Z%:'&%&-,$#&$8$8%0*%^K%OO``/><%P.:$;$#7%)5$%

mandatory rules on means of escape still referred to CP3 chapter lV part 1 until they 

:$#$%:")58#':+%"+%>??N<%F&%^K%OO``/>%"&%&)"11%2-##$+)7%")%"&%+.)%2.+&"8$#$8%(-#)5$#%"+%

this review of historic standards. However, it is anticipated that BS 5588-1 will be 

superseded by a new code of practice, BS 9991, during the course of 2011.

 Flats built after 1992

F><@`%H5$%6'+8').#*%#-1$&%(.#%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%:$#$%:")58#':+%"+%>??N7%:5$+%)5$%^-"18"+9%

Regulations 1991 came into force. These Regulations were superseded by the Building 

Regulations 2000 and then the Building Regulations 2010.

F><@?%!#.6%>??N%-+)"1%)5$%2-##$+)%)"6$7%F,,#.;$8%].2-6$+)%^%5'&%,#.;"8$8%

#$2.66$+8')".+&%.+%2.6,1"'+2$%:")5%'11%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%#$G-"#$6$+)&%.(%)5$%^-"18"+9%

I$9-1')".+&<%H5"&%"+21-8$&%I$G-"#$6$+)%^>%#$9'#8"+9%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%(#.6%D#$7%

which applies to blocks of any number of storeys and not only to those of three 

&).#$*&%.#%6.#$<%!.#%1$&&%2.66.+%8$&"9+&7%&-25%'&%4')&%$+)$#$8%(#.6%'0.;$%.#%0$1.:7%

Page 160



145          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

4')&%2.+)'"+"+9%9'11$#"$&%

'+8%4')&%:")5%0'12.+*%.#%

8$23%',,#.'257%F,,#.;$8%

Document B refers to the 

guidance in BS 5588-1.

F><XA% =)%"&%'+)"2",')$8%)5')%D#$%

,#$2'-)".+&%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&%

designed in accordance 

with the requirements of 

the 1991 and later Building 

Regulations will not require 

any further work to satisfy 

current legislation, provided 

)5$%D#$%,#$2'-)".+&%',,#.;$8%

under the Regulations remain 

in place and are properly 

maintained. 

F><X>% =)%&5.-18%0$%+.)$8%)5')%)5$%

need for smoke alarms in new 

4')&%D#&)%'#.&$%(#.6%)5$%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&%>??>7%)5.-957%(.#%2.6,1"'+2$%:")5%)5$&$%

Regulations, the smoke alarms could be mains powered without a standby supply. The 

+$$8%(.#%&6.3$%'1'#6&%).%0$%6'"+&%,.:$#$8%:")5%'%&)'+80*%&-,,1*%D#&)%'#.&$%"+%)5$%

NAA@%$8")".+%.(%F,,#.;$8%].2-6$+)%^<%=(%$S"&)"+9%6'"+&%.,$#')$8%&6.3$%'1'#6&%:")5.-)%

a standby supply are replaced, models with a standby supply should be installed. 

Smoke alarms within the circulation areas of dwellings should be of the optical (rather 

than ionisation chamber) type.

F><XN%!#.6%NAA@7%F,,#.;$8%].2-6$+)%^%+.%1.+9$#%&,$2"D$8%)5')%)5$#$%+$$8%0$%'1)$#+')";$%

means of escape from maisonettes provided that there is a protected entrance hall 

and either smoke alarms in each habitable room (but a heat alarm in the kitchen) or a 

sprinkler system. (The smoke alarm option does not apply where the entrance storey to 

)5$%6'"&.+$))$%'+8%)5$%4..#&%'0.;$%'+8%0$1.:%'#$%6.#$%)5'+%X<O6%;$#)"2'11*%','#)<L

F><XV%C-"8'+2$%.+%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&%:'&%'1&.%25'+9$8%"+%

NAA@<%P.:$;$#7%")%"&%+.)%$S,$2)$8%)5')%)5$&$%25'+9$&%0$%',,1"$8%#$)#.&,$2)";$1*<

F><XU%H5$%6.&)%6'T.#%25'+9$%"+%9-"8'+2$%.+%01.23&%.(%4')&%&"+2$%>??N%"&%)5$%&,$2"D2')".+%

"+%F,,#.;$8%].2-6$+)%^%(.#%&,#"+31$#%,#.)$2)".+%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&%)5')%$S2$$8%VA6%"+%

5$"95)<%H5$%&,#"+31$#&%+$$8%.+1*%0$%"+&)'11$8%:")5"+%)5$%4')&7%0-)%+.)%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&<%

=)%"&%#$2.9+"&$8%)5')%)5"&%:"117%"+%)5$%(-)-#$7%9#$')1*%$+5'+2$%)5$%&'($)*%.(%#$&"8$+)&%(#.6%

D#$%"+%5"95/#"&$%01.23&%.(%4')&7%6'3"+9%'%8$')5%(#.6%D#$7%$;$+%"+%)5$%4')%"+%:5"25%D#$%

starts, unlikely. 

Page 161



146          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

K)$,&%"+%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)

FN<>%K.6$%9-"8'+2$%E%&-25%'&%)5')%,#.8-2$8%0*%)5$%]$,'#)6$+)%(.#%\.66-+")"$&%'+8%W.2'1%

Government (DCLG) in support of Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 (the 

!KML%E%&-99$&)&%D;$%&)$,&%"+%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)<

><% =8$+)"(*%D#$%5'a'#8&%J&.-#2$&%.(%"9+")".+7%(-$1%'+8%.S*9$+L<

N<% =8$+)"(*%,$.,1$%')%#"&3%J,$.,1$%"+%'+8%'#.-+8%)5$%,#$6"&$&%'+8%,$.,1$%$&,$2"'11*%')%

risk).

V<% B;'1-')$%)5$%#"&3%.(%'%D#$%.22-##"+9%'+8%)5$%#"&3%).%,$.,1$%(#.6%D#$7%#$6.;$%.#%

#$8-2$%D#$%5'a'#8&<%I$6.;$%.#%#$8-2$%)5$%#"&3&%).%,$.,1$%0*%6$'+&%.(R%

g% detection and warning

g% D#$/D95)"+9

g% escape routes

g% lighting

g% signs and notices

g% maintenance.

U<% I$2.#8%&"9+"D2'+)%D+8"+9&%'+8%'2)".+%)'3$+<%e#$,'#$%'+%$6$#9$+2*%,1'+<%=+(.#6%

and instruct relevant people. Cooperate and coordinate with others and provide 

training.

O<% d$$,%'&&$&&6$+)%-+8$#%#$;"$:%'+8%#$;"&$%:5$#$%+$2$&&'#*<

FN<N%H5$%^#")"&5%K)'+8'#8&%=+&)")-)".+%,-01"21*%';'"1'01$%&,$2"D2')".+7%eFK%X?7%&$)&%.-)%)5$%

(.11.:"+9%+"+$%&)$,&7%:5"25%'6,1"(*7%0-)%8.%+.)%2.+4"2)%:")57%)5$%D;$%&)$,&%&$)%.-)%"+%

government guides.

 Step 1: Obtain information

g% H5$%(.11.:"+9%"+(.#6')".+%:"11%0$%#$1$;'+)7%'&%")%5'&%'%0$'#"+9%.+%D#$%#"&3<

g% H5$%+-60$#%.(%4..#&%0$1.:%9#.-+8%'+8%)5$%+-60$#%.(%4..#&%'0.;$%9#.-+8<

g% H5$%',,#.S"6')$%'#$'%.(%$'25%4..#<

.;;1786S'O

Page 162



147          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

g% F+*%'+2"11'#*%-&$&%).%:5"25%.+$%.#%6.#$%'#$'&%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9%"&%,-)7%&-25%'&%

commercial, community activities, etc.

g% The number and nature of the residents. This includes any social and known lifestyle 

('2).#&%)5')%'(($2)%)5$%#"&3%(#.6%D#$<%=)%&5.-18%0$%8$)$#6"+$8%'&%).%:5$)5$#%)5$%+-60$#%

.(%8"&'01$8%,$.,1$%"&%1"3$1*%).%0$%8"(($#$+)%(#.6%'%)*,"2'17%9$+$#'1%+$$8&%01.23%.(%4')&%

J$9%:5$#$%5.-&"+9%"&%&,$2"D2'11*%,#.;"8$8%(.#%8"&'01$8%,$.,1$L<

g% The presence of staff, eg a caretaker, porter or concierge.

g% e#$;".-&%$S,$#"$+2$%.(%D#$&<

' 0+1;'O/'J817+6(='+91'D-1'9*U*-8&'*78'$#7+-#"':1*&3-1&

% F%D#$%5'a'#8%"&%'+*%&.-#2$7%&")-')".+%.#%-+&'($%'2)%)5')%2'+%2'-&$%'%D#$<%!"#$%5'a'#8&%

:")5"+%)5$%4')&%'+8%-+8$#%)5$%2.+)#.1%.(%)5$%#$&"8$+)&%+$$8%+.)%0$%2.+&"8$#$8<%

\.+&"8$#')".+%&5.-18%0$%9";$+%).%)5$%,.)$+)"'1%(.11.:"+9%2'-&$&%.(%D#$%'+8%).%6$'&-#$&%

provided to eliminate or reduce the likelihood of each cause:

g% arson

g% $1$2)#"2'1%('-1)&%J"+%DS$8%:"#"+9%'+8%'+*%$G-",6$+)%,#.;"8$8L

g% smoking

g% use of portable heaters

g% contractors’ activities

g% heating installations

g% lightning

g% poor housekeeping, including inappropriate storage of refuse and discarded items.

' 0+1;'P/'.&&1&&'"6%1"69##8'#('D-1

% F11%)5')%"&%#$G-"#$8%"&%'%&-0T$2)";$%T-89$6$+)%'&%).%:5$)5$#7%0'&$8%.+%)5$%D+8"+9&%.(%

K)$,%N7%)5$#$%"&%'+%-+).:'#8%1"3$1"5..8%.(%D#$%'&%'%#$&-1)%.(%"+'8$G-')$%2.+)#.1%.;$#%D#$%

5'a'#8&<

' 0+1;'Q/'W1+1-:671'+91'D-1';-#+1$+6#7':1*&3-1&

 Fire protection measures are design features, systems, equipment or structural 

6$'&-#$&%).%#$8-2$%8'+9$#%).%,$.,1$%"(%D#$%.22-#&<%e#"+2",'1%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%6$'&-#$&%).%

consider are as follows.

g% H5$%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%(#.6%D#$7%:")5%2.+&"8$#')".+%9";$+%).R

/% )5$%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%0$):$$+%4')&%'+8%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&

/% 4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&7%:5"25%&5.-18%0$%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%'+8%&$1(/21.&"+9

/% ,#.)$2)".+%.(%&)'"#:'*&%(#.6%D#$%"+%'8T'2$+)%'#$'&

Page 163



148          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

/% )#';$1%8"&)'+2$%(#.6%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%).%)5$%+$'#$&)%&)'"#:'*%.#%D+'1%$S")

- means for smoke control within the common parts.

g% Emergency escape lighting.

g% !"#$%$&2',$%#.-)$%&"9+&%J:5"25%'#$%+.)%+.#6'11*%+$2$&&'#*%"+%&"6,1$%01.23&%.(%4')&L<

g% F+*%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5"+9%',,1"'+2$&%,#.;"8$8%J)5$&$%'#$%+.)%+.#6'11*%+$2$&&'#*L<

g% F+*%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%:")5"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%J&-25%'%&*&)$6%"&%+.)%+.#6'11*%

necessary, but smoke detectors may be provided to open vents automatically as part 

of the smoke control measures).

g% \.6,'#)6$+)')".+7%,'#)"2-1'#1*%)5$%$+21.&-#$%.(%4')&%:")5"+%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%2.+&)#-2)".+<

g% F+*%&,#"+31$#%"+&)'11')".+&%,#.;"8$8<

g% =+%)'11%01.23&%.(%4')&7%D#$%6'"+&%'+8%D#$/D95)"+9%1"()&<

% H5$%'8$G-'2*%.(%)5$%$S"&)"+9%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%6$'&-#$&%&5.-18%0$%'&&$&&$8%'+8%'+*%

+$$8%(.#%"6,#.;$6$+)&%&5.-18%0$%"8$+)"D$8<%JQ$'&-#$&%).%'&&"&)%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%

&$#;"2$7%&-25%'&%D#$%6'"+&%'+8%D#$/D95)"+9%1"()&7%'#$%+.)%#$G-"#$8%0*%)5$%!KM7%0-)%:"11%

normally have been required under Building Regulations at the time of construction of a 

)'11%01.23%.(%4')&<%F8$G-')$%6'"+)$+'+2$%.(%)5$&$%6$'&-#$&%&5.-18%0$%;$#"D$8<L

% !.#%8"&2-&&".+%.(%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%6$'&-#$&7%&$$%e'#)%!%.(%)5"&%9-"8$<

' 0+1;'Y/'`!+*67'67(#-:*+6#7'*!#3+'D-1'&*(1+=':*7*B1:17+

g% Q'))$#&%).%2.+&"8$#%"+21-8$%)5$%(.11.:"+9R

g% #$&,.+&"0"1")*%(.#%D#$%&'($)*%"+%)5$%0-"18"+9

g% '22$&&%).%2.6,$)$+)%'8;"2$%.+%D#$%&'($)*%1$9"&1')".+

g% the emergency plan, particularly the procedures for residents to follow in the event of 

D#$

g% )$&)"+9%'+8%6'"+)$+'+2$%.(%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%&*&)$6&%'+8%$G-",6$+)

g% 8.2-6$+)')".+%.(%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%'##'+9$6$+)&7%:5$#$%)5"&%"&%#$G-"#$8

g% training of any persons employed to work in the building

g% coordination with any non-domestic occupier, such as commercial premises and 

community facilities

g% '##'+9$6$+)&%(.#%#.-)"+$%"+&,$2)".+&%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9%'+8%")&%D#$%,#$2'-)".+&7%'+87%

:5$#$%',,#.,#"')$7%(.#6'1%D#$%'-8")&<

 0+1;'Z/'.&&1&&'+91'"6%1"='$#7&1X317$1&'+#';1#;"1'67'+91'1C17+'#('D-1

% H5"&%"&%0'&$8%.+%'+%-+8$#&)'+8"+9%.(%)5$%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%6$'&-#$&%'+8%D#$%&'($)*%

6'+'9$6$+)<%=+%'88")".+7%'22.-+)%+$$8&%).%0$%)'3$+%.(%)5$%:'*%.22-,'+)&%'#$%1"3$1*%).%

Page 164



149          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

#$&,.+8%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%D#$<

% F11%)5')%"&%+.#6'11*%#$G-"#$8%"&%'%&-0T$2)";$%T-89$6$+)%'&%).%:5$)5$#7%'&%'%#$&-1)%.(%

&5.#)2.6"+9&%"8$+)"D$8%"+%K)$,&%U%.#%O7%)5$#$%"&%'+%-+).:'#8%$S,.&-#$%.(%,$.,1$%).%

"+T-#*%.#%8$')5%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%'%D#$%'+*:5$#$%"+%)5$%0-"18"+97%"+21-8"+9%'%D#$%:")5"+%'%

4')<

' 0+1;'[/'F*%1'*7'*&&1&&:17+'#('+91'D-1'-6&%

% !"#$%#"&3%"&%'%2.60"+')".+%.(%)5$%1"3$1"5..8%.(%D#$%J"8$+)"D$8%"+%K)$,%NL%'+8%)5$%

2.+&$G-$+2$&%.(%D#$%J"8$+)"D$8%"+%K)$,%@L<%H5$#$%"&%+.%-+"G-$%:'*%"+%:5"25%D#$%

#"&3%&5.-18%0$%$S,#$&&$87%0-)%")%"&%"++')$%).%)5$%,#.2$&&%.(%2'##*"+9%.-)%)5$%D#$%#"&3%

'&&$&&6$+)%)5')%)5$#$%0$%'+%'&&$&&6$+)%.(%D#$%#"&37%:5"25%")%"&%)5$+%',,#.,#"')$%).%

document.

% M+$%&"6,1$%6$)5.8%.(%2.+&"&)$+)1*%$S,#$&&"+9%D#$%#"&3%"&%9";$+%"+%eFK%X?%'+8%2'+%0$%

-&$(-1%(.#%2.6,'#"+9%)5$%D#$%#"&3%"+%.+$%0-"18"+9%).%)5')%"+%'+.)5$#%J$9%:")5"+%)5$%&"+91$%

estate of one organisation). This is reproduced below: 

 Step 8: Formulate and document an action plan

% =(%")%"&%2.+&"8$#$8%)5')%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'+8%$S"&)"+9%D#$%,#$2'-)".+&%'#$%&-25%)5')%+.%

"6,#.;$6$+)&%'#$%+$2$&&'#*7%)5"&%&5.-18%0$%#$2.#8$8%:")5"+%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)<

% H5$%'2)".+%,1'+%&5.-18%'88#$&&%0.)5%,5*&"2'1%D#$%,#$2'-)".+&%'+8%6'+'9$#"'1%"&&-$&7%

and should normally prioritise measures (unless all required measures are relatively 

trivial and can be implemented in a short time), so that the appropriate effort and 

-#9$+2*%"&%21$'#<%Q$'&-#$&%:")5"+%)5$%'2)".+%,1'+%&5.-18%0$%0.)5%,#'2)"2'01$%).%

implement and possible to maintain, taking into account the nature of the building and 

its occupants.

' 0+1;']/'01+'*'8*+1'(#-'-1C61?

% H5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%&5.-18%&$)%'%Y1.+9%&).,Z%8')$%0*%:5"25%")%&5.-18%0$%#$;"$:$87%

even if no changes have taken place in the interim period.

,#+17+6*"'$#7&1X317$1&'#('D-1

'a6%1"69##8'#('D-1' Slight harm Q.8$#')$%5'#6 BS)#$6$%5'#6

Low Trivial risk Tolerable risk Q.8$#')$%#"&3

Q$8"-6 Tolerable risk Q.8$#')$%#"&3 Substantial risk

High Q.8$#')$%#"&3 Substantial risk =+).1$#'01$%#"&3

Page 165



150          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

K$1$2)"+9%'%2.6,$)$+)%,#.($&&".+'1%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&.#

FV<>%H5$%!KM%8.$&%+.)%#$G-"#$%)5')%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&%'#$%2'##"$8%.-)%0*%2.6,$)$+)%

&,$2"'1"&)&<%#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+&7%.#%)5$"#%$6,1.*$$&7%2'+%.()$+%2'##*%.-)%'%D#$%#"&3%

'&&$&&6$+)%(.#%'%&6'117%&"6,1$%01.23%.(%4')&%:")5.-)%(.#6'1%)#'"+"+9%"+%D#$%&'($)*%.#%

D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)7%&"6,1*%0*%&)-8*"+9%#$1$;'+)%9-"8'+2$<%P.:$;$#7%:5$#$%$S)$#+'1%

,#.($&&".+'1%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&.#&%'#$%$6,1.*$87%")%"&%"6,.#)'+)%)5')%)5$*%'#$%2.6,$)$+)7%

'&%2#"6"+'1%1"'0"1")*%:"11%'#"&$%(.#%)5$%#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+%"(%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"&%

+.)%&-")'01$%'+8%&-(D2"$+)7%'+8%,$.,1$%'#$%,1'2$8%')%#"&3%.(%8$')5%.#%&$#".-&%"+T-#*%'&%'%

result.

FV<N%\.6,$)$+2$%8.$&%+.)%+$2$&&'#"1*%'#"&$%(#.6%&,$2"D2%G-'1"D2')".+&7%0-)%:"11%0$%)5$%#$&-1)%

.(%'%&-")'01$%01$+8%.(%$8-2')".+7%)#'"+"+9%'+8%$S,$#"$+2$7%3+.:1$89$%'+8%.)5$#%G-'1")"$&%

)5')%$+'01$%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&.#%).%2'##*%.-)%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%(.#%'%01.23%.(%4')&<

FV<V%=)%"&%9$+$#'11*%'22$,)$8%)5')%'%2.6,$)$+)%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&.#%',,."+)$8%0*%)5$%#$&,.+&"01$%

,$#&.+%(.#%'%01.23%.(%4')&%:"11%#$G-"#$%'+%-+8$#&)'+8"+9%.(R

g% )5$%"+)$+)7%.0T$2)";$&%'+8%#$G-"#$6$+)&%.(%)5$%!KM7%'&%")%#$1')$&%).%'%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%

01.23%.(%4')&

g% )5$%8$&"9+%,#"+2",1$&%.(%01.23&%.(%4')&7%"+21-8"+9%01.23&%2.+&)#-2)$8%"+%'22.#8'+2$%

with previous standards and legislation

g% )5$%2'-&$&%.(%D#$%'+8%6$'+&%(.#%)5$"#%,#$;$+)".+

g% #$1$;'+)%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%6$'&-#$&7%,'#)"2-1'#1*%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%'+8%2.6,'#)6$+)')".+%

"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

g% )5$%',,#.,#"')$+$&&%.(%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

g% )5$%',,#.,#"')$+$&&%.(%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5"+9%',,1"'+2$&%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

g% )5$%',,#.,#"')$%$;'2-')".+%&)#')$9"$&%(.#%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&7%"+21-8"+9%Y&)'*%

put’ policies

g% D#$%&'($)*%6'+'9$6$+)7%'&%")%#$1')$&%).%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

g% the effect of social and lifestyle factors on the risk to residents of purpose-built blocks 

.(%4')&7%'+8%.(%)5$%&,$2"'1%+$$8&%(.#%8"&'01$8%,$.,1$%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%D#$<

FV<U%F)%)5$%)"6$%.(%,-01"2')".+%.(%)5"&%9-"8$7%)5$%!"#$%I"&3%F&&$&&6$+)%\.6,$)$+2*%\.-+2"1%

E%'%0#.'8%9#.-,%.(%D#$%"+8-&)#*%'+8%0-&"+$&&%&$2).#%&)'3$5.18$#&%E%"&%,#$,'#"+9%'%

.;;1786S'P

Page 166



151          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

2.6,$)$+2*%&)'+8'#8%(.#%,$#&.+&%:5.%2'##*%.-)%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&%.+%'%2.66$#2"'1%

0'&"&<%=)%"&%'+)"2",')$8%)5')%)5"&%:"11%0$%,-01"&5$8%0*%)5$%$+8%.(%NA>><%

FV<O%\.6,$)$+2$%2'+%.()$+%0$%$&)'01"&5$8%0*%,#.($&&".+'1%#$9"&)#')".+%.#%)5"#8/,'#)*%

2$#)"D2')".+<%!.#%$S'6,1$7%'%+-60$#%.(%,#.($&&".+'1%0.8"$&%.,$#')$%#$9"&)$#&%.(%,$#&.+&%

8$$6$8%).%0$%2.6,$)$+)%).%2'##*%.-)%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&7%'+8%")%"&%'1&.%,.&&"01$%).%

'25"$;$%2$#)"D2')".+%.(%2.6,$)$+2$%0*%'+%"+8$,$+8$+)%2$#)"D2')".+%0.8*<%=)%"&%'1&.%

,.&&"01$%(.#%2.6,'+"$&%)5')%2'##*%.-)%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%:.#3%).%'25"$;$%)5"#8/,'#)*%

2$#)"D2')".+%0*%'%2$#)"D2')".+%0.8*%(.#%)5"&%,-#,.&$<%c&$%.(%#$9"&)$#$8%.#%)5"#8/,'#)*%

2$#)"D2')$8%,$#&.+&%.#%)5"#8/,'#)*%2$#)"D2')$8%D#6&%).%2'##*%.-)%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)&%

is one way responsible persons can establish due diligence in compliance with the 

#$G-"#$6$+)%(.#%'%&-")'01$%'+8%&-(D2"$+)%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)<

FV<@%e-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&%'#$%;$#*%8"(($#$+)%"+%+')-#$%(#.6%2.66$#2"'1%,#$6"&$&7%&-25%

'&%.(D2$&7%&5.,&%'+8%('2).#"$&<%=+%&$1$2)"+9%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&.#7%)5$%#$&,.+&"01$%,$#&.+%

&5.-18%$+&-#$%)5')%)5$%2.6,$)$+2$%.(%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&.#%$S)$+8&%&,$2"D2'11*%).%)5$%

,#"+2",1$&%.(%D#$%&'($)*%',,1"2'01$%).%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&<

Page 167



152          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

Fire safety advice for residents

56-1'0*(1+='.8C6$1/

Protecting you and your household

H5$%$'&"$&)%:'*%).%,#.)$2)%*.-#%5.6$%'+8%('6"1*%(#.6%D#$%"&%:")5%'%:.#3"+9%&6.3$%'1'#6

F%&6.3$%'1'#6%2'+%,#.;"8$%'+%$'#1*%:'#+"+9%.(%'%D#$%'+8%'11.:%*.-%).%6'3$%*.-#%$&2',$%E%

0-)%.+1*%"(%")%"&%:.#3"+9<%q.-%'#$%6.#$%)5'+%):"2$%'&%1"3$1*%).%8"$%"+%'%D#$%"(%*.-%8.%+.)%5';$%'%

working smoke alarm.

g% Fit smoke alarms on every level of your home.

g% Test your smoke alarms regularly.

g% b$;$#%8"&2.++$2)%.#%)'3$%)5$%0'))$#"$&%.-)%.(%*.-#%&6.3$%'1'#6<

b#3'$*7';-1C17+'D-1'(-#:'9*;;1767B'!='+*%67B'*'(1?'&6:;"1'&+1;&

g% Don’t leave cooking unattended, and avoid leaving children in the kitchen alone with 

cooking on the hob.

g% ^$%$&,$2"'11*%;"9"1'+)%:5$+%2..3"+9%:")5%."1<%].+Z)%.;$#D11%25",%,'+&%'+8%bBiBI%)5#.:%

:')$#%.+%'%25",%,'+%D#$<

g% Q'3$%&-#$%2"9'#$))$&%'#$%,-)%.-)%,#.,$#1*7%-&$%'%,#.,$#%'&5)#'*%'+8%8.+Z)%&6.3$%"+%0$8<

g% Don’t overload electrical sockets. 

g% Turn off appliances when not in use. Don’t even leave them on standby.

g% d$$,%6')25$&%'+8%1"95)$#&%.-)%.(%#$'25%'+8%&"95)%.(%25"18#$+<

g% Q'3$%&-#$%2'+81$&%'#$%&$2-#$8%"+%'%,#.,$#%5.18$#%'+8%':'*%(#.6%6')$#"'1&%)5')%6'*%2')25%

D#$%E%1"3$%2-#)'"+&<%\5"18#$+%&5.-18+Z)%0$%1$()%'1.+$%:")5%1")%2'+81$&<

Keep safe and plan your escape

=(%*.-#%5.6$%"&%+.)%'1#$'8*%,#.;"8$8%:")5%&6.3$%'1'#6&7%D)%.+$%"+%*.-#%$+)#'+2$%5'11:'*%

J'+8%1'+8"+9%.(%'+*%-,,$#%.#%1.:$#%4..#L<%!.#%$;$+%0$))$#%,#.)$2)".+7%D)%.+$%"+%*.-#%1.-+9$%

'+8%D)%'%5$')%'1'#6%"+%*.-#%3")25$+<%Q'3$%&-#$%*.-#%&6.3$%'+8%5$')%'1'#6&%6$$)%^#")"&5%'+8%

.;;1786S'Q

Page 168



153          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

B-#.,$'+%&)'+8'#8&<%=(%*.-%D)%6.#$%)5'+%.+$7%1"+3%)5$6%).9$)5$#%&.%)5$*%'11%&.-+8%)5$%'1'#6<%

C$)%'+%$1$2)#"2"'+%).%D)%6'"+&/,.:$#$8%8$;"2$&7%'+8%0-*%6.8$1&%)5')%5';$%'%&)'+80*%,.:$#%

supply in case of mains failure.

q.-#%4')%"&%"+%'%0-"18"+9%8$&"9+$8%).%0$%D#$/#$&"&)"+9<%F%D#$%&5.-18%+.)%&,#$'8%(#.6%.+$%4')%).%

'+.)5$#7%&.%)5')%*.-%+$$8%+.)%1$';$%*.-#%5.6$%"(%)5$#$%"&%'%D#$%$1&$:5$#$%"+%)5$%01.23<%H5')%

said, if in doubt, get out. 

F1:'*&%1$';$%"(%*.-#%4')%"&%'(($2)$8%0*%&6.3$%.#%5$')%.#%"(%).18%).%0*%)5$%D#$%&$#;"2$<

q.-#%&)'"#:'*%"&%8$&"9+$8%).%0$%&'($%(.#%$&2',$%)5#.-95.-)%)5$%2.-#&$%.(%'%D#$<%F1:'*&%-&$%

the stairway to descend to ground level if escaping. 

W#'c#+'a1*C1'b#3-'<1"#7B67B&'`-'d3!!6&9'J7'@#--68#-&H'A91'a6(+'a#!!='`-'A91'

0+*6-?*=I'

H5"&%2.-18%'(($2)%*.-%'+8%*.-#%+$"950.-#&%"(%)5$#$%:'&%'%D#$<

=(%*.-%'#$%"+%'%2.##"8.#7%1"()%1.00*%.#%&)'"#:'*%'+8%*.-%+.)"2$%'%D#$7%1$';$%)5$%0-"18"+9%

immediately and, if safe to do so, alert other residents in the immediate vicinity on your way 

out (knock on their doors).

W#'c#+',3+'b#3-&1"('.+'d6&%I'W#'c#+'d1+3-7'A#'b#3-'5"*+'e7+6"'J+'J&'0*(1'A#'W#'0#I

d1:1:!1-/

g% Test your smoke alarm once a week.

g% d$$,%)5$%$S")%#.-)$%(#.6%*.-#%4')%21$'#%&.%*.-%2'+%$&2',$%"+%'+%$6$#9$+2*<

g% \1.&$%8..#&%')%+"95)7%$&,$2"'11*%)5$%8..#&%).%)5$%1.-+9$%'+8%3")25$+%).%,#$;$+)%D#$%

spreading.

g% e1'+%*.-#%$&2',$%bM_<%^$%,#$,'#$8%'+8%8.+Z)%:'")%-+)"1%")%5',,$+&<

Page 169



154          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

BS'6,1$&%.(%D#$%'2)".+%+.)"2$&

ES*:;"1'#('7#+6$1'(#-'3&1'67'!"#$%&'?6+9'*'T&+*=';3+V';#"6$=

Fire Action

If Fire Breaks Out In Your Home:

g% W$';$%)5$%#..6%:5$#$%)5$%D#$%"&%&)#'"95)%':'*7%)5$+%21.&$%)5$%8..#<

g% Tell everyone in your home and get them to leave. \1.&$%)5$%(#.+)%8..#%.(%*.-#%4')%0$5"+8%

you.

g% ].%+.)%&)'*%0$5"+8%).%,-)%)5$%D#$%.-)<

g% \'11%)5$%D#$%&$#;"2$<%

g% Wait outside, away from the building.

J('b#3'011'`-'21*-'`('.'56-1'J7'.7#+91-',*-+'`('A91'<36"867B/

g% H5$%0-"18"+9%"&%8$&"9+$8%).%2.+)'"+%'%D#$%"+%)5$%4')%:5$#$%")%&)'#)&<%H5"&%6$'+&%")%:"11%-&-'11*%

0$%&'($%(.#%*.-%).%&)'*%"+%*.-#%.:+%4')%"(%)5$%D#$%"&%$1&$:5$#$<

g% You must leave immediately if smoke or heat affects your home, or if you are told to by the 

D#$%&$#;"2$<

g% =(%*.-%'#$%"+%'+*%8.-0)7%9$)%.-)<

A#'@*""'A91'56-1'01-C6$1/

g% Dial 999 or 112.

g% _5$+%)5$%.,$#').#%'+&:$#&7%9";$%*.-#%)$1$,5.+$%+-60$#%'+8%'&3%(.#%!=IB<

g% _5$+%)5$%D#$%&$#;"2$%#$,1*%9";$%)5$%'88#$&&%:5$#$%)5$%D#$%"&<%

g% ].%+.)%$+8%)5$%2'11%-+)"1%)5$%D#$%&$#;"2$%5'&%#$,$')$8%)5$%'88#$&&%2.##$2)1*<

.;;1786S'Y

Page 170



!"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')& 155

BS'6,1$%.(%+.)"2$%(.#%-&$%"+%01.23&%:")5%'%2.66-+'1%D#$%
alarm system and simultaneous evacuation

Fire Action

If Fire Breaks Out In Your Home:

g% W$';$%)5$%#..6%:5$#$%)5$%D#$%"&%&)#'"95)%':'*7%)5$+%21.&$%)5$%8..#<

g% Tell everyone in your home and get them to leave. \1.&$%)5$%(#.+)%8..#%.(%*.-#%4')%0$5"+8%

you.

g% ].%+.)%&)'*%0$5"+8%).%,-)%)5$%D#$%.-)<

g% Raise the alarm by using a ‘break glass’ call point.

g% \'11%)5$%D#$%&$#;"2$<%

g% Wait outside, away from the building.

J('b#3'011'`-'21*-'`('.'56-1'J7'.7#+91-',*-+'`('A91'<36"867B/

g% The evacuation plan for this building requires all residents to proceed to the assembly point 

:5$+%)5$%2.66-+'1%D#$%8$)$2)".+%'+8%'1'#6%&*&)$6%&.-+8&<%

g% q.-%6-&)%'1&.%1$';$%=QQB]=FHBWq%"(%&6.3$%.#%5$')%'(($2)&%*.-#%5.6$7%.#%"(%*.-%'#$%).18%).%

8.%&.%0*%)5$%D#$%&$#;"2$<%

g% =(%*.-%'#$%"+%'+*%8.-0)7%9$)%.-)<

A#'@*""'A91'56-1'01-C6$1/

g% Dial 999 or 112.

g% _5$+%)5$%.,$#').#%'+&:$#&7%9";$%*.-#%)$1$,5.+$%+-60$#%'+8%'&3%(.#%!=IB<

g% _5$+%)5$%D#$%&$#;"2$%#$,1*%9";$%)5$%'88#$&&%:5$#$%)5$%D#$%"&<%

g% ].%+.)%$+8%)5$%2'11%-+)"1%)5$%D#$%&$#;"2$%5'&%#$,$')$8%)5$%'88#$&&%2.##$2)1*<

Page 171



156          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

!"#$%8$)$2)".+%'+8%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&%(.#%01.23&%.(%4')&

 General comments

F@<>%H5$#$%5'&%+$;$#%0$$+%'+*%#$G-"#$6$+)%-+8$#%^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&7%1.2'1%'2)&%.#%0*$/

1':&%).%"+&)'11%'%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%"+%'%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23%.(%4')&7%+.#%"&%)5$#$%

any such requirement today under the Building Regulations 2010. 

F@<N%K.6$)"6$&%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&%5';$%0$$+7%'+8%'#$%0$"+97%"+&)'11$8%"+%01.23&%

.(%4')&<%=+%&.6$%2'&$&7%:5$#$%)5$%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%'+8%2.6,'#)6$+)')".+%2'+%0$%

8$6.+&)#')$8%).%0$%.(%'%;$#*%,..#%&)'+8'#87%)5"&%6'*%0$%:'##'+)$8<%P.:$;$#7%D#$%

alarm systems are often installed as a result of various misconceptions like unless the 

compartmentation can be proved to be adequate and uncompromised (which is rarely 

,.&&"01$L7%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&%&5.-18%0$%"+&)'11$8<

F@<V%H5$%#$'1%,#".#")*7%"+%)$#6&%.(%D#$%:'#+"+97%"&%).%$+&-#$%)5')%.+$%.#%6.#$%:.#3"+9%&6.3$%

'1'#6&%'#$%,#.;"8$8%"+%$;$#*%4')<%=+8$$87%")%:.-18%0$%+.%$S'99$#')".+%).%&'*%)5')7%"+%

2-##$+)%)"6$&7%'%4')%:")5.-)%.+$%.#%6.#$%:.#3"+9%&6.3$%'1'#6&%"&%+.)%9$+$#'11*%D)%(.#%

occupation.

' 0:#%1'M*78'91*+N'*"*-:&'67'8?1""67B&

F@<U%K6.3$%'1'#6&%:.-18%5';$%0$$+%"+&)'11$8%"+%$'25%4')%')%)5$%)"6$%.(%2.+&)#-2)".+%.(%'+*%

01.23&%.(%4')&%0-"1)%'()$#%>??N<%H5$&$%&6.3$%'1'#6&%'#$%6'"+&%.,$#')$87%0-)%)5.&$%

"+&)'11$8%,#".#%).%NAA@%6"95)%+.)%5';$%'%&)'+80*%&-,,1*%J0'))$#*%.#%2','2").#L<%Q.&)%.(%

the models originally installed would have been of the ionisation chamber type. The 

typical lifetime of a smoke alarm is often considered to be around ten years, though 

smoke alarms may operate satisfactorily for several years longer than this.

F@<O%=)%"&%$&&$+)"'1%)5')7%"+%'11%4')&7%#$9'#81$&&%.(%)5$%8')$%.(%2.+&)#-2)".+7%)5$#$%"&%'+%

'8$G-')$%+-60$#%.(%:.#3"+9%&6.3$%'1'#6&%J')%1$'&)%.+$%,$#%&).#$*L<%=+%1$'&$5.18%4')&%

constructed before 1992, smoke alarms may be battery operated. 

F@<@%K6.3$%'1'#6&%"+%#$+)$8%&"+91$/&).#$*%4')&%0-"1)%0$(.#$%>??N%&5.-18%.+1*%0$%0'))$#*%

.,$#')$8%"(%)5$%0'))$#*%5'&%'+%'+)"2",')$8%1"($%"+%+.#6'1%&$#;"2$%.(%')%1$'&)%D;$%*$'#&7%

and if the battery is ’tamper proof‘ (ie removal necessitates the use of a tool). When 

'+*%6'T.#%$1$2)#"2'1%:"#"+9%)'3$&%,1'2$%"+%#$+)$8%4')&7%0'))$#*%.,$#')$8%&6.3$%'1'#6&%

(and mains-operated smoke alarms without a standby supply) should be replaced with 

smoke alarms that are mains operated with a standby supply. 

.;;1786S'Z

Page 172



157          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

F@<X%F11%&6.3$%'1'#6&%"+%#$+)$8%6'"&.+$))$&%&5.-18%0$%6'"+&%.,$#')$8%:")5%'%&)'+80*%

&-,,1*<%=)%"&%+.)%#$2.66$+8$8%)5')%0'))$#*/.,$#')$8%&6.3$%'1'#6&%'#$%"+&)'11$8%"+%)5$&$%

6'"&.+$))$&<%BS"&)"+9%0'))$#*/.,$#')$8%8$;"2$&%&5.-18%0$%#$,1'2$8<

F@<`%C$+$#'11*7%'+*%+$:%&6.3$%'1'#6&%"+&)'11$8%"+%)5$%2"#2-1')".+%&,'2$&%:")5"+%4')&%&5.-18%

be of the optical type. These are less prone to false alarms from kitchens, and they 

#$&,.+8%0$))$#%).%&1.:%&6.-18$#"+9%D#$&<%

F@<?%F)%1$'&)%.+$%&6.3$%'1'#6%&5.-18%0$%"+&)'11$8%"+%)5$%2"#2-1')".+%&,'2$%.+%$'25%&).#$*<%

For a higher standard of protection, consideration may be given to the installation of 

a smoke alarm in the lounge and a heat alarm in the kitchen. This higher standard of 

,#.)$2)".+%6"95)%0$%',,#.,#"')$%"+%4')&%.22-,"$8%0*%;-1+$#'01$%.22-,'+)&%.#%:5$#$%)5$%

additional alarms are needed to compensate for shortcomings in the means of escape 

:")5"+%)5$%4')<%=+%)5$%1'))$#%2'&$7%0'))$#*/.,$#')$8%'1'#6&%&5.-18%+.)%0$%-&$8<

F@<>A%!.#%)5$%5"95$&)%&)'+8'#8%.(%,#.)$2)".+7%'%&6.3$%'1'#6%2.-18%0$%"+&)'11$8%"+%'11%

habitable rooms, other than kitchens, where heat alarms should be installed. This 

&)'+8'#8%.(%,#.)$2)".+%"&%+.)%+.#6'11*%T-&)"D'01$7%0-)%6"95)%0$%',,#.,#"')$%"+%4')&%

&,$2"D2'11*%8$&"9+$87%.#%,#.;"8$87%(.#%)5.&$%:5.%'#$%,'#)"2-1'#1*%;-1+$#'01$%).%D#$7%&-25%

as disabled people and those suffering from serious drug or alcohol abuse.

F@<>>%_5$#$%6.#$%)5'+%.+$%'1'#6%"&%"+&)'11$8%)5$&$%&5.-18%0$%"+)$#1"+3$8%).%6'S"6"&$%)5$%

'-8"0"1")*%.(%)5$%D#$%'1'#6%&"9+'1<%F&%:$11%'&%6.8$1&%)5')%'#$%"+)$#1"+3$8%0*%:"#"+97%#'8"./

1"+3$8%&6.3$%'1'#6&%'#$%';'"1'01$<%=)%"&%,#$($#'01$%)5')%'11%&6.3$%'1'#6&%"+2.#,.#')$%

an alarm silence control, so that false alarms do not cause unnecessary or prolonged 

8"&#-,)".+%).%)5$%#$&"8$+)&%.(%'%4')<

F@<>N%_5$#$%.22-,'+)&%.(%'%8:$11"+9%'#$%8$'(%.#%5'#8%.(%5$'#"+9%'+8%'#$%1"3$1*%).%0$%'1.+$%

')%'+*%)"6$%:")5"+%'%4')7%&-")'01$%&6.3$%'1'#6%3")&%2.6,1*"+9%:")5%^K%OUU@/V%&5.-18%

0$%-&$8<%H5$&$%"+2.#,.#')$%.+$%.#%6.#$%4'&5"+9%0$'2.+&7%).%'1$#)%,$.,1$%:5.%'#$%

':'3$7%'+8%;"0#')"+9%,'8&%).%:'3$%,$.,1$%:5.%'#$%'&1$$,<%F%;"0#')"+9%,'9$#%2'+%0$%

incorporated in addition to these devices.

F@<>V%F1)5.-95%)5$%'0.;$%,'#'9#',5&%#$($#%).%&6.3$%'1'#6&7%'%6.#$%&.,5"&)"2')$8%&*&)$67%

incorporating smoke detectors within an intruder alarm system, can be provided. 

F1)$#+')";$1*7%'%2.6,1$)$%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%.(%)5$%)*,$%(.-+8%"+%2.66$#2"'1%,#$6"&$&%

2.-18%0$%"+&)'11$87%0-)%)5$%2.&)%.(%)5"&%"&%-+1"3$1*%).%0$%T-&)"D'01$%"+%6.&)%2'&$&<

F@<>U% =+%&5$1)$#$8%5.-&"+97%D#$%'1'#6%&"9+'1&%(#.6%"+8";"8-'1%4')&%&5.-18%0$%#$1'*$8%).%)5$%

&'6$%1.2')".+%'&%'1'#6%&"9+'1&%(#.6%'+*%&.2"'1%'1'#6%&*&)$6<%=(%)5$#$%"&%'+%.+/&")$%

&25$6$%6'+'9$#7%D#$%'1'#6%&"9+'1&%&5.-18%0$%"+;$&)"9')$8%0*%)5$%&25$6$%6'+'9$#%

E%$9%-&"+9%'%):./:'*%&,$$25%2.66-+"2')".+%('2"1")*%0$):$$+%)5$%&25$6$%6'+'9$#Z&%

('2"1")*%'+8%)5$%8:$11"+9%E%,#".#%).%&-66.+"+9%.(%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$<%=(%+.%.+/&")$%

&25$6$%6'+'9$#%"&%,#$&$+)7%'+8%D#$%'1'#6%&"9+'1&%'#$%)#'+&6"))$8%).%'+%'1'#6%#$2$";"+9%

2$+)#$%)5')%5'&%'%8"#$2)%):./:'*%&,$$25%('2"1")*%(.#%2.66-+"2')".+%:")5%)5$%4')7%)5$%

Page 173



158          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

alarm receiving centre should endeavour to determine, by using of this facility, whether 

)5$%'1'#6%&"9+'1%"&%'%('1&$%'1'#67%0$(.#$%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$%"&%&-66.+$8<

F@<>O%_5$#$%D#$%'1'#6%&"9+'1&%'#$%)#'+&6"))$8%).%'+%'1'#6%#$2$";"+9%2$+)#$%0*%)5$%&'6$%

equipment as social alarm signals, the two types of signal should be separately 

"8$+)"D'01$%')%)5$%'1'#6%#$2$";"+9%2$+)#$<%=)%&5.-18%0$%$+&-#$8%)5')%)5$%#$2$",)%.(%D#$%

'1'#6%&"9+'1&%2'++.)%0$%8$1'*$8%&"9+"D2'+)1*%0*%'%,#$;".-&1*%"+")"')$8%&.2"'1%'1'#6%

signal.

F@<>@% =(%&6.3$%J'+8%5$')L%8$)$2).#&%'#$%2.++$2)$8%).%'+%$S"&)"+9%&.2"'1%'1'#6%&*&)$6%)5')%5'&%+.%

facilities for discrimination between different types of alarm signal, the recommendation for 

distinguishable signals need not be followed in the case of signals transmitted to an on-site 

scheme manager. This is provided that the pre-planned response by the scheme manager 

).%&"9+'1&%(#.6%)5$%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%"+%'+*%4')%"&%"8$+)"2'1%).%)5$%,#$/,1'++$8%#$&,.+&$%).%

.)5$#%'1'#6%&"9+'1&%'+8%"&%'+%',,#.,#"')$%'2)".+%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%D#$<

F@<>X% !.#%9-"8'+2$%.+%)5$%8$&"9+7%"+&)'11')".+7%2.66"&&".+"+9%'+8%6'"+)$+'+2$%.(%D#$%'1'#6%

&*&)$6&%'+8%&6.3$%'1'#6&%"+%8:$11"+9&7%#$($#$+2$%&5.-18%0$%6'8$%).%^K%O`V?/@<%K6.3$%

'1'#6&7%5$')%'1'#6&%'+8%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&%&5.-18%.+1*%0$%"+&)'11$8%0*%2.6,$)$+)%,$#&.+&%

)5')%'#$%,#$($#'01*%)5"#8/,'#)*/2$#)"D2')$8%).%2'##*%.-)%)5"&%:.#3<

' @#::37*"'D-1'81+1$+6#7'*78'D-1'*"*-:'&=&+1:&

F@<>`%H5$#$%"&%+.#6'11*%+.%+$$8%(.#%'%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6<%P.:$;$#7%")%"&%2.66.+%

for smoke detectors to operate automatically opening vents, which keep the common 

parts, particularly stairways, free from smoke.

F@<>?%b.%D#$%'1'#6%&.-+8$#&%&5.-18%0$%2.++$2)$8%).%)5$&$%8$)$2).#&<%F+*%$S"&)"+9%&.-+8$#&%

should normally be disconnected.

F@<NA% =)%"&%+.)%.+1*%-++$2$&&'#*%).%,#.;"8$%'%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$67%")%"&%'1&.%+.#6'11*%

-+8$&"#'01$<%^$(.#$%"+&)'11"+9%'+*%(.#6%.(%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$67%")%:"11%+.#6'11*%

0$%+$2$&&'#*%).%9$)%'8;"2$%(#.6%D#$%&'($)*%&,$2"'1"&)&%:")5%&-0&)'+)"'1%$S,$#"$+2$%.(%

'8;"&"+9%.+%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%"+%01.23&%.(%4')&<

F@<N>%P.:$;$#7%)5$#$%6'*%0$%-+-&-'1%2"#2-6&)'+2$&7%"+%:5"25%")%6"95)%0$%+$2$&&'#*%).%

2.+&"8$#%)5$%"+&)'11')".+%.(%'%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6<%b$;$#)5$1$&&7%)5"&%8.$&%+.)%

"6,1*%)5')%&-25%'%&*&)$6%+$$8%"+2.#,.#')$%D#$%8$)$2).#&%:")5"+%'11%4')&7%.#%)5')7%"+%)5$%

$;$+)%.(%8$)$2)".+%.(%D#$7%'+%$;'2-')".+%&"9+'1%+$$8%0$%&.-+8$8<%=+%,'#)"2-1'#7%")%:"11%

+.#6'11*%0$%:5.11*%"+',,#.,#"')$%).%'8.,)%&"6-1)'+$.-&%$;'2-')".+%.(%'11%4..#&%"+%'%

high-rise block.

Page 174



159          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

F@<NN%_5$#$7%"+%'88")".+%).%&6.3$%'1'#6&%:")5"+%4')&7%")%"&%2.+&"8$#$8%+$2$&&'#*%).%"+&)'11%'%

2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%"+%'%01.23%.(%4')&<%=)%"&%+$2$&&'#*%).%&$,'#')$1*%2.+&"8$#R

g% )5$%$S)$+)%.(%)5$%D#$%8$)$2)".+

g% )5$%$S)$+)%).%:5"25%&.-+8$#&%'#$%,#.;"8$8%

g% the areas in which alarm signals should be given. 

% F22.-+)%&5.-18%0$%)'3$+%.(%)5$%+$$8%).%';."8%('1&$%'1'#6&%'+8%)5$%#"&3%.(%$;'2-')"+9%

#$&"8$+)&%:5.%:.-18%0$%&'($%).%#$6'"+%"+%)5$"#%4')&7%"+).%'#$'&%"+).%:5"25%)5$*%6"95)%0$%

affected by smoke.

F@<NV%H5$#$%'#$%2$#)'"+%&,$2"'1%2"#2-6&)'+2$&%"+%:5"25%'%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%"&%

'1:'*&%',,#.,#"')$<%H5$%6.&)%2.66.+%$S'6,1$&%.(%)5$&$%'#$%2$#)'"+%(.#6&%.(%&5$1)$#$8%

housing.

F@<NU% =+%")&%&"6,1$&)%(.#67%&5$1)$#$8%5.-&"+9%"&7%'#25")$2)-#'11*7%'+8%"+%)$#6&%.(%)5$%('2"1")"$&%

,#.;"8$87%+.%8"(($#$+)%(#.6%'%Y9$+$#'1%+$$8&Z%01.23%.(%4')&<%H5$#$%6'*%0$%+.%+$$8%(.#%'%

2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%"+%&"6,1$%&5$1)$#$8%5.-&"+9%.(%)5"&%)*,$<

F@<NO%P.:$;$#7%')%)5$%.)5$#%$S)#$6$7%6'+*%6.8$#+%&5$1)$#$8%5.-&"+9%01.23&%"+2.#,.#')$%

communal facilities, such as communal lounges, guest rooms, hairdressers, laundries 

and sometimes even restaurants. The communal and commercial premises should be 

,#.)$2)$8%:")5%'%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%2.6,1*"+9%:")5%)5$%#$2.66$+8')".+&%.(%^K%O`V?/>%

(.#%'%\')$9.#*%W>%.#%WN%&*&)$6<%!"#$%8$)$2).#&%'+8%D#$%'1'#6%&.-+8$#&%&5.-18%'1&.%0$%

"+&)'11$8%)5#.-95.-)%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&7%"+21-8"+9%2.##"8.#&%2.+)'"+"+9%4')&7%'+8%"+%'11%

communal rooms and non-domestic premises off the common corridors. The system 

should also incorporate manual call points.

F@<N@%H5$%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%"+%)5$&$%2'&$&%+$$8%+.)%'1:'*&%$S)$+8%"+).%)5$%

"+8";"8-'1%4')&7%,#.;"8$8%")%"&%2.+&"8$#$8%)5')7%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%'%D#$%'+*:5$#$%:")5"+%)5$%

0-"18"+97%#$&"8$+)&%'#$%&'($%).%#$6'"+%:")5"+%)5$"#%.:+%4')&<%=+%)5')%2'&$7%)5$%&.-+8%

,#$&&-#$%1$;$1%.(%)5$%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%&5.-18%0$%1.:%$+.-95%).%

';."8%&.-+8%,#$&&-#$%1$;$1&%.(%6.#$%)5'+%UO8^JFL%:")5"+%)5$%4')&<

F@<NX%_5$#$%'%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%"&%"+&)'11$8%"+%&5$1)$#$8%5.-&"+97%D#$%'1'#6%

signals should be monitored at a 24 hour staffed location, such as an alarm receiving 

2$+)#$<%H5$%&6.3$%8$)$2).#&%:")5"+%4')&7%,#.;"8$8%).%9";$%#$&"8$+)&%'%:'#+"+9%.(%'%D#$%

"+%)5$"#%.:+%4')7%6'*%0$%"+2.#,.#')$8%"+%)5$%&*&)$67%0-)7%&"+2$7%+.#6'11*7%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%

'%D#$%"+%'%4')7%'%Y&)'*%,-)Z%,.1"2*%:"11%',,1*%).%.)5$#%4')&7%.,$#')".+%.(%'%&6.3$%8$)$2).#%

:")5"+%'%4')%&5.-18%.+1*%.,$#')$%)5$%&.-+8$#%:")5"+%)5')%4')<

F@<N`%F+.)5$#%&")-')".+%"+%:5"25%'%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%6"95)%0$%',,#.,#"')$%"&%4')&%

)5')%(.#6%,'#)%.(%'%6"S$8/-&$#%8$;$1.,6$+)<%F+%$S'6,1$%"&%4')&%1.2')$8%'0.;$%&5.,&<%

=+%)5$&$%2'&$&7%-+1$&&%)5$#$%"&%'8$G-')$%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%0$):$$+%)5$%&5.,&%'+8%)5$%4')&%

"66$8"')$1*%'0.;$7%#$&"8$+)&%:"11%0$%')%#"&3%(#.6%'%D#$%:")5"+%)5$%&5.,&<%

Page 175



160          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

F@<N?%M()$+%)5$%&'($)*%.(%#$&"8$+)&%2'+%0$&)%0$%'25"$;$8%0*%-,9#'8"+9%)5$%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%

0$):$$+%)5$%&5.,&%'+8%)5$%4')&<%P.:$;$#7%'1)$#+')";$1*7%5$')%8$)$2)".+%2'+%0$%"+&)'11$8%

:")5"+%)5$%&5.,&%'+8%D#$%'1'#6%&.-+8$#&%2'+%0$%"+&)'11$8%:")5"+%)5$%4')&%).%$;'2-')$%

)5$%4')&%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%'%D#$%"+%)5$%&5.,&<%c+8$#%)5$&$%2"#2-6&)'+2$&7%)5$#$%"&%+.%+$$8%

(.#%)5$%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%).%"+2.#,.#')$%D#$%8$)$2).#&%:")5"+%)5$%4')&%.#%)5$%

2.66.+%,'#)&%.(%)5$%4')&<

F@<VA% =+%01.23&%:5"25%8.%+.)%5';$%"+8$,$+8$+)%'22$&&%).%)5$%4')&7%)5$#$%6'*%'1&.%0$%'%+$$8%

).%$S)$+8%)5$%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%"+).%)5$%4')&%'0.;$<%P.:$;$#7%'%&*&)$6%2.+D9-#')".+%

:5"25%';."8&%5';"+9%).%$;'2-')$%'11%#$&"8$+)&%&"6-1)'+$.-&1*%"&%).%0$%,#$($##$87%&-0T$2)%

to all other aspects of compartmentation and means of escape being able to support a 

‘stay put’ policy.

Page 176



161          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

\'&$%&)-8*R%H5#$$/&).#$*%01.237%:")5%4')&%.,$+"+9%8"#$2)1*%
onto a single stairway

FX<>%F&%'%#$&-1)%.(%'%H*,$%>%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)7%)5$%+$$8%).%-,9#'8$%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%"+%

)5"&%>?XA&%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23%.(%4')&%:'&%"8$+)"D$8<%H5$%)5#$$/&).#$*%01.23%5'&%&"S%&$1(/

2.+)'"+$8%4')&<%B'25%.(%)5$%4')&%"&%'22$&&$8%8"#$2)1*%.((%'%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*<%H5$%2.66.+%

,'#)&%2.6,#"&$%)5$%$+)#'+2$%5'11:'*7%)5$%&)'"#:'*%'+8%)5$%1'+8"+9&%.+%$'25%-,,$#%4..#<

FX<N%\.+&)#-2)$8%(#.6%2.+2#$)$%'+8%0#"237%)5$%01.23%5'&%#$+8$#$8%)"60$#%('m'8$&%(#.+)%'+8%

rear. Floors were found to be of concrete, and the building has a concrete stairway.

FX<V%H5$%01.23%5'8%0$$+%8$&"9+$8%.+%)5$%Y&)'*%,-)Z%,#"+2",1$7%'+87%2.+&$G-$+)1*7%)5$#$%:'&%

+.%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6<%F&%&-257%")%6$)%+.)%.+1*%)5$%.#"9"+'1%8$&"9+%&)'+8'#87%

but also the current benchmark.

FX<U%H5$%01.23%:'&%(.-+8%+.)%).%5';$%'%1.00*%0$):$$+%)5$%4')&%'+8%)5$%&)'"#:'*<%H5"&%

would still meet current benchmark standards, provided there was an internal protected 

$+)#'+2$%5'11%"+%$'25%4')%'+8%'+%FMi%')%)5$%).,%.(%)5$%&)'"#:'*7%.,$#')$8%0*%&6.3$%

detectors on each landing.

FX<O%C";$+%)5')%'%&'6,1$%.(%4')&%:$#$%'22$&&$8%(.#%)5"&%H*,$%>%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)7%,#"6'#"1*%

).%25$23%)5$%&)'+8'#8%'+8%2.+8")".+%.(%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&7%")%:'&%&..+%$&)'01"&5$8%)5')%

)5$%,#.)$2)".+%).%)5$%$+)#'+2$%5'11&%:'&%+.)%"+%1"+$%:")5%2-##$+)%&)'+8'#8&<%F&%'%#$&-1)%.(%

)5$%'9$%.(%)5$%01.237%)5$%&)'"#:'*%8"8%+.)%5';$%'+%FMi7%'1)5.-95%&6.3$%;$+)"+9%2.-18%

easily be achieved by opening windows. 

FX<@%H5$%(#.+)%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%).%4')&%:$#$%'1&.%(.-+8%).%0$%.#"9"+'1%'+8%+.)%)5$#$(.#$%"+%1"+$%

:")5%)5$%2-##$+)%0$+256'#3%&)'+8'#8%.+%)5$&$%8..#&<%b$;$#)5$1$&&7%)5$%.#"9"+'1%8..#&%

:$#$%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%'+8%6$)%)5$%&)'+8'#8%.(%)5$%8'*<%e'#)%.(%)5')%&)'+8'#87%5.:$;$#7%

permitted the use of rising butt hinges as was the case here.

FX<X%H5$%6'T.#")*%.(%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%:$#$%(.-+8%).%0$%"+%9..8%2.+8")".+7%'1)5.-95%")%

:'&%+.)$8%)5')%.+$%5'8%0$$+%D))$8%:")5%'%2')%4',%'+8%'+.)5$#%:'&%0'81*%D))"+9%"+%")&%

frame.

FX<`%_5"1$%6.&)%8..#&%:$#$%)5$%&'6$7%)5$#$%:$#$%'%+-60$#%.(%8..#&%)5')%',,$'#$8%).%5';$%

0$$+%25'+9$8%6.#$%#$2$+)1*<%=)%)#'+&,"#$8%)5')%&.6$%1$'&$5.18$#&%5'8%#$,1'2$8%)5$%

.#"9"+'1%8..#&7%0-)%:")5%8..#&%)5')%:$#$%+.)%D#$/#$&"&)"+9<%

.;;1786S'[

Page 177



162          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

FX<?%=)%:'&%+.)%2.+&"8$#$8%#$'&.+'01*%,#'2)"2'01$%).%0#"+9%)5$%01.23%"+).%1"+$%:")5%2-##$+)%

0$+256'#3%&)'+8'#8&<%F22.-+)%:'&%)'3$+%.(%)5$%9..8%&)'+8'#8%.(%2.6,'#)6$+)')".+7%

"+21-8"+9%)5$%1'23%.(%'+*%2.66.+%$S)#'2)%;$+)"1')".+%(#.6%4')&<

FX<>A% M;$#'117%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%8"8%+.)%2.+&"8$#%)5')%)5$%"&&-$&%#$1')"+9%).%)5$%2.66.+%

parts posed a high risk to people. However, the action plan included a number of short-term 

'+8%1.+9/)$#6%&.1-)".+&%).%'88#$&&%)5$%D+8"+9&<%=+%&-66'#*7%)5$&$%:$#$%'&%(.11.:&<

' 09#-+K+1-:'&#"3+6#7&'

g% H.%#$G-"#$%)5$%1$'&$5.18$#&%).%#$,1'2$%(#.+)%8..#&%).%)5$"#%4')&%"(%)5$*%:$#$%+.)%D#$/

resisting.

g% H.%D)%,.&")";$%'2)".+%&$1(/21.&"+9%8$;"2$&%"+%,1'2$%.(%#"&"+9%0-))%5"+9$&%).%'11%.#"9"+'1%4')%

entrance doors.

g% H.%#$,'"#%)5$%0'81*%D))"+9%8..#7%.#7%"(%'%#$,'"#%:'&%+.)%,.&&"01$7%).%#$,1'2$%")%:")5%'+%

!]VAK%D#$/#$&"&)"+97%&$1(/21.&"+9%8..#%6$$)"+9%2-##$+)%D#$%8..#%&)'+8'#8&<

g% H.%#$6.;$%)5$%2')%4',%'+8%#$,'"#%)5$%8..#%).%')%1$'&)%#$&).#$%")&%"+)$9#")*7%).%D)%'%

‘replacement FD30S door’.

 Long-term solutions

g% F&%'+8%:5$+%)5$%.,,.#)-+")*%'#.&$7%).%-,9#'8$%.#%#$,1'2$%)5$%(#.+)%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%

).%6$$)%2-##$+)%0$+256'#3%&)'+8'#8&%'+8%"+%,'#)"2-1'#7%).%D)%"+)-6$&2$+)%&)#",&%'+8%

&6.3$%&$'1&%'+8%,#.)$2)$8%1$))$#%0.S$&<%=)%:'&%&-99$&)$8%).%)5$%1'+81.#8%)5')%)5"&%

2.-18%0$%8-#"+9%)5$%2.-#&$%.(%)5$%+.#6'1%6'"+)$+'+2$%,#.9#'66$%.#%')%)"6$%.(%6'T.#%

refurbishment.

Page 178



!"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')& 163

\'&$%&)-8*R%!";$/&).#$*%01.237%:")5%$S2$&&%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$%'+8%
other issues

F`<>%H5"&%$'#1*%NA)5/2$+)-#*%01.23%.(%4')&%2.6,#"&$&%'%).)'1%.(%VA%4')&7%&,#$'8%.;$#%'%9#.-+8%

'+8%(.-#%-,,$#%4..#&<%F22$&&%).%$'25%-,,$#%4..#%4')%"&%0*%6$'+&%.(%'%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*7%

1$'8"+9%).%'%2.66.+%2.##"8.#%.+%$'25%4..#<%F%&"+91$%D#$/#$&"&)"+97%&$1(/21.&"+9%8..#%

&$,'#')$&%)5$%2.66.+%2.##"8.#%.+%$'25%4..#%(#.6%)5$%&)'"#:'*<

F`<N%H5$#$%'#$%1'#9$7%.,$+'01$%:"+8.:&%"+%$;$#*%2.##"8.#%'+8%:")5"+%)5$%&)'"#:'*%)5')%2'+%0$%

used to vent smoke.

F`<V%H5$%0-"18"+9%"&%.(%&-0&)'+)"'1%2.+&)#-2)".+7%:")5%2.+2#$)$%4..#&%'+8%6'&.+#*%:'11&7%

,#.;"8"+9%'%9..8%&)'+8'#8%.(%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%0$):$$+%4')&7%'+8%0$):$$+%4')&%'+8%)5$%

common parts. This provides support for the ‘stay put’ policy that has always been 

'8.,)$8%'+8%)5$%'0&$+2$%.(%'+*%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6<

F`<U%F%H*,$%V%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%5'&%0$$+%2'##"$8%.-)<%=)%:'&%+.)$8%)5')%)5$%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$%

(#.6%)5$%(-#)5$&)%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#%).%)5$%&)'"#:'*%:'&%>N6<%=+&,$2)".+%.(%$1$2)#"2'1%

risers within common parts revealed that not all cable penetrations between the risers 

'+8%)5$%4')&%:$#$%'8$G-')$1*%D#$%&).,,$8<

F`<O%_")5"+%'%&'6,1$%.(%)5$%4')&%"+&,$2)$87%")%:'&%(.-+8%)5')%)5$#$%'#$%G-")$%&5.#)%"+)$#+'1%

entrance halls, with substantial doors separating each room from the hallway. Bedrooms 

'#$%1.2')$8%+$'#$#%).%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#%)5'+%3")25$+&%'+8%1.-+9$&<

F`<@%!#.6%"+&,$2)".+%.(%'%&'6,1$%.(%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&7%")%:'&%8$)$#6"+$8%)5')%)5$%.#"9"+'1%

8..#&%6$)%)5$%&)'+8'#8%.(%)5$%8'*%(.#%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$7%0-)%&.6$%&$1(/21.&"+9%8$;"2$&%5'8%

been removed by residents.

F`<X%=)%:'&%(.-+8%)5')%)5$%1'+81.#8%5'8%+.)%,#.;"8$8%&6.3$%'1'#6&<%P.:$;$#7%6'+*%#$&"8$+)&%

5'8%"+&)'11$8%)5$"#%.:+%0'))$#*/.,$#')$8%&6.3$%'1'#6&<%=+%&.6$%2'&$&7%0'))$#"$&%5'8%

been removed because of false alarms during cooking.

F`<`%=+%)5$%2.-#&$%.(%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)7%")%:'&%+.)$8%)5')%)5$#$%'#$%2.66.+%

$S)#'2)%('2"1")"$&%(#.6%0.)5%3")25$+&%'+8%0')5#..6&<%H5$%2.+D9-#')".+%.(%)5$%$S)#'2)%

arrangements needed further investigation. From this investigation, it was determined 

)5')%)5$%$S)#'2)%'##'+9$6$+)&%(#.6%$'25%4')%8.%+.)%)'3$%)5$%(.#6%.(%&5-+)%8-2)&7%0-)%

&"6,1*%5.#"a.+)'1%8-2)&%)5')%T."+%)5$%6'"+%8-2)<%b.%D#$%8'6,$#&%:$#$%,#$&$+)<

.;;1786S'\

Page 179



164          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

F`<?%!.11.:"+9%.+%(#.6%)5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)7%)5$%'2)".+%,1'+%"+21-8$8%'%+-60$#%.(%&5.#)7%

6$8"-6%'+8%1.+9/)$#6%&.1-)".+&%).%'88#$&&%)5$%D+8"+9&<%=+%&-66'#*7%)5$&$%:$#$%'&%

follows.

 09#-+K+1-:'&#"3+6#7&

g% To install battery-operated (Grade F) smoke alarms (with tamper proof lithium 

0'))$#"$&L%"+%)5$%5'11:'*%.(%$'25%4')<%=+%.+$%4')7%"+%:5"25%)5$%.22-,'+)%:'&%8$$6$8%

to be vulnerable, an interlinked heat alarm was installed in the kitchen, and an 

interlinked smoke alarm installed in the lounge.

g% H.%D#$%&).,%'11%2'01$%,$+$)#')".+&%0$):$$+%$1$2)#"2'1%#"&$#&%'+8%4')&<

g% To replace all missing self-closing devices.

 Medium-term solutions

g% =+%;"$:%.(%)5$%$S)$+8$8%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$7%).%-,9#'8$%'11%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%).%-,9#'8$8%

FD30S standard (along with those to the stairway).

g% H.%D)%"+)-6$&2$+)%D#$%8'6,$#&%).%3")25$+%'+8%0')5#..6%$S)#'2)%8-2)&<

g% H.%,#.;"8$%$")5$#%ei&%.#%FMi&%"+%)5$%2.##"8.#&%'+8%)5$%&)'"#:'*<

 Long-term solutions

g% To upgrade smoke alarms with Grade D, mains-operated smoke alarms, with a 

standby power supply.

g% H.%#$2.+D9-#$%;$+)"1')".+%(#.6%)5$%3")25$+&%8"#$2)%).%.-)&"8$%'+8%+.)%;"'%)5$%2.66.+%

ducts.

Page 180



!"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')& 165

\'&$%&)-8*R%b"+$/&).#$*%01.237%:")5%"+'8$G-')$%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%
and other issues

F?<>%F&%'%#$&-1)%.(%'%H*,$%>7%'+8%&-0&$G-$+)1*%'%H*,$%N7%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)7%)5$%+$$8%).%

-,9#'8$%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%"+%)5"&%>?@A&%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%9$+$#'1%+$$8&%01.23%.(%4')&%

:'&%"8$+)"D$8<

F?<N%H5$%+"+$/&).#$*7%&"+91$/&)'"#:'*%01.23%5'&%'%).)'1%.(%O>%&$1(/2.+)'"+$8%Y9$+$#'1%+$$8&Z%

4')&<%H5$#$%'#$%&"S%4')&%.+%$'25%.(%4..#&%.+$%).%$"95)7%:5"25%'#$%'22$&&$8%)5#.-95%'%

2.66.+%1.00*%.((%)5$%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*<%H5$%&)'"#:'*%5'&%8"#$2)%'22$&&%).%'%D+'1%$S")%')%

the base of the stairs.

F?<V%H5$%01.23%"&%.(%2.+2#$)$%(#'6$8%2.+&)#-2)".+7%:")5%2.+2#$)$%4..#&7%"+)$#+'1%01.23%:'11&%

).%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%'+8%'%2.+2#$)$%&)'"#:'*<%H5$%01.23%5'&%'%4')%#..(%2.+&)#-2)$8%.(%

2.+2#$)$7%:")5%'+%'&,5'1)%2.;$#"+9<%F&%,'#)%.(%'%#$(-#0"&56$+)%,#.9#'66$7%)5$%&)'"#:'*7%

:5"25%:'&%.,$+%.#"9"+'11*%.+%$'25%.(%)5$%-,,$#%4..#%1$;$1&7%:'&%$+21.&$8%:")5%91'a$8%

partitions and openable windows. The block had been designed on the ‘stay put’ 

,#"+2",1$7%'+87%2.+&$G-$+)1*7%)5$#$%:'&%+.%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6<

F?<U%F22$&&%).%)5$%4')&%"&%;"'%'%2.66.+%1.00*%,#.;"8"+9%):.%8..#%,#.)$2)".+%).%)5$%&"+91$%

stairway, which is consistent with current benchmark standards. The travel distance 

:")5"+%)5$%1.00"$&%).%)5$%8..#%).%)5$%&)'"#:'*%"&%',,#.S"6')$1*%@67%:5"25%"&%"+%$S2$&&%.(%

the current recommended benchmark of 4.5m. The smoke control arrangements in the 

lobbies, which are not provided with any means of ventilation, and within the stairway, 

which only has openable windows, are not in accordance with current benchmark 

9-"8'+2$7%:5"25%:.-18%#$G-"#$%FMiZ&%"+%)5$%1.00"$&%'+8%)5$%&)'"#:'*<

F?<O%=+%'88")".+7%)5$%#$(-&$%25-)$&7%:5"257%"+%)5$%.#"9"+'1%8$&"9+7%:$#$%1.2')$8%.((%'+%.,$+%

0'12.+*%:")5"+%)5$%&)'"#:'*%.+%$'25%.(%)5$%-,,$#%4..#&7%'#$%+.:%:")5"+%'+%$+21.&$8%

&)'"#:'*%'+8%,#$&$+)%'%#"&3%.(%D#$%'+8%&6.3$%&,#$'8<

F?<@%H5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%:$#$%'1&.%(.-+8%).%0$%.#"9"+'1%'+8%+.)7%)5$#$(.#$7%"+%1"+$%:")5%)5$%

2-##$+)%0$+256'#3%&)'+8'#8&<%b$;$#)5$1$&&7%)5$%.#"9"+'1%8..#&%:$#$%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%'+8%

met the standard of the day. Part of that standard, however, permitted the use of rising 

butt hinges as was the case here.

F?<X%H5$%6'T.#")*%.(%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%:$#$%(.-+8%).%0$%"+%9..8%2.+8")".+7%'1)5.-95%

")%:'&%+.)$8%)5')%)5$%.#"9"+'1%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%91'a"+9%.;$#%):.%.(%)5$%8..#&%5'8%0$$+%

.;;1786S']

Page 181



166          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

#$,1'2$87%.+$%:")5%5'#80.'#8%'+8%)5$%.)5$#%:")5%,1'"+%91'a"+9<%_5"1$%6.&)%8..#&%

were the same, a number of doors had been changed as part of the refurbishment 

programme. Two of the leaseholders had replaced the original doors, with new uPVC 

8..#&%)5')%:$#$%+.)%D#$/#$&"&)"+9<

F?<`%H5$%&-#;$*%"8$+)"D$8%'%#$'&.+'01$%&)'+8'#8%.(%2.6,'#)6$+)')".+%"+%)5$%2.66.+%

'#$'&7%:")5%.+1*%6"+.#%.,$+"+9&%"+%4..#&%'#.-+8%2'01$&%:")5"+%)5$%2.66.+%&$#;"2$%

#"&$#%2-,0.'#8&<%=+%'88")".+7%)5$%('1&$%2$"1"+9&%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%:$#$%.,$+$8%'+8%

'22$&&$8%).%25$23%.,$+"+9&%0$):$$+%)5$%4')&7%&).#$%#..6&%'+8%)5$%$1$2)#"2'1%"+)'3$%

#..6%'+8%)5$%2.66.+%'#$'&<%F9'"+7%.+1*%6"+.#%.,$+"+9&%'#.-+8%2'01$&%'+8%,",$&%:$#$%

(.-+8<%F11%.(%)5$&$%.,$+"+9&%:.-18%0$%#$1')";$1*%$'&*%).%D#$%&).,%:")5%&-")'01$%6')$#"'1&<

F?<?%\.6,'#)6$+)')".+%:")5"+%)5$%4')&%:'&%'1&.%2.+&"8$#$87%'+8%5'8%0$$+%25$23$8%8-#"+9%

)5$%#$(-#0"&56$+)%,#.9#'66$7%:5"25%8"8%+.)%"8$+)"(*%'+*%&"9+"D2'+)%8$($2)&<%H5$%

3")25$+&%:$#$%,#.;"8$8%:")5%&$,'#')$%$S)#'2)%;$+)&%8"#$2)%).%.,$+%'"#7%'+8%)5$%&$#;"2$%

risers containing electric, water and waste pipes were enclosed in a common duct in 

:5')%',,$'#$8%).%0$%&.1"8%2.+&)#-2)".+%,#.;"8"+9%'%#$'&.+'01$%,$#".8%.(%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$<%

The bathrooms were provided with a common vent and duct that served all bathrooms, 

:")5%6$25'+"2'1%$S)#'2)%;$+)"1')".+%:")5%'%('+%')%#..(%1$;$1<%!-#)5$#%"+;$&)"9')".+%0*%'%

2.+)#'2).#%#$;$'1$8%)5')%)5$#$%:$#$%+.%D#$%8'6,$#&%"+%0')5#..6%$S)#'2)%('2"1")"$&7%'+8%

that shunt ducts were not incorporated.

F?<>A%H5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"8$+)"D$8%'%+-60$#%.(%&"9+"D2'+)%8$D2"$+2"$&%:")5"+%)5$%

common parts. Some of these were as a result of changes made to the block. While it 

was not considered reasonably practicable to bring the block fully into line with current 

benchmark standards for single stairway buildings, the action plan included a number of 

&5.#)7%6$8"-6%'+8%1.+9/)$#6%&.1-)".+&%).%'88#$&&%)5$%D+8"+9&<%=+%&-66'#*7%)5$&$%:$#$%

as follows.

' 09#-+K+1-:'&#"3+6#7&

g% H.%#$G-"#$%)5$%):.%1$'&$5.18$#&%).%#$,1'2$%)5$%(#.+)%8..#&%).%)5$"#%4')&%:")5%

replacement FD30S doors, with positive action self-closing devices.

g% H.%D)%,.&")";$%'2)".+%&$1(/21.&"+9%8$;"2$&%"+%,1'2$%.(%#"&"+9%0-))%5"+9$&%).%'11%4')%

entrance doors.

g% H.%#$,1'2$7%)5$%+.+/D#$/#$&"&)"+9%91'a"+9%.;$#%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&7%:")5%D#$/%

#$&"&)"+9%91'a"+9<

g% F&%'%)$6,.#'#*%6$'&-#$7%,$#6'+$+)1*%.,$+%.+$%.(%)5$%:"+8.:&%.+%$'25%1'+8"+9%

within the stairway to provide permanent ventilation, or alternatively close off the 

refuse chutes to prevent their use by residents.

g% e#.;"8$%D#$%&).,,"+9%).%'+*%.,$+"+9&%'#.-+8%,",$&%'+8%2'01$&%"+%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%4..#&%

and walls.

Page 182



!"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')& 167

 Medium-term solutions

g% B+21.&$%)5$%#$(-&$%25-)$&%.+%$'25%4..#%:")5%,'#)")".+&%'+8%&$1(/21.&"+9%8..#&%

,#.;"8"+9%VA/6"+-)$%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$7%'+8%,#.;"8$%,$#6'+$+)%;$+)"1')".+%).%)5$%

$+21.&-#$7%.#7%'1)$#+')";$1*7%,$#6'+$+)1*%&$'1%.((%)5$%#$(-&$%25-)$&%.+%$'25%4..#%1$;$1<

g% H.%D)%"+)-6$&2$+)%8'6,$#&%).%)5$%;$+)%.,$+"+9&%:")5"+%$'25%.(%)5$%0')5#..6&%).%

,#$;$+)%)5$%&,#$'8%.(%D#$%0$):$$+%4')&<

 Long-term solutions

g% H.%-,9#'8$%'11%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%'+8%8..#&%).%)5$%&).#$%#..6&7%21$'+$#Z&%2-,0.'#87%

electrical intake room and the stairway to FD30S doors.

g% H5$%8..#&%).%)5$%#"&$#%2-,0.'#8&%.+%$'25%4..#%:$#$%+.)".+'1%!]VA%8..#&%'+87%

provided the storage is removed, there would be no requirement to upgrade these 

doors. However, the doors should be kept locked shut and be provided with suitable 

notices.

g% F&%)5$%)#';$1%8"&)'+2$%:")5"+%)5$%1.00"$&%"&%1"6")$87%'+8%)5$#$%"&%+.%,#'2)"2'1%:'*%.(%

providing ventilation, unventilated lobbies were accepted. However, to compensate for 

)5"&%'+8%-,9#'8$%)5$%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%"+%)5$%&)'"#:'*7%FMi&%.#%ei&%:$#$%#$G-"#$8%"+%)5$%

&)'"#:'*&<%=(%FMi&%:$#$%"+&)'11$87%&6.3$%8$)$2).#&%:.-18%+$$8%).%0$%D))$8%"+%0.)5%)5$%

lobbies and the stairway.

Page 183



168          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

\'&$%&)-8*R%Q"S$8/-&$%01.23%:")5%"+'8$G-')$%
compartmentation

F>A<>%]-#"+9%#$(-#0"&56$+)%:.#3&%).%)5"&%,#$/NA)5/2$+)-#*%0-"18"+97%&"9+"D2'+)%:$'3+$&&$&%"+%

)5$%&)#-2)-#'1%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%:$#$%"8$+)"D$8<%H5"&%2'&)%8.-0)%.+%)5$%$(($2)";$+$&&%.(%)5$%

2.6,'#)6$+)')".+%+.#6'11*%+$$8$8%(.#%)5"&%6"S$8/-&$%#$&"8$+)"'1%01.23<

F>A<N%H5$%(.-#/&).#$*%0-"18"+9%5'8%)5#$$%&$1(/2.+)'"+$8%4')&7%.+$%.+%$'25%.(%)5$%-,,$#%4..#&<%

H5$%9#.-+8%'+8%0'&$6$+)%4..#&%:$#$%.22-,"$8%0*%):.%&5.,&<

F>A<V%B'25%.(%)5$%4')&%:'&%'22$&&$8%8"#$2)1*%.((%'%&"+91$%&)'"#2'&$<%H5$%2.66.+%,'#)&%

2.6,#"&$8%)5$%$+)#'+2$%5'117%)5$%&)'"#2'&$%'+8%)5$%1'+8"+9&%.+%$'25%-,,$#%4..#<%

F1)5.-95%)5$%):.%&5.,%-+")&%.+%)5$%9#.-+8%4..#%5'8%"+8$,$+8$+)%$+)#'+2$&%(#.6%)5$%

street, one also had a door into the entrance hall.

F>A<U%^-"1)%:")5%0#"23%:'11&7%)5$%01.23%5'8%)"60$#%4..#&%'+8%)5$%&)'"#2'&$%:'&%.(%)"60$#%

construction. The original roof had been replaced with a metal-clad roof.

F>A<O%H5$%01.23%5'8%0$$+%8$&"9+$8%.+%)5$%Y&)'*%,-)Z%,#"+2",1$7%'+87%2.+&$G-$+)1*7%)5$#$%:'&%

+.%2.66-+'1%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6<%F&%&-257%")%6$)%+.)%.+1*%)5$%.#"9"+'1%&)'+8'#8%.+%)5"&%0-)%

also the current benchmark.

F>A<@%H5$%01.23%:'&%(.-+8%+.)%).%5';$%'%1.00*%0$):$$+%)5$%4')&%'+8%)5$%&)'"#:'*<%F1)5.-95%

all had entrance hallways, none of these were protected. There was no automatic 

;$+)%"+%)5$%&)'"#:'*%(.#%&6.3$%;$+)"1')".+%'+8%+.+$%.(%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%:$#$%

considered even notional FD30 doors.

F>A<X%H5$%D#&)%'+8%&$2.+8%4..#%1$;$1&%5'8%'22$&&%).%'1)$#+')";$%$S")&%.+).%$S)$#+'1%6$)'1%D#$%

$&2',$%&)'"#:'*&<%P.:$;$#7%)5$&$%2.-18%+.)%0$%#$'25$8%(#.6%'11%#..6&<%H5$%).,%4..#%

4')%5'8%+.%'22$&&%).%)5$%$S)$#+'1%$&2',$%&)'"#:'*7%'1)5.-95%'%1'88$#%9';$%'22$&&%).%)5$%

roof for residents to await rescue, which is not acceptable today.

F>A<`%H5$%:.#3&%).%)5$%0-"18"+9%#$;$'1$8%&$#".-&%8$D2"$+2"$&%"+%0.)5%)5$%&)'+8'#8%.(%)5$%

D#$%&$,'#')".+%'+8%")&%2.+8")".+<%\$"1"+9&%:$#$%1"+$8%:")5%1')5%'+8%,1'&)$#%'+87%"+%&.6$%

parts, a composite of plywood, chipboard and hardboard. Some walls, including those 

enclosing the staircase, were of thin timber panels and it was possible to see between a 

4')%'+8%)5$%&)'"#:'*%)5#.-95%&,1")&%"+%)5$%,'+$1&<%

.;;1786S'L^

Page 184



169          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

F>A<?%C";$+%)5$%&")-')".+%(.-+87%")%:'&%2.+&"8$#$8%)5')%)5$%#$&"8$+)&%:$#$%$S,.&$8%).%'+%

unacceptable risk. However, it was not considered reasonably practicable to bring 

the block into line with current benchmark standards. While every effort was made 

).%"6,#.;$%)5$%2.+8")".+%.(%D#$%&$,'#')".+7%"+21-8"+9%D))"+9%#$,1'2$6$+)%!]VAK%4')%

$+)#'+2$%8..#&7%")%:'&%+.)%#$'1"&)"2%).%(-11*%-,9#'8$%4..#&%'+8%:'11&<

F>A<>A%]$&,")$%6"&9";"+9&%.;$#%)5$%"6,1"2')".+&%(.#%('1&$%'1'#6&7%")%:'&%8$2"8$8%)5')%'%D#$%

8$)$2)".+%'+8%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6%:.-18%+$$8%).%0$%"+&)'11$8<%H5$%'1)$#+')";$%.(%D))"+9%

a sprinkler system was considered as an option, but there was no room to house the 

necessary tank and pumps. The communal system provided, a Category L1 system 

).%^K%O`V?/>7%$S)$+8$8%"+).%)5$%4')&<%H5"&%:'&%+.)%.+1*%).%$+&-#$%'11%#$&"8$+)&%:$#$%

:'#+$8%.(%'+%'2)";')".+%.(%)5$%&*&)$67%0-)%'1&.%).%,#.;"8$%D#$%8$)$2)".+%"+%'11%5'0")'01$%

#..6&<%Q'+-'1%2'11%,."+)&%:$#$%'1&.%D))$8%0*%)5$%9#.-+8%4..#%$S")&7%0-)%+.)%.+%)5$%

-,,$#/4..#%1'+8"+9&<%

F>A<>>%C";$+%)5')%)5$%8$)$2).#&%:$#$%"+&)'11$8%"+%4')&%).%2.6,$+&')$%(.#%&$#".-&%

&5.#)2.6"+9&%"+%D#$%&$,'#')".+7%5$')%8$)$2).#&%:$#$%-&$8<%H5$&$%:$#$%8$$6$8%

&-(D2"$+)%).%,#.;"8$%:'#+"+9%0$(.#$%D#$/&,#$'8%0$):$$+%4')&%'+8%'1&.%).%#$8-2$%)5$%

potential for false alarms from residents. However, in recognition that these would not 

,#.;"8$%1.2'1%:'#+"+9%(.#%)5$%.22-,'+)&%.(%$'25%4')7%&6.3$%'1'#6&%:$#$%'1&.%"+&)'11$8%"+%

$'25%.(%)5$%4')&<

Page 185



170          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

\'&$%&)-8*R%^1.23%2.+)'"+"+9%):./&).#$*%4')&7%:")5.-)%
'8$G-')$%'1)$#+')";$%$S")&

F>><>% F&%'%#$&-1)%.(%'%H*,$%V%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)7%)5$%+$$8%).%-,9#'8$%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%

:")5"+%)5$%"+8";"8-'1%4')&%.(%'%>?@A&%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23%:'&%"8$+)"D$8<

F>><N% H5"&%"&%'%(.-#/&).#$*7%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23%.(%4')&7%:")5%'%).)'1%.(%$"95)7%):./&).#$*7%

&$1(/2.+)'"+$8%9$+$#'1%+$$8&%4')&<%!.-#%.(%)5$%4')&%'#$%$+)$#$8%8"#$2)1*%.((%)5$%&"+91$%

&)'"#:'*%.+%)5$%9#.-+8%4..#%1$;$17%:")5%)5$%#$6'"+"+9%(.-#%4')&%$+)$#$8%.((%)5$%&"+91$%

&)'"#:'*%.+%)5$%&$2.+8%4..#%1$;$1<

F>><V% H5$%01.23%")&$1(%"&%.(%2.+2#$)$%(#'6$8%2.+&)#-2)".+7%:")5%2.+2#$)$%4..#&7%"+)$#+'1%01.23%

walls to the common parts and a concrete stairway. The block originally had a concrete 

4')%#..(7%0-)%'%+$:%)"60$#%'+8%)"1$8%,")25$8%#..(%:'&%"+&)'11$8%.;$#%)5$%$S"&)"+9%4')%#..(%'%

number of years ago.

F>><U% H5$%4')&%.,$+%8"#$2)1*%.((%)5$%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*%'+8%.#"9"+'11*%5'8%"+)$#+'1%,#.)$2)$8%

entrance halls providing two-door protection to the stairway, which was in accordance 

with the benchmark standard of the day. The risk assessment for the common parts was 

considered separately and is not included within this case study, which only considers 

)5$%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%+$2$&&'#*%).%,#.)$2)%)5$%#$&"8$+)&%(#.6%'%D#$%:")5"+%)5$"#%.:+%

4')<

F>><O% H5$%4')&%)5$6&$1;$&%'#$%'##'+9$8%.+%):.%1$;$1&<%M+%)5$%$+)#*%1$;$17%)5$#$%"&%'%&6'11%

5'11:'*%:")5%8..#&%).%)5$%3")25$+7%1";"+9%#..6%'+8%)."1$)<%F+%"+)$#+'1%&)'"#:'*%,#.;"8$&%

access to the upper level, on which there are three bedrooms and a bathroom.

F>><@% H5$%.#"9"+'1%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%'##'+9$6$+)&%"+2.#,.#')$8%'+%'1)$#+')";$%D#$%$S")%.+%

)5$%1'+8"+97%'8T'2$+)%).%)5$%0$8#..6&7%.+%)5$%-,,$#%1$;$1%.(%$'25%4')<%M+%)5$%D#&)%4..#7%

)5$%$S")%1$8%8"#$2)1*%"+).%)5$%&)'"#:'*%'+87%.+%)5$%)5"#8%4..#7%)5$%$S")%1$8%.+).%)5$%#..(%'+8%

)5$+%0'23%"+).%)5$%&)'"#:'*<%=+%'88")".+7%)5$%8..#&%).%)5$%3")25$+%'+8%1.-+9$%:$#$%D#$/

#$&"&)"+9%8..#&%D))$8%:")5%#"&"+9%0-))%5"+9$&<%H5$%8..#&%).%)5$%0$8#..6&%.+%)5$%-,,$#%

1$;$1&%:$#$%+.)%D#$/#$&"&)"+9<

F>><X% H5$%'1)$#+')";$%D#$%$S")&%(#.6%)5$%D#&)%4..#%1$;$1%.(%)5$%01.23%#$6'"+%';'"1'01$7%'1)5.-95%

a number of the doors were obstructed and, in one case, permanently locked shut. The 

'1)$#+')";$%D#$%$S")&%(#.6%)5$%(.-#)5/4..#%1$;$1%.(%)5$%01.23%5';$%0$$+%#$6.;$8%(.11.:"+9%

)5$%"+&)'11')".+%.(%)5$%,")25$8%#..(<%=+%'88")".+7%"+%9$+$#'17%3")25$+%'+8%1";"+9/#..6%8..#&%

.;;1786S'LL

Page 186



171          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

5';$%0$$+%#$6.;$8%.#%#$,1'2$8%:")5%+.+/D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&%"+%'%+-60$#%.(%4')&<%H5$%

91'a"+9%D))$8%')%5"95%1$;$1%0$):$$+%)5$%5'11%'+8%1";"+9%#..6&%"&%+.)%D#$/#$&"&)"+9<

F>><`% H5$%4')&%'#$%D))$8%:")5%"+)$#1"+3$8%C#'8$%!%&6.3$%'1'#6&7%1.2')$8%"+%)5$%5'11%'+8%.+%

the upper-level landings.

F>><?% =)%:'&%+.)%2.+&"8$#$8%#$'&.+'01$%.#%,5*&"2'11*%,.&&"01$%).%$")5$#%#$/"+&)')$%)5$%.#"9"+'1%

6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%'##'+9$6$+)&7%,'#)"2-1'#1*%.+%)5$%)5"#8%4..#7%.#%0#"+9%)5$%4')&%(-11*%"+).%

1"+$%:")5%2-##$+)%0$+256'#3%D#$%&'($)*%&)'+8'#8&<

F>><>A%H5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"8$+)"D$8%'%&"9+"D2'+)%,#.01$6%:")5%)5$%"+)$#+'1%6$'+&%.(%

$&2',$%(#.6%)5$%-,,$#%1$;$1&%.(%)5$%4')&7%,'#)"2-1'#1*%')%)5"#8/4..#%1$;$17%'&%'%#$&-1)%.(%

25'+9$&%6'8$%).%)5$%01.237%'+8%.)5$#%1$&&%&"9+"D2'+)%"&&-$&%)5')%2.-18%0$%8$'1)%:")5%

over a longer period of time. The action plan, therefore, included a number of short and 

6$8"-6/)$#6%&.1-)".+&%).%'88#$&&%)5$%D+8"+9&<%=+%&-66'#*7%)5$&$%:$#$%'&%(.11.:&<

' 09#-+K+1-:'&#"3+6#7&

g% H.%-,9#'8$%)5$%D#$%8$)$2)".+%'+8%'1'#6%&*&)$6%"+%'11%4')&7%:")57%"+%)5$%D#&)%"+&)'+2$7%

,'#)"2-1'#%$6,5'&"&%.+%)5$%-,,$#/1$;$1%4')&7%).%2.6,$+&')$%(.#%)5$%#$6.;'1%.(%

)5$%'1)$#+')";$%$S")&%.+%)5$%(.-#)5%4..#<%F%C#'8$%]7%\')$9.#*%W]N%&*&)$6%:'&%

#$2.66$+8$87%:")5%&6.3$%'1'#6&%D))$8%"+%)5$%5'117%1";"+9%#..6%'+8%-,,$#/1$;$1%

1'+8"+9&%'+8%'%5$')%'1'#6%D))$8%"+%)5$%3")25$+&<

g% To replace any doors removed from the kitchens or living rooms with FD20 doors.

g% H.%"+&,$2)%$S"&)"+9%8..#&%D))$8%).%3")25$+&%'+8%1";"+9%#..6&%'+8%$+&-#$%)5')%)5$*%'#$%'%

9..8%D)%"+%)5$"#%(#'6$&%'+8%,#.;"8$%'%#$'&.+'01$%1$;$1%.(%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$<

g% H.%$+&-#$%'1)$#+')";$%D#$%$S")&%.+%)5$%-,,$#%1'+8"+9%')%D#&)%4..#%1$;$1%'#$%.,$+$8%-,%

and made available and can be easily opened by the residents.

g% H.%,#.;"8$%#$&"8$+)&%:")5%9$+$#'1%D#$%&'($)*%"+(.#6')".+%'+8%$6,5'&"&$%)5$%+$$8%).%

keep kitchen and living-room doors closed, particularly at night.

 Medium-term solutions

g% H.%#$,1'2$%)5$%91'a"+9%0$):$$+%)5$%5'11%'+8%1";"+9%#..6&%:")5%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%91'a"+9<

g% =+%)5$%-,,$#/1$;$1%4')&7%).%2.+&"8$#%)5$%D))"+9%.(%&$1(/21.&"+9%8$;"2$&%).%3")25$+&%'+8%

living-room doors.

Page 187



172          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

\'&$%&)-8*R%^1.23%2.+)'"+"+9%&"+91$/&).#$*%4')&7%:")5.-)%
'8$G-')$%'1)$#+')";$%$S")&

F>N<>%F&%'%#$&-1)%.(%'%H*,$%V%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)7%)5$%+$$8%).%-,9#'8$%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%

:")5"+%)5$%"+8";"8-'1%4')&%.(%'%>?VA&%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23%:'&%"8$+)"D$8<

F>N<N%H5"&%"&%'%&"S/&).#$*7%,-#,.&$/0-"1)/01.23%.(%4')&7%:")5%'%).)'1%.(%NU%&$1(/2.+)'"+$87%):./%

'+8%)5#$$/0$8#..6%9$+$#'1%+$$8&%4')&7%'22$&&$8%.((%'%2.66.+%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*<%H5$#$%

:$#$%(.-#%4')&%.+%$'25%4..#%$+)$#$8%8"#$2)1*%(#.6%)5$%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*<%F11%)5$%4')&%:$#$%

occupied by long-term tenants of a single landlord, who owned a number of similar 

properties in the area.

F>N<V%H5$%01.23%")&$1(%"&%.(%)#'8")".+'1%2.+&)#-2)".+7%:")5%0#"23%$S)$#".#%:'11&7%)"60$#%4..#&7%

"+)$#+'1%0#"23%'+8%01.23%:'11&%0$):$$+%)5$%4')&%'+8%)5$%2.+2#$)$%&)'"#:'*7%'+8%'%)"1$8%

)"60$#/,")25$8%#..(<%H5$%)"60$#%4..#&%:$#$%"+/D11$8%:")5%5.11.:%01.23&%')%)5$%)"6$%.(%

2.+&)#-2)".+%).%,#.;"8$%D#$%&$,'#')".+%0$):$$+%)5$%4..#&%:5"25%:'&%2.66.+%(.#%

buildings of this age.

F>N<U%H5$%4')&%.,$+%8"#$2)1*%.+).%)5$%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*%'+8%5';$%"+)$#+'1%,#.)$2)$8%$+)#'+2$%

halls providing two-door protection to the stairway, which was common in buildings 

.(%)5$%'9$%'+8%&"a$<%H5$%&)'"#:'*%:'&%.,$+%')%9#.-+8%4..#%1$;$1%'+8%5'8%.,$+'01$%

:"+8.:&%.+%)5$%1'+8"+9&%.+%)5$%-,,$#%4..#&<%H5$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%(.#%)5$%2.66.+%

parts was considered separately and is not included within this case study, which only 

2.+&"8$#&%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%+$2$&&'#*%).%,#.)$2)%)5$%#$&"8$+)&%(#.6%'%D#$%:")5"+%

)5$"#%.:+%4')&<

F>N<O%H5$%4')&%)5$6&$1;$&%'#$%'##'+9$8%.+%.+$%1$;$1%'+8%'#$%'22$&&$8%8"#$2)1*%.((%)5$%

single stairway. There was a small entrance hall with doors to the kitchen and the living 

room. From the rear of the living room, a further door gave access to an inner hall with 

access to the bedrooms and bathroom.

F>N<@%H5$%4')&%:$#$%D))$8%:")5%'%C#'8$%]%\')$9.#*%W]V%D#$%8$)$2)".+%'+8%'1'#6%&*&)$67%

with smoke alarms in the entrance hall and inner hall.

.;;1786S'LO

Page 188



!"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')& 173

F>N<X%M#"9"+'11*7%)5$%8..#&%).%)5$%3")25$+%'+8%1";"+9%#..6%.((%)5$%$+)#'+2$%5'11%:$#$%D#$/

#$&"&)"+9%8..#&%D))$8%:")5%#"&"+9%0-))%5"+9$&7%'&%:'&%)5$%8..#%0$):$$+%)5$%1";"+9%#..6%

and the inner hall, which was provided to separate the bedrooms from the living areas. 

F&%)5$%0$8#..6&%:$#$%"++$#%#..6&%.((%)5$%1";"+9%#..67%'+%'1)$#+')";$%6$'+&%.(%$&2',$%

:'&%,#.;"8$8%(#.6%.+$%.(%)5$%0$8#..6&%.+).%'+%$S)$#+'1%&5'#$8%0'12.+*7%:5"25%

.#"9"+'11*%9';$%'22$&&%).%)5$%'8T."+"+9%4')%)5#.-95%'%3"23/.-)%,'+$1%0$):$$+%)5$%):.%

sections of the balcony. Residents were then required to gain access into and through 

)5$"#%+$"950.-#&%4')%'+8%0'23%.-)%.+).%)5$%2.66.+%&"+91$%&)'"#:'*<

F>N<`%M;$#%)5$%*$'#&7%'&%'%#$&-1)%.(%&$2-#")*%2.+2$#+&7%)5$%6'T.#")*%.(%)5$%,'+$1&%0$):$$+%

)5$%0'12.+"$&%5'8%0$$+%&$'1$8%-,7%'+8%'22$&&%+.%1.+9$#%$S"&)&%0$):$$+%)5$%4')&<%=+%

'88")".+7%$;$+%:5$#$%)5$%,'+$1%5'&%0$$+%#$)'"+$87%'22$&&%"+).%)5$%'8T."+"+9%4')%'+8%

.-)%.(%)5$%4')%"+).%)5$%&)'"#:'*%:.-18%0$%8"(D2-1)%).%'25"$;$%8-$%).%'88")".+'1%&$2-#")*%

6$'&-#$&%D))$8%0*%#$&"8$+)&%).%0'12.+*%'+8%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&%'+8%2.-18%+.)%0$%

relied on with any degree of certainty. The result of these changes has created an 

unsatisfactory means of escape arrangement for residents in the bedrooms. Without 

the original alternative means of escape, anyone in the bedrooms would have to pass 

)5#.-95%)5$%1";"+9%#..6%).%#$'25%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#<%K5.-18%'%D#$%.22-#%"+%)5$%1";"+9%

#..67%)5$#$%"&%'%&"9+"D2'+)%#"&3%)5')%)5$%.22-,'+)&%.(%)5$%0$8#..6%:.-18%0$2.6$%

trapped and be unable to escape.

F>N<?% =+%'88")".+7%"+%'%+-60$#%.(%)5$%4')&7%)5$%8..#%).%)5$%3")25$+%5'8%0$$+%#$6.;$8%.#%

#$,1'2$8%:")5%'%+.+/D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#7%'+8%&.6$%.(%)5$%8..#&%:$#$%'1&.%(.-+8%).%0$%

wedged in the open position. This was mainly due to the limited space within the kitchen 

and was common practice. This was an additional concern, which potentially increased 

the risk for the occupants of the bedrooms, who would need to use the entrance hall 

'+8%,'&&%)5$%3")25$+%).%1$';$%)5$%4')<

F>N<>A%=)%:'&%+.)%2.+&"8$#$8%,#'2)"2'01$%.#%',,#.,#"')$%).%#$/"+&)')$%)5$%.#"9"+'1%6$'+&%.(%

$&2',$%'##'+9$6$+)&7%;"'%)5$%$S)$#+'1%0'12.+*<

F>N<>>%H5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"8$+)"D$8%'%&"9+"D2'+)%,#.01$6%:")5%)5$%"+)$#+'1%6$'+&%.(%

$&2',$%(#.6%)5$%0$8#..6&%'+8%)5$%#$6.;'1%.(%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#&<%H5$%'2)".+%,1'+%

therefore included a number of short- and medium-term solutions to address the 

D+8"+9&<%=+%&-66'#*7%)5$&$%:$#$%'&%(.11.:&<

Page 189



174          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

' 09#-+K+1-:'&#"3+6#7&

g% H.%$+&-#$%)5')%'11%3")25$+&%.((%)5$%$+)#'+2$%5'11%'#$%D))$8%:")5%$")5$#%)5$%.#"9"+'1%D#$/

resisting door or replacement FD20 doors.

g% To ensure that the door between the living room and the inner hall is at least a FD20 

D#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#<

g% H.%,#.;"8$%#$&"8$+)&%:")5%9$+$#'1%D#$%&'($)*%"+(.#6')".+%'+8%$6,5'&"&$%)5$%+$$8%).%

keep kitchen and living-room doors closed, particularly at night.

g% H.%-,9#'8$%)5$%$S"&)"+9%D#$%8$)$2)".+%'+8%'1'#6%&*&)$6%).%'%C#'8$%]%\')$9.#*%W]>%

system, with smoke alarms in the entrance hall, living room, inner hall and bedrooms, 

and a heat alarm in the kitchen.

 Medium to long-term solutions

g% H.%D)%'+%'-).6')"2%&-,,#$&&".+%&*&)$6%).%2.;$#%)5$%1";"+9%#..67%3")25$+%'+8%$+)#'+2$%

hall.

g% To upgrade all remaining doors to FD20 standard.

   

Page 190



175          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

Case study: Three-storey leasehold block with uncooperative 
leaseholders 

F>V<>%H5$%01.23%"&%#-+%0*%'%#$&"8$+)&Z%6'+'9$6$+)%2.6,'+*%JIQ\L%:5"25%5'&%',,."+)$8%'%

6'+'9"+9%'9$+)7%:5.%'##'+9$&%(.#%'%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%).%0$%2'##"$8%.-)<%H5$%01.23%

:'&%0-"1)%"+%)5$%>??A&%.(%)#'8")".+'1%0-"18<%=)%5'&%)5#$$%4..#&%:")5%'%&"+91$%&)'"#2'&$%'+8%

(.-#%4')&%.+%$'25%4..#<%H5$%&)'"#:'*%1$'8&%).%'%D+'1%$S")%')%)5$%0'&$%.(%)5$%&)'"#&<

F>V<N%F%H*,$%>%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%:'&%2'##"$8%.-)<%H5$%,#.,$#)*%6'+'9$#%(#.6%)5$%'9$+)%

accompanied the assessor and after knocking on a lot of doors was able check on one 

4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#<%H5"&%:'&%(.-+8%).%0$%"+%9..8%2.+8")".+%D))$8%:")5%2.60"+$8%&6.3$%

seals and door closer. But it was noted that some other leaseholders had replaced their 

(#.+)%8..#&%:")5%+$:%cei\%8..#&%)5')%',,$'#$8%+.)%).%0$%D#$/#$&"&)"+9<

F>V<V%H5$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%(.-+8%'%#$'&.+'01$%&)'+8'#8%.(%2.6,'#)6$+)')".+%"+%2.66.+%

'#$'&<%K-&,$+8$8%2$"1"+9&%"+%2.66.+%,'#)&%'+8%'0.;$%2.##"8.#%D#$%8..#&%:$#$%1"()$8<%

Only minor openings around pipes and cables were found. The service cupboards were 

25$23$8%'+8%.+$%:'&%(.-+8%+.)%0$%1.23$8<%F%,#$/,'*6$+)%6$)$#%5'8%0$$+%"+&)'11$8%"+%

'%6$)$#%2-,0.'#8%0*%)5$%-)"1")*%2.6,'+*%:")5.-)%)5$%2.+&$+)%.(%)5$%IQ\<%F%,#'6%'+8%

0"2*21$%:$#$%0$"+9%&).#$8%.+%)5$%9#.-+8%4..#%1.00*<%b.%D#$%"+&)#-2)".+%+.)"2$&%:$#$%

displayed. The agent, having recently been appointed on a 12-month contract, was not 

aware of:

g% )5$%&)'+8'#8%.(%2.6,'#)6$+)')".+%"+&"8$%4')&

g% whether smoke alarms had been installed 

g% :5$+%)5$%1$'&$5.18$#&%:$#$%1'&)%9";$+%'+*%D#$%&'($)*%"+(.#6')".+<

F>V<U%!.11.:"+9%)5$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%)5$%'9$+)%,#$&$+)$8%)5$%D+8"+9&%).%)5$%8"#$2).#&%.(%)5$%

IQ\%'+8%)5$*%'9#$$8R

g% ).%,#.;"8$%'%9..8%&)'+8'#8%.(%D#$%&).,,"+9%).%'+*%.,$+"+9&%'#.-+8%2'01$&%'+8%,",$&%

"+%2.66.+%'#$'&%'0.;$%D#$%8..#&%'+8%:")5"+%&$#;"2$%#"&$#%2-,0.'#8&

g% '%a$#.%).1$#'+2$%,.1"2*%

g% that the agent would contact the lessee who owned the pram and bicycle and ask that 

they be removed from the common parts as an obstruction

g% that the agent would contact the utility company and the sub-tenant with the pre-

.;;1786S'LP

Page 191



176          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

,'*6$+)%6$)$#%'+8%'&3%(.#%")%).%0$%6.;$8%"+).%)5$%4')

g% )5')%)5$%'9$+)%:.-18%:#")$%).%)5$%#$1$;'+)%1$&&$$&%:")5%cei\%8..#&%).%,."+)%.-)%)5')%

)5$%1$&&$$&%&5.-18%25'+9$%)5$6%E%)5$%'9$+)%5'8%25$23$8%)5$%1$'&$&%'+8%(.-+8%)5')%

)5$%1$&&$$&%:$#$%#$&,.+&"01$%(.#%)5$%#$,'"#%'+8%#$,1'2$6$+)%.(%)5$%4')%$+)#'+2$%8..#&

g% D#$%"+&)#-2)".+%+.)"2$&%:.-18%0$%,#.;"8$8%'+8%21$'#1*%8"&,1'*$8%.+%$'25%4..#

g% )5')%)5$%'9$+)%:.-18%2.+)'2)%)5$%2.66-+")*%D#$%&$#;"2$%'+8%:#")$%).%'11%1$&&$$&%).%

$+2.-#'9$%)5$%"+&)'11')".+%.(%8.6$&)"2%&6.3$%'1'#6&%"+%'11%4')&

g% )5')%)5$%'9$+)%:.-18%&$+8%',,#.,#"')$%D#$%&'($)*%"+(.#6')".+%).%'11%#$&"8$+)&%

$S,1'"+"+9%)5$%Y&)'*%,-)Z%D#$%,.1"2*%"+%-&$%).9$)5$#%:")5%)5$%+$$8%(.#%9..8%

5.-&$3$$,"+9%'+8%&$2-#")*%0.)5%:")5"+%)5$%2.66.+%'#$'&%'+8%)5$%4')&<

F>V<O%H5$%'9$+)%:#.)$%).%)5$%):.%1$&&$$&%'0.-)%)5$"#%(#.+)%8..#&<%b.%#$,1"$&%:$#$%#$2$";$8<%

The agent followed up this letter with a further letter and then a visit to the lessees’ 

4')&<%H5$%'9$+)%8"&2.;$#$8%.+$%.(%)5$%1$&&$$&%5'8%&-01$)%)5$%4')%'+8%:'&%'0#.'8%')%

)5$%)"6$<%H5$%&-0/)$+'+)%"+%)5$%4')%:.-18%+.)%8$'1%:")5%)5$%"&&-$%.(%)5$%8..#<%H5$%'9$+)%

wrote again to the addresses he had for the lessees to state that unless the lessees 

took action then he would ask the directors to refer the matter to the relevant enforcing 

'-)5.#")*<%F()$#%+.)%9$))"+9%'+*%#$&,.+&$&%)5$%'9$+)%&.-95)%'8;"2$%'0.-)%:5$)5$#%).%

2.+)'2)%)5$%D#$%&$#;"2$%.#%)5$%1.2'1%$+;"#.+6$+)'1%5$'1)5%'-)5.#")*<%_")5%IQ\Z&%8"#$2).#&Z%

approval the agent invited the environmental health authority to inspect the doors as a 

6'))$#%2.;$#$8%0*%)5$%P.-&"+9%F2)%NAAU7%:")5%'%;"$:%).%$+(.#2$6$+)%'2)".+<%%%

 

Page 192



!"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')& 177

H5"&%91.&&'#*%&$)&%.-)%8$D+")".+&%).%'&&"&)%#$'8$#&%"+%-+8$#&)'+8"+9%&.6$%.(%)5$%)$25+"2'1%

)$#6&%-&$8%"+%)5"&%9-"8$<%=+%&.6$%2'&$&7%)5$%8$D+")".+&%#$1')$%&,$2"D2'11*%).%)5"&%9-"8$%

'+8%6'*%)5$#$(.#$%8"(($#%).%&.6$%8$9#$$%(#.6%6.#$%9$+$#"2'11*%',,1"2'01$%8$D+")".+&<%H5$%

8$D+")".+&%'#$%+.)%$S5'-&)";$<%Q.#$%,#$2"&$%8$D+")".+&%6'*%0$%';'"1'01$%"+%.)5$#%9-"8'+2$<

F22$&&%#..6 F%#..6%)5#.-95%:5"25%)5$%.+1*%$&2',$%#.-)$%(#.6%'+%"++$#%#..6%

passes.

F1)$#+')";$%$&2',$%

routes

B&2',$%#.-)$&%&-(D2"$+)1*%&$,'#')$8%0*%$")5$#%8"#$2)".+%'+8%

&,'2$7%.#%0*%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%2.+&)#-2)".+7%).%$+&-#$%)5')%.+$%"&%&)"11%

';'"1'01$7%"##$&,$2)";$%.(%)5$%1.2')".+%.(%'%D#$<%

FMi%J'-).6')"2'11*%

opening vent)

F%;$+)%,#.;"8$8%(.#%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%"+%2.66.+%,'#)&7%:5"25%.,$+&%

automatically when smoke is detected by smoke detectors.

F,,#.;$8%].2-6$+)%^ C-"8'+2$%"&&-$8%0*%)5$%9.;$#+6$+)%"+%&-,,.#)%.(%)5$%D#$%&'($)*%

aspects of the Building Regulations.

Cavity barrier F%2.+&)#-2)".+%,#.;"8$8%).%21.&$%'%2.+2$'1$8%&,'2$%'9'"+&)%

,$+$)#')".+%.(%&6.3$%.#%4'6$7%.#%,#.;"8$8%).%#$&)#"2)%)5$%

6.;$6$+)%.(%&6.3$%.#%4'6$%:")5"+%&-25%'%&,'2$<

\1-&)$#%4') F%4')%"+%6-1)",1$%.22-,')".+7%)*,"2'11*%.22-,"$8%0*%'%,'#)"2-1'#%

group of people, such as students or key workers.

Combustible material Q')$#"'1%)5')%2'+%0$%0-#+$8<

Common balcony F%:'13:'*7%.,$+%).%)5$%'"#%.+%.+$%.#%6.#$%&"8$&7%(.#6"+9%,'#)%.(%

)5$%$&2',$%#.-)$%(#.6%6.#$%)5'+%.+$%4')<

Common parts H5.&$%,'#)&%.(%'%01.23%.(%4')&%-&$8%0*%.22-,'+)&%.(%6.#$%)5'+%

.+$%4')%(.#%'22$&&%'+8%$9#$&&<

Competent person F%,$#&.+%:")5%$+.-95%)#'"+"+9%'+8%$S,$#"$+2$%.#%3+.:1$89$%'+8%

other qualities to enable them to properly assist in undertaking 

)5$%D#$%&'($)*%6$'&-#$&%#$2.66$+8$8%"+%)5"&%9-"8$<

Compartmentation K-0/8";"&".+%.(%'%0-"18"+9%0*%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%:'11&%.#%4..#&%(.#%)5$%

,-#,.&$%.(%1"6")"+9%D#$/&,#$'8%:")5"+%)5$%0-"18"+9<

Compartment wall or 

4..#

F%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%:'11%.#%4..#%)5')%&$,'#')$&%.+$%D#$%2.6,'#)6$+)%

from another.

Corridor access F%8$&"9+%.(%'%01.23%.(%4')&%"+%:5"25%$'25%4')%"&%',,#.'25$8%;"'%

'%2.66.+%5.#"a.+)'1%'22$&&%.#%2"#2-1')".+%&,'2$7%:5"25%6'*%

include a common entrance hall.

Dead end F#$'%(#.6%:5"25%$&2',$%"&%,.&&"01$%"+%.+$%8"#$2)".+%.+1*<

Glossary

Page 193



178          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

]$&)#-2)";$%D#$%#"&3%

assessment

F%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%"+%:5"257%0*%6$'+&%.(%8$&)#-2)";$%

$S,.&-#$7%'22$&&%"&%.0)'"+$8%).%;"$:%2.+2$'1$8%2.+&)#-2)".+<

Emergency escape 

lighting

Lighting that provides illumination for the safety of people leaving 

the building when the normal lighting fails.

Escape route Route forming part of the means of escape from any point in a 

0-"18"+9%).%)5$%D+'1%$S")<

Evacuation lift F%1"()%)5')%6'*%0$%-&$8%(.#%)5$%$;'2-')".+%.(%,$.,1$%:")5%

8"&'0"1")"$&7%.#%.)5$#&7%"+%'%D#$<

!"+'1%$S") F+%$S")%(#.6%'%0-"18"+9%(#.6%:5"25%,$.,1$%2'+%8"&,$#&$%"+%&'($)*7%

'+8%0$*.+8%:5"25%)5$*%'#$%+.%1.+9$#%')%8'+9$#%(#.6%D#$%.#%

smoke.

Fire compartment F%,'#)%.(%'%0-"18"+9%2.+&)#-2)$8%).%,#$;$+)%)5$%&,#$'8%.(%D#$%).%.#%

from another part of the building.

Fire damper Q$25'+"2'1%.#%"+)-6$&2$+)%8$;"2$%:")5"+%'%8-2)%.#%;$+)"1')".+%

.,$+"+97%:5"25%"&%.,$#')$8%'-).6')"2'11*%"+%)5$%$;$+)%.(%D#$7%).%

,#$;$+)%)5$%,'&&'9$%.(%D#$<%J_5$#$%)5$#$%"&%'%+$$8%).%,#$;$+)%

)5$%,'&&'9$%.(%&6.3$7%)5$%D#$%8'6,$#%+$$8&%).%&')"&(*%'88")".+'1%

criteria.)

!"#$/D95)"+9%1"() F%1"()7%8$&"9+$8%).%5';$%'88")".+'1%,#.)$2)".+7%:")5%2.+)#.1&%)5')%

$+'01$%")%).%0$%-&$8%-+8$#%)5$%8"#$2)%2.+)#.1%.(%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%

&$#;"2$%:5$+%D95)"+9%'%D#$<

!"#$/D95)"+9%&5'() F%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%$+21.&-#$%2.+)'"+"+9%'%D#$/D95)"+9%&)'"#7%D#$%6'"+&7%

D#$/D95)"+9%1.00"$&%'+87%"(%,#.;"8$87%'%D#$/D95)"+9%1"()<

Fire load Quantity of heat that could be released by the complete 

combustion of all the combustible materials in a space.

Fire main _')$#%&-,,1*%,",$%"+&)'11$8%"+%'%01.23%.(%4')&%(.#%D#$/D95)"+9%

,-#,.&$&7%D))$8%:")5%1'+8"+9%;'1;$&%')%&,$2"D2%,."+)&<%H5$%6'"+%

6'*%0$%Y8#*Z7%"+%:5"25%2'&$%")%"&%D))$8%:")5%"+1$)%2.++$2)".+&%')%D#$%

and rescue service access level, so that it can be charged with 

:')$#%(#.6%,-6,"+9%',,1"'+2$&<%=+%)'11%01.23&7%)5$%6'"+%"&%Y:$)Z%

and is permanently charged with water from a pressurised supply. 

Fire resistance The ability of a component or construction of a building to satisfy, 

for a stated period of time, some or all of the appropriate criteria 

.(%#$1$;'+)%D#$%)$&)%&)'+8'#8&<

Fire stopping F%&$'1%,#.;"8$8%).%21.&$%'+%"6,$#($2)".+%.(%D)%.#%8$&"9+%).1$#'+2$%

0$):$$+%$1$6$+)&%.#%2.6,.+$+)&7%).%#$&)#"2)%)5$%,'&&'9$%.(%D#$%

and smoke.

Fire-resisting door F%8..#7%).9$)5$#%:")5%")&%(#'6$%'+8%(-#+")-#$7%,#.;"8$8%(.#%)5$%

passage of people, which, when closed, is intended to restrict the 

,'&&'9$%.(%D#$%'+8%&6.3$%).%'%,#$8"2)'01$%1$;$1%.(%,$#(.#6'+2$<

Page 194



!"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')& 179

!"#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#%E%

b.)".+'1%!]VA%8..#

F%8..#%'&&$601*%)5')%&')"&D$8%)5$%2-##$+)%&,$2"D2')".+7%.#%D#$%

resistance test, for 30 minutes at the time of construction of a 

01.23%.(%4')&%.#%6'+-('2)-#$%.(%)5$%8..#<

!"#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#%E%

Replacement FD30S 

door

F%8..#%'&&$601*%)5')%5'&%0$$+%"+8$,$+8$+)1*%2$#)"D2')$8%0*%'%

cdFK/'22#$8")$8%D#$%)$&)%1'0.#').#*%'&%&')"&(*"+9%)5$%#$1$;'+)%)$&)%

requirements for 30 minutes integrity and control of the passage 

of smoke at ambient temperature.

!"#$/#$&"&)"+9%8..#%E%

c,9#'8$8%!]VAK%8..#

F%Y+.)".+'1%!]VAZ%8..#7%D))$8%:")5%"+)-6$&2$+)%&)#",&%'+8%&6.3$%

seals, and with any other necessary work carried out, such that 

it may reasonably be anticipated that it would satisfy the relevant 

test requirements for 30 minutes integrity and control of the 

passage of smoke at ambient temperature.

General needs block F%01.23%.(%4')&%"+)$+8$8%(.#%.22-,')".+%0*%6$60$#&%.(%)5$%

9$+$#'1%,-01"2%'+8%+.)%)5.&$%.(%'%&,$2"D2%8$6.9#',5"2%.#%

vulnerability.

Habitable room F%#..6%:")5"+%'%4')7%-&$87%.#%"+)$+8$8%).%0$%-&$87%(.#%8:$11"+9%

purposes (including a kitchen, but not a toilet or bathroom).

=++$#%#..6 F%#..6%(#.6%:5"25%$&2',$%"&%,.&&"01$%.+1*%0*%,'&&"+9%)5#.-95%

another room (the access room).

Q')$#"'1%'1)$#')".+ F+%'1)$#')".+%).%)5$%0-"18"+9%)5')%&"9+"D2'+)1*%'(($2)&%J-&-'11*%

lowering or with the potential to lower) the level of risk to people 

(#.6%D#$<

Q$'+&%.(%$&2',$ F%#.-)$J&L%,#.;"8$8%).%$+&-#$%&'($%$9#$&&%(#.6%)5$%,#$6"&$&%.#%

other locations to a place of total safety.

b.+/8$&)#-2)";$%D#$%#"&3%

assessment

F%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%)5')%8.$&%+.)%"+;.1;$%8$&)#-2)";$%$S,.&-#$%

(but normally will still involve opening a sample of accessible 

&$#;"2$%#"&$#%8..#&%'+87%(.#%$S'6,1$7%&'6,1$%"+&,$2)".+&%:5$#$%

feasible above accessible demountable ceilings and so forth 

without use of tools).

OV (Openable vent) F%;$+)%,#.;"8$8%(.#%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%"+%)5$%2.66.+%,'#)&7%:5"25%"&%

.,$+$8%0*%)5$%D#$%'+8%#$&2-$%&$#;"2$%0*%6$'+&%.(%5'#8:'#$%.#%'%

control (which may be located remotely) provided for the purpose.

Protected corridor or 

lobby

F%2.##"8.#%.#%1.00*%)5')%"&%'8$G-')$1*%,#.)$2)$8%(#.6%D#$%"+%

'8T."+"+9%'22.66.8')".+%0*%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%2.+&)#-2)".+<

Protected entrance hall 

or landing

F%2"#2-1')".+%'#$'%2.+&"&)"+9%.(%'%5'11%.#%&,'2$%"+%'%4')7%$+21.&$8%

"+%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%2.+&)#-2)".+%J.)5$#%)5'+%'+*%,'#)%)5')%"&%'+%

$S)$#+'1%:'11%.(%)5$%0-"18"+9L<

Protected route F+%$&2',$%#.-)$%)5')%"&%'8$G-')$1*%,#.)$2)$8%(#.6%)5$%#$&)%.(%)5$%

0-"18"+9%0*%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%2.+&)#-2)".+<

Page 195



180          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

Protected stairway F%&)'"#:'*%)5')%"&%'8$G-')$1*%,#.)$2)$8%(#.6%)5$%#$&)%.(%)5$%

0-"18"+9%0*%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%2.+&)#-2)".+<

PV (Permanent vent) F%,$#6'+$+)1*%.,$+%;$+)%,#.;"8$8%(.#%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%"+%)5$%

common parts.

Reasonably practicable 

measures

Q$'&-#$&%)5')%#$8-2$%D#$%#"&3%).%'+%$S)$+)%:5$#$%)5$%2.&)%'+8%

effort to reduce the risk further would be grossly disproportionate 

to the remaining risk.

Relevant person F+*%,$#&.+%1':(-11*%.+%)5$%,#$6"&$&%'+8%'+*%,$#&.+%"+%)5$%

"66$8"')$%;"2"+")*%J0-)%+.)%D#$/D95)$#&%2'##*"+9%.-)%.,$#')".+'1%

duties).

Self-closing device Device that is capable of closing a door from any angle and 

'9'"+&)%'+*%1')25%D))$8%).%)5$%8..#<

Sheltered housing F%01.23%.(%4')&%"+%:5"25%$'25%4')%"&%8$&"9+$8%'+8%2.+&)#-2)$8%

for the purpose of providing residential accommodation for 

vulnerable or elderly people, who receive, or are to receive, a 

support service.

Simultaneous 

evacuation

e#.2$8-#$%"+%:5"25%'11%,'#)&%.(%'%01.23%.(%4')&%'#$%$;'2-')$8%

(.11.:"+9%)5$%9";"+9%.(%'%2.66.+%'1'#6%.(%D#$<

Smoke alarm ]$;"2$%2.+)'"+"+9%:")5"+%.+$%5.-&"+9%'11%)5$%2.6,.+$+)&7%$S2$,)%

possibly the energy source, for detecting smoke and giving an 

audible alarm.

Smoke containment F%6$)5.8%.(%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%"+;.1;"+9%,5*&"2'1%0'##"$#&%).%)5$%

spread of smoke, usually in combination with vents, primarily to 

prevent the passage of smoke into escape stairways.

Smoke dispersal F%6$)5.8%.(%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%(#$G-$+)1*%-&$8%"+%.18$#%01.23&%.(%4')&%

at the time of their construction (but now deprecated). Vents were 

sited in such a way as to achieve uninterrupted natural cross-

ventilation of corridors and lobbies in an endeavour to dilute and 

disperse any smoke in these areas.

‘Stay put’ F+%$;'2-')".+%&)#')$9*%0'&$8%.+%)5$%,#"+2",1$%)5')%.+1*%)5$%

#$&"8$+)&%.(%)5$%4')%.(%D#$%.#"9"+%+$$8%).%$&2',$%"+")"'11*7%:5"1$%

.)5$#%#$&"8$+)&%6'*%#$6'"+%"+%)5$"#%.:+%4')&<

Travel distance (within 

'%&,$2"D$8%'#$'7%&-25%

'&%'%4')7%)5$%5'11:'*%

.(%'%4')%.#%'%2.66.+%

corridor)

The actual distance to be travelled by a person from any point 

:")5"+%)5$%&,$2"D$8%'#$'7%).%)5$%+$'#$&)%$S")%1$'8"+9%).%'%,1'2$%.(%

relative safety in which the person is in no immediate danger from 

D#$<

c+;$+)"1')$8%2.##"8.#%.#%

lobby

Corridor or lobby with no vents or other means of smoke control.

Ventilated corridor or 

lobby

Corridor or lobby with means of smoke control.

Page 196



!"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')& 181

Legislation

‘The Regulatory Reform’ (Fire Safety) Order 2005 

5)),Rll:::<1$9"&1')".+<9.;<-3l-3&"lNAAOl>OU>l2.+)$+)&l6'8$

‘Building Regulations 2000’ (superseded) 

5)),Rll:::<1$9"&1')".+<9.;<-3l-3&"lNAAAlNOV>l2.+)$+)&l6'8$

‘Building Regulations 2010’ 

5)),Rll:::<1$9"&1')".+<9.;<-3l-3&"lNA>AlNN>Ul2.+)$+)&l6'8$

Y^-"18"+9%F2)%>?`UZ 

5)),Rll:::<1$9"&1')".+<9.;<-3l-3,9'l>?`UlOO

YP.-&"+9%F2)%NAAUZ 

5)),Rll:::<1$9"&1')".+<9.;<-3l-3,9'lNAAUlVUl2.+)$+)&

YH5$%\.+&)#-2)".+Z%J]$&"9+%'+8%Q'+'9$6$+)L%I$9-1')".+&%NAAX 

5)),Rll:::<1$9"&1')".+<9.;<-3l-3&"lNAAXlVNAl2.+)$+)&l6'8$

Guidance on legislation

PQ%C.;$#+6$+)%C-"8$%Y!"#$%&'($)*%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)R%&1$$,"+9%'22.66.8')".+Z7%]$,'#)6$+)%

(.#%\.66-+")"$&%'+8%W.2'1%C.;$#+6$+)%J]\WCL7%Q'*%NAA@< 

5)),Rll:::<2.66-+")"$&<9.;<-3l8.2-6$+)&lD#$l,8(l>O>VV?<,8(

YF,,#.;$8%8.2-6$+)%^R%!"#$%&'($)*Z%Ji.1-6$%NL7%]$,'#)6$+)%(.#%\.66-+")"$&%'+8%W.2'1%

C.;$#+6$+)%J]\WCL7%F,#"1%NAAX< 

5)),Rll:::<2'+)$#0-#*<9.;<-3l'&&$)&l0-"18"+92.+)#.1l',,#.;$8/8.2-6$+)/0/;.1N/NAA@'<,8(

YP.-&"+9%5$'1)5%'+8%&'($)*%#')"+9%&*&)$6%E%9-"8'+2$%(.#%1'+81.#8&%'+8%,#.,$#)*%#$1')$8%

,#.($&&".+'1&Z7%]$,'#)6$+)%(.#%\.66-+")"$&%'+8%W.2'1%C.;$#+6$+)%J]\WCL7%Q'*%NAA@< 

5)),Rll:::<2.66-+")"$&<9.;<-3l8.2-6$+)&l5.-&"+9l,8(l>OA?UA<,8(

YP.-&"+9%E%D#$%&'($)*R%9-"8'+2$%.+%D#$%&'($)*%,#.;"&".+&%(.#%2$#)'"+%)*,$&%.(%$S"&)"+9%5.-&"+9Z7%

W.2'1%F-)5.#")"$&%\..#8"+').#&%.(%I$9-1').#*%K$#;"2$&%JWF\.IKL7%J+.:%3+.:+%'&%W.2'1%

C.;$#+6$+)%I$9-1')".+L7%"+%,'#)+$#&5",%:")5%)5$%\5"$(%!"#$%M(D2$#&Z%F&&.2"')".+%'+8%)5$%

\5'#)$#$8%=+&)")-)$%.(%B+;"#.+6$+)'1%P$'1)57%h-1*%NAA`< 

5)),Rll:::<1'2.#&<9.;<-3l1'2.#&lb$:&F#)"21$]$)'"1&<'&,S["8n>?`UU

<6!"6#B-*;9=

Page 197



182          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

5)),Rll:::<1'+81.#8a.+$<2.<-3l,8(l!"#$K'($)*<,8(

Ye#.).2.1%0$):$$+%W.2'1%P.-&"+9%F-)5.#")"$&%'+8%!"#$%'+8%I$&2-$%F-)5.#")"$&%).%"6,#.;$%D#$%

safety’, October 2010. 

5)),Rll:::<1'2.#&<9.;<-3l1'2.#&l-,1.'8lNOU@N<,8(

Ye#.).2.1%0$):$$+%W.2'1%P.-&"+9%F-)5.#")"$&%'+8%!"#$%'+8%I$&2-$%F-)5.#")"$&%).%"6,#.;$%D#$%

safety’, 2007. 

5)),Rll:::<1'2.#&<9.;<-3l1'2.#&l-,1.'8lNOU@V<,8(

Other guidance

YB1$2)#"2'1%K'($)*%"+%\.66-+'1%F#$'&%.(%I$&"8$+)"'1%e#.,$#)"$&Z<%H5$%B1$2)#"2'1%K'($)*%

Council, 2011.  

5)),Rll:::<$&2<.#9<-3l-,1.'8&l)Ss$&2;"8$.1"0lD1$8.:+1.'8l\.66-+'1sF#$'&sBK\s.+1"+$/

;$#&".+sAN<,8(

Y!"#$%&'($)*%"+%2.+&)#-2)".+%E%C-"8'+2$%(.#%21"$+)&7%8$&"9+$#&%'+8%)5.&$%6'+'9"+9%'+8%

2'##*"+9%.-)%2.+&)#-2)".+%:.#3%"+;.1;"+9%&"9+"D2'+)%D#$%#"&3&Z<%P$'1)5%'+8%K'($)*%BS$2-)";$7%Nnd 

edition, 2010. 

5)),Rll:::<5&$<9.;<-3l,-0+&l,#"2$8l5&9>@`<,8(

British Standards

^#")"&5%K)'+8'#8%2.8$%.(%,#'2)"2$%Y\eV%25',)$#%=iR%,#$2'-)".+&%'9'"+&)%D#$Z7%>?U`7%

(superseded)

^#")"&5%K)'+8'#8%2.8$%.(%,#'2)"2$%Y\eV%25',)$#%=i%,'#)%>R%,#$2'-)".+&%'9'"+&)%D#$Z7%>?@N7%

(superseded)

^#")"&5%K)'+8'#8%2.8$%.(%,#'2)"2$%Y\eV%25',)$#%=i%,'#)%>R%,#$2'-)".+&%'9'"+&)%D#$Z7%>?X>7%

(superseded)

^K%ON@@/>R%NAAO7%Y\.8$%.(%,#'2)"2$%(.#%)5$%$6$#9$+2*%1"95)"+9%.(%,#$6"&$&Z

^K%ON@@/XR%>???7%YW"95)"+9%',,1"2')".+&%E%$6$#9$+2*%1"95)"+9Z

^K%ON@@/`R%NAAU7%YB6$#9$+2*%$&2',$%1"95)"+9%&*&)$6&Z

^K%Bb%>@VU/>R%NAA`7%Y!"#$%#$&"&)'+2$%'+8%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%)$&)&%(.#%8..#7%&5-))$#%'+8%.,$+'01$%

window assemblies and elements of building hardware, Fire resistance tests for doors, 

shutters and openable windows’

Page 198



183          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

^K%Bb%>@VU/NR%NAA`7%Y!"#$%#$&"&)'+2$%'+8%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%)$&)&%(.#%8..#7%&5-))$#%'+8%.,$+'01$%

window assemblies and elements of building hardware, Fire resistance characterisation test 

for elements of building hardware’

^K%Bb%>@VU/VR%NAAU7%Y!"#$%#$&"&)'+2$%'+8%&6.3$%2.+)#.1%)$&)&%(.#%8..#7%&5-))$#%'+8%.,$+'01$%

window assemblies and elements of building hardware, smoke control test for door and 

shutter assemblies’

^K%Bb%>NU`OR%NAAU7%Y!"S$8%D#$/D95)"+9%&*&)$6&%E%'-).6')"2%&,#"+31$#%&*&)$6&%E%8$&"9+7%

installation and maintenance’

^K%Bb%@NVAO/NR%NAA@7%Ye#.)$2)".+%'9'"+&)%1"95)+"+97%#"&3%6'+'9$6$+)Z

^K%Bb%@NVAO/VR%NAA@7%Ye#.)$2)".+%'9'"+&)%1"95)+"+97%,5*&"2'1%8'6'9$%).%&)#-2)-#$&%'+8%1"($%

5'a'#8Z

^K%UX@/NNR%>?`X7%Y!"#$%)$&)&%.+%0-"18"+9%6')$#"'1&%'+8%&)#-2)-#$&7%6$)5.8&%(.#%8$)$#6"+')".+%

.(%)5$%D#$%#$&"&)'+2$%.(%+.+/1.'8/0$'#"+9%$1$6$+)&%.(%2.+&)#-2)".+Z

^K%OVA@/VR%NAA?7%Y!"#$%$S)"+9-"&5"+9%"+&)'11')".+&%'+8%$G-",6$+)%.+%,#$6"&$&7%

2.66"&&".+"+9%'+8%6'"+)$+'+2$%.(%,.#)'01$%D#$%$S)"+9-"&5$#&7%2.8$%.(%,#'2)"2$Z

^K%OUU@/VR%NAAO7%Y!"#$%8$)$2)".+%'+8%D#$%'1'#6%8$;"2$&%(.#%8:$11"+9&7%&,$2"D2')".+%(.#%&6.3$%

alarm kits for deaf and hard of hearing people’

BS 5588-1: 1990, ‘Fire precautions in the design, construction and use of buildings. Code of 

practice for residential buildings’ (in the course of revision)

^K%O`V?/>R%NAAN7%Y!"#$%8$)$2)".+%'+8%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&%(.#%0-"18"+9&7%2.8$%.(%,#'2)"2$%(.#%

system design, installation, commissioning and maintenance’

^K%O`V?/@R%NAAU7%Y!"#$%8$)$2)".+%'+8%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&%(.#%0-"18"+9&7%2.8$%.(%,#'2)"2$%(.#%)5$%

8$&"9+7%"+&)'11')".+%'+8%6'"+)$+'+2$%.(%D#$%8$)$2)".+%'+8%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&%"+%8:$11"+9&Z

^K%XNXV/UR%NAAX%Y\.8$%.(%,#'2)"2$%(.#%)5$%.,$#')".+%.(%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%6$'&-#$&7%'2)-')".+%.(%

release mechanisms for doors’

BS 9251: 2005, ‘Sprinkler systems for residential and domestic occupancies, code of 

practice’

^K%???AR%NAA@7%Y\.8$%.(%,#'2)"2$%(.#%+.+/'-).6')"2%D#$/D95)"+9%&*&)$6&%"+%0-"18"+9&Z

^K%????R%NAA`7%Y\.8$%.(%,#'2)"2$%(.#%D#$%&'($)*%"+%)5$%8$&"9+7%6'+'9$6$+)%'+8%-&$%.(%

buildings’

]]%`U`?/>R%NA>>7%Y!"S$8%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%&*&)$6&7%=+8-&)#"'1%'+8%2.66$#2"'1%:')$#6"&)%

systems, code of practice for design and installation’

Page 199



184          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

]]%`U`O/>R%NA>A7%Y!"S$8%D#$%,#.)$2)".+%&*&)$6&7%#$&"8$+)"'1%'+8%8.6$&)"2%:')$#%6"&)%

systems, code of practice for design and installation’

^#")"&5%K)'+8'#8&%=+&)")-)".+%,-01"2')".+

eFK%X?R%NAAX7%Y!"#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%E%C-"8'+2$%'+8%'%#$2.66$+8$8%6$)5.8.1.9*7%^K=7%

2007.’

Other guidance

YB1$2)#"2'1%K'($)*%"+%\.66-+'1%F#$'&%.(%I$&"8$+)"'1%e#.,$#)"$&Z7%)5$%B1$2)#"2'1%K'($)*%\.-+2"17%

2011.

Y!"#$%&'($)*%"+%2.+&)#-2)".+%E%9-"8'+2$%(.#%21"$+)&7%8$&"9+$#&%'+8%)5.&$%6'+'9"+9%'+8%2'##*"+9%

.-)%2.+&)#-2)".+%:.#3%"+;.1;"+9%&"9+"D2'+)%D#$%#"&3&Z7%P$'1)5%'+8%K'($)*%BS$2-)";$7%&$2.+8%

edition, 2010.

Y!"#$%,#$;$+)".+%.+%2.+&)#-2)".+%&")$&%E%)5$%T."+)%2.8$%.(%,#'2)"2$%.+%)5$%,#.)$2)".+%(#.6%D#$%

of construction sites and buildings undergoing renovation’ (seventh edition), Fire Protection 

F&&.2"')".+%e-01"2')".+&7%NAA?<

Y\.8$%.(%,#'2)"2$R%I$(-#0"&56$+)%.(%2.66-+'1%0-"18"+9&%'+8%)5$%D#$%#"&3%.(%6-1)"/1'*$#%,'"+)&Z7%

_'##"+9).+D#$7%NAAO

H5$%=+&)")-)".+%.(%B+9"+$$#"+9%'+8%H$25+.1.9*%J=BHL%
publications

‘Code of practice for the in-service inspection and testing of electrical equipment’, third 

$8")".+7%=BH7%NAA`<

YI$G-"#$6$+)&%(.#%$1$2)#"2'1%"+&)'11')".+&R%=BB%:"#"+9%#$9-1')".+&Z7%>X)5%$8")".+%J^K%X@X>R%

NAA`L<%=BH7%NAA`

Y=BH%C-"8'+2$%b.)$%VR%=+&,$2)".+%'+8%H$&)"+9Z7%O)5%$8")".+7%=BH7%NAA`

Page 200



185          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

F

F22$&&%(.#%D#$/D95)$#&%NV7%OU7%?A7%?>7%>A@7%>>A7%>>@7%>NA7%>N>7%>VN

F1'#6&%J&$$%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&L

F1)$#')".+&%>`7%VU7%VO7%U?7%?U7%>>N7%>>U7%>N>7%>N?/>VA7%>V>7%F,,$+8"S%>

F+)"/&.2"'1%0$5';".-#%OV7%OO7%O?7%@>7%>NX

FMi&%J'-).6')"2'11*%.,$+"+9%;$+)&L%`@7%`?7%?O7%?@7%?X7%>>O7%>NV7%F,,$+8"2$&%X7%?

F,,#.;$8%,#.8-2)&%'+8%&$#;"2$&%J&$$%)5"#8/,'#)*%2$#)"D2')".+L

F#&.+%O>7%OV7%O?7%>NX7%F,,$+8"S%N

F&&$601*%,."+)%>>`7%F,,$+8"S%N

F-).6')"2%D#$%8$)$2)".+%&*&)$6&%J&$$%'1&.%D#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&L%XN7%X@7%`V7%?U7%?O7%?@

F-).6')"2%D#$%&-,,#$&&".+%&*&)$6&%J&$$%D#$%&-,,#$&&".+%&*&)$6&L%NN7%X@7%`>7%`V7%?U7%

F,,$+8"S%>N

B

^-"18"+9%I$9-1')".+&%>N7%>U7%NO7%VN7%VU7%VO/V@7%V`7%UV7%XA7%X?7%>N?7%F,,$+8"2$&%>7%N7%@

C

\'#%,'#3&%N@7%`O7%`?

Cavity barriers 87, 111, 130

\1'88"+9%J&$$%$S)$#+'1%21'88"+9L

\.6,'#)6$+)')".+%NN7%N`7%N?7%VA7%V>7%UO7%@@7%X>/XO7%>AU7%>A@7%>N@7%F,,$+8"2$&%>7%N7%V7%@7%X7%

9, 10, 13

\.6,$)$+2$%U>7%U`7%>>`7%F,,$+8"S%V

\.6,$)$+)%,$#&.+%OA7%@V7%>>U7%>NN7%F,,$+8"2$&%N7%V7%@

\.+&)#-2)".+7%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%NA7%NV7%NO7%X`7%`O7%>AV7%>A@7%F,,$+8"S%N

\.+)#'2).#&%VA7%VU7%V`7%UO7%U@7%OA7%OV7%@V7%@U7%@O7%>N>7%>NN7%>NU7%>NO7%>NX7%>N?7%F,,$+8"2$&%

2, 9

J781S

Page 201



186          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

D

]$'8%$+8&%NO7%VN7%@A7%`@7%>AA7%F,,$+8"S%>

]$&)#-2)";$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%U>7%UV7%U@7%OA7%XV

Disability (see people with special needs)

]"&'01$8%N>7%N@7%UX7%O?7%X@7%>A?7%>NA7%>VN7%F,,$+8"2$&%>7%N7%V7%@

Doors

signs 101

4')%$+)#'+2$%NU7%NO7%N@7%VO7%VX7%V?/UA7%UV7%UO7%ON7%OO7%@@7%XA7%X@7%XX7%X`7%X?7%`A7%`N7%`X7%

`?7%?>7%?@7%>AA7%>A>7%>AV7%>AO7%>A@7%>A?7%>>A7%>N`7%>VA7%F,,$+8"2$&%>7%X7%`7%?7%>A7%>N7%>V

D#$/#$&"&)"+9%NO7%VO7%UA7%UV7%U@7%OU7%XA7%XN7%XX7%X`7%X?7%`U7%`?7%?>7%?N7%?U7%?@/>AA7%>A>7%

>A?7%>>N7%>NO/>N@7%F,,$+8"2$&%>7%`7%>A7%>>7%>N7%>V

6'"+)$+'+2$%V@7%VX7%V?7%UA

&$1(/21.&"+9%8$;"2$&%NO7%VO7%UA7%UV7%OU7%@@7%XA7%X?7%`U7%`?7%?>7%?`7%??7%>AA7%>AN7%>AO7%>A@7%

>A`7%>A?7%>NO7%>N`7%>VA7%F,,$+8"2$&%>7%`7%>V

]#*%#"&$#%J&$$%D#$%6'"+&L%

]#*%#"&"+9%6'"+&%J&$$%D#$%6'"+&L

E

B1$2)#"2'1%5'a'#8&%@N/@U

B1$2)#"2'1%&'($)*%>>@

Emergency lighting (see emergency escape lighting)

B6$#9$+2*%$&2',$%1"95)"+9%VA7%V`7%@X7%>AN%

 tests, checks and maintenance 122-123

B6$#9$+2*%,1'+&%V`7%UU7%>>`7%F,,$+8"S%N

Escape lighting (see emergency escape lighting)

Escape routes 

'1)$#+')";$%$S")&%NA7%NN7%NV/N@7%@@7%X@7%XX7%`A/`>7%`N7%>A>7%>AO7%>A`7%F,,$+8"2$&%>>7%>N%

capacity 85

2.##"8.#&%NV7%NU7%NO7%@A7%@>7%X@7%`A7%`U7%`O7%`@7%`X7%`?7%?A7%?>7%?O7%?@7%?X7%??7%>AA7%>AN7%

>AV7%>A@7%>A?7%F,,$+8"S%>

8$'8%$+8&%NO7%VN7%@A7%`@7%>AA7%F,,$+8"S%>

emergency lighting (see emergency escape lighting)

"++$#%#..6&%XO/X@7%X?7%>VA7%F,,$+8"S%>N

Page 202



187          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

1.00"$&%NO7%VA7%@>7%X@7%XX7%`A7%`U7%`O7%`@7%`X7%`?7%?A7%?>7%?O7%?@7%?X7%??7%>AA7%>AN7%>AV7%

>A@7%>A?7%F,,$+8"2$&%>7%X7%?7%>A7%>V%

.0&)#-2)".+&%OO7%O`7%O?7%@>7%>N@

#..(%$S")&%X@7%`A7%?>/?U7%>A>7%>AN7%F,,$+8"S%>

&"9+&%'+8%+.)"2$&%VA7%V`7%ON7%@X7%?U7%>A>/>AN

)#';$1%8"&)'+2$%NO7%VN7%@@7%XX7%X`7%X?7%`>7%`N7%`U7%`X7%`?7%?A7%?>7%?U7%?O7%?@7%?X7%>AA7%>A`7%

>A?7%F,,$+8"2$&%>7%`7%?

B;'2-')".+%&)#')$9*%NX7%N`7%N?7%VA7%OO7%`O7%>>V7%>>@

BS)$#+'1%21'88"+9%@X7%>>>%%

BS)$#+'1%D#$/&,#$'8%@X7%>>>%

BS)"+9-"&5$#&%VA7%UV7%@X7%>AU/>AO7%>>@7%>>X7%>>`7%>N>7%>NV

BS)#'%2'#$%&5$1)$#$8%5.-&"+9%>AX7%>VN

BS)#'2)%&*&)$6&%N@7%VN7%UA7%@U7%@O7%XV7%>NV7%F,,$+8"2$&%X7%`7%?

F

!"#$%'2)".+%+.)"2$&%V`7%>>@7%>>`7%>>?7%>N`7%F,,$+8"S%O

!"#$%'1'#6%&*&)$6&%NN7%N`/N?7%VO7%V`7%UV7%UU7%@X7%XN7%?U7%>AV/>AU7%>AX7%>A`7%>>U7%>>O7%>>@7%

>>X7%>>`7%>>?7%>NN7%>NV7%F,,$+8"2$&%>7%N7%V7%@7%X7%`7%?7%>A

tests and checks 123

Fire blankets 30, 105, 123

Fire dampers 74, 75, 124

Fire detection and alarm systems !"##$%&#$'('&)$"*"+#)",

Fire drills 118

!"#$%$S)"+9-"&5$#%(see extinguishers)

!"#$/D95)"+9%1"()&%(see lifts)

Fire doors !"##$-..&"/$%&#0&#"1"+123,

!"#$%$+9"+$$#"+9%VN7%X@7%>NV7%>V>

!"#$%$S")%&"9+&%VA7%V`7%@X7%>A>7%>AN7%>N`

!"#$%1.'8%O?7%@>

!"#$%6'"+&%VA7%?>7%>>A7%>>@7%>N>7%>NO7%>N`7%>VN%%

Fire procedure notices !"##$%&#$'4+1.2$2.+14#",

Fire procedures 112, 115, 118

Fire resisting doors !"##$-..&"/$%&#0&#"1"+123,

Page 203



188          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

!"#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%N>7%N`7%N?7%VN7%VU7%V@7%V?7%U>/OA7%ON7%O`7%O?7%@A7%@O7%@`7%@?7%X>7%XV7%?U7%

>AU7%>AX7%>A?7%>>N7%>>V7%>>@7%>>`7%>NO7%>N@7%>N`7%>V>7%F,,$+8"2$&%>7%N7%V7%X7%`7%?7%>>7%>N7%>V%

!"#$%&'($)*%'-8")%>N`7%F,,$+8"S%N

Fire safety management 51, Part G 112-132

Fire Safety Order (see Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005)

!"#$%&).,,"+9%UO7%XV7%F,,$+8"S%?7%>V

!"#$%&-,,#$&&".+%&*&)$6&%NN7%XN7%X@7%`>7%`V7%?U7%>NU7%F,,$+8"S%>N

!"#$/D95)"+9%$G-",6$+)%'+8%('2"1")"$&

'22$&&%(.#%D#$/D95)$#&%!"##$'44#""$5.&$%&#0%36+#&",

$S)"+9-"&5$#&%(see extinguishers)

D#$/D95)"+9%1"()&%!"##$(15+"/$%&#0%36+123,

D#$%6'"+&%!"##$%&#$)'12",

FSO (see Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005)

G

C1'a"+97%D#$/#$&"&)"+9%N@7%?>7%>AA7%>N`%F,,$+8"S%>7%?7%>>

H

P$')"+9%N@7%U@7%O>7%@U/@O7%F,,$+8"S%N

P"95/#"&$%01.23&%>`7%NA/N>7%@X7%X>7%>>>7%>V>7%F,,$+8"2$&%>7%@%

P.&$%#$$1&%@X7%>AU

P.-&"+9%F2)%NAAU%VU7%V@/VX7%V?7%UA7%U@7%F,,$+8"S%>V

P.-&$3$$,"+9%O>7%OO/@>7%>>X7%F,,$+8"S%N

=

=9+")".+%&.-#2$&%OV7%OO7%O`7%e'#)%B%O>/@O

d

d")25$+&%%N@7%UA7%@U7%XV7%XU7%X@7%XX7%X`7%X?7%?@7%>AX7%F,,$+8"2$&%>7%@7%`7%?7%>N%%

L

W$'&$&%VX7%UA7%U@7%OU7%>AO7%>>O7%>NO7%>N?7%F,,$+8"2$&%@7%X7%?7%>V

W$'&$5.18%4')&%UA7%U@7%@O7%XO7%>>V7%>NO7%F,,$+8"S%>V

Lifts 

Page 204



189          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

evacuation 109  

D#$/D95)"+9%>>A7%>NO7%>VA7%>VN7%F,,$+8"S%N

W"95)+"+9%O>7%@O7%F,,$+8"S%N

Linings !"##$"7&5'4#$%21"6#",

Low-rise blocks 20, 21, 49, 72, 102, 131  

Q

Q'"+)$+'+2$%VV7%VU7%VO7%VX7%V`7%UA7%UN7%UV7%UU7%U@7%U?7%O>7%@U7%@O7%@X7%@?7%?X7%>>A7%>>N7%>>V7%

>>U7%>>O7%>N>7%>NN/>N@7%>V>7%F,,$+8"2$&%N7%@7%X%

emergency escape lighting 122-123

$S)$#+'1%D#$%$&2',$%#.-)$&%>N@

D#$%8'6,$#&%>NU

D#$%8$)$2)".+%'+8%:'#+"+9%&*&)$6&%>NV/>NU

D#$%8..#&%>NO/>N@

D#$%$S)"+9-"&5$#&%>NV

D#$/D95)"+9%1"()&%>NO

D#$%6'"+&%>NO

D#$%&-,,#$&&".+%&*&)$6&%>NU

smoke control 124

Q'+'9$8%-&$%J.(%2.66.+%,'#)&L%O>7%O`7%O?/@>7%@N7%>NX

Q$'+&%.(%$&2',$%NA7%NN7%NV/NO7%VO7%V`7%UU7%U@7%XU7%XO/`U7%`O7%?A7%?U7%>AU7%>A@7%>A`7%>A?7%

>>X7%>NV7%F,,$+8"S%>

Q.0"1")*%&2..)$#&%OX7%O?7%@A7%@>7%>N`

b

b.+/8$&)#-2)";$%D#$%#"&3%'&&$&&6$+)%UO7%U@

O

Mi&%J.,$+'01$%;$+)&L%`@7%``7%`?7%?X7%>NV7%>NX

Overcladding (see external cladding)

P

e$.,1$%:")5%&,$2"'1%+$$8&%N>7%UX7%O?7%X@7%>A?7%>>`7%>NA7%>VN7%F,,$+8"2$&%>7%N7%V7%@

Personal emergency evacuation plans (PEEPs) 120

Page 205



190          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

e.#)'01$%',,1"'+2$%)$&)"+9%JeFHL%@N7%@V

e#$6"&$&%"+(.#6')".+%0.S%>NA

Protected

\.##"8.#%`U7%`X7%`?7%>AV7%F,,$+8"S%>

W.00*%`U7%`X7%`?7%>AN7%>AV7%>AX7%>A?7%F,,$+8"S%>

K)'"#:'*%VA7%X@7%`O7%`@7%>AV7%>A?7%>>A7%F,,$+8"S%>

ei&%J,$#6'+$+)%;$+)&L%`@7%`?7%>N?

R

Rainscreen cladding (see external cladding)

Record-keeping 39, 47, 112, 131 

Refuge areas 109

I$2*21"+9%@>/@N

I$9-1').#*%I$(.#6%J!"#$%K'($)*L%M#8$#%NAAO%VU7%VX/V?7%UA7%U>7%UN7%UV7%UU7%UO7%U@7%UX7%U?7%OA7%

>>N7%>>V7%>>U7%>>O7%>>`7%>N`7%>V>7%F,,$+8"2$&%N7%V

Relevant persons 38, 43

I"&$#&%NO7%N@7%UV7%UO7%@>7%@U7%XN7%`U7%>N@7%F,,$+8"2$&%`7%?

Rising mains !"##$%&#$)'12",

I..(%$S")&%(see escape roofs, roof exits)

S

K$2-#")*%O>7%OV7%OU7%OO7%@>7%>AO/>A@

K5$1)$#$8%5.-&"+9%NO7%N?7%VX7%O@7%@O7%@X7%>AV7%>AO7%>AX/>A`7%>>`7%>>?7%>NA7%>NX7%>V>

% $S)#'%2'#$%%>AX7%>V>

K5-+)%8-2)&%XV7%F,,$+8"S%>

Signs !"##$%&#$#81+$"132",

Signs and notices !"##$%&#$#8+$"132",

K"6-1)'+$.-&%$;'2-')".+%N`7%N?7%`O7%>>@7%F,,$+8"S%O

Smoke

2.+)#.1%NO7%N?7%V>7%VN7%VV7%VO7%V`7%@N7%`O/`@7%`X7%`?7%?U7%?O7%?@7%?X7%?`7%>>A7%>NV7%

F,,$+8"2$&%>7%N7%X7%`7%?7%>A7%>V

detection !9##$'7+.)'+14$%&#$-#+#4+1.2$"*"+#)",

K6.3$%'1'#6&%>`7%>?7%N>7%NN7%N`/N?7%VN7%U@7%@X7%XX7%>AV7%>AU7%>A`7%>>@7%>NU7%F,,$+8"2$&%>7%

N7%U7%@7%X7%`7%>A7%>>7%>N7%>V

Page 206



191          !"#$%&'($)*%"+%,-#,.&$/0-"1)%01.23&%.(%4')&

K6.3"+9%ON/OV7%>N`7%F,,$+8"S%N

K,#"+31$#&%VN7%XN7%X@7%`>7%`V7%>AV7%>NU7%F,,$+8"2$&%>7%N7%>A

K)'((%)#'"+"+9%OA7%>>N7%>>X/>>`7%>V>7%F,,$+8"S%N

Stairways

Escape (see protected stairway)

BS)$#+'1%NO7%X@7%`A7%`U7%?>7%>AN7%>N@/>NX7%F,,$+8"S%>

Stay put

e.1"2*%NA7%NN7%NX/N?7%UA7%O?7%@X7%>A@7%>AX7%>>V7%>>O7%>>@7%>>`7%F,,$+8"2$&%>7%V7%O7%@7%X7%`7%

9, 10, 13 

K).#'9$%OV7%OX7%@A7%@>7%@U7%X>7%`O7%>AN7%>N`7%F,,$+8"S%N

K-,,#$&&".+%&*&)$6&%NN7%XN7%X@7%`>7%`V7%?U7%>NU7%F,,$+8"S%>N

K-#('2$%D+"&5$&%`@7%>>>

T

H5"#8/,'#)*%2$#)"D2')".+%@@7%X>7%>NN7%F,,$+8"2$&%V7%@

Timber frame 130

Travel distance (see escape routes, travel distance)

V

Ventilation

0')5#..6%$S)#'2)%N@7%UA7%@U7%XV7%XU

3")25$+%$S)#'2)%N@7%UA7%@U7%XV7%XU

smoke control (see smoke control)

&*&)$6&%UA7%O>7%@U7%@@7%XV7%XU

W

Water mist !"##$'(".$%&#$"7::&#""1.2$"*"+#),$32, 83, 124

Z

t$#.%).1$#'+2$%O>7%O`/O?7%@A

Page 207



a#$*"'G#C1-7:17+'G-#3; 

Local Government House 

Smith Square 

London SW1P 3HZ

H$1$,5.+$%ANA%X@@U%VAAA 

!'S%ANA%X@@U%VAVA 

Email info@local.gov.uk 

www.local.gov.uk

u%W.2'1%C.;$#+6$+)%C#.-,7%h-1*%NA>> 

 

For a copy in Braille, Welsh, larger print or  

'-8".7%,1$'&$%2.+)'2)%-&%.+%ANA%X@@U%VAAA< 

We consider requests on an individual basis. 
 
L11-335 Page 208



Fire safety review for purpose-built flats 
9th Sept 2011 

CR1 
 

Attendance: Tina Mustafa (TM), Paul Weston (PW), Lee Birch (LB), John Murden (JM), 
John Bakewell (JB), Carly Glover (CG), Lisa Hall (LH), Leanne Allwood (LA), Trevor Wylie 
(TW) 

 
Corporate Colleagues and Consultees:-  Steve Langston, Jason Hodges, Sue Philp 
 
Minutes of meeting 

 

 Action by 

Part A: Fires in flats and their impact 
 

 
High rise 
 
Discussion on previous communications to tenants 
(leaflets/booklets/Open House). 
 
Existing literature on stay put procedures to be re-distributed 
 
Further communications required on fire safety in particular reference to 
fire doors. LA to reference in Annual Report / Open House 
 
Recycling in the high rise 
 
Temporary suspension of recycling collection in high rise blocks due to 
fire risk posed by tenants leaving items in communal areas.  Pilot being 
undertaken by Street Scene 
 
Community meeting involving fire service, housing and residents to be 
scheduled to communicate requirements to residents. 
 
Future methods of recycling currently being investigated (waste 
management) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
LA 
 
 
LA 
 
 
 
 
Street 
Scene 
 
 
LH 
 
NH 

 
Part B: How blocks of flats differ from other residences 
 

 
 
Sheltered schemes 
Sheltered alarm systems link to WEL for out of hours monitoring, 
however contain no detail so emergency services will be alerted in every 
case. 
 
LB to develop a procedure on the management of out of hours fire 
alarms 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
LB 
 

Page 209



 
Refurbished flats on Masefield Drive 
 
There is a fire alarm system in the refurbished flats that doesn’t link to 
anything: TW to investigate and present options by June 2012. 
 
Fire detection in high rise 
 
Communal detection is not required as per guidance. However, there is 
a recommendation for hard-wired smoke alarms in flats.  To be included 
in future investment plans 
 
Survey required for high rise and Eringden flats. Discussion on cost, 
estimated around £300 per unit x 350 flats. 
 
Also, suggested that under lettable standards that an upgrade from 
battery operated alarms to hard-wired could take place during void 
works:  
 
Leaseholders 
Discussion on implications of leasehold properties in relation to 
enforcement of fire doors (several leasehold flats fitted with non-
regulation UPVC front doors). JB advised that Lichfield are currently in 
the process of attempting to enforce in a privately owned high rise block, 
to be updated on outcome. TM re-assured JB that action would be 
pursued to enforce the Housing Act where possible and where 
leaseholders alterations breach the fire safety of the building. 
 

 
 
 
TW 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
JM/PW 
 
 
JM/TM 

 
Part C: The law governing fire safety in blocks of flats 
 

 
27.2: HHSRS:  
Only a sample of properties have had this completed.. Agreed that stock 
condition survey provided industry approved sample. 
 
Ventilation in high rise: Intumescent strips fitted and recommended 
 
Governance – unplanned expenditure to be reported to members once 
costs established 
 

 
 
TM/PW 
 
 
TM/JM 
 
TM 

 
Part D: Fire risk assessment 
 

 
Guidance to be built into contract for fire risk assessments 
 

 
Gethin/Rob 
Etherington 
 

 
Part E: Managing fire risk – preventing fires 

Page 210



 

 
High rise basements 
 
Discussion on future of the high rise basements. Options discussed 
included complete closure or conversion to open, caged storage areas 
(however this may be more of a hazard with accumulation of rubbish, 
blocked fire escapes etc).  
 
Reasonable approach would be to extend fire detection system to the 
basement area that links to WEL so that the alarm can be raised.  JB to 
provided formal recommendations to undertake basement works given 
the options and implications 
 
Smoking and storage in communal areas 
 
Discussion on repeat incidences of tenants smoking in communal areas. 
Recommendation to refer to Environmental Health for enforcement. 
 
Sue P and Lisa to look at escalation procedure in dealing with repeated 
storage in communal areas. 
 
Fire signage 
 
Recent fire risk assessments picked up that signage was lacking in 
communal areas. However, point 63.2 of the document states that if 
there is a “single staircase, regardless of the number of floors, would, for 
example, not usually require any fire exit signage”. To be noted for 
future reference. 
 
46.3: Electrical testing in flats 
 
JM confirmed picked up routinely on voids. 
 
47: Heating and ventilation systems and equipment 
 
John M to ask Rob E to check boilers in sheltered schemes in ref to shut 
offs after electrical fault.  Works now completed 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
JB 
 
 
 
 
 
TW 
 
 
SP/LH 
 
 
 
 
ALL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
JM 
 
 
 
JM 

 
Part F: Managing fire risk – fire protection 
 

 
TW to check on cleaners’ cupboard signage in all communal areas 
 
JM to speak to Richard about dry riser testing 
 
65.3: Discussion on chute room, JB  agreed that current measures are 
adequate. 
 

 
TW 
 
JM 
 
 
 
 

Page 211



68: Discussion on thumb-turn locks, possibly to be picked up on the 
void? 
 
69.5: Caledonian flats share a stairwell with a commercial premises, JB 
advised that this is not a problem. 
 
70: Log of bedridden/immobile tenants to be kept by fire panels in 
sheltered schemes - completed 

JM 
 
 
 
 
 
LB 

 
Part G: Managing fire risk – ongoing control 
 

Ref p112 
 
Appointment of responsible officer for fire safety: confirmed JM 
 
Fire policy: to check with Steve Langston whether the corporate policy is 
sufficient for this and whether the landlord service requires it own policy 
 
Generic training for fire awareness for housing officers- Olive Branch 
training, possibly to extend to cleaners and caretaking services. 
 
LB to develop fire procedure for sheltered. 
 
78.6: Fire drills to be carried out for staff evacuation 
 
79.7: LB to develop emergency plans for sheltered 
 
79.10: Log of tenants who use oxygen cylinders in their flats to be kept 
in sheltered schemes, by fire panel. 
 
79.12: As previous notes, recommendation to store details of tenants 
and sheltered floor plans next to fire panel. 
 
80: Routine inspections to continue to control the works that we are 
aware of. 
 
P128/130: Checklists on these pages are good examples, possibly to 
highlight at sign-up stage 
 
87.7: Fire safety manual for sheltered to be developed. 
 

 
 
TM 
 
SL 
 
 
 
 
 
LB 
 
 
 
LB 
 
LB 
 
 
LB 
 
 
 
 
 
LB 
 
 
LB 

 
JB asked for it to be noted that TBC have taken a pro-active role in fire safety over the 
last 2/3 years, and if it wasn’t for such actions, the LGG document would’ve posed more 
implications for the authority. 
 
TM suggested follow up actions for the Health & Safety meeting would include:- 
 

1. Landlord Services completing a Health & safety Plan linked to the Corporate 
policy that details the overall approach and reflects actions from this latest 

Page 212



workshop.  TM recommended Steve Langston advise / be commissioned to write 
this 

2. Action log to be updated to capture all the actions once fully assessed by April 
2012 

3. Governance required on un-planned expenditure by the end of the financial year 
2011/12 

4. Audit of the approach externally when this H&S plan is completed and further 
recommendations reported as required. 

Page 213



Page 214

This page is intentionally left blank



 
CABINET 

 
 

14 March 2012 

 
 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER QUALITY OF LIFE 

 
COUNCIL HOUSING FINANCE REFORM – HRA Business Plan 2012 - 2042 

 
 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
None 
 
PURPOSE 

• To seek approval for the HRA Business Plan shown at Annex One  
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

• That Cabinet approve the HRA Business Plan  
 
 
 
 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
The implementation of Council Housing Finance Reform has significant resource implications 
for the Council including: 
 

• A significant increase in available funding within the HRA to support investment in the 
Housing stock, services and neighbourhoods  

• A requirement for additional borrowing as part of a debt settlement  
 
The HRA business plan considers how resources implications will be managed in support of 
the Council’s Corporate Priorities and towards the achievement of a number of key ambitions 
as set out in the report.  
 
The headline financial figures contained with the Council’s final settlement received from 
CLG are and on which the Business Plan is built are:  
 

• The Council’s debt ceiling is £79million  

• The Council currently has a HRA debt liability of £23million 

• The amount which the Council will be required to pay to Government under the 
settlement is £45million (equating to a £68million  total HRA debt liability) 

• The Council will have a further £11million of borrowing headroom available to deliver 
its ambitions during the life of the plan  

 
The Councils medium term financial planning and budget setting process has captured key 
headlines emerging from financial expertise received from Sector.   These have been 
reported separately  and should be noted in conjunction with this report. 
 
 
 
 
 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 
Implementation of CHFR is a statutory requirements set out in the Localism Act 2011. 
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 215



An analysis of key risks and sensitivities are contained within the HRA Business Plan.  Key 
risks include: 
 

o Future changes in issues relating to the financial forecast- the financial forecast is 
based on a number of assumptions which can be made with varying degrees of 
certainty.  To mitigate this risk the Council has first sought expert  advice relating to 
both the financial forecast and treasury management strategy.  Financial sensitivities 
have been tested and a robust process to review and update the plan is in place. 

o A further key risk will be a failure to properly resource delivery of the plan.  Resource 
requirements have been considered within the attached plan and a robust system for 
performance management is included 

o A future failure to ensure proper involvement of tenants in the development of the 
plan represents a major risk.  This risk will be managed through the continued 
delivery and development of the Council’s co-regulatory and tenant involvement 
approach.  

 
 
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
CHFR has the potential to provide substantial investment in the Council’s Housing asset and 
local neighbourhoods. The attached robust and balanced business plan will provide the 
framework for good maintenance and improvement of Council homes, finance for 
environmental works to improve neighbourhoods, and the potential for renewal and 
regeneration of neighbourhoods including the building of new Council housing. 
 
The implementation of a self financing system provides the Council with greater ability to 
plan and predict future resources and to make informed investment decisions over the long 
term.   
 
 
CONCLUSIONS 
The HRA Business Plan is an ambitious and forward looking plan which sets out how the 
opportunities presented by changes to housing finance will be used to support the delivery of 
Corporate Priorities to the benefit of tenants and residents of Tamworth.  Over the next four 
yeas, the HRA business plan seeks to deliver the investment plan already set out in the 
medium term financial forecast.  Beyond that the plan is intended to set out the ambitions 
that will be reported on separately as they are serviced and realised  Key risks are also 
identified and mitigations proposed.   
 
The implementation of the plan will result in improved homes and neighbourhoods and better 
outcomes for residents. 
 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION   
 

Consultation and Process  
 
On 30 June 2010 members received a report outlining the basis of Government proposals to 
reform the current system of financing for Council housing.  An outline ‘offer’ was issued in 
April 2011 providing Councils with an opportunity to consider the impact of reform on their 
own financial plans.   
 
Guidance was issued by CLG on the 30th July 2011 detailing further the issues for 
consideration by Local Authorities in implementing CHFR and setting out the timetable for 
implementation.   
 
The Council has worked within this guidance to: 

• Develop a financial forecast over  a thirty year timescale  

• Review and define its priorities and ambitions in relation to Council housing  

Page 216



• Review its stock investment needs and define its investment plans 

• Develop an approach to treasury management as set out in the Council’s treasury 
management strategy  

• Develop an HRA Business Plan shown at Annex One  
 
In undertaking each of the above areas of work the Council has consulted widely with its 
tenants.  This consultation culminated in a Tenants conference on the 26th January 2012, 
attended by over 120 tenants.  The HRA Prospectus received over-whelming support and 
can be found by clicking www.tamworth.gov.uk/hraprospectuspdf.   The impact assessment 
from the conference as been shared with the Tenant Consultative Group and the governance 
structures will be further strengthened by the development of the HRA sub group of BRG 
which will inform future policy decisions. 
 
The Council has now received the final financial settlement for implementation of CHFR and 
is prepared for the commencement of the new financial regime in March 2012.  A significant 
amount of staff time has been dedicated to completing preparations resulting in the Council 
receiving assurances from its external advisors that its preparation are robust and fit for 
purpose. 
 
The report was intended for the February 2012 cabinet, but delayed to allow for further 
member and tenant scrutiny which has now influenced the HRA business plan. 
 

Opportunity 
 
The HRA business plan has been developed to support the achievement of Corporate 
Priorities and the objectives of the Council’s Healthier Housing Strategy.  This will be 
accomplished through the pursuit of the following ambitions: 
 

• To regenerate neighbourhoods and eliminate poor housing  

• To increase the supply of affordable housing and build new Council owned dwellings 
to meet targets set out in the Core Strategy  

• To improve outcomes for tenants including helping them to be healthier, safer, more 
prosperous and with increased aspirations  

• To support cohesive neighbourhoods  

• To invest in the Council owned stock to ensure homes are properly maintained, warm 
and suitable for the tenants needs  

• To place our tenants at the heart of decision making 
  
Form the date of implementation there will be a significant amount of further work to deliver 
the Plan.  The Summary actions included in section 15 of the Business Plan, once approved, 
will be translated into SMART objectives for team plans and be monitored through a central 
and co-ordinated action plan linked to the Healthier Housing Strategic Plan.  Headline 
actions : 
 

• Ongoing review of the financial forecast  

• Development of a new Asset Management Strategy and updated stock condition data 

• Development of detailed proposals for area based renewal and neighbourhood 
regeneration  

• Continued investment in ensuring the highest level of tenant involvement  

• Continued development of the skills and knowledge of staff to ensure delivery of the 
Council’s ambitions set out in the plan 

 
To achieve the above there will be a continued need to invest significant officer and member 
time and a range of other resources.  Resource implications will be presented as feasibility 
modelling evolves and agreement sought to take the ambitions highlighted forward.   

 
 
 

Page 217



 
REPORT AUTHOR 
Robert Barnes:  Director Housing and Health  Tina Mustafa: Head of Landlord Services  
 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 
 
APPENDICES 
Appendix One:  Housing Revenue Account Business Plan and Investment Profile 
 

 

Page 218



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 1 of 35 
 

Contents 

 

Introduction & Foreword 

 

 

Influencing:- 

1. National Policy Challenges 

2. Local Strategic Context 

3. Healthier Housing Strategy  

4. About Tamworth 

Delivering:- 

5. HRA Business Planning Objectives 

6. The Council’s Housing Stock 

7. Housing Need and Demand  

8. Managing Performance 

9. Tenant Empowerment and 

Involvement 

Financial Planning:- 

10. Making Best Use of Resources 

11. Stock Investment and Ambitions 

Building for the Future:- 

12. Our Ambitions  

13. Strategic Options for the Future 

14. How the plan was developed 

15. Monitoring and Review 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 219



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 2 of 35 
 

Foreword 

This document sets out the Council’s plans 
and ambitions in its role as a Landlord over 
the next thirty years.  Our plans, developed in 
consultation with tenants’, have at their heart 
the Council’s overall strategic priorities and 
directly support the objectives of the Healthier 
Housing Strategy. 
 
Our plans have been developed at a time of 
significant opportunity arising from the 
implementation of Council housing finance 
reform.  The Council has consistently argued 
for a system of self-financing for Council 
housing and we welcome the changes set out 
in the Localism Act 2011.  This new approach 
will enable the Council to realise ambitious 
plans to meet tenants’ needs and aspirations 
and will provide the opportunity for major 
investment in the regeneration of our 
neighbourhoods.  In addition the changes 
provide the opportunity for greater 
transparency and accountability to our 
customers who will in turn drive efficiency and 
effective use of resources. 
 
This is also a time of challenge and 
uncertainty.  In preparation of our plans we 
have been aware of the risks associated with 
ongoing economic challenges for our 
customers.  We believe that Welfare Benefit 
Reform will have a major impact on our 
customers and on wider housing need.  Plans 
reflect the need to ensure customers are 
supported through these changes and that 
opportunities to meet income and housing 
need are maximised. 
 
We also recognise that some of our 
neighbourhoods require regeneration if our 
corporate priorities and business aims are to 
be met.  For this reason we will be assessing 
how best neighbourhood regeneration can be 
achieved.  This will include a critical 
assessment of the potential for re-provision of 
poor housing with new build council-housing.  
It is an ambition of the council to see new 
council housing developed within Tamworth 
where the business case supports this option. 

 
 
The Council also welcomes the greater 
certainty over its future finances provided by 
council housing finance reform.  The 
opportunities to plan both in the medium and 
long term will allow for financial and 
commercial business planning that before 
now has not been possible. 
 
There remain uncertainties however which 
must be kept under review.  National 
consultation is currently under-way in relation 
to Right to Buy Reforms and the new 
proposed Tenant Regulatory Framework.  
The business plan has taken account of 
these proposals although an annual impact 
assessment will be considered in order to 
respond to changes as they happen, allowing 
us to adapt the business plan accordingly. 
 
During 2012 we will also be updating our 
stock condition data and developing an Asset 
Management Plan.  This will compliment the 
wider corporate core strategy in terms of 
identifying opportunities for land and property 
investment to increase the supply of 
affordable housing. 
 
The cornerstone of this plan is about 
partnerships.  Business planning is 
predicated on unleashing the potential and 
opportunities to work together with both the 
public, private and third sectors.  Responding 
to Tamworth’s Strategic Partnership and the 
series of task and finish priorities, Landlord 
services will directly contribute to real 
outcomes on estates and the business plan is 
an opportunity to illustrate this, whilst at the 
same time is capable of adapting to change 
as it inevitably comes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 220



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 3 of 35 
 

1. National Policy Challenges 

Housing is central to everything we do.  From 

delivering economic growth to supporting people 

to live independent and healthier lives, there are 

huge economic and social benefits to be gained 

from ensuring that people have access to homes 

which meet their needs and aspirations. 

This plan is formulated at a time of global 

economic difficulty and fiscal restraint.  This is  

combined with far reaching changes to national 

policy which will require that the Council be 

innovative in order to deliver more and better with 

fewer resources. 

The reform of Council Housing Finance must be 

seen in the context of wider reforms including:- 

Welfare Benefit Reform –the introduction of 

universal credit, caps to benefit levels, reduction 

in local housing allowances, and increases in non 

dependant charges will impact not only on 

affordability and social mobility but will also 

present challenges to the Council in maintaining 

revenue income. 

National Planning Policy Framework – a 

new duty to co-operate alongside the draft 

National Policy Planning Framework puts the 

emphasis firmly on Council’s, working with 

communities, to set out ambitions and 

expectations for housing growth and 

sustainability.  The business plan has been 

formulated within the context of the Tamworth 

Core Strategy and Local Development 

Framework. 

Localism Act 2011- the Localism Act includes 

measures which will result in significant changes 

in social housing including: 

Flexibility in the level of rent to be charged for 

some properties with the introduction of 

‘affordable rents’ 

Flexibility to introduce shorter fixed term 

tenancies of at least 5 years and pay-to-stay – 

options to enable councils to charge higher 

earning tenants more 

Greater flexibility which enables the Council to 

better reflect local priorities based on 

employment, local links and other criteria 

Changes to Regulation – further empowering 

tenants to scrutinise and regulate services  

In addition to the above, proposed changes to the 

Right to Buy have the potential to significantly 

impact on the HRA business plan.  Increases in 

the number of properties sold will present a risk to 

the plan as set out.   However the opportunity for 

the Council to be able to commit Right to Buy 

receipts to delivery of new housing at a local level 

is an opportunity which will support the ambitions 

set out in the plan. 

Change is not limited to social housing.  A greater 

focus on ‘incentive’ funding and in particular the 

introduction of the New Homes Bonus and 

changes to non-domestic rates represent key 

challenges for the Council will require a pro-active 

and entrepreneurial approach to growth.  

Major health reform is also of particular 

significance for Tamworth and the Council has 

acted on the recognition of the importance of 

engaging fully with the transition of services and 

commissioning arrangements.  This business plan 

is formulated within the context of significant 

ongoing health inequalities in Tamworth and  

recognition, though the Council’s Healthier 

Housing Strategy, of the major impact housing 

has in addressing these issues. 

Page 221



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 4 of 35 
 

2. Local Strategic Context 

Tamworth’s strategic plan was endorsed by 

Cabinet in October 2011 and was informed by a 

strategic review of local priorities.  The plan is 

owned by the Tamworth Strategic Partnership 

representing the principal agencies working in 

Tamworth including County Council 

representatives, the Police service  education, the 

fire service , Primary Care Trust, the Clinical 

Commissioning Group and the voluntary sector.  

 

 

The partnership shares a single strategic vision - 

One Tamworth perfectly placed 

Two key priorities flow from the vision- that the 

people of Tamworth are : 

• Healthier and safe and can  

• Aspire and prosper 

The Tamworth Strategic Partnership is driven by 

a commitment to providing strong leadership to 

ensure the achievement of the shared vision and 

priorities. 

Following an evidence based assessment of the 

key issues in the borough a series of multi-

agency task and finish groups have been 

commissioned to deliver outcomes to support 

common strategic priorities. 

The strategic evidence base has been informed 

by:- 

o Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

(adults and children) 

o Community Safety Partnership Joint 

Strategic Assessment 

o State of Staffordshire Report – 

Staffordshire observatory 

o Tamworth Borough Council – Place 

Survey 2009 

This has led to the establishment of 9 task 

and finish groups. 

 

County Wide Partnerships 

Staffordshire is a two tier local authority area and 

the Council works closely with our county council 

partners.  This partnership can be evidenced by a 

number of outcomes including: 

• Co-located services in Marion House, 

including Social Care teams  

• Commissioning opportunities, notably 

through administration of supporting 

people grant funding 

• A Shared strategic framework 

The Council is fully engaged in supporting the 

development of the Shadow Health and Well 

Page 222



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 5 of 35 
 

being Board.   This board brings together 

organisations responsible for the delivery of 

health and wellbeing outcomes within 

Staffordshire.  Tamworth provides representation 

for all Staffordshire District and Borough 

Authorities on the board.  

A county wide health and well being strategy was 

developed during 2010/11 and is currently under 

review.  Local delivery of health and well being 

outcomes fall within the remit of the Tamworth 

Strategic Partnership. 

Also at a County level there are a series of 

strategies informing the overall County-Wide 

framework which include:- 

• “Best of Both Worlds” – flexi care strategy 

• “Independence Strategy” 

• Homelessness prevention  

• Promoting choice and mobility 

• Developing extra care and sheltered 

housing 

A sub regional allocation scheme known as 

UCHOOSE also continues to operate.  Eleven 

organisations currently participate and whilst it is 

likely (with the onset of HOMESWAPPER as a 

mandatory national mobility scheme) that this sub 

regional group will cease in its current format, it 

will continue as a partnership reviewing its terms 

of reference to focus on the:- 

• Implications of the regulatory framework 

currently out for consultation (10/2/12) 

• Access to housing and register 

management 

• Opportunities for shared supportive 

housing 

• Strategic impact of tenancy management 

policies around flexible tenure and 

affordable rent  

Economic Development Strategy 

Housing supply and housing services have a 

clear contribution to make to sustain and improve 

economic resilience and growth beyond bricks 

and mortar.  This link is increasingly recognised 

nationally and we consider there are opportunities 

to align what housing does to contribute more to 

economic ambitions. 

The business plan is framed to deliver against 

these opportunities, particularly through the 

commissioning of services and delivery of large 

scale regeneration.  There is a contribution to be 

made in relation to a range of strategic priorities 

including the Tamworth Gateway Project and 

Town Centre Master Planning. Council housing 

finance reform provides the Council with the 

financial power to potentially acquire, invest and 

regenerate estates. 

Core Strategy and Planning Framework 

Plans for regeneration and potential new 

development are framed within the context of the 

core strategy and local infrastructure delivery plan 

including the:- 

• Wilnecote regeneration corridor 

• Town centre gateway 

Tamworth Borough Council has also agreed a 

new Core Strategy which outlines Tamworth 

ambitions in relation to the use of land, its 

buildings and infrastructure.  The core strategy 

anticipates that 5500 new homes will be needed 

by 2028, with only 4500 being accommodated 

within Tamworth.  This results in land bordering 

Tamworth, Lichfield and North Warwickshire 

being identified for up to 1000 homes.  In the 

shorter term around 1150 homes will be delivered 

by Anker Valley, with the remaining homes having 

to be delivered by innovative approaches to 

development. 

The business plan for the councils housing stock 

sets out an ambition for potential new 

development to contribute to the achievement of 

the aims of the core strategy and in particular the 

delivery of new affordable housing. 

Page 223



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 6 of 35 
 

Local Investment Plan (LIP) 

The Council has set out its plans in relation to the 

delivery of affordable housing in its LIP developed 

in partnership with the Homes and Community 

Agency (HCA) and Registered Providers(RPs).  

The LIP aims to ensure that all residents in 

Southern Staffordshire have access to good 

quality, appropriate and affordable housing.  The 

plan recognises housings significant role in 

contributing to and enhancing the social, health 

and economic and environmental well being of 

residents. 

Primarily the work of the partners involved in the 

LIP will be to decide how priorities will be 

achieved with significantly reduced funding from 

the government.  On the one hand Tamworth has 

recently received its New Homes Bonus 

Allocation.  This added incentive to support 

community development is a key housing 

strategic challenge. 

The bonus is based on the council tax of new 

homes and those brought back into use, with a 

premium for affordable homes and paid for the 

following six years. It ensures that those local 

authorities who promote and welcome growth can 

share in the economic benefits, and build the 

communities in which people want to live and 

work.  

3.  Healthier Housing Strategy 

In 2011 Tamworth Borough Council’s Cabinet and 

partners endorsed a single shared vision – “One 

Tamworth – Perfectly Placed” and agreed 2 

strategic priorities. 

Also during 2011 the council launched its 

Healthier Housing Strategy 2011-2014.  Within 

this strategy a series of objectives were identified 

in support of the corporate priorities. 

 The Healthier Housing Objectives driven by the 2 

corporate strategic priorities have determined the 

landlord business planning objectives.   

This link is illustrated by the diagrams below:- 

 

 

The HRA objectives within the Business Plan 

have been developed specifically to support 

delivery of the corporate priorities and objectives 

of the healthier housing strategy.   

To illustrate this link practical examples of how the 

Council HRA business plan activities contribute to the 

overall delivery of the Council’s Strategic Priorities are 

provided below.   

Corporate 
Priority 

HRA Business Plan Examples 

To Aspire & 
Prosper 
 
Raise aspiration 
& attainment 
levels 
 
 
Create 
opportunities for 
business growth 
 
Promote Private 
sector growth  
 
 
 
Tamworth great 
place to “live life 
to the full” 
 
Create physical 

 
 
Procure Strategic Partners and 
Contractors who can offer 
apprenticeships and structured work 
based learning 
 
Target investment into large scale 
regeneration programmes to stimulate 
economic growth, i.e. Re-provision of 
council housing at Tinkers, Kerria and 
around Town Centre 
Support the Asset Management Strategy  
and maximise opportunities for private 
sector investment, i.e. garage sites 
 
Extend Choice to the wider social rented 
sector to promote widest possible 
housing options and choice  
 
Invest in the housing stock, and in 

Page 224



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 7 of 35 
 

and technical 
infrastructure 
necessary 
 

particular locality areas, to improve the 
physical make-up of assets and homes. 

 

To be Healthier & 
Safer 
 
Address the 
causes of poor 
health in children 
 
 
 
Improve health 
and well being of 
older people 
 
Reduce harm and 
consequences of 
alcohol abuse 
 
Implement total 
place solution to 
tackle ASB 
 
 
 
Develop early 
interventions to 
tackle youth crime 
 
Create and 
integral approach 
to protect 
vulnerable 

 
 
Target housing allocation policies to 
tackling under occupation and make the 
best use of stock.  In addition attract 
investment to run a range of health 
courses to promote well being and 
healthy lifestyles 
 
Promote sheltered housing and extend 
development of extra care for older 
people to create sustainable living 
 
Educate, with partners, tenants’ on the 
consequences of alcohol misuse 
 
Achieve the RESPECT Housing 
management standard and continue to 
integrate into the councils corporate 
safety hub ensuring satisfaction with 
tackling ASB and with the landlord 
service overall 
 
Target investment to diversionary 
activities, such as youth schemes and 
projects with the localities. 
 
Produce a health inequalities plan that 
targets the vulnerable and is linked to a 
risk assessment framework 

 

The Healthier Housing Strategy is aligned to the 

Corporate priorities through 4 key strategic 

objectives:- 

• There are suitable homes for everyone 

• Homes are healthy, warm and safe 

• People are able to maintain an 

independent and healthy lifestyle 

• Neighbourhood environments enable safer 

and healthier communities. 

The HRA Business plan will support the 

realisation of these strategic objectives.  

The specific objectives which underline the thrust 

and purpose of this business plan are aligned to 

the corporate and strategic priorities and are 

detailed in the tables shown. 

Strategic 
Housing Aim 

HRA Business Plan Objective 

ACCESS 
Suitable Homes 
for Everyone 

Target HRA Investment for the 
development and re-provision of council 
and affordable housing 
 
Develop an HRA Affordable Housing 
Plan which compliments the HRA Asset 
Management Strategy.  Identifying land 
and resources in and outside of the 
borough complimenting requirements 
within the core strategy 
 
Make Best us of all council owned stock 
to ensure suitable homes, including 
assessing the impact of the Localism 
Act 2011 in particular flexible tenure 
and affordable rent  
 
Extend the CBL scheme to link to the 
Lettings agency promoting housing 
options.  To also review in the context 
of localism, i.e. incentive to move, 
homeswapper,  
 

ASPECTS 
Homes are 
healthy, Warm 
and Safe 

Produce a robust HRA Asset 
Management Strategy that achieves 
Tamworth Decency Standard 
 
Attract and target investment to ensure 
properties are eco friendly, sustainable 
and fuel efficient meeting modern, life 
time standards 
 
Ensure all homes meet the Decent 
Homes Standards 
 

BEHAVIOUR 
People are able 
to maintain an 
independent and 
healthy lifestyle 

Capture customer profiling data and 
produce a Health & Well-being Plan that 
tackles inequalities and points to 
healthy outcomes 
 
To maximise income and promote 
strategies to tackle financial inclusion 
and worklessness in partnership with 
the third sector 
 
Review Sheltered and Supported 
Housing Services to maximise 
investment and opportunity to sustain 
independent living 
 

COMMUNITY 
Neighbourhood 
Environments 
enable safer and 
healthy 
communities  

Achieve Respect Landlord Standard 
 
Devolve mainstream budgets for 
environmental enhancements, 
specifically in locality and priority areas 
 
Achieve value for money by exploring 
different approaches to cleaning, 
caretaking and estate based services 
 
Ensure Tenants and Stakeholders are 
shaping, scrutinising and influencing the 
governance of the landlord structure 

 

Page 225



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 8 of 35 
 

Reflecting the corporate vision and priorities 

and the strategic aims of the Healthier 

Housing strategy the HRA business plan has 

been formulated around a single mission 

agreed with our tenants  

To ensure that in everything we do: 

“Every tenant matters” 

 

 

4.  About Tamworth! 

Tamworth is an ancient borough, established as 

the Saxon Mercian Capital.  It is located in the 

south eastern corner of Staffordshire bordered by 

Warwickshire to the South and East.  Situated 18 

miles from the Birmingham conurbation and on 

the edge of the West Midlands greenbelt, 

Tamworth Borough is only 12 square miles in 

extent making it one of the smallest in England. 

One the HRA business planning challenges is to 

reflect Tamworth’s historic core and identity in 

branding improvements to ensure local identities 

are synonymous with regeneration and growth.  

For example as Tamworth has grown from its 

original core, surrounding villages such as 

Wilncote and Amington have been enveloped into 

the urban structure of Tamworth.  This means that 

the Town, which was largely confined to the 

Tame river structure, now spreads out much 

wider.  Absorbing other hamlets and villages has 

created pockets of historical interest amongst the 

newer housing and industrial development, the 

most important of which have been recognised by 

various conservation area designations. 

The location of the Norman Castle at the point 

where the Rivers Tame and Anker meet in the 

centre of Tamworth is the focal point for the 

Town.  The castle grounds are a well used and a 

highly valued area of recreation, open space and 

sports facilities that compliment other parts of 

Tamworth’s heritage. 

The population of Tamworth in 20101 was 75,700 

and projected figures suggest  

Tamworth will experience a population growth of 

5.4% by 2026, a total of 4100 people.  However 

numbers are set to reduce in the number of 

young adults and growth will be concentrated in 

the older age groups.  Retired people will 

increase by 61% (8600) by 2026. This is a key 

challenge impacting on the business plan. 

Tamworth’s compact urban form provides good 

opportunities for transport accessibility.  The 

Tamworth Gateway project is concerned with 

maximising and re-vitalising access and mobility 

into and within the town. 

The core strategy approved in February 2012 and 

available by clicking here gives further detail on 

Tamworth spatial portrait, pointing to the 

environmental, economic and infrastructure 

challenges going forward. 

www.tamworth.gov/uk/corestratrgy.pdf 

 

                                                
1
 Subnational population projections Published May 
2011 

Page 226



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 9 of 35 
 

5. The Housing Revenue Account  

Business Plan- Every tenant matters. 

Tamworth Council is committed to tenant 

involvement in the development of its services 

and policies and this is explained further in 

section 8.  This business plan has been 

developed following a range of stakeholder 

events, culminating in the launch of the business 

offer at the First Tenants Conference in January 

2012. 

 

During several workshops entitled “opportunity 

knocks” in 2011, The Tenant Consultative Group 

considered all the customer feedback and 

intelligence from 2009 and offers that were made, 

during stock transfer.  This data was reviewed 

and updated to inform the priorities put to tenants 

more widely during the tenants’ conference.  

The HRA business planning prospectus was 

presented alongside a range of offers about 

investment and invited feedback.  Click to view 

the options. 

www.tamworth.gov.uk/hraprospectuspdf  

Over 100 tenants and 30 partner organisations 

attended the conference and the top 4 priorities 

reinforced. 

Based on this consultation our Headline 

Objectives are:- 

1. To invest to re-develop and re-provide 

council homes and increase the supply 

of  affordable housing and create 

thriving neighbourhoods  

2. To extend the Landlord ‘Finding a 

Home’ Service to all housing providers 

in the public and private sectors, 

specifically linked to a new Lettings 

Agency 

3. To develop our Asset Management 

Strategy to ensure homes and 

neighbourhoods are healthy, warm, 

safe and sustainable  

4. To develop a tenant focussed Health 

and Wellbeing Plan which helps to 

reduce health inequalities   

5. To promote financial well-being and 

work with partners, including the third 

sector, to tackle worklessness and 

promote financial independence. 

6. To work with county wide colleagues 

to develop suitable housing options for 

older people including flexi care 

accommodation and promote 

independent living. 

7. To achieve the RESPECT housing 

standard to ensure neighbourhoods 

are safe and healthy  

Page 227



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 10 of 35 
 

 

 

6.  The Council’s Housing Stock 

As at January 2012, the Council’s stock 

comprised 4,508 homes, 370 leasehold 

properties and 1,903 garages.   

Of the 4,508 homes, 2,540 are houses, 245 

bungalows and 1,358 are flats. Some 365 

properties are sheltered accommodation 

spanning 10 separate schemes and including 

a mixture of flats and bungalows.   

A full stock list is regularly updated on the 

council’s www.findingahometamworth.gov.uk 

website. 

 

Council housing is widely spread across the 

borough including:- 

High Rise Flats - The Council manages 6 

high-rise blocks on the Balfour Estate and 

these comprise 358 1 and 2 bedroomed flats 

set amongst other low rise accommodation.  

Whilst this represents less than 10% of the 

stock it is an important part of the housing 

portfolio as it has a significant in terms of its 

Town centre location and overall impact on 

Tamworth’s landscape and therefore image.  

The site is designated 50+ and its overall 

pleasant aesthetic impact is a credit, in part, 

to the residents and their pride in their 

homes.   

Page 228



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 11 of 35 
 

Low Rise Flats - There are over 60 low-rise 

flatted estates across the Town representing 

just over 25% of the stock. 

Locality Areas - The majority of Council 

housing is concentrated within four locality 

areas identified as having a particular need 

for investment and regeneration.  These 

areas are:- 

• Stonydelph 

• Glascote 

• Amington 

• Belgrave 

Sheltered Housing – There are 10 schemes, 

with Thomas Hardy Court representing a flag 

ship extra care scheme and operating in 

partnership with Waterloo – Mcgregorthythe. 

Tinkers Green Estate- This estate 

comprises 58 walk-up maisonettes, largely 

surrounded by owner occupied properties in 

the Wilnecote area.  Within the estate is a 

vacant demolished former sheltered scheme 

site (formally Wincrest house) and has a 

shopping precinct with some units vacant. 

The county are also considering the provision 

of specialist accommodation in the nearby 

Hockley Centre.  The feasibility study is an 

opportunity to review all the options for this 

area including refurbishment, re-

development, regeneration or combination of 

any of those schemes. 

The Kerria Centre which borders Amington 

Heath comprises 38 over-shop maisonettes 

and other flats.  It is a multi – tenure with a 

combination of council owned properties, 

private rented stock and commercial outlets.  

The estate suffers from a higher churn rate 

on empty properties and tends to be less 

sustainable than neighbouring Amington 

heath. 

Non-Traditional Properties 

 

There are a total of 671 properties, excluding the 

6 high-rise blocks, considered to be of a non-

traditional construction type. These consist of 

Airey, Concrete Block, Laing Easiform, No Fines 

and Wates. Structural surveys carried out in the 

past have indicated that the properties are 

structurally sound, they do however suffer from 

lower than average levels of thermal efficiency 

although not sufficiently low to fail the Decent 

Homes Standards. 

 

Previous structural surveys have identified that in 

all cases these properties are generally sound. No 

special budget provisions, over and above basic 

decent homes, have been allowed for within the 

30-year investment plan and there are no 

immediate plans to bring the properties up to a 

mortgageable standard. Further structural 

surveys will be necessary as part of the 2012/13 

stock condition survey and on an ongoing basis as 

part of the Asset Management Strategy to ensure 

that the buildings remain structurally sound.  

 

89 Garage Sites – The Council’s garage 

sites have become underused over recent 

years and following an option appraisal 

the  Council has approved the disposal of 

26 of these sites for affordable housing. 

Two further sites have been identified for 

open market sale and three sites are 

currently included in plans for estate 

based regeneration.  The remaining sites 

will be the subject of a sustained 

investment programme   

  Health & Well-being Planning -  

The Landlord Service has developed its Equality 

Plan into a Health and Well-being Plan  which 

profiles its customer base and shows how this 

information is being used to tailor services and 

ensure outcomes for customers.   

Page 229



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 12 of 35 
 

 

 

 

7. Housing Needs and Demand   

Tamworth is an area of high housing need 

and meeting this need represents a key 

strategic challenge for the Council. Issues of 

affordability and suitability of the existing 

stock have been identified through the Core 

Strategy and LDF.  

Key Statistics 

o 70.7% of housing in Tamworth is 

owner-occupied 

o 9.5% of housing in Tamworth is 

privately rented 

o 19.8% of housing in Tamworth is 

social housing 

o 25.1% private sector dwellings fail the 

decent home standard 

o There are 2000 households with 

children living in poor housing in 

Tamworth 

o Overcrowding in Tamworth is between 

1.9% (statutory) and 3.1% (bedroom 

deficient) or between 490 and 770 

overcrowded households 

o A two-income household in Tamworth 

would require an annual joint income 

of £32,241 and a deposit of £16,500 to 

purchase an entry level home, 84.1% 

of households have less than this in 

savings and/or income, putting 

pressure on the rented sector 

o To rent privately households in 

Tamworth require an annual income of 

£19,178 for a 1 bed and £23,754 for a 

2 bed, which suggests renting is more 

affordable then owner occupation.  

Around a third of households have an 

income below that required for private 

renting putting pressure of social 

rented sector, such as the council and 

registered housing provision. 

o Glascote and Stonydelph are amongst 

the most affordable in the borough, 

whilst Amington is the least affordable 

and Belgrave is the second  

least affordable.  This suggests that 

new development should be targeted 

in Amington and Belgrave. 

Key Challenges  

The number of new affordable homes required 

per year is 142 

o Homelessness applications increased 

from 68 to 2009/10 to 91 in 2010/11 

Page 230



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 13 of 35 
 

o As at Jan 2012 2,103 people were 

registered on the councils waiting list 

o Retired population will increase by 

2026 resulting in greater demand for 

sheltered and flexible care and support 

housing options with targets for 102 

units by 2020. 

o Tinkers Green and the Kerria Estates 

have the highest churn rate adversely 

impacting on creating a balanced and 

stable neighbourhood 

o The high-rise flatted estates presents 

opportunity for wider town centre 

development in years 6-10 as major 

investment for refurbishment will need 

to be balanced against other stock 

options, currently envisaged at 

£1.2million per block to ensure a fully 

eco and solar solution to regeneration 

The core strategy details the range of 

assessments undertaken to arrive at housing 

needs data.  The Affordable Housing Viability 

Assessment established the thresholds for 

delivering affordable housing.  In addition the 

updated SHMA identified that the split of 

affordable housing tenure should be 40% 

social rented and 60% intermediate tenure. 

The latest housing markets and health data 

report provides recommendations to tackle 

health related issues and these are reflected 

in the action plan. 

A critical challenges for the Council is to 

make best use of existing stock.  The Council 

will therefore consider the opportunities 

provided by the Localism Act 2011 for the 

introduction of fixed term tenancies and 

affordable rent models. These opportunities 

must be balanced against the potential 

impact on communities and individual 

wellbeing. 

 

Tinkers Green Maisonettes 2011 

Parts of the council owned housing stock 

requires substantial investment.  Examples 

include family homes above ground floor- 

typically maisonettes.  An independent 

allocation impact assessment undertaken in 

2011 identified that the Council’s stock of 

‘walk up’ maisonettes were unpopular and 

created issues of sustainability.  Although 

choice based lettings has reduced turnover of 

these tenancies many tenants of these 

properties remain unhappy with their homes 

and neighbourhoods.  The Council is 

committed to review the future of these 

dwellings.  This will include consideration for 

re-provision of alternative forms of 

accommodation and potential challenges to 

lettings polices to better reflect housing 

aspirations and need.  

8.  Managing Performance 

In 2009, the Council adopted a 3-year 

Landlord Services delivery plan (2009-2012) 

based on a self assessment and an external 

peer review. This was amidst an 

overwhelming mandate from tenants for stock 

retention, following a no vote on stock 

transfer.  As a result of this the Council in its 

Page 231



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 14 of 35 
 

role as a landlord service faced significant 

challenges including: 

• low overall satisfaction with the 

landlord service at 65% 

• high service costs relating to 

community alarm provision 

• some unpopular Sheltered Housing 

and a need for modernisation of 

sheltered housing services  

• an allocations approach that did not 

promote choice 

• poor performance in some aspects of 

performance of the repairs service 

• poor performance in relation to some 

aspects of service delivery 

• significant financial challenges and 

difficulties in maintaining achievement 

of the Decent Homes Standard 

• limited  capacity to invest in 

environmental works or tackle issues 

such as fuel poverty and the promotion 

of energy efficiency 

• An organisational structure which 

promoted a disconnect between 

strategic and Council housing services 

In 2012, 3 years on – the Council service is 

proud of its achievements as a Landlord.  

These include:- 

• An increase in overall satisfaction with 

the landlord service from 65% to 75% 

• All key performance indicators in either 

a top quartile position or improving 

since the 2009 figure 

• Introduction of a finding a home 

service in May 2011, that promotes a 

range of housing options for 

customers.  Coupled with reducing 

void turnaround from 54 days to 11 

days. 

• Launch of a financial inclusion strategy 

that has seen welfare benefit take up 

improve and helped people address 

personal debts up to £300k 

• Current Rent Arrears have continued 

to fall despite the economic climate 

with arrears as a % of the debt 

reducing from 1.69% to 1.53% 

• Outsourcing of the council community 

alarm service, saving the council 

£300K per annum  

• Review and modernisation of the 

sheltered housing service, protecting 

future supporting people grant funding 

affecting 365 households.  With overall 

sheltered housing satisfaction rising 

from 74% to 93% 

• Development of extra care at Thomas 

Hardy Court and sustaining 

independent living for 10 new 

occupants 

• Successful procurement of a combined 

repairs and investment contract worth 

over £60million and focused on 

optimising value for money between 

planned and responsive maintenance. 

• Strategy for garage investment and 

retention including disposals for 

affordable housing aimed at making 

environmental improvements 

• An integrated Housing and Health 

Directorate removing organisational  

obstacles to a seamless and joined up 

approach 

• Development of an Estate Walkabout 

programme that details ‘you said, we 

did’ outcomes after each visit. 

• A Housing officer based at the 

Community safety Hub ensuring a 

more seamless approach to case 

management and ASB 

• An annual customer impact 

assessment that encourages 

customers to get involved and 

Page 232



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 15 of 35 
 

determines the success of each 

project 

BUT  

 

Challenges ahead 

We know that whilst services have improved 

the detail captured in the Status Survey 

(undertaken by BMG 2011) and other self 

assessments tells us that : 

• 1 in 4 of tenants are still not satisfied 

• Dissatisfaction is notably higher 

amongst 16-34 year olds 

• Tenants most dissatisfied are those 

who are been tenants between 1-2 

years 

• Tenants in Patch Amington are more 

likely to be dissatisfied 

• Our focus on locality working areas 

requires strengthening  

• Repairs and anti social behaviour are 

voted by 88% of tenants as most 

important - these are areas where the 

greatest opportunities for improvement 

exist 

Responding to the above challenges is 

central to the Tenant Regulatory framework 

going forward.  In addition, we are also aware 

that over the next 5 years our key challenge 

will be in preparing to deliver against our 

ambitions for major area regeneration.  

Performance Management framework 

Benchmarking, external assessment, peer 

review and internal challenge remain the 

corner stone’s of effective performance 

management. 

The Council’s landlord team continues to use 

the council-wide covalent management tool to 

chart performance across core performance 

indicators.  Since the national PIs have been 

reduced the service has sought to use 

benchmarking services to review the overall 

effectiveness.  In conjunction with tenants, a 

live, on-line, customer dashboard is used to 

display performance across core areas.  

Latest information can be viewed at 

www.tamworth.gov.uk/housing.  

Performance is also highlighted through the 

tenant magazine, Open House, together with 

outcomes detailed in the Annual Report and 

Performance Supplement, which is reported 

to Cabinet and scrutinised by members and 

tenants’ before publication. 

Track Record and Capacity to Improve 

Management of staff performance and a 

commitment to training is also crucial. 

Resources are committed to training and staff 

are supported through a SMART framework 

with individual and team targets.  There is a 

structured process to performance 

management which is set out in the 

document attached, please click here. 

Performance Management Framework Feb 

2012.docx 

 

The Council’s landlord service has not 

been inspected by the Audit Commission, 

and is unlikely to be under the new 

regulatory framework. Notwithstanding 

that there is an expectation that peer and 

external self-assessment will inform future 

Page 233



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 16 of 35 
 

service improvement planning.  It is 

therefore recommended to commence 

2012/13 with the benefit of this 

independent assessment to add value to 

the action planning process. 

The latest performance information is 

captured on the live customer dashboard on 

the councils online covalent system. 

This, along with other management 

information and outcomes captures all the 

suite of Key performance indicators and 

2011/12 performance to date. 

Benchmarking data is also available to show 

Tamworth’s performance when compared to 

other high performing organisations and 

where the data is available other stock 

retained council landlord services.  This is 

captured on the quarterly housemark 

benchmarking reports. 

9. Tenant Empowerment and Involvement 

Consultation proposals are currently out in 

respect of changes to the Regulatory 

Framework for Social Housing.  With the 

abolition of the Tenant Services Authority 

(TSA) and economic regulation transferring to 

Homes & Community Agency(HCA), the 

emphasis will remain on customers 

influencing, shaping and scrutinising services.  

Improving and modernising the regulatory 

process will develop as we move forward to 

take account of localism and to ensure 

governance structures are robust as we 

deliver on our strategic ambitions. 

The Council’s over arching Communications 

Strategy ensures that customers influence 

the Council’s assessment of its strategic 

priorities. Feedback is channelled through 

mechanisms such as the Citizens Panel and 

the Tamworth Listens programme.  Over time 

the Council aims to increase the scope and 

coordination of consultation activities. 

The national regulatory framework remains in 

place for stock retained landlords as well as 

other RPs.  The national standards have 

been refreshed to integrate localism, 

achievement of the Decent Homes Standard 

the role of  housing to engage with wider 

agendas including worklessness and health. 

There remains a landlord obligation to deliver 

an Annual Report (click here for 2010/11 

Annual Report) as well as specific standards 

relating to:- 

• Tenant Empowerment and 

Involvement 

• Home 

• Tenancy 

• Neighbourhood & community 

The economic standards for value for money, 

governance and financial viability are not 

applicable to local authorities as there are 

already robust regulatory requirements in 

place. 

From April 2011 local offers were published, 

following comprehensive tenant consultation 

and clear service standards published. In 

addition Tenants voted in favour of key 

projects for each of the 4 locality areas. This 

was instead of opting for different service 

level standard which tenants felt would be 

confusing.  Details of the local offers can be 

found by visiting the website. 

Localism demands an even greater 

involvement from tenants’ to hold officers and 

members to account.  Tamworth is currently 

reviewing its co-regulatory model and the 

Tenant Consultative Group (TCG) revised its 

constitution in 2010/11 to reflect it wider remit 

in relation to informing and scrutinising policy 

and performance.  Involvement as been 

Page 234



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 17 of 35 
 

strengthened by the development of a 

customer review group as a designated body 

which to analyse and review complaints. 

 

An HRA sub group of the Council Budget 

Review Group has been established to 

oversee the delivery and future development 

of the HRA Business Plan. 

The Landlord Project Group meets quarterly 

and is chaired by the Portfolio Holder of 

Quality of Life and attended by members of 

TCG.  This seeks to scrutinise performance 

and challenge outcomes discussed. 

Role of the Performance Chamber 

The Performance Chamber is also held 

quarterly and is on a thematic basis agreed 

with the TCG.  This is a tripartite approach to 

scrutiny and includes members of the council 

scrutiny committee, tenants and independent 

critical friends to discuss key service areas. 

The Tenant Regulatory and Involvement 

Team has recently been strengthened to 

focus on regulation and increased to include 

a landlord improvement officer.  The full 

details of the Landlord Tenant Participation 

Strategy are set out here.  These were 

published in 2011 and are reviewed annually.  

The Customer Impact Assessment is also 

produced annually and is also on the website. 

Role of the Tenant Consultative Group 

(TCG) 

The TCG is the umbrella group in terms of 

tenant / leaseholder representation that is 

designed to act like a shadow board making 

recommendations and informing policy 

developments to Cabinet and full council.  

Whilst not reflected in the council constitution 

Cabinet have supported this approach. 

The TCG also receive a range of reports from 

sub groups including the customer complaint 

& review panel, tenant improvement group, 

tenant’s voice, senior united and the 

Staffordshire forum. These groups have 

specific terms of reference that seek to 

improve and develop key policy areas.  

These are described in the tenant 

involvement strategy. 

10. Making Best Use of our Resources 

Stock Condition 

The last major stock condition survey was 

carried out by Ridge in 2009.  It is used to 

inform the medium term financial resources 

plan and update the 4-year investment plan.  

It is based on a 15% sample of internal 

inspections of dwellings and 100% of external 

communal area and common parts.  Based 

on the industry standard methodology it is 

validated as being 95% accurate.  

Tamworth achieved the minimum decent 

homes standard as at March 30th 2010.  

However without the investment unlocked by 

self-financing this standard could not be 

sustained beyond 2016. 

Page 235



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 18 of 35 
 

The survey revealed that £99million was 

needed to maintain the basic decent homes 

standard required for the stock over 30 years 

(including both revenue and capital funding).  

In terms of energy efficiency, to survey 

showed that under the Standard Assessment 

Procedure (SAP) Tamworth’s score is 62.2 

compared to the national average of 51.  This 

assessment is based on a sample of major 

construction types. 

The existing RIDGE data has been used to 

inform the investment plans under self-

financing.  The Council however recognises 

that stock condition data needs updating and  

has therefore commenced a further stock 

condition survey to take place during 2012/3.  

This will be based on an 80% physical 

inspection of properties, to avoid the potential 

anomalies occurring with cloned data and to 

allow for a more robust approach linking and 

batching planned works from  This data will 

inform the development of an Asset 

Management Strategy.   

To improve efficiency the Council has 

combined its responsive and capital 

investment programmes under a single 

contractor.  This new contractual 

arrangements arrangement will commence in 

April 2012. 

Sustainability Matrix and Planning 

Using a methodology developed for the 

Council by Ridge, key estates have been 

identified and assessed in relation to the 

following 6 criteria. 

1. Return on Social Investment and/or  

providing Community Payback 

Score – 1 having the highest levels of 

community benefit with 3 have limited 

impact overall in its current state 

2. Rental Yield over 30 years 

Score – 1 having the highest rental impact 

and posing a real threat to income 

streams within the business plan if lost 

and 3 a lower impact 

3. capital investment required to maintain 

decency over 30 years 

Score – 3 high levels of investment 

needed, 1 lower levels of money needed 

in current condition 

4. Sustainability in terms of 5year or 

more long term tenancies 

Score – 1 if sustainable over 5 years and 

3 if high churn rate and high revenue and 

void costs 

5. Opportunities for regeneration or area 

based renewal as identified by being in 

locality areas, or via tenants and 

stakeholders feedback in terms of not 

meeting modern living standards and 

poor attractiveness in the area 

Score – 3 if already identified by stakeholders 

as in need of modernising or regenerating, 1 

if not 

6. High levels of revenue expenditure  

Linked to management of ASB, 

cleaning, maintenance, security, day-

to-day management 

Score – 3 if levels of revenue expenditure, 

high compared to a score of 1 where there 

was minimal or no expenditure in last 2 years 

The higher the score the higher the need for 

an options appraisal to determine future 

viability.  The three areas below scored the 

highest in relation to the factors described. 

Page 236



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 19 of 35 
 

 

This sustainability assessment has clearly 

informed the ambitions, in that feasibility and 

options appraisals will start with Tinkers 

Green and the Kerria Centre.  Tenants have 

identified regeneration as a key priority and to 

meet strict timescales planning is already 

underway in relation to these areas.  The 

Business Plan ambition seeks to identify the 

opportunity and it is intended that detailed 

options and delivery plans will be brought 

forward as they are realised. 

In relation to the Town centre High Rise 

estate, this scored slightly lower than both  

Tinkers and Kerria Estates.  However these 

properties have been identified as a priority 

based on tenancy turnover rates, longer term 

investment requirements and poor aesthetic 

impact on the Town Centre.  As the Council is 

already engaged in wider ambitions around 

Town centre Master Planning it is anticipated 

that the housing based options appraisal will 

run concurrently with wider ambitions for town 

centre regeneration. 

Remaining estates, characterised by either 

locality or property type, have been prioritised 

in accordance with the sustainability score. It 

is envisaged that the Asset Management 

strategy will develop further understanding in 

relation to these areas before a further 

programme of options appraisal is 

undertaken. These areas include: 

 

This will remain fluid as commercial and 

regeneration opportunities present 

themselves.  The ambition is to bring forward 

proposals for approval that seek to resolve 

existing problems but also capitalise on wider 

demographic opportunities, such as land 

asset and uses. 

30 – Year Financial Forecast 

As already stated, Council Housing Finance 

reform will completely change the financial 

landscape.  The financial assessment is 

therefore based on the self-financing 

arrangements from April 2012, using the 

latest assumed stock valuation and opening 

debt settlement figures issued by the 

Government in January 2012. 

 

 

 

Page 237



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 20 of 35 
 

In summary the head line figures are:- 

7. Debt Settlement - £45m 

8. Existing Debt - £23m 

9. Opening Debt - £68m 

10. Debt Ceiling - £79m 

11. Borrowing Headroom - £11m 

The Governments has valued Tamworth’s 

housing stock at £79m. This is based on 

modelling of income and expenditure over 30 

years undertaken by PWC, with the valuation 

calculated on a “net present value” basis 

using a 6.5% discount rate.  The opening 

debt settlement that each authority will be 

required to take on equals its stock valuation 

less any decent homes backlog funding, 

which Tamworth does not have, awarded for 

2012/13 and less the assumed level of debt 

or Subsidy Capital Financing Requirement 

(SCFR) held within its HRA at the end of 

2011/12. The Government stated this to be 

£79m. 

 

The Councils assumed opening debt 

settlement is thus calculated as follows 

Stock Valuation   £79m 

Less Decent Homes Backlog £0m 

Less SCFR    £34m 

Debt     £45m 

Under the self – financing regime Tamworth’s 

borrowing into the future will be limited or 

capped to the value of £79m.  In reality the 

councils actual HRA debt is at the end of 

2011/12 is £68m.  The difference between 

this and the cap is £11million which means 

the council will have ‘headroom’ to borrow 

and invest from the outset. 

The table below profiles the capital and 

expenditure requirements and how this can 

be profiled to achieve investment levels going 

forward. 

 

Tamworth has also been in negative subsidy, 

which if it had continued, in 2012/13, would 

have been an estimated £4.5million.  This 

would have been clawed back by Central 

government into the national pool for re-

distribution.  Within the financial forecast 

interest repayments of £3million have been 

assumed yearly.   

Whilst it is likely that this figure will vary once 

borrowing has occurred it will be the objective 

of the council to out-perform this estimate.  

Council Housing Finance Reform therefore is 

to the benefit of Tamworth Council.  This 

additional financial benefit will allow the 

Council over time to meet its stock 

investment needs and deliver area renewal.  

To allow for an improved investment 

programme there will be an increased 

revenue contribution to capital. 

The table below also shows the capital 

finance available and it is anticipated that the 

borrowing and feasibility planning will be co-

terminus with this. 

Page 238



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 21 of 35 
 

 

 

 

Regeneration Fund 

In summary, in the medium term (years 1 to 

4) there is predicted to be £2.5million 

available for regeneration / re-development 

projects assuming no additional expenditure 

or planned debt repayment.  This is being set 

aside as a Regeneration Fund to realise 

future ambitions.   

In the first 4 years £30m is available to meet 

the revised investment needs.  There is also 

some opportunity for resources around 

regeneration and new build with the potential 

to take up additional borrowing within the 

debt ceiling limit. 

Over years 5-10, there is a major investment 

opportunity with £19million predicted in 

balances (assuming no additional 

expenditure or repayment of debt). This 

coupled with the £11million in borrowing 

headroom means the potential for £30million 

to be available during this period.  It is 

envisaged that this will also be added to the 

Regeneration Fund as firmer proposals are 

detailed. 

In years 11-30 there are predicted balances 

of £189million again assuming no additional 

expenditure or repayment of debt.  This 

presents major opportunities for the council 

for regeneration.  Working within the ring 

fencing rules the Council will eek to ensure 

that housing investment provides benefits for 

Tamworth as a whole.   

Should the council pay down debt in the 

future then this would impact on the 

regeneration funds available. 

The table below illustrates the available 

surpluses which will be the basis for the 

Regeneration Fund. 

 

The base model is predicated on the 

following assumptions:- 

• A stock valuation of £79m 

• An opening debt settlement of 

£45million 

• Additional borrowing up to £11million 

being taken out after year 5 

• Interest only paid on the debt 

• An inflation rate of 3.5% in 2012/13 

and 2.5% pa over the remainder of the 

30 years, also applying to building 

costs 

• Interest rates based on the 

Consolidated rate of interest (CRI) at 

4.44% for 2012/13 and then assumed 

at 5% in future years once self 

Page 239



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 22 of 35 
 

financing is introduced, although the 

business plan will take account of 

performing better than this – probably 

1% lower 

• Rents rising according to the 

government formula until convergence 

with target rents is reached by 2016 

and then assumed to raise at the rate 

of inflation plus 0.5% thereafter 

• Depreciation of assets from the outset 

calculated according to the 

governments uplifted figures 

• The costs of management increasing 

A key risk at present is the future impact of 

the reform of right to buy and how capital 

receipts will be pooled.  An annual sale of 5 

properties has been assumed in the base 

model.  Should RTB’s increase then this will 

affect the council’s core critical mass and 

rental streams, although longer term viability 

will not be affected as long as efficiencies and 

the impact of this is realised in the 

management and maintenance costs. 

 

Risks and Sensitivities  

Key risks for the business plan are:- 

1. Post Rent Restructuring & Rent 

Increases 

If there were further limitations placed 

on the council in relation to rent 

increases then this would reduce 

income levels.   

2. Stock Condition & Asset 

management Strategy 

The new stock condition survey will 

change the profile and spending plans 

for investment in the decent homes 

programme over the next thirty years. 

3. Interest Rates and financial 

practices 

There are two risks - that interest rates 

will inevitably increase at the time 

borrowing is required and it is possible 

that future policy arrangements could 

change preventing a drawing down of 

the headroom. The other risk being 

that financial practices will change 

impacting on the overall treasurary 

management strategy. 

4. Services Charges 

Plans are still being developed for the 

introduction of service charges which 

will involve the desegregation / de-

pooling of costs from rents.  Whilst a 

policy decision is imminent in relation 

to the principle of separating out 

service charges and acceptance that 

who receives the service should pay, 

implementation is likely to be in 2014 

and therefore it is not financially 

prudent to build specific figures into 

the base financial model. 

However it is envisaged, that up to 

£300,000 could be recovered by 

charging for services and this will 

represent significant income for re-

investment in services. 

 

5. Right to buys 

The council has responded to the 

consultation paper and believes that 

the timing of this policy could 

undermine the financial business 

planning.  Currently it is anticipated 

that there will be 5 RTBs per annum, if 

this increases then this will affect 

income levels.  Even if government 

policy allows the full capital receipt to 

be retained locally, the maximum 

£50,000 discount, coupled with the 

repayment of debt will not allow for 

Page 240



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 23 of 35 
 

Tamworth to replace 1 unit with 

another, when the average council 

property value is less than £100k.  

That said, the setting up of the 

Regeneration Fund should allow the 

council to demonstrate that there is 

opportunity for council owned 

development if additional funding is 

attracted, should this be a condition of 

retaining receipts locally.   

6. Capacity / service delivery 

£150,000 has been built into the 

medium term financial plan to invest in 

service delivery.  But this is currently 

modelled on existing core housing 

management requirements.  If the 

council intends to realise its ambitions 

then development capacity will have to 

be added.  

At this stage the medium term financial 

forecast is based on the £30million 

investment.  The business plan will be 

adjusted as future budget setting is 

considered and there is more certainty 

around the impact of some of the risks 

identified. 

Should less funding be available then it is 

anticipated that lower funds for regeneration 

would be available rather than de-stabilise 

the investment plans to individual homes. 

This will impact on the Council’s ability to 

realise its ambitions for regeneration and 

renewal.  To mitigate this the council will seek 

to attract alternative investment and 

maximise the role of partners, in particular 

local Registered Providers.  This may require 

compromises in ambitions for new Council 

house building.  As part of the feasibility and 

options appraisal around Tinkers Green and 

Kerria research is under way to explore 

different management   and delivery models 

to ensure a robust and commercially focused 

approach to money management and stock 

development. 

On the other hand, additional funds as a 

result of better performance in relation to any 

aspect of the plan will enable greater 

investment in regeneration.   

Treasury Management Strategy  

External consultants have supported the 

Council in providing advice on the Treasury 

Management Strategy and a 30 year base 

financial model.  There are a number of 

sensitivities relating to  key assumptions 

made within the forecast including:- 

• Levels of decent homes funding 

• Interest rates and fluctuations 

• Approaches to debt management and 

repayment options 

• Building cost inflations 

The Government have offered a reduction on 

the current interest rates for Public Works 

Loans Board for the specific purpose of 

financing the debt settlement. With the advice 

of its financial consultants the Council 

considers that this represents the best option 

for the necessary borrowing.  

Decisions regarding future borrowing will be 

made at the relevant time based on market 

conditions. 

The detailed assumptions and risks are 

contained within the Treasury Management 

Strategy and can be viewed on the web . 

Treasury Management  

The Council is currently maintaining an 

under-borrowed position. This means that the 

capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing 

Requirement), has not been fully funded with 

Page 241



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 24 of 35 
 

loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s 

reserves, balances and cash flow has been 

used as a temporary measure. This strategy 

is prudent as investment returns are low and 

counterparty risk is high and will be 

maintained for the borrowing excluding the 

HRA reform settlement. 

Against this background and the risks within 

the economic forecast, caution will be 

adopted with the 2012/13 treasury 

operations. The Corporate Director 

Resources will monitor interest rates in 

financial markets and adopt a pragmatic 

approach to changing circumstances: 

• if it was felt that there was a significant 
risk of a sharp FALL in long and short 
term rates, e.g. due to a marked 
increase of risks around relapse into 
recession or of risks of deflation, then 
long term borrowings will be 
postponed, and potential rescheduling 
from fixed rate funding into short term 
borrowing will be considered. 

•  
 

• if it was felt that there was a significant 
risk of a much sharper RISE in long 
and short term rates than that currently 
forecast, perhaps arising from a 
greater than expected increase in 
world economic activity or a sudden 
increase in inflation risks, then the 
portfolio position will be re-appraised 
with the likely action that fixed rate 
funding will be drawn whilst interest 
rates were still relatively cheap. 
 

The requirement for the HRA reform 

settlement to be made to the CLG on 28 

March 2012 will require a separate 

consideration of a borrowing strategy. The 

Council will need to have the cash 

settlement amount of £44.668m available 

by the 28th March 2012, so separate 

borrowing solely for this purpose is 

anticipated. The PWLB are providing loans 

at interest  rates 0.85% lower than the 

usual PWLB interest rates solely for the 

settlement requirements. This provides a 

compelling reason to utilise this borrowing 

availability. The exact structure of debt to 

be drawn is curently being considered by 

officers to ensure it meets the 

requirements of the HRA business plan 

and the overall requirements of the 

Council. Whilst the debt can be drawn 

earlier than needed, this may incur a 

revenue cost, and will be considered when 

a review of the structure of actual 

prevailing borrowing and investment 

interest rates is undertaken nearer to the 

time. 

Following detailed review of the business 

plan and after consultation with our 

Treasury consultants (Sector) the Treasury 

management team are proposing to fund 

the settlement payment by taking loans 

from the Public Works Loans Board 

(PWLB). Up to ten individual loans with a 

long term maturity pattern of 40 to 50 

years will be taken and debt for the HRA 

will be held separately from General Fund 

under a two pool option. It is also proposed 

to continue with the use of internal 

resources to fund the difference between 

the new Capital Financing Requirement 

and the new levels of borrowing resulting 

from the reform. This will benefit both the 

HRA and General Fund as the special rate 

would not be available for this debt and it 

would also reduce the overall level of 

exposure for Council investments. 

This approach has been adopted based on 

the following factors; 

Page 242



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 25 of 35 
 

• By taking advantage of the PWLB 
special terms mentioned above, the 
Authority will obtain a lower rate and 
at a lower cost than currently 
available from other sources. 

• By breaking down the sum required 
into smaller individual loans, this will 
make the debt more manageable 
and flexible should 
circumstances/priorities change. 

• By taking long term loans, the HRA 
will have certainty over its borrowing 
costs throughout and past the 
business plan period. 

 

The graph below shows a comparison of 

the debt ceiling, outstanding loans within 

the housing pool (as per the two pool 

option) and optimised funding levels. All 

existing debt would become Housing debt. 

The vertical bars show the outstanding 

loans in the housing pool for each year 

and the red line at the top shows the debt 

ceiling or cap for the Authority as 

determined by the CLG. The green line 

shows the optimised funding level from 

the PwC LA model, or in other words, the 

loans outstanding after taking account of 

surpluses in the business plan to repay 

loans. 

 

As you can see, beyond 2020, the 

Authority has outstanding loans above the 

funding requirement identified from the 

business plan. This allows the Authority to 

have some flexibility within its housing 

capital expenditure plans (for 

redevelopment etc.) in the future. 

 

 

11. Stock Investment 

Although the council has met the minimum 

decent homes standard.  It is envisaged that 

a considerable amount of work will be 

necessary to   

• Take account of updated stock 

condition survey data 

• Meet tenants aspirations and 

expectations in relation to their 

priorities around regeneration and 

developing a Tamworth plus standard 

• Achieving higher levels of health and 

safety works 

• Investing in high rise and flatted 

accommodation in relation to 

communal parts 

• Realising ambitions around 

environmental assets 

Over £7million has been invested in the stock 

over the last two years.   

Page 243



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 26 of 35 
 

The Offer to tenants as part of the 

consultation process involved 3 clear options 

 

Tenants voted over-whelming for Option 2.  

Supporting the view that this allowed for 

• A regeneration fund to develop council 

owned accommodation and create 

vibrant neighbourhoods 

• Significant environmental and 

community wide investment 

• Maintained decent homes for all 

• Tailor made Tamworth Decent Homes 

Standard for vulnerable and elderly 

people, complimenting the new 

Repairs Policy 

From the financial modelling we know that 

£99m would be needed to meet existing 

obligations for basic decency.  If this is 

increased to include tenant aspirations, in 

other words building a Tamworth Decent 

Homes Standard,  then this total capital 

investment increases exceeding the basic 

decent homes standard for vulnerable 

tenants (i.e. over 65s) to £144m or £32k per 

property over the next 30 years, with £30m 

over the first four years.  Capital Plans have 

therefore been calculated allowing for:- 

• Maintenance of decent homes 

standard for all 

• Improvement on kitchen and bathroom 

programme to include flooring, tiling 

and decoration 

• Increased programme for sheltered 

improvements 

• Investment in environmental works 

and commitment to high rise 

maintenance immediately 

Again the offer  at the conference shared with 

tenants the capital profile for the next 4 years. 

 

 

From the table above, tenants were made 

aware of the key headlines, including:- 

• Decency will be maintained in 

accordance with the current stock 

profile 

• All non UPVC double glazed windows 

in Tamworth will be upgraded by the 

end of year 3 

• £23million is available for 

environmental works over the next 30 

years 

Page 244



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 27 of 35 
 

• There is financial capacity to achieve 

the Tamworth Decent Homes 

Standard for around 20% of 

households, determined by 

vulnerability. 

12. Our Ambitions 

The Council is ambitious in its plans to 

develop council owned affordable housing.  

The business plan not only seeks to set out 

the 5 year journey in relation to refurbishment 

and achievement of decent homes, but is 

also clear about the investment requirements 

for wider community environmental 

enhancements.  The financially planning for 

this has already been built into the medium 

term financial plan (2012-2016). 

The investment plan over the next 5 years is 

affordable and sustainable in the context of 

the longer term finances available. 

What is unprecedented is the new opportunity 

for increasing capacity for investment in 

regeneration and area housing renewal.  In 

this regard the ambitions are a framework 

going forward – it is intended that as these 

plans develop detailed options appraisals and 

delivery vehicles, presented to members, will 

be the mechanisms for servicing these 

ambitions going forward. 

The ambitions have been built around tenant 

priorities that have been comprehensively 

consulted on and negotiated with customers.   

In summary these are to:- 

1. Invest in area based regeneration and 

build council housing, starting with 

feasibility planning on Tinkers Green 

and the Kerria Estates 

2. Achieve an enhanced decent homes 

standard for existing properties 

3. Invest in Environmental works in 

communities with area based 

participatory budgeting 

4. Investment in Garage sites and traffic 

provision 

5. Invest in service delivery and staffing 

resources to add capacity to achieve 

service improvement plans 

6. Modernise the multi-storey estate on 

the Balfour estate, looking specifically 

at how this links to wider town centre 

master planning. 

The business plan sets out these ambitions in 

more detail below.  However these are the 

strategic opportunities and members and 

stakeholders will approve the detail as final 

proposals emerge over the next 5 years. 

Ambition One 

Meeting Decent Homes and Developing a 

Tamworth Standard  

The medium term financial plan for 2012-

2016 has approved a £30million capital 

scheme for investment in decent homes and 

community environmental improvements. 

The 30 year forecast is shown at Annex 1, it 

should be noted that only the first 4 years 

have been approved as part of the Council’s 

budget setting process. 

The next 30-years have been modelled using 

the existing stock condition data.  This will be 

kept under  review as that stock condition 

data is updated.  Whilst this could change the 

profile – it is unlikely to change the overall 

investment requirements. 

Decent Homes Standard 

As detailed in the tenant offer, it is projected 

that £99million is needed over the next 30 

Page 245



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 28 of 35 
 

years to meet the basic decent homes 

standard.   

As a result all homes will continue to meet the 

following standard:- 

achieve current statutory minimum standards 

for housing 

 be in a reasonable state of repair 

 have reasonably modern facilities and 

services, i.e. kitchen 20 years old or less and 

bathroom 30 years old or less. 

provide a reasonable degree of thermal 

comfort 

The financial and investment planning has 

been profiled to ensure we replace all the 

necessary components over the life of the 

business plan.  Windows and Roofing have 

also been built into the model and are 

included in the £144million projected 

expenditure levels.  It is anticipated that all 

windows will be upgraded to UPVC by 

2014/15. 

It is also proposed for 2012/13 to commission 

a new stock condition survey, but based on 

actual assessment rather than samples.  

Whilst this may change address based data 

the overall profile of investment, over the 30 

years, will mean that the same number of 

works will be undertaken. 

Tamworth have historically offered customers 

a choice in relation to kitchens and 

bathrooms and this will continue to be the 

case. 

As a result of previous contract arrangements 

coming to an end, Tamworth have taken the 

opportunity to procure a combined repairs 

and investment contractor from April 2012, for 

5-7 years.  The focus is very much on making 

efficiencies between response and planned 

works.  Along side a new repairs policy, the 

new contract arrangements will provide 

opportunity for enhancing customer 

satisfaction through a simplified and more 

customer focused services.  Similarly a new 

gas contract also starts in April 2012 and the 

opportunity to offer a fully inclusive gas 

service and installation arrangement will allow 

for improved customer satisfaction as 

efficiency is maximised. 

Tamworth Decent Homes Standard 

In addition to meeting decent homes going 

forward, it is also an ambition to develop a 

Tamworth Standard that enhances the 

existing decent homes standard and is 

offered to vulnerable and elderly residents.  

Tenants benefitting from this service will 

typically be:- 

In sheltered accommodation 

Vulnerable 

Over 65 and have no one else capable of 

providing support that lives in their household 

Have an assessed medical condition and /or 

disability 

Be vulnerable as assessed by the health 

inequalities matrix 

If they warrant this additional service then the 

decent homes standard will be boosted to 

include 

Full decoration works 

Choice of floor covering 

Choice of Tiling and light fittings 

Adaptations that meet the ‘life times’ standard 

and are tailored made to the customers 

individual service requirements 

Page 246



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 29 of 35 
 

The plan allows for 20% of the stock to 

benefit from this enhanced service offer.   

Ambition Two 

Environmental Improvements 

The financial forecast allows for £23m over 

30 years, equating to £750k per annum.   

The medium term financial plan, for the next 

4 years, has approved this level of 

expenditure - £3million.  The Budget Review 

Group have boosted this by £200k for 

2012/13, meaning that £950k is available in 

the first year. 

Should money not be spent then it will be 

profiled over later years, or re-directed to 

other works as agreed. 

Environmental Works 2012/13 

For 2012/13 it is intended to complete all 

known outstanding environmental works 

where there is an assessed need and it 

meets corporate and strategic objectives.   

Approval for year 1 of the programme is 

intended to be reported to Cabinet in April, 

following consultation with tenants and 

stakeholders. 

Projects already identified are spread across 

all concentrations of council housing estates.  

Locality teams are involved in community 

consultation and there are already a range of 

schemes that seek to achieve outcomes 

around healthier and safer communities, 

examples include:- 

Provision of leisure and play facilities for 

young people to promote well being as well 

as provide diversionary activities for those 

who might be involved in ASB 

Fencing programmes to provide defensible 

and aesthetic improvements for those living in 

the localities and in flatted accommodation 

Landscaping and improvements to paved 

assets to improve the environmental 

appearance of estates 

ECO schemes at sheltered schemes, where 

rising utility costs can be reduced by 

upgrading with fuel efficient and energy 

controllable powered systems 

The challenge for 2012/13 will be meet 

customer expectations but ensure works are 

sustainable and support wider corporate 

objectives. 

Environmental Improvement 2013 

onwards 

Going forward the Council will assess future 

opportunities to ensure that this level of 

investment can be sustained and delivers 

long term benefits.  Ones that are not only 

based on short term and tangible 

improvement but provide lasting solutions to 

community capacity building. 

During 2012, this will be assessed in more 

detail but future options could include:- 

Locality Participatory budgeting 

The current position is that HRA investment 

must be for the benefit of tenants.  Positively 

this also means there will be wider collateral 

community benefits has infrastructures and 

schemes are developed within communities.  

The locality areas already have a well 

developed participatory budgeting framework, 

this will be evaluated during 2012/13 to 

determine whether a proportion of this budget 

can be devolved for tenants and communities 

to decide and agree spending plans. 

Page 247



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 30 of 35 
 

Master planning areas 

Given the amount of money, it is also 

envisaged that locality areas can be looked at 

with a view to targeting investment on a 

larger scale, so that planning and 

development go hand in hand.  As these 

plans are thought through they will be 

reported through the HRA board and through 

the TCG. 

 

Ambition Three 

Investment in Garage Sites  

The Council’s Cabinet have already approved 

a series of decisions around the future use of 

garage sites.  

Most recently approved a positive stock 

retention strategy for 58 of the 89 sites.  

Investment requirements were estimated at 

£350k and this has been built into the 

environmental works budget for 2012/13.  

This work in conjunction with the “finding a 

garage” launch will seek to maximise income 

to the council has garages are let.  Currently 

48% of garages are empty and it is 

anticipated that this will not only be an invest 

to save approach, but also an invest to 

receive as garage incomes are improved. 

 

Ambition Four 

Invest in service delivery 

To meet the challenges identified, and deliver 

the scale of the programmes as a result of 

self financing will require an investment in 

service delivery. 

In the medium term financial plan £150k has 

been identified.  The councils stock retained 

landlord has consistently reviewed and 

streamlined it services.  Following on from 

organisational change in 2011, reports will be 

presented to Appointments and Staffing that 

achieve additional capacity around 

Anti social behaviour co-ordination 

Income Maximisation and Service Charges 

Repairs Project management  

Over the next 4 years has planned are 

developed it is entirely likely that resources 

will be reviewed to deliver key pieces of work. 

Where possible the council’s landlord will 

seek to achieve this capacity by working in 

partnership with other RPs and public and 

private sector bodies, but the levels of 

investment proposed are inevitably going to 

impact on management and maintenance 

services. 

The business plan recognises that a value for 

money assessment will have to be 

undertaken to ensure that costs are properly 

mapped and management costs are seen in 

the context of wider benchmarking and 

assessed in relation to changing stock 

numbers, i.e. RTBs, re-provision if 

appropriate, etc. 

 

Ambition Five 

Regeneration and Area Based Renewal 

From the financial forecast we know that 

there is £11million in borrowing headroom 

from the outset with balances of £19million 

between years 5-10.  This balance will be set 

aside in a Regeneration FUND. 

Increasing Spending Power 

Page 248



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 31 of 35 
 

Clearly this £30million is available in the 

context of the sensitivities already pointed to.  

However it is also the case that this 

investment will provide increased capacity to 

attract further funding opportunities, 

examples include:- 

Opportunities to bid for further funding from 

the HCA through the development framework 

in the same way that RPs can 

Front fund regeneration schemes at 

affordable rent (80% market value) to boost 

future revenue streams 

Match fund partnered investment to 

contribute to wider tenure mix on estates, 

such as shared ownership, owner occupation, 

and affordable rent, social rented – either as 

council owned provision or through joint 

venture management models. 

Acquire assets under the council’s acquisition 

policy that can be used to boost social rented 

provision  

Innovative approaches to transferring assets 

between the general fund and HRA where the 

business case and Asset Management 

Strategy supports this. 

Area Based Renewal 

From the sustainability plan we know that 

Tinkers Green and the Kerria Centre have 

scored highest in terms of housing based 

area renewal. 

Feasibility into the options around this is now 

underway.  The council’s ambition is to re-

provide council owned accommodation; the 

feasibility mapping will explore the most 

commercially viable models to deliver this 

including JVC / Mutualisation / estate transfer 

/ in house division with development partners 

/ public private partnerships – all in context of 

localism. 

At this stage the feasibility is focused on the 

opportunities for regeneration, but ambitions 

for development will be around:- 

The development of Sustainable Energy and 

Fuel Efficient properties that use and/or have 

access to dual power 

Focus on eco and energy sustainable 

products in new build and or refurbishment 

Mixed tenure estates combining affordable 

housing, council housing, shared ownership, 

owner occupation etc 

Development specialist accommodation 

including accommodation for older people - 

and community modelling -  

At this stage, the ambition is to promote new 

council owned properties where the business 

case supports this option.  Obviously any 

ownership of re-provision would balance 

rental and income streams with development 

of new affordable housing.    

 

Ambition 6 

Town Centre Development 

Current Investment Plans 

The financial plan for the next 4 years 

includes just over a £2million investment in 

the high rise blocks on the Balfour Estate.  

This is based on assessed works required to 

bring the blocks up to modern day standards 

as well as reduce revenue expenditure on 

repairs.  These works include:-  

Fire safety 

Lift refurbishment 

Page 249



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 32 of 35 
 

Roof repairs 

Communal upgrades 

Future Options 

Going forward it is estimated that a full scale 

refurbishment would cost £1.2million per 

block – for 6 blocks this is £7.2million.  This 

would include a full external cladding 

programme that realised latest solar panels 

for balconies and fuel efficiency. 

However a more prudent response at this 

stage is to assess this level of expenditure in 

the context of wider regeneration and re-

provision.  £7.2million may be better spent on 

attracting other investment to ensure that this 

contributes to the wider vision for the town 

centre.  As part of the Tamworth Gateway 

project it is appropriate that a housing based 

options assessment is linked, given the 

sustainability score already arrived at in 

relation to the high rise provision.  

 

13. Strategic Options for the Future 

It is clear from the financial modelling that 

Tamworth is in a good financial position and 

over the first 4 years can meet improved 

levels of investment in the stock.  More 

excitingly, we can plan during that time to 

realise significant investment in year 5-10 for 

the development of affordable housing and 

re-provision of council housing.   

£30m in 1st 10 years - 

Every £m potentially funds at least 10 new 

council homes.  Along with the opportunity to 

charge affordable rent (80% of the market 

value) this additional provision both in terms 

of asset and income stream can be built into 

future business plans to realise the borrowing 

against it and also reflect the income yielded. 

Whilst not all the money will be spent on new 

council homes, for illustration purposes if 

50% of the £30million (£15million) available in 

years 5-10 was spent on new council housing 

this could 

• Provide 150 new council owned 

homes, not least  re-providing new 

homes on the Tinkers Green Site 

• Yield an additional revenue in excess 

of £300k based on 80% affordable rent 

• Potentially attract significant 

investment from the HCA in match 

funding 

• Provide further opportunity to borrow 

against the asset. 

Cross Subsidy and Land realisation 

The entrepreneurial opportunities to cross 

subsidise assets can also be realised.  The 

delivery of the Asset Management Strategy is 

crucial to identifying land and assets so that 

development opportunities can be explored.  

This rolling programme of regeneration 

activity will create new resources for future 

investment whilst delivering new homes and 

better outcomes for residents. 

Flexible Tenure & affordable rent 

The Localism Act 2011 expects Councils to 

have a Tenancy Management Strategy in 

place by April 2013.  As the councils stock 

retained landlord the corresponding tenancy 

management policy would want to 

compliment this in terms of provision of 

affordable socially rented housing. 

A key action for 2012/13 is to scope the 

opportunities for this and options have been 

assessed that make best use of stock in 

relation to offering fixed term tenancies. 

Page 250



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 33 of 35 
 

This will be a political decision going forward. 

Acquisition and  increasing the Council’s 

HRA portfolio 

In addition to the strategic options already 

identified the council is not ruling out 

acquiring other assets that will either grow the 

councils own stock, or provide affordable 

housing. 

The Asset Management Strategy is a key 

driver for this and plans will be brought 

forward as the business cases are assessed. 

This is particularly the case there assets 

transfer between the general fund and HRA, 

such as council owned car parks.  Clearly the 

first step is identifying the assets and then 

determining how HRA investment can be 

targeted to maximise the opportunities open 

to the council. 

14. How the Business Plan was 

developed? 

Given the sensitivities and financial planning 

the business plan will be updated annually.  

This will allow for external challenge as well 

as being able to respond to changing policy, 

financial and social characteristics. 

The Business Plan for 2012 is intended as a 

set of a promises, a framework under which 

to deliver ambitions that until self financing 

have only been possible through transferring 

ownership. 

It is anticipated that the regulatory model will 

be developed but that customers and 

stakeholders will continue to develop the 

ambitions 

 

15. Monitoring and Review – making the 

vision a reality! 

The HRA business plan sets a broad 

strategic context for the delivery of council 

housing in both the medium and long term. 

Given the ambitions and pace of change it is 

prudent to complete an annual review of the 

business plan together with an impact 

assessment to assess performance.  This will 

take account of the changing political, social 

and economic landscape. 

It is also clear that the Landlord Service will 

be concerned with planning for self-financing 

in the short to medium term.  Plans around 

regeneration and council housing provision 

will be reported separately as feasibility and 

options appraisals take shape. 

In relation to governance this will be as set 

out in the co-regulatory framework.  A sub 

group of the councils BRG will be charged 

with monitoring and reviewing progress 

against the business plan.  Ultimately 

Page 251



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 34 of 35 
 

decisions will rest with Cabinet and Full 

Council as delegated. 

It is likely that in 30 years the political and 

financial landscape will change, so this plan 

is about reflecting on the position as we know 

it and how it can adapt and respond to 

change as it occurs. 

HRA Delivery Plan 2012-2016 

The delivery Plan is attached and is aligned 

to each of the Healthier Housing Strategic 

Aims and objectives and spans the next 5 

years.  Each of the high level objectives will 

feature in team work plans. 

A summary of the landlord service priorities 

for each year are attached and summary 

include:- 

2012/13 

To consult and prepare the final HRA 

business Plan for 2012-2042  

To be a key partner in the development of 

area based renewal and regeneration of 

landlord estates, including feasibility options 

for council housing building 

Research and prepare for the development of 

an Asset Management Strategy 

To deliver landlord organisational change 

linked to tenancy sustainment, housing 

options, and repairs and investment 

To mobilise and bed in the combined repairs 

and investment contractors and agree 

proposals for a new handyperson service 

To scope the implications for localism and 

prepare options for members on the tenancy 

management policy around flexible tenure 

and affordable rent 

To assess and plan for significant welfare 

benefit reform and make provision for rises in 

rent arrears and income collection to be 

undermined 

To achieve Housing Management RESPECT 

standard and agree an action plan with TCG 

on future improvement 

To extend housing options by linking the 

current finding a home to the new lettings 

agency  

To agree policy principles of de-pooling of 

rent and to maximise income on service 

charges 

Contribute to the allocation review in the 

context of localism and the impact on access 

to housing 

Consider the implications of Supporting 

People Funding and how sheltered housing 

can be sustained going forward 

Plan for spending significant capital budgets, 

i.e. environmental budgets 

Ensure the Council’s Health and Safety 

Policy ensures compliance with its stock 

retained landlord obligations and review each 

year. 

 

 

2013/2014 

Progress management and delivery models 

for regeneration and council housing 

provision including acquiring properties where 

economically viable 

Peer assessment of Landlord Service and 

invite inspection in line co-regulatory model 

Page 252



Tamworth Borough Council                                                              

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2012-2042 

 

Page 35 of 35 
 

Assess and make proposals for resources to 

deliver significant investment programmes 

Deliver an Asset Management Strategy to sit 

alongside the business plan 

To agree the outsourcing options and 

timetable for the introduction of service 

charges 

Explore outcomes from Transforming 

Tamworth in the context of the front of house 

service and review in relation to landlord 

resources 

To review the Health & Well being Plan 

aimed at tackling inequalities and ensuring 

customer characteristic monitoring is profiled 

and tailored to service outcomes 

To review the Disabled Facility Adaptation 

approach and policy and link to the private 

sector grant 

To develop and extra care / flexi care policy 

that supports the wider county wide strategy 

and maximises investment to Tamworth 

Investigate ways to tackle fuel poverty and 

provide sustainable energy sources 

 

 

2014/2015 

To review the tenancy agreement following 

the introduction of the revised contract in 

2012 

To produce a new tenants handbook and 

review all standards and literature 

To review the financial plan and consider the 

option for town centre / high rise regeneration 

in the context of the core strategy. 

 

 

 

 

 

2015/2016 

To assess implications arising from a general 

election and further political, social, economic 

and technical challenges 

 

 

 

Page 253



Page 254

This page is intentionally left blank



C
a

p
it

a
l 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

1
2

3
4

2
0
1
2
/1

3
2
0
1
3
/1

4
2
0
1
4
/1

5
2
0
1
5
/1

6
T
O
T
A
L

£
£

£
£

£
H
o
u
s
in

g
 R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 A

c
c
o
u
n
t 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts

  
  
  
  
  
2
0
0
,0
0
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 -
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 -
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 -
 
  
  
  
  
  
2
0
0
,0
0
0
 

B
a
th
ro
o
m
 R
e
n
e
w
a
ls

  
  
  
  
  
6
7
8
,4
0
0
 
  
  
  
  
 6
9
5
,3
6
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
7
1
2
,7
5
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
7
3
0
,5
7
0
 
  
  
  
 2
,8
1
7
,0
8
0
 

D
is
a
b
le
d
 F
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 A
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s

  
  
  
  
  
5
0
0
,0
0
0
 
  
  
  
  
 5
1
2
,5
0
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
5
2
5
,3
1
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
5
3
8
,4
5
0
 
  
  
  
 2
,0
7
6
,2
6
0
 

E
le
c
tr
ic
a
l 
U
p
g
ra
d
e
s

  
  
  
  
  
7
9
7
,9
8
0
 
  
  
  
  
 8
1
7
,9
3
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
8
3
8
,3
8
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
8
5
9
,3
4
0
 
  
  
  
 3
,3
1
3
,6
3
0
 

G
a
s
 C
e
n
tr
a
l 
H
e
a
ti
n
g
 U
p
g
ra
d
e
s
 a
n
d
 

R
e
n
e
w
a
ls

  
  
  
 1
,2
0
3
,4
4
0
 
  
  
  
1
,2
3
3
,5
3
0
 
  
  
  
 1
,2
6
4
,3
7
0
 
  
  
  
 1
,2
9
5
,9
8
0
 
  
  
  
 4
,9
9
7
,3
2
0
 

K
it
c
h
e
n
 R
e
n
e
w
a
ls

  
  
  
 1
,0
2
0
,3
6
0
 
  
  
  
1
,0
4
5
,8
7
0
 
  
  
  
 1
,0
7
2
,0
2
0
 
  
  
  
 1
,0
9
8
,8
2
0
 
  
  
  
 4
,2
3
7
,0
7
0
 

R
o
o
fi
n
g
 -
 H
ig
h
 R
is
e

  
  
  
  
  
  
4
0
,0
0
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
 4
1
,0
0
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
4
2
,0
3
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 -
 
  
  
  
  
  
1
2
3
,0
3
0
 

H
ig
h
 R
is
e
 L
if
t 
R
e
n
e
w
a
l

  
  
  
  
  
3
0
0
,0
0
0
 
  
  
  
  
 3
0
7
,5
0
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
3
1
5
,1
9
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
3
2
3
,0
7
0
 
  
  
  
 1
,2
4
5
,7
6
0
 

M
a
jo
r 
R
o
o
fi
n
g
 O
v
e
rh
a
u
l 
a
n
d
 

R
e
n
e
w
a
ls

  
  
  
  
  
1
5
0
,0
0
0
 
  
  
  
  
 1
5
3
,7
5
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
1
5
7
,5
9
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
1
6
1
,5
3
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
6
2
2
,8
7
0
 

F
e
n
c
in
g
/B
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 W
a
lls

  
  
  
  
  
  
1
5
,0
0
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
 1
5
,3
8
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
1
5
,7
6
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
1
6
,1
5
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
6
2
,2
9
0
 

F
ir
e
 U
p
g
ra
d
e
s
 t
o
 F
la
ts

  
  
  
  
  
2
0
0
,0
0
0
 
  
  
  
  
 2
0
5
,0
0
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
2
1
0
,1
3
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
2
1
5
,3
8
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
8
3
0
,5
1
0
 

E
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 F
la
ts

  
  
  
  
  
2
0
0
,0
0
0
 
  
  
  
  
 2
0
5
,0
0
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
2
1
0
,1
3
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
2
1
5
,3
8
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
8
3
0
,5
1
0
 

S
h
e
lt
e
re
d
 S
c
h
e
m
e
s

  
  
  
  
  
2
3
0
,0
0
0
 
  
  
  
  
 2
3
5
,7
5
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
2
4
1
,6
4
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
2
4
7
,6
8
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
9
5
5
,0
7
0
 

G
e
n
e
ra
l 
E
s
ta
te
 W
o
rk
s

  
  
  
  
  
7
5
0
,0
0
0
 
  
  
  
  
 7
6
8
,7
5
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
7
8
7
,9
7
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
8
0
7
,6
7
0
 
  
  
  
 3
,1
1
4
,3
9
0
 

W
in
d
o
w
 a
n
d
 D
o
o
r 
R
e
n
e
w
a
ls

  
  
  
 1
,1
5
9
,5
6
0
 
  
  
  
1
,1
8
8
,5
5
0
 
  
  
  
 1
,2
1
8
,2
6
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 -
 
  
  
  
 3
,5
6
6
,3
7
0
 

C
o
n
ti
n
g
e
n
c
y

  
  
  
  
  
2
5
0
,0
0
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 -
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 -
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 -
 
  
  
  
  
  
2
5
0
,0
0
0
 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
S
a
la
ri
e
s

  
  
  
  
  
1
1
2
,3
8
0
 
  
  
  
  
 1
1
5
,1
9
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
1
1
8
,0
7
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
1
2
1
,0
2
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
4
6
6
,6
6
0
 

C
D
M
 F
e
e
s

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 9
,0
6
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
 9
,2
8
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 9
,5
1
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 8
,1
4
0
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
3
5
,9
9
0
 

T
o
ta

l 
H
R
A
 C

a
p
it
a
l

7
,8

1
6
,1

8
0

  
  
  
 

7
,5

5
0
,3

4
0

  
  
 

7
,7

3
9
,1

1
0

  
  
  
 

6
,6

3
9
,1

8
0

  
  
  
 

2
9
,7

4
4
,8

1
0

  
  
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 F

in
a
n
c
in

g
:

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 -
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 C
a
p
it
a
l 
E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 -
 

G
ra
n
ts

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 -
 

S
a
le
 o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
H
o
u
s
e
 R
e
c
e
ip
ts

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 -
 

M
a
jo
r 
R
e
p
a
ir
s
 R
e
s
e
rv
e

4
,4
8
2
,0
6
0

  
  
  
 

4
,5
8
9
,1
1
0

  
  
 

4
,6
9
8
,7
2
0

  
  
  
 

4
,8
1
0
,9
4
0

  
  
  
 

  
  
 1
8
,5
8
0
,8
3
0
 

R
e
v
e
n
u
e
 C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 C
a
p
it
a
l 

O
u
tl
a
y 
in
 Y
e
a
r

2
,9
5
6
,9
7
0

  
  
  
 

2
,9
6
1
,2
3
0

  
  
 

3
,0
4
0
,3
9
0

  
  
  
 

1
,8
2
8
,2
4
0

  
  
  
 

  
  
 1
0
,7
8
6
,8
3
0
 

H
R
A
 C
a
p
it
a
l 
R
e
s
e
rv
e

3
7
7
,1
5
0

  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
3
7
7
,1
5
0
 

U
n
s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 B
o
rr
o
w
in
g

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 -
 

T
o
ta
l

7
,8

1
6
,1

8
0

  
  
  
 

7
,5

5
0
,3

4
0

  
  
 

7
,7

3
9
,1

1
0

  
  
  
 

6
,6

3
9
,1

8
0

  
  
  
 

2
9
,7

4
4
,8

1
0

  
  
 

D
:\
m
o
d
e
rn
g
o
v
\D
a
ta
\A
g
e
n
d
a
It
e
m
D
o
c
s
\3
\9
\2
\A
I0
0
0
0
1
2
9
3
\$
2
w
rv
2
u
lo
.x
ls
 /
 B
A
S
E
 H
R
A
 i
n
c
 i
n
fl
a
ti
o
n
 R
o
u
n
d
e
d

Page 255



Page 256

This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 

 
DATE OF COMMITTEE 

14
th

 March 2012 

 
 

REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR QUALITY OF LIFE 
 

 
 

TITLE OF REPORT 

Development of the Council’s approach to Private Sector Housing 
 

 
 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 

None 

 
 
PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to approve changes in the way Tamworth Borough 
Council engages with and intervenes in the private sector to provide a wider choice 
of suitable housing options for those wishing to reside in the Tamworth area. A 
strategic review has been undertaken of the challenges Tamworth will face in term of 
housing demand and the proposals are a response to ensure the Council’s private 
sector housing service is fit for purpose to meet the future challenges.    
 
The proposals in this report will assist in the delivery of priorities identified by the 
Tamworth Strategic Partnership and within the Council’s Healthier Housing Strategy. 

 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

That Cabinet approves the extension of the landlord accreditation scheme to include 
managing agents 
That Cabinet approve the development of the advice and assistance service provided 
to empty homes owners to include the provision of lists of approved landlords, 
managing agents and quality tradesmen. 
That Cabinet approve in principle the development of a social lettings agency to 
enable the Council to increase access to private sector accommodation. 
That a further report be submitted during 2012/2013 for final approval for the 
development of a social lettings agency    
 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Working with the private rental sector is an important area of activity in ensuring 
privately owned homes are utilised and let at an acceptable standard and in 
increasing the overall supply of housing and in particular affordable housing within 
Tamworth.  Ensuring a supply of decent privately owned homes for rent will assist in 
securing housing opportunities for all ends of the market ranging from discharging 
homelessness duty to top end private rents for those moving to the area for 
employment opportunities.  Equally important is the work undertaken by the Council 
to prevent homelessness and to support vulnerable households in housing difficulty. 
 
During the past twelve months the Council has continued to improve outcomes in 
these areas.  In particular 47 empty homes have been brought back into use.  In 
addition the Council continues to prevent homelessness in most cases despite the 

Agenda Item 9

Page 257



continuing pressures arising from the economic downturn.  
 
All the changes proposed in this report are aimed at increasing the effectiveness of 
the Council in relation to increasing access to good quality affordable housing and 
supporting households experiencing housing difficulty. 
 

 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Delivery of the above proposals relating to landlord accreditation and developing 
methods of advice and assistance will be met from within previously agreed budgets. 
 

 
 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 

Each proposed change in this report has been fully risk assessed and where possible 
risks have been eliminated or mitigated.  Whilst each activity poses a level of risk 
there is also a risk to service provision and ability to deliver housing solutions to 
Tamworth residents if the Council does not actively pursue engagement with private 
sector supply. 
 
 
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 

By working with private sector landlords, offering an extended range of options to 
bring empty homes back into use and in the future developing a Council run, not for 
profit letting agency will increase the supply of decent housing across the social, 
affordable and private rented sector.   
 
Additionally, delivery of the projects identified above will contribute to improved 
health outcomes for local residents.   The prevention of homelessness and other 
associated outcomes will contribute towards the delivery of key priorities identified by 
the Tamworth Strategic Partnership and adopted by Tamworth Borough Council. 
 

 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION   

Accrediting Managing Agents 
 
The Tamworth Landlord Accreditation Scheme is already established and along with 
the Landlord Forum is growing in strength and support.  Positive engagement with 
the private sector is now increasingly important.  Extending the scheme to include 
managing and letting agents will widen the scope of involvement and help extend 
good practice further than individual landlords. 
 
The proposed social letting agency will act as an additional tool to engage with the 
private rental sector and it is anticipated the agency approach will encourage 
landlords and managing agents to become accredited.  If a property has been taken 
onto the social letting agency by enforcement then it will be a requirement that the 
landlord becomes accredited before the property is handed back to them.  This 
provides a joined up approach to raise standards and ensure landlords have access 
to a wide range of services. 
 
Assistance and advice 
 
In order to provide a wide range of assistance to owners of empty properties and 
landlords it is proposed that the Council make available lists of  approved landlords, 
managing agents and quality tradesmen.  This information can be utilised for those 

Page 258



wishing to rent privately or to renovate the home for sale.  This approach widely 
accepted as a method of assistance in raising standards in the private sector. 
 
 
Social Lettings Agency  
 
It is proposed that the Council develop a Social Lettings Agency to enable the 
Council to discharge its duty of homelessness into the private sector, offer wider 
housing choice to home seekers and directly manage empty homes brought back 
into use and homes acquired as a result of enforcement activity.  The scheme will be 
developed to meet the needs of Tamworth residents by ensuring a co-ordinated 
approach to private sector housing activity and making best use of the existing 
housing stock.  Detailed proposals will be submitted to Cabinet during 2012/2013 
once all financial, legal and administrative considerations have been undertaken. 
 

 
 
REPORT AUTHOR 

Steve Pointon 

 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 

 
 
APPENDICES 

 

 

Page 259



Page 260

This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 
 

DATE OF COMMITTEE 
22nd February 2012 

 
 

REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR  
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND ENTERPRISE 

 
 

 

Proposal to incorporate the Think Local 4 Business Project into a 
company limited by shares and for the Council to become a Founder 

Shareholder 
 
 

EXEMPT INFORMATION 
None 
 
 

PURPOSE 
To obtain Cabinet approval to proceed with the incorporation of Think Local 4 
Business and to transfer the current assets of the project which are currently under 
the legal 'guardianship' of Tamworth Borough Council over to Think Local Limited, 
the proposed vehicle for the project’s incorporation.  To also obtain Cabinet approval 
for Tamworth Borough Council to become a Founder Shareholder in Think Local 
Limited and to take up the option of a seat on the company's Board of Directors. 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
1. To approve the incorporation and asset transfer (including one-off grant 

funding of £10,000) to the new company as soon as reasonably practicable. 
 
2. To approve the Council to become a Founder Shareholder in the company 

and to take up a seat on the company's Board of Directors. 
 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Think Local 4 Business (TL4B) is a major initiative for business covering the areas of 
intertrading, business support, procurement, local networking and business 
engagement which is currently run by an active partnership of the 8 district councils 
of Staffordshire, the County Council, the Chambers of Commerce and a group of 
committed local businesses.   
 
Over recent times, the emphasis of TL4B has moved toward providing greater 
interactivity, networking opportunities between businesses and online profiling 
facilities for businesses in a ‘social media’ type of environment.  The vision for Think 
Local 4 Business is that it will become the premier website for local businesses 
to network, inter trade, promote their activities and access useful business 
related information.  TL4B is more than just about promoting the use of a website 
however.  It is a campaign for culture change towards more sustainable procurement 
and business practices to maximise benefits to the local economy.   
 
In order to set out the vision and potential for the project, as well as specify the 
required actions and resources to realise these ambitions, a small 'Project Group' 
was formed from within the Partnership.  This consists of the Council's Economic 

Agenda Item 10

Page 261



Development and Enterprise Manager alongside one other local authority partner 
(East Staffordshire), the Director of the Southern Staffordshire Partnership and 3 
local business representatives.  Following extensive deliberation, this Group 
concluded that in order to fulfil its potential, the project needed to move to a more 
independent, business-like model of governance.  The main rationale for this was 
due to unwieldy partnership structures, legal issues relating to asset ownership and 
liabilities, the lack of a central project ‘figurehead’ and the need to attract in private 
sector investment.  As a result, the Project Group procured the services of a legal 
advisor to assess governance options and propose a preferred option.  On the basis 
of this advice, the Project Group has formulated the proposal for the incorporation of 
the project and an accompanying Business Plan (which is appended to this report as 
Appendix 1) to demonstrate the viability and potential of the business. 
 
The Business Plan concludes that from 2012-2015, the business has the potential to 
achieve its stated vision and ambitions.  However, in order to achieve this, it will need 
to: 
 

• Continue to develop its online product offering, so that it can become the local 
business portal of choice for businesses across Staffordshire. 

 

• Develop a comprehensive and targeted marketing campaign, focussing on 
cost effective and efficient modern methods. 

 

• Generate a steady and growing income stream from the business, to remove 
the reliance on local authority funding and allow the business to become fully 
self-funding from 2012/13 onwards, with the ability to further develop its own 
operational support infrastructure. 

 

• Put in place a business like legal and governance structure based on a 
company limited by shares model, supported by an effective Board and 
operational arrangements, foremost amongst which will be the creation of a 
'Project Lead' post remunerated initially by investor shares. 

 
This report and its recommendations is concentrated on this latter bullet point, 
although the successful running of this business venture will of course be heavily 
dependent on the achievement of all of the above elements.   
 
This incorporation and business opportunity represents an exciting opportunity for 
Tamworth Borough Council to be at the forefront of developing an alternative model 
of delivering a service to support the local economy involving a true business like 
partnership with the private sector.  It also mirrors the ways of working encouraged 
and adopted by the Local Enterprise Partnerships and the Business and Economic 
Partnership and is fully compatible with central government’s vision for future service 
delivery in partnership with local businesses, as well as its ‘Big Society’ vision.  
Whilst there are inevitably risks associated with any kind of venture of this nature, 
these will be very closely managed and mitigated, especially through the close 
ongoing involvement of Tamworth Borough Council officers and members in both the 
Board and operational management of the company. 
 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION   
The rationale behind the need to move to a more independent and business like 
model of delivery of the Think Local 4 Business project is as follows: 
 

Page 262



• Acting as a large and informal 'partnership of the willing', with associated 
partnership and delivery bureaucracy, has served to stifle progress, 
particularly through the requirement to operate by obtaining consensus. 

• The need for one of the local authority partners, namely Tamworth Borough 
Council, to take on accountable body status in terms of financial management 
and procurement has led to the creation of unsustainable legal issues in 
relation to asset ownership and legal liabilities potentially falling on just one of 
the partners. 

• The lack of a central figurehead or project leader has served to delay 
implementation of activities and the overall development of the project.   

• The TL4B project will rely on seeking financial investment and contributions 
from the private sector in order to remain financially sustainable and viable, 
and this will not prove possible whilst the Partnership is an informal 
partnership between local authorities and business. 

Through incorporation, TL4B will be able to address all of the above issues through 
the following features and attributes: 

 

• A Board will be appointed whose responsibility it will be to oversee the whole 
business and ensure that the business plan is being implemented and that 
shareholders and investors interests are protected. 
 

• In addition, a private sector individual will be sought to take on the role of 
Project Lead or 'Business Director’ and will be responsible to the Board for 
driving forward all actions designed to implement the business plan.   

 

• By forming a small Board of Directors, with full responsibility for implementing 
the business plan, decision making will be dramatically simplified and 
accelerated, allowing the company to more effectively implement the 
Business Plan and more readily take advantage of commercial opportunities. 

 

• The company will assume all ownership and associated legal liabilities of the 
assets of TL4B and will therefore solve the aforementioned legal issues that 
concern Tamworth Borough Council in particular in relation to its position of 
accountable body. 

 

• By forming a separate, private trading company, the process of attracting 
potential investment from the business community will become a lot simpler 
and more attractive to investors, with the ability to offer incentives in terms of 
shareholdings and potential returns in the form of dividends. 

 

• A legally separate, private sector trading company will also be in a better 
position to bid for certain funding streams (e.g. ERDF, Regional Growth Fund, 
or similar).  There is also a growth in the trend for local authorities and other 
bodies to commission private sector based companies and organisations to 
deliver services, so the new company will be better placed to bid for such 
opportunities as they arise. 
 

In summary, the incorporation of TL4B is considered absolutely vital if the project is 
ever going to be able to become financially self-sustaining and achieve the ambitions 
stated in the Business Plan.  It also requires the full flexibility and efficiency of 
operation that will be afforded through incorporation if it is to exploit its full 

Page 263



 

commercial potential and the market opportunities that currently exist. 
 
In order to move towards the latter bullet point, the Project Group, which has since 
adopted the title of 'Interim Board', has engaged the services of a local independent 
legal advisor to assess the options for delivery of such a model of delivery and 
prepare the necessary legal paperwork.  The details of the option recommended by 
the legal advisor is detailed below. 

LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS AND BACKGROUND 
 
Legal Structures and Operation 
 
Following the procurement of the independent and expert legal advice and subsequent 
discussion within the TL4B Interim Board, the following basic principles of the company 
structure have been agreed.   

 

• The company will be known as ‘Think Local Ltd’ and will be formed on the back of the 
dormant company of this name that the current Chairman of the Partnership, Mark 
Adcock (a local solicitor and current Chair of the TL4B Partnership) has maintained on 
behalf of the Partnership.  Think Local 4 Business will therefore become a trading 
name or trade mark of the company. 

• The company will be limited by shares and will be a full trading company (i.e. able to 
make and redistribute its profits). Therefore, the current potential liability exposure of 
the Council as the accountable body will be transferred to the new company. The 
Council’s liability in the company will be limited to it’s share capital holding (c.£3,750, 
depending on how many of the councils in the partnership become Founder 
Shareholders). 

• There will be 2 classes of shares:  Founder Shares for each council partner equal in 
value to the investment made in the current assets of TL4B (i.e. the current website, 
business data and marketing collateral, which equates to £30,000) divided equally 
between the 9 Founder shareholders (i.e. the 8 district councils and 1 County Council).  
Investor Shares, for any private individual or company who offers to invest in TL4B in 
terms of either significant cash or non financial contribution (e.g. in kind expertise or 
input to the Board’s activities). 

• Founder Shareholders’ interests will be protected by the fact that alteration to the 
company constitution will only be possible through the agreement of at least 75% of the 
founder shareholders.  Founder Shareholders wishing to ‘cash in’ their investment must 
first offer their Shares for sale to the other Founder Shareholders. The other Founder 
Shareholders (or as many as wish to do so) can then buy them in equal proportions. 
Only if there are any Founder Shares left over as unwanted by the other Founder 
Shareholders can those left over Shares be sold to a non Founder. 

• On a (solvent) winding up they are to get back the initial value before sharing equally 
with all shareholders in the value of any residual cash.  

• Investor Shareholders will have a right to a return of profit, at the Board’s discretion and 
will have no rights to alter the constitution to the detriment of Founder Shareholders. 

• On a sale of the company, the Founder Shareholders will receive the initial value back 
of their Shares before sharing equally with all shareholders in the balance of the 

Page 264



purchase price.  

• The Board will consist of 7 Directors minimum, 3 from the Founder Shareholders, 3 
from the private sector and 1 private sector Chair.  Each Founder Shareholder partner 
will be offered a seat on the Board, which will be matched by an equivalent number of 
private sector representatives, plus a private sector chair. It should be noted that not all 
Founder Shareholders have expressed a desire to take up the offer of a Board place.  
This equates to just 3 who have positively declared this intention so far - Tamworth, 
East Staffs and Stafford - with none further anticipated, meaning that the likely Board 
composition will number 3 local authority, 3 private sector plus a private sector Chair. 

 
For further detail on the legal structures of the proposed company, please see appendix 2, 
Articles of Association of Think Local Limited. 
 

Powers to Act 
 
The recommendation of this report is supported by certain legislative powers residing 
in local authorities, namely: 
 

• The power to promote the economic well-being of an area, as per part 1 of the 
Local Government Act 2000 

• The power to trade in function-related activities through a company, as per Section 
95 of Part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003. 

 
Risks & risk management 
 

Risk description Likelihood / 
impact 

Status Countermeasure 

Not all local authority 
areas endorse the 
incorporation / founder 
shareholder status and 
therefore make no 
further financial or 
other contributions to 
the business. 

Without 
countermeasures: 
 
Very high / high 
 
 
With 
countermeasures: 
 
High / moderate 

Legal 
 
Financial 
 
Reduced impact 

There are ongoing consultations 
with all the LAs with a view to 
obtaining endorsement.  The 
incorporation is not dependent 
on all LAs proceeding and the 
company can function with just a 
small number of active LAs. 
Businesses from any non-
participating LA areas will still be 
able to sign up and contribute to 
TL4B.  Contingencies have been 
built into the cashflow forecast to 
deal with any partner 
contribution shortfall and 
additional funds have just been 
secured from the Greater 
Birmingham LEP Start-up Fund 
(£10K). 
 

The business fails to 
realise its income 
generation targets and 
therefore cannot trade 
solvently. 

Without 
countermeasures: 
 
High / very high 
 
 
With 
countermeasures: 
 

Financial 
 
Reduced impact 
 
Reputational 

The appointment of a Business 
Director with revenue targets to 
achieve and who will be able to 
concentrate a large proportion of 
his time on income generation 
will ensure that this is given top 
priority in the business.  The 
business will be monitoring its 
accounts and cash position on a 

Page 265



 
 

Moderate / very 
high 

day to day basis as a matter of 
priority to ensure that it never 
lives beyond its means.  If the 
company continued to fall short 
of generating sufficient business 
interest and revenue for a 
prolonged period, then the 
company would be wound up 
before it could become 
insolvent.  It will always 
therefore be guaranteed that a 
small contingency fund is held 
back to enable the company to 
meet any winding up costs.   
 

Lack of business 
engagement with the 
website and with the 
general activities of the 
business. 

Without 
countermeasures: 
 
High / high 
 
 
With 
countermeasures: 
 
Low / Moderate 

Financial 
 
Reduced impact 
 
Reputational 

A full and comprehensive 
marketing campaign has been 
formulated, using all available 
channels of communication.  
Incentives will be built in to 
encourage peer to peer referrals 
and encouragement.  There will 
be a focus on developing case 
studies and celebrating 
successes to encourage new 
and ongoing commitment. 
 

Partners not working 
together effectively or 
losing confidence in 
the business. 

Without 
countermeasures: 
 
Moderate / 
Moderate 
 
 
With 
countermeasures: 
 
Very low / very 
low 

Reduced impact 
 
Reputational 

Board members will be tasked 
with keeping non Board member 
LAs and other partners fully 
informed of progress.  The 
Business Director will be tasked 
with formulating a programme of 
key stakeholder engagement 
(both new and existing 
partners).  Regular stakeholder 
meetings will take place, 
including an AGM.  Regular 
Operations Group meetings will 
also act as a key vehicle for 
continued partner engagement 
and coordination.  Business 
Director will be supported by an 
Operations Coordinator from 
one of the existing LAs (likely to 
be from Tamworth Borough 
Council). 
 

 
 

Page 266



RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
Currently, the Council provides a cash contribution of £1,000 per annum to the 
project to facilitate the activities and ongoing development of the project, alongside 
all the other council partners (except for the County Council, who provides £5,000 
per annum).  Given the high profile nature of the project with the business community 
and its potential as a business engagement tool, the council has also provided 
relatively significant officer time from its Economic Development team in order to lead 
and manage the project. 
 
As stipulated in the Business Plan, only one further annual contribution of £1,000 will 
be required in April 2012 from all the district council partners (plus £5K from the 
County Council).  However, once the project is incorporated and begins to realise its 
own income streams, there will be no further need for the Council to continue with 
these annual contributions. 
 
In addition and as mentioned in the above Legal/Risks section, although the 
Council’s liability exposure will be limited to the value of the founder shareholding 
already invested (c. £3,750), the Board will ensure that the company’s expenditure 
never exceeds its revenue so as to remain solvent. 
 
The employment of a local business person to lead and manage the project (the 
'Business Director') will remove the need for the Council to take the overall lead in 
managing the new business.  However, the new Business Director will still require 
some ongoing support in terms of facilitating the business of the new Board, as well 
as driving some of the more operational sides of the business, such as the marketing 
and website development.   
 
Given the nature of this project and its potential to deliver on the Council's objectives, 
as well as those of the Economic Strategy adopted by Cabinet last Autumn, in 
addition to the extensive  knowledge and expertise connected to the project that the 
Council has built up, it is considered appropriate for the Council to continue to invest 
relatively significant proportions of its Economic Development team's officer time in 
supporting the new business.  This is estimated at up to 0.5 day per week for the 
Economic Development and Enterprise Manager's time and up to 1.5 days per week 
for the Senior Economic Development Officer's time.   
 
Given that this input will surpass that which is expected of the other Council partners 
in terms of what is required as a minimum of Founder Shareholders, it is considered 
appropriate once the business is incorporated to hold negotiations to quantify this 
additional time and seek the award of additional investor shares for the Council as 
'remuneration' for this additional resource.  The general principle of the awarding of 
additional investor shares in return for this additional commitment over and above the 
Service Level Agreement has already been agreed by the Interim Board and 
Tamworth Borough Council will make this a pre-requisite before any such 
commitment of resources is given. 
 
Tamworth Borough Council is currently finalising the details of an award of £10K from 
the Greater Birmingham and Solihull Start Up Fund (as provided by the Department 
for Business Innovation and Skills).  This funding is recognition of the investment by 
the Partnership in the development of the website as an effective business 
engagement tool, particularly in a social media type of environment.  Although 
Tamworth Borough Council, as accountable body, will receive these funds, it is 
considered appropriate for the Council to provide it back to the incorporated company 
as a grant, rather than through the award of any additional shares. 
 

Page 267



 

 
 

REPORT AUTHOR 
James Roberts, Economic Development and Enterprise Manager 
 
 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Appendix 1: Think Local Business Plan, 2012 - 2015 
 
Appendix 2: Articles of Association of Think Local Limited 
 
 

APPENDICES 
As above. 
 

It should be noted that following a recent recruitment process, a Business Director 
has now been appointed.  He is Peter Farmer, a Tamworth businessman who has 
been part of the Interim Board and is also Chairman of the Business and Economic 
Partnership and therefore is well versed in the local business scene.  The Interim 
Board has already placed the required authority in him to proceed with the 
operational development of the business in advance of any incorporation taking place 
and has every confidence that he will be able to meet the objectives of the company.  
It should also be noted that this position will only be remunerated by the award of 
investor shares based on the achievement of agreed revenue raising targets, and as 
stipulated in the Business Plan it will only be remunerated by way of a salary 
payment once the company is fully self-financing. 
 
 

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
1. The overall objective TL4B is to directly promote the local economy through 

sustainable indigenous business development, new business start ups, as well as 
inward investment.  By promoting sustainable business growth, it will be ensured 
that businesses and jobs created are around for the long rather than short term. 

2. The creation of increased local job opportunities will decrease the need for out 
commuting and promote more sustainable forms of transport, such as walking, 
cycling, rail and buses. 

3. TL4B will also encourage businesses to adopt more sustainable business 
practices, including product/process enhancements, waste management and 
energy consumption. 

4. Through the creation of a powerful local business network, businesses and public 
bodies will be encouraged to adopt more sustainable procurement practices, 
increasing business opportunities to local companies and reducing the transport 
impact of businesses. 

5. TL4B will also encourage residents to use local businesses and facilities, thereby 
reducing travelling and the resultant environmental impact. 

Page 268



APPENDIX 1 
 

www.thinklocal4business.co.uk  

 

Business Plan 2012 – 2014 

 
 

Page 269



www.thinklocal4business.co.uk  
 

Business Plan 2012 – 2014 
 
 

1. Background 
 
Think Local 4 Business (TL4B) is a major initiative for business covering the 
areas of intertrading, business support, procurement and local networking 
which is run by an active partnership of the 8 district councils of Staffordshire, 
the County Council, the Chambers of Commerce in Southern Staffordshire 
and Stafford and a group of committed local businesses.   
 
Starting in 2003/4 from an initial base of 1,400 businesses signed up in 
Lichfield district, it has expanded to cover the whole of Staffordshire County 
today and is delivered largely via a ‘business portal’ style website 
(www.thinklocal4business.co.uk).   
 
TL4B started out as an initiative to promote inter-trading amongst local 
businesses and also encourage the public and private sector to buy local and 
provide greater opportunities and easier access to their procurement 
opportunities for local businesses.  It has also been designed to provide a 
comprehensive source of information on business support and advice, 
business news and events for business happening across the county and 
Region.  Partners have uploaded business support information on to the 
website, and work is in hand to align marketing and engagement activities so 
that TL4B can be used in a strategic and efficient way for the public sector to 
engage with the business community. 
 
However, over recent times, the emphasis of TL4B has moved toward 
providing greater interactivity, networking opportunities between businesses 
and online profiling facilities for businesses in a ‘social media’ type of 
environment.  It is the aim of TL4B to become a local form of ‘LinkedIn’ or 
‘Facebook’ for businesses, using the business, as opposed to the individual, 
as the key identifier or profile. 
 
TL4B is more than just about promoting the use of a website however.  It is a 
campaign for culture change towards more sustainable procurement practices 
for the benefit of the local economy.  To that end, partners have been very 
active in promoting this culture change, particularly within the partners’ own 
organisations.  To this end, a ‘Think Local Pledge’ was drawn up which set 
out the key principles of the think local culture, to which all 8 District Councils, 
the County Council and the 2 chambers of commerce have all signed up.   
 
In an era where sustainability issues are high on the agenda, TL4B has 
provided a practical solution to enable businesses to think more about the 
positive impact of their businesses on the local economy, whilst at the same 
time providing them with greater local exposure, opportunities to network and 
easier access to information on business support and information. 
 

Page 270



 
2. Vision 
 
Think Local 4 Business will become the premier website for local businesses 
to network, inter trade, promote their activities and access useful business 
related information.  
 
 
3. The product / service 
 
TL4B will offer Staffordshire based businesses, in particular small to medium 
enterprises, a number of products and services, most of them for free, though 
some will be charged. The free services will give local businesses 
opportunities they may not otherwise have been able to access without paying 
for. 
 
 
 
3.1 Online Profile and mini website 

 
Every business that registers with TL4B gets a free profile, allowing the 
business to effectively have a free website, with contact details, trading 
description and many other features, including the ability to post photos, 
videos and create discussions.  This is particularly suited to small start up 
businesses who cannot afford a website immediately. 

 
3.2 Search Engine Optimisation 

 
The site has been constructed to be highly search engine optimised, meaning 
all registered businesses will feature highly on Google and other searches, 
raising their profile for free.  

 
3.3 Online networking and social media 

 
TL4B uniquely offers registered business as an entity the ability to create 
networks of other businesses registered on the site, communicate with them 
and inter trade. Social media tools, LinkedIn, Facebook and Twitter are 
integrated into the site, allowing businesses to use their existing profiles / 
accounts to register and also share useful contact and information to their 
wider networks.  

 
3.4 News and events 

 
Registered businesses will be able to post their events on the site for free, 
and invite other businesses on the site and in their network to attend. News 
stories and press releases have to be sent to an administrator first to check 
suitability but can also be put on for free. Both these services offer another 
opportunity for businesses to promote themselves and their activities. 

 
3.5 Business directory 

Page 271



 
By creating an online profile, registered businesses can also be searched for 
by other businesses, either by category, so type of business sector they are in 
or a number of other generic factors such as distance, postcode, area or 
keywords.  

 
3.6 Business Support 

 
TL4B will act as a hub to publish useful, up to date information for businesses 
on relevant support on offer, including information directly syndicated from the 
main Business Link website, as well as information from other TL4B partners, 
such as local councils, universities and colleges, chambers of commerce, 
Federation of small businesses and other private sector business support 
agencies. 

 
3.7 Opportunities 

 
The site will offer the ability for registered businesses and public sector bodies 
to post informal business opportunities and more formal contracts / tenders. 
This will be one of the only sections of the site to incur a charge. 
 
  
4 Sales and marketing  
 
4.1 Target Markets 
 
In order to be successful the site and the brand have to be well recognised by 
the target market, in order to attract businesses to register and continue to 
make use of the services on offer.  

 
The current target markets for TL4B are as follows: 

 

• New business start ups 

• Small to medium enterprises – less than 250 employees.  

• High growth / innovative businesses.  

• Business support delivery organisations  

• Sponsors / Investors.  
 
4.2 Why these markets? 
 

• New businesses and small to medium businesses have the most to 
gain from the current opportunities offered by the site – contact with 
other businesses, self promotion and information opportunities.  

 

• High growth / innovative businesses will benefit from the opportunity 
to promote themselves, new products and activities. 

 

• Business Support Delivery organisations will have the opportunity to 
explain what services they offer businesses in one joined up 
directory.   

Page 272



 

• Sponsors and investors to attract investment and revenue to fund 
ongoing development of the website and the services it offers.  

 
4.3 Marketing tools 
 
The site will need to be marketed through a mixture number of methods in 
order to be successful.  
 
1. Email marketing 
Monthly marketing emails will be sent to 3 different groups of businesses as 
below. These emails will be designed to attract people to use the site, offer 
relevant and current information on products and services and explain how 
these can benefits local businesses.  

 

• New users: Any user that has signed up to the site within one 
month.  

 

• Current users: Any user that has been registered on the site for 
more than one month.  

 

• Prospective users: Potential users that have not yet registered on 
the site 

 
In addition to marketing emails, the system will also generate a number of 
internal automatic messages, to existing users, similar to that currently 
employed by LinkedIn, notifying businesses when they have a new network 
connection or when new content has been added to the site that may be of 
interest.  
 
2. Networking Meetings 
Around Staffordshire there is a significant number of highly proactive business 
networking groups, each with a membership of at least 10 businesses. These 
groups are key to increasing the recognition of the site, as most are small 
local businesses. Once made aware of the site and how it will benefit them 
they in turn will then tell other businesses and also use the site as a 
networking tool.  
 
3. Exhibitions and Events 
TL4B should take every opportunity to market itself and increase its brand 
recognition at any business to business event that is deemed appropriate, in 
order to access those businesses that it cannot reach through other means 
and increase awareness of the products and services it offers.  
 
4. Social media / recommendations 
By using various forms of social media, such as LinkedIn and twitter, it is vital 
that the services and benefits TL4B can offer local businesses get as much 
coverage as possible. This could be through such opportunities as businesses 
tweeting about business won through the site, events they’ve found or 
interesting new stories and pr.  

Page 273



 
5. Google Search 
By ensuring that the site and content is continuously updated and added to, 
search engines, predominantly Google, will increasingly index the site, 
allowing for Google searches to consistently bring up TL4B results, driving 
more traffic to the site and therefore more bran awareness.  
 
4.4 Sales opportunities 
 
It is imperative that the site generate income in order to support continual 
development and marketing campaigns. In order to do this a number of 
income generating services will be offered. The success of these income 
streams go hand in hand with the success of the site, the more visitors and 
users of the site, the more likely TL4B is to attract significant revenue 
generating opportunities.  
 
1. Sponsorship: Businesses who have a significant interest in raising their 
profile through being involved with TL4B would pay to be either site or section 
sponsors. This should be businesses who could directly benefit from the TL4B 
brand and marketing, rather than just general advertisers who seek business 
to business contacts. Examples could be an events company who wishes to 
sponsor the events section of the site and run branded Tl4B events.  
 
2. Investors: Businesses who seek to put financial or staff resources in to 
TL4B in exchange for some form of agreed return, to develop products, 
services and brand recognition.   
 
3. Advertisers: A number of advertising banners will be offered on the site at 
a reasonable cost, allowing business to sell their services to site users.  
 
4. Paid Sections: As the site develops sections such as Events and 
Opportunities will incur a cost by users, so creating an event or accessing a 
business opportunity will be charged for. Other opportunities will be explored 
around paid for enhanced user profiles and accounts offered businesses 
greater benefits. There is also the opportunity to explore pay per click links 
through to other sites. Some websites and advertisers will pay for pertinent 
sponsored links on TL4B that redirect straight through to their sites.  
 
 
5 Legal, governance and operational support 
 
5.1 Legal and governance 
 
TL4B has always operated as an informal ‘partnership of the willing’ between 
local authorities and the business community.  Whilst this has had certain 
advantages in terms of its flexibility, lack of bureaucracy and informal 
procedures, it has also acted to stifle progress, particularly as the effective 
operation of the Partnership requires consensus.  In addition, the lack of a 
single ‘Project Leader’ has served to delay implementation of activities and 
the overall development of the project.  The need for an accountable body in 

Page 274



terms of procurement and financial management, which over the past 3 years 
has fallen on Tamworth Borough Council, has also created some 
unsustainable legal issues.  Finally, and perhaps most crucially, The TL4B 
project will rely on seeking financial investment and contributions from the 
private sector, as well as bidding for other public sector funding streams, in 
order to remain financially sustainable and viable, and this will not prove 
possible whilst the Partnership remains an informal partnership between local 
authorities and business and is not a properly constituted legal body. 
 
 
It was for these reasons that a full incorporation of the project into a trading 
company limited by shares is currently under consideration, with a view to 
establishing the new vehicle by April 2012.  it is proposed that the company 
would initially be fully owned on an equal basis by the 9 council partners, who 
would become ‘Founder Shareholders’, but with the ability to attract additional 
private sector involvement and investment through the issue of ‘Investor 
Shared. 
 
The business would be run by a small Board, drawn from the Founder 
Shareholders and private sector on a 50:50 basis, who would be responsible 
for implementing this Business Plan.  The Board would have a private sector 
Chair and would be supported by a ‘Project Lead’ with responsibility to the 
Board to coordinate and drive forward the development of the company and 
carry out strategic engagement with partners and businesses. 

 
The appointment of the Project Lead is considered as crucial to the overall 
development of TL4B, as the lack of such a figure has represented the single 
most important reason why progress of the project under its current guise has 
been somewhat slow.  In order to save costs and ensure the retention of 
working capital in the company during the crucial first year of the company, it 
has been agreed by the current Interim Board and endorsed by the 
Partnership that this appointment will be remunerated through investor shares 
in lieu of salary tied to income generation and investment targets.  A 
specification for this role has been drawn up, attached as Appendix A, with a 
view to a recruitment process taking place early in the New Year. 
 
In summary, the incorporation of TL4B is considered absolutely vital if the 
project is ever going to be able to become financially self-sustaining, which it 
will need to do as it cannot rely forever on local authority funding, particularly 
in the current climate of public sector funding.  It also requires the full flexibility 
and efficiency of operation that will be afforded through incorporation if it is to 
exploit its full commercial potential and the market opportunities that currently 
exist. 
 
5.2 Operational support 
 
The Board and Project Lead will rely on the ongoing operational support of 
council partners in order to realise the ambitions of this Business Plan.  In 
order to set this out clearly, the outline of a Service Level Agreement has 
been put together, which specifies the required minimum level of support and 

Page 275



involvement from the councils (irrespective of membership of the Board) if the 
business is to be able to achieve its vision, as well as what the company will 
be delivering in order to achieve the vision.  This is attached as Appendix B. 
 
In addition, the day to day operational implementation of the business will be 
supported by an Operations Group, with responsibilities around website 
development, data management and marketing.  This will be staffed by 
representatives from the councils, as well as private sector businesses with 
specific and relevant expertise of the aforementioned areas.  This group will 
be led by the Project Lead, but in order to assist the Project Lead with the 
implementation of operational plans, there will be an additional need for a 
member of the Operations Group to take on the role of ‘Lead Operations 
Officer’. 
 
The company will also require the following staff, assets and services: 

 

• Part time member of administration staff to support the Project 
Lead. 

• Small office facility to accommodate 2 persons. 

• Accounting support & accounting software. 

• Banking facilities. 

• Insurance cover. 

• Ongoing legal services 
 

All of these have been costed and included in the Financial Plan, although it is 
considered that some of the more significant costs could be heavily mitigated, 
such as the part time staff member through potential secondment from the 
private sector, or the offices through either a public or private sector partner 
making space available pro bono or at much reduced cost.   
 
 

Page 276



6 Finance 

 

FINANCIAL FORECAST THINK LOCAL 4 BUSINESS 

CASH FLOW 2011 - 2014 

EXPENDITURE Current Actual 2011 2012 Total  2012  2013 Total Total 

  Up to 

06/12/2011 

Dec-11 Jan - 

Mar 

2011/2012 Apr - 

Jun 

July - 

Sept 

Oct - 

Dec 

Jan - 

Mar 

2012/2013 2013/14 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Web Development 9140 5000 400 14540  2500   2500 2500 

Web Maintenance   800 800 800 800 800 800 3200 3200 

Marketing and Promotion 1992 800 600 3392 1000 3000 2000 1000 7000 7000 

Professional Services 3240  900 4140 900 900 900 900 3600 3600 

Events     350 700 350 350 1750 1750 

Incorporation Stationery   1000 1000   500  500 500 

Office Rent     1200 1200 1200 1200 4800 4800 

Office support   840 840 1260 1260 1260 1260 5040 5040 

Contingency   1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 4000 4000 

Total 14372 5800 5540 25712 6510 11360 8010 6510 32390 32390 

           

INCOME Current Actual 2011 2012 Total  2012  2013 Total Total 

  Up to 

06/12/2011 

Dec-11 Jan - 

Mar 

2011/2012 Apr - 

Jun 

July - 

Sept 

Oct - 

Dec 

Jan - 

Mar 

2012/2013 2013/14 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Prior Year Reserves 12900   12900 2688    2688 11573 

Partner Contributions 15500   15500 7000    7000  

Advertising   0 0 4125 5700 8325 8325 26475 49500 

Sponsors      1000 2000 1500 4500 6000 

Premium Offer     300 500 1000 1500 3300 10000 

Events          5000 

Total 28400 0 0 28400 14113 7200 11325 11325 43963 70500 

           

Surplus/Deficit 14028 -5800 -5540 2688 7603 -4160 3315 4815 11573 38110 

Cumulative 14028 8228 2688  7603 3443 6758 11573   

P
age 277



 

P
age 278



6.1    Finance commentary 
 
The above cash flow forecast demonstrates that the business will generate a small 
surplus of 2.7k in 2011/12 which steadily grows in the next financial year to £11.5k 
and by March 2014 to £38.1k. 
 
This progression is achieved mainly through advertising on the website which 
gradually increases in 2012/13 to £26.5K and by March 2014 to £49.5k. Other 
income sources such as sponsorship and special offers will boost this to £70.5k. 
 
Major development work on the website will be virtually complete by March 2012 but 
overall costs will slightly increase year on year to £32.4k with the running costs of the 
new company and the marketing and promotional work to drive businesses to the 
website. This will be funded mainly by advertising revenue and council contributions 
of £13k. 
 
The overall financial viability of the company however is dependant on achieving a 
minimum income of around £64k a year. This will be reached towards the end of 
2013/14. This income would then cover the running costs of c £32k per year as 
identified in the cash flow forecast, a salary for an Operational Manager and still 
generate a surplus of at least £10k which is likely to increase year on year as more 
businesses register on the site. 
 
 
7.    Summary 
 
2012 - 2014 will be a critical period for TL4B, offering a multitude of opportunities for 
the business to develop and achieve the stated vision to become the premier website 
for local businesses to network, inter trade, promote their activities and access useful 
business related information.  
 
In order to achieve this, the business will need to: 
 

• Continue to develop its online product offering, to provide businesses with 
more opportunities to build their local profile, develop local networks, access 
business opportunities and information on national and local business support.  
In effect, TL4B can become the local portal of choice for businesses across 
Staffordshire. 

 

• Develop a comprehensive and targeted marketing campaign, focussing on cost 
effective and efficient modern methods. 

 

• Generate a steady and growing income stream from the business, to remove 
the reliance on local authority funding and allow the business to become fully 
self-funding from 2012/13 onwards, with the ability to further develop its own 
operational support infrastructure. 

 

• Put in place a business like legal and governance structure based on a 
company limited by shares model, supported by an effective Board and 
operational arrangements, foremost amongst which will be the creation of a 
Project Lead post remunerated initially by investor shares. 

 
With all of the above ingredients in place, this Business Plan demonstrates that TL4B 
can achieve its vision whilst becoming a self-financing, profitable venture. 
 

Page 279



Appendix A 
 

Think Local 4 Business Project Lead Job Role 
 
Think Local 4 Business (TL4B) is a completely free to use business support and 
networking portal which encourages businesses to intertrade and access support 
networks.  

 
TL4B already provides:  
 

• Search Engine Optimisation (provides a strong rank for the business profile on 
Google) 

• A free web presence, in effect a basic website / web presence.   

• Opportunity to publish news stories and events free of charge  

• An ability to connect and interact with other Staffordshire Businesses easily and 
quickly, to find contacts, suppliers and sales prospects.  

• An ability to find and ask for information through discussions group, networks and 
forums.  

 
We now want to take it to the next level through establishing TL4B as a separate 
business entity to enable more flexible and faster decision making, as well as more 
scope to attract private sector investment and respond to the needs of the market. 
 
TL4B will incorporate in April 2012 with a new Board consisting of a balanced mixture 
of public and private sector representatives, plus a private sector Chair. An interim 
Board is in place to facilitate this transition and the project lead could be a Board 
member (though not a requirement, however they would need to attend monthly 
Board meetings). The Company will have up to 9 Founder Shareholders (the 9 local 
authorities in Staffordshire) and there will be the ability to award Investor shares to 
private sector companies who were willing to invest in the business.  
 
We are now seeking to appoint a ‘Project Lead’ with considerable experience of 
working within the private sector to drive the development of the business. To 
maximize the working capital in the business this role will be remunerated purely 
through the award of investor shares based on the achievements of targets 
(identified below) by the end of 2012 through the efforts of the post-holder, as well as 
the general growth and success of TL4B. 
 
In order to have a meaningful impact on the project, it is anticipated that the role will 
be required for a minimum of 1 year.  There will be regular reviews throughout this 
year, with a final review toward the end of the year to determine the future 
requirements for the role, which may include an element of salaried remuneration, 
depending on the achievements of the targets for income generation. The review will 
also provide the platform to assess the viability of settling an investor share award to 
the post holder (and any other investors). It will be up to the individual appointed to 
determine the exact level of time commitment for the role, but it is considered that a 
minimum of 15 hours per week will be required in the first year. 

 
The Project Lead would be responsible for: 
 

• Project managing the ongoing development of the website to provide additional 
services, features and user benefits 

• Implementing and promoting the premium offer providing additional added value 
opportunities to business and income generation to the company 

• Implementing the marketing plan to increase business usage, develop strategic 
commercial partnerships, and secure sponsorship, investment and funding 

• Engaging and informing existing and new partners about the value of TL4B Page 280



• Providing feed back on progress of the ‘Business’ and being accountable to the 
Board for actions, resources and any financial agreements 

 
Key Targets – financial year 2012/13 

 

• 3500 business users signed up from across Staffordshire (over 500 already 
achieved) 

• 25% of these businesses using the site on a regular basis – at least once a week.  

• 50% of active businesses publishing new stories and events. 

• Regular creation and use of discussion boards by registered users.  

• Regular creation of networks by registered users.  

• Creating annual income from advertising space of £26.5K 

• Creating annual income from sponsorship of the site of £4K. 

• Ensuring the regular updating of key content.  
 
Anyone interested in this critical and exciting role should send in a CV and covering 
letter highlighting any relevant experience which indicates a capacity to deliver the 
required leadership, management and outputs.  Please send summary CV and letter 
to: 
 
James Roberts 
Think Local 4 Business 
c/o Tamworth Borough Council 
Marmion House 
Lichfield Street 
Tamworth 
Staffordshire  B79 7BZ 
 
Email: james-roberts@tamworth.gov.uk 
Tel. 01827 709204 
 
Any queries or questions about the role should also be directed to the above. 
 
Closing date for applications is 20th January 2010.  Meetings with prospective 
candidates will take place during week commencing 30th January on mutually 
convenient dates to be arranged with individual candidates.   
 

Page 281



Appendix B 
 
 

Outline Service Level Agreement between Think Local Limited and Founder 
Shareholders (local authority members) 

 
Think Local Limited exists with the purpose of realising the vision of Think Local 4 
Business as outlined in the Business Plan 2012 - 2014, namely: 
 

Think Local 4 Business will become the premier website for local businesses to 
network, inter trade, promote their activities and access useful business related 

information. 
 
In order to support the delivery of this vision, Think Local Limited undertakes to: 
 

1. Develop and provide a range of tools, information and support services to the 
local business community via the TL4B website, as stipulated in the Business 
Plan and as deemed appropriate by the Board from time to time.  

2. Engage with the local business population using all means at the company’s 
disposal in order to promote the use of TL4B and its tools, information and 
support services, and encourage further business to business networking.  

3. Generate an income stream into the company via sponsorship, advertising 
and the development and sale of premium services to business users.  

4. Manage and host the TL4B website, ensuring that any enhancements are 
implemented effectively, the general content is kept up to date and that 
problems and issues are dealt with in a timely fashion.  To provide statistics on 
website usage.  

5. Administer and manage the company, Board and shareholder affairs in an 
effective and timely manner and keep Founder and Investor Shareholders 
abreast of developments.  

6. Promote the adoption and adherence to the Think Local Pledge and promote 
sustainable procurement practices amongst local authorities, other public 
sector organisations and the wider business community. 

7. Engage with non LA partners and stakeholders to encourage the adoption of 
TL4B values and to keep them informed of progress with the business.  

 
In order to support the delivery of this vision, Founder Shareholders in turn undertake 
to: 
 

1. Approve and administer business registrations and data. 
2. Manage and respond to Think Local related enquiries for the relevant 

business population. 
3. Review, amend and add district appropriate content. 
4. Attend necessary training and keep up to date on Think Local products and 

services. 
5. Attend regular operations group meetings. 
6. Provide district relevant email addresses and other necessary non Think Local 

registered Business data. 
7. Actively promote Think Local through any appropriate means including 

occasional attendance of relevant events. 
8. Continually promote the adherence to the Think Local Pledge and promote 

sustainable procurement practices within their own council 
9. Provide evidence to support their organisation's progress in meeting the 

requirements of the Think Local Pledge. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 282



APPENDIX 2 

 

No. 05308496 

COMPANIES ACT 2006 

COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES 

 

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION 

of 

THINK LOCAL LIMITED 

 

(As adopted by a Written Resolution of the Members passed on [  ] 2011) 

 

PRELIMINARY 

1. The Articles of Association as set out at Schedule 1 of The Companies (Model 
Articles) Regulations 2008 (SI 2009 / 3229) apply to the Company in so far as 
they are not excluded or modified by the following regulations. 

2. In these Articles the following expressions shall have the meanings show 
below: 

Acquire means the act of becoming the owner of shares in the 
Company whether directly or indirectly (including 
acquiring shares or other rights of control over any body 
corporate or other entity which, directly or indirectly, 
holds shares in the Company) and whether by issue, 
transfer, renunciation or conversion of shares or 
otherwise and the term ‘Acquisition’ shall be construed 
accordingly 

Acquirer means one person or a group of persons acting in 
concert to Acquire shares in the Company and persons 
shall be deemed to be acting in concert if had the 
Company been a public company they would be 
regarded as doing so under The City Code on Takeovers 
and Mergers in force from time to time  

Act means the Companies Act 2006 

Auditors means the auditors from time to time of the Company  

Controlling Interest means the interest of an Acquirer in the Company on the 
Acquisition of no less than 75% of the Founder Shares of 
the Company then in issue or upon the happening of the 
completion of a transfer to the Acquirer of all or a 
substantial part of the continuing business of the 
Company as a going concern 

Founder Member means the holders of Founder Shares  

Liquidation Event means the commencement by the Directors or creditors 
or Members or any body having statutory authority of 
any proceedings having as its effect under any 
administration, reorganisation, arrangement, 
receivership, dissolution or liquidation of the Company 
under any law or statute in any jurisdiction applying to 
the Company whether now or hereafter in effect or 
where the Company is adjudicated as insolvent by a 
court of competent jurisdiction or if the Company shall  
petition or apply for or acquiesce in or consent to the 
appointment of any administrator, receiver or trustee of 

Page 283



the Company or all or any substantial part of its property 
or if the Company applies for any arrangement with its 
creditors or Members or if the Company shall make an 
assignment of its intellectual property for the benefit of 
creditors (other than in the ordinary course of business) 
or if the Company shall authorise the putting into writing 
its inability to pay its debts as they fall due or a 
reduction in capital of the Company or a return of capital 

Member means the person, entity, association, corporate body or 
local authority body registered as the holder of any 
shares in the capital of the Company 

Redemption Price means the price per share to be equal to the value of the 
consideration given or credited as paid by each Founder 
Member for each Founder Share of which they are 
holders plus any premium 

Sale means the acceptance of an offer or the making of an 
agreement which upon the satisfaction of the conditions 
(if any) of such offer or agreement results in an 
acquisition of a Controlling Interest 

shares means shares of any class in the capital of the Company 

Triggering Event means either of: 

(a) a Liquidation Event; or 

(b) a Sale 

 

3. The liability of the Members is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid on the 
shares held by them. 

 

SHARE CAPITAL 

4. The authorised share capital of the Company is £500,000 divided into 100,000 
Ordinary Founder shares of £1.00 each (to be known as “Founder Shares”) and 
400,000 A Ordinary shares of £1 each (to be known as "A Shares"). 

5. The Founder Shares and A Shares shall have the rights of ordinary shares in 
the Company but shall otherwise constitute separate classes of shares and save 
as expressly provided, shall rank as pari passu in all respects. 

6. Subject to the Articles of Association, but without prejudice to the rights 
attached to any existing share, the Company may issue shares with such rights 
or restrictions as may be determined by ordinary resolution. 

7. The Company may issue shares which are to be redeemed, or are liable to be 
redeemed at the option of the Company or the holder, and the Directors may 
determine the terms, conditions and manner of redemption of any such shares. 

8. The shares of the Company may be allotted or otherwise disposed of to such 
persons and for such consideration and upon such terms as the Directors may 
determine subject, in the case of any shares forming part of any increased 
capital, to such directions as to the allotment or disposal thereof as may be given 
by the Company in General Meeting at the time of the creation of such shares. 

9.- (1) The Company may by ordinary resolution declare dividends, and the 
Directors may decide to pay interim dividends. 

(2) A dividend must not be declared unless the Directors have made a 
recommendation as to its amount. Such a dividend must not exceed the amount 
recommended by the Directors. 

(3) No dividend may be declared or paid unless it is in accordance with Members’ 
respective rights. 

Page 284



(4) Unless the Members’ resolution to declare or Directors’ decision to pay a 
dividend, or the terms on which shares are issued, specify otherwise, it must be 
paid by reference to each Member’s holding of shares on the date of the 
resolution or decision to declare or pay it. 

(5) When the Company’s share capital is divided into different classes, no interim 
dividend may be paid on shares carrying deferred or non-preferred rights if, at 
the time of payment, any preferential dividend is in arrears. 

(6) The Directors may pay at intervals any dividend payable at a fixed rate if it 
appears to them that the profits available for distribution justify the payment. 

(7) If the Directors act in good faith, they do not incur any liability to Members 
holding shares conferring preferred rights for any loss they may suffer by the 
lawful payment of an interim dividend on shares with deferred or non-preferred 
rights. 

 

FOUNDER SHARES 

10.-(1) Members holding Founder Shares shall be entitled to the following voting 
rights: 

(a) As regards voting at General Meetings of the Company, Members 
holding Founder Shares shall have the right to receive notice of all 
General Meetings of the Company and shall have a right to attend 
thereat either in person or by proxy but not to vote by virtue of or 
in respect of their holdings of Founder Shares, unless: 

(i) the resolution is one which directly or indirectly varies, 
modifies alters or abrogates any of the rights, privileges, 
limitations or restrictions attaching to the Founder Shares; or 

(ii) the resolution is for the winding up of the Company, the 
reduction of share capital, the approval of the giving of 
financial assistance or the purchase by it of any of its shares; 
or 

(iii) there shall have occurred a material breach by the Company 
or any Directors of any of the provisions of these Articles 
provided that the holders of the Founder Shares shall cease in 
respect of their holdings of such shares to be entitled to vote 
upon any resolution upon such breach being remedied to the 
reasonable satisfaction of a majority of the holders of the 
Founder Shares; or 

(iv) the resolution is one to remove a Founder Director from 
office; and  

holders of the Founder Shares shall cease in respect of their 
holdings of such shares to be entitled to vote upon, in the case of 
either of paragraphs (1)(a) (i) or (1)(a) (ii) above, the relevant 
resolution being decided upon (whether by passage, failure or 
withdrawal). 

(b) When entitled to vote pursuant to this paragraph (1)(a) of this 
Article, every holder of Founder Shares shall have such number of 
votes as exceeds by one vote the number of votes required to be 
cast whether on a show of hands or a poll or a resolution in writing: 

(i) to defeat a proposal for a resolution which has effect to alter 
amend or delete any of or all of paragraph 10(1)(a) of these 
Articles of Association including should it be the case, a 
resolution to amend an existing Article (other than paragraph 
(1)(a) of this Article or to insert a new Article in either case 
the effect of which is to alter any of the rights of the holders Page 285



of any shares arising under paragraph (1)(a) of this Articles; 
or 

(ii) to defeat a proposal for a resolution which has effect to alter 
amend or delete Article 16 of these Articles of Association; or 

(ii) to defeat a proposal for a resolution for the deletion or 
alteration of this paragraph (1)(b) or the cancellation or 
alteration of these Articles of Association or any other act 
which would have the same or a similar effect. 

(2) Other than a resolution proposing to increase the authorised capital of the 
Company, further to and in addition to the rights at Article 10(1), no resolution 
proposing the alteration of any Article of these Articles of Association of the 
Company (whether by addition, deletion, substitution, amendment or otherwise) 
shall be approved as a resolution of the Company unless the holders of not less 
than 75% in nominal value of the Founder Shares then in issue first agree in 
writing that the resolution may be proposed to all of the holders of shares in the 
Company. 

(3) As regards dividends, the holders of the Founder Shares shall not be entitled 
to receive any dividend unless: 

(a) the Directors of the Company have first so resolved; and 

(b) the holders of not less than 75% in nominal value of the Founder 
Shares then in issue agree by a resolution in writing that a dividend 
should be received on all the Founder Shares and A Shares then in 
issue; and   

 if so agreed, each of the properly registered holders of Founder 
Shares and A Shares shall become entitled to receive a dividend in 
proportion to the number of shares held by each of them in the issued 
shares of all classes in the Company. 

(4) On the occurrence of a Liquidation Event in preference to all other Members, 
the holders of Founder Shares shall be entitled to a payment out of the surplus 
assets of the Company remaining after settlement of its liabilities, such payment 
to be equal to the value of the consideration given or credited as paid by them 
for the Founder Shares of which they are holders.  

(5) Any consideration paid or payable on a Sale shall be payable to all the 
Members of the Company who are registered as the holders of Founder Shares or 
A Shares in proportion to their holding of shares pro rata the shares then held by 
them after the holders of Founder Shares shall have been paid from the 
consideration receivable an amount equal to the value of the consideration given 
or credited as paid by them for the Founder Shares of which they are holders.  

(6) As regards redemption: 

(a) the Company shall have the right at any time to redeem Founder 
Shares at the Redemption Price by giving the holders of Founder 
Shares not less than 3 months' notice in writing; 

(b) the Company shall give the holders of the Founder Shares further 
written notice of redemption not later than seven days prior to the 
date of redemption which notice shall be irrevocable and shall fix 
the time and place for such redemption and shall specify the 
Founder Shares to be redeemed, such Founder Shares to be 
redeemed amongst the holders of the Founder Shares for the time 
being in the proportion in which their holding of Founder Shares 
bears to the total number of the relevant class of Founder Shares 
outstanding prior to such redemption. At the time and place so fixed 
the registered holders of the Founder Shares to be redeemed shall 
be bound to deliver to the Company the certificates for such 
Founder Shares (or an indemnity in respect thereof reasonably 
satisfactory to the Company) for cancellation and thereupon the 

Page 286



Company shall pay to (or to the order of) such holders all the 
monies payable in respect of the redemption of such Founder 
Shares and such payment shall be made through a bank if the 
Company shall think fit. If any certificate so delivered to the 
Company shall include any Founder Shares not redeemed on the 
occasion for which it is so delivered, the Company shall issue 
without charge a fresh certificate for such Founder Shares; 

(c) there shall be paid on the redemption of each Founder Share the 
Redemption Price calculated up to and including the date of 
redemption. The receipt of a person authorised by the registered 
holder for the time being of any Founder Shares so redeemed for 
money payable on redemption thereof shall constitute an absolute 
discharge to the Company in respect thereof; 

(d) if any holder of Founder Shares whose shares are liable to be 
redeemed under this paragraph shall fail or refuse to deliver up the 
certificate for his shares the Company may retain the redemption 
monies until delivery up of the certificate or of any indemnity in 
respect thereof reasonably satisfactory to the Company and shall 
within seven days thereafter pay the redemption monies to the 
Members. No holder of Founder Shares shall have any claim against 
the Company in respect of interest on monies retained pursuant to 
this paragraph. 

(7) Subject to the Companies Act 2006 the Company shall be authorised to make 
a payment in respect of the redemption or purchase of any of its own shares 
otherwise than out of distributable profits of the Company or the proceeds of a 
fresh issue. 

 

ISSUE OF SHARES 

11.-(1) Subject to Article 11(5) and any direction to the contrary which may be 
given by a resolution of the Company, and subject to any statutory provision, 
any unissued shares in the capital of the Company shall be at the disposal of the 
Directors who may offer, allot, grant options over or otherwise dispose of them 
to such persons, at such times and for such consideration and upon such terms 
and conditions as the Directors may determine. 

(2) The Directors are by this Article authorised to exercise all powers of the 
Company to allot all relevant securities, such authority shall be unconditional and 
for the exercise of such power generally. The maximum amount of relevant 
securities that may be the subject of allotment under such authority shall be the 
amount by which the nominal amount of the authorised share capital of the 
Company exceeded the nominal amount of the issued share capital of the 
Company at the date of adoption of these Articles. 

(3) Unless the authority at Article 11(2) is renewed that authority will expire on 
the date five years from the date on which the resolution adopting these Articles 
is passed save that the Company may before such expiry make an offer or 
agreement which would or might require relevant securities to be allotted after 
such expiry and the Directors may allot the relevant securities in pursuance of 
such offer or agreement accordingly.  

(4) The amount of a relevant security for the purposes of Article 11(3) shall in 
the case of a share in the Company mean its nominal amount, and in the case of 
a right to subscribe for, or to convert a security into, shares in the Company shall 
mean the nominal amount of shares in the Company which would be required to 
satisfy such right (assuming full exercise). 

(5) The Directors may allot relevant securities pursuant to the authority 
contained in this Article 10 as if section 561 of the Companies Act 2006 did not 
apply to the allotment of any such securities. 

 

Page 287



MEMBERS’ RESERVE POWER 

12.-(1) The Members may, by special resolution, direct the Directors to take, or 
refrain from taking, specified action. 

(2) No special resolution made under paragraph (1) invalidates anything which 
the Directors have done before the passing of that resolution. 

 

TRANSFER OF SHARES 

13.-(1) If any holder of shares in the capital of the Company (in this Article 13 
called the "Vendor") desires to transfer any interest in any of his shares, he shall 
give to the Directors notice in writing (a "Transfer Notice") of such desire and 
stating the number of shares in respect of which the Vendor desires to effect 
such transfer. A Transfer Notice shall be irrevocable.  

(2) Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the holders of 75% in nominal value of 
the issued Founder Shares, no Founder Shares may be transferred unless such 
shares have first been offered on equal terms to all the holders of Founder 
Shares pro rata, as nearly as practicable, to Members holding shares of that 
class. No Founder Shares may be offered for sale or transfer unless all Founder 
Members have first been offered the Founder Shares proposed to be transferred. 
A Founder Share may only be transferred to a Founder Member unless all the 
Founder Members have first declined to purchase that share.  

(3) A Transfer Notice shall constitute the Directors the Vendor's agent for the 
sale of the shares to which the Transfer Notice relates at a price agreed between 
the Vendor and the Directors as being the fair selling value thereof as at the date 
of receipt by the Directors of the Transfer Notice as between a willing vendor and 
a willing purchaser dealing at arm's length. If not so agreed the price shall be 
such value as shall be certified in writing by either, the Auditors for the time 
being of the Company or, if either the Vendor or Directors object, an 
independent firm of chartered accountants nominated jointly by the Vendor and 
the Directors or, failing such nomination, nominated at the request of either of 
them by the President for the time being of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales. In so certifying the Auditors or such 
independent firm as aforesaid, shall be considered to be acting as experts and 
not as arbitrators. The cost of obtaining the certificate given under this 
paragraph (3) shall be borne by the Company and the Directors shall, as soon as 
they receive the certificate, furnish a copy thereof to the Vendor. Provided 
always that if a Member is willing to pay a higher price for the shares in question 
than the fair selling value as so certified then such shares may be sold at such 
higher price. 

(4) Within seven days after receipt of the Transfer Notice or, where no price is 
agreed between the Vendor and the Directors in accordance with Article 13(3), 
within seven days after receipt of the auditor's certificate under that paragraph, 
the Directors shall give notice in writing to all the Members (other than the 
Vendor) who are holders of the class of share comprised in the Transfer Notice of 
the number and price of the shares which the Vendor desires to transfer and 
shall invite each of them to state in writing within 21 days after the date of the 
notice whether he is willing to purchase any and, if so, what maximum number 
of the said shares. 

(5) If, within the period of 21 days mentioned in Article 13(4), the Members have 
expressed their willingness together to purchase all of the shares the subject of 
the Transfer Notice, the Directors shall give the Vendor written notice thereof 
and within 14 days thereafter shall proceed to allocate the relevant shares 
among Members pro rata, as nearly as practicable, to their existing holdings of 
shares. If this would otherwise result in allotting to one or more Members a 
number of shares exceeding their requests, then the surplus shares shall be 
redistributed among such other Members who shall have expressed their 
willingness to purchase the shares pro rata, as nearly as practicable, to their 

Page 288



holdings of shares, but only up to the amount of their respective requests, and 
this procedure shall be repeated until all the shares the subject of the Transfer 
Notice have been distributed. 

(6) So soon as any allocation has been made pursuant to Article 13(5), the 
Vendor shall be bound, upon payment of the price, to transfer the relevant 
shares to the purchaser or respective purchasers thereof, and if he shall make 
default in so doing the Directors shall receive and give good discharge for the 
purchase money on behalf of the Vendor and shall authorise some person (who 
shall be deemed to be the attorney of the Vendor for that purpose) to execute in 
favour of the purchaser or respective purchasers a transfer of the shares 
allocated to him or them. 

(7) If, after the expiration of the period of 21 days mentioned in Article13(4) 
above, the Members shall have expressed their willingness to purchase part only 
of any Founder Shares subject of the Transfer Notice, or no Member shall have 
expressed his willingness to purchase any of those shares or if through no fault 
of the Vendor the purchase or the purchases are not completed within 14 days of 
the expiry of such 21 day period, then the Directors shall, within seven days give 
notice in writing to all Members (other than the Vendor) who are the holders of 
any class of share of the number and price of the shares which have not been 
purchased pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Article and shall invite 
each of them to state in writing within 21 days after the date of the notice 
whether he is willing to purchase any and, if so, what maximum number of the 
said shares, and the provisions of Articles 13(4) and (5) shall thereafter apply, 
mutatis mutandis, with regard to the allocation and transfer of the said shares. 

(8) If, after the expiration of the period of 21 days mentioned in Article13(5) 
above, the relevant Members shall have expressed their willingness to purchase 
part only of the shares the subject of the Transfer Notice, or no such Member 
shall have expressed his willingness to purchase any of those shares or if 
through no fault of the Vendor's the purchase or the purchases are not 
completed within 14 days after the expiry of such 21 day period, then for a 
period of 21 days the Company may subject to the final sentence of this 
paragraph offer to any person or persons whom it selects all or part of the unsold 
shares to which the Transfer Notice relates (or may purchase such shares itself if 
permitted to do so by law) at a price per share not less than the corresponding 
price per share in relation to the relevant Transfer Notice. If the Company shall 
not within the period of 21 days find purchasers willing to purchase all of the said 
shares or if through no fault of the Vendor any such purchase is not completed 
within 14 days of such 21 day period then for a period of 21 days (after which 
the Transfer Notice shall expire) the Vendor shall be entitled subject to the final 
sentence of this paragraph to transfer to any person or persons whom he selects 
all or part only of the said shares to which the Transfer Notice relates and which 
have not been purchased pursuant to the above provisions at a price per share 
not less than the corresponding price per share in relation to the relevant 
Transfer Notice.  

(9) The instrument of transfer of any share shall be signed by or on behalf of the 
transferor (and in the case of a partly paid share the transferee) and the 
transferor shall be deemed to remain the registered holder of the share until the 
name of the transferee is entered in the register in respect thereof. 

 

DRAG ALONG PROVISIONS 

14.-(1) In the event that an Acquirer Acquires or seeks to Acquire a Controlling 
Interest in the Company no such Acquirer shall be entitled or permitted to 
Acquire a Controlling Interest in the Company and no transfers of shares 
conferring such a Controlling Interest shall be registered by the Company unless 
and until the Acquirer shall have made an offer to all the holders of all the 
Founder Shares in issue in the Company at the relevant time (other than the 
Acquirer if he is already a holder of shares in the Company) to purchase from 

Page 289



them for cash their entire holding of Founder Shares in the Company upon terms 
that the Total Price per share (as defined at Article 14(7)) shall not be less than 
the Minimum Price (as defined at Article 14(7)) and otherwise than on the terms 
specified in this Article.  

(2) Where an offer is made pursuant to the provisions of Article 14(1) the 
Directors of the Company shall as soon as practicable convene a General Meeting 
of all of the holders of shares in the Company at which will be proposed a special 
resolution (“the Special Resolution”) for the approval of the offer by all 
shareholders.  

(3) If the Special Resolution shall be passed every Founder Member (but not 
every holder of A Shares) shall become bound to transfer all Founder Shares to 
the Acquirer for the consideration stated in the terms of the offer. If any Founder 
Member shall fail to transfer all his shares the Directors may authorise some 
person to execute any necessary transfers or other documents. The purchase 
money or other consideration due to a defaulting transferor shall be received by 
the Company or by a person appointed by the Directors who shall hold it in trust 
for the defaulting transferor. The receipt of the Company shall be a good 
discharge to the Acquirer and after the name of the Acquirer shall have been 
entered on the register of Members in purported exercise of the aforesaid powers 
the validity of the proceedings shall not be questioned by any person. 

(4) If the Special Resolution shall be passed any restrictions on transfers of 
shares contained in the Articles of Association of the Company shall not apply in 
relation to the transfer of Founder Shares pursuant to the offer and the Directors 
shall be bound to register every such transfer. If such a Special Resolution shall 
not be passed then any restrictions shall continue to apply and no transfers of 
any shares pursuant to any acceptance of the offer shall be registered unless and 
until each Member concerned shall have complied with such provisions of Article 
13 as apply in the circumstances are exhausted. 

(5) For the avoidance of doubt an offer to be made by the Acquirer for the 
purposes of Article 14(1) may include one which is to be accepted by the making 
of a private contract as well as one made by general offer and may include one 
which is subject to contract which is in some way conditional. If the offer does 
not become unconditional then any Special Resolution passed shall be a nullity 
and no Member shall be entitled or bound to sell any shares. 

(6) No Member shall be bound to such an offer by an Acquirer unless there is 
circulated to all Members with the notice convening the General Meeting a 
statement setting out the terms of the offer together with copies of all 
documents required to be executed by acceptors of it, and notwithstanding any 
other provision of these Articles, 21 days notice of the holding of such Meeting 
shall be given. 

(7) An offer to be made by the Acquirer for the purposes of Article 14(1) shall be 
regarded as made on the same terms to all Members notwithstanding that: 

(a) some Members and not others are to receive remuneration for 
services to be rendered by them provided that the remuneration 
represents an open market consideration for the provision of those 
services; or that  

(b) some Members have agreed to provide warranties, indemnities or 
non-competition covenants more onerous than any contained or 
referred to in the offer. 

(8) The following expressions shall have the following meanings for the purposes 
of Article 14: 

(a) The “Total Price per share” shall mean the total consideration 
offered or paid or payable by the Acquirer or his nominees for the 
shares (or interest, direct or indirect in the shares) plus any other 
consideration (in cash or otherwise) received or receivable by any 
holders thereof which having regard to the substance of the 

Page 290



transaction as a whole can reasonably be regarded as additional to 
the price paid or payable for such shares (or interest as aforesaid) 
divided by the number of shares in question.  

(b) The “Minimum Price” shall be the price per share which shall be not 
less than the higher of the highest price per share (after any 
additions as described at paragraph (8)(a) above) at which the 
Acquirer shall have Acquired any shares of the Company (or any 
interests therein) during the 6 months prior to the making of the 
offer required by Article 14(1) and the highest price per share (after 
any additions as aforesaid) offered by the Acquirer for the 
Acquisition of any shares (or interest therein) held by any Member 
during the 6 months prior to the making of the offer required by 
Article 14(1) and for these purposes an offer need not be binding or 
unconditional if it would be reasonable for the recipient to regard it 
as a proposal in respect of which there was a serious intention to 
carry it into effect. 

 

SALE OF THE COMPANY 

15.-(1) In the event that any person or persons who was not or were not a 
Member or Members of the Company on the date of the adoption of these 
Articles ("the New Member") either alone or in concert (as such expression is 
defined in the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers) with any other person(s), 
other than any person who was a Member at the date of these Articles, shall 
become beneficially entitled to Founder Shares and / or A Shares representing in 
aggregate more than 49% of the issued total share capital of the Company after 
the date of adoption of these Articles (other than as a result of transfers by 
Founder Members to other Founder Members who were existing holders of 
Founder Shares as at the date of adoption of these Articles) he shall forthwith be 
required to serve notice on the Company that he is so beneficially entitled and 
shall thereupon be bound to offer to purchase: 

(a)     the remaining shares in the Company and 

(b) all in the Company which are issued on the exercise of options to 
acquire new shares in the Company which are exercisable and are 
exercised in the period of one month after the acquisition by the 
New Member of its interest in the Company which require it to serve 
such notice ("Relevant Options") at a price per share ("the Takeover 
Price") equal to: 

(i) if the New Member shall have acquired any shares for cash in 
a bona fide arm's length transaction in the Company within 
the period of 12 months preceding the date on which he 
became beneficially entitled as aforesaid then in the case of 
shares of the same class, the highest price per share paid by 
the New Member for such shares in the Company acquired by 
him during that period; and 

(ii) in any other case, such price as shall be agreed or 
determined in accordance with the provisions for valuation of 
the shares as set out in Article 13(3). 

(2) The Company shall forthwith give notice to every Member other than the New 
Member and to every holder of a Relevant Option that he may within 28 days 
from the date of such notice or, if later, within 28 days after exercise by that 
holder of the Relevant Option sell his shares to the New Member at the Takeover 
Price. Any Member may accept such offer by giving notice of his intention so to 
do to the Company accompanied by share certificates for the shares agreed to be 
sold together with the necessary transfers. 

(3) The Directors may at any time require any Member to furnish the Company 
with details of the beneficial interests in the shares held by such Member. 

Page 291



(4) The Directors may require to be satisfied that the shares acquired by the New 
Member referred to in Article 15(1) were acquired bona fide for the consideration 
stated in the transfer without any deduction rebate or allowance whatsoever to 
the purchaser and if not so satisfied may require a price to be agreed or 
determined in accordance with Article 13(3). 

(5) If the New Member shall fail to offer for (or, if and to the extent that the offer 
is accepted, complete the purchase of) the shares held by other Members he 
(and any Member with whom he is acting in concert as provided in Article 15(1)) 
shall cease to have any rights to vote or to dividends in respect of all the shares 
held by him and the Directors may refuse to register the transfer of the shares 
acquired by the New Member which give rise to the obligations under Article 
15(1) and may require the New Member to serve a Transfer Notice in accordance 
with Article 13(1) in respect of all the shares held by him. 

 

DIRECTORS 

16.-(1) Unless and until otherwise determined by a resolution of the Company, 
the Directors shall be not less than three in number and not more than seven 
thirteen [delete as appropriate].  

(2) Any Director appointed by a Member or any group of Members holding 
Founder Shares (“Founder Director”) may be removed by the Member or 
Members so appointing. Any removal under this paragraph shall be effected by 
notice in writing to the Company which will take effect on delivery at the 
registered office of the Company or at any meeting of the Board of Directors. 

17.–(1) At a Directors’ meeting, unless a quorum is participating, no proposal is 
to be voted on, except a proposal to call another meeting. 

(2) The quorum for Directors’ meetings may be fixed from time to time by a 
decision of the Directors, but it must never be less than three, and unless 
otherwise fixed it is three.  

(3) Notwithstanding paragraph (2) a meeting of Directors shall not be quorate 
and proceed to business unless one of the Directors present thereat is a Founder 
Director.    

18.-(1) The Directors may appoint a Director to chair their meetings. The person 
so appointed for the time being is known as the Chair. 

(2) The Directors may appoint another Director as vice Chair to chair Directors’ 
meetings in the Chair’s absence. 

(3) The Directors may terminate the appointment of the Chair or vice Chair at 
any time. 

(4) If neither the Chair nor any Director appointed to chair Directors’ meetings in 
the Chair’s absence is participating in a meeting within ten minutes of the time at 
which it was to start, the participating Directors may appoint one of themselves 
to chair it. 

19. If the numbers of votes for and against a proposal are equal, the Chair or 
other Director chairing the meeting has a casting vote but this does not apply if, 
in accordance with the Articles, the Chair or other Director is not to be counted 
as participating in the decision-making process for quorum or voting purposes. 

20.-(1) Subject to the Articles, a decision is taken at a Directors’ meeting by a 
majority of the votes of the participating Directors. 

(2) Subject to the Articles, each Director participating in a Directors’ meeting has 
one vote. 

(3) A Director who is also an alternate Director has a single additional vote on 
behalf of each appointor who is—  

(a) not participating in a Directors’ meeting, and 
Page 292



(b) would have been entitled to vote if they were participating in it. 

 

DIRECTORS CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

21.–(1) The Directors may, in accordance with the requirements set out in this 
Article 21, authorise any matter proposed to them by any Director which would, 
if not authorised, involve a Director in breaching his duty under section 175 of 
the Companies Act 2006 to avoid conflicts of interest ('Conflict'). 

(2) Any authorisation under Article 21(1) will be effective only if: 

(a) the matter in question shall have been proposed by any Director for 
consideration at a meeting of Directors in the same way that any 
other matter may be proposed to the Directors under the provisions 
of these Articles or in such other manner as the Directors may 
determine; 

(b) any requirement as to the quorum at the meeting of the Directors at 
which the matter is considered is met without counting the Director 
in question; and 

(c) the matter was agreed to without his voting or would have been 
agreed to if his vote had not been counted. 

(3) Any authorisation of a Conflict under this Article may (whether at the time of 
giving the authorisation or subsequently): 

(a) extend to any actual or potential conflict of interest which may 
reasonably be expected to arise out of the Conflict so authorised; 

(b) be subject to such terms and for such duration, or impose such 
limits or conditions as the Directors may determine; 

(c) be terminated or varied by the Directors at any time.  

This will not affect anything done by the Director prior to such termination 
or variation in accordance with the terms of the authorisation. 

(4) In authorising a Conflict the Directors may decide (whether at the time of 
giving the authorisation or subsequently) that if a Director has obtained any 
information through his involvement in the Conflict otherwise than as a Director 
of the Company and in respect of which he owes a duty of confidentiality to 
another person the Director is under no obligation to: 

(a) disclose such information to the Directors or to any Director or other 
officer or employee of the Company; 

(b) use or apply any such information in performing his duties as a 
Director,  

where to do so would amount to a breach of that confidence. 

(5) Where the Directors authorise a Conflict they may provide, without limitation 
(whether at the time of giving the authorisation or subsequently) that the 
Director: 

(a) is excluded from discussions (whether at meetings of Directors or 
otherwise) related to the Conflict; 

(b) is not given any documents or other information relating to the 
Conflict; 

(c) may or may not vote (or may or may not be counted in the 
quorum) at any future meeting of Directors in relation to any 
resolution relating to the Conflict. 

(6) Where the Directors authorise a Conflict: 

(a) the Director will be obliged to conduct himself in accordance with 
any terms imposed by the Directors in relation to the Conflict; 

Page 293



(b) the Director will not infringe any duty he owes to the Company by 
virtue of sections 171 to 177 of the Companies Act 2006 provided 
he acts in accordance with such terms, limits and conditions (if any) 
as the Directors impose in respect of its authorisation. 

(7) A Director is not required, by reason of being a Director (or because of the 
fiduciary relationship established by reason of being a Director), to account to 
the Company for any remuneration, profit or other benefit which he derives from 
or in connection with a relationship involving a Conflict which has been 
authorised by the Directors or by the Company in General Meeting (subject in 
each case to any terms, limits or conditions attaching to that authorisation) and 
no contract shall be liable to be avoided on such grounds. 

22.-(1) Subject to the Articles, the Directors may delegate any of the powers 
which are conferred on them under the Articles— 

(a) to such person or committee; 

(b) by such means (including by power of attorney); 

(c) to such an extent; 

(d) in relation to such matters or territories; and 

(e) on such terms and conditions, 

as they think fit. 

(2) If the Directors so specify, any such delegation may authorise further 
delegation of the Directors’ powers by any person to whom they are delegated. 

(3) The Directors may revoke any delegation in whole or part, or alter its terms 
and conditions. 

 

APPOINTMENT AND RETIREMENT OF DIRECTORS 

23.-(1) At the annual General Meeting next following the date of adoption of 
these Articles all the Directors shall retire from office, and at every subsequent 
annual General Meeting one-third of the Directors who are subject to retirement 
by rotation or, if their number is not three, the number nearest to one-third shall 
retire from office; but, if there is only one Director who is subject to retirement 
by rotation, he shall retire.  

(2) Subject to the provisions of the Act, the Directors to retire by rotation shall 
be those who have been longest in office since their last appointment or 
reappointment, but as between persons who became or were last reappointed 
Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree 
among themselves) be determined by lot.  

(3) If the Company, at the meeting at which a Director retires by rotation, does 
not fill the vacancy the retiring Director shall, if willing to act, be deemed to have 
been reappointed unless at the meeting it is resolved not to fill the vacancy or 
unless a resolution for the reappointment of the Director is put to the meeting 
and lost.  

(4) No person other than a Director retiring by rotation shall be appointed or 
reappointed a Director at any General Meeting unless -  

(a) he is recommended by the Directors; or  

(b) not less than fourteen nor more than thirty-five clear days before 
the date appointed for the meeting, notice executed by a member 
qualified to vote at the meeting has been given to the Company of 
the intention to propose that person for appointment or 
reappointment stating the particulars which would, if he were so 
appointed or reappointed, be required to be included in the 
Company’s register of Directors together with notice executed by 
that person of his willingness to be appointed or reappointed.  

Page 294



(5) Not less than seven nor more than twenty-eight clear days before the date 
appointed for holding a General Meeting notice shall be given to all who are 
entitled to receive notice of the meeting of any person (other than a Director 
retiring by rotation at the meeting) who is recommended by the Directors for 
appointment or reappointment as a Director at the meeting or in respect of 
whom notice has been duly given to the Company of the intention to propose 
him at the meeting for appointment or reappointment as a Director. The notice 
shall give the particulars of that person which would, if he were so appointed or 
reappointed, be required to be included in the Company's register of Directors.  

24.-(1) Subject to Article 23, the Company may by ordinary resolution appoint a 
person who is willing to act to be a Director to fill a vacancy and may also 
determine the rotation in which any Director so appointed is to retire.  

(2) If at any time there are insufficient Directors to constitute a quorum as 
required under the regulations in Articles 17(1) and (2), a Director or Directors 
may be appointed to fill a vacancy (provided that the appointment does not 
cause the number of Directors to exceed any number fixed by or in accordance 
with the Articles as the maximum number of Directors) or make up a quorum or 
to call a General Meeting to do so. A Director so appointed shall hold office only 
until the next following annual General Meeting and shall not be taken into 
account in determining the Directors who are to retire by rotation at the meeting. 
If not reappointed at such annual General Meeting, he shall vacate office at the 
conclusion thereof. 

(3) Subject as aforesaid, a Director who retires at an annual General Meeting 
may, if willing to act, be reappointed. If he is not reappointed, he shall retain 
office until the meeting appoints someone in his place, or if it does not do so, 
until the end of the meeting. 

25. A person ceases to be a Director as soon as— 

(a) that person ceases to be a Director by virtue of any provision of the 
Act or is prohibited from being a Director by law; 

(b) a bankruptcy order is made against that person; 

(c) a composition is made with that person’s creditors generally in 
satisfaction of that person’s debts; 

(d) a registered medical practitioner who is treating that person gives a 
written opinion to the Company stating that that person has become 
physically or mentally incapable of acting as a Director and may 
remain so for more than three months; 

(e) by reason of that person’s mental health, a court makes an order 
which wholly or partly prevents that person from personally 
exercising any powers or rights which that person would otherwise 
have; 

(f) notification is received by the Company from the Director that the 
Director is resigning from office as Director, and such resignation 
has taken effect in accordance with its terms. 

 

POWERS OF DIRECTORS  

25.-(1) The Directors on behalf of the Company may exercise all the powers of 
the Company to grant pensions annuities or other allowances and benefits in 
favour of any person including any Director or former Director or the relations, 
connections or dependants of any Director or former Director. A Director or 
former Director shall not be accountable to the Company or the Members for any 
benefit of any kind conferred under or pursuant to this Article and the receipt of 
any such benefit shall not disqualify any person from being or becoming a 
Director of the Company. The Directors may by resolution exercise any power 
conferred by statute to make provision for the benefit of persons employed or 
formerly employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries in connection with 

Page 295



the cessation or the transfer to any person of the whole or part of the 
undertaking of the Company or that subsidiary.  

(2) The Company may exercise all the powers conferred by statute with regard 
to the affixing of any official seal, and such powers shall be vested in the 
Directors. Any instrument to which an official seal is affixed shall be signed by 
such persons, if any, as the Directors may from time to time determine. 

(3) The Directors may entrust to and confer upon any Director any of the powers 
exercisable by them upon such terms and conditions and with such restrictions 
as they may think fit, and either collaterally with or to the exclusion of their own 
powers and may from time to time revoke, withdraw, alter or vary all or any of 
such powers. 

(4) The Directors may from time to time appoint one or more of their body to 
any executive office (including that of managing Director, manager or any other 
salaried office) for such period and upon such terms as the Directors may 
determine and may revoke or terminate any such appointment. Any Director 
appointed to an executive office shall receive such, if any, remuneration 
(whether by way of salary, commission, participation in profits or otherwise) as 
the Directors may determine, and either in addition to or in lieu of his 
remuneration as a Director. 

(5) The Directors shall have full powers of management and control over the 
conduct and affairs of the Company and by way of addition to and not in 
limitation of and without prejudice to the general powers hereinbefore conferred 
on them and in particular but without prejudice to the foregoing they shall have 
full power to appoint a paid Secretary. 

 

GENERAL MEETINGS 

26.-(1) The Company shall hold a General Meeting annually (“the Annual General 
Meeting”) in September or October of each year. 

(2) At each Annual General Meeting any Directors— 

(a) who have been appointed by the Directors since the last Annual 
General Meeting, or 

(b) who were not appointed or reappointed at one of the preceding two 
Annual General Meetings, must retire from office and may offer 
themselves for reappointment by the Members. 

27.-(1) A person is able to exercise the right to speak at a General Meeting when 
that person is in a position to communicate to all those attending the meeting, 
during the meeting, any information or opinions which that person has on the 
business of the meeting. 

(2) A person is able to exercise the right to vote at a General Meeting when— 

(a) that person is able to vote, during the meeting, on resolutions put 
to the vote at the meeting, and  

(b) that person’s vote can be taken into account in determining whether 
or not such resolutions are passed at the same time as the votes of 
all the other persons attending the meeting. 

(3) The Directors may make whatever arrangements they consider appropriate 
to enable those attending a General Meeting to exercise their rights to speak or 
vote at it. 

(4) In determining attendance at a General Meeting, it is immaterial whether any 
two or more Members attending it are in the same place as each other. 

(5) Two or more persons who are not in the same place as each other attend a 
General Meeting if their circumstances are such that if they have (or were to 
have) rights to speak and vote at that meeting, they are (or would be) able to 
exercise them. 

Page 296



28. No business other than confirmation of the appointment of the chair of the 
meeting is to be transacted at a General Meeting if the persons attending it do 
not constitute a quorum. Subject to the rules in this Article 25, the quorum for a 
General Meeting shall be three Founder Members.  

29.-(1) The Chair shall chair General Meetings if present and willing to do so. 

(2) If the Directors have not appointed a Chair, or if the Chair is unwilling to 
chair the meeting or is not present within ten minutes of the time at which a 
meeting was due to start— 

(a) the Directors present, or 

(b) (if no Directors are present), the meeting, 

must appoint a Director or Member to chair the meeting, and the 
appointment of the chair of the meeting must be the first business of the 
meeting. 

30.-(1) As a matter overriding any other provision of these Articles any 
resolution of a meeting of the Directors relating to any of the matters referred to 
in Article 30(2) shall not be a valid and binding act of the Company unless and 
until the written approval of the holders of at least 50% in nominal value of the 
issued Founder Shares to such resolution shall have been obtained. 

(2) The matters referred to in Article 30(1) are: 

(a) any material change in the nature of the business of the Company 
or the overall manner in which the business and operations of the 
Company are managed and carried on; 

(b) any sale, lease, exchange, transfer, assignment, licence, parting 
with possession or other disposal of any intellectual property, 
expertise, confidential information know-how;  

(c) any purchase, lease, acquisition or taking of options over any 
property or assets valued in excess of £10,000; 

(d) the voluntary liquidation (wholly or partly) of the Company or the 
commencement of proceedings whereby it may be wound-up. 

 

Page 297



Page 298

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 11

Page 299

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 302

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 303

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 304

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	5 Matters Referred to the Cabinet in Accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
	6 Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme - Virement of Budgets
	Cabinet Report for HRA Capital Programme - Virement of Budgets enc. 1

	7 High Rise Fire Safety
	Cabinet Report for High Rise Fire Safety enc. 1
	Cabinet Report for High Rise Fire Safety enc. 2

	8 Housing Revenue Account Business Plan
	Cabinet Report for Housing Revenue Account Buisiness Plan enc. 1
	Cabinet Report for Housing Revenue Account Business Plan enc. 2

	9 Development of the Council's Approach to Private Sector Housing
	10 Think Local 4 Business: proposal to incorporate into a company limited by shares and for the Council to become a Founder Shareholder
	11 Review of Shop Mobility Service
	Cabinet Report for Review of Shop Mobility Service enc. 2


